
 

 

Meeting 
 

Cabinet 

Date and time 
 

Tuesday 12TH MARCH, 2024 
 

At 7.00 PM 

Venue 
 

Hendon TOWN HALL, THE BURROUGHS, LONDON NW4 4BQ 
 
To: Members of Cabinet (Quorum 3) 
 
Chair: Councillor Barry Rawlings 
Vice Chair: Councillor Ross Houston 
 
Councillors  
 
Zahra Beg 
Paul Edwards 
Alan Schneiderman 
 

Ammar Naqvi 
Anne Clarke 
Sara Conway 
 

Pauline Coakley Webb 
Alison Moore 
 

 
Details on how to participate in Cabinet meetings can be found by visiting the link: Take part 
in a meeting | Barnet Council 
 
You are requested to attend the above meeting for which an agenda is attached. 
 

Andrew Charlwood – Head of Governance 
 
Governance Service contact: Salar Rida Salar.Rida@Barnet.gov.uk 
 
Media Relations Contact: Tristan Garrick 020 8359 2454 Tristan.Garrick@Barnet.gov.uk 
 

Assurance Group 
 
 
Recording of Meetings 
 
Members of the public have the right to film, record or photograph public meetings. You may be 
asked to stop filming, photographing or recording a meeting if the Chair feels that the activity is 
disrupting the meeting. 
 
The meeting may be broadcast live or recorded for later transmission by the Council.  Recordings 
may be available live or viewed for twelve months afterwards. 

https://www.barnet.gov.uk/your-council/council-and-democracy/get-involved-local-democracy/take-part-meeting#title-5
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/your-council/council-and-democracy/get-involved-local-democracy/take-part-meeting#title-5
mailto:Tristan.Garrick@barnet.gov.uk


 

 

Order of Business 
 
Item No Title of Report Pages  

 Agenda Part 1 (Public)  
 
 

 

 
1.   Minutes of the Previous Meeting  

 
5 - 14 

 
2.   Absence of Members (if any)  

 
 

 
3.   Declaration of Members' Interests and Dispensations (if any)  

 
 

 
4.   Questions from non-Executive Members (if any)  

 
 

 
5.   Petitions (if any)  

 
 

 
6.   Deputations (if any)  

 
 

 
7.   Public Questions and Comments (if any)  

 
 

 
8.   Matters referred to the Executive (if any)  

 
 

 
9.   Consideration of reports from the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee or Scrutiny sub-committees (if any)  
 

 

 
10.   Fire safety in timber framed and timber/UPVC clad properties  

 
15 - 32 

 
11.   Improving Barnet's Roads and Pavements Programme  

 
33 - 80 

 
12.   Local Plan - Main Modifications  

 
81 - 752 

 
13.   Our Plan for Adult Social Care 2024-2029  

 
753 - 784 

 
14.   Our Plan for Barnet – Delivery and Outcomes Framework, Q3 

2023-24  
 

785 - 836 

 
15.   The Barnet Group Business Plan  

 
837 - 852 

 
16.   Cabinet Forward Plan - Key Decision Schedule  

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=1010&RD
=0  

 

 

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=1010&RD=0
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=1010&RD=0


 
 
 

17.   Urgent Business (if any)  
 

 

 
18.   Motion to Exclude the Press and Public  

 
 

 
 Agenda Part 2 (Exempt)  

 
 

 

 
 

Facilities for people with disabilities 

Hendon Town Hall has access for wheelchair users including lifts and toilets.  If you wish to let 
us know in advance that you will be attending the meeting, please telephone Salar Rida.  
People with hearing difficulties who have a text phone, may telephone our minicom number 
on 020 8203 8942.  All of our Committee Rooms also have induction loops. 
 
 

Fire/emergency evacuation procedure 

If the fire alarm sounds continuously, or if you are instructed to do so, you must leave the 
building by the nearest available exit.  You will be directed to the nearest exit by uniformed 
custodians.  It is vital you follow their instructions. 
 
You should proceed calmly; do not run and do not use the lifts. 
 
Do not stop to collect personal belongings 
 
Once you are outside, please do not wait immediately next to the building, but move some 
distance away and await further instructions. 
 
Do not re-enter the building until told to do so. 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 
Decisions of the Cabinet 

 
6 February 2024 

 
Record of decisions taken at the above meeting 

 
Members Present:- 

 
Councillor Barry Rawlings (Chair) Leader and Cabinet Member – Resources & Effective Council 
Councillor Ross Houston  Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member – Homes & Regeneration 
Councillor Paul Edwards Cabinet Member – Adult Social Care 
Councillor Ammar Naqvi Cabinet Member – Culture, Leisure, Arts and Sports 
Councillor Anne Clarke Cabinet Member – Community Wealth Building 
Councillor Sara Conway Cabinet Member – Community Safety and Participation 
Councillor Pauline Coakley Webb Cabinet Member – Family Friendly Barnet 
Councillor Alison Moore Cabinet Member – Health and Wellbeing 
Councillor Alan Schneiderman Cabinet Member – Environment and Climate Change 
Councillor Zahra Beg Cabinet Member – Equalities, Voluntary and Community Sector 

 
Also in attendance:  

Councillor David Longstaff 
Councillor Peter Zinkin 

Councillor Richard Cornelius 
Councillor Alison Cornelius 

 
 
  

1.    MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
Councillor Barry Rawlings, Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Resources 
and Effective Council welcomed all attendees to the meeting.  
  
It was RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 16 January 2024 be 
approved as a correct record.  
  
  

2.    ABSENCE OF MEMBERS (IF ANY)  
 
None. 
  

3.    DECLARATION OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS AND DISPENSATIONS (IF ANY)  
 
None. 
  

4.    QUESTIONS FROM NON-EXECUTIVE MEMBERS (IF ANY)  
 
The Chair welcomed Councillor Peter Zinkin and Councillor David Longstaff to the 
meeting. 
  
Questions were raised in relation to agenda items 8, 10 and 11 which were responded to 
verbally at the meeting by Cabinet Members.  
  
  

5.    PETITIONS (IF ANY)  
 

5

AGENDA ITEM 1



 

2 

None.  
  

6.    DEPUTATIONS (IF ANY)  
 
None.  
  
  

7.    PUBLIC QUESTIONS AND COMMENTS (IF ANY)  
 
None.  
  
  

8.    MATTERS REFERRED TO THE EXECUTIVE (IF ANY)  
 
The Leader introduced the four Council Motions as set out below which were carried at 
Full Council. The Motions were identified in the Council summons of 30 January 2024 as 
matters falling within the powers of the Executive and referred to Cabinet for 
consideration in accordance with the Council Constitution.  
  
Motions:  
 
 

A.   Motion: Welcoming extension of Universal Free School Meals Scheme and 
Requesting Government Support for Special Dietary Requirements 
 
 

B.   Motion: Barnet Council to continue with tackling climate change 
 
 

C.  Motion: Digital Blue Badges for Barnet 
 
Following a request raised by Councillor Schneiderman and agreement by 
Cabinet, the Leader stated that he would write to that Officers consult with 
Councillor Alex Prager to lobby central government for introduction of digital blue 
badge scheme.  
 

D.   Motion: Banning profiteering in children’s social care and education placements  
  
 
RESOLVED that Cabinet noted the referred motions and endorsed the resolutions 
made at Council on 30th January 2024 in relation to the four motions. 
  
  

9.    CONSIDERATION OF REPORTS FROM THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE OR SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEES (IF ANY)  
 
None.  
  
The Chair announced a variation in the order of the agenda, namely that item 11 (CFO 
Q3 Report) will be considered first followed by item 10 (Business Planning) and the 
remaining items on the agenda.  
  
  

6



 

3 

  
11.    CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER REPORT - 2023/24 QUARTER 3 FINANCIAL 

FORECAST AND 2023/24 BUDGET MANAGEMENT  
 
Councillor Barry Rawlings Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Resources & 
Effective Council introduced the report.  
  
Following discussion, the Chair moved to vote on the recommendations. 
  
DECISION:  
  
RESOLVED that Cabinet noted:  
  

1.    The forecast outturn for 2023/24 against the Council’s revenue budget;.  
2.    The current use of reserves,  
3.    The expenditure against capital budgets in the year;  
4.    The current debt position. 

  
The report set out the options considered, if any, and the reasons for the 
recommendations and the decision. 
  
  

10.    BUSINESS PLANNING 2024-2030  
 
Councillor Barry Rawlings Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Resources & 
Effective Council introduced the report. Cabinet Members welcomed the report and 
commented on sections of the report in relation to their portfolio areas.  
  
Following discussion, the Chair moved to vote on the recommendations. 
  
DECISION:  
  
  
RESOLVED that Cabinet:  
  
In respect of the Budget and Council Tax for 2024/25 and the MTFS 2024-30 taking 
into account the equality impact assessment and consultation findings:  
  
1.       Recommended to Council for approval the MTFS, attached as Appendix A, 

and the detailed revenue budgets in Appendix C, including the proposed 
savings and funding for pressures in 2024/25;  

  
2.       Recommended to Council for approval that the budget 2024/25 is prepared 

on the basis of a 2.98% increase for the general element of Council Tax in 
2024/25 as discussed in paragraph 3.14 to 3.21;  

  
3.       Recommended to Council for approval that the budget for 2024/25 is 

prepared on the basis of an increase of 2% for the Social Care Precept, to 
help fund social care as detailed in paragraph 3.14 to 3.21;  

  
4.       Recommended to Council for the approval the resolutions relating to 

Council Tax contained within Appendix B;  
  

7



 

4 

5.       Noted a change in legislation relating to council tax premiums chargeable on 
unoccupied dwellings as set out in para 3.22-3.25.  

  
6.       Recommended to Council for the approval of application of the Council Tax 

Premiums (under Section 11C of the Local Government Finance Act 1992) 
with effect 1st of April 2025 (as set out in para 3.24).  

  
7.       Recommended to Full Council to agree not to amend the Barnet Council Tax 

Support Scheme as set out in para 3.26. 
  
8.       Recommended to Council for approval, on the advice of the Chief Finance 

Officer, that it determines that the council’s basic amount of Council Tax for 
2024/25 as set out in Council Tax resolution Appendix B, 2(iv) is not 
excessive in accordance with the principles approved under section 52ZB 
and 52ZC of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, set out in the 
Referendums relating to Council Tax increases (Principles)(England) Report 
2024/25;  

  
9.       Recommended to Council that in accordance with Section 38(2) of the Local 

Government Finance Act 1992 the Chief Executive be instructed to place a 
notice in the local press of the amounts set under recommendation 9 above 
within a period of 21 days following the Council’s decision; and  

  
10.      Approved delegation of any further allocations from the transformation 

reserve to the Leader of the Council as set out in Section 4.  
  
11.      Approved consultation on an increased Garden Waste fee as set out in 

paragraph 1.6 to 1.8 and delegated to the Cabinet Member for Environment 
& Climate Change in consultation with the Chief Officer for Customer & 
Place to consider the consultation responses and equality impact 
assessment and make a decision regarding the fee.  

  
In respect of Capital Strategy and the proposed capital programme:  
12.      Recommended to Council the approval of the Capital Strategy as set out in 

Appendix I1; and 
13.      Recommended to Council for approval the Capital Programme as set out in 

Appendix I2 and set out in Section 7;  
  
In respect of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS): 
14.      Recommended to Council the approval of the TMSS for 2024/25 as set out in 

Appendix J.  
  
In respect of Housing Revenue Account (HRA) and Temporary Accommodation 

(TA):  
15.      Recommended to Council the approval of the HRA Business Plan (at 

Appendix K). 
  
The report set out the options considered, if any, and the reasons for the 
recommendations and the decision. 
  
  

12.    BRENT CROSS CABINET REPORT  
 

8



 

5 

Councillor Ross Houston Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Homes and 
Regeneration introduced the report.  
  
Following discussion, the Chair moved to vote on the recommendations. 
  
  
DECISION:  
  
RESOLVED that Cabinet:  
  

1.    Noted the contents of the report.  
2.    Delegated authority to the Brent Cross Programme Director to finalise and 

enter into agreements for short term temporary use of land acquired for the 
Brent Cross Scheme until it is brought into the development or utilised for 
other purposes, as set out in paragraph 1.29. 

  
The report set out the options considered, if any, and the reasons for the 
recommendations and the decision. 
  
  

13.    HOMELESS ACTION IN BARNET, 36B WOODHOUSE ROAD, LONDON N12 0RG 
- NEW LEASE  
 
Councillor Barry Rawlings Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Resources & 
Effective Council and Councillor Ross Houston Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Homes and Regeneration both introduced the report.  
  
Following discussion, the Chair moved to vote on the recommendations. 
  
DECISION:  
  
RESOLVED:  
  
1.       That Cabinet approved the grant of a new lease to Homeless Action in 

Barnet for a term of 25 years at a peppercorn rent with mutual break options 
on the 8th and 12th anniversary of lease commencement.  

  
2.       That Cabinet authorised the Head of Property and Portfolio Management, in 

consultation with the Leader and the Deputy Leader, to enter into and 
conclude the lease substantially in accordance with the heads of terms 
appended or with such variations as may be approved by the Head of 
Property and Portfolio Management, in consultation with the Leader and the 
Deputy Leader. 

  
The report set out the options considered, if any, and the reasons for the 
recommendations and the decision. 
  
  

14.    PROCUREMENT TO SUPPORT HOUSING REGULATORY SERVICES TO 
ENSURE THE SAFETY OF RESIDENTIAL PREMISES  
 
Councillor Ross Houston Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Homes and 
Regeneration introduced the report.  

9



 

6 

  
Following discussion, the Chair moved to vote on the recommendations. 
  
DECISION:  
  
RESOLVED that:  
  
Cabinet agreed:  
  
1.       To run an urgent accelerated procurement exercise to commission a 

contractor to fulfil the Council’s statutory duties under the Parts 1-4 
Housing Act 2004 and legislation relevant to ensure minimum mandatory 
safety standards are met in relation to private sector accommodation. 

2.       To delegate authority to the Deputy Chief Executive in consultation with the 
Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Homes and Regeneration to award 
and enter into a contract with the winning bidder. 

  
The report set out the options considered, if any, and the reasons for the 
recommendations and the decision. 
  
  

15.    PAN LONDON VEHICLE FOR CHILDREN'S COMPLEX COMMISSIONING LTD  
 
Councillor Barry Rawlings Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Resources & 
Effective Council and Councillor Pauline Coakley Webb Cabinet Member for Family 
Friendly Barnet introduced the report.  
  
Following discussion, the Chair moved to vote on the recommendations. 
  
DECISION:  
  
RESOLVED: 
  
1.       That Cabinet resolved to become a Member of the Pan London Vehicle for 

Children’s Complex Commissioning Ltd, a Company Limited by Guarantee 
that will be owned by London Boroughs, including the London Borough of 
Barnet (the ‘Company’) 

  
2.       That Cabinet noted that Full Council on 30 January 2024 approved the 

appointment of the Executive Director for Children and Families to the 
Company’s Board of Directors on terms set out in the Company’s 
governance documents.  

  
3.       That Cabinet delegated authority to the Chief Executive, in consultation with 

the Executive Director for Children & Families, the Leader of the Council and 
Cabinet Member for Resources & Effective Council, to make company 
member/shareholder decisions on particular matters set out in the 
Company’s governance documents and reserved for decision by the 
constituent Boroughs’ as company members/shareholders on the 
Company’s Members’ Group, to enable the Members Group to carry out its 
functions efficiently and effectively. 

  

10



 

7 

The report set out the options considered, if any, and the reasons for the 
recommendations and the decision. 
  
  

16.    OPENDOOR HOMES ACQUISITIONS  
 
Councillor Ross Houston Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Homes and 
Regeneration introduced the report.  
  
Following discussion, the Chair moved to vote on the recommendations. 
  
DECISION:  
  
RESOLVED that Cabinet:  
  
1.       Subject to full council agreeing to increase the borrowing limit and 

approving the Capital Programme that Cabinet approved,  
           - Creation of a £70m loan facility with TBG Open Door Limited to acquire 300 

homes from the open market and let them at a combination of Local 
Housing Allowance and social rents.  

           - Establishment of a capital budget of £31.5m to subsidise purchases.  
  
2.       Delegated authority for the Deputy Chief Executive, in consultation with the 

Chief Finance Officer (S151), to agree the Facility Loan Agreement and any 
additional security documents that may be required with TBG Open Door 
Limited, and any other related documents required, including any consent 
required from the Council pursuant to its agreements with The Barnet 
Group.  

  
3.       Delegated authority for the Deputy Chief Executive, in consultation with the 

Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Homes and Regeneration, to 
approve a review of activity after 100 homes have been acquired to 
determine if the program should continue.  

  
4.       That Cabinet delegated authority for the Deputy Chief Executive to agree the 

loan facility with TBG Open Door Limited.  
  
5.       That Cabinet noted that the existing loan facility of £170m for the current 

acquisitions program will be ‘suspended’ at £105m, so there will be £65m 
undrawn from that facility. 

  
The report set out the options considered, if any, and the reasons for the 
recommendations and the decision. 
  
  

17.    TOUCHPOINT HOUSING LBB PORTFOLIO PURCHASE  
 
Councillor Ross Houston Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Homes and 
Regeneration introduced the report.  
  
Following discussion, the Chair moved to vote on the recommendations. 
  
DECISION:  

11



 

8 

  
RESOLVED:  
  
  
1.       That Cabinet approved the purchase of the Touchpoint Housing LBB 

portfolio by TBG Open Door Limited.  
2.       That Cabinet approved the transfer of leases held by Touchpoint Housing 

LBB to TBG Open Door Limited, varying lease rent inflation as outlined at 
1.13.  

3.       Subject to full council agreeing to increase the borrowing limit and approve 
the Capital Programme that Cabinet approved the establishment of a £20.6m 
loan facility with TBG Open Door Limited to facilitate the purchase.  

4.       That Cabinet delegated authority for the Deputy Chief Executive, in 
consultation with the Chief Finance Officer (S151), to agree the Facility Loan 
Agreement any additional security documents and any other related 
documents required, including any consent required from the Council 
pursuant to its agreements with The Barnet Group and from the Council as 
landlord of the underleases affected.  

  
The report set out the options considered, if any, and the reasons for the 
recommendations and the decision. 
  
  

18.    SMALL SITES PROGRAMME - FORMER NIGHTINGALE NURSERY  
 
Councillor Barry Rawlings Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Resources & 
Effective Council and Councillor Ross Houston Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Homes and Regeneration both introduced the report.  
  
Following discussion, the Chair moved to vote on the recommendations. 
  
DECISION:  
  
RESOLVED:  
  
  
1.       That Cabinet approved that the former Nightingale Nursery Site is surplus to 

requirements and approves the development proposals to deliver new 
homes on the Site through the Small Sites Programme.  

  
2.       That Cabinet delegated authority to the Deputy Chief Executive to take such 

actions and make such decisions to enable and facilitate the proposals set 
out in this report:  

           (i) to include to appropriate the whole or part of the Site including to 
planning purposes and to authorise any steps lawfully required in 
connection with the same,  

           (ii) to consider any objections in connection with any intended 
appropriation,  

           (iii) to engage Section 203 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016; and to 
negotiate and settle any claims resultant on engaging it,  

           (iv) to dispose of the Site as outlined in this report,  
           (v) to apply for all required statutory consents,  

12



 

9 

           (vi) as otherwise may be required in accordance with all lawful requirements 
and as detailed at section 6.  

  
3.       That the Cabinet delegated authority to the Deputy Chief Executive in 

consultation with the Cabinet Member for Homes and Regeneration to enter 
into and conclude such documents as required to give effect to the 
proposals outlined in this Report or agree alternative terms based on the 
broad principles outlined at 1 above and enter into and conclude such 
documents or to agree variations to any documents as may be required 
from time to time. 

  
The report set out the options considered, if any, and the reasons for the 
recommendations and the decision. 
  
  

19.    CABINET FORWARD PLAN - KEY DECISION SCHEDULE  
 
Cabinet noted the Forward Plan – Key Decision Schedule. 
  
  

20.    URGENT BUSINESS (IF ANY)  
 
None. As there was no requirement for further discussion on the exempt part of the 
agenda, the Chair declared the meeting closed. 
  
 

The meeting finished at 8.40 pm 
 
 
Proper Officer 
 
This document outlines the decisions taken at the above Cabinet meeting. Unless 
otherwise indicated, executive decisions listed in this document will come into force and 
may then be implemented 5 clear working days after publication of this document unless 
the decision is called in. 
 
Five Members of the Council can call in a decision of the Cabinet, which has been taken 
but not implemented. For matters impacting a particular ward, a ward Councillor must be 
included in the 5 signatures. Call-in must be by notification to the Monitoring Officer or 
Head of Governance in writing signed by all five Members (Part 3C - Committee 
Procedure Rules of the Council’s Constitution). 
 
 
Date of Publication: 7 February 2024 
Last Date for Call-In*: 14 February 2024, 5PM 
Date decision can be implemented 
if not called in: 

15 February 2024  

Contact:   Head of Governance: 
Andrew.Charlwood@barnet.gov.uk  

*Please note that Call-in may not apply to all decisions 
 

13

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1013&MId=11503&Info=1
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1013&MId=11503&Info=1
mailto:Andrew.Charlwood@barnet.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

Cabinet 

Title  Fire safety in timber framed and timber/UPVC clad 
properties 

Date of meeting Tuesday 12 March 

Report of Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Homes and Regeneration, 
Councillor Ross Houston  

Wards Burnt Oak, Brunswick Park, Totteridge and Woodside, West 
Finchley 

Status Public with exempt Appendix B.   

Appendix B is exempt information under paragraph 5 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972 because it contains 
information in respect of which a claim to legal professional 
privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings.  

Key Key 

Urgent No 

 

Appendices Appendix A – Net Zero Tool Report 

Exempt Appendix B –  Legally privileged advice 

 

Lead Officer Cath Shaw, Deputy Chief Executive 

Officer Contact Details  Belinda Livesey, Head of Housing Regulatory Services, 
belinda.livesey@barnet.gov.uk 

Susan Curran, Head of Strategic Housing, 
susan.curran@barnet.gov.uk 

Elliott Sweetman, Group Director Development and Property, TBG, 
elliott.sweetman@barnethomes.org  

 

Summary 

15

AGENDA ITEM 10

mailto:belinda.livesey@barnet.gov.uk
mailto:susan.curran@barnet.gov.uk
mailto:elliott.sweetman@barnethomes.org


This report is to provide Cabinet with details of the council’s strategy following a fire at Moss Hall 
Grove, and subsequent investigations by Barnet Homes and Housing Regulatory Services which have 
identified over 580 properties in the borough with potential fire safety issues. The report highlights 
significant risks in relation to the current situation and the approach proposed by the Council to 
ensure that work is completed to the properties to reduce the risk in the event of fire.   

Recommendations 

That Cabinet: 

1. Note and approve the report and the proposed approach to remediation of the affected 
properties. 

2. Note that a budget of £3.6 million in the Housing Revenue Account capital programme has 
been allocated for remediation of council owned properties. 

3. Approve the principle of providing a Loan and Repayment Plan to affected Freehold 
homeowners and delegate authority to the Deputy Chief Executive in consultation with the 
Director of Finance, to agree the eligibility criteria, amounts and the policy to make the loans 
and agree the repayment terms. 

4. Note the allocation of £13.072 million capital approved by Cabinet in February 2024 and by 
Full Council on 27 February 2024 to cover the upfront cost of works to freehold properties, 
where freeholder homeowners opt for a loan and repayment option. 

1. Reasons for the Recommendations 

1.1 A fire occurred in the Summer at Moss Hall Grove, West Finchley in a council owned property.  
The fire spread rapidly across the terrace of 4 properties due to the way the properties had been 
constructed.   

1.2 Following this incident expert building consultants, Capital, working on behalf of The Barnet 
Group (TBG) have identified 153 council owned homes, seven leasehold homes and 426 
freehold properties which were sold by the council under the Right to Buy Scheme which are 
believed to be of similar construction to the homes affected by the fire. The houses are 
understood to have been built between the 1930’s and 1960’s. 

1.3 In order to obtain an understanding of the council’s obligations in relation to the private stock a 
sample of inspections were completed by Housing Regulatory Services under the Housing Act 
2004. An assessment was undertaken under the Housing Health and Safety Rating System 
(HHSRS). This is a risk-based evaluation tool to help local authorities identify and protect against 
potential risks and hazards to health and safety from any deficiencies identified in dwellings. It 
applies to all residential premises. This assessment method focuses on the hazards that are 
present in housing. Tackling these hazards will make housing healthier and safer to live in. 
Category 1 hazards are the highest risk where the council has a mandatory duty to take action to 
reduce the risk and category 2 hazards are a lower risk, where the council may still take action 
but is not mandated to do so. 

1.4 Following the inspection, Category 1 hazards were identified for fire due to the timber frame 
and UPVC cladding plus fire stopping issues. Further sample investigations identified additional 
timber framed, timber clad properties with Category 1 hazards for fire.  

1.5 The work to the council stock will be funded through the HRA and £3.6m has been ringfenced 
for this work.   

16



1.6 The freehold properties are in terraces interspersed with council owned properties. Capital have 
confirmed that the work to the council stock cannot be completed without works to the 
freehold properties being completed in tandem. The council has therefore explored ways in 
which Barnet Homes could work with private residents to remediate their properties in parallel 
with council owned properties.  

1.7 There are a small number of properties that are owned by Housing Associations. The Housing 
Associations have been notified and the council will work with them in relation to the 
remediation works. 

1.8 It is expected that works to each of the freehold and leasehold properties may cost up to 
£23,000. Freeholder owners will have the option of organising the works to be undertaken 
themselves or allow the work to be undertaken by Barnet Homes. A budget of £13.072m has 
been secured to facilitate the up-front costs of these works, but the costs will ultimately be 
payable by freeholders.  Subject to eligibility, freeholders will be offered the option of a loan and 
repayment plan to help manage these costs. 

1.9 In the event that a property owner refuses to undertake the work to their property, appropriate 
enforcement action will need to be taken to secure completion of the work.  

1.10 Affected leaseholders (7no.) will be fully consulted by Barnet Homes, to explain the necessity for 
the works and the calculation of their proportionate share of the remediation costs in 
accordance with the terms of individual leases and consultation requirements under Section 20 
of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1985. Leaseholders will be able to utilise the existing repayment 
plans in place to support them during such high value works. 

1.11 It is anticipated that the works will be undertaken over a three-year period. The work is set to 
commence in April 2024 with a programme of pilot properties with the larger programme 
commencing in November 2024. The final completion of the programme is scheduled for 
December 2026. Whilst these properties contain a significant hazard there is no imminent risk to 
occupiers. Fire safety advice has and will continue to be provided and battery powered smoke 
detectors will be provided to all residents on request. We are also liaising with the London Fire 
Brigade. Any properties identified as being of a higher priority than others due to construction, 
mode of occupation, or issues affecting the resident’s ability to vacate the property quickly will 
be prioritised for work completion or individualised household specific mitigation measures as 
appropriate.  

2. Alternative Options Considered and Not Recommended 

2.1 Complete work only to council owned properties and leave the freehold properties without 
work completed – due to the level of risk to residents in the event of fire, and the council’s 
statutory duties to deal with category 1 hazards,  Housing Regulatory Services and Counsel have 
confirmed that this approach is not appropriate.  

2.2 Offering no Loan and Repayment Plan to affected homeowners- The council however 
appreciates that the costs to freeholders are significant and unplanned for. The offer of a Loan 
and Repayment Plan should make the situation more manageable and expedite the completion 
of these works. 

2.3 Serving Improvement Notices under the Housing Act 2004 suspended until sale of the property- 
due to the risk to the current occupiers and neighbouring premises in the event of fire this has 
not been considered appropriate, although enforcement decisions will be made as necessary on 
a case-by-case basis. 

17



2.4 Serving a Hazard Awareness Notice under the Housing Act 2004 - due to the risk to the occupiers 
and neighbouring premises in the event of fire this has not been considered appropriate, 
although enforcement decisions will be made as necessary on a case-by-case basis depending on 
the issues identified on inspection, the council’s statutory powers and duties, and consideration 
of the council’s Enforcement Policy. 

3. Post Decision Implementation 

3.1 Communication with affected residents and other relevant parties has already begun and 
details collected in relation to vulnerability of occupiers, interest in the loan and repayment 
scheme etc.  

3.2 Systems will continue to be put in place to administer the loan and repayment Scheme. 

3.3 Drop in sessions will be undertaken to enable residents to raise any concerns that they have, 
discuss the loan and repayment scheme, meet the council’s contractors etc. 

3.4 Planning permission is in the process of being obtained for a prototype. Once obtained and the 
works to the prototype are undertaken, this will enable residents to see what the completed 
works look like and understand timings. 

3.5 Housing Regulatory Services is in the process of procuring a partner to assist on this project and 
this will be completed in 6-8 weeks. 

3.6 Officers will continue to work with affected Housing Associations to ensure completion of the 
necessary works to their stock. 

3.7 The council and Barnet Homes will continue to work closely, as necessary, with other boroughs, 
the London Fire Brigade, the Regulator of Social Housing, the Department of Levelling up 
Housing and Communities (DLUHC), the GLA, LGA, and other relevant parties. 

3.8 The council will work with the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities to see 
whether any Government support can be provided to homeowners. 

3.9 Starting with council tenants who are known as having a disability and/or be elderly (54 in 
number), Barnet Homes will physically visit all tenanted households as an immediate priority, 
based on information already held regarding diverse needs and protected characteristics, to 
undertake Personal Emergency Evacuation Plans (PEEP’s) for each household. This process will 
highlight where additional support and/or specific risk-mitigation measures are required and 
also to prioritise remedial works, where this is technically feasible. Barnet Homes aim to 
complete PEEP’s for all 153 tenanted households by the end of March.  

3.10 Fire safety advice has been provided to all residents and smoke detectors are being offered to 
all residents who do not currently have them. These will be installed on request.  

 

4. Corporate Priorities, Performance and Other Considerations 

Corporate Plan 

4.1 A key priority of the Quality Affordable Homes theme of Our Plan for Barnet 2023-2026 is to 
improve the quality and energy efficiency of existing housing in the borough. This includes 
improving fire safety and ensuring homes are healthy by tackling damp and mould.   

Corporate Performance / Outcome Measures 

18



4.2 There are currently no specific measures relating to this project. 

Sustainability  

4.3 In addition to reducing the risk of fire the remedial work will improve insulation of the 
properties supporting the decarbonisation of housing stock in the borough. 

4.4 The Net Zero Tool has been completed.  See Appendix A for a summary of the results of this. 

Corporate Parenting  

4.5 The decision has no direct or indirect impact on looked after children and care leavers. 

Risk Management 

4.6 High number of corporate and member complaints- Significant steps are being taken to be as 
informative, helpful and supportive as possible on this matter, including the appointment of an 
Independent Resident Advisor, a dedicated Project Manager and dedicated Resident Liaison 
Officers. This will require resource that then cannot be used towards other aspects of the 
project. The situation will be monitored, and additional resource drawn in as necessary.  

4.7 Financial risk to the council- The loan and repayment scheme and completion of any work in 
default of the owners will carry a high level of potential financial risk. The council will take the 
necessary steps to try and recover all costs in relation to Freehold properties. A condition of the 
Repayment Scheme will be the agreement to certain conditions including the registering of the 
loan at the Land Registry as a charge against the property.  

4.8 Speed of completing the work- there are over 586 properties requiring completion of works. The 
different ownership scenarios, financial scenarios, contractors involved in completing the work 
i.e. council or resident procured, vulnerability of occupiers and any enforcement activities, will 
need to be balanced to complete work block by block. Each property will also require planning 
permission and building regulation approval. As such this will not be a quick programme to 
mobilise or complete.  

4.9 There is a risk that freeholders do not undertake remedial action. Statutory action can be taken 
against freeholders, however it is unusual for the council to serve Improvement Notices against 
freeholders. Such action is usually in relation to tenanted properties. In the event of a category 1 
hazard being identified in a freeholder property, unless there is an imminent risk, the more likely 
course of action would be a Hazard Awareness Notice, making the owner aware of the risk, but 
leaving the onus on them to take the appropriate action.  However, given the nature of the 
hazard and the implications in the event of a fire, although decisions will be made on a case-by-
case basis in line with the council’s Enforcement policy, an Improvement Notice will most likely 
be served. In so doing there may be access and compliance issues, both of which bring financial 
and legal risks and may elongate timescales. Each property will be managed on a case-by-case 
basis and if the risk is found to be reduced to an acceptable level due to the location between 
Barnet Homes stock, no action will be required. The project team will meet weekly to monitor 
performance and discuss any complex issues and work closely with HBPL and the 
Communications Team.  

4.10 Appeal to First Tier tribunal- in the event of the service of notices under the Housing Act 2004 an 
appeal may be lodged by the residents to First Tier Tribunal. This suspends the notice until the 
appeal is heard. Appeals can take many months to be heard which would elongate timescales on 
completing the work. In the event that the council loses the appeal the notice may need varying 
or withdrawing which could have further implications. 

19



4.11 Substandard works completed- in the event that freeholders employ their own contractors 
there is a risk that the standard of work may not be in line with the council’s specification. There 
is also a challenge as these are terraced houses and the work relates to the linked external walls. 
However, all work will require planning permission and building regulation approval, and so 
whilst more complex to manage on site, a safe solution should be possible.  

4.12 Reputational risk- the fire safety issue became known in Summer 2023. There was no knowledge 
of it before this time. Since then, Barnet Homes and the council have worked together to 
identify the issue, the scale of the issue, and the swiftest and most efficient solution. The issue 
may be unexpected by freeholders and leaseholders, and the costs are significant and 
unplanned for. As part of the council’s responsibility as a public authority, relevant authorities 
have and continue to be advised including the London Fire Brigade, all London Boroughs, 
relevant Housing Associations, the GLA, the Local Government Association (LGA) and the 
Department for Levelling up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC). 

4.13 Escalation of costs- given the number of variables in this project and the recent volatility in 
relation to construction costs there may be an escalation of costs. Finances will be monitored 
with the Finance Team on a monthly basis and a project review completed in the event that it 
appears that the allocated budget may not be sufficient.  

4.14 Imminent risk to occupiers – whilst these properties contain a significant hazard there is no 
imminent risk. To mitigate the risk to occupiers fire safety advice has been provided, and battery 
powered smoke detectors will be provided to all residents on request. The council referred the 
details of all affected premises to the London Fire Brigade in October 2023, so they are aware of 
the increased risk to residents caused by rapid spread in the event of a fire. Any properties 
identified as being of a higher priority than others due to construction, mode of occupation or 
issues affecting the resident’s ability to vacate the property quickly will be prioritised for work 
completion or individualised household specific mitigation measures as appropriate. 

4.15 Financial hardship for freeholders- the cost of the works is significant and may place some 
people into financial hardship. As such the council is making a loan and repayment scheme 
available to assist in meeting and manging the costs. BOOST will also provide support as 
necessary to residents.   

4.16 Insight 
4.17 Following the fire in 2023 extensive research was undertaken by Capital on behalf of Barnet 

Homes, and Housing Regulatory Services to identify the addresses of all properties affected and 
their tenure. 

4.18 Rent deposit data has been obtained to identify private rented properties affected. 

4.19 The register of licensed HMOs has been checked. One licensed house in multiple occupation 
may be of this construction and an inspection has been arranged. 

Social Value 

4.20 Completion of this project will reduce the risk to circa 580 households in the community, some 
of whom will be vulnerable.  

4.21 Barnet Homes will seek to secure social value through the procurement of the works association 
with the programme. 

5. Resource Implications (Finance and Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT 
and Property)  

20



5.1 A capital allocation of £13.072m has been established to facilitate the works to the freehold 
properties. This includes the estimated costs of the remediation works alongside Barnet Homes 
project management costs, legal, planning, private sector housing enforcement, loan 
administration, management and debt recovery costs, PAS2035 Assessment and retrofit 
coordinator.  

5.2 In instances where Barnet Homes undertake the work on behalf of a Freeholder, the cost of the 
work will be charged back to the Freeholder.  The council acknowledges that the costs to 
Freeholders are significant and so will offer a loan and repayment plan to those who need it 
subject to certain conditions being agreed including a legal charge being registered on the 
property.   

5.3 If a resident pays for the works to their home directly without the need for a loan or repayment 
plan, there is the potential that the full allocated sum might not be required and therefore a 
potential deletion to the capital programme in the future is possible, thereby reducing the 
associated borrowing requirement.  

5.4 The proportionate share of the costs of works to Leasehold properties will be sought in 
accordance with the terms of individual leases and Section 20 of the Landlord and Tenant Act 
1985. Leaseholders will be able to utilise the existing repayment plans in place to support them 
during such high value works. 

5.5 A budget of £3.6m has been ringfenced in the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) to fund the 
remediation works to council owned properties. 

5.6 Works will be procured in accordance with statutory regulations, including public procurement 
rules, and The Barnet Group’s (TBG) policy and procedure in order to deliver value for money 
and maximise public benefit. The works will be competitively tendered. 

5.7 An Independent Resident Advisor has also been commissioned to support the council and 
Barnet Homes with resident engagement. 

6. Legal Implications and Constitution References  

6.1 Under sections 3-5 of the Housing Act 2004 (HA 2004) the council must keep the housing 
conditions in their area under review and inspect residential premises with a view to identifying 
any action that may need to be taken by them in relation to category 1 or 2 hazards existing on 
those premises. 

6.2 Under the Housing Act 2004 fire risk is a category 1 hazard within the meaning of the Housing 
Health and Safety Rating System. Where a category 1 hazard is identified the council has a duty 
under section 5 of the Housing Act 2004 to take prescribed appropriate enforcement action, 
including serving an Improvement Notice , in any case where it considers that a category 1 
hazard exists, and it must prepare a statement of reasons for their decision to take the relevant 
action. If any of the buildings affected are HMOs or buildings containing flats, then the council 
also has a duty to consult with the relevant Fire and Rescue authority for the area. Recipients of 
Improvement Notices have the right to appeal them. 

6.3 If the council serves an Improvement Notice under section 35 of the Housing Act 2004 a court 
can require the occupier of a premises who has received reasonable notice of works done in 
relation to a premises but is preventing them from taking place to permit that work to be done.  

6.4 An Improvement Notice also allows the council to take further direct action if the notice has not 
been complied with or reasonable progress is not being made. Under Schedule 3 of the Housing 

21



Act 2004, where an Improvement Notice has been served and the council has the agreement of 
the person on whom it was served, the council can itself take any action that the recipient of the 
notice is required to take at the expense of the recipient. The council also has an equivalent 
power if the notice is not complied with or reasonable progress is not being made towards 
compliance with the notice and can recover expenses reasonably incurred by it in taking such 
action from the person on whom the notice was served. 

6.5 Any statutory action taken will need to be in line with the Council’s Enforcement Policy. 

6.6 The council has statutory power to provide the loan and repayment scheme under the general 
power of competence under sections 1-8 Localism Act 2011, and the incidental powers under 
section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972, linked to the council’s various housing powers, 
including the Housing Act 2004 enforcement powers and duties. 

6.7 The procurement of a partner to assist on this project must be undertaken in compliance with 
the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. 

6.8 Legal and Counsel’s advice have been taken in relation to all key aspects on this project.  Further 
legal advice is set out in Appendix B – Exempt Legally Privileged Advice. 

6.9   In accordance with the Council Constitution, Part 2D, Section 1 the terms of reference of the 
Cabinet state that “The Executive will exercise all of the local authority functions which are not the 
responsibility of any other part of the local authority, whether by law or under this Constitution.” It 
also includes responsibility for approving policies that are not part of the policy framework and key 
decisions.  

 

7. Consultation  

7.1 Affected residents (freeholders, leaseholders, council tenants and private tenants) have been 
contacted to explain the situation and next steps. 

7.2 Affected leaseholders (7no.) will be fully consulted by Barnet Homes to explain the necessity for 
the works and the calculation of their proportionate share of the remediation costs in 
accordance with the terms of individual leases and consultation requirements under Section 20 
of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1985. Leaseholders will be able to utilise the existing repayment 
plans in place to support them during such high value works. 

7.3 One to one meetings with residents are being offered, either by phone, on Teams or in person. 
Drop-in sessions are being arranged. 

7.4 An Independent Resident Advisor has been commissioned to support the engagement with 
affected residents. 

8. Equalities and Diversity  

8.1 Decision makers should have due regard to the public sector equality duty in making their 
decisions. The equalities duties are continuing duties they are not duties to secure a particular 
outcome. The equalities impact will be revisited on each of the proposals as they are developed. 
Consideration of the duties should precede the decision. It is important that Cabinet has regard 
to the statutory grounds in the light of all available material such as consultation responses. The 
statutory grounds of the public sector equality duty are found at section 149 of the Equality Act 
2010 and are as follows: 

22



A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to: 
a) Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited 

by or under this Act; 
b) Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it; 
c) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and 

persons who do not share it. 

Having due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it involves having due regard, in 
particular, to the need to: 
a) Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic that are connected to that characteristic; 
b) Take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected characteristic that 

are different from the needs of persons who do not share it; 
c) Encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to participate in public life 

or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is disproportionately low. 

The steps involved in meeting the needs of disabled persons that are different from the needs of 
persons who are not disabled include, in particular, steps to take account of disabled persons’ 
disabilities. 

Having due regard to the need to foster good relations between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it involves having due regard, in 
particular, to the need to: 

a) Tackle prejudice, and 

b) Promote understanding. 

Compliance with the duties in this section may involve treating some persons more favourably 
than others; but that is not to be taken as permitting conduct that would otherwise be 
prohibited by or under this Act. The relevant protected characteristics are: 
a) Age 
b) Disability 
c) Gender reassignment 
d) Pregnancy and maternity 
e) Race 
f) Religion or belief 
g) Sex 
h) Sexual orientation 
i) Marriage and civil partnership  

 

8.2 Starting with council tenants who are known as having a disability and/or be elderly (54 in 
number), Barnet Homes will physically visit all tenanted households as an immediate priority, 
based on information already held regarding diverse needs and protected characteristics, to 
undertake Personal Emergency Evacuation Plans (PEEPs) for each household. This process will 
highlight where additional support and/or specific risk-mitigation measures are required and 

23



also to prioritise remedial works, where this is technically feasible. Barnet Homes aim to 
complete PEEPs for all 153 tenanted households by the end of March.  

 

8.3 As contact is made with affected homeowners the team will seek to understand whether there 
are any occupants with vulnerabilities or protected characteristics.  Consideration will be made 
as to whether there is the opportunity to phase the works in response to this or to take other 
appropriate action in relation to those with protected characteristics, particularly disability, age, 
pregnancy and maternity.   

8.4 Smoke detectors will be offered to all residents. 

 

9. Background Papers 
9.1  Cabinet, Tuesday 6 February, item 14, Procurement to support Housing Regulatory Services to 

ensure the safety of residential premises, Agenda for Cabinet on Tuesday 6th February, 2024, 
7.00 pm (moderngov.co.uk) 

 

 

24

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1010&MId=11436&Ver=4
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1010&MId=11436&Ver=4


Appendix A – Net Zero decision making tool 

Respondent's Details :  

Name :  Curran, Susan (LBB) 

Job Title :  Head of Strategic Housing 

Department :  Customer and Place 

Project Title :  
Fire Safety in Timber Framed 
and Timber/UPVC clad 
properties 

 

Survey Responses : Please insert this into your report for consideration  

S 
No. 

Survey Parameters  

Survey 
Response 

(as 
applicable

)  

Mitigation (as applicable)  

1 
Land Use - impact on the installation 
of non-permeable surfaces    

2 

Biodiversity & Ecosystems - impact 
on the amount (or type) of wild 
animals, plants or fungus species 
present within the borough  

  

3 
Water Usage - impact on amount of 
water usage in the borough on a 
medium/long term basis  

  

25



4 
Air Quality - extent of the release of 
harmful substances or gases into the 
air and overall impact on air quality  

  

5 
Resource Inputs - implications on 
the procurement of any goods or 
materials 

  

6 
Resource Outputs - impact on 
materials    

7 
Energy - impact or level of influence 
on use of energy/power    

8 
Transport - impact on the use of 
transport in the borough    

9 
Sustainable Local Economy - impact 
on the workforce/businesses within 
the borough  

 

The project won't directly provide 
environmentally/socially sustainable jobs 
however it will provide job opportunities for 
local people in construction. Through the 
project we will look for opportunities to 
provide environmentally/socially sustainable 
jobs. 

10 
Sustainable Local Community - 
impact on the local community 
within the borough  

 

The project won't directly provide 
opportunities for community groups. We 
recognise that the project will create 
disruption to affected residents. It will also 
have a financial cost to affected homeowners. 
The aim of the project is however to make 
homes in the borough safer. 

26



11 
Positive Choices & Behaviours - 
impact on resident’s choices and 
behaviours  

  

12 
Climate Adaptation / Resilience - 
Extent of impact of physical climate 
risk  

  

13 Known Carbon Impact   

14 Other Environmental Condition  

15 
Have you consulted the 
Sustainability team ?   

 

Detailed Responses : Please insert this into your report for consideration  

Q 
No. 

Detailed Questions  User Responses  

Q1 Land Use - will your decision result in any changed land use?  

Q1a 
Will the proposed decision increase in the amount of developed 
land (i.e. non permeable surfaces, buildings, roads, car parks) 
within the Borough? 

 

Q1b 
Will the proposed decision lead to an increase in open land (i.e. 
woodlands, parks, landscaped gardens/spaces ) within the 
Borough? 

 

Q1c 

Will the proposed decision lead to an increase in natural carbon 
sequestration? (i.e.. tree planting (urban forestry); provision of 
open grassed spaces (urban lawns); carbon removal (such as the 
restoration of abandoned land) 

 

27



Q2 
Biodiversity & Ecosystems - will your decision impact the amount (or type) of wild animals, 
plants or fungus species present within the borough? 

Q2a 
Will there be a net gain of wildlife, flora or fauna within the 
borough as a result of your decision? (Net Gain is where there 
are more postitive impacts than negative impacts) 

 

Q2b 
Do the proposed changes make a proactive provision for habitats 
and ecosystems?  

Q3 
Water Usage - will your decision impact the amount of water usage in the borough on a 
medium/long term basis? 

Q3a 
Will your decision result in a net decrease in the volume of water 
used within the borough, either via mains water supply or 
freshwater supply?  

 

Q3b 
Will your decision result in contamination of fresh water sources 
or otherwise interfere with water based habitats?  

Q4 
Air Quality - Could your decision result in the release of harmful substances or gases into the 
air or improve the air quality? 

Q4a 
Has your decision taken into account measures to prevent 
pollutants?  

Q4b 
Will your decision result in an enhancement of air quality either 
in the immediate or longer term?  

Q5 
Resource Inputs - Will your decision require or lead to the procurment of any goods or 
materials? 

Q5a 
Does your decision support the use of low carbon, 
biodegradable, recycled or repurposed goods or materials? 

Yes 

Q5b 
Does your decision discourage the production or use of single 
plastic goods? (Outside of medical/accessibility purposes) 

No 

Q5c 
Are you working with suppliers to understand their emissions 
and encourage them to work to reduce these? 

Yes 

Q6 Resources Outputs - Will your decision require or lead to the disposal of any materials? 

28



Q6a 
Will your decision promote or enable an overall reduction in the 
volume of waste materials ? 

No 

Q6b 
Will your decision promote or enable inorganic waste to be 
diverted from energy recovery or landfill? (Inorganic waste can 
be items made out of glass, plastic, dust and metal). 

No 

Q6c 
Will your decision result in the production of hazardous waste? 
(i.e. corrosive or explosive) 

Yes 

Q6d 
Does your decision promote the design, production or use of 
goods that can be easily repaired and recycled at the end of life? 

Yes 

Q7 Energy - Will your decision impact or influence the use of energy/power? 

Q7a 
Will your decision result in reduced energy use either due to 
reduced appliance use, reduced lighting, reduced 
heating/cooling compared to today? 

Yes 

Q7b 
Will your decision directly enable renewable or low carbon 
energy sources? (i.e. will you use renewable energy? Will you 
install renewable energy or low carbon sources?) 

Yes 

Q8 Transport - Does your decision influence or relate to the use of transport in the Borough? 

Q8a 
Will your decision reduce the use of private transport within the 
Borough? Either by promoting/encouraging public transport or 
limiting travel (i.e. remote working). 

 

Q8b 
Will your decision reduce the frequency / distance of journeys by 
car?  

Q8c 
Will your decision encourage or promote active travel? (i.e. 
walking, cycling) or travel via renewable/clean energy sources?   

Q9 
Fair Change, Prosperity - Will your decision impact the workforce / businesses within the 
borough? 

Q9a 
Will your decision create or improve access to environmentally / 
socially sustainable jobs within the Borough? 

No 

Q9b 
Will your decision create opportunities or demand for low 
carbon sustainable businesses within the Borough (or outside of 
the Borough)?  

No 

29



Q9c 
Will it encourage/ provide opportunities for local businesses to 
become sustainable? 

No 

Q9d 
Will your decision encourage or facilitate innovation and 
investment in sustainability in the Borough? (Incl engagement 
with the community?) 

No 

Q10 
Fair Change, Social Sustainability - Will your decision impact the local community within the 
Borough? 

Q10a 
Will your decision contribute to infrastructure, amenities and 
services that promote connectedness within the Borough? 

No 

Q10b 
Does your decision support local community groups and 
activities which are aligned to sustainability projects, awareness 
or understanding? 

No 

Q10c 
Does your decision serve to protect and improve community 
spaces? (both indoor and outdoor) 

No 

Q11 
Climate Positive Choices & Behaviours - Will your decision impact the residents of the 
Boroughs choices and behaviours? 

Q11a 

Will your decision make it easier for people to live a low carbon, 
sustainable lifestyle that is aligned to the Boroughs Net Zero 
Ambitions of 2042 for the Borough (Council Target of 2030). For 
example; recycling, reuse and compost; use less water; smarter 
energy usage; & choosing sustainable travel. 
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sustainability-barnet/how-live-
more-sustainable-life 

 

Q12 
Climate Adaptation / Resilience - Is your decision / output of likely to be impacted by 
physical climate risk? (e.g. flooding, subsidence, drought) 

Q12a 
Have you considered the risk of flooding and the impact this 
might have on your project?  

Q12b 
Have you factored into your considerations the risk and 
resilience of your decision with regards to heat/drought?  

 

 

30

https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sustainability-barnet/how-live-more-sustainable-life
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sustainability-barnet/how-live-more-sustainable-life


Document is Restricted

31

By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

Cabinet 

Title  Improving Barnet’s Roads and Pavements Programme  

Date of meeting 12 March 2024 

Report of Cabinet Member for Environment and Climate Change - Councillor 
Alan Schneiderman   

Wards All 

Status Public  

 

Key Key Decision 

 

Urgent No  

 

 

Appendices Appendix A – Highways Investment Strategy Carriageway and 
Footway Scenarios 

Appendix B – Proposed 2024/25 Improving Barnet’s Roads and 
Pavements Programme  

Appendix C – Highway Investment Strategy  

Lead Officer Cath Shaw, Deputy Chief Executive 

Cath.shaw@barnet.gov.uk  

Officer Contact Details  Ian Edser, Director of Highways and Transportation 

Ian.edser@barnet.gov.uk  

Summary 
Our Plan for Barnet 2023-2026 included a commitment to develop a new Highway Investment 
Strategy to improve the quality of our highways roads and footways and to support more sustainable 
forms of travel. This report overviews the outcome of the Highways Investment Strategy and 
proposed underpinning sustainable funding stream, subject to Council approval, to move the highway 

33

AGENDA ITEM 11

mailto:Cath.shaw@barnet.gov.uk
mailto:Ian.edser@barnet.gov.uk


network to a position of reversing the deterioration that has accelerated over the last few years and 
move to an appropriate level of service (to meet target condition) before maintaining this condition 
going forward.   

The service has seen a dramatic increase in reactive maintenance pothole reports, indicative of the 
underlying condition of the network, in particular carriageways. This situation being exacerbated by 
extreme weather conditions i.e. temperature extremes and sustained periods of heavy rainfall aligned 
to changes is climatic conditions. The Highways Investment Strategy has recognised that failure to 
address funding shortfalls would lead to further severe deterioration of the highway network 
counteracting key transport objectives and potentially significant increases to reactive maintenance 
expenditure and third-party claims.  

This report seeks Cabinet approval for the delivery of the 2024/25 Improving Barnet’s Roads and 
Pavements Programme, this is the first year of a 5-year commitment, which subject to Cabinet 
approval, will see the Council investing £97m in planned maintenance over a 5-year period from 
2024/25. This funding being sourced from CIL contributions. 

At the Cabinet meeting of 6 February 2024, the CIL budget allocation was approved subject to full 
Council.  

The proposed funding from CIL in 2024/25 is the first tranche of the £97m, i.e. £19.4m to deliver 
planned maintenance works across six workstreams. 

This is the largest sustained investment the Council has ever made in relation to its highway’s 
network. To place this into context the programme approved at the 13 January 2022 Environment 
Committee was for £13.106m and the programme approved at the 25 January 2023 Environment 
Committee was for £11.785m under the previous NRP and CIL funded arrangements. The January 23 
sum being subsequently augmented through the 18 July 2023 Cabinet by an additional investment of 
£8m over two years recognising the urgent need to invest in carriageways, the area of greatest need.  

The total amount of funding for the 23/24 programme was £16.705m which is inclusive of the £4m 
additional investment, a £0.250m ‘our plan for Barnet’ and a further ‘bring forward’ amount of 
£0.670m.   

As Cabinet is aware this is not just about maintaining the network, critically this is about promoting 
active travel through a well-maintained footway network to facilitate walking and good carriageways 
for cyclists to travel through safely. Coupled with this maintenance strategies have been carefully 
selected to reduce carbon from highway maintenance and support a move towards net zero carbon.  
 
For 24/25 in addition to the above £19. 4m CIL funding, the Council: 

1. Already recognised the need to invest further in the highway network and as a result 
committed £0.250m per annum for four years commencing in 2022/23 financial year as part 
of ‘our plan for Barnet’. This funding will continue in 2024/25.  

2. Will be in receipt of an additional £0.368m, in 2024/25 financial year, from DfT through the 
Government’s local highways maintenance: additional funding from 2023 to 2033.  

 

For 2024/2025 this amounts to an additional £0.618m. 

These funding streams will be allocated later in the year, enabling the Council to retain a fund to 
address urgent maintenance needs on the network. It is proposed that authority will be delegated to 

34



the Cabinet Member for Environment and Climate Change, in consultation with the Director of 
Highways and Transportation to allocate an additional programme of schemes against the £0.618m 
during 2024/25.  

 

For 2024/25 the total proposed funding therefore from CIL, the ‘our plan for Barnet’ amount and the 
DfT funding, is therefore £20.018m to deliver planned maintenance works across six workstreams: 

 

No Planned Maintenance  Budget  

£000  

1 Carriageways  *10,218 

2 Footways  4,300 

3 Carriageway Reconstruction  3,000 

4 Drainage Maintenance  1,000 

5 Highways Structures  1,000 

6 Other Highways Assets  500 

 Total 20,018 
 

Table 1: Proposed 2024/25 CIL Allocation to Highways Maintenance  
*inclusive of the additional £618k 

As reported to Cabinet at the meeting of 18 July 2023 the Councils highways network is subject to an 
independent condition assessment, which works on an AI based approach augmented by visual 
condition assessment survey and deterioration modelling. The proposed schemes have been 
identified and prioritised using an asset management approach across the borough, using whole life 
costing and good asset management principles to ensure that investment is targeted where it is most 
needed.  

The proposed schemes (£9.4m for carriageways and £4.3m for footways) have been subject to 
engagement with Ward Councillors prior to implementation and associated communication with 
residents and business.  

Additionally, as this is an area identified by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee for scrutiny input, 
the committee is undertaking a review aimed at supporting the Highway Investment Strategy and 
support improvements in the Highway Network.  

  

Recommendations 

1. That Cabinet notes the outcome of the Highways Investment Strategy aligned to the 
commitment set out in Our Plan for Barnet (2023 to 2026).  

2. That Cabinet approves, subject to full Council agreeing the final 2024/25 capital programme, 
the capital expenditure of £19.4 million for the delivery of the 2024/25 Work programme as 
set out in Appendix B consisting of carriageway resurfacing, carriageway patching, footway 

35



resurfacing, footway patching, carriageway reconstruction, structures, drainage, and other 
highway assets (including heritage assets).  

3. That authority be delegated to the Cabinet Member for Environment and Climate Change, in 
consultation with the Director of Highways and Transportation, to sign off the additional 
programme of schemes utilising the funding of £0.618m as set out in Section 1.15 of this 
report. 

4. That authority be delegated to the Director of Highways and Transportation, in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Environment and Climate Change, to alter the programme as 
necessary to ensure the efficient delivery of schemes across the network. 

5. To note that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee are currently undertaking a review to 
support the improvement to the Highway Network.  

1. Reasons for the Recommendations 
 

1.1 Barnet’s highway network is our largest, most valuable, and most visible community asset and is 
probably the most used of all our services, by nearly all residents daily. It is vital to the 
economic, social, and environmental well-being of our community.  

1.2 Barnet’s highway network has recently been reassessed in relation to asset valuation, length 
and utilisation as follows: 

i. Asset valuation at £1.9 Billion ~ from previous valuation of £1.6 Billion.  

ii. Carriageway length at 723 km ~ increase by 4% from the previous assessment making it 
one of the largest networks in London. Made up of 96 km Principal Roads and 627 km 
Unclassified (primarily residential roads). 

iii. Footway length of 1,290 km.  

iv. Barnet’s principal roads carry the highest traffic volumes in all London at 50,000 average 
daily vehicle movements.  

v. Barnet’s principal roads carry the highest volume of HGVs in all London at 1,000 average 
daily vehicle movements.  

1.3 The Highways Act 1980 (“HA 1980”) sets out the main duties of highway authorities in England 
and Wales. Highway maintenance policy is set within a legal framework. Section 41 of the HA 
1980 imposes a duty to maintain highways which are maintainable at public expense. The HA 
1980 sits within a much broader legislative framework specifying powers, duties, and standards 
for highway maintenance. 

1.4 The Council has a duty to ensure that the statutory functions and responsibilities in relation to 
those highways for which the local authority is responsible are discharged. The Council also has 
a duty to ensure a safe passage for the highway user through the effective implementation of 
the legislation available to it, principally the HA 1980, with reference to Section 41, of the HA 
1980. 

1.5 The Council adopted a new Highways Infrastructure Asset Management Plan in 2022, setting out 
the Council’s strategic approach to managing its Highway network. As well as this document, 
Barnet also has a Long-Term Transport Strategy (2020 to 2041) (currently under review). These 
documents set out a series of highway-related objectives and commitments to Barnet’s 

36



residents including creating a better place to live, work and encouraging active travel. Similarly, 
the Councils declared climate emergency in 2022, and BarNET ZERO campaign enable 
maintenance strategies to be selected to reduce carbon from highway maintenance and support 
a move towards net zero carbon.  

1.6 Within Our Plan for Barnet (2023 to 2026) the commitment was ‘In 2023/24, we will develop a 
new highway investment strategy to improve the quality of our highways and footways and 
support more sustainable forms of travel’. This report summarises the strategy and proposed 
funding approach.   

1.7 Today, the Council faces a challenge in terms of the level of sustainable funding required in 
coming years, the Council is not alone with the last Annual Local Authority Road Maintenance 
(ALARM) Survey report showing a worsening position nationally in the overall condition of the 
highway network linked to inflationary pressures resulting in a reduced number of schemes 
delivered coupled with challenges of extreme weather, increased traffic volumes and an aging 
network.  

1.8 The Council undertakes an annual AI condition survey, augmented by visual condition 
assessment survey and deterioration modelling, via a third-party to inform its maintenance 
works programme and monitor asset performance. The Highways Investment Strategy 
modelling exercise used this condition data to forecast the trends that Barnet can expect given 
its current context and the pressures faced. The exercise found that a failure to address funding 
shortfalls would lead to further severe deterioration of the highway network, counteracting key 
transport objectives and potentially significant increases to reactive maintenance expenditure 
and third-party claims, both of which pose significant financial and reputational risks to the 
Council. 

1.9 To support the development of the Highways 
Investment Strategy the Council utilised a third-
party dynamic investment model to assess how 
Barnet’s network is expected to change under 
differing funding scenarios over time using the 
Councils existing asset condition data. The model 
forecasting the condition under different funding 
scenarios over a 10-year period assessing 
deterioration of the network against achievable 
maintenance delivery as illustrated in schematic 1: 

         Schematic 1: Condition forecasting model concept 

1.10 Deterioration takes place sequentially, going from ‘green’ to ‘amber’ to ‘red’: 

• Red indicates assets in poor condition.  

• Amber indicates assets in deteriorating condition.  

• Green indicates assets in good condition. 

The rate of this deterioration will depend on the carriageway and footway level of usage and 
estimated useful life. It is important to note that while this investment model enables the 
Council to explore general trends in network condition, it is impossible to predict the exact 
condition of any one specific road using this method thus the need to continue with annual 
asset condition surveys to ensure maintenance interventions are prioritised aligned to asset 
management principles.  

37



 

Carriageways  

1.11 In the development of the Highways Investment Strategy four scenarios were modelled for 
carriageways, table 2: 

Carriageways 

 Scenario Description  Funding Strategy  

 Scenario: 0  

Current (Jan 23) 
Funding  

Original committed budget approved at Environment and 
Climate Change Committee Jan 2023 i.e. without the 
additional £4m allocated through Cabinet 

 £5.6m as per the 
original Jan 2023 
allocation 

 Scenario: 1  

Return to Original 
Jan 23 funding  

Combined original budget with the additional £4m per 
annum for 2 years returning to the original budget at the 
end of the two years  

£9.6m for two 
years returning to 
£5.6m in year 3  

 Scenario: 2 
Sustained Increase  

Increased and sustained funding to maintain the 
carriageways in a steady state condition, continuing with 
the £9.6m for the life of the strategy  

£9.6m through 
the life of the 
strategy   

 Scenario: 3 

Steady State Plus  

This funding would move the network condition beyond 
steady state enabling the Council to further reverse 
network deterioration.  

£11.0m through 
the life of the 
strategy   

Table 2: Barnet’s Carriageway network modelled change under differing funding scenarios over time using the asset condition data 

 

1.12 These scenarios, produce differing deterioration models for the network as set out in Appendix 
A of this report. The schematics below illustrates the position if the baseline Scenario: 0 current 
(Jan 23) funding versus the proposed funding Scenario: 2 sustained increase:  

 

 

Scenario 0: Current (Jan 23) Funding 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Backlo
g 

£82
M 

↑£45M 

Classificatio
n 

Red Condition 

Principal 29km +18k
m 

29
% 

+18
% 

Unclassified 180k
m 

+97k
m 

30
% 

+16
% 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033

£5.6M
2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 2030-2031 2031-2032 2032-2033 2033-2034

38



Schematic 2: Carriageway Scenario 0: Current (Jan 23) Funding  
Scenario 2: Sustained Increase  
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Schematic 3: Carriageway Scenario 2: Sustained Increase  

 

Footways 

1.13 In the development of the Highways Investment Strategy three scenarios were modelled for 
footways, as illustrated in Table 3: 

Footways  

 Scenario Description  Funding Strategy  

 Scenario: 0  

Current (Jan 23) 
Funding  

Original committed budget approved at Environment and 
Climate Change Committee Jan 2023. 

 £3.4m as per 
the original Jan 
2023 allocation 

 Scenario: 1 

Sustained Increase  

Sustained increase to maintain the footways in a steady 
state condition.  

£4.3m through 
the life of the 
strategy   

 Scenario: 2 

Steady State Plus  

This funding would move the network condition beyond 
steady state enabling the Council to further reverse 
network deterioration.  

£5.9m through 
the life of the 
strategy   

Table 3: Barnet’s Footway network modelled change under differing funding scenarios over time using the asset condition data 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Backlo
g 

£34
M ↓£3M 

Classificatio
n 

Red Condition 

Principal 7km -4km 7% -4% 
Unclassified 83k

m 
+0k
m 

14
% 

+0
% 

£9.6M
2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 2030-2031 2031-2032 2032-2033 2033-2034

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033

39



Scenario 0: Current (Jan 23) Funding 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Schematic 4: Footway Scenario 0: Current (Jan 23) Funding 
 
 
Scenario 1: Sustained Increase    
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Schematic 5: Footway Scenario 1: Sustained Increase – Steady State 
 

 

 

 

1.14 In conclusion the modelling has determined an urgent need to investment in the highway 
network to ensure that the declining condition is addressed. Out of the scenarios modelled the 

Classificatio
n 

Red Condition 

Red 203k
m 

+44km 13
% 

+3% 

Red & 
Amber 

780k
m 

+191k
m 

49
% 

+12
% 

Backlo
g 

£34
M 

↑£7M 

Backlo
g 

£27
M 

±£0
M 

Classificatio
n 

Red Condition 

Red 159k
m 

+0km 10
% 

+0
% 

Red & 
Amber 

739k
m 

+150k
m 

46
% 

+9
% 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033

£3.4M
2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 2030-2031 2031-2032 2032-2033 2033-2034

£4.3M
2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 2030-2031 2031-2032 2032-2033 2033-2034

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033

40



view of officers in this current economic climate that the most sustainable solution for the 
Council is to invest in Scenario 1: Sustained Increase this will address further deterioration in the 
highway network and move the network over time to a position of a stabilised network where 
roads are maintained in a good condition with the following ‘red’ condition targets aimed to be 
achieved over the life of the strategy:  

 

Schematic 6: Target reduction in ‘red’ condition highway assets over the life of the strategy 
 

The achievement of these targets will place the highway network in the upper quartile of 
Councils in London.  

1.15 In addition to the above funding the Council: 

o Recognised the need to invest further in the highway network in 2022/23 and as a 
result committed £0.250m per annum for four years commencing in 2022/23 financial 
year as part of ‘our plan for Barnet’. This funding will continue in 2024/25.  

o Will be in receipt of an additional £0.368m from DfT through the Government’s local 
highways maintenance: additional funding from 2023 to 2033, as a follow up to the 
£0.368mk allocated in 2023/24.  

For 2024/25 this amounts to an additional £618k.  These funding streams will be allocated later 
in the year, enabling the Council to retain a fund to address urgent maintenance needs on the 
network. It is proposed that authority will be delegated to the Cabinet Member for Environment 
and Climate Change, in consultation with the Director of Highways and Transportation to 
allocate an additional programme of schemes against the £0.618m during 2024/25.  

1.16 The proposed schemes (£9.4m for carriageways and £4.3m for footways) set out in Appendix B 
have been subject to engagement with Ward Councillors prior to implementation and 
associated communication with residents and business.  

1.17 Additionally, as this is an area identified by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee for scrutiny 
input, the committee is undertaking a review aimed at supporting the Highway Investment 
Strategy and support improvements in the Highway Network.  

 

 

 

 

2. Alternative Options Considered and Not Recommended 

41



2.1 The report as drafted sets out a range of options derived from the developed Highways 
Investment Strategy the options considered and rejected relate to maintaining or returning to 
the current budgets or moving to a steady state plus scenario.  

• Maintaining or returning to current budgets would lead to further severe deterioration 
of the highway network counteracting key transport objectives and potentially 
significant increases to reactive maintenance expenditure and third-party claims. 

• Moving to a Steady State Plus scenario would see a further improvement in the 
condition of the highway network, however this needs to be balanced against the 
backdrop of the current economic climate and the need for the Council to balance the 
Councils overall budget.  

2.2 The recommendations set out in this report are aligned to the Councils adopted asset 
management approach moving the focus to more planned maintenance versus reactive 
(pothole) maintenance in order to deliver longer term sustainable maintenance activities on the 
highway network. This approach aligns to the Councils adopted Highways Infrastructure Asset 
Management Plan (HIAMP) and ‘Well-Managed Highway Infrastructure’ code of practice.   

 

3. Post Decision Implementation 

3.1 Subject to Cabinet approval of the recommendations, officers will plan and implement the 
approved planned maintenance schemes for 2024/25.  

3.2 Officers will raise orders, once the proposed budget is approved at full Council, with the 
Council’s term maintenance contractor and highways works framework contractors.   

3.3 This finalised programme will be taken forward to implementation, and if an instance arises 
where the community objects to a scheme being implemented, the Director of Highways and 
Transportation, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Environment and Climate Change, 
can take a decision to alter the programme under delegated powers. 

3.4 A further independent condition assessment will be commissioned to support future scheme 
selection aligned to the Councils adopted asset management approach.  

 

4. Corporate Priorities, Performance and Other Considerations 

Corporate Plan 

4.1 The proposed work programme will also support the Council’s Sustainability Strategy in relation 
to supply chain operations and material selection including use of low carbon and recycled 
materials.   

4.2 The proposed programme will also contribute to the Council’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy by 
making Barnet a great place to live and enable the residents to keep well and independent. 

4.3 The Highway network is the Council’s most valuable asset and is vital to the economic, social 
and environmental wellbeing of the Borough as well as the general image perception. The 
Highways provide access for business and communities, as well as contribute to the area’s local 
character and the resident’s quality of life. Highways really do matter to people and often public 
opinion surveys continually highlight dissatisfaction with the condition of local roads and the 

42



way they are managed. Public pressure can often result in short term fixes such as potholes for 
example, rather than properly planned and implemented longer term solutions. The proposed 
additional programme aims to minimise short term repairs that provide poor value for money 
and often undermine the structural integrity of the asset. 

Corporate Performance / Outcome Measures 

4.4 Delivery of this programme aligns with Our plan for Barnet 2023-2026 developed Highways 
Investment Strategy. In addition, supports outcome measures in relation to reactive defect 
repairs on the network.  

Sustainability  

4.5 Implementing the recommendations in the report will lead to a positive impact on the Council’s 
carbon and ecology impact aligned to the Council’s Sustainability Strategy in relation to supply 
chain operations and material selection including use of low carbon and recycled materials.   

Corporate Parenting  

4.6 In line with Children and Social Work Act 2017, the Council has a duty to consider Corporate 
Parenting Principles in decision-making across the Council. The outcomes and priorities in the 
refreshed Corporate Plan, Barnet 2024, reflect the Council’s commitment to the Corporate 
Parenting duty to ensure the most vulnerable are protected and the needs of children are 
considered in everything that the Council does.  

4.7 The proposals set out on this report have no direct or indirect impacts on looked after children 
or care leavers identified beyond those applicable to the population as a whole. 

Risk Management 

4.8 Effective management of risk is an integral part of asset management and the Council’s Risk 
Management Framework has established strategic and departmental risk registers. 

4.9 The Code of Practice 'Well-managed highway infrastructure' (2016) advocates the adoption of a 
risk-based approach to the management of highway infrastructure assets, and the proposed 
Work Programme has been developed in accordance with this. 

Insight 

4.10 Not applicable to this report, however the revised delivery plan will be informed by strategic 
insight data provided by TfL and other sources in due course. In addition, the work conducted 
on the Highways Investment Strategy will be utilised to develop future programmes of work.  

Social Value  

4.11 Aligned to the Councils updated Social Value Policy and the respective commitments of the 
Term Maintenance Contract and Highways Works Framework Contract a range of Social Value 
commitments will be delivered including:  

• Creating new jobs and skills to tackle economic inequality in the borough. 

• Improving local supplier capacity and resilience.  

• Supporting resident involvement and development in schemes. 

• Engaging with local schools and community groups to deliver focused awareness and 
training programmes.    

43



5. Resource Implications (Finance and Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT 
and Property)  

5.1 At the Cabinet meeting of 6 February 2024, the CIL budget allocation was approved subject to 
full Council approval.  

5.2 The proposed funding from CIL in 2024/25 is the first tranche of the £97m, i.e. £19.4m to deliver 
planned maintenance works across the following workstreams:  

No Planned Maintenance   

£000 

 

£000 

 

£000 

 

£000 

Budget  

Total 

£000  

Principal Road 
Resurfacing 

Principal Road 
Patching  

Unclassified 

Road 
Resurfacing  

Unclassified 

Road Patching                

      

 1 Carriageways  

6,095 290 2,930 285   9,600 

Resurfacing Patching  2 Footways  

3235 1065 

  

4,300 

Hampden Way 
Reconstruction 

 3 Carriageway 
Reconstruction  

3,000 

   

3,000 

Flood Risk Gully 
enhanced 

cleansing and 
maintenance 

Water course 
management 
infrastructure 

and 
refurbishment  

Drainage 
Infrastructure 
Policy, Survey 
and Mapping 

Flood Schemes 
support, CDA, 

FCERM and 
Sustainable 

drainage 
programmes 

 4 Drainage Maintenance  

400 200 50 350 1,000 

Sanders Lane 
East 

Sanders Lane 
West  

Inspection 
Maintenance  

 5 Highways Structures  

200 600 200 

 

1,000 

Additional 
Rubber Crumb 
Programme 

Signs and Lines  Heritage and 
Other Assets  

 6 Other Highways Assets  

200 200 100 

 

500 

 19,400 

Table 4: Proposed 2024/25 CIL Allocation to Highways Maintenance Programme Summary  

5.3 The carriageway and footway estimates given in Appendix B are provisional and may be subject 
to change on completion of the individual scheme designs. The carriageway and footway 
estimates given in Appendix B are based on the contract rates of the London Highways 
Maintenance and Projects Framework (HMPF) and Highways Works Framework Contract. 

5.4 Some of the proposed schemes may not be delivered due to future utility or development 
works. Updates of any changes or variations to the highway schemes scheduled in Appendix B 

44



will be reported to the Director of Highways and Transportation for his authorisation to alter the 
programme of carriageway and footway renewal works, as and when required. 

5.5 There are no staffing, ICT or property implications.  

 

6. Legal Implications and Constitution References  

6.1 In line with the constitution, the Capital additions set out in this report have been reviewed by 
the Director of Finance prior to being recommended for approval to Cabinet.  

6.2 In accordance with the Council Constitution, Part 2D, Section 1 the terms of reference of the 
Cabinet state that “The Executive will exercise all of the local authority functions which are not 
the responsibility of any other part of the local authority, whether by law or under this 
Constitution.” It also includes the following responsibility: 

• Approving policies that are not part of the policy framework;  

• All key decisions, including: -  

• an executive decision which is likely to be significant in terms of its effects on communities 
living or working in an area of two or more wards of the Borough; 

• a decision that is significant for the reason that if it involves expenditure or the making of 
savings of an amount in excess of £1m for capital expenditure or £500,000 for revenue 
expenditure  

6.3 Regulation 59 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) (“CIL 
Regulations”) requires that CIL levy be spent on funding the provision, improvement, 
replacement, operation or maintenance of infrastructure to support the development of a local 
authority’s area. The range of infrastructure that can be funded through CIL levy is wide and 
includes highway maintenance, flooding and drainage. The proposed works set out in the 
Highway Work Programme to be funded from the CIL allocation accords with Regulation 59 of 
the CIL Regulations.    

6.4 Section 41 of the Highways Act 1980 imposes a duty of maintenance on highway authorities in 
respect of those highways that are maintainable at the public expense. A breach of this duty 
could potentially make the highway authority liable in damages to a road user who suffers injury 
as a result of an actionable defect in the highway. 

6.5 The Traffic Management Act 2004 also places obligations on authorities to ensure the 
expeditious movement of traffic on their road network. Authorities are required to make 
arrangements as they consider appropriate for planning and carrying out the action to be taken 
in performing the duty. 

6.6 The improvement to the highway asset proposed in this report will assist the Council in 
discharging its duties under the Highways and Traffic Management legislation. 

 

 

 

 

45



7. Consultation  

7.1 Engagement has been undertaken with local ward councillors in order to brief on the proposed 
programme of carriageway schemes. Further engagement will be undertaken to ensure local 
ward councillors are aware of the programme and scheme implementation within their wards.  

7.2 Residents will receive notification in advance of works informing them of the start date and 
useful information prior to work commencing on site.  

 

8. Equalities and Diversity  

8.1 The Equality Act 2010 requires the Council in the exercise of its functions to have due regard to 
the need:  

• to eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct prohibited by 
the 2010 Act; and 

• advance equality of opportunity and to foster good relations, between those who share a 
protected characteristic and those who do not. 

8.2 The relevant protected characteristics are:  

• age; disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; 
and sexual orientation. 

8.3 The cumulative impact on groups with protected characteristics will not be significant with 
many people benefitting or no impact due to the additional programme of works recommended 
in this report. Young, elderly and disabled could benefit largely from this approach through 
improvement to the highways asset.  

 

9. Background Papers 

9.1 Caring for people, our places and the planet: Our plan for Barnet 2023-2026 

9.2 Environment and Climate Change Committee – September 2022 - Highways Infrastructure Asset 
Management Plan  

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s73860/ECC%20Committee%20Report-
%20HIAMP%2006%20September%202022_Cleared%20220822.pdf 

9.3 Environment and Climate Change Committee – September 2022 – Investing in Barnet’s roads 
and pavements 2023/24 

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=695&MId=11103&Ver=4 

9.4 Environment and Climate Change Committee – January 2023 - Investing in Barnet’s Roads and 
Pavements Programme 2023/24  

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s76001/Environment%20Committee%20Report%       
20Investing%20in%20Barnets%20Roads%20and%20Pavements%20Programme%202023-
24%20Final.pdf 

9.5 Cabinet – July 2023 - Improving Barnet’s Roads additional investment and action plan 

46

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s73860/ECC%20Committee%20Report-%20HIAMP%2006%20September%202022_Cleared%20220822.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s73860/ECC%20Committee%20Report-%20HIAMP%2006%20September%202022_Cleared%20220822.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=695&MId=11103&Ver=4
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s76001/Environment%20Committee%20Report%25


https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s79042/Cabinet Report Improving Barnets Roads 
additional investment.pdf 

9.6 Annual Local Authority Road Maintenance (ALARM) Survey report 

https://www.asphaltuk.org/alarm-survey-page/  

 

 

47

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s79042/Cabinet%20Report%20Improving%20Barnets%20Roads%20additional%20investment.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s79042/Cabinet%20Report%20Improving%20Barnets%20Roads%20additional%20investment.pdf
https://www.asphaltuk.org/alarm-survey-page/


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A – Highways Investment Strategy – Scenario Modelling  

 

Carriageways 
Scenario 0: Current Funding 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Backlog £82M ↑£45M 

 
Classification Red Condition 
Principal 29km +18km 29% +18% 
Unclassified 180km +97km 30% +16% 

 

  

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033

£5.6M
2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 2030-2031 2031-2032 2032-2033 2033-2034

49



 

Scenario 1: Return to Current 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Backlog £75M ↑£38M 
 
Classification Red Condition 
Principal 23km +12km 22% +11% 
Unclassified 169km +86km 29% +15% 

  

£9.6M £5.6M
2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 2030-2031 2031-2032 2032-2033 2033-2034

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033

50



 

Scenario 2: Sustained Increase 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Backlog £34M ↓£3M 
 
Classification Red Condition 
Principal 7km -4km 7% -4% 
Unclassified 83km +0km 14% +0% 

  

£9.6M
2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 2030-2031 2031-2032 2032-2033 2033-2034

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033

51



 

Scenario 3: Steady State Plus 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Backlog £25M ↓£12M 
 
Classification Red Condition 
Principal 6km -5km 6% -5% 
Unclassified 60km -23km 10% -4% 

  

£9.6M £11.0M
2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 2030-2031 2031-2032 2032-2033 2033-2034

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033

52



Footways 
Scenario 0: Current Funding 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Backlog £34M ↑£7M 

 
Classification Red Condition 
Red 203km +44km 13% +3% 
Red & Amber 780km +191km 49% +12% 

  

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033

£3.4M
2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 2030-2031 2031-2032 2032-2033 2033-2034

53



 

Scenario 1: Sustained Increase 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Backlog £27M ±£0M 

 
Classification Red Condition 
Red 159km +0km 10% +0% 
Red & Amber 739km +150km 46% +9% 

  

£4.3M
2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 2030-2031 2031-2032 2032-2033 2033-2034

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033

54



 

Scenario 2: Steady State Plus 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Backlog £14M ↓£13M 

 
Classification Red Condition 
Red 80km -79km 5% -5% 
Red & Amber 665km +76km 42% +5% 

 

£5.9M
2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 2030-2031 2031-2032 2032-2033 2033-2034

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033

55



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Appendix B  

Carriageway Resurfacing Principal Road Network   

Road name Section Length 
(m) Ward Estimated Cost 

Great North Road 179 Barnet Vale £135,751 
Great North Road 808 Barnet Vale £604,950 

Brunswick Park Road 71 Brunswick Park £46,382 
Osidge Lane 130 Brunswick Park £110,304 
Osidge Lane 205 Brunswick Park £190,873 

North End Road 431 Childs Hill £339,810 
The Hyde 166 Colindale South £99,717 
The Hyde 278 Colindale South £166,995 

Stonegrove 239 Edgware £217,146 
Stonegrove 530 Edgware £421,843 
Marsh Lane 320 Edgwarebury £56,226 

Friern Barnet Road 350 Friern Barnet £228,643 
Oakleigh Road North 110 Friern Barnet/Brunswick Park £99,116 

Barnet Road 162 High Barnet £97,314 
Barnet Road 167 High Barnet £126,651 

Great North Road 210 High Barnet £126,148 
Hadley Green 505 High Barnet £394,361 
Wood Street 147 High Barnet £81,681 
Daws Lane 32 Mill Hill £19,222 
Daws Lane 53 Mill Hill £49,348 
Daws Lane 196 Mill Hill £142,757 

Highwood Hill 61 Mill Hill £26,108 
Highwood Hill 70 Mill Hill £43,626 
Highwood Hill 315 Mill Hill £217,605 
The Ridgeway 400 Mill Hill £291,341 
The Broadway 46 Mill Hill/Edgware £27,632 
The Broadway 84 Mill Hill/Edgware £98,395 

Totteridge Village 1,310 Totteridge & Woodside £71,806 
Totteridge Common 2,059 Totteridge & Woodside/Mill Hill £139,145 

Kingsway 155 West Finchley £129,752 
Oakleigh Road North 550 Whetstone/Friern Barnet £536,878 

Friern Barnet Lane 15 Woodhouse/Friern Barnet £8,560 
Friern Barnet Lane 79 Woodhouse/Friern Barnet £38,558 
Friern Barnet Lane 81 Woodhouse/Friern Barnet £71,161 
Friern Barnet Lane 101 Woodhouse/Friern Barnet £67,496 
Friern Barnet Lane 113 Woodhouse/Friern Barnet £74,667 
Friern Barnet Lane 121 Woodhouse/Friern Barnet £94,491 
Friern Barnet Lane 124 Woodhouse/Friern Barnet £115,455 

High Road 120 Woodhouse/West Finchley £153,179 
Friern Barnet Lane 177 Woodhouse/Whetstone £134,235 
TOTAL CARRIAGEWAY RESURFACING PRINCIPAL ROAD SCHEME VALUE £6,095,328 

57



    
    
Carriageway Resurfacing Unclassified Road Network   

Road name Section Length 
(m) Ward Estimated Cost 

Hillary Rise 124 Barnet Vale £27,234 
Lyonsdown Road 444 Barnet Vale £227,967 
Station Approach 189 Barnet Vale £105,727 
Claremont Road 38 Cricklewood £26,251 
Coppetts Road 32 East Finchley £19,222 

Kings Drive 447 Edgware £250,054 
Fairmead Crescent 894 Edgwarebury £417,706 

Alexandra Road 676 Friern Barnet £245,086 
Coppetts Road 47 Friern Barnet/East Finchley £28,233 
*Willifield Way 282 Garden Suburb £108,984 

Southover 515 Totteridge & Woodside £406,037 
Woodside Avenue 474 Totteridge & Woodside £533,874 
Fitzjohn Avenue 769 Underhill £418,779 
Esmar Crescent 57 West Hendon £31,837 

Raleigh Drive 86 Whetstone/Friern Barnet £55,535 
Ravensdale Avenue 53 Woodhouse £27,858 

TOTAL CARRIAGEWAY RESURFACING UNCLASSIFIED ROAD SCHEME VALUE £2,930,385 
*added to programme    

Carriageway Patching Principal Road Network    

Road name Section Length 
(m) Ward Estimated Cost 

Burnt Oak Broadway 650 Burnt Oak £20,752 
The Hyde 398 Burnt Oak £22,296 

Finchley Road 115 Childs Hill £9,699 
Finchley Road 304 Childs Hill £18,495 
Edgware Road 581 Cricklewood £27,998 

Edgware Road Flyover 249 Cricklewood £5,587 
Dollis Road 266 Finchley Church End £8,956 

Holders Hill Road 154 Finchley Church End £10,014 
Finchley Lane 589 Hendon £47,078 
Barnet Road 139 High Barnet £8,568 
Barnet Road 838 High Barnet £35,335 

Edgware Road Flyover 319 West Hendon £7,687 
Edgware Road Flyover 341 West Hendon £8,216 

The Hyde 174 West Hendon £9,429 
The Hyde 196 West Hendon £10,621 

West Hendon Broadway 270 West Hendon £18,289 
West Hendon Broadway Slip2 242 West Hendon £12,828 

Wilberforce 69 West Hendon £4,019 
Edgware Road Flyover 77 West Hendon/Cricklewood £3,886 

TOTAL CARRIAGEWAY PATCHING PRINCIPAL ROAD SCHEME VALUE £289,753 

58



    
    
Carriageway Patching Unclassified Road Network   

Road name Section Length 
(m) Ward Estimated Cost 

Thirleby Road 432 Burnt Oak £16,094 
Watling Avenue 350 Burnt Oak £20,240 

The Vale 151 Childs Hill £16,058 
Amber Grove 132 Cricklewood £6,661 

Claremont Road 275 Cricklewood £14,577 
Church Hill Road 440 East Barnet £12,722 

Oakleigh Gardens 252 Edgware £6,071 
Broadhurst Avenue 281 Edgwarebury £14,085 

Deansway 201 East Finchley/Garden Suburb £10,143 
Bellevue Road 379 Friern Barnet £6,507 
Poplar Grove 563 Friern Barnet £29,166 

Hampstead Way 79 Garden Suburb £5,084 
Holne Chase 526 Garden Suburb £26,298 
Middleway 238 Garden Suburb £13,542 
Deansway 207 Garden Suburb/East Finchley £9,289 

Temple Fortune Lane 567 Garden Suburb/Golders Green £12,722 
Shirehall Lane 200 Hendon £11,922 
Tapster Street 140 High Barnet £3,142 

Burtonhole Lane 89 Mill Hill £3,994 
BURTONHOLE LANE RBW 400 Mill Hill £17,951 

Frith Court 75 Mill Hill £3,785 
Northway Crescent 134 Mill Hill £6,457 

Dale Grove 252 West Finchley £5,009 
Woolmead Avenue 290 West Hendon £13,014 
TOTAL CARRIAGEWAY PATCHING UNCLASSIFIED ROAD SCHEME VALUE £284,534 

    
    
Footway Resurfacing Programme    

Road name Section Length 
(m) Ward Estimated Cost 

Abbots Road 120 Burnt Oak £64,286 
Abbots Road 120 Burnt Oak £64,286 

Orange Hill Road 333 Burnt Oak £214,072 
Silkstream Road 372 Burnt Oak £239,144 
North End Road 120 Childs Hill £77,143 

The Vale 452 Childs Hill £242,144 
Grahame Park Way 187 Colindale North £59,947 

Edgware Road 110 Cricklewood £58,929 
Ashburnham Close 150 East Finchley £80,358 
Fairlawn Avenue 145 East Finchley £69,863 

Deans Lane 146 Edgware £78,215 

59



Deans Lane 190 Edgware £101,786 
Deans Lane 213 Edgware £114,108 

HALE GROVE GARDENS F/P 40 Edgware £17,143 
Hale Lane 100 Edgware £64,286 

LILLEY LANE (2nd Section) 64 Edgware £27,429 
Stonegrove 120 Edgware £77,143 

Lichfield Grove 194 Finchley Church End £103,929 
GRESHAM AVENUE F/P 162 Friern Barnet £69,429 

Oak Avenue 110 Friern Barnet £26,786 
Hampstead Way 234 Garden Suburb £125,358 
Wildwood Road 100 Garden Suburb £53,572 
Wildwood Road 260 Garden Suburb £139,286 
Eastville Avenue 132 Golders Green £70,715 

Regina Close 150 High Barnet £80,358 
Stapylton Road 194 High Barnet £124,715 

*THE RIDGEWAY F/P 2 199 Mill Hill £85,286 
Sutherland Close 195 Underhill £104,465 

Station Road 120 West Hendon £77,143 
Station Road 200 West Hendon £128,572 
Station Road 377 West Hendon £242,358 

Etheridge Road 300 West Hendon £152,460 
TOTAL FOOTWAY RESURFACING SCHEME VALUE £3,234,712 

*added to programme    
    
Footway Patching Programme    

Road name Section Length 
(m) Ward Estimated Cost 

Burnt Oak Broadway 20 Burnt Oak £13,403 
Burnt Oak Broadway 40 Burnt Oak £26,805 

Garratt Road 20 Burnt Oak £11,169 
Gervase Road 20 Burnt Oak £11,169 

Gloucester Grove 50 Burnt Oak £27,922 
The Hyde 30 Burnt Oak £20,104 

Thirleby Road 40 Burnt Oak £26,805 
Helenslea Avenue 30 Childs Hill £16,753 

Hodford Road 20 Childs Hill £11,169 
Hoop Lane 20 Childs Hill £13,403 
The Vale 40 Childs Hill £22,338 

Colindale Avenue 20 Colindale South £13,403 
Claremont Road 30 Cricklewood £16,753 
Claremont Road 30 Cricklewood £16,753 
Edgware Road 65 Cricklewood £36,299 

Baring Road 20 East Barnet £13,403 
Lawton Road 20 East Barnet £11,169 

Northfield Road 30 East Barnet £16,753 

60



Deansway 20 East Finchley £13,403 
Eagans Close 27 East Finchley £15,078 
Eagans Close 27 East Finchley £15,078 

East End Road 50 East Finchley £33,507 
Stonegrove 30 Edgware £20,104 

East End Road 54 Finchley Church End £36,187 
Hendon Lane 60 Finchley Church End £33,507 

Oakleigh Road North 30 Friern Barnet/Brunswick Park £20,104 
Finchley Road 40 Golders Green £26,805 

Golders Green Road 30 Golders Green £20,104 
Hampstead Way 36 Golders Green £20,104 
Hampstead Way 44 Golders Green £24,572 
Hayes Crescent 20 Golders Green £11,169 
Finchley Lane 30 Hendon £20,104 

Glebe Crescent 40 Hendon £22,338 
Alston Road 40 High Barnet £26,805 
Barnet Road 40 High Barnet £22,338 
Kings Road 20 High Barnet £11,169 

Quinta Drive 40 High Barnet £26,805 
The Avenue 20 High Barnet £13,403 
Wood Street 40 High Barnet £22,338 

Hammers Lane 47 Mill Hill £26,247 
Hartley Avenue 50 Mill Hill £27,922 
Lawrence Street 50 Mill Hill £33,507 

Milespit Hill 20 Mill Hill £11,169 
The Broadway 20 Mill Hill £11,169 

Hillside Gardens 20 Underhill £11,169 
Ballards Lane 45 West Finchley £30,156 

Layfield Crescent 42 West Hendon £23,455 
Station Road 24 West Hendon £16,083 
Station Road 30 West Hendon £20,104 
Station Road 30 West Hendon £20,104 
Station Road 40 West Hendon £26,805 
Station Road 40 West Hendon £26,805 

TOTAL FOOTWAY PATCHING SCHEME VALUE £1,065,288 

    
 

 

61



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Highway Investment Strategy 
Carriageways and Footways 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Date: December 2023 
Authored by: RP / DS 
Version: Final  

63



1 

Table of Contents 
Introduction What is Barnet’s context? 2 

Today What is the current situation? 3 

Benchmarking How do we compare to others?  5 

Methodology How do we undertake forecasting? 7 

Carriageways Investment plan for carriageways 8 

Footways Investment plan for footways 12 

Conclusion Proposed way forward 14 

Next Steps Recommended implementation plan 15 

Summary Table Carriageway and footway scenarios 16 

Appendix Inputs for investment modelling 17 
 

Glossary of Key Terms 
Technical Terms 

Backlog 
The cost to bring all ‘red’ (poor) condition assets into ‘green’ condition (or 
alternatively, the defective network quantified in financial terms). 

Steady 
State 

The cost to maintain the asset in the same condition as it is today with no 
deterioration or improvement over the full assessment period. 

Scenarios 
Current 
Funding 

No additional funding provided and thus continuing with the base level of 
funding of £9.0 million/year for both carriageways and footways. 

Return to 
Current 

A temporary £4 million increase over two years to £13.0 million/year before 
returning to the base level of funding of £9.0 million/year. 

Sustained 
Increase 

A sustained £4 million increase over the full assessment period (£13.0 
million/year) with no reduction in funding. 

Steady 
State Plus 

Reversing deterioration to an appropriate level of service (to meet target 
condition) before maintaining this condition going forward.  

  

64



2 

Introduction: What is Barnet’s context? 
The London Borough of Barnet (Barnet) adopted a new Highway Infrastructure Asset Management Plan 
in 2022, setting out the Council’s strategic approach to managing its highway network. As well as this 
document, Barnet also has a Long Term Transport Strategy (2020 to 2041) (currently under review) and 
a new corporate plan through the Our Plan for Barnet (2023 to 2026). These documents set out a series 
of highway-related objectives and commitments to Barnet’s constituents including creating a better 
place to live, work and visit and encouraging active travel (i.e. walking and cycling). Similarly, Barnet 
declared a climate and biodiversity emergency in 2022, accompanied by the BarNET ZERO campaign 
through which Barnet committed to become a net-zero carbon Council by 2030 and Borough by 2042. 

Delivering these promises will require additional, sustained investment into Barnet’s highways. Promoting 
active travel requires a well-maintained footway network to facilitate walking and good carriageways 
for cyclists to travel through safely. Maintenance strategies will also need to be carefully selected going 
forward to minimise carbon from highway maintenance and support a move towards net zero carbon.  

Within the corporate plan, Barnet also committed to developing a new highway investment strategy this 
financial year – this will need to align with the various strategic Council objectives and commitments. 
This investment planning exercise seeks to understand the investment needed to maintain the borough’s 
carriageways and footways under various scenarios going forward to deliver these corporate objectives. 

Our Plan for Barnet (2023 to 2026) 

“In 2023/24, we will develop a new highway investment strategy to improve the quality 
of our highways and footways and support more sustainable forms of travel.” 

 

Today, Barnet face a challenge in terms of the 
level of sustainable funding required in coming 
years (particularly in light of the absence of 
previously relied upon TfL funding for the  principal 
road network) – this is further reinforced by the 
findings of the latest ALARM Survey 2023. 

The current economic climate and high inflation 
have also meant less work can be delivered with 
limited highway funding available. The following 
figures demonstrate significant price rises across 
certain construction materials (from 2021 to 2022): 

ALARM Survey 2023 
The Annual Local Authority Road Maintenance 
(ALARM) survey seeks to benchmark and highlight 
links between local road maintenance funding and 
condition in England & Wales, using data on asset 
condition, budgets and various pressures faced. 
The following figures set out 2023 London averages: 

Backlog £36 million (↑45%) 

Shortfall -£7.3 million (↑43%) 
 

Precast Concrete Paving +32% Barnet undertake annual visual condition surveys 
via a third-party to inform its maintenance works 
programme and monitor asset performance. This 
investment modelling exercise uses this condition 
data to forecast the trends that Barnet can expect 

Gravel / Sand / Clay +60% 

Natural Stone +23% 
 

given its current context and the pressures faced. The exercise found that a failure to address funding 
shortfalls would lead to further severe deterioration of the highway network, counteracting key 
transport objectives and potentially significant increases to reactive maintenance expenditure and 
third-party claims, both of which pose significant financial and reputational risks to the Council. 

It should be stressed, this report only assesses the funding need for carriageways and footways, the 
Council’s most valuable asset with a total valuation of approximately £1.6 billion (2021)*. Further 
investment will be required for Barnet’s other highway assets (such as drainage and structures). 

*subject to update in 2023 

65

https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2021-10/Barnet%20LTTS%20v8.pdf
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-02/Barnet%20Corporate%20Plan%202023-26.pdf
https://engage.barnet.gov.uk/net-zero
https://www.asphaltuk.org/wp-content/uploads/ALARM-survey-2023-FINAL-with-links.pdf


3 

Today: What is the situation? 
Barnet are spending approximately £9.0 million/year on the planned maintenance of its carriageway 
and footway network in the 2023/24 financial year. This is typically split between the two assets as follows: 

Carriageways £5.6 million/year Footways £3.4 million/year 
However, following a recent funding agreement through Cabinet, Barnet increased planned investment 
into its carriageways by an additional £8million divided over 2 years – this brings the total carriageway 
budget to £13.0million/year (+£4.0M/year) through to the end of the 2024/25 financial year. 
The following is an overview of Barnet’s network based on the condition data collected via third-party 
annual surveys undertaken by XAIS and how this relates to the reactive maintenance regime. 

Condition 
 

Carriageways Budget: £9.6M/year 
Today, around 14% (around 100km) of Barnet’s carriageways are in a ‘red’ condition (i.e. have reached 
the end-of their life) with a total state of disrepair of 54% (or 370km) including the ‘amber’ carriageways.  

Road Class. Length RAG Condition 

Principal* 101 km 15%  

Unclassified 592 km 75%  

Total 693 km**  
*includes classified (B&C) roads 
**subject to review (asset growth expected with adopted roads)  Backlog £37M 
 

Footways Budget: £3.4M/year 
Barnet’s footways are built in two styles; Type 1 (concrete flag) and Type 3 (bituminous & block). In total, 
10% (or 160km) of footways are in a ‘red’ condition with 37% (or 590km) in an overall state of disrepair. 

Type Length RAG Condition 

Total 1,591 km  
 

Backlog £27M 
 

Condition Targets 
The following ‘red’ condition targets have been defined as the desirable level of service for Barnet’s 
highways, benchmarked against what a successfully operating transport network looks like for London. 

CW 

Principal 6%  

Unclassified 10%  

FW All Footways 5%  

46%

48%

37%

40%

38%

52%

14%

14%

11%

63% 27% 10%

6%

11%
Target

Current

10%

14%
Target

Current

5%

10%
Target

Current

66



4 

Reactive Maintenance Regime 
In line with the statutory duty placed on the Highway Authority to maintain public highways (Section 41 
of the Highways Act 1980), Barnet undertakes reactive maintenance of its highways. Through this service, 
the Council reactively repairs safety and serviceability issues as they arise, typically including dangerous 
carriageway potholes, footway trip hazards and faulty street furniture. These repairs are short-term and 
thus not considered to improve network condition (but keep the highway in a serviceable condition). 

 Around 9,300 reactive defects were identified on 
Barnet’s carriageways and footways in 2022/23, a 
significant increase (almost 100%) in the past four 
years. Several factors have contributed to this 
sharp rise in defects including climate change 
(and a resulting increase in heavy rainfall events), 
a return to normal traffic volumes following the 
COVID-19 pandemic, but particularly the severe 
decline in network condition in recent years, which 
have allowed minor signs of wear and tear to 
propagate into serious highway defects. 

 

Carriageways 2022/23 Defects: ~4,000 
 

Around 4,000 reactive carriageway defects 
(such as potholes) were identified by Barnet in 
2022/23, a significant increase (~50%) in the 
past three years. Associating defect data to 
the condition of carriageway sections they are 
identified on allows us to forecast how reactive 
pressures might change with worsening (or 
improving) network condition. The following 
demonstrates how the network condition 
improving or deteriorating by ±10% could 
influence expected reactive defect volumes 
reinforcing an invest-to-save business case. 

+10% improvement -10% deterioration 

 

Condition Principal Unclassified The findings demonstrate ‘red’ roads (i.e. those that 
have reached end of life) are responsible for 4 times as 
many reactive defects as a recently resurfaced ‘green’ 
road. In a similar manner, principal roads (which carry 
the highest volumes of traffic) are 2 times as likely to 
develop defects when compared to unclassified roads. 

Red 24 12 

Amber 12 6 

Green 6 2 
 

Footways 2022/23 Defects: ~5,300 
 

Condition Footways Similarly, over 5,300 reactive footway defects were identified in 2022/23. 
As expected, total reactive defect volumes are higher than carriageways 
due to higher risk on footways in urban London boroughs. However, the 
correlation between worsening condition and reactive defects is weaker, 
generally due to lower investigatory levels (trip risks) and the often 
random occurrence of safety defects on footways (e.g. vehicle overrun). 

Red 4.3 

Amber 3.9 

Green 3.0 

5,413
6,539

9,336 9,310

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

19-20 20-21 21-22 22-23

2939
3307

3952

3200

4700

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

20-21 21-22 22-23 Future

67



5 

Benchmarking: How do we compare to others? 
Comparisons with other London Boroughs help to illustrate how Barnet compare against authorities with 
similar context and pressures – the following section shows where Barnet sits against the rest of London. 

Network Size 
Barnet have the 4th largest highway network in London and, more significantly, the most principal roads. 
The latter is particularly important to note as principal roads have the highest use – Barnet thus have a  

 large proportion of roads 
which require a higher level 
of service to be maintained 
but deteriorate rapidly. 

 Total Network Length 

1st Bromley 821 km 

2nd Croydon 777 km 

3rd Havering 744 km 

4th Barnet 693 km 
 

Principal Road Length 

1st Barnet 79 km 

2nd Croydon 78 km 

3rd Bromley 72 km 
 

Usage (Traffic Volumes) 
Further to the comparisons of network length, Barnet’s principal 
roads (both TLRN and BPRN) carry the highest traffic volumes in 
all of London, given its strategic location as a key corridor to/from 
the north. Note, this includes both the TLRN (TfL-owned) and BPRN 
(Borough-owned) principal roads, as these traffic volumes would 
reasonably be expected to propagate through the Borough’s 
non-principal network as they travel to or across the Borough. A 
significant proportion of heavier vehicles using these routes also 
means large stresses on roads (and faster deterioration). 

Barnet Volumes: 

London Volumes: Total Volume > 50,000 AADF 

1st Barnet 48 km 

2nd Redbridge 36 km 

3rd Ealing 33 km 
 

HGV Volume > 1,000 AADF 

1st Barnet 53 km 

2nd Hillingdon 48 km 

3rd Enfield 44 km 

 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

Ba
rk

in
g 

an
d 

D
ag

en
ha

m
Ba

rn
et

Be
xl

ey
Br

en
t

Br
om

le
y

C
am

de
n

C
ity

 o
f L

on
do

n
C

ro
yd

on
Ea

lin
g

En
fie

ld
G

re
en

w
ic

h
Ha

ck
ne

y
Ha

m
m

er
sm

ith
 a

nd
 F

ul
ha

m
Ha

rin
ge

y
Ha

rr
ow

Ha
ve

rin
g

Hi
lli

ng
do

n
Ho

un
sl

ow
Is

lin
gt

on
Ke

ns
in

gt
on

 a
nd

 C
he

ls
ea

Ki
ng

st
on

 u
po

n 
Th

am
es

La
m

be
th

Le
w

is
ha

m
M

er
to

n
N

ew
ha

m
Re

db
rid

ge
Ri

ch
m

on
d 

up
on

 T
ha

m
es

So
ut

hw
ar

k
Su

tt
on

To
w

er
 H

am
le

ts
W

al
th

am
 F

or
es

t
W

an
ds

w
or

th
W

es
tm

in
st

er

68



6 

Asset Condition (Principal Roads) 
Annual pan-London carriageway condition surveys are undertaken on all Borough-owned principal 
roads via TfL and the London Highway Engineers Group (LoHEG); note, this uses a different condition 
survey methodology (Vaisala RoadAI) than Barnet’s annual third-party survey (XAIS). The results of the 
2022/23 Vaisala survey have been used to benchmark Barnet’s principal road condition against others.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Reinforced by the size of 
Barnet’s highway network 
and its level of use (both 
covered above), Barnet 
have the most ‘red’ 
principal roads in London. 

It should be noted, as well 
as carrying the most traffic 
in the Borough, principal 
roads will have higher 
treatment rates as they 
require additional traffic 
management (and other 
ancillaries) compared to a 
typical scheme. 
‘Red’ Principal Roads 

1st Barnet 43 km 

2nd Brent 28 km 

3rd  Enfield 25 km 

Historic results from pan-London BPRN condition surveys also illustrate a continued decline in the 
condition of these principal roads in Barnet over the past decade, reinforcing ALARM survey findings.  

2009/10 2014/15 2023/24* 
    

6% red 21% red 31% red 
* based on initial LoHEG 2023/24 results (subject to minor changes following audits) 

This reflects the lack of previously relied upon TfL funding for BPRN maintenance – no sizeable sum has 
been received from TfL since 2017, largely due to the impacts of both COVID-19 and Hammersmith Bridge 
on TfL’s finances. However, the statutory duty to maintain Barnet-owned public highways remains Barnet 
Council’s (Section 41, Highways Act 1980); any litigation arising from failure to meet this duty will be 
against Barnet, the Highway Authority. As such, Barnet must continue with strategic steps made since 
2022 to the way it funds principal road maintenance – while external funding streams should be sought, 
sustained internal investment into the BPRN at scale will be necessary if Barent are to reverse 
deterioration and return to an appropriate level of service on the most vital transport routes in London. 

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

35.0

40.0

45.0

Ba
rk

in
g 

&
 D

ag
en

ha
m

Ba
rn

et
Be

xl
ey

Br
en

t
Br

om
le

y
C

am
de

n
C

ity
 O

f L
on

do
n

C
ro

yd
on

Ea
lin

g
En

fie
ld

G
re

en
w

ic
h

Ha
ck

ne
y

Ha
m

m
er

sm
ith

 &
 F

ul
ha

m
Ha

rin
ge

y
Ha

rr
ow

Ha
ve

rin
g

Hi
lli

ng
do

n
Ho

un
sl

ow
Is

lin
gt

on
Ke

ns
in

gt
on

 &
 C

he
ls

ea
Ki

ng
st

on
 u

po
n 

Th
am

es
La

m
be

th
Le

w
is

ha
m

M
er

to
n

N
ew

ha
m

Re
db

rid
ge

Ri
ch

m
on

d 
up

on
 T

ha
m

es
So

ut
hw

ar
k

Su
tt

on
To

w
er

 H
am

le
ts

W
al

th
am

 F
or

es
t

W
an

ds
w

or
th

W
es

tm
in

st
er

69



7 

Methodology: How do we undertake forecasting? 
Barnet have engaged Metis Consultants Ltd (Metis) to undertake lifecycle modelling and develop 
investment plans for the borough’s carriageway and footway networks. Having provided extensive 
consultancy support to various local authorities for over a decade, Metis have a valuable understanding 
of highways, the strategic drivers for transport networks, and the necessity for robust, comprehensive 
investment plans that are fit for purpose today and in the future. The following sets out the methodology: 

Condition Forecasting 
Metis have developed a dynamic investment model to assess 
how Barnet’s network condition is expected to change under 
different funding scenarios. This model forecasts the 
condition of the asset over a 10-year period by assessing 
deterioration lifecycles against achievable maintenance. 

Inputs were collated from Barnet officers and supporting 
datasets (budgets, condition, and treatment rates/types). 
Where information was not available (e.g. asset lives), 
informed assumptions were made in collaboration with 
Barnet officers using engineering judgement and Metis’ 
experiences with other authorities with similar networks. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Condition forecasting model concept 

Change in Condition = Deterioration (G → A → R) – Maintenance (R → G  |  A → G) 

Deterioration takes place sequentially, going from ‘green’ to ‘amber’ to ‘red’. The rate of this deterioration 
will depend on the carriageway level of usage (i.e. road classification) and their estimated useful life. It 
is assumed that the deterioration will remain constant throughout the asset life. The amount of 
maintenance achievable under the available budget allocation is the key factor in determining how the 
network condition can be expected to change. As well as funding allocation,  term maintenance contract 
treatment costs and maintenance strategy will also influence condition change. The input data used 
to undertake this modelling exercise has been provided in Appendix 1. 

It is important to note that while this investment model enables Barnet to explore general trends in 
network condition, it is impossible to predict the exact condition of any one specific road using this 
method. Similarly, condition will vary over the 10-year period of the forecast moving around the targets 
from one year to the next dependent on climatic conditions, maintenance undertaken and traffic effects 
on the network. 10-year analysis period has been selected to recognise trends in treatment costs and 
provides a good balance between accuracy and longer-term planning and funding. 

  

70



8 

Carriageway Investment Plan 

Maintenance Strategy 
An effective maintenance strategy optimises mid- to long-term performance and maximises value for 
money. To understand what strategy will provide the best return on investment, Barnet have explored 
various highway maintenance strategies which seek to balance the need to resurface whole roads with 
a targeted ‘sectional resurfacing’ approach (while also ensuring practical considerations are captured).  

 
 
 

  

Under this approach, opportunities to intervene on defective sections of road (such as the Warwick Road 
example above) with more targeted sectional resurfacing schemes would be sought, where appropriate. 

However, a holistic strategy must be employed to deal with the various types and stages of defectiveness 
reasonably expected in Barnet. For example, with a more sectional-focused resurfacing programme, an 
allowance would still be made for deeper (partial) reconstruction into the carriageway base course to 
deal with structural issues (which include public reports of vibration issues on concrete roads).  

Maintenance Strategy 1 Full Road Resurf. Focused 10% recon. 60% full 30% sectional 

Maintenance Strategy 2 Sectional Resurf. Focused 10% recon. 30% full 60% sectional 

Maintenance Strategy 2 (MS2) is recommended for implementation going forward to allow for the most 
efficient use of limited resources which target smaller areas of severe defectiveness and the highest 
community benefit, but allowing for reconstruction and full road resurfacing, where practically required. 

Investment Scenarios 
The following section sets out a series of scenarios modelling expected network condition trends under 
various funding strategies seeking to achieve different performance outcomes over the next 10 years. 

  

inefficient desired range impractical 

Full Road Resurfacing-focused Sectional Resurfacing-focused 

71



9 

Scenario 0: Current Funding 

Funding:  

This scenario assesses how Barnet’s carriageways would perform if the base investment continued at 
the current £5.6 million/year, typically split 50:50 between principal and unclassified (£2.8 million each). 

Continuing at current funding levels will lead to 
severe deterioration of the network with ‘red’ 
condition carriageways forecasted to increase 
to 209km (+115km) of the network over 10 years 
due to the significant shortfall.  

When quantified in financial terms using the 
backlog, there is a significant increase by 2033 
to £82 million (+£45 million). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Backlog £82M ↑£45M 

Using the relationship between condition and 
reactive regime, the number of defects (e.g. 
potholes) are expected to reach ~5,200/year 
(+1,200) as the overall disrepair (including 
‘amber’) reaches 68% (470 km) of the entire 
carriageway network by 2033. At this level of 
deterioration, Barnet would find itself in a very 
difficult position to recover from going forward. 

Classification Red Condition 

Principal 29km +18km 29% +18% 

Unclassified 180km +97km 30% +16% 
 

Scenario 1: Return to Current 

Funding:  

Based on the recently agreed funding increase, 
this scenario assesses how carriageways are 
expected to perform with £9.6 million/year 
(+£4.0 million) for 2 years. It assumes budgets 
return to around £5.6 million/year for the last 8 
years (after the 2024/25 financial year). 

The temporary funding increase enables Barnet 
to prevent deterioration for the first 2 years, 
keeping roads in a ‘red’ condition at 14% (+0%). 
Barnet will focus this initial 2-year increase on 
bigger schemes to improve large extents of 
heavily deteriorated roads, a mix of principal 
and unclassified roads providing a poor (and 
sometimes dangerous) level of service. 
However, this funding is still not sufficient to 
improve the overall network condition. 

 

£5.6M
2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 2030-2031 2031-2032 2032-2033 2033-2034

£9.6M £5.6M
2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 2030-2031 2031-2032 2032-2033 2033-2034

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033

72



10 

Similarly, given the limit in the period over which 
this funding increase is provided for, a return to 
current carriageway funding (£5.6 million/year) 
would see significant network deterioration over 

Classification Red Condition 

Principal 23km +12km 22% +11% 

Unclassified 169km +86km 29% +15% 
 

the full  10-year analysis period explored, as was demonstrated in Scenario 0. By 2033, the amount of 
roads in a ‘red’ condition reach around 191km (+97km). When quantified financially as a backlog, this 
equates to £75 million (+£38 million), meaning around twice as many roads than today will be in a 
severe state of disrepair in 10 years’ time due to the lack of a sustained funding increase. 

Backlog £75M ↑£38M 

At this level of deterioration, reactive defects are 
expected to increase to ~5,000/year (+1,000). While 
slightly reduced compared to the previous scenario, this 
increase still means more third-party claims, a 
significant financial and reputational risk to Barnet. 

This scenario demonstrates that a sustained increase to planned maintenance funding must be a key 
consideration for any new highway investment strategy if Barnet seek to reverse recent deterioration to 
achieve (and more importantly, maintain) an appropriate level of service on its carriageway network. 

Scenario 2: Sustained Increase 

Funding:  

Further to the previously discussed investment scenario, the following assesses network performance if 
the increase to £9.6 million/year (+£4.0 million) is sustained over the full 10 year period modelled. 

By sustaining the £4.0 million increase going 
forward, Barnet can maintain its carriageways 
in broadly the same condition, avoiding further 
deterioration. However, there is still a shortfall 
from the funding required to achieve targets. 

Similar to Scenario 1, the funding increase will be 
focused on extensive, heavily deteriorated 
sections on a mix of principal and unclassified 
roads. However, following the 2024/25 financial 
year, the focus of the funding increase will 
switch to target more sectional resurfacing 
schemes and enable efficient use of resources. 

Overall, 13% (-1%) or 90km of all carriageways 
are expected to be in a ‘red’ condition by 2033; 
a moderate improvement to principal roads 
contributes with 7% (-4%) in a ‘red’ condition 
after 10 years (almost reaching Barnet’s 
condition targets). However, unclassified road 
remain in the same condition (+0%) and 
additional funding is needed to meet targets. 

 

Classification Red Condition 

Principal 7km -4km 7% -4% 

Unclassified 83km +0km 14% +0% 
 

Backlog £34M ↓£3M 
When quantified in monetary terms, the improvement 
to principal road condition means there is a slight 
reduction in the total backlog over 10 years which 
reaches £34 million (-£3 million) by 2033. 

£9.6M
2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 2030-2031 2031-2032 2032-2033 2033-2034

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033

73



11 

Similarly, there is a slight reduction in the expected reactive defects to ~3,900/year (-100) by 2033, as 
Barnet moves towards a more planned-focused regime for maintaining its carriageway network. 

While this scenario demonstrates a significant improvement can be achieved on previous scenarios with 
sustained investment, it also makes it very clear that the recent funding increase (even if sustained) is 
insufficient to meet targets – additional funding is still required to achieve Barnet’s condition targets. 

Scenario 3: Steady State Plus 

Budget  

This scenario assesses the optimal solution for planned highway maintenance, with Barnet adopting a 
planned-focused approach to maintenance with a further increase to £11.0 million/year after 2024/25. 
This would enable Barnet to meet its condition targets and achieve Steady State Plus over the 10 years. 

With this investment strategy, Barnet would 
make large improvements to its carriageway 
condition. The initial £4.0 million/year increase 
over the first 2 years would be allocated in a 
same manner to previous scenarios, before 
moving focus towards achieving Steady State 
Plus with a further increase to £11.0 million/year 
(+£5.4 million/year) to maintain carriageways. 

This £11.0 million/year enables Barnet to begin to 
reverse network deterioration with a substantial 
improvement to unclassified roads to achieve 
its target of 10% of the network in ‘red’ condition. 
The remaining funding is spent on achieving the 
6% ‘red’ target condition on principal roads. By 
2033, Barnet will have achieved its Steady State 
Plus targets, equating to 9% (-5%) or 66 km (-32 
km) of all carriageways in a ‘red’ condition.  

In financial terms, the maintenance backlog is 
reduced to £25 million (-£12 million) by 2033. 

 

Classification Red Condition 

Principal 6km -5km 6% -5% 

Unclassified 60km -23km 10% -4% 
 

Backlog £25M ↓£12M 
Roads in a good state of repair (or a ‘green’ condition) 
also improves to 50% (+4%). This leads to a reduction 
in the expected reactive defects to 3,600 defects/year 
(-400), reinforcing an invest-to-save business case. 

Once Steady State Plus has been achieved in 2023, funding can be reduced to £9.5 million/year to 
maintain the network at the condition target and prevent any regression of substantial improvements.  

Conclusion 
It is recognised that while the Scenario 3: Steady State Plus strategy would be ideal for improving 
highway infrastructure condition and achieving a better level of service, officers recognise recent 
pressures on local authority finances and the current economic climate and thus recommend that the 
Scenario 2 ‘Sustained Increase’ investment strategy is adopted at this point in time, subject to future 
reviews of the MTFS. 

£9.6M £11.0M
2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 2030-2031 2031-2032 2032-2033 2033-2034

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033

74



12 

Whichever option is carried forward, it is vital that budgets are indexed year-on-year to meet inflationary 
pressures (Appendix 3) and prevent a reduction in the works that can be delivered on the ground. 

Footway Investment Plan 
 

Intervention Strategy 
Barnet have also explored intervention strategies for footway network. Both strategies employ a realistic 
treatment split between footway reconstruction and resurfacing (67%) and sectional patching (33%).  

A ‘red’ condition concrete flag footway in Barnet An ‘amber’ condition concrete flag footway in Barnet 

Intervention Strategy 1 Targeting footways in a ‘red’ condition only 

Intervention Strategy 2 Targeting footways in both ‘red’ and ‘amber’ condition  

Constraints due to rapid inflation on footway construction materials limit opportunities for early 
interventions. Understanding the lower risk presented by ‘amber’ footways, Barnet propose to implement 
Intervention Strategy 1 (IS1), a late intervention strategy targeting ‘red’ condition footways going forward 

 

Investment Scenarios 
 

Scenario 0: Current Funding Budget: £3.4M/year 
This scenario forecasts how Barnet’s footway network is expected to perform over the coming 10 years if 
Barnet continues at its current footway maintenance funding level of £3.4 million/year. 

With 13% (+3%) of footways expected to reach a 
‘red’ condition by 2033, it is evident that current 
budgets are not sufficient to maintain the asset 
and deterioration is expected. This equates to 
203km (+44km) poor footways in 10 years’ time. 
Over this period, overall disrepair (including 
‘amber’ footways) also reaches 49% (+12%) of 
the asset, indicating there will be a large 
increase in footways which will soon turn ‘red’. 

In financial terms, the ’red’ backlog increases to 
£34million (+£7 million) by 2033. 

 

Backlog £34M ↑£7M 

Classification Red Condition 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033

75



13 

Continuing at current funding levels would lead 
to an elevated risk of trips and personal injury on 
the network and detract from key objectives. 

Red 203km +44km 13% +3% 

Red & Amber 780km +191km 49% +12% 

 

Scenario 2: Sustained Increase Budget: £4.3M/year 
This scenario seeks to understand the investment need to maintain the footway network in today’s 
condition over the next 10 years. Essentially, it sets the minimum investment needed if Barnet are to 
prevent further deterioration of its footway network (although there is no overall improvement either). 

At £4.3 million/year (+£0.9 million), Barnet can 
maintain footways in today’s condition, 
preventing further deterioration of the network. 
With 10% (or 159 km) of footways in a ‘red’ 
condition by 2033, Barnet would maintain its 
footway backlog at £27million by 2033 (±£0m) 
with no net improvement or deterioration. 

 

Backlog £27M ±£0M 

However, at this footway condition level, Barnet 
would not meet level of service targets (5% for 
footways). Additional funding is required if the 
borough is to reverse deterioration and achieve 
this performance target, fulfil pledges to 
encourage active travel modes (such as 
walking) and make the borough a vibrant and 
attractive place for people to live, work and visit. 

Classification Red Condition 

Red 159km +0km 10% +0% 

Red & Amber 739km +150km 46% +9% 
 

Scenario 3: Steady State Plus Budget: £5.9M/year 
This scenario looks at the funding required to improve the condition of footways to achieve Steady State 
Plus, meeting performance targets by 2033 before maintaining this level of service moving forward. 

A long-term strategy is investigated (10 years) 
due to limits in terms of what is operationally 
realistic to deliver on the ground within this 
timeframe. Similarly, only scenarios for 
achieving the ‘red’ target (IS1) are explored. 

 

Backlog £14M ↓£13M 

With £5.9 million/year (+£2.5 million/year), 
Barnet could make a substantial improvement 
to its footway network, meeting its condition 
targets for footways in a severe state of 
disrepair (i.e. a ‘red’ condition) which are 
reduced to 5% (-5%) over the next 10 years.  

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033

76



14 

This equates to a reduction in the ‘red’ backlog 
to £14 million (-£13 million). However, under this 
strategy, overall disrepair still increases to 42% 
(+5%) due to an increase in ‘amber’ footways. 

Classification Red Condition 

Red 80km -79km 5% -5% 

Red & Amber 665km +76km 42% +5% 
 

Conclusion 
Carriageways & Footways: 
Sustained highway maintenance investment is key if Barnet is to reverse recent trends of significant 
deterioration on its extensive carriageway and footway networks. While the ‘Steady State Plus’ strategy 
would be ideal for improving highway infrastructure condition and achieving a better level of service, 
officers recognise recent pressures on local authority finances and the current economic climate and 
thus recommend that the Scenario 2 ‘Sustained Increase’ investment strategy is adopted. 

Implementing this strategy will enable Barnet to prevent further deterioration of its network until the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is reviewed in 2030 – at this point, an elevated funding 
level should be sought for highway maintenance to achieve ‘Steady State Plus’. It is essential that this 
budget is also adjusted year-on-year to account for inflationary pressures (see Appendix 3), particularly 
given recent price trends in the highway construction industry.  

While the Council is encouraged to seek external funding from bodies such as TfL and DfT, a previous 
dependence on these unreliable streams has contributed to significant deterioration (particularly on the 
principal road network) – as such, it is vital that sustained internal funding is allocated towards highways. 
This will enable better planning over longer-term horizons and support the delivery of key corporate aims 
(as outlined in the Long Term Transport Strategy and Our Plan for Barnet), from well-maintained town 
centres, attractive public realm to improved active travel measures.. 

Other Assets: 
While this exercise quantified the need for general carriageway and footway planned maintenance, it 
should be stressed that further investment is still required for Barnet’s other highway assets, including: 

Carriageway Reconstruction ~£3.0 million/year  
Solving serious structural issues (which can cause residential vibration) with deep treatments. 

Reactive Maintenance Works ~£2.5 million/year  
Responsive repairs to fix reactive defects (e.g. potholes) to ensure a safe, serviceable network. 

Drainage Maintenance ~£2.5 million/year  
Fulfilling statutory LLFA duty via various planned, reactive and routine maintenance activities. 

Highway Structures Maintenance ~£1.5 million/year  
Maintaining assets (such as bridges, tunnels and culverts) to keep vital transport links running.  

Other Highway Assets ~£1.0 million/year  
Repair, replacement and other costs to keep the highway network in a serviceable condition.  

  

77

https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2021-10/Barnet%20LTTS%20v8.pdf
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-02/Barnet%20Corporate%20Plan%202023-26.pdf


15 

Next Steps: Recommended Implementation Plan 

Following the findings of this investment modelling and planning exercise, various activities have been 
identified which will support Barnet to implement the investment strategy, achieve performance targets 
and deliver key Council objectives. These have been listed below: 

Works Programming Strategy 
In line with the newly developed maintenance strategies, it is recommended that Barnet Highways 
undertake an exercise to update its value management processes for maintenance planning and 
develop works programmes which align with this new strategy. 

To do so, Barnet would work to understand the relevant criteria (as well as asset condition) for prioritising 
maintenance works, develop a decision matrix for treatment/intervention-type selection and deliver this 
for the 2024/25 programme. This will support the Council find opportunities for improving value for money 
with the additional capital investment by intervening at the right time with the right treatment. 

Monitoring Performance 
With the introduction of a new investment strategy and changes to how asset management activities 
are undertaken, it is vital that Barnet monitor the performance of changes in its approaches. 

To achieve this, it is recommended that Barnet Highways develop a Performance Management 
Framework and KPI reporting suite with the appropriate tools and processes to monitor how new 
materials, intervention strategies and processes perform going forward. This will focus on understanding 
the impact of additional investment into the network, understanding whether new intervention 
approaches are performing as expected and ensuring that Barnet progressing against targets. 

Improving Asset Knowledge 
Through this commission, some areas of concern were noted with regards to the data Barnet holds 
against highway assets it is responsible for maintaining (e.g. length of maintainable network) – this is 
essential for making informed asset management decisions, and monitoring condition and performance 
of these assets. To address this, Barnet should seek to audit the data currently held on its asset 
management system (Confirm), identify gaps in data, and develop an Asset Information Strategy to 
collate and collect any information required. Following the improvement of the asset data held, a Data 
Maintenance Manual should be developed to ensure all data held is kept accurate and current. 

Carbon & Sustainability 
In May 2022, Barnet declared a Climate & Biodiversity Emergency. Recognising that urgent action is 
required, the Council set targets of becoming a Net Zero Carbon Council by 2030 and Borough by 2042. 

To deliver these ambitious goals, a highway-specific roadmap must be developed to identify the biggest 
carbon contributors within the service area and find opportunities for carbon reduction. As such, it is 
recommended that Barnet Highways undertake work to develop a strategic and detailed approach to 
carbon reduction through the development of a Carbon Management Framework and a subsequent 
exercise to baseline the carbon associated with each individual service area it is responsible for. 

It is also noted that to implement these carbon-saving changes and achieve the BarNET ZERO goal, there 
will be an associated investment need – this exercise should also seek to quantify and address this need. 

  

78



16 

Summary Table: Carriageways & Footways 

Based on the investment modelling exercise undertaken with Barnet, the following table summarises the 
outcomes expected under various highway maintenance funding scenarios over the coming 10 years. 

Maintenance Strategy: 
Understanding that an effective maintenance strategy must draw from a suite of treatment options 
which optimise mid- to long-term performance, Barnet propose to implement the following strategies:  

Carriageway Strategy MS1 Focused on sectional resurfacing targeting smaller areas 

Footway Strategy IS1 Late intervention strategy targeting ‘red’ only 

Funding Strategy: 
 

Annual Budgets: Carriageways Footways 

0 Current Funding 
Continue at £5.6m base funding 
for the next 10 years Continue at £3.4m base 

funding for the next 10 years 
1 Return to Current 

Increase to £9.6m for 2 years 
before returning to £5.6m 

2 Sustained Increase 
Sustained increase to £9.6m 
over the full 10 years 

Sustained increase to £4.3m 
for the next 10 years 

3 Steady State Plus 
Increase to £9.6m for 2 years 
before increasing to £11.0m 

Sustained increase to £5.9m 
for the next 10 years 

 

Expected Condition: ‘Red’ Backlog ‘Red’ Backlog 

0 Current Funding 209km (↑16%) £82m (↑£45m) 
203km (↑3%) £34m (↑£7m) 

1 Return to Current 191km (↑14%) £75m (↑£45m) 

2 Sustained Increase 90km (↓1%) £34m (↓£3m) 159km (±0%) £27m (±0%) 

3 Steady State Plus 66km (↓5%) £25m (↓£12m) 80km (↓5%) £14m (↓£13m) 

  

£0

£2,000

£4,000

£6,000

£8,000

£10,000

£12,000

£14,000

£16,000

£18,000

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31 2031/32 2032/33 2033/34

Current Funding
Return to Current
Sustained Increase
Steady State Plus

79



17 

Appendix 1: Carriageway Inputs 

Carriageway Statistics (incl. Condition) 
Road Class. Length Width % Red % Amber % Green 

Principal* 101 km 9.8 m 11% 52% 37% 

Unclassified 592 km 7.7 m 14% 38% 48% 
*includes classified (B&C) roads 

Carriageway Asset Life 
Road Class. Est. Life Commentary 

Principal 15 years Highest trafficked roads in Barnet so deteriorate the fastest 

Unclassified 30 years Lower traffic volumes so more typical deterioration profile  

Treatment Rates 
Treatment Type Description Principal Unclassified 

Partial Reconstruction Reconstruct into base layer (~240mm) £120/m2 £110/m2 

100mm Resurfacing Deep plane & inlay (incl. binder course) £70/m2 £60/m2 

40mm Patching Shallow lane & inlay (wearing course) £45/m2 £35/m2 
 

Appendix 2: Footway Inputs 

Footway Lives and Rates  
Footway Type Description Est. Life Unit Rate 

Type 1 Concrete flag detail. Areas of civic importance. 40 years £65 / m2 

Type 3 Bituminous and blocked detail. Elsewhere. 50 years £79 / m2 

Footway Statistics (incl. Condition) 
Footway Type Length Width % Red % Amber % Green 

Type 1 318 km 2.2 m 
10% 27% 63% 

Type 3 1,273 km 2.2 m 
 

Appendix 3: Inflation Forecast 
The following reflects the impacts of inflation on budgets* and the need for Cabinet to consider year-on-
year price rises when setting highways budgets, particularly given today’s economic climate. 

Inflation 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 

@ 3% £5.0 £5.2 £5.3 £5.5 £5.6 £5.8 £6.0 £6.1 £6.3 £6.5 £6.7 

@ 5% £5.0 £5.3 £5.5 £5.8 £6.1 £6.4 £6.7 £7.0 £7.4 £7.8 £8.1 

@10% £5.0 £5.5 £6.1 £6.7 £7.3 £8.1 £8.9 £9.7 £10.7 £11.8 £13.0 
*based on £5 million/year budget (values in £ millions) – note, inflation today is ~10% annually. 

 

80



 
 

 
 

Cabinet 

Title  Local Plan - Main Modifications  

Date of meeting 12 March 2024 

Report of Councillor Ross Houston Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member - 
Homes and Regeneration 

Wards All 

Status Public  

 

Key  Yes 

Urgent No 

 

Appendices Appendix A – Schedule of Main Modifications to Local Plan 

Appendix B – Schedule of Additional Modifications to Local Plan 

 

Lead Officer  Cath Shaw - Deputy Chief Executive   

cath.shaw@barnet.gov.uk 

 

Officer Contact Details  Neeru Kareer – Assistant Service Director  
Neeru.kareer@barnet.gov.uk 

Nick Lynch Planning Policy Manager nick.lynch@barnet.gov.uk 

 

Summary 
Following the submission of the Local Plan for Independent Examination under Regulation 22 of the Town 
and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 in November 2021, and the subsequent 
examination Hearing Sessions held between September and December 2022, the Inspectors have, at the 
request of the Council, recommended a number of Main Modifications to the Plan in order for it to be 

81

AGENDA ITEM 12

mailto:cath.shaw@barnet.gov.uk
mailto:Neeru.kareer@barnet.gov.uk
mailto:nick.lynch@barnet.gov.uk


found sound. To be found sound the Local Plan has to be positively prepared, justified, effective and 
consistent with national policy. 

The purpose of this report is to present the Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications required to make the 
Plan sound. 

Approval is also sought for the Main Modifications to be subject to public consultation, prior to the 
Inspectors making their final recommendations in their Report on whether the Local Plan can be adopted.  

 

Recommendations 

1. That Cabinet note the contents of this report and the Schedule of Main Modifications (Appendix A) 
and the Schedule of Additional Modifications (Appendix B). 

2. That Cabinet consider in terms of any further changes to the Schedule of Main Modifications 
(Appendix A) the recommendations of Overview and Scrutiny Committee on March 5  2024. Any 
recommendations from Overview and Scrutiny will be reported in an addendum. 

3. That Cabinet approve the Schedule of Main Modifications (Appendix A) for public consultation for a 
six week period commencing on 6th May 2024 in accordance with the Council’s Statement of 
Community Involvement and Section 20 (7C) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as 
amended). 

4. That Cabinet grant delegated authority to Deputy Chief Executive to:  

i. Agree any necessary amendments to supporting documentation for consultation and any other 
typographical, presentational, and consequential wording changes to the Local Plan prior to 
publication, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Homes and Regeneration.   

ii. Following public consultation on the Proposed Main Modifications, consider and summarise the 
responses received and forward to the Inspectors for their consideration in producing their Report. 

5. That following the receipt of the Report from the Inspector recommending adoption of the Local 
Plan, that the Plan be brought back to Cabinet and full Council for adoption. 

 

 

1. Reasons for the Recommendations 

1.1 The Policy and Resources Committee on September 30th 2021 and Council on October 19th 2021 
approved the Draft Local Plan (Reg 19) for submission to the Planning Inspectorate for Examination in 
Public (EIP). The Schedule of Main Modifications at Appendix A represent a significant step towards 
adopting a Local Plan, that with modifications can demonstrate it is sound, in that it is positively 
prepared, justified, effective and consistent with national policy.  

1.2 Following appointment of two Planning Inspectors, the EIP Hearings commenced in September 2022 
and lasted until December 2022. Subsequent to these EIP hearings the Council have produced, at the 
request of the Planning Inspectors, an extensive series of Exam Notes in response to specific 
questions about the Plan. These Notes were subject to informal Inspector led consultation in Spring 
2023. There followed a series of clarifications with the Inspectors on outstanding issues.  In August 
2023 the Inspectors published their Interim Findings and Next Steps letter which set out how the 
Council can through making Main Modifications to Local Plan address issues of legal compliance and 
deficiencies in soundness.  

82



1.3 The interim findings provided a good indication of what the Local Plan, its 51 policies and 57   site 
proposals within may look like at adoption, subject to making the Inspector’s suggested Main 
Modifications. The Inspectors letter has therefore considered as a relevant material consideration in 
Council’s decision making on planning applications.  

1.4 The Council have been in discussions with the Planning Inspectors since September 2023 on 
producing and finally agreeing a Schedule of Main Modifications.  

1.5 The format of the Main Modifications has been stipulated by the Inspectors and sets out through 
tracked changes what has been changed in the Plan together with the reason for the change. This will 
help focus public consultation on what has changed. There have been changes (to varying degrees) to 
all 51 policies and 57 proposals. 

1.6 A fundamental change arising from the EIP was a commitment by the Council to an early review of 
the Plan. This was because the Local Plan (with adoption in 2024) will not have full 15 year period. 
This Plan covers 2021 to 2036. In order to address this the Council will facilitate the early review of 
the Local Plan through formal publication of a new Local Development Scheme within year of 
adoption. The review is most likely to focus on strategic policies such as those in the Growth and 
Spatial Strategy Chapter as well as other policies such as Design, Tall Buildings and Community 
Infrastructure. These are all identified in Appendix A (Chapter 12 – Table 24).  

1.7 The document at Appendix A sets out all the main modifications to the Plan. The majority of changes 
help to make the Plan a clearer, more effective and user-friendly document. They help to provide 
more reliance on the evidence base such as the Tall Buildings Study, greater consistency between 
policies, improved cross-referencing to relevant Local Plan and London Plan policies as well as 
reflecting new corporate directions such as the Housing Strategy, and addressing national policy 
requirements such as the introduction of Biodiversity Net Gain in February 2024.  

1.8 A summary of the key policy changes is set out below: 

• Barnet’s Spatial Strategy 

Barnet’s Spatial Strategy for growth highlights that by focusing on sustainable locations the 
impacts of development on the climate will be better managed, green belt and prevailing 
suburban character protected. Policy BSS01 sets out Barnet’s minimum housing requirement 
of 35,460 new homes by 2036. This remains unchanged whilst requirements and strategic 
approaches for the provision of other land uses such as office, industrial, retail and leisure 
have been clarified as has the role of the new Metropolitan Town Centre at Brent Cross. The 
approach to ensuring vitality and viability of Barnet’s town centres is now based on having an 
appropriate mix of main town centre uses whilst on industrial land the focus is on 
intensification in safeguarded employment areas.  

• Growth and Spatial Strategy  

This Chapter sets out in a suite of 13 strategic policies where Sustainable Growth (GSS01) will 
be focused. Policy GSS01 reflects BSS01 and with further changes more clearly sets out the 
distribution of economic and housing growth whilst also highlighting the specific public 
transport infrastructure such as West London Orbital to support it.   GSS01 sets out the 
distribution of new homes. The Local Plan total for growth has decreased from 46,000 new 
homes to just under 44,000. This reflects reduced density requirements on site proposals and 
removal of general indicative capacities around West London Orbital as well as the deduction 
of windfalls from town centres.  Further detail of the revisions is set out in Table 5 of 
Appendix A. Changes to GSS01 set the scene for the other GSS policies including Brent Cross 
(GSS02), Brent Cross West (Staples Corner) (GSS03), Cricklewood (GSS04), Edgware (GSS05) 

83



and Colindale (GSS06) with an emphasis on optimising growth around a design-led approach. 
Changes also provide more clarity on a consistent approach to infrastructure requirements, 
the Healthy Streets Approach, flood risk and biodiversity as well as providing hooks for new 
more detailed planning frameworks to come forward as at Brent Cross West (Staples Corner). 
In terms of the wider Brent Cross Growth Area the Council sets out its intention to produce 
more detailed policy guidance on the regeneration as part of its early review of the Local Plan.  

Modifications to GSS07 Mill Hill East reflect expected delivery of existing consents in the Mill 
Hill Area as well as proposal sites. The uplift in numbers reflects the revised Housing 
Trajectory which sets out delivery of new homes between 2021 and 2036. Further clarification 
is provided that proposals must account for cumulative impact as part of a Transport 
Assessment. 

Modifications to GSS08 Barnet’s District Town Centres reinforce the message that such 
locations are particularly suitable for mixed use growth including community, retail, office and 
leisure uses, and that residential led development has a key role to play in supporting public 
realm and infrastructure improvements making town centres more attractive places to live, 
visit and enjoy. The role of Planning Frameworks such as the North Finchley Town Centre SPD 
in providing additional layers of detail and improving the town centre ‘offer’ and overall 
diversification is further highlighted. Changes to the policy on Major Transport Infrastructure 
(GSS09) highlight that mixed use growth in such locations does not have an unacceptable 
impact on nearby town centres.  At GSS09 (Estate Renewal and Infill) the policy has been re-
enforced by cross-references to London Plan policies H6 – Affordable Housing Tenure and H8 
Loss of existing housing and estate development. Policy on Redevelopment of Car Parks 
(GSS12) has been further clarified in its support for redevelopment of publicly accessible 
surface level car parks and how the Council requires such proposals to demonstrate the 
suitability and arrangements for any retained or proposed parking. Changes to the policy on 
Strategic Parks and Recreation (GSS13) highlight the three destination hubs for sport and 
recreation that the Council is bringing forward as well as clarifying preferred locations for 
indoor facilities ie Growth Areas and town centres.  

• Housing   

The Chapter on Housing sets out how the Local Plan will respond to a changing population, 
building new homes to widen choice and ensure access to affordable, good quality housing as 
well as protecting existing stock. Within HOU01 – Affordable Housing changes clarify that the 
Council is seeking to maximise delivery of affordable housing in accordance with London Plan. 
In terms of Housing Mix policy HOU02 changes have been made to clarify that proposals will 
be supported where they provide a housing mix (including family housing) reflecting the 
Council’s evidence-based priorities. Size priorities for affordable housing will be informed by 
the Housing Needs Register. Approach on Conversions and Redevelopment of Larger Houses 
(HOU03) has changed to make the policy less restrictive in terms of appropriate locations. 
This has been required to avoid conflict with the London Plan which seeks optimisation on 
housing delivery. However the revised policy is more positive on provision of new family 
accommodation as part of any conversion or redevelopment of a larger house.  Policy on 
Specialist Housing (HOU04) has been revised to make distinction between older persons 
housing and wider housing choice for people with social care and support needs. Policy 
HOU04 covers Homes in Multiple Occupation (HMO). It is important that new HMOs do not 
undermine the approach in HOU03 of prioritising family housing. Policy has been 
strengthened in terms of outlining what a harmful concentration of HMOs is ie 3 or more of 
the 10 nearest properties are HMOs. Revisions have also been made to require HMO 

84



Management Plans to protect living conditions for HMO residents and neighbours. Similar 
management plans are also now required for student accommodation. Revisions to the policy 
on ensuring the Efficient Use of the Housing Stock (HOU05) have been made to clearly outline 
the limited circumstances where loss of residential will be supported. It also clarifies 
expectations of temporary housing and the limits on short-stay accommodation. Policy 
HOU07 on Meeting Other Housing Needs has been deleted as the Council’s approach on Build 
to Rent and self-build housing is now covered by the more strategic policy GSS01 – Delivering 
Sustainable Growth. Policy on Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople (now HOU06) 
highlights that there is no objectively assessed need for plots and pitches within Barnet and 
has been revised to be more positive in that proposals for such accommodation will be 
supported provided that they meet the listed criteria in the policy. 

• Character, Design and Heritage  

The Character, Design and Heritage Chapter sets parameters for managing change ensuring 
positive benefits of growth and that Barnet does not lose the qualities that attract people to 
live, work and visit the Borough. The Council’s main design requirements for development are 
set out in Promoting High Quality Design (CDH01). These have been strengthened and made 
more effective, repeating the message on optimising the capacity of sites through a design led 
approach as well as following the Healthy Streets Approach in terms of improving street 
safety and amenity as well as promote active travel. It introduces criteria on building design 
limiting light pollution. It also makes cross-reference to the Building Safety Act 2022 in terms 
of requirements for safe and secure environments. The introduction of a Design Review Panel 
and further clarification of the role of new guidance on sustainable design and development 
in achieving higher standards in new homes and the local environment. Revisions to policy on 
Sustainable and Inclusive Design (CDH02) sets out requirements for accessible housing as well 
as energy standards (reflecting the December 2023 Ministerial Statement on Energy which 
makes clear that planning policies should not set local energy efficiency standards that go 
beyond current or planned building regulations).  Policy on Public Realm (CDH03) has been 
made more positive and effective with new opening statement that public realm should form 
an integral part of the design process and enhance the connection between publicly 
accessible space and the built environment. As part of the revisions cross-references to 
London Plan policies and Transport for London guidance have been added to the policy.  

In order to manage and respond to pressures for tall buildings (8 storeys or more) the Tall 
Buildings policy (CDH04) has been revised to provide greater alignment with evidence (the 
Tall Buildings Study Update 2019) in removing the category of Very Tall Building (15 storeys or 
more) and setting out locations where tall buildings may be appropriate. Map 4 of Appendix A 
has been revised (in line with the 2019 Study) to show three types of location where tall 
buildings may be appropriate. Locations such as New Southgate, the Major Thoroughfares 
and the town centres of Finchley Central and North Finchley were previously identified as 
locations where tall buildings may be appropriate. This has been revised to focus more on 
Local Plan site proposals in such locations. Map 4 also clarifies the Locally Important Views. 
The policy has also been made more effective by making direct reference to London Plan 
Policy D9 – Tall Buildings rather than duplicating the criteria in that strategic policy. Cross 
reference has also been added to the requirements of the Building Safety Act 2022 in 
particular provision of two staircases in residential development of more than 30 metres in 
height. The supporting text for CDH04 sends a clear message that tall buildings are not the 
only way to deliver higher densities. A design led approach to optimising site capacity is 
required and the Council will carefully assess the design and townscape qualities of proposals 

85



to ensure that the predominant suburban and historic character of the Borough is 
maintained. The role of the forthcoming Council guidance on Designing for Density is clarified 
in terms of how appropriateness will be assessed in terms of site specific and character 
considerations. This can include cumulative impact.   

Policies on Extensions (CDH05) and Basements (CDH06) have been made more effective with 
revisions to provide closer alignment with the London Plan and Local Plan policies on high 
quality design (CDH01) and amenity space and landscaping (CDH07). Policy CDH07 has been 
revised to clarify requirements for hard and soft landscaping including retention of trees of 
value and the potential for providing biodiversity benefits such as habitat creation using 
native species. Changes also remove any off-site provision of amenity space. There is now a 
clear requirement for amenity space to form part of the design of proposals for residential 
development. This is in line with London Plan Policy S4. Policy on Barnet’s Heritage (CDH08) 
has been comprehensively redrafted in order to align with the NPPF approach to the historic 
environment.  Policy on Advertisements (CDH09) has been revised to clarify when the Council 
will support proposals and when it will resist.  

• Town Centres 

Policy TOW01 – Vibrant Town Centres has been revised to make it more effective and 
consistent with London Plan and other Local Plan policies on Brent Cross (GSS02), 
Cricklewood (GSS04), Edgware (GSS05) and other District Town Centres (GSS08). Repeats 
emphasis on the benefits of residential led mixed use development for investment in town 
centres, making them more attractive places to live, visit and enjoy. Revisions to TOW02 – 
Development Principle’s in Barnet’s Town Centres, Local Centres and Parades clarifies 
protection of main town centre uses with strong preference for retail use protection. This 
reflects changes to the Use Classes Order in 2020 which introduced a new extensive use class 
(Class E – Commercial, business and service). This was intended to help high streets adapt to 
changing circumstances and diversify within a larger use class. Policy TOW03 addresses the 
clustering of uses such as adult gaming centres, hot food takeaways, shisha bars, betting 
shops and money lenders. This has been revised to be more positively worded, setting out 
what criteria needs to be addressed in order for the Council to support proposals. Changes 
also include a clarification on the requirement of a Health Impact Assessment for all proposals 
covered by TOW03.   Policy TOW04 – Night Time Economy has been revised to make it more 
effective and consistent with London Plan and other Local Plan policies (particularly those 
relating to town centres).  

• Community Uses, Health and Wellbeing 

The Community Uses, Health and Wellbeing Chapter sets out how Local Plan can help deliver 
new social infrastructure in more accessible locations while promoting healthier lives for 
residents. Revisions to the policy on Community Infrastructure (CHW01) clarify the need to 
make best use of land, including the public sector estate, in providing multi-purpose facilities 
and the requirement of larger developments for on-site provision of land or facilities in order 
to address need generated by growth. Clarification is also provided on loss of community 
infrastructure outlining when loss will be allowed when part of a wider public sector 
transformation plan which requires investment in modern fit-for-purpose infrastructure. If 
not part of such a transformation plan the Council will consider reuse for other forms of 
community infrastructure before any alternatives. Reflecting the impact of COVID19 policy 
CHW01 has also been revised to highlight potential role for public health deployment in the 
location and provision of new community infrastructure. Promoting health and wellbeing is a 
consistent theme across the Local Plan and Policy CHW02 has been revised to signpost 

86



London Plan policies and to clarify that major developments will be expected to produce 
Health Impact Assessments in order to address their health and wellbeing impacts. Revisions 
to the policy on Making Barnet a Safer Place (CHW03) make the policy more effective and to 
encourage developers to address crime and fire safety within pre-application discussions so 
that it is addressed early in the design process. The Council will normally expect applicants 
with major proposals to engage with the Metropolitan Police at an early stage, however there 
may be some forms of minor development where consultation with the Secured by Design 
Officer is necessary because of concerns about community safety. Policy on Protecting Public 
Houses (CHW04) has been clarified to set out when the Council will protect such facilities 
either because of their heritage, economic, social or cultural value to local communities or 
their contribution to wider objectives for town centres. Clarification is also provided on how 
the Council will consider proposals involving the loss of a public house, ensuring consistency 
with London Plan Policy HC7 as well as Local Plan Policy CHWO1 with regard to reuse for 
other forms of community infrastructure before any alternatives.   

• Economy 

The Economy Chapter clarifies through changes to Policy ECY01 – A Vibrant Local Economy 
how employment opportunities will be prioritised in Growth Areas, District Town Centres and 
safeguarded employment locations. Policy has been made more effective through 
clarifications that ensure more consistency with other Local Plan policies as well as London 
Plan Policy E7 – Industrial Intensification, Co-Location and Substitution.  Similar revisions have 
been made in terms of the priority locations for employment to the policy on Affordable 
Workspace (ECY02) where new employment development will be expected to contribute to 
affordable workspace subject to viability.  Requirements on S106 contributions from major 
development are more clearly set out in the Local Jobs, Skills and Training (ECY03) policy with 
new guidance on Planning Obligations signposted. 

• Environment and Climate Change 

The Environment and Climate Change Chapter sets out how Council is seeking to mitigate 
climate change and improve access to, as well as to the quality of, parks and open spaces. 
Requirements for reducing carbon emissions from new development are clarified in policy on 
Mitigating Climate Change (ECC01) ensuring greater consistency with London Plan and 
highlighting Mayor’s Energy Hierarchy as well as supporting the retrofit of buildings and 
retention of embedded carbon. London Plan Guidance on Whole Life cycle Carbon 
Assessment is highlighted in ECC01. The Policy also reflects the December 2023 Ministerial 
Statement on Energy which makes clear that planning policies should not set local energy 
efficiency standards that go beyond current or planned building regulations.  Clarifications 
have been made to policy ECC02 on Environmental Considerations in terms of improving air 
quality and mitigating impacts from artificial light and odour. In terms of the policy on Water 
Management (ECC02A) this has been strengthened by clearly stating that proposals are 
located in areas at lowest risk of flooding from any source and highlighting the application of 
the sequential test. Clarity is also provided on managing surface water run-off as close to the 
source as possible. The policy also has a greater emphasis on the naturalisation of water 
courses and requires proposals on sites adjacent to a river corridor to provide an assessment 
of impacts (including cumulative ones) on the riverine environment and wildlife. Revisions to 
the policy on Dealing with Waste (ECC03) have reduced it considerably by making cross-
reference to the North London Waste Plan and London Plan Policy SI 7.  

Policy on Barnet’s Parks and Open Spaces (ECC04) has been improved by removing any 
consideration for limited development of low quality, low value open spaces. ECC04 has been 

87



restructured to clarify how the Council intends to protect and enhance existing open spaces 
and the expectations of developers for direct provision as well as the circumstances where 
off-site provision may be appropriate. Clarification is also provided on open space standards, 
with addition of standards on playing pitches as well as play and informal recreation, clearly 
setting out expectations of new provision from development. New text has been added to 
ECC04 to clarify how planning obligations will be used in respect of securing long term 
management and maintenance of open spaces. 

Changes have been made to Policy ECC05 on Green Belt and Metropolitan Land in order to 
show that approach is consistent with national policy and the London Plan. Significant 
changes have been made to Policy ECC06 on Biodiversity to accord with the Environment Act 
2021,  the introduction of Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) from February 2024 and requirements 
for Biodiversity Gain Plans to be submitted with planning applications. As well as BNG, all 
developments are expected to comply with Urban Greening Factor in accordance with the 
London Plan as part of the Local Plan’s approach to maximise opportunities for nature and the 
positives they provide for communities. Further clarification is provided in ECC06 in how 
contributions from development within or adjacent to Barnet’s Green Grid Areas (Brent Valley 
/ Barnet Plateau,  and  Lea Vally / Finchley Ridge) will be used . 

• Transport and Communications 

This Chapter sets out how the Local Plan is seeking to improve connectivity in terms of 
sustainable and active travel as well as digital communication. Clarifications have been made 
to the policy on Sustainable and Active Travel (TRC01) to ensure that proposals support an 
improvement to sustainable and active travel, making contributions to orbital connectivity 
where necessary. Within specific site proposals, references have been added to ensure 
connectivity to the Strategic Walking Network is considered. It also clearly states how 
transport improvements or remedial actions will be secured through planning obligations or 
Section 278 agreements. The policy on Transport Infrastructure (TRC02) has been revised to 
further clarify priorities for transport infrastructure requirements. It also highlights how the 
Council will address capacity requirements identified in the Local Plan Strategic Transport 
Assessment as well as progress transport improvements identified in the Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan.  The Council has been required to make revisions to the policy on Parking 
Management (TRC03) moving away from setting residential parking standards that better 
reflect local public transport accessibility in the context of Outer London as the Inspectors did 
not consider that there was robust evidence to justify this approach. As part of its approach to 
provision Barnet still retains its residential parking standards (Table 20), while using London 
Plan standards for non-residential development.  Changes to TRC03 clarify that in Controlled 
Parking Zones there will be an allowance for permits in accordance with Table 20, taking 
account of any on-site provision and subject to any capacity for more on-street parking. It also 
clarifies that when sites are re-developed new parking provision should not be re-provided at 
previous levels. Parking Design and Management Plans have been added as a new 
requirement for all proposals that include car parking.  Policy on Digital Communication and 
Connectivity (TRC04) has been changed to highlight support for the delivery of full-fibre or 
equivalent digital infrastructure, with particular focus on gaps in connectivity and barriers to 
digital access.  emphasises the Council’s aim to facilitate high speed broadband and clarifies 
requirements on the installation of telecommunications equipment. 

• Delivering the Local Plan 

This Chapter does not have policies but it does explain the mechanisms for ensuring the 
infrastructure to support growth is secured. This has been subject to revision to more clearly 

88



explain the roles of planning obligations, CIL, the Infrastructure Payments Policy and other 
sources of funding for delivering infrastructure that supports growth. This Chapter now 
provides a more extensive list of what S106 planning contributions may be required from 
development. The Local Plan is supported by a framework (Table 25) consisting of 58 key 
performance indicators that clearly set out how the 51 policies in the Plan will be monitored, 
highlighting targets as well as identifying any triggers (such as a negative trend against the 
target) which will necessitate contingencies to improve performance. The monitoring 
framework highlights which policies are considered strategic enough to be within scope of the 
early review.  

1.9 A summary of the changes to the site proposals is set out below : 

The Schedule of Proposals previously set out 65 Local Plan policy compliant site proposals from 
across Barnet. This has been reduced to 57 site proposals, these have been removed for three main 
reasons: extensive flood risk issues, being non-policy compliant following revisions to Local Plan 
policies (such as ECC04), or completed / under construction. Changes to individual sites reflect 
updates on planning consents and the need for consistency between proposals. They also reflect 
changes in development timeframes based on realistic prospect of delivery, reductions in indicative 
capacities reflecting changes to context categorisation (from Central to Urban densities), changes to 
developable area due to identified constraints (such as flood risk or trees) or simple rounding down 
of numbers. Specific reference to a suite of appropriate policies has been removed as proposals will 
be assessed against all policies in the Local Plan. The main changes arise from the Main Modifications 
to the Local Plan policies. These are reflected in the Site Requirements and Development Guidelines 
where specific reference to policies is merited. Main changes reflect revisions to policies on Tall 
Buildings (CDH04), Parking Management (TRC03), Redevelopment of Car Parks (GSS12), Sustainable 
and Active Travel (TRC01), Biodiversity (ECC06), Barnet’s Heritage (CDH07) and Amenity Space and 
Landscaping (CDH07)  while reflecting the design led approach of London Plan policy D3.  Overall the 
57 site proposals are expected to contribute just over 13,300 new homes between 2021 and 2036, of 
which nearly 10,500 new homes will be located in Growth Areas or District Town Centres.  

1.10 The Government has signalled how it intends to reform the plan making process as part of the  
Levelling Up and Regeneration Act 2023 (Sections 92 to 99). Further details will be released when 
Regulations are published. Reforms include the introduction of national development management 
policies. This will lead to more streamlined plans which restrict how local planning authorities can 
respond to local circumstances. It may also lead to faster planmaking with development plans 
expected to be produced within 30 months.   

2. Alternative Options Considered and Not Recommended 

2.1 In early 2020 the Local Plan Preferred Approach (Reg 18) was published. This set out and justified the 
Council’s preferred policy approach. It also set out reasons why it is considered that there are no 
realistic alternatives.  

2.2 In response to the Inspectors interim findings from the Local Plan EIP the Council could choose not to 
progress towards adoption. However, this decision would be contrary to national policy on speeding 
up plan making and could further risk Secretary of State intervention. This would leave Barnet with a 
current plan that is almost 12 years out of date and a planning strategy that no longer responds to the 
immediate pressures and challenges the Borough is facing.  

2.3 It is considered that the Plan with Main Modifications will, subject to adoption, provide a clear and 
robust planning framework for planning decision making. It will also, subject to an early review, 
provide a sound basis for strengthening strategic policies as well as placing Barnet in a good position 

89



with regard to further reforms to plan-making arising from the Levelling Up and Regeneration Act 
2023.  

3. Post Decision Implementation 

3.1 Following approval of the Schedule of Main Modifications (Appendix A) and Schedule of Additional 
Modifications (Appendix B) by Cabinet on March 12th the Council will prepare for a 6 week period of 
public consultation commencing in May 2024 following Mayoral and London Assembly elections. 
Public consultation will include a package of supporting documents : Sustainability Appraisal, Habitats 
Regulation Assessment, Equalities Impact Assessment, Health Impact Assessment and Changes to the 
Policies Map as well as a Position Paper on Housing Supply.  

3.2 The Additional Modifications at Appendix B comprise only minor changes such as factual corrections 
and updates and corrections to typographical errors and grammar.  Additional modifications of that 
nature are not required for legal compliance or soundness and as such they are considered to fall 
outside of the Inspectors’ jurisdiction when examining the Plan. Additional modifications are 
intended to be made at the Council’s discretion, do not form part of the consultation and are 
provided for information only. 

3.3 The Council will conduct the public consultation on behalf of the EIP Inspectors. It will have the 
opportunity to provide comments on the responses received to the consultation. The Inspectors will 
consider all representations and Council responses in preparing their Inspectors Report which they 
expect to publish in September 2024. 

3.4 Subject to the Inspectors finding the Plan legally compliant, sound and capable of adoption, subject 
to the Main Modifications, the Council can then proceed to adoption through meetings of the 
Cabinet and Council later this year.  

 

4. Corporate Priorities, Performance and Other Considerations 

Corporate Plan 

4.1 Overall, through having clear and consistent messaging, with the support of a comprehensive 
monitoring framework, an adopted Local Plan helps to make a significant contribution to delivering 
the themes and priorities of the Barnet Plan. 

4.2 Within the Main Modifications changes have been made to the Local Plan which help in delivery of 
the three themes of the Barnet Plan.  

4.3 Caring for our People : 

• Changes to policies HOU02 – Housing Mix and HOU03 – Residential Conversions help support 
family friendly housing with a stronger and clearer position on managing existing stock whilst 
expecting new development to include proportion of family sized homes and reflect our dwelling 
size priorities; 

• Making the Plan more consistent with London Plan policy helps support the delivery of affordable 
housing (HOU01). While changes to HOU04 on Specialist Housing help reflect the priorities of the 
Housing Strategy in managing specialist housing needs; 

• Changes to policies CDH03 (Public Realm) and Policy CHW03 (Making Barnet a Safer Place) 
provide have made them more effective emphasising that public realm should form an integral 

90



part of the design process and that issues of crime and fire safety should be addressed at pre-
application stage; and 

• Clearer messaging in Local Plan Chapter 12 of the Local Plan on how the Borough’s growth will be 
supported by social, green and physical infrastructure and how such infrastructure will be funded 
with contributions from development. 

4.4 Caring for our Planet  

• Changes to Policy ECC01 Mitigating Climate Change provide a stronger and more effective policy 
with a clearer position on the approach to addressing embodied carbon and the whole life cycle of 
buildings. Policy ECC02 on Environmental Considerations has been strengthened in terms of 
improving air quality and mitigating impacts from artificial light and odour; 

• Policy on Sustainable and Active Travel (TRC01) clarifies how improvements to sustainable and 
active travel, including orbital connectivity, will be secured. Within specific site proposals 
references have been added to ensure connectivity to the Strategic Walking Network is 
considered;  

• Previous consideration for limited development of low quality, low value open spaces has been 
removed from the Plan at Policy ECC04; and 

• Changes to policy on Biodiversity (ECC06) provide clearer and effective messaging within the Plan 
on Biodiversity Net Gain, Urban Greening Factor and protecting and enhancing the natural 
environment within Barnet. 

4.5 Caring for our Places  

• Clearer messaging throughout the Plan on the design led approach. How the Council promotes 
high quality design is further clarified within Policy CDH01. This includes a commitment to 
introduce the Barnet Design Review Panel This will enable design issues to be discussed at an early 
stage in the planning process when there is greater opportunity for change; 

• Throughout the Plan there is stronger and clearer messaging on delivering the Healthy Streets 
Approach, helping to breathe life back into streets, town centres and  neighbourhoods; and  

• In managing Tall Buildings changes have been made to Policy CDH04 to provide greater alignment 
with evidence in removing the category of Very Tall Building (15 storeys or more) and setting out 
locations where tall buildings may be appropriate. Policy sets out greater expectations of urban 
design analysis and evidence to establish if proposals are appropriate in principle and meet all the 
policy tests.  

4.6 Corporate Performance / Outcome Measures 

The Local Plan is supported by a framework consisting of 58 key performance indicators that clearly 
set out how the 51 policies in the Plan will be monitored, highlighting targets as well as identifying 
any triggers (such as a negative trend against the target) which will necessitate contingencies to 
improve performance. The key London Plan target is to deliver 35,460 new homes between 2021 and 
2036. This equates to 2,364 new homes per annum.  

Sustainability  

4.7 The Local Plan Main Modifications have been subject to a Sustainability Appraisal. This will be 
published for consultation as part of the package of supporting documents.  The Sustainability 
Appraisal considers the environmental impact of the changes proposed through the Main 

91



Modifications. It investigates the likely significant impacts arising in terms of the contribution 
towards sustainability from the Local Plan upon adoption. 

Corporate Parenting  

4.8 N/A 

Risk Management 

4.9 A risk management programme has been applied to the production of the Local Plan. The Plan has 
made significant progress in reaching a stage where subject to modifications the Plan is likely to be 
found legally compliant, sound and therefore capable of adoption. Risks still remain in terms of a lack 
of political and local support for the Local Plan. This can be addressed by briefing members, clarifying 
what the Plan can positively deliver whilst highlighting the consequences of not having an up-to-date 
planning framework for the Borough. Likewise the public consultation on the Main Modifications to 
the Local Plan can clarify that the Plan has progressed through two large scale consultations in 2020 
and 2021 to get to this stage and that the Inspectors (and the Council) now invite comments on the 
Main Modifications ie the proposed changes to the Plan.  

Insight 

4.10 N/A  

Social Value 

4.11 The Local Plan will secure a range of social, economic and environmental benefits. As part of the Main 
Modifications a slight change has been made to the Vision (which provides the core of the Local Plan)  
to emphasise that the positive benefits of growth and investment are accessible to all to share in new 
social and community value and infrastructure with access to a range of housing types and a thriving 
jobs market while enjoying living in a safe, healthy and sustainable Borough. 

5. Resource Implications (Finance and Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT and 
Property)  

5.1 The main costs associated with publication and consultation on the Main Modifications will be met 
within the budget for Planning and Building Control. Until publication of the Inspectors Report the 
Council will be invoiced by the Planning Inspectorate for the Inspector’s remaining contributions on 
the Local Plan. This cost will be met within the budget for Planning and Building Control. 

5.2 The Local Plan promotes a number of sites that have been put forward through the Council Assets 
Disposal Programme. These sites have predominantly provided community uses. Through the Local 
Plan the Council can ensure that any future redevelopment is policy compliant and benefits from 
community engagement prior to any future planning application. 

 

6. Legal Implications and Constitution References  

6.1 Planning decisions must be taken in accordance with the statutory development plan (which includes 
the Local Plan) unless material considerations indicate otherwise (s.38(6), Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 (PCPA 2004)). The Local Plan must be prepared in accordance with the “local 
development scheme” (s.19(1), PCPA 2004). The Local Plan must have regard to, amongst other 
matters, national planning policies and guidance, and the London Plan (s.19(2), PCPA 2004 and Reg. 
10 Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (LPR 2012).  

92



6.2 The Council is required to submit each “development plan document”, e.g. its proposed Local Plan, to 
the Secretary of State for independent examination (s.20, PCPA 2004) by a person appointed by the 
Secretary of State. The purpose of the examination is for the Inspector to determine whether: (1) the 
plan has been prepared in accordance with the relevant plan-making legislation (ss. 19 and 24(1), 
PCPA 2004); (2) the plan is “sound” (para 35, NPPF) and (3) the Council has complied with the “duty 
to cooperate” (s33A, PCPA 2004). 

6.3 Under Part 2D, paragraph 3.3 of the Council’s Constitution the Cabinet is responsible for 
recommending major new policies (and amendments to existing policies) to the Council for approval 
as part of the Council’s Policy Framework and implementing those approved by Council.  

6.4 Under Article 3, the Full Council, the Policy Framework is set out at para 3.3.1. The Policy Framework 
includes plans and strategies which together comprise the Development Plan. Article 3 sets out that 
responsibility for adoption of plans and strategies that comprise the development plan lies with the 
Council.    

6.5 Under Part 2D (Para 16.1) of the Council’s Constitution the Cabinet Member for Homes and 
Regeneration is responsible for leading on the adoption of the Local Plan.  

7. Consultation  

7.1 Early engagement on the Local Plan commenced in late 2017 with a series of workshops with 
community representatives, Councillors and Chief Officers. This helped create the vision and 
objectives for the Local Plan. The Council undertook extensive engagement on the Preferred 
Approach (Reg 18) in early 2020 and this feedback informed the Publication Local Plan (Reg 19) when 
representations were made on the ‘soundness of the plan’ as set out in the NPPF.  

7.2 Representations on the soundness of the (Reg 19) Publication Local Plan were submitted in 
November 2021 to the SoS for the EIP along with the Local Plan and supporting evidence. 
Representors at Reg 19 stage were given the opportunity to participate in the EIP in 2022.  

7.3 The Council has produced a Regulation 22(1)(c) Consultation Statement setting out an extensive 
engagement process for Local Plan production and showing how the Local Planning Authority has 
complied with Regulations 18 & 19. 

 

 

8. Equalities and Diversity  
8.1 The Equality Act 2010 (EqA 2010) provides a single general public sector equality duty (PSED) which 

applies to public authorities exercising public functions. The Council is such a public authority 
exercising its public function in preparing the Local Plan for its area in its capacity as the local planning 
authority. The PSED comprises three limbs (s.149(1)), namely, a public authority must, in the exercise 
of its functions, have due regard to the need to:  

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited under 
the EqA 2010 (s.149(1)(a));  

(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it (s.149(1)(b)). This involves having due regard to – 

 • remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic that are connected to that characteristic;  

93



• take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected characteristic that are 
different from the needs of persons who do not share it (section 149(4)); and 

• encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to participate in public life or in 
any other activity in which participation by such persons is disproportionately low. S.149(6) makes it 
clear that compliance with the PSED in s.149(1) may involve treating some people more favourably 
than others, but that is not to be taken as permitting conduct that would otherwise be prohibited by 
or under the EqA 2010 (this includes breach of an equality clause or rule or breach of a non-
discrimination rule (s.149(8)).  

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons 
who do not (s.149(3)). The relevant “protected characteristics” are: age, disability, gender 
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation (S 149(7). 

8.2 The EqA 2010 does not define what is required to “have due regard” for the purposes of the PSED. 
The courts have, however, set general principles to be followed if the duty is to be discharged, 
namely:  

(a) decision-makers must be made aware of their duty to have due regard to the identified needs;  
(b) regard should be had to the duty (to have due regard) before, and at the time, a particular policy 
is considered. 
(c) it is not a question of ticking boxes - the duty must be approached in substance, with rigour and 
with an open mind, and a failure to refer expressly to the duty whilst exercising a public function will 
not be determinative of whether due regard has been had;  
(d) the duty is non-delegable;  
(e) the duty is continuing;  
(f) it is good practice for an authority to keep a record showing that it has considered the identified 
needs.  

8.3 The EqA 2010 does not require public authorities to produce equality impact assessments (EQIAs) but 
it is common for these to be prepared as these documents are an effect method of demonstrating 
evidence that the appropriate systematic analysis has been conducted to establish whether a 
decision, for example a change in policies in the proposed Local Plan, will have an adverse impact in 
terms of equalities.  

8.4 The Local Plan, once adopted, has the potential to impact on all of those who live, work and visit the 
Borough. An EQIA has been undertaken throughout the production of the Local Plan. The equalities 
impact of the changes identified in the Main Modifications in terms of significant effects on those 
individuals who share one or more of the protected characteristics (identified in s.149(7), EqA 2010) 
will be published for consultation as part of the package of supporting documents.   

8.5 The Council recognises that (along with the other principles set out above) the duty to “have due 
regard” is a continuing duty and, accordingly, evidence gathered from the analysis of the potential 
effects of the proposed Main Modifications will be updated in the EQIA as the Local Plan progresses 
towards adoption. Decision makers should have due regard to the public sector equality duty in 
making their decisions. The equalities duties are continuing duties they are not duties to secure a 
particular outcome. The equalities impact will be revisited on each of the Local Plan site proposals as 
they are developed. Consideration of the duties should precede the decision.  

9. Background Papers 

9.1 Policy and Resources Committee September 30th 2021 (Item10) – Barnet’s Local Plan – Submission 
(Reg 22) https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s66653/Barnets%20Local%20Plan.pdf 

94

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s66653/Barnets%20Local%20Plan.pdf


9.2 Policy & Resources Committee - 16th June 2021 (Item 8) – Barnet’s Local Plan – Publication - (Reg 19) 
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=692&MId=10888&Ver=4 

9.3 Policy & Resources Committee - 6th January 2020 (Item 13) – Barnet’s Local Plan – Preferred 
Approach - (Reg 18)  

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s56954/Local%20Development%20Scheme%202020.pdf 

 

 

 

 

95

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=692&MId=10888&Ver=4
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s56954/Local%20Development%20Scheme%202020.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Table of Proposed Main Modifications – March 2024 

Policies  

SCHEDULE OF PROPOSED MAIN MODIFICATIONS TO SUBMISSION DRAFT BARNET LOCAL PLAN  

 This schedule contains all proposed main modifications to Barnet’s Local Plan that was submitted for examination on November 

26th 2021.  

 

Modifications 

Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

97



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM 
1  

Chapter 1 
Introduction 
 
Figure 1 – 
Barnet’s 
Development 
Plan 
 
 

 

Update to Figure 1 to reflect the 2021 
Local Development Scheme and 
make clear that it is the Development 
Plan at the time of adoption (to 
ensure consistency with future 
actions associated with other MMs 
such as early review of the Plan and 
preparation of additional DPDs such 
as the joint planning framework for 
New Southgate). 
 

98



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 99



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM 
2 

Chapter 1 
Introduction 
 
Table 1 – 
Local Plan 
Timetable 

Regulatory Stages and Timetable 

Evidence 

gathering and 

pre-

preparation 

stage  

 

(Including 

consulting on 

sustainability 

reports where 

applicable) 

Reg 18: 

Preparation of 

Local Plan and 

Consultation 

Opportunity for 

interested parties 

and statutory 

consultees to be 

involved at an 

early stage.  

Reg 19: Publication 

of Local Plan for 

representation on 

soundness issues 

(NPPF para 35) 

The Council publishes 

the draft plan. There 

follows a period of at 

least 6 weeks for 

making 

representations. 

Reg 22: 

Submission 

The Council submits 

the Local Plan to 

the Secretary of 

State with 

representations 

received.  

Reg 24: 

Examination in 

Public 

Conducted by 

independent 

Planning Inspector 

who will consider 

representations 

made at Reg 22 

stage. 

Reg 26: Adoption 

Subject to outcome 

of examination, 

including consultation 

on main 

modifications the 

Council formally 

adopts the plan.  

Summer 2017- 

ongoing 

Winter 2020 

 

Summer 2021 Autumn 2021  Spring Autumn 2022 Autumn 2022  

Spring/Autumn 2024 

 

Update to Table 1 to reflect progress 
of EIP at Reg 24 and Reg 26 stages. 

100



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM 
3 

Chapter 1 – 
Introduction 
 
Paras 1.3.1 to 
1.3.3 

1.3 London Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

 

1.3.1 Barnet’s Local Plan has been prepared within the context of the NPPF (2019), which states a 

strong presumption in favour of sustainable development.  In relation to plan-making, the NPPF 

requires Local Plans to positively seek opportunities to meet the development needs of their area and 

to be sufficiently flexible to adapt to rapid change (NPPF para 11). 

 

1.3.2 Barnet’s Local Plan has also been prepared to be in general conformity with the policies in the 

London Plan (2021), . The London Plan is the overall strategic plan for London, and forms part of 

Barnet’s Development Plan. It sets out an integrated economic, environmental, transport and social 

framework for the development of London over a 20 to 25 year timeframe (2019 to 2041).  The 

London Plan sets housing targets that boroughs should deliver as a minimum and identifies locations 

for future growth along with strategic policies for delivering the identified growth.   

 

1.3.3 The following Barnet areas are designated (or were previously designated in the case of Mill Hill 

East) in the London Plan. 

  

• Brent Cross Cricklewood – The London Plan designates Brent Cross Cricklewood as an Opportunity 

Area. The planning framework for Brent Cross Cricklewood is set out in the Area Development 

Framework adopted as Supplementary Planning Guidance in December 2005. Formerly a 

Regeneration Area The Brent Cross / Cricklewood Opportunity Area is now represented designated 

as three individual Growth Areas that have been designated in the Local Plan: Brent Cross, Brent 

Cross West / (Staples Corner) and Cricklewood Town Centre.  

Clarification on the role of the 
London Plan and the relationship 
between and identification of 
Opportunity Areas and Growth Areas 
including New Southgate Opportunity 
Area. 

101



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 

• Colindale-Burnt Oak – The London Plan designates Colindale as an Opportunity Area. The planning 

framework for Colindale is set out in the Area Action Plan adopted in March 2010. Unimplemented 

allocations in the AAP remain part of the Local Plan Schedule of Proposals. Formerly a Regeneration 

Area, Colindale is now designated as a Growth Area in the Local Plan. The boundary of the Colindale 

Growth Area is the same as that of the Opportunity Area. 

• New Southgate – The London Plan designates New Southgate as an Opportunity Area. The 

Opportunity Area includes parts of LB Barnet, LB Enfield and LB Haringey. Although New Southgate 

is not covered by a specific policy in the Plan the Council, in order to steer transformation of the area, 

is working a planning framework will be produced jointly with the GLA, LB Enfield and LB Haringey to 

produce a joint planning framework. The framework will establish the boundaries of the Opportunity 

Area and that will further assess its the development potential of this area. The timeframe for the 

framework together with its status will be clarified through a new Local Development Scheme. 

Mill Hill East – The planning framework for Mill Hill East is set out in the Area Action Plan adopted in 
January 2009. Unimplemented allocations in the AAP remain part of the Local Plan. Formerly an Area 
for Intensification, Mill Hill East is now identified as an area for good suburban growth in the Local Plan. 

 

102



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM 
4 

Chapter 1 – 
Introduction 
 
Paras 1.7.1 to 
1.7.3 

1.7 Boundary Early Update to Strategic Policies and Process for Review of Non-Strategic 

Policies  

 

1.7.1 Following an electoral review by the Local Government Boundary Commission the Boroughs 
ward boundaries will change in May 2022. The changes are set out in the London Borough of Barnet 
(Electoral Changes) Order 2020. Council will ensure that these are reflected in the Local Plan. The 
NPPF states that strategic policies should look ahead over a minimum 15 year period from adoption. 
NPPF highlights that policies in local plans and spatial development strategies should be reviewed to 
assess whether they need updating at least once every five years, and should then be updated as 
necessary. Reviews should be completed no later than five years from the adoption date of a plan 
and should take into account changing circumstances affecting the area, or any relevant changes in 
national policy. 

1.7.2 Barnet’s Local Plan covers a period up to 2036. It therefore does not provide a full 15-year 
period from the date of adoption. In order to address this the Council will facilitate the early review of 
the Local Plan through formal publication of a new Local Development Scheme. This will set out a 
new timetable for an update of the strategic policies of the Local Plan, looking ahead over a 20 year 
timeframe and ensuring that the Plan covers a minimum 15-year period from the projected date of 
adoption. The review of non-strategic policies and the scope of updates to strategic policies will be 
informed by the contents of the Local Plan Monitoring Framework set out at Table 21. This provides 
for a satisfactory and practicable basis for annually monitoring the effectiveness of the Local Plan. 

1.7.3 The Council will formally publish the new Local Development Scheme within a year of the date 
of adoption of this Plan. 

 

Outlines the Council’s commitment to 
an early review of the Plan and the 
associated approach to publication of 
a new Local Development Scheme to 
facilitate this within a year of the 
adoption of the Plan. 
 

103



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM 
5 

Chapter 2 
Challenges 
and 
Opportunities 
 
 
 
Map 1 Existing 
Public 
Transport 
Accessibility 
Levels (PTAL) 
 
 

 

Update of Borough PTAL from 2019. 

104



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 

105



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM 
6 

Chapter 3 – 
Barnet’s Vision 
and Objectives 
 
Section 3.1 - 
Vision 

3.1 Vision 
 
Taking into account the challenges highlighted in Chapter 2 the Local Plan Vision is: 
 
By 2036, Barnet has successfully demonstrated the benefits that good, well planned growth can 
deliver. The Borough continues to be a place that is family friendly. 
 
Growth has been directed into the most sustainable locations with good public transport and 
active travel choices. These include Brent Cross, Colindale, New Southgate and Mill Hill East as 
well as our main town centres at Burnt Oak, Chipping Barnet, Cricklewood, Edgware, Finchley 
Central, Golders Green and North Finchley. Outside these locations, growth has been supported 
in places with capacity for change and where local character and distinctiveness are recognised.    
 
Getting the best out of our natural environment through expanding and improving access to 
green and blue infrastructure, delivering biodiversity net gain and restoring the Borough’s rivers 
to the benefit of people and wildlife whilst protecting our communities from flooding.  At the 
same time we will build our resilience to climate change and improve water quality. As a Borough 
that values its historic environment and the benefits of good design, Barnet continues to be a 
place where people choose to make their home. 
 
Responsive and adaptable, Barnet’s town centres have recovered from the COVID19 pandemic 
and thrive, with the efficient and sustainable use of their locational opportunities addressing the 
needs of a growing population: providing innovative business, leisure and cultural activities, at 
the same time as retaining their individual character. 
 
Barnet’s improved orbital connectivity allows for a greater range of places where people can live, 
work or visit and provides for a greater range of sustainable transport options including cycling 
and walking for getting around the Borough.  
 
The positive benefits of growth and investment are accessible to Barnet residents, removing 
physical barriers to enable all to share in new social and community value and infrastructure with 

Vision updated to reflect Council’s 
declaration of climate and 
biodiversity emergency as well as 
need to highlight good design. 

106



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

and access to a range of housing types and a thriving jobs market while enjoying living in a safe, 
healthy and sustainable Borough. 
 

107



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM 
7 

Chapter 3 – 
Barnet’s Vision 
and Objectives 
 
Section 3.2 – 
Themes & 
Objectives 
 
Paras 3.2.2, 
3.2.3 & Table 
2 

3.2 Themes and Objectives 

3.2.2 In order to deliver the Local Plan Vision a series of key objectives have been developed for the 

Local Plan. These are: 

1. To respond and recover from the impact of COVID19  

2. To help deliver growth to meet housing aspirations and needs 

3. To improve the quality and types of housing across the Borough in response to resident needs and 

demographic change 

4. To make Barnet a place of economic growth and prosperity where space for commercial, business 

and service uses are fit for a post COVID19 recovery  

5. To improve orbital connectivity and sustainable travel options including cycling and walking  

6. To conserve and enhance the historic environment of the Borough, particularly the distinctive 

character and identity of Barnet’s town centres and suburbs 

7. To support strong and cohesive family friendly communities  

8. To promote healthy living and wellbeing 

9. To meet social community infrastructure needs 

10. To deliver an environmentally sustainable Borough and build resilience to climate change 

11. To integrate the natural environment into the urban landscape, improving access to, and 

enhancing the contribution of biodiversity, Green Belt, Metropolitan Open Land and green and blue 

infrastructure 

12. To ensure well designed, beautiful and safe places where new development is high quality, 

sustainable, and capable of adaption to meet the needs of residents over their lifetime. 

Revisions to reflect terminology in 
NPPF about well designed, beautiful 
and safe places as well as update to 
emphasise recovery from COVID19. 
 
Clarification on how policies are 
delivering the 12 key objectives. 

108



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 

3.2.3 Table 2 highlights how these objectives underpin the most relevant sections of the Local Plan and 

the 512 policies within them. 

 
Table 2 – Relationship of Local Plan Key Objectives to Policies 
 

Key Objectives Local Plan Chapters Most relevant 
Local Plan 
policies 

1. To respond and recover 
from the impact of 
COVID19 

 

Growth and Spatial 
Strategy, Housing,  
Town Centres, Economy, 
Community Uses, Health 
and Wellbeing 

BSS01, GSS01, 
GSS04, GSS05, 
GSS08, GSS13, 
TOW01, TOW02, 
ECY01, ECY02, 
CHW02 

2. To help deliver growth to 
meet housing 
aspirations and needs 

 

Growth and Spatial 
Strategy, Housing, 
Character, Design and 
Heritage 
 

BSS01, GSS01, 
GSS02, GSS03, 
GSS04, GSS05, 
GSS06, GSS07, 
GSS08, HOU01, 
HOU02, HOU03, 
HOU04, HOU05, 
HOU06, CDH01, 
CDH04, CDH05, 
CDH06, CDH07, 
CDH08. 

3. To improve the quality 
and types of housing 
across the Borough in 

Growth and Spatial 
Strategy, Housing, 

GSS01, GSS10, 
HOU01, HOU02, 
HOU03, HOU04, 

109



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

response to resident 
needs and demographic 
change 

 

Character, Design and 
Heritage 
 

HOU05, HOU06, 
HOU067, 
CDH01, CDH02, 
CDH05, CDH06, 
CDH07, CDH08. 

4. To make Barnet a place 
of economic growth and 
prosperity where space 
for commercial, 
business and service 
uses are fit for a post 
COVID19 recovery  

 

Growth and Spatial 
Strategy, Town Centres, 
Economy, Transport and 
Communications 

BSS01, GSS01, 
TOW01, TOW02, 
TOWO4, ECY01, 
ECY02, ECY03, 
TRC04. 

5. To improve orbital 
connectivity and 
sustainable travel 
options including cycling 
and walking  

 

Growth and Spatial 
Strategy, Community 
Uses, Health and 
Wellbeing, Transport and 
Communications 

GSS09, GSS11, 
CDH01, CDH02, 
CDH03, TRC01, 
TRC02, TRC03. 

6. To conserve and 
enhance the historic 
environment of the 
Borough, particularly the 
distinctive character and 
identity of Barnet’s town 
centres and suburbs 

 

Character, Design and 
Heritage, Community 
Uses, Health and 
Wellbeing, 

CDH01, CDH02, 
CDH03, CDH04, 
CDH08, CDH09, 
CHW05. 

7. To support strong and 
cohesive family friendly 
communities  

 

Growth and Spatial 
Strategy, Housing, 
Community Uses, Health 
and Wellbeing, Character, 

BSS01, GSS01, 
GSS13, HOU02, 
CDH03, CHW01, 
CHW03, CHW04, 

110



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

Design and Heritage, 
Environment and Climate 
Change, Economy, Town 
Centres 
 

ECC04, TOW02, 
TOW03, TOW04, 
ECY03. 

8. To promote healthy 
living and wellbeing 

 

Community Uses, Health 
and Wellbeing, Town 
Centres, Environment and 
Climate Change 
 

CHW01, CHW02, 
CHW04, TOW03, 
TRC01, ECC01, 
ECC04. 

9. To meet social 
community infrastructure 
needs 

 

Growth and Spatial 
Strategy, Community 
Uses, Health and 
Wellbeing 
 

BSS01, GSS01, 
CHW01, CHW02. 

10. To deliver an 
environmentally 
sustainable Borough 
and build resilience to 
climate change. 

 

Growth and Spatial 
Strategy, Environment 
and Climate Change, 
Transport and 
Communications 

BSS01, GSS01, 
GSS12, ECC01, 
ECC02, 
ECC02A, 
ECC03, ECC04, 
TRC01, TRC02, 
TRC03, TRC04. 

11. To integrate the natural 
environment into the 
urban landscape, 
improving access to, 
and enhancing the 
contribution of 
biodiversity, Green Belt, 
Metropolitan Open Land 

Growth and Spatial 
Strategy, Environment 
and Climate Change 

BSS01, GSS01, 
GSS13, ECC04, 
ECC05, ECC06. 

111



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

and green and blue 
infrastructure. 

 

12. To ensure well 
designed, beautiful and 
safe places where new 
development is high 
quality, sustainable, and 
capable of adaption to 
meet the needs of 
residents over their 
lifetime. 

 

Housing, Character, 
Design and Heritage, 
Housing 

HOU01, HOU02, 
HOU03, HOU04, 
HOU05, HOU06, 
CDH01, CDH02, 
CDH03, CDH04, 
CDH08. 

 
 

MM 
8 

Chapter 3 – 
Barnet’s Vision 
and Objectives 
 
Para 3.3.4 &  
Table 3 

3.3.4 The NPPF requires Local Plans to make it explicit which policies are strategic policies. Accordingly, 

the Council has used the criteria provided in the NPPF to assess the policies that are strategic. Policies 

with the prefix BSS and GSS (GSS01 to GSS13) as well as HOU06, CDH01 to CDH04, TOW01, 

TOW04, CHW01, ECC02, TRCO1 to TRC03 are considered to be strategic policies (as set out in Table 

3). 

Table 3 – Strategic and Non-Strategic Policies 

Local Plan Strategic Policies Local Plan Non Strategic Policies 

BARNET’S VISION & 
OBJECTIVES 
Policy BSS01 Barnet’s Spatial 
Strategy  
 
GROWTH & SPATIAL 
STRATEGY 

HOUSING  
Policy HOU01 Affordable Housing  
Policy HOU02  
Housing Mix  
Policy HOU03 Residential Conversions and 
Redevelopment of Larger Homes 
Policy HOU04 Specialist  

Clarification to identify Policies 
CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, CDH04, 
TOW01, TOW04, CHW01, ECC02, 
TRC01, TRC02 and TRC03 as 
strategic policies rather than non-
strategic policies. 

112



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
Policy GSS01 Delivering 
Sustainable       Growth 
Policy GSS02  Brent Cross 
Growth Area 
Policy GSS03  Brent Cross 
West Growth Area 
Policy GSS04 Cricklewood 
Growth Area 
Policy GSS05 
Edgware Growth Area 
Policy GSS06 Colindale Growth 
Area 
Policy GSS07  Mill Hill East  
Policy GSS08 Barnet’s Town 
Centres 
Policy GSS09 
Existing & Major New 
Transport  
Infrastructure 
Policy GSS10  Estate Renewal 
and Infill 
Policy GSS11  Major 
Thoroughfares 
Policy GSS12  
Redevelopment of Car Parks 
Policy GSS13   Strategic Parks 
and Recreation 
 
HOUSING 
Policy HOU06 
Gypsies, Travellers and  
Travelling Showpeople 
 
 
CHARACTER DESIGN & 
HERITAGE 
 

Housing  
Policy HOU05  
Efficient Use of Barnet’s 
 Housing Stock 
Policy HOU06  Meeting Other Housing Needs 
Policy HOU07 
Gypsies, Travellers and  
Travelling Showpeople 
 
CHARACTER DESIGN & HERITAGE 
Policy CDH01 
Promoting High Quality Design  
Policy CDH02 
Sustainable and  
Inclusive Design  
Policy CDH03  Public Realm 
Policy CDH04  Tall Buildings  
Policy CDH05  
Extensions  
Policy CDH06 
Basements  
Policy CDH07  Amenity Space and Landscaping   
Policy CDH08  
Barnet’s Heritage 
Policy CDH09 
Advertisements  
 
TOWN CENTRES 
Policy TOW01  Vibrant Town Centres 
Policy TOW02 
Development principles  
in Barnet’s Town  
Centres, Local Centres  
and Parades 
 
Policy TOW03  
Managing Hot Food  

113



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
Policy CDH01 
Promoting High Quality Design  
 
Policy CDH02 
Sustainable and  
Inclusive Design  
 
Policy CDH03  Public Realm 
 
Policy CDH04  Tall Buildings  
 
 
TOWN CENTRES 
 
Policy TOW01  Vibrant Town 
Centres 
 
Policy TOW04  Night –Time 
Economy 
 
COMMUNITY USES, HEALTH 
AND WELLBEING 
 
Policy CHW01  
Community Infrastructure    
 
 
ENVIRONMENT &  
CLIMATE CHANGE 
 
Policy ECC02 
Environmental  
Considerations 
 
TRANSPORT &  
COMMUNICATIONS 
 

Takeaways, Adult  
Gaming Centres,  
Amusement Arcades,  
Betting Shops, Payday 
 Loan Shops,  
Pawnbrokers and  
Shisha Bars 
Policy TOW04  Night –Time Economy 
 
COMMUNITY USES, HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
Policy CHW01 
Community 
Infrastructure    
Policy CHW02 
Promoting health and  
wellbeing  
Policy CHW03 Making  
Barnet a safer place 
Policy CHW04 
Protecting Public  
Houses 

 
ECONOMY 
Policy ECY01 A  
Vibrant Local Economy 
Policy ECY02  
Affordable Workspace 
Policy ECY03 Local  
Jobs, Skills and Training 

 
ENVIRONMENT &  
CLIMATE CHANGE 
Policy ECC01  
Mitigating Climate 
 Change 
Policy ECC02 
Environmental  

114



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
Policy TRC01  
Sustainable and Active  
Travel 
 
Policy TRC02 
Transport Infrastructure 
 
Policy TRC03 Parking 
management  
 

Considerations 
Policy ECC02A Water 
Management  
Policy ECC03 Dealing 
 with waste 
Policy ECC04 
Barnet’s Parks and  
Open Spaces 
Policy ECC05  Green  
Belt and Metropolitan  
Open Land 
Policy ECC06 
Biodiversity 

 
TRANSPORT &  
COMMUNICATIONS 
Policy TRC01  
Sustainable and Active  
Travel 
Policy TRC02 
Transport Infrastructure 
Policy TRC03 Parking 
 management  
Policy TRC04 Digital Communication and 
Connectivity 

 

 

115



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM 
9 

Chapter 3 – 
Barnet’s Vision 
and Objectives 
 
Policy BSS01 
– Barnet’s 
Spatial 
Strategy 
 
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Paras 3.3.1 to 
3.3.1F & 
Para 4.7.1 

POLICY BSS01 Spatial Strategy for Barnet 
 
a) A. In order to make the Council’s vision for Barnet happen, the Local Plan seeks to deliver 

between 2021 and 2036: 
i. a) A minimum of 35,460 new homes, including the provision of affordable housing to 

meet Policy HOU01; 
ii. b) A new Metropolitan Town Centre at Brent Cross Growth Area with up to 395,297m2 

395,000m2 of new office space at Brent Cross Town and up to 115,000m2 56,600 m2 of 
new retail space at Brent Cross North; 

iii. c) Between Up to 67,000 m2  and 106,000m2 of additional new office space in the rest 
of the Borough (with priority given to distribution across Barnet’s Major and District town 
centres through applying the sequential test for main town centre uses), and including 
the provision of affordable workspace to meet Policy ECY02; 

iv. d) Intensification of use of land for employment (with regard to London Plan policies E4 
and E6) together with safeguarding of Locally Significant Industrial Sites (LSIS) (with 
regard to Policy ECY01) to provide the parameters for guiding the provision of additional 
industrial land;  

v. e) An approach to retail and leisure development focussed upon the implementation of 
the planning consent at the Brent Cross Growth Area, ensuring the viability and vitality 
of Barnet’s Major and District town centres through an appropriate mix of uses, and 
addressing any location-based requirements (including where necessary to support the 
delivery of allocations in the Plan - subject to, where relevant, the sequential and impact 
tests set out in Policy TOW01) rather than identification of  a specific requirement for net 
additional floorspace.     

vi. f) A new Regional Park within designated Green Belt or Metropolitan Open Land as set 
out in Policy GSS13; and 

vii. g) 3 Three new destination hubs for sport and recreation at: Barnet and King George V 
Playing Fields; Copthall Playing Fields and Sunny Hill Park; and West Hendon Playing 
Fields as set out in Policy GSS13;  
 

Clarification on approach to new 
mixed use Metropolitan Town Centre 
in Brent Cross Growth Area with up 
to 115,000 sq.m of new retail 
floorspace and up to 395,297 sq.m of 
new office space based on existing 
planning permission.  
 
Clarification of requirement range of 
between 67,000 sq.m and 106,000 
sq.m of new office space in rest of 
the Borough with the aim to distribute 
amongst Barnet’s town centres.  
 
Clarification of strategic approach to 
industrial land focussing on 
intensification rather than new 
development on additional land, and 
also linking to Policy ECY01. 
 
Clarification on approach to 
safeguarding LSIS and the 
parameters to guide proposals for 
new industrial development.  
 
Clarification on intended approach of 
not setting a specific requirement for 
new retail or leisure development in 
the Plan.  
 
Clarification on strategic approach to 
climate change ensure consistency 
with NPPF approach of mitigating 
and adapting to climate change.  
 
Clarification on terminology relating 
to Growth Areas and Opportunity 
Areas.  
 
Clarification on how a decision maker 
should react to development 

116



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
b) B. The Council will (including by making effective use of land in urban areas) seek to minimise 

the Borough’s contribution to mitigate climate change and adapt to its effects with regard to in 
accordance with Policy ECC01.  

 
c) C. In order to make effective use of land in urban areas and better manage the impacts of 

development on the climate, growth will be concentrated in accordance with the Local Plan’s suite 
of strategic policies GSS01 to GSS13 in the Opportunity Areas of Brent Cross Cricklewood, 
Colindale and New Southgate, together with Barnet’s Growth Areas, Opportunity Areas (as 
identified in the London Plan) and District Town Centres. These are the most sustainable 
locations with good public transport connections and active travel provision. Outside of these 
locations, growth will be supported in places where there is recognised identified capacity and 
where the historic environment and local character can be conserved or enhanced as a result. 

 
d) D. The Social, Green and Physical Infrastructure and funding, particularly through the Community 

Infrastructure Levy, to support this growth is subject to constant review through the Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan. 

 
3.3 Delivering a strategy to meet Barnet’s challenges 

 
3.3.1 The Local Plan is the product of an evolving process, developed through various stages of 
consultation and visioning workshops, whilst considering the wider policy objectives of the London Plan 
and the NPPF. Over the Plan period to 2036, the Council seeks to create the conditions in the Borough 
that will deliver a minimum of 35,460 new homes equal to 2,364 new homes per annum. This target will 
be achieved through a combination of Local Plan policies and proposals and the Growth Strategy 
Delivery Plan which together with the Council’s Capital Programme, Infrastructure Delivery Plan and 
Infrastructure Funding Statement which will set out the key projects where the Council will direct its 
future investment. 
 

proposals in other locations where 
growth is intended to be supported 
where there is, amongst other things, 
‘capacity’. 
 
Clarification on the relationship 
between and identification of 
Opportunity Areas and Growth Areas 
in paras 1.3.3 and 3.4.2 respectively. 
 
Consequential changes to supporting 
text arising from and providing 
associated explanation to 
supplement changes to BSS01. 
 
Clarification on WLA Town Centres 
Study. 

117



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

3.3.1A The Council, having declared a Climate and Biodiversity Emergency, fully endorses the Mayor’s 
ambition, as set out in the London Plan, for the capital to become zero carbon by 2050. This underpins 
the Plan’s key objective to deliver an environmentally sustainable Borough and build resilience to climate 
change. Through a combination of strategies including the Local Plan and the Sustainability Strategy this 
will be done by increasing energy efficiency and maximising the use of low carbon energy sources in all 
stages of the development process, from design and construction to operation. An integrated approach 
to development should see all sectors coming together to achieve good growth alongside a healthy and 
attractive, low carbon environment, that can improve air quality, mitigate and adapt to the impacts of 
climate change, enhance green infrastructure and encourage active travel. 
 
3.3.1B National policy seeks to steer development away from areas of flood risk (from rivers and other 
sources), unless exceptions can be justified. The Council have therefore ensured that the Plan’s 
approach to growth is supported by the recommendations of the Barnet Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment Level 2 April 2021 (SFRA2) and the Barnet Flood Risk Sequential and Exceptions Test 
(February 2022). 
 
3.3.1C The Council has designated 50.7 hectares of land as Locally Significant Industrial Sites. Although 
the London Industrial Land Demand Study identified a need for an additional 7.3 hectares of industrial 
land while the West London Employment Land Review identified a need for 13.5 hectares of industrial 
land by 2036 the Local Plan has not allocated additional land for industrial use.  The Council’s approach 
is to set parameters through the Local Plan policy framework that guide the market in determining where 
proposals for such uses may be brought forward. This is consistent with London Plan Policies E4 and E6 
which recommend that boroughs should encourage the intensification of use of the designated industrial 
sites.  
 
3.3.1D The long-term need for retail and leisure space is not the same as the long-term needs for 
industrial and office space. A key component of the Local Plan evidence base is the Town Centre 
Floorspace Needs Assessment. This was completed in 2017 and produced on the basis of the pre 2020 
Use Classes Order. There is a broad consensus that expectations of retail and leisure growth from 
before COVID19 have changed with movement away from traditional retail formats and the way we 
interact with town centres as the focus of local commercial activity. Within Barnet a key component of 

118



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

future growth is the delivery of a new Metropolitan Town Centre at Brent Cross. This will be delivered 
through the implementation of the 2014 consent which provides for up to 115,000m2 of new retail space. 
The Council’s premise is that Brent Cross will be the realisation of any future retail growth in Barnet. If in 
response to market signals retail growth is not delivered at Brent Cross it is unlikely to be realised 
elsewhere within the Borough.  
 
3.3.1E The changes to the Use Classes Order (2020) remove restrictions on changes of use and allow 
greater flexibility for opportunities to change between main town centre uses, supporting town centre 
vitality and viability. When considering planning applications for main town centre uses (as defined in 
both the NPPF and the London Plan) the Council will apply locational requirements as set out in Policy 
TOW01 and take account of those identified in Annex 1, the sequential and impacts tests as set out in 
the NPPF and Policy SD7 part A1 of the London Plan.  
 
3.3.1F To further understanding of how town centres have changed since 2012, the Council as part of 
the West London Alliance commissioned a Town Centres Study. The Study assessed town centres in 5 
West London boroughs and took  a benchmarking approach to providing typologies through which 
trends affecting town centres can be better understood. The Study also took a qualitative approach, 
based on an analysis of long-term retail, planning and socio-economic trends across the Study area, in 
order to form the basis for a series of options and recommendations for future development which will 
inform the early review of the Plan. The Council will complement this Study with further town centres 
evidence, including any floorspace needs for retail and other main town centre uses.     
 

119



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
3.3.3 Reflecting the vision and objectives that have been set out, Policy BSS01 provides an overarching 
spatial strategy to capture the aspirations for Barnet’s preferred approach over the Plan period. As well 
as new homes delivery it sets out the aspects of growth in terms of office, and retail and industrial space 
as well as new provision for public open space, sports and recreation across Barnet. Making this 
supporting provision happen will, as with new homes, be achieved through a combination of Local Plan 
policies and proposals in the Growth Strategy Delivery Plan. 
  
4.7 Major Transport Infrastructure 
 
4.7.1 The COVID19 pandemic in 2020/21 has dramatically reduced the need to travel for work for some 
residents due to an increase in home-working. Despite this there remains a strong economic case for 
infrastructure projects such as West London Orbital.  The West London Orbital has been identified by 
Transport for London and the West London Alliance as essential infrastructure to support, enable and 
accelerate sustainable and inclusive population and employment growth. The scheme is expected to 
help deliver new homes and jobs, with an emphasis on ensuring that residents have the skills to access 
new job opportunities. Brent Cross West station will be completed in 202223 as part of the regeneration 
of Brent Cross. In the east of the Borough the New Southgate Opportunity Area could be further 
supported by a future confirmation of Crossrail 2 (the land for which remains safeguarded) could have a 
similar impact to the WLO. Public transport nodes such as London Underground and Network Rail 
stations also have a significant contribution to make to sustained growth. The Council’s Long Term 
Transport Strategy will inform a programme of priority transport investments that will support and 
address the strategic needs of Barnet. 
 

120



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM 
10 

Chapter 3 – 
Barnet’s Vision 
and Objectives 
 
Paras 3.4.1, 
3.4.2, 3.4.2A & 
Key Diagram 
 
 

3.4 The Key Diagram 
 
3.4.1 On a conceptual level the Key Diagram illustrates the Council’s overall spatial strategy.  This 
shows the broad locations where the Council expects a concentration of development to be 
concentrated located.  
 
3.4.2 The Opportunity Areas are designated within the London Plan as the capital’s principal 
opportunities for accommodating large scale development. The Opportunity Areas are supported by 
Area Frameworks that set the parameters for development proposals that contribute to regeneration and 
tackle inequalities as well as the environmental, economic and social barriers that affect the lives of 
people in the area. Opportunity Areas have the highest expectations for delivering new homes and new 
jobs as well as supporting infrastructure.  Opportunity Areas are the largest strategic locations in the Key 
Diagram. The Brent Cross / Cricklewood Opportunity Area is now represented as three individual Growth 
Areas that have been designated in the Local Plan: Brent Cross, Brent Cross West /  (Staples Corner) 
and Cricklewood. The boundary of the Colindale Growth Area is the same as that of the Colindale- Burnt 
Oak Opportunity Area.  
 
3.4.2A The London Plan designates New Southgate as an Opportunity Area. The Opportunity Area 
includes parts of LB Barnet, LB Enfield and LB Haringey. The Council is working with the GLA, LB 
Enfield and LB Haringey to produce a joint planning framework. The framework will establish the 
boundaries of the Opportunity Area. As the boundaries of the New Southgate Opportunity Area have not 
yet been defined the area is represented as a symbol on the Key Diagram.   
 

Clarification on Opportunity Area 
boundaries at Brent Cross, 
Cricklewood and Colindale.  
  
Revision of boundaries of New 
Southgate OA Edgware GA, Burnt 
Oak, Colindale/The Hyde Town 
Centre to remove any land outside of 
Barnet. 
 
Clarification of Mill Hill East Area in 
line with Policy GSS07.  
 
Adds designation of Metropolitan 
Town Centre at Brent Cross.  
 
Identifies A406 North Circular, A1 
Great North Way / Watford Way, and 
A41 Edgware Way / Watford Way / 
Hendon Way to reflect their status in 
Policy GSS11.  
 
Clarification on approach taken with 
respect to New Southgate 
Opportunity Area. Symbol used to 
identify as a broad location for 
growth. 

121



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 

122



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 123



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM 
11 

Chapter 4 – 
Growth and 
Spatial 
Strategy 
 
Paras 4.4.1 to 
4.4.5A, 4.8.1A, 
4.8.1, 4.8.2 to 
4.8.4, 4.8.4A, 
4.8.4B, 4.8.5, 
4.8.6 
 
Table 4, Table 
5, Table 5A 

4.3 Barnet’s Growth Requirements 

4.4 Housing 

4.4.1 The NPPF requires Barnet to determine the minimum number of homes needed with strategic policies informed by a 

local housing need assessment that has been formulated by the Government. This is conducted using the standard method 

provided in national planning guidance. 

4.4.2 To achieve a national housing target of 300,000 new homes per annum the Government (MHCLG) in 2018 introduced a 

methodology that set out minimum housing requirements through the ‘Standard Method’ approach. This is an unconstrained 

assessment of the number of homes needed in an area and requires greater refinement as part of the Local Plan’s design led 

and place-shaping approach to delivering growth in response to Barnet’s objectively assessed housing need. Since its 

introduction in 2018 the methodology has been revised several times and housing requirements have gone up and down. The 

most recent requirement of 5,361 new homes per annum is reflected in Table 4. Within London there is more clarity about 

housing targets. It is the role of the London Plan to set individual housing targets for individual boroughs. 

4.4.3 The Draft London Plan housing target, published December 2017, was set at 3,134 new homes per annum. The report 

of the independent Panel of Inspectors appointed to examine the London Plan was published in October 2019. Whilst 

accepting the London Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) housing need figure of 660,000 new homes between 

2019 and 2029, the Panel recommended a reduction in the overall London-wide housing target. This is reflected in The 

London Plan (published in March 2021) which through Policy H1 and Table 4.1 sets out a ten-year the housing target 

(2019/20 to 2028/29) for Barnet which equates to of 2,364 new homes per annum as a minimum. This figure has been taken 

forward in identifying the minimum of 35,460 new homes required for the 15 year Plan period of 2021 to 2036.  

4.4.4 In 2018 the Council, in partnership with the West London Alliance, commissioned a Strategic Housing Market 

Assessment (SHMA) consisting of two reports - a Borough SHMA for Barnet and a sub-regional SHMA for West London. This 

SHMA establishes the level of housing demand and the scale of housing supply necessary to meet this demand – including 

backlog demand from households in temporary accommodation, and those on waiting lists with an identified housing need.  

Barnet’s SHMA identifies the Full Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) for housing in Barnet as 3,060 dwellings per year. This 

equates to a need of 46,000 new homes over the lifetime of the Local Plan.  

Table 4 – Housing Requirement Assessmentsi 

 

Clarification to ensure that Plan is 
unambiguous insofar as London Plan 
sets the ten-year housing target 
(2019/20 to 2028/29), and that it is 
applied and taken forward when 
identifying the minimum of 35,460 
new homes required for the 2021 to 
2036 Plan period.  
  
Deletion of Table 4 as submitted to 
ensure certainty of and consistency 
with the modifications which clarify 
the calculation of housing numbers in 
the Plan. 
 
Clarification on calculation of housing 
numbers. 
 
Updates to Table 5 and Table 5A as 
submitted (the latter now 
renumbered as Table 6) and Figure 3 
to reflect the most up-to-date supply 
calculations. 
 
New Table 4 shows contribution of 
proposed allocations to small sites 
(less than 0.25 hectares) as referred 
to in Policy H2 of the London Plan 
and be consistent with NPPF 
requirement for at least 10% of sites 
on no larger than one hectare. 

124



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
 

 

 

 

 

4.4.5 Barnet therefore proposes to meet and then exceed the London Plan target of 35,460 new homes over the Plan Period 

up to 2036, and in doing so, achieve the strategic target that 50% of these new homes are genuinely affordable (as defined in 

the Glossary and Policy H4 of the London Plan)., while providing a supply of sites for up to 46,000 new homes. In meeting 

this need to deliver the right homes in the right places, the Council will seek support to boost delivery from the Government 

and Homes England, as well as the Greater London Authority, through funding streams such as the Home Building Fund and 

Good Growth Fund.  

4.4.5A In the interest of certainty it is confirmed that non self contained accommodation is counted as part of the new homes 

supply. The London Plan highlights at para 4.1.9 that net non-self-contained accommodation for students and shared living 

schemes should count towards meeting housing targets on the basis of a 2.5:1 ratio, with two and a half bedrooms being 

counted as a single home. London Plan para 4.1.9 also clarifies that ‘net non-self-contained accommodation for older people 

(C2 Use Class) should count towards meeting housing targets on the basis of a 1:1 ratio, with each bedroom being counted 

as a single home.’ All other net non-self-contained communal accommodation (including HMOs) should count towards 

meeting housing targets on the basis of a 1.8:1 ratio, with eight bedrooms being counted as a single home. 

4.8 Delivering Sustainable Growth 

4.8.1A To meet the Borough’s identified needs the Council will create the conditions for sustainable growth to deliver the 

homes, jobs, retail floorspace, open spaces and community facilities (such as health, education and cultural infrastructure). 

Investment in infrastructure for transport, telecommunications, security, waste management, water supply, wastewater, flood 

risk and the provision of energy (including heat) is key to supporting growth. 

4.8.1 The Local Plan sets out how the London Plan housing target can be met over the Plan period. The Local Plan It must 

demonstrate a clear understanding of the land available, including existing growth areas, taking into account availability, 

suitability and likely economic viability. Planning policies should identify a supply of: 

a) specific, deliverable sites for years one to five of the Local Plan period; and 

New Homes for 
Barnet 

MHCLG 
Standard 
Methodology 
(Dec 2020) 

London Plan 
(March 2021) Draft London 

Plan (Dec 2017) 
Barnet SHMA 
(Oct 2018) 

Per annum 5,361 2,364 3,134 3,060 

Total 
2021 - 2036 

80,415 
35,460 

47,000 46,000 

125



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
b) specific, developable sites or broad locations for growth, for years 6-10 and, where possible, for years 11-15 of the Plan.  

4.8.2 Delivery of new homes will mostly be in the key Growth Areas of Brent Cross – Cricklewood (Opportunity Area), 

Colindale (Opportunity Area), Cricklewood, Mill Hill East, Brent Cross West, and Edgware, and Cricklewood alongside new 

housing in the Mill Hill East Area and within the Borough’s District Town Centres. Each of these growth locations is distinctive 

and the Local Plan will respond to these individual characteristics to ensure good place-making.  

4.8.3 This approach to growth will seek to regenerate and develop areas of brownfield and underused land and buildings, 

particularly where these are located in areas of good public transport provision. The Growth Areas and Town Centres also 

offer a range of investment opportunities through identified developable and deliverable sites with substantial capacity to 

accommodate new homes, jobs and infrastructure. 

4.8.4 In meeting this need to deliver the right homes in the right places, the Council will produce a Sustainable Design and 

Development Guidance SPD. This SPD will help to ensure that development is optimised through the design led approach. 

Optimising site capacity entails flexibility to accommodate requirements of other policies in the Plan and other material 

considerations beyond ensuring that development is of the most appropriate form and land use for the site. replace two 

existing SPDs on Residential Design Guidance and Sustainable Design and Construction. In addition to carrying forward the 

content of the existing documents The new SPD will include area-wide housing design codes, guidance and criteria that cover 

types of development most commonly associated with small sites (under 0.25 ha).  

4.8.4A The Local Plan small sites target provides a reliable source of windfall sites which contributes to anticipated supply 

and meets the requirements of the NPPF (para 70). The small sites target is a component of the overall Local Plan housing 

target. It reflects a range of between 5,130 new homes, based on historic delivery on developments of under 10 new homes, 

and the minimum target of 6,500 new homes based on London Plan Policy H2.  The London Plan through Policy H2 and 

Table 4.2 sets out a ten-year housing target (2019/20 to 2028/29) for Barnet which equates to 434 new homes per annum 

from sites (0.25 ha and below). This figure has been taken forward in identifying the upper target of 6,500 new homes from 

Small Sites for the 15 year Plan period of 2021 to 2036. In meeting this target the Council wants to encourage the 

development of small sites, and provide a positive environment for small site developments in areas with good access to 

public transport and local services. The Council expects small site housing delivery to meet relevant policy requirements set 

out elsewhere in the Local Plan. This is intended to be achieved through development of a combination of identified sites in 

Annex 1 of the Plan (cumulative contributions of sites of below 0.25ha indicated in Table 4) and windfall development during 

the Plan period. 

Table 4 Contribution of Identified Sites (Schedule of Proposals - Annex 1 of the Local Plan) to New Homes Delivery 

from Small and Medium Sites  

126



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 

Years 
1-5 

Years  
6-10 

Years  
11-15 

Total    2287 

Large Sites of 1 ha and above 316 8,429 2,276 11,021 
    

Medium Sites (0.25 ha and over but 
below 1ha) 

 
60  1751 283 2094  

   194 

Small Sites (under 0.25 ha) 0 216 0 216 
   2481 

Contribution from Sites Schedule  
Total 376 10396 2559 13331 

 
4.8.4B Table 4 demonstrates the contribution to small sites (under 0.25 ha) delivery as well as those medium sites (0.25 ha 

and over but below 1ha) from the Schedule of Proposals. It also demonstrates that identification of small and medium sites in 

the Plan is consistent with the NPPF requirement for at least 10 per cent of sites to be no larger than one hectare.  

4.8.5 Barnet can deliver against and potentially exceed a minimum housing target capacity of 35,460 new homes from 2021 

to 2036, spread over the delivery period as shown in Table 5. Further detail on the supply that can be delivered from specific 

sites is set out in Annex 1 - Schedule of Proposals and Table 65A. 

4.8.6 The housing trajectory (Figure 3) is a means of measuring the Council’s past and future housing performance in 
meeting the housing target. The housing trajectory is based on information relating to past housing completions, current 
planning approvals and anticipated future housing proposals including broad locations for future housing growth identified in 
the Plan. It reflects estimates the potential number of units on each of the site proposals in Annex 1 Opportunity Site in the 
Borough and estimates a realistic timeframe for development. These figures are subject to ongoing review and monitoring 
through the Authorities Monitoring Report (AMR). The housing trajectory sets out an annual breakdown of Barnet’s housing 
supply over the plan period assessed against the London Plan target. Table 5 is rounded down to the nearest ten houses for 
every figure given to provide a headline requirement for these areas in the Plan with necessary flexibility/headroom in the 
sites to ensure that it is achieved.  

Table 5 – New Homes Delivery – 2021/22 to 2035/36 

  
 

Years 1-
5 

Years 6-10 
Years 11-

15 
Total Supply 

   2021/22 
– 

2025/26 

2026/27 – 
2030/31 

2031/32 – 
2035/36 

 

127



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

G
ro

w
th

 A
re

a
s
 a

n
d
 M

ill
 H

ill
 

E
a
s
t 

 
Brent Cross 

600 
1,330 

3,700 
3,020 

5,200 
3,070 

9,500 
7,420 

 Brent Cross 
West 

- - 1,800 1,800 

 
Cricklewood 

1,250 
160 

150 
1,200 

- 
1,400 
1,360 

 
Edgware 

100 
170 

3,250 
2,750 

1,650 
1,820 

5,000 
4,740 

 
Colindale 

3,000 
2,690 

1,100 
2,500 

 
 

4,100 
5,190 

 
Mill Hill East 

1,200 
1,850 

200 
310 

100 
120 

1,500 
2,280 

  Growth 
Areas and 
Mill Hill East 
Sub-Total 

6,100 
6,200 

8,400 
9,780  

8,800 
6,810 

23,300 
22,790 

  Brent Street  0 260 0 260 

D
is

tr
ic

t 
T
o

w
n

 C
e
n

tr
e
s

 

 Burnt Oak 160 0 0 160 

 Chipping 
Barnet 

50 290 190 530 

 Colindale - 
The Hyde 

0 0 0 0 

 East 
Finchley 

20 70 130 220  

 Finchley 
Central 
Church End 

 
40 

 
650 

 
130 

 
820 

 Golders 
Green 

0 0 0 0 

 Hendon 
Central 

70 50 0 120 

 Mill Hill  0 50 0 50 

 New Barnet 370 690 40 1100 

 North 
Finchley 

80 740 0 820 

128



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Table 5A 6 Contribution of Identified 

Sites (Schedule of Proposals - 

Annex 1 of the Local Plan) to New 

Homes Delivery 

 Temple 
Fortune 

0 0 0 0 

 Whetstone 430 590 0 1,020 

 District 
Town 
Centres 
Sub-Total 

1,950 
1,220 

2250 
3,390 

1,200 
490 

5,400 
5,100  

E
x
is

ti
n

g
 &

 N
e
w

 M
a
jo

r 
T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

 

In
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
  

 

 Cross Rail 2 
(New 
Southgate 
Opportunity 
Area) 

0 0 250 250 

 Existing 
Public 
Transport 
Nodes 

80 90 0 170 

 Existing & 
New Major 
Transport 
Infrastructu
re Sub-Total 

- 
80 

950 
90 

700 
250 

1,650 
420 

  Estate 
renewal & 
infill 

1,350 
1,090 

2,500 
1,840 

550 
1,050 

4,400 
3,980 

  Major 
Thoroughfar
es 

2,050 
620  

1,300 
2,810 

- 
100 

3,350 
3,530 

  
Other large 
sites  

1,100 
880 

1,500 
1,990 

200 
0 

2,800 
2,870 

  Small Sites 
(under 0.25 
ha) 

1,700 
1,590 

1,700 
1,710 

1,700 
1,710 

5,100 
5,010 

  
Total 

14,250 
11,680 

18,600 
21,610 

13,150 
10,410 

46,000 
43,700 

129



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

  
Years 
1-5 

Years 
6-10 

Years 
11-15 

Total 

Growth Areas 184 3555 1947 5686 

District Centres 0 4319 464 4783 

Existing & Major New Public 
Transport Infrastructure 

86 95 0 181 

Estate renewal & infill 0 0 0 0 

Major Thoroughfares 106 927 105 1138 

Other sites 0 1500 43 1543 

Contribution from Sites Schedule 
Total 

4,600 
376  

10,400 
10,396  

2,200 
2,559  

17,200 
13,331  

 

130



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM 
12 

Figure 3 – 
Barnet’s 
Housing 
Trajectory 
2021/22 – 
2035/36          
 
 

Updated to reflect most recent 
housing supply figures. 

131



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 

132



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM 
13 

Chapter 4 – 
Growth & 
Spatial 
Strategy 
 
Policy GSS01 
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text  
Section 4.1 
Paras 3.3.1 to 
3.3.1F & 
Para 4.7.1 

 

POLICY GSS01 Delivering Sustainable Growth 
The Council will create the conditions for sustainable growth to deliver the homes, jobs, retail and 
leisure floorspace, open spaces and community facilities (such as health, education and cultural 
infrastructure) to meet Barnet’s identified needs. Infrastructure for transport, telecommunications, 
security, waste management, water supply, wastewater, flood risk and the provision of energy 
(including heat) is key to supporting growth., including investment in transport, education, health 
and open spaces.   
 

A. Economic Growth 
Employment growth over the Plan period between 2021 and 2036 is expected to will create more 
than between 12,000 and 27,000 new jobs across the Borough, with the majority of these 
generated many within the Brent Cross Growth Area where permission has been granted for up to 
395,000 395,297 m2 (net) of new office space and up to 115,000m2 56,600m2 (net) of new retail 
space at an enhanced  Brent Cross Shopping Centre which will be integrated into a new 
Metropolitan Town Centre.  
 
Elsewhere between up to 67,000 m2 and 106,000m2 of additional new office floorspace in the rest of 
the Borough is expected to be delivered (with priority given to will be distribution distributed across 
Barnet’s Major and District town centres through the application of the sequential test for main town 
centre uses set out in Policy TOW01).  
 
B. New Public Transport Infrastructure 

The following major new public transport infrastructure will be is delivered over the lifetime of the 
Plan at the new Brent Cross West station and West London Orbital, with potential for Crossrail 2 
subject to confirmation. : 

 

a) New rail station and transport interchange at Brent Cross West; 
b) A replacement or remodelled and improved bus station at Brent Cross North; 
c) New underground station and enhanced public transport interchange at Colindale; 

Clarification of sufficient provision of 
infrastructure and community 
facilities that accords with NPPF.  
 
Identification of range of between 
12,000 and 27,000 new jobs across 
Borough.  
 
Refinement of approach to 
employment growth to provide 
certainty of distribution of retail, 
office, other main town centre uses 
and employment floorspace 
expected within Brent Cross GA as 
part of the new MTC together with 
suitability of those forms of 
development to Major and District 
Town Centres. 
 
Clarification of specific major new 
public transport infrastructure to be 
delivered during the Plan period. 
 
Correction of terminology for Growth 
Areas and updates to new homes 
figures to ensure consistency with 
MMs to Table 5 and Policies GSS02 
to GSS06 
 
Removal of Growth Area and Town 
Centre windfalls to prevent double 
counting, together with removal of 
Mill Hill East as a GA 
 
New homes for Existing Public 
Transport Nodes to reflect only 
indicative capacities of relevant sites 
in Annex 1 
 

133



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

d) New passenger rail line - the West London Orbital Line together with upgrades to existing 
stations (Cricklewood and Hendon and new station at Brent Cross West); 

e) New bus stopping and standing arrangements in North Finchley to allow redevelopment 
of the bus station;  

f) Interchange improvements at Edgware with protection or re-provision of bus operations 
and bus station function as part of any redevelopment. London Underground 
infrastructure and operations must also be maintained; and 

g) Crossrail 2 at New Southgate. This is a longer term project that is subject of confirmation 
and will be supported during the Plan period and beyond through necessary safeguarding 
of railway and worksites at Oakleigh Road South.  

 
C. New Homes  

New homes will be directed to the following locations: 
 

a) Growth Areas and Mill Hill East (23,300 22,790 homes): 
• Brent Cross Cricklewood Opportunity Area – 9,500 7,420 homes (Policy GSS02) 
• Brent Cross West (Staples Corner) – 1,800 homes (Policy GSS03) 
• Cricklewood Town Centre – 1,400  1,360 homes (Policy GSS04)  
• Edgware Town Centre – 5,000 4,740 homes (Policy GSS05) 
• Colindale Opportunity Area – 4,100 5,190 homes (Policy GSS06) 
• Mill Hill East – 1,500  2,280 homes (Policy GSS07) 

 
b) District Town Centres – 5,400 5,100 homes (Policy GSS08) 
 
c) Existing and Major new public transport infrastructure (1,650 420 homes) (Policy GSS09): 

• Existing Public Transport Nodes (London Underground and Network Rail stations and 

environs, including car parks – 450 170 homes  

• New Southgate Opportunity Area (potentially supported by Crossrail 2) - 250 homes 

• West London Orbital (WLO) support further intensification around the stations at 

Cricklewood, Hendon and Brent Cross West - 950 homes 

Removal of figure for West London 
Orbital to accord with MM to Policy 
GSS09  
 
Revised approach to small sites to 
indicate range from 5,100 homes 
figure (based on historic trends in 
Barnet) as minimum anticipated to be 
delivered, to an upper target of 6,510 
homes to ensure general conformity 
London Plan with Policy H2. 
 
Addition of requirement for small 
sites to have good access to public 
transport and local services, and also 
ensure that role of future SPD is 
consistent with NPPF insofar as 
adding further detail to the policy and 
providing a design code for small site 
development.  
 
Clarification at Part E of requirement 
to ‘optimise site capacity’ to ensure 
flexibility to accommodate other 
policy requirements and material 
considerations beyond ‘the most 
appropriate form and land use for the 
site’.  
 
New policy wording at Part D to 
provide supportive approach for Build 
to Rent developments linking to 
approach in London Plan Policy H11  
 
New wording at Part F to provide a 
positive, supportive approach to 
policy compliant proposals for self-
build / custom housebuilding and to 
encourage neighbourhood plans 
where evidence of unmet demand to 
identify sites.  

134



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

d) Estate renewal and infill (including Grahame Park) – 4,400 3,980 homes (Policy GSS10) 
 
e) Major Thoroughfares – 3,350 3,530 homes (Policy GSS11) 

 

f) Other large sites – 2,800 2,870 homes. This includes  including land at Middlesex University 
in Hendon and car parks – 2,800 homes (Policy Policies BSS01, GSS01 and GSS12 
(specifically for car parks) )  

 
D. Build to Rent 

The Council supports Build to Rent developments that meet the definition in the London Plan 
and expects such proposals to follow the approach set out in London Plan Policy H11. 
 

E. Design Led Approach  
By optimising capacity through a design-led approach and the delivery of good design as set out 
in London Plan Policies D3 and D4, the Council will support the delivery on small sites (0.25 ha 
and below) of between Housing growth will come forward on small sites (5,100 5,010 and 6,510 
homes) that are not including sites designated in the Local Plan. This figure, based on previous 
trends for delivery from small sites, contributes towards meeting the overall housing target for 
the Borough. Small sites must be delivered in suitable locations with good access to public 
transport and local services that take account of planning designations and environmental 
restrictions, including avoiding areas at most risk of flooding. The Council will produce a 
Sustainable Design and Development Guidance SPD that sets out area wide design codes and 
associated guidance for small site developmentii. 

 
F. Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding 

The Council will support policy compliant proposals that make efficient use of land to meet 
demand for Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding, including on small sites. Neighbourhood 
Plans will be encouraged to identify appropriate sites for self -build or custom-build where there 
is unmet demand. 

 

135



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
G. Site Assembly 

Where there is a compelling case to secure economic and social benefits in the public interest, 
the Council will be prepared to use its compulsory purchase powers to facilitate site assembly.  

 
H. Schedule of Proposals 

In ensuring the delivery of sustainable growth the Local Plan has allocated land for development 
as set out in Annex 1 – Schedule of Proposals. All development must make the best use of land 
by following a design-led approach that optimises the capacity of sites, including site proposals, 
ensuring that it is aligned with London Plan Policy D3 Optimising site capacity means ensuring 
that development is of the most appropriate form and land use for the site and that it accords 
with the relevant requirements of the other Policies in this Plan. 

 

 
4.1 National and London Plan Policy Context 

NPPF 

Section 3 Plan Making – Non-Strategic Policies specifically para 29  

Section 5 Delivering a Sufficient Supply of Homes specifically paras 59, 60, 65, 67 and 73 

Section 6 Building a strong and competitive economy specifically para 81 

Section 9 Promoting sustainable transport specifically paras 102 and 103 

Section 11 Making effective use of land specifically paras 117,118,119 and 123 

Section 13 Protecting Green Belt Land specifically para 134 

London Plan  

Policy Good Growth objective  GG2 Making the best use of land  

136



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

Policy Good Growth objective GG4 Delivering the homes Londoners need 

Policy SD1 Opportunity Areas 

Policy SD6 Town centres and high streets 

Policy SD10 Strategic and local regeneration 

Policy D3 Optimising capacity through the design-led approach 

Policy D13 Agent of Change  

Policy H1 Increasing housing supply 

Policy H2 Small Sites 

Policy H6 Affordable housing tenure 

Policy H8 Loss of existing housing and estate development 

Policy H11 Build to Rent 

Policy E7 Industrial intensification, co-location and substitution 

Policy T2 Healthy Streets 

Mayor of London Optimising Site Capacity – A Design Led Approach LPG 

Mayor of London All London Green Grid SPG 

 

2.5 Economy and Town Centres 

2.5.3 As highlighted in the Key Facts Evidence Paper Barnet’s economic activity rate is below the 
London and UK average. The employment rate is also lower than that for London as a whole. 
Employment in Barnet is expected to grow by 22% by 2036, generating an additional demand for office 

137



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

space of approximately 40,000 m2. During the Plan period between 12,000 and 27,000iii new jobs will be 
generated, with the majority of these arising in the Brent Cross Growth Area. With a strong culture of 
self-employment in Barnet it is particularly important that there is sufficient provision of affordable and 
flexible workspace, particularly in town centres, to support small to medium businesses that can 
contribute to the success of the Borough’s economy.  
 
4.5 Town Centres, Economy and Jobs 

4.5.1 Growth of the local economy will be encouraged and supported, generating the new jobs needed 

to provide employment for Barnet’s growing population. During the Plan period between 12,000 Barnet 

will deliver more than and 27,000iv new jobs will be generated, with the majority of these to be generated 

arising in the Brent Cross Growth Area where permission has been granted for up to 395,000 395,297 

m2  of offices which now forms part of Use Class E – Commercial, Business and Service Uses as well as 

other employment floorspace including new retail and main town centre uses. 

4.5.2 The Barnet Employment Land Review (BELR), produced on the basis of the pre-2020 Use Classes 

Order, considered the Borough’s supply of office and industrial space as well as the prospects for the 

office market and jobs growth. The BELR concluded that efforts should be focused on protecting 

employment land and estimated that Barnet required, in addition to the office space consented in the 

Brent Cross Growth Area, between another 67,000 m2v and 106,000m2 of new office space across . This 

quantum is a maximum which should be met within Barnet’s Major and District town centres as these are 

the most sustainable locations.  

4.5.3 The Council is committed to maintaining and supporting that the Borough’s a range of town centres 

are capable of serving a range of community needs at all times of the day and to ensuring their 

continued vitality and viability. This Local Plan should ensure the sustainable success of town centres 

and employment areas as thriving places where retailers and other businesses want to invest and to 

explore the scope for them to play an important part in addressing the causes and consequences of 

climate change. Changes to the Use Classes Order and the General Permitted Development Order in 

2020 and 2021 together with proposals in the “Planning for the Future” White Paper, and the implications 

138



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

of Brexit, have changed this context. As part of the West London Alliance the Council is working on a 

new study to establish how much each of the uses covered by the new Use Class E may be needed 

over the period to 2036 and the key trends and drivers affecting this. 

4.5.4 The Council protects employment locations classified as Locally Significant Industrial Sites. In 

2019 it implemented an Article 4 Direction to protect existing office accommodation (formerly B1a) and 

light industrial processes, research and development (formerly B1c) from permitted development 

conversion to residential. This safeguarding of employment locations has been diminished by the 

replacement in 2020 of Use Class B1 with Use E - Commercial, Business and Service Uses.  

4.5.5 Brent Cross Growth Area has outline consent from 2010 2014 for up to 115,000m2  56,600m2 of 

comparison retail floorspace. Similar to the BELR, the Town Centre Floorspace Needs Assessment 

(TCFNA) was produced on the basis of the pre-2020 Use Classes Order. This considered demand up to 

2036 for another 77,000 m2 of (former Use Class A1 comparison floorspace) up to 2036 together. Retail 

uses, along with financial and professional services and café uses, have been subsumed within Use 

Class E.  The TCFNA also considered demand for up to 33,330 m2 of food and drink uses, the majority 

of which (as restaurants and cafes) now sits within Use Class E. As the retail market experiences 

significant and conceptual change there is a need for town centres to diversify in terms of other retail 

uses such as food and drink, and other uses appropriate for a town centre, such as community uses, 

becoming social and community hubs as well as economic centres supported by new housing 

development. The COVID19 pandemic has accelerated movement away from traditional retail formats 

and has further changed the way we shop and interact with town centres as the focus of local 

commercial activity.  

4.5.5A. It follows that the focus of the Plan as previously set out in Policy BSS01 is on directing main 

town centre uses to the appropriate locations to enhance the viability and vitality of Barnet’s Major and 

District town centres through delivery of an appropriate mix of uses, and addressing any location-based 

requirements (including where necessary to support the delivery of allocations in the Plan - subject to, 

where relevant, the sequential and impact tests). Such an approach is more suitable than identification 

of a specific requirement for net additional floorspace in either Policy BSS01 or Policy GSS01 above that 

139



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

expected to be delivered by the existing planning permission in the Brent Cross Growth Area, when 

taking account of the significant ongoing changes to retail markets and formats, together with the 

increased flexibility for changes between main town centre uses that are now within Use Class E. As 

previously stated, the West London Alliance commissioned a Town Centres Study which provides an 

assessment of the ongoing implications of technological, economic and legislative changes for, amongst 

other things, retail demand in Barnet. The findings of the Town Centre Study will be taken into account 

as part of the early review of the Plan. As part of the West London Alliance the Council is working on a 

new study to establish how much additional retail provision may be needed over the period to 2036.  

4.5.6 The provision of higher education and research makes a major contribution to Barnet’s local 

economy and is also a source of direct and indirect employment supporting local businesses and 

providing residents with employment. The Council and Middlesex University have the shared ambitions 

for of the campus at Hendon becoming to become a thriving high quality environment that enables the 

entire Borough to capitalise on the its benefits through encouraging innovative and creative industries 

that strengthen Barnet’s economy.    

4.8.4C Opportunities for Build to Rent are expected to come forward across the Borough over the 

lifetime of the Local Plan. Build to Rent can be particularly suited to higher density development within or 

on the edge of town centres or near transport nodes. The Council supports Build to Rent developments 

that meet the definition in the London Plan and expects such proposals to follow the approach set out in 

London Plan Policy H11. The Local Plan takes a positive approach to Build to Rent as a product that 

helps to widen housing choice and also contributes to faster build out rates.  As part of the Council’s 

plans for the Brent Cross Growth Area delivery of Build to Rent development is generally supported (see 

Policy GSS02). Opportunities for Build to Rent, on specific sites with large capacities, have been 

identified in the Schedule of Proposals (Annex 1) Build to Rent has been highlighted as an appropriate 

use in its contribution to faster build out rates as well as widening housing choice. The Council will 

require contributions from Build to Rent proposals to affordable housing in accordance with London Plan 

Policy H11. This should be in the form of Discounted Market Rent units delivered at a genuinely 

140



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

affordable rent level, preferably London Living Rent. Such provision of affordable housing should be in 

perpetuity. 

4.8.4D  The Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 requires the Council to have regard to 

demand for Self Build when undertaking planning functions. The Council will support proposals that meet 

demand for Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding, including on small sites. Such proposals should make 

efficient use of land to meet identified need where it can be demonstrated that the residential density of 

the site has been optimised and other Local Plan policy requirements met.  The Council will also support 

Neighbourhood Plans that consider (where there is unmet demand) identifying appropriate sites for self-

build or custom-build.  

141



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM 
14 

Chapter 4 – 
Growth & 
Spatial 
Strategy 
 
Chapter 4 – 
Growth & 
Spatial 
Strategy 
Map 3 Brent 
Cross Growth 
Area  
 
 

 

Clarification of boundaries of Brent 
Cross Town, Brent Cross North and 
Brent Cross (Thameslink) as distinct 
elements of the Brent Cross Growth 
Area. 

142



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 

143



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM
15 

Chapter 4 – 
Growth & 
Spatial 
Strategy 
 
Sections 4.11 
to 4.15 & 
Policy GSS02 
Policy GSS02 
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text  
Paras 4.9.2, 
4.9.3, 4.9.4, 
4.10.1 to 
4.10.4, 4.14.8.   

POLICY GSS02 Brent Cross Growth Area  
 
The Council supports comprehensive regeneration of Brent Cross Growth Area to deliver a new 
Metropolitan Town Centre providing a range of uses including new homes, a new commercial uses 
office quarter, an expanded retail offer, destination leisure and entertainment, cultural and arts 
facilities, restaurants and hotels supported by an extensive programme of infrastructure investment 
over the Plan period.  
 
The Council will support development proposals that contribute to the comprehensive regeneration 
of the Growth Area by optimising the use of land and site capacity through a design-led approach 
(London Plan Policy D3). 
 
A. Development Proposals 
Development proposals within the Growth Area shall, insofar as they are relevant to the proposal 
must:  

a) Demonstrate how they assist in achieving and not undermining comprehensive development 
of the area; 

b) Contribute towards the creation of a Metropolitan Town Centre; 
c) Support the provision of a minimum of 9,500 7,420 new homes, with provision for uplift 

through the design-led approach, including a mix of tenures and types of housing including 
Build to Rent;  

d) Protect and where possible improve the amenities of existing and new residents; 
e) Create a high quality, safe and attractive environment accessible to all;  
f) Create an integrated network based on the Healthy Streets approach of pedestrian and 

cycle routes through high quality public realm and open spaces to meet leisure, access, 
urban design and ecological needs; 

g) Provide sufficient community infrastructure, including new and expanded schools and 
primary healthcare capacity;   

h) Contribute to ensure the restoration and enhancement of the River Brent and its corridor to 
provide both public amenity and biodiversity benefits to the area alongside providing 

Clarification of range of uses that will 
be supported in the new Metropolitan 
Town Centre, with support for 
development proposals contributing 
to comprehensive regeneration of 
Brent Cross Growth Area through 
optimising use of land and site 
capacity via design-led approach.  
 
Reduction of provision to a minimum 
of 7,420 new homes with design-led 
approach to support any uplift.  
 
Addition of support for Build to Rent 
as part of tenure mix and types of 
housing.  
 
Clarification to align with NPPF that 
developments required to contribute 
to restoration and enhancement of 
River Brent and its corridor, 
alongside providing connections 
between Welsh Harp and West 
Hendon Playing Fields.  
 
Deletion of requirement to deliver 
new waste management facility as 
intended location for replacement is  
within Brent Cross West (Staples 
Corner) Growth Area. 
 
Clarification of approach to 
meanwhile uses.  
 
Clarification on new commercial uses 
around new station.  
 
Additions to reflect changes to Use 
Classes Order for main town centre 
uses and clarify integration of 
Shopping Centre with new 

144



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

connections and to fully connect to the Welsh Harp (Brent Reservoir) and West Hendon 
Playing Fields. 

The Brent Cross Growth Area will also deliver a new waste management facility to replace the 
existing Hendon Waste Transfer Station operated on behalf of the North London Waste Authority. 
 
The Council will support meanwhile uses for temporary periods will be permitted where it can be 
demonstrated that they support the comprehensive development of the area and/or do not impede 
the implementation of the planned long term use of these sites. 
 
B. New Metropolitan Town Centre 
The new Metropolitan Town Centre, extending north and south of the A406 North Circular Road, 
will provide a range of uses, including retail, leisure and entertainment, cultural and arts facilities, 
restaurants, hotels, homes, business units, community facilities all within new neighbourhoods 
designed within a public realm that is green, safe and welcoming to all.  
 
A New commercial uses quarter focussed around the new Brent Cross West rail station will provide 
up to 395,297m2 000m2 of office development for over 20,000 new jobs. This Brent Cross Town will 
deliver the largest area of new space for economic growth in Barnet. There will also be support for 
creation of spaces for small and start-up businesses.  
 
Brent Cross Shopping Centre will be enhanced and integrated as part of the new Metropolitan 
Town Centre and will deliver a range of leisure and other main town centre uses to ensure that it 
acts as a regional destination and contributes to a vibrant and viable night-time economy. The 
shopping centre (including those contributing to the night-time economy) and a mix of residential. 
Brent Cross North will be connected to a new high street to the south via new pedestrian and 
vehicular bridges enhanced connections over the North Circular. Development at Brent Cross 
North Shopping Centre is required to deliver measures to increase access to the town centre by 
means other than the private car. This should be reflective of up to date mode targets. 
 
C. Transport Improvements 

Metropolitan Town Centre (including 
those contributing to the night-time 
economy) and a mix of residential.  
 
Highlight Brent Cross North 
requirements for development 
proposals to enhance connections 
over North Circular Road and 
increase access by modes of 
transport other than the private car. 
 
Clarification that transport 
improvements come forward in  
accordance with outline permission, 
or through future permissions, 
planning conditions or planning 
obligations. 
 
Clarification of requirements for a 
replacement or remodelled and 
improved bus station north of the 
North Circular Road as part of 
expansion of Brent Cross Shopping 
Centre, with associated 
improvements to local bus 
infrastructure.  
 
Clarification that enhanced and multi-
modal transport links are sought, 
including at least one link across 
North Circular Road and at least one 
crossing over the railway to Edgware 
Road.  
 
Deletion of requirement for a new rail 
freight facility to replace existing 
Strategic Rail Freight Site, as this 
has already been delivered. 
 

145



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

Development proposals will need to bring forward The following transport improvements are 
proposed within the Brent Cross Growth Area and will be delivered pursuant to the existing 
planning permission or through future permissions detailed design, planning conditions and/ or 
Section 106 agreements planning obligations / legal agreements :  

a) Prioritise Pedestrian and cycle routes throughout the new development and improvements 
to pedestrian and cycle connections and routes beyond the development area; 

b) Ensure Good access for disabled persons throughout the area with step-free access at 
Brent Cross Underground and Brent Cross West stations. 

c) A new rail station and public transport interchange at (Brent Cross West) on Thameslink line 
supported by a public transport interchange; 

d) A new replacement or remodelled and improved bus station north of the North Circular Road 
(in Brent Cross North) as part of the expansion of Brent Cross Shopping Centre, with 
associated improvements to the local bus infrastructure; 

e) Connections and/ or improvements to the strategic road network, that are supported by 
Transport for London in relation to the TLRN (TfL Road Network), and National Highways 
England in relation to the M1 motorway, based on up to date mode share targets; 

f) Appropriate new enhanced and multi-modal transport links to and within the development 
including at least one link across the North Circular Road and at least one crossing over the 
railway to the Edgware Road; and 

g) Improved pedestrian access across the A41 Hendon Way to link with Brent Cross 

Underground Station.; and, 

A new rail freight facility to replace the existing Strategic Rail Freight Site. 

The Council will secure contributions from developers towards the retrospective costs of 
infrastructure delivered in earlier phases of the development. Where appropriate the Council will 
use CIL to deliver strategically important highways infrastructure. recognises that some 
infrastructure may need to be funded or provided in advance of later phases of development. To 
ensure that infrastructure to support development is provided at appropriate times and that all 
relevant developments make necessary contributions towards the costs of infrastructure across the 
Brent Cross Growth Area in order to achieve comprehensive development, the Council will work 

Clarification that requirements for 
infrastructure funding accord with 
NPPF and CIL Regulations.  
 
Clarification on monitoring progress 
on the comprehensive regeneration 
with appropriate milestones for 
delivery and triggers for action. This 
includes a commitment to an early 
review of the Local Plan if necessary 
and preparation of a SPD as 
appropriate.  
 
Changes to reflect that Brent Cross 
North and Brent Cross Town remain 
in different and multiple land 
ownerships and therefore, that 
development within Growth Area will 
be expected to be co-ordinated to 
ensure that the development of one 
area does not unnecessarily delay 
nor fetter another. 

146



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

with developers to negotiate planning obligations in the Brent Cross Growth Area on a case by 
case basis having regard to any cumulative impacts, in line with Government guidance and the 
tests in the CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended) and/or any equivalent relevant legislation or 
regulations.  
 
The Council will also consider how the monies collected through CIL are used in the Brent Cross 
Growth Area as well as, at its discretion, the facility for infrastructure to be provided in kind rather 
than paying CIL. 
 
D. Progress of Brent Cross Regeneration  
The Local Plan sets out will establish a series of indicators to monitor progress on the regeneration 
of the Brent Cross Growth Area. These include It will set appropriate milestones for assessing the 
delivery of the regeneration.  and setting out the stages where a review of GSS02 or introduction of 
a new planning framework may be necessary to further comprehensive redevelopment. The 
Council is committed to an early review of the Local Plan. It will also review the 2005 Development 
Framework and introduce a new planning framework Supplementary Planning Document. Early 
review of the Local Plan together with the new SPD will help to provide more detailed guidance in 
respect of Local Plan policy for the Brent Cross Growth Area and development sites within.  
 
The Council seeks comprehensive development of the Brent Cross Growth Area. Brent Cross 
North and Brent Cross Town remain in different (and multiple) land ownerships. and The Council 
will seek to ensure that development and delivery within the Growth Area of these strategic areas is 
co-ordinated and that one area does not delay nor fetter another. This entails that the development 
and delivery of these strategic areas is not delayed or fettered by the other. 
 

147



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
4.9 Brent Cross Cricklewood Opportunity Area Growth Area  

4.9.2 The Brent Cross Cricklewood Opportunity Area covers 151 hectares, with proposals including a 

new commercial uses quarter and a Metropolitan Town Centre, incorporating and connected to Brent 

Cross Shopping Centre. The extensive Opportunity Area sits in close proximity to covers Brent Cross 

Growth Area as well as Growth Areas at Cricklewood Town Centre and Brent Cross West (Staples 

Corner) and is in close proximity to as well as the Staples Corner Growth Area in LB Brent.  

4.9.3 Support for regeneration at Brent Cross Cricklewood has long been embedded in local and 

regional policy. The area was first identified as an Opportunity Area in the 2004 London Plan and the 

Council adopted the ‘Cricklewood, Brent Cross and West Hendon Regeneration Area Development 

Framework’ as Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) in 2005. The SPG establishes a series of 

strategic principles for the comprehensive redevelopment of the area. Policy support has continued 

through the Unitary Development Plan (UDP) (2006) and Local Plan Core Strategy (2012).  The Council 

will review the 2005 Cricklewood, Brent Cross and West Hendon Development Framework. It will 

introduce a new planning framework Supplementary Planning Document to provide more detailed advice 

and guidance on the implementation of policies in the Local Plan. 

4.9.4 Based on the 2005 Development Framework Outline planning permission was granted in 2010 and 

subsequently amended in 2014 for the comprehensive redevelopment of the whole of the Brent Cross 

Growth Area along with parts of what is now identified as the Brent Cross West (Staples Corner) Growth 

Area to create a new mixed use town centre with up to an additional   56,600m2 115,000m2 of 

comparison retail floorspace; 7,500 new homes including affordable homes; a new commercial quarter 

uses with a forecast of over 20,000 new jobs generated by up to 395,297m2 of office space, all 

underpinned by improvements to the strategic highway network, a new rail  station as part of  an 

improved and accessible public transport offer all encompassed within new high quality public realm. In 

The 2014 a revised Section 73 planning permission application made was approved making changes to 

the development around Brent Cross Shopping Centre and the phasing of the development. Since then, 

148



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

detailed designs have been approved through reserved matters for the first phases of housing, retail, 

new infrastructure, a new public park and public spaces.  

4.10 Comprehensive Development Brent Cross Growth Area 

4.10.1 The Council will seeks the comprehensive regeneration of the Brent Cross Growth Area and will 

support development proposals that contribute to this by optimising the use of land and site capacity 

through a design-led approach (London Plan Policy D3). 

4.10.2 In general planning and regeneration terms, comprehensive development refers to reflects an 

area that is planned to ensure the development of strategic sites which is undertaken in a coordinated 

way, with the goal of improving and regenerating the area as a whole. It is usually applied to large and/or 

complex developments which are delivered over many years and which require land to be assembled to 

enable the development to be delivered, either by the Public Sector, other agencies or Developers. 

4.10.3 The regeneration of the Brent Cross Growth Area is being delivered in three principal parts: Brent 

Cross North, Brent Cross Town, and Brent Cross West (Thameslink). These three areas are in different 

multiple land ownerships and are being delivered separately by the Council and different development 

partners. Therefore, the Council will seek to ensure that development and delivery of these strategic 

areas is co-ordinated to ensure that comprehensive development is delivered. This entails that the 

development and delivery of these strategic areas is not delayed or fettered by one of the others but at 

the same time development proposals must demonstrate how they fit with the overall vision for the Brent 

Cross Growth Area and assist with achieving the delivery of the comprehensive whole.   

4.10.4 Brent Cross North and South Brent Cross Town within the Brent Cross Growth Areas are as 

shown in Map 3. Brent Cross West (Staples Corner) is illustrated by Map 3A. Brent Cross West 

(Thameslink) is shown in both Map 3 and Map 3A. 

4.14 Sequence of Delivery within the Brent Cross Growth Area 

4.14.8 Notwithstanding the significant changes in the retail market, evidence indicates that the larger, 

more dominant centres will continue to be the focus for activity for consumers and tenants, with 

149



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

consumers looking for a stronger ‘experience’ as part of their visit. Brent Cross Shopping Centre has an 

established and important role within the overall hierarchy of centres in Barnet and North London. It 

predominantly provides a high order comparison goods destination for local residents and those coming 

from a wider catchment area. It is a location recognised to already attract a large number of shopping 

trips. It remains an appropriate location for additional comparison goods retail and other main town 

centre uses as well as residential, to support the creation of a new Metropolitan town centre at Brent 

Cross Town. 

 
MM 
16 

Chapter 4 – 
Growth & 
Spatial 
Strategy 
 
Policy GSS03 
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text  
Paras 4.16.1, 
4.16.2, 4.16.4, 
4.16.5, 4.16.6 
& 4.16.8 

POLICY GSS03 Brent Cross West (Staples Corner) Growth Area 
To deliver growth and regeneration at Brent Cross West (Staples Corner), the Council will support 
proposals which optimise the use of land and site capacity through a design-led approach (London 
Plan Policy D3) density, that provides infrastructure and jobs, while improving the amenity of the 
area.   
 
Residential development should be directed towards the area around the new Brent Cross West 
station and away from the major road infrastructure, particularly the North Circular Road. Light 
industrial and commercial developments can be used as a buffer against noise pollution from major 
road infrastructure.  
 
The Council will seek to prepare a more detailed planning framework for this area, such as through 
a Supplementary Planning Document, potentially through joint working with LB Brent.   
 
A. Level of Development 
The Council will seek the following level of development:  
 

a) Approximately 1,800 new homes, with provision for uplift through the design-led approach 
with the potential to increase further and associated development opportunities dependent 
upon delivery of the West London Orbital (WLO); 

Clarification on location of Brent 
Cross West (Staples Corner) Growth 
Area, with differentiation from 
adjacent new Brent Cross West 
(Thameslink) station. 
 
Clarification that any detailed 
planning framework (brought forward 
as SPD), would only add further 
detail to policies and guidance for 
development on specific sites, or on 
particular issues such as design.  
 
New requirement to deliver a new 
waste management facility to replace 
the existing Hendon Waste Transfer 
Station (requirement relocated from 
Policy GSS02). 
 
Clarification that Council is seeking 
‘approximately’ 1,800 new homes in 
accordance with design-led approach 
with potential for further increases 
dependent upon WLO delivery. 
 
Clarification on support for proposals 
that facilitate access to and delivery 
of the West London Orbital, and that 

150



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

b) Retain existing levels of employment and pursue opportunities for new jobs including 
innovative typologies that deliver light industrial uses and employment floorspace alongside 
appropriate new residential uses that meets the requirements of London Plan Policy E7; 
 

c) Appropriate location-based provision levels of floorspace for community, retail and 
commercial other main town centre uses including offices that are proportionate to 
supporting proposed housing growth and subject to impact assessment of applications for 
retail and leisure development (where required by Policy TOW01) to ensure no 
unacceptable impact upon the vitality and viability of nearby town centres. 

 
The Council will support development proposals that facilitate access to and delivery of the West 
London Orbital.   
 
B. Waste Management Facility 
Brent Cross West (Staples Corner) Growth Area is the location for a new waste management 
facility to replace the existing Hendon Waste Transfer Station operated on behalf of the North 
London Waste Authority 
 
C. Development Proposals and Infrastructure Requirements   
Development proposals (in accordance with NPPF and CIL Regulations and/or any equivalent 
relevant legislation or regulations) will be required through detailed design, planning conditions and/ 
or contributions secured through planning obligations / legal agreements to deliver or contribute to 
will need to bring forward the following infrastructure through detailed design, planning conditions 
and/ or contributions secured through Section 106 agreements: 

a) A comprehensive scheme for the improvement of the junction between the A5/Edgware 

Road and A406/North Circular supported by Transport for London in relation to the TLRN 

Transport for London Road Network (TLRN); 

b) New and improved pedestrian and cycle routes to the new Brent Cross West Station 

including from the Edgware Road and along Geron Way;  

contributions required accord with 
NPPF and CIL Regulations.  

151



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
4.16 Brent Cross West (Staples Corner) Growth Area 

4.16.1 The location of the Brent Cross West (Staples Corner) area adjacent to the planned new station 

on Thameslink station is an opportunity for renewal to provide intensification and an improved mix of 

uses, including residential. The scale of the opportunity and its emerging connectivity support Brent 

Cross West (Staples Corner) as a Growth Area.   

4.16.2 As illustrated by Map 3A Brent Cross West (Staples Corner) lies along the western boundary of 

the Borough and consists of large-scale retail sheds and associated car parking which are located 

between the A5 Edgware Road and the Midland Main Line / Thameslink railway. 

4.16.4 The new Thameslink station at Brent Cross West will transform public transport accessibility to 

Staples Corner and open up the potential for regeneration and intensification along this corridor, 

including residential development on appropriate sites. Given the existing uses in the area and the 

physical environment, there are opportunities for development typologies that deliver a mixture of new 

c) Facilities for public transport interchange outside the new Brent Cross West Station on 

Geron Way with associated improvements to the local bus infrastructure; and 

d) New public square at Brent Cross West Station and improved public realm along the A5 
Edgware Road. 

 
The Council will support development proposals that facilitate access to and delivery of the WLO.  
Contributions may be sought from developments in the Growth Area towards delivery of the WLO. 

 
D. New Planning Framework 
The Council will seek to prepare a more detailed planning framework for this area, such as through 
a Supplementary Planning Document, potentially through joint working with LB Brent.  This 
planning framework will help to provide more detailed guidance for the Brent Cross (Staples 
Corner) Growth Area and the development sites within.   
 

152



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

light industrial and employment floorspace to the north of Staples Corner. The potential for co-location 

with residential development will be considered where the environmental conditions are appropriate. 

There is much potential for a beneficial interrelationship between Brent Cross West and the wider Brent 

Cross (Staples Corner) Growth Area, and opportunities for connectivity between the two should be 

maximised.    

4.16.5 The planned West London Orbital route that will pass through this location with a station stop 

proposed at Brent Cross West, will further increase connectivity and PTAL values to support additional 

growth. Contributions (in accordance with NPPF and CIL Regulations and/or any equivalent relevant 

legislation or regulations) may be sought from developments in the Growth Area towards delivery of the 

WLO. 

4.16.6 Development proposals will be required through detailed design, planning conditions and/ or 

contributions secured through planning obligations / legal agreements to deliver or contribute to 

identified infrastructure including junction improvement between the A5/Edgware Road and A406/North 

Circular, pedestrian and cycle routes to the new Brent Cross West Station, facilities for public transport 

interchange outside the new station with associated improvements to local bus infrastructure and a new 

public square, and improved public realm along the A5 Edgware Road. Development sites around the 

new Brent Cross West station will be expected to provide new public open space alongside new public 

transport interchange facilities and new pedestrian and cycling connections to the station and to support 

connectivity and accessibility. Geron Way will need to be widened and upgraded to accommodate new 

and extended bus services to the new interchange and Brent Cross West as well as access to the future 

West London Orbital station.  

 

153



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM
17 

Chapter 4 – 
Growth & 
Spatial 
Strategy 
 
Map 3A - Brent 
Cross West 
(Staples 
Corner) 
Growth Area 
 
 

Revision to Map 3A to clarify 
boundaries of  Brent Cross West 
(Staples Corner) Growth Area, 
removing any overlaps with Brent 
Cross Growth Area. 

154



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 

155



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM 
18 

Chapter 4 – 
Growth & 
Spatial 
Strategy 
 
Policy GSS04 
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text  
 
Paras 4.17.3, 
4.17.4 & 
4.17.6 

POLICY GSS04 Cricklewood Growth Area 
Cricklewood District Town Centre is a location which the Council has prioritised for improving its 
offer to enable a diverse and thriving town centre. The Cricklewood Growth Area provides an 
opportunity for regeneration and intensification, supported by high existing PTALs and planned 
future transport infrastructure improvements, along with the availability of substantial under-used 
sites. The impact of the COVID19 pandemic means that developments should be aligned with the 
Council’s Covid-19 Recovery Programme.  The Council will support planning proposals that 
optimise residential density on suitable sites while delivering improvements to the amenity of the 
area and overall offer of the town centre. To deliver growth and regeneration at Cricklewood the 
Council will support proposals which optimise the use of land and site capacity through a design-
led approach (London Plan Policy D3), provide infrastructure and jobs, while improving the amenity 
of the area and the overall offer of the town centre.   
 

A. Level of Development 
To deliver growth and regeneration at Cricklewood, the Council will seek the following from 
development across the Growth Area: 

a) Approximately 1,400 1,360 new homes, with provision for uplift through the design-led 

approach, with the and associated development opportunities dependent upon delivery of 

the West London Orbital (WLO); 

b) Increase levels of workspace and pursue opportunities for new jobs; and 

c) Appropriate location- based floorspace for community, retail and other main town centre 

uses including offices commercial uses that are proportionate to supporting proposed 

housing growth and the vitality and viability of Cricklewood District Centre. 

 

B. Development Proposals and Infrastructure Requirements  
The Council will support development proposals that facilitate access to and delivery of the West 
London Orbital (WLO). Contributions may be sought from developments in the Growth Area 
towards delivery of the WLO.  Development proposals (in accordance with the NPPF and CIL 
Regulations) will be required through detailed design, planning conditions and/ or contributions 

Removal of requirements for 
developments to align with Covid-19 
Recovery Programme.  
  
Clarification that Council supports 
proposals that optimise residential 
density on suitable sites in 
accordance with design-led 
approach.  
  
Clarification that Council is seeking 
approximately 1,360 new homes with 
any uplifts as part of design-led 
approach. Reflects MMs to indicative 
capacities of Site Nos. 7 and 8, as 
well as removal of windfall 
expectations given constrained 
capacity beyond planning 
permissions and proposed 
allocations. Quantum of housing also 
reflects extant planning consents. 
  
Clarification of support for proposals 
that address location-based 
requirements for appropriate 
floorspace for community, retail, 
other main town centre uses, 
including offices, that are 
proportionate to supporting the 
proposed housing growth and the 
viability and vitality of Town Centre. 
 
Clarification on support for proposals 
that facilitate delivery of WLO, 
new/improved active travel routes to 
Cricklewood station, as well as an 
improved interchange, onward travel 
facilities and public realm, and that 
contributions required accord with 
NPPF and CIL Regulations  
 

156



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

secured through planning obligations / legal agreements to deliver or contribute to the following 
infrastructure: 

a) new/improved active travel routes to Cricklewood station; 

b) improved interchange, onward travel facilities at Cricklewood station; 

c) public realm outside Cricklewood station; and 

d) deliver improvements to streets for pedestrians and cyclists in line with the Healthy Streets 

Approach.  

C. New Planning Framework 
The Council will seek to prepare a more detailed planning framework for this area, such as through 
an Area Action Plan or Supplementary Planning Document, potentially through working with LB 
Brent and LB Camden. This planning framework will help to provide more detailed guidance for the 
Cricklewood Growth Area and the development sites within. 
 

Clarification that any detailed 
planning framework (brought forward 
as SPD), would only add further 
detail to policies and guidance for 
development on specific sites, or on 
particular issues such as design. 
  

157



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
4.17 Cricklewood Growth Area 

4.17.3 Trends in economic activity towards online shopping has led to Cricklewood experiencing a 

decline of high-street retailers, in common with many other town centres. Cricklewood will need to 

respond with a more flexible approach to town centre uses with provision of appropriate floorspace for 

community, retail and other main town centre uses including offices that is proportionate to supporting 

proposed housing growth and Cricklewood’s vitality and viability. 

4.17.4 Map 3B shows the area around Cricklewood Town Centre that has been identified as a Growth 

Area.  Cricklewood is one of Barnet’s main most important District town centres, a location prioritised for 

improving its offer due to its larger scale and economic gravity, in particular as employment hubs for 

small to medium businesses in comparison to other Barnet town centres. Whilst Cricklewood Broadway 

retains high quality historic frontages and vibrant town centre functions, there is unused and underused 

land between the Broadway and Cricklewood station to the east. This includes the Broadway Retail Park 

a site of extensive car parking and low-rise buildings - but which has with excellent public transport links 

from Cricklewood Station and bus routes along the A5 - has considerable potential for intensification. 

Map 3B highlights proposals sites in the Cricklewood Growth Area, further details of which are set out in 

Annex 1 - Schedule of Proposals. 

4.17.6 To deliver growth and regeneration at Cricklewood the Council will support proposals which 
optimise the use of land and site capacity through a design-led approach (London Plan Policy D3). The 
West London Orbital line has the potential to further increase capacity at Cricklewood. The Council will 
work with LB Brent and LB Camden in developing a more detailed planning framework for Cricklewood. 
This planning framework will help to provide more detailed advice and guidance in respect of Local Plan 
policy for the Cricklewood Growth Area and development sites within. 

158



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM 
19 

Chapter 4 – 
Growth & 
Spatial 
Strategy 
Map 3B 
Cricklewood 
Growth Area  
 
 

 

Clarification to provide an accurate 
relationship of Cricklewood Growth 
Area with the Railway Terraces 
Conservation Area, remove 
allotments from the Growth Area and 
to show Borough boundary. 

MM 
20 

Chapter 4 – 
Growth & 
Spatial 
Strategy 
 
Policy GSS05 
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text  
 

POLICY GSS05 Edgware Growth Area 
Edgware Town Centre is identified as an opportunity for regeneration and intensification, supported 
by high existing PTALs reflecting its potential to become an Integrated Transport Hub.The Town 
Centre can be used far more effectively to support growth and enable the recovery from the Covid-
19 pandemic. The Council will support planning proposals that optimise residential density on 
suitable sites while delivering improvements to the amenity of the area. To deliver growth and 
regeneration at Edgware Growth Area, the Council will support proposals which optimise the use of 
land and site capacity through a design-led approach (London Plan Policy D3), provide 

Clarification that Council supports 
proposals that optimise residential 
density on suitable sites in 
accordance with design-led 
approach, 
 
Clarification that Council is seeking 
approximately’ 4,740 new homes 
with any uplifts as part of design-led 
approach. This includes removal of 
windfall expectations given 
constrained capacity beyond 

159



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
Para 4.18.1, 
4.18.4 & 
4.18.9A 

infrastructure and jobs, while improving the amenity of the area and the overall offer of the town 
centre.   
 
A. Level of Development 
 
To deliver growth and regeneration at Edgware Town Centre, the Council will seek the following 
from development proposals: 

a) Approximately 5,000 4,740 new homes, with provision for uplift through the design-led 
approach 

b) Improved leisure options such as a new cinema, swimming pool and new eating-out options; 
c) Appropriate location- based floorspace for community, retail and office uses; other main 

town centre uses including offices that are proportionate to supporting proposed housing 
growth and the vitality and viability of Edgware Major Town Centre.Improved public realm, 
including new public spaces; 

d) Transformation of the relationship between the rail and bus stations and the wider town 
centre to improve the pedestrian experience for pedestrians and cyclists and reduce 
congestion; 

e) Retain existing levels of employment and pursue opportunities for new jobs. 
 

B. Development Proposals and Infrastructure Requirements 
a) Improved flood risk resilience for the Growth Area and surrounding communities with 

provision of flood risk infrastructure and restored rivers; 
b) Interchange improvements. Bus operations and the function of the bus station must be 

protected or re-provided as part of any redevelopment. London Underground infrastructure 
and operations must also be maintained, and 

c) Deliver improvements to streets and the public realm, including new public spaces, 
additional town centre cycle parking and station cycle parking, in line with the Healthy 
Streets Approach.  

 
 

planning permissions and proposed 
allocations.  
  
Clarification of support for proposals 
that address location-based 
requirements for appropriate 
floorspace for community, retail, 
other main town centre uses, 
including offices, that are 
proportionate to supporting the 
proposed housing growth and the 
viability and vitality of the Town 
Centre. 
 
Clarification that development 
ensures improved flood risk 
resilience for Growth Areas and 
surrounding communities with 
provision of flood risk infrastructure 
and restored rivers.  
 
Clarification on requirements of 
Strategic Transport Plan relating to 
maintaining operations associated 
with rail and bus stations.  
 
Clarification of requirement to 
improve experience of and linkages 
for pedestrians and cyclists, together 
with new requirement to deliver 
improvements to the streets and 
public realm in line with Healthy 
Streets Approach. 
 

160



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
 

4.18 Edgware Growth Area 

4.18.1 Edgware has evolved from a small market town into a major town centre and has become a well-

known suburban hub of North London. The centre is situated in the north-west corner of Barnet and with 

extends into a small part extending into of Harrow.  Edgware has a long and proud history. The town 

centre is popular, diverse and valued, providing extensive shopping, cafes, restaurants and services for 

communities in both boroughs and beyond.  

4.18.4 Edgware is identified in the London Plan town centres hierarchy as Barnet’s only Major Centre 

and is also highlighted in the Growth Strategy as one of Barnet’s main town centres, a location prioritised 

for improving its offer due to its larger scale and economic gravity, in particular as employment hubs for 

small to medium businesses in comparison to other Barnet town centres. 

4.18.9A  Edgware Town Centre is in effect surrounded by floodplains particularly on the eastern and 

southern boundaries by the Edgwarebury Brook, Deans Brook and Edgware Brook flowing into the Silk 

Stream. There are also two confluences with the Edgwarebury Brook and Deans Brook joining south of 

Brook Avenue and the Edgware Brook meeting the Deans Brook south of Deansbrook Road. Given 

these key features development proposals should aim to achieve a reduction in flood risk from all 

sources, river restoration and enhancement and the improvement of or planning contributions towards 

strategic flood infrastructure where necessary.    

4.18.12 In order for Edgware to become an integrated transport hub, bus operations and the function of 

the bus station must be protected or re-provided as part of any redevelopment. London Underground 

C. Planning Framework 
The Council has prepared a more detailed planning framework Supplementary Planning Document 
for this area, working in conjunction with LB Harrow. This planning framework will help to provide 
more detailed guidance for the Edgware Growth Area and the development sites within.   
 

161



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

infrastructure and operations must also be maintained. While the public transport linkages are good, the 

bus and rail stations integration with the town centre and surrounding areas could be improved. The bus 

access in particular conflicts with pedestrians. The public realm is generally poor, being crowded, 

clustered and noisy. There is very limited public outdoor space for sitting or socialising. There is a need 

to transform the relationship between the rail and bus stations and the wider town centre to improve the 

experience for pedestrians and cyclists and reduce congestion in line with the Healthy Streets Approach.  

 

162



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM
21 

Chapter 4 – 
Growth & 
Spatial 
Strategy 
 
Map 3C - 
Edgware 
Growth Area  
 
 

Clarification to show Borough 
boundary and to remove any land 
that falls outside Borough boundary. 

163



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 

164



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM 
22 

Chapter 4 – 
Growth & 
Spatial 
Strategy 
 
Policy GSS06 
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text  
Paras 4.19.2, 
4.19.3, 4.19.4, 
4.19.5A, 
4.19.8 & 
4.19.10 

POLICY GSS06 Colindale Growth Area 
 
The Colindale Growth Area provides the opportunity to create a more sustainable place that 
actively demonstrates a Healthy Streets Approach where cycling, walking and public transport are 
the preferred mode of travel where the Council will support proposals which optimise the use of 
land and site capacity through a design-led approach (London Plan Policy D3), while improving the 
amenity of the area and actively demonstrating a Healthy Streets Approach where cycling, walking 
and public transport are the preferred mode of travel. 
 
A. Level of Development 
The Growth Area has capacity to deliver the following: 

a) Approximately 4,100 5,190 new homes between 2021 and 2036 with provision for uplift 
through the design-led approach. This includes development at Colindale Gardens, 
Colindale Underground Station and Public Health England (Nnew homes at the Grahame 
Park Estate are considered in Policy GSS10);  

 
b) A new Local Centre at Colindale Gardens including appropriate location- based floorspace for 

community, retail and other main town centre uses including offices that are proportionate to 
supporting proposed housing growth and subject to impact assessment of applications for retail 
and leisure development (where required by Policy TOW01) to ensure no unacceptable impact 
upon the vitality and viability of nearby town centres; 
 

c) Development up to 2036 focussed at the following locations: 
 
 

i. Reconstruction and upgrading of Colindale Underground Station to increase its capacity and 
provide a step-free access station, along with additional cycle parking and facilitating the 
redevelopment of adjacent land owned by TfL and others; 

ii. Grahame Park Estate (in accordance with Policy GSS10);  

Clarification that Council is seeking 
‘approximately’ 5,190 new homes 
with any uplifts to be justified as part 
of the design-led approach. This 
reflects MMs to indicative capacities 
of site allocations and up-to-date 
evidence of expected delivery of 
planning permissions, including 
Colindale Gardens development. 
 
Clarification that the new Local 
Centre will also be suitable for 
proposals that address location-
based requirements for appropriate 
floorspace for community, retail, 
other main town centre uses, 
including offices, that are 
proportionate to supporting the 
proposed housing growth and the 
viability and vitality of nearby town 
centres. 
 
Clarification that a new Colindale 
Underground Station ticket hall 
building is required to have step-free 
access to the platforms and sufficient 
gate-capacity, and additional cycle 
parking, to accommodate growing 
population of the area. Clarification 
that this should facilitate 
redevelopment of land adjacent to 
station. 
 
 
Clarification that improvements are 
required to the Silk Stream.  
 
New requirement that developments 
should provide strategic flood risk 
infrastructure and/or contribute to 
fluvial flood risk schemes and 

165



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

iii. Colindale Gardens where new homes will be accompanied by a new primary school, a new 
children’s nursery, a new park, and a new primary health care facility;  

iv. Public Health England (proposal site 13) where residential led development will re-integrate 
this site back into Colindale and reconnect the area with the Silk Stream, with enhancements 
for biodiversity complementing the riverside location;  

v. Middlesex University’s Platt Hall be redeveloped in a manner which is sympathetic to the 
context and character of the Grade II Listed Writtle House, to provide an uplift in the number 
of student units on the site. 
 

d) The Council will support proposals for redevelopment of other previously developed land in 
the Colindale Growth Area that has the potential to optimise the delivery of new homes 
and/or job opportunities in accordance with the design-led approach in the London Plan; and 
 

e) The Colindale Growth Area should help to support and link to the nearby District Town 
Centres of Colindale -The Hyde and Burnt Oak, enhancing their character and amenity, in 
coordination with LB of Brent.   
 

B. Development Proposals and Infrastructure Requirements 
In addition to new homes delivery the Council expects the following to be delivered: 

a) New Local Centre at Colindale Gardens including nursery provision and health-care facilities  
b) A new Colindale Underground Station ticket hall building with step-free access to the 

platforms and sufficient gate-capacity for the growing population in the area. All development 
within 1km of Colindale Underground station will be expected to contribute towards station 
improvements, including step-free access and capacity enhancement, and provision of 
additional cycle parking; 

c) Improvements to open spaces and the Silkstream main river which enhances the amenity, 
biodiversity and makes provision for play space, including at Colindale, Montrose, 
Rushgrove and Silkstream Parks; 

measures to alleviate surface water 
flooding as necessary to ensure the 
Growth Area’s resilience to and 
mitigation of flood risk and climate 
change. 
 
New requirement for proposals to 
minimise impacts on and/or provide 
net gains for biodiversity as part of 
access improvements utilising land 
between Northern Line and Silk 
Stream to ensure consistency with 
national policy.  
 
New requirement for biodiversity 
enhancement as part of residential-
led development at Public Health 
England site on the riverside 
adjacent to the Silk Stream to ensure 
consistency with national policy.  
 
Addition of a supportive approach for 
redevelopment of other previously 
developed land in the Growth Area 
that has  potential to optimise  
delivery of new homes and/or job 
opportunities in accordance with 
design-led approach. 
 

166



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

d) Provision of strategic flood risk infrastructure including contributions to fluvial flood risk 
schemes and measures to alleviate surface water flooding to ensure the Growth Area’s 
resilience to the risks of flooding and climate change; 

e) Improvements to key junctions and roads, including pedestrian and cycle linkages, together 
with an improved public realm, along Colindale Avenue to Edgware Road; 

f) New development in Colindale should deliver improvements to streets and the public realm 
in line with the Healthy Streets Approach; 

g) Ongoing improvements to bus services, focusing on east west linkages with new 
development required to contribute towards supporting bus infrastructure including stations, 
garages, bus stands and lanes as well as bus priority improvements at junctions and service 
frequency improvements; 

h) Provide Provision of a new pedestrian and cycle route under the Northern Line to link 
Colindale Gardens to Colindeep Lane; 

i) Improving access between Colindale Park and Rushgrove Park by utilising land between 
Northern Line and the Silkstream for a new pedestrian and cycle route within a new open 
space, ensuring that proposals for access improvements minimise impacts on and provide 
net gains for biodiversity (in accordance with Policy ECC06); 

j) Development proposals to provide new community facilities and create a sense of place;  
k) Renewal and upgrade of primary school and secondary school at Grahame Park; and 
l) Control on-street parking through implementation of a new Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) 

across the majority of the Colindale Growth Area. 
 
Colindale development up to 2036 will be focussed at the following locations: 

i. Land at Colindale Underground Station will be redeveloped to provide a new, higher 
capacity a step-free access station, that incorporates cycle parking; 

ii. The Grahame Park Estate will be renewed and much better integrated with surrounding 
areas, delivering 2,760 new homes providing wider choice of housing type and tenure;  

iii. Colindale Gardens where new homes will be accompanied by a new primary school, a new 
children’s nursery, a new park, and a new primary health care facility;  

167



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
 
4.19 Colindale Growth Area 

4.19.2 The Colindale Growth Area as shown in Map 3D covers 200 hectares and is identified as an 

Opportunity Area in the London Plan. The boundary of the Colindale Growth Area is the same as that of 

the Colindale- Burnt Oak Opportunity Area. The 2010 Area Action Plan defined the boundary of the 

Colindale Opportunity Area. The Area Action Plan 2010 highlighted potential for a total of over 10,000 

new homes, of which 4,000 have already been delivered, making Colindale the largest contributor to 

housing and affordable housing in the Borough and one of the biggest in North London.  

4.19.3 Colindale continues to deliver new homes with a development pipeline of over 6,000 units, 4,100 

of which are within the Plan Period. Colindale is the largest contributor to housing and affordable 

housing in the Borough and one of the biggest in North London. The scale of regeneration in Colindale 

the area means that design led  housing delivery must be accompanied by investment in transport, 

education, health, leisure, open spaces, green corridors and new employment opportunities.   

 

iv. The Public Health England site where residential led development will re-integrate this site 
back into Colindale and reconnect the area with the Silk Stream,  

v. Middlesex University’s Platt Hall be redeveloped in a manner which is sympathetic to the 
context and character of the Grade II Listed Writtle House, to provide an uplift in the number 
of student units on the site. 

 
 
The Colindale Growth Area should help to support and link to the nearby Town Centres of 
Colindale -The Hyde and Burnt Oak, enhancing their character and amenity, in coordination with 
LB of Brent.   
 

168



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

4.19.4 Transport and movement are vital to the sustainable development of Colindale and developments 

should: 

• Deliver improvements to support the Mayor’s Healthy Streets Approach of a modal shift away 

from the private motor vehicle to more sustainable modes such as public transport, cycling and 

walking;   

• For all developments within 1km distance of Colindale station to contribute towards station 

improvements, potentially including but not limited to delivery of new ticket hall building, step-free 

access to the platforms and capacity enhancement, and provision of additional cycle parking;  

• Contribute towards bus priority improvements at junctions, provision of bus lanes along bus 

corridors, service frequency improvements, and/or supporting infrastructure including bus 

stations, bus garages and/or bus stands.  

 

4.19.5A Parts of Colindale are at risk of flooding from the Silk Stream and also surface water flood 

risk. Both Grahame Park and Sunnyhill Park are Critical Drainage Areas. Colindale receives a level of 

protection from flood storage areas created by the Silk Stream Flood Alleviation Scheme (FAS). The 

Environment Agency is working to improve flood risk protection in Colindale and Rushgrove Park 

through a new Silk Stream FAS. This is likely to require partnership funding contributions to be viable. 

 

4.19.8 Colindale’s future growth is focused on the following key areas: 

 

• Colindale Underground Station – renewal of the station with new ticket hall building with step-free 

access to the platforms, sufficient gate-capacity and additional cycle parking for the growing 

population in the area. Together with and intensification to take advantage of the high PTAL, 

facilitating the redevelopment of adjacent land owned by TfL and others; 

• Grahame Park – large-scale regeneration of the Estate; 

169



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

• Colindale Gardens – redevelopment of previously developed land made available from released 

by consolidating the Metropolitan Police training centre (Peel Centre) with delivery of new Local 

Centre with floorspace for new main town centre uses that are proportionate to supporting 

proposed housing growth and subject to no unacceptable impact upon the vitality and viability of 

nearby town centres; 

• Redevelopment of student housing at Platt Hall that is sympathetic to the context and character of 

the Grade II Listed Writtle House; 

• Redevelopment of the Public Health England (PHE) site (Proposal No. 13) on Colindale Avenue 

is expected to come forward with the relocation of PHE to Harlow in 2025. This provides an 

opportunity where residential led development will re-integrate this site back into Colindale and 

reconnect the area with the Silk Stream, with enhancements for biodiversity complimenting the 

riverside location. 

 

4.19.10 An policy existing planning framework for Colindale has been established through the following 

planning documents: 

• Colindale AAP (2010) Unimplemented allocations in the AAP remain part of the Local Plan 

Schedule of Proposals; 

• Grahame Park SPD (2016); and  

• Colindale Station SPD (2019).  

• These documents should be used with regard to Local Plan policy for the Colindale Growth Area. 

 
 

170



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM
23 

Chapter 4 – 
Growth & 
Spatial 
Strategy 
Map 3D - 
Colindale 
Growth Area  
 

Changes to show Borough boundary 
and ensure consistency with 
boundaries of the Opportunity Area. 
Includes addition of land around 
Woodcroft Park and surrounding 
streets to the north as previously 
included in Opportunity Area 
boundary identified in the Colindale 
Area Action Plan  
 
Removal of Site.9 (Colindeep Lane, 
Site 10 (Douglas Bader) and Site 14 
(Sainsburys) to ensure consistency 
with other MMs. 

171



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 

172



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM 
24 

Chapter 4 – 
Growth & 
Spatial 
Strategy 
 
Policy GSS07 
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
Paras 4.20.3 
to 4.20.6 

 

POLICY GSS07 Mill Hill East  
 
Millbrook Park is making progress as an example of good suburban growth. The Council will 
positively consider proposals on suitable sites which optimise the use of land and site capacity 
through a design-led approach (London Plan Policy D3) and deliver good suburban growth in Mill 
Hill East. The implementation of the 2011 planning consent following the adoption of the Mill Hill 
Area Action Plan in 2009 has already delivered 737 new homes, with the expectation of a further 
1,529 units to be completed.  
 
A. Level of Development 
 
Within the wider area around Mill Hill East area there is capacity to deliver approximately 1,500 
2,280 additional new homes with provision for uplift through the design-led approach. This includes 
development at Mill Hill East Station, Watchtower House, IBSA House and Millbrook Park. 
 
The Council will positively consider proposals on suitable sites to deliver further good suburban 
growth, including at Mill Hill East Station, Watchtower House and IBSA House, which together 
could deliver around 547 new homes.  
 
B. Development Proposals 
Proposals within Mill Hill East must be supported by a Transport Assessment (TA) setting out 
public transport improvements and demonstrating how sustainable transport options will be 
provided.  The TA must take into account the cumulative impacts arising from other committed 
development (i.e. development that is consented or allocated and where there is a reasonable 
degree of certainty it will proceed within the next 3 years). 
 
Development proposals must demonstrate careful consideration of any impacts on the Mill Hill 
Conservation Area and Green Belt designations in accordance with national policy and Local Plan 
policies CDH08 and ECC05. 

Context relating to Millbrook Park 
relocated to supporting text. 
 
Clarification that Council is seeking 
‘approximately’ 2,280 new homes 
with any uplifts to be justified as part 
of design-led approach. This reflects 
MMs to indicative capacities of  
proposed site allocations and up-to-
date evidence of expected delivery of  
planning permissions, including 
Millbrook Park and NIMR 
developments. 
 
Clarification that a 
Transport Assessment must take 
account of cumulative impacts 
arising from other committed 
development (i.e. development that 
is consented or  
allocated and where there is 
reasonable degree of certainty that it 
will proceed within next three years). 
 
Clarification that  
requirements of development 
proposals with respect to Mill Hill  
Conservation Area and the Green 
Belt are consistent with national 
policy and/or cross refer to relevant 
policies in the Plan. 
 
Clarification that Mill Hill East is not a 
Growth Area. 

173



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 

 
4.20 Mill Hill East  

4.20.3 The 40 hectares of former RAF barracks and a former Council depot has been transformed to 

become a high-quality sustainable development. The planning consent in 2011 provides 2,240 new 

homes, a new 3-form entry primary school, local shops, a district energy centre and six hectares of parks 

and open spaces. Within the context of a green suburban location it is providing new homes and 

business opportunities with high quality community facilities, transport and access to open space. , and 

provides an example of good suburban growth.  Millbrook Park is making progress as an example of 

good suburban growth. Significant progress has been achieved at Mill Hill East, with delivery of 737 new 

homes, a new primary school, new public spaces, improved road junctions, and an extended bus route. 

4.20.4 A planning framework for Mill Hill East was established with the Area Action Plan (AAP) adopted 

in 2009. The AAP should be used with regard to Local Plan policy for the Mill Hill East Area. Along with 

development at the former National Institute of Medical Research (NIMR) other development 

opportunities have emerged around Mill Hill East including Watchtower House, IBSA House and Mill Hill 

East station. These three sites are identified in the Schedule of Proposals at Annex 1. Development 

proposals must demonstrate careful consideration of any impacts on the Mill Hill Conservation Area and 

Green Belt in accordance with national policy and Local Plan policies CDH08 and ECC05.  

4.20.5 Development proposals must demonstrate how sustainable modes of transport will be enabled, 

with the effects on traffic and transport fully assessed and mitigated as required. Proposals within Mill 

Hill East must be supported by a Transport Assessment (TA) setting out public transport improvements 

and demonstrating how sustainable transport options will be provided.  

4.20.6 Although listed in GSS01 for its contribution to growth, Mill Hill East is not identified in CDH04 as 

a strategic location where Tall Buildings may be appropriate. 

 

174



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM
25 

Chapter 4 – 
Growth & 
Spatial 
Strategy 
 
Map 3E Mill 
Hill East Area 
 

 

Changes to Map 3E to ensure 
consistency with the boundary 
previously identified in the Mill Hill 
East Area Action Plan. 

175



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM 
26 

Chapter 4 – 
Growth & 
Spatial 
Strategy 
 
Policy GSS07 
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Paras  4.21.1, 
4.21.4, 4.21.5, 
4.21.8 & 
4.21.9 

POLICY GSS08 Barnet’s District Town Centres  
Barnet’s District Town Centres have a vital role in delivering sustainable growth and enabling post 
COVID19 recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic. Thriving town centres will support shopping and 
services, and provide a focus for cohesive communities, while delivering new jobs and homes.  The 
Council will positively consider proposals on suitable sites within the District Town Centres which 
optimise the use of land and site capacity through a design-led approach (London Plan Policy D3). 
 
In addition to the Major Centre of Edgware, there are 14 District Town Centres identified within 
Barnet in the London Plan – of these Burnt Oak, Chipping Barnet, Finchley Central, Golders Green 
and North Finchley form the Council’s priorities for investment and revitalisation, supporting local 
businesses and delivering mixed use development in accordance with the place making policies of 
the Local Plan and in alignment with the Mayor’s Healthy Streets Approach.  
      
A. Level of Development  

a) The Council will support mixed use development within Barnet’s District Town Centres 

ensuring that their individual town centre offer responds to the needs of residents and 

workers as well as businesses and maintains their distinctiveness as places and vibrant 

hubs. 

b) Provision of appropriate location- based floorspace should be made for community, retail 

and other main town centre uses including offices and leisure. This should be provided 

subject to no unacceptable impact upon the vitality and viability of other town centres, with 

public realm and infrastructure improvements where necessary. 

c) Investment in residential led mixed use development will help to fund public realm and 

infrastructure improvements making District Town Centres such as North Finchley more 

attractive places to live, visit and enjoy. 

d) In the context of the above, Barnet’s District Town Centres (excluding Cricklewood) have 

capacity to deliver approximately 5,100 new homes between 2021 and 2036 with provision 

for uplift through the design-led approach. Capacity has been identified at the following 

District Centres : 

Restructuring to set out the housing 
growth that will be supported in 
District Town Centres in accordance 
with MMs to Table 5.  
  
Clarification provided in terms of the 
Town Centres that are prioritised for 
investment and revitalisation.  
 
Clarification that District Town 
Centres are suitable locations to 
accommodate both mixed-use 
developments and floorspace for 
community, retail and other main 
town centre uses including offices 
and leisure, subject to no 
unacceptable impact upon the 
viability and vitality of other town 
centres, and public realm and 
infrastructure improvements where 
necessary.  
  
Transfer of contextual information 
from the policy to para 4.21.4 of the 
supporting text.  
  
Clarification that proposals will be 
supported provided that they meet 
the relevant sub-criteria and that 
there is due regard to Policy CDH03 
with respect to public realm.  
 
Clarifications to sub-criteria to ensure 
that policy is seeking to prevent 
negative impact on amenity; and to 
ensure suitable provision of 
community infrastructure in 
accordance with specified policies of 
the Plan; and to cross-refer to the 
relevant car parking standards in 
Policy TRC03.  

176



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

• Brent Street - 260 new homes 

• Burnt Oak - 160 new homes 

• Chipping Barnet - 530 new homes 

• East Finchley - 220 new homes 

• Finchley Central Church End - 820 new homes 

• Hendon Central - 120 new homes  

• Mill Hill - 50 new homes 

• New Barnet - 1,100 new homes 

• North Finchley - 820 new homes 

• Whetstone - 1,020 new homes. 

 
Main Town Centres (Burnt Oak, Chipping Barnet, Finchley Central, Golders Green and North 
Finchley) will form the Council’s priorities for investment and revitalisation, supporting local 
businesses and delivering mixed use development in accordance with the place making policies of 
the Local Plan and in alignment with the Mayor’s Healthy Streets Approach.  
The changes to the Use Classes Order (2020) remove restrictions on changes of use and allow 
greater flexibility for opportunities to change between town centre uses, supporting town centre 
vitality and viability.      
 
The Council will support mixed use development within Barnet’s town centres ensuring that their 
individual town centre offer responds to the needs of residents and workers as well as businesses 
and maintains their distinctiveness as places and vibrant hubs.  
 
Barnet’s Town Centres (excluding Cricklewood and Edgware) have potential  to deliver a minimum 
of 5,400 new homes. 
  
 
 

 
Update to capacity for housing 
growth to ensure consistency with 
the MM to Table 5 
 
Clarification that any detailed 
planning framework (brought forward 
as SPD), would only add further 
detail to policies and guidance for 
development on specific sites, or on 
particular issues such as design. 

177



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 B. Development Proposals and Infrastructure Requirements 
The Council will support ensure that proposals for district town centre development that meet the 
following sub-criteria insofar as relevant to the proposal, and where necessary the requirements of 
Policy CDH03: 

a) achieve a high-quality design that enhances the visual amenity of the town centre; 

b) optimise residential density within the context of the town centre;  

c) manages maintains acceptable levels of noise associated with town centre locations, with no 

unacceptable impacts on occupiers of neighbouring properties; 

d) do not have a negative impact on the amenity of areas outside of the town centre and that 

any new commercial floorspace relates to the size and the role and function of a town centre 

and its catchment; 

e) demonstrate suitable access to open space and, where appropriate, improves availability or 

access to an open space, as well as ensures continued maintenance;  

f) makes appropriate provision for community infrastructure in accordance with Policy CHW01; 

g) supports sustainable travel and seeks to minimise parking provision, including at zero 

provision where appropriate, and to do not exceed established standards as per Policy 

TRC03; 

h) support active travel modes and the Healthy Streets Approach; 

i) make a positive economic contribution; and.  

j) are not detrimental to the ongoing functionality of the existing town centre. 

 
C. Planning Frameworks  

 

(a) The North Finchley Town Centre Framework Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) has 

set out an approach for the revitalisation and future intensification of the town centre, 

providing a greater focus on an appropriate mix of uses, where retailing remains important 

but housing, as a consequence of residential led intensification, makes a greater contribution 

to the town centre’s diversification and overall ‘offer’. The Council will support planning 

178



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

proposals that optimise residential density on suitable sites whilst delivering improvements 

to the amenity of the area and overall offer of the town centre.  

(b) The Council will continue to pursue the individual planning objectives for each district town 

centre through utilising more detailed area frameworks such as Supplementary Planning 

Documents. While specific town centre sites are identified in the Schedule of Proposals it is 

expected that further sites will come forward in response to the challenges of growth.  These 

planning frameworks will help to provide more detailed guidance for the District Town 

Centres and the development sites within.   

 

 
4.21 Barnet’s District Town Centres 

4.21.1 Barnet has an extensive town centre network with a range of locations where appropriate renewal 

and regeneration can support the Borough’s growth needs. Thriving town centres are essential for the 

Borough to grow sustainably and successfully. Barnet’s Growth Strategy highlights those town centres 

(Burnt Oak, Chipping Barnet, Edgware, Finchley Church End (Finchley Central), Golders Green and 

North Finchley) that have been prioritised, for improving the town centre offer.  

4.21.4 In order to be successful and thriving all of Barnet’s town centres will have to adapt and take 

advantage of the increased flexibility provided by the 2020 radical overhaul of the Use Classes Ordervi. 

The changes to the Use Classes Order (2020) remove restrictions on changes of use and allow greater 

flexibility for opportunities to change between town centre uses, supporting town centre vitality and 

viability.      

4.21.5 Barnet’s District town centres are important locations not only for retail, but also provide a focus 

for community and family friendly activities and a sense of civic pride, often containing valued heritage 

assets. The importance of town centres as sites of employment is reflected in the Council’s Article 4 

Direction restricting the conversion of offices to residential. The renewal of town centres must balance 

179



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

growth needs with sensitive and high-quality design. This is reflected in the SPD planning frameworks 

for Edgware and North Finchley town centres. 

4.21.6 Within District town centres new infill development is unlikely to afford significant amenity space 

within the curtilage of the site, and it is therefore vital that areas of publicly accessible open space are 

maintained or developed within or in close proximity to town centres, and that development proposals 

demonstrate existing or improved access to such spaces. Further guidance on the development of small 

sites will be provided by Design Codes Guides. within the Sustainable Design and Development 

Guidance SPD.  

4.21.8 North Finchley is the largest district centre in Barnet. It suffers from a traffic dominated 

environment with often poor quality public realm, acting as deterrents to increased footfall and dwell 

time. Through the North Finchley Town Centre Framework Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 

(adopted in 2018) the Council has set out an approach for revitalising the district town centre, providing a 

greater focus on an appropriate mix of uses, including health, leisure and cultural uses, where retailing 

remains important but housing, as a consequence of residential led intensification, makes a greater 

contribution to the town centre’s diversification and overall ‘offer’. Investment in residential led mixed use 

development will help to fund public realm and infrastructure improvements making North Finchley a 

more attractive centre to live, visit and enjoy.  

4.21.9 Following on from the adoption of the North Finchley Town Centre SPD, the Council will pursue 
the individual planning objectives for each district centre through utilising more detailed area frameworks 
such as Supplementary Planning Documents. These planning frameworks will help to provide more 
detailed advice and guidance to support the implementation of Local Plan policy for the District Town 
Centres and delivery of the development sites within it.   
 

180



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM
27 

Chapter 4 – 
Growth & 
Spatial 
Strategy 
 
Policy GSS09 
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Paras  4.23.2, 
4.23.3, 
4.24.5,4.24.6 
& 4.24.7 

POLICY GSS09 Existing and Major New Public Transport Infrastructure  
To deliver growth and regeneration at existing transport hubs and alongside major new public 
transport infrastructure at New Southgate and West London Orbital, the Council will seek  positively 
consider proposals on suitable sites which optimise the use of land and site capacity through a 
design-led approach (London Plan Policy D3). the following quantum of development across the 
area:  
1,650 new homes;  
 
A. Level of Development 

a) Existing and Major New Public Transport Infrastructure has the capacity to deliver 

approximately 420 new homes between 2021 and 2036 with provision for uplift through the 

design-led approach. This includes Major New Public Transport Infrastructure at New 

Southgate station, the area around which has been identified as broad locations for growth 

where any development will be subject to the design-led approach; 

b) Retain existing levels of employment and pursue opportunities for new jobs; 

c) Appropriate location-based provision of floorspace for community, retail and commercial 

other main town centre uses including offices that are proportionate to supporting proposed 

housing growth and subject to no unacceptable impact upon the vitality and viability of 

nearby town centres. 

 
The Council will seek to prepare more detailed policy frameworks for these areas, such as through 
an Area Action Plan or Supplementary Planning Document, potentially through joint working where 
appropriate.   
 
B. Major transport infrastructure upgrades  
The potential major transport infrastructure upgrades of the West London Orbital (WLO) and 
Crossrail 2 would provide broad locations opportunities for design-led growth in Barnet through 
developing new stations or upgrading the capacity of existing stations and allowing higher density 
developments to be achieved. Proposals on sites in proximity to these public transport 

Update to capacity for housing 
growth to ensure consistency with 
MM to Table 5, including removal of 
indicative capacity for WLO, and 
alteration to indicative capacity at 
existing public transport hubs to 
ensure consistency with Annex 1 of 
the Plan.  
 
Clarification on suitability to 
accommodate mixed-use 
developments with location-based 
provision of floorspace for 
community, retail and other main 
town centre uses, including offices, 
proportionate to supporting housing 
growth and subject to no 
unacceptable impact upon viability 
and vitality. of town centres.  
 
Removal of indicative capacity for 
950 homes associated with the WLO. 
Clarification on potential for at least 
250 new homes to be provided in 
New Southgate Opportunity Area 
during the Plan period as it is a broad 
location for growth and that 
development would be subject to 
design-led approach.  
 
Associated clarification to reflect the 
current status of Crossrail 2.  
 
Clarification on ‘high levels of PTAL’ 
and whether approach is consistent 
with London Plan Policy H1 
 
Addition to the identified list of 
existing public transport hubs (not 
within a town centre) that are 
expected to support development 

181



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

improvements will be expected to deliver a density and quantum of residential units which optimise 
their potential in accordance with the design-led approach. 
 
a) West London Orbital (WLO) – potential for 950 new homes. 

The Council will support design-led development proposals that facilitate access to and delivery 
of the West London Orbital and contributions will be sought towards West London Orbital and 
public transport infrastructure. The Council will consider pursue new planning frameworks to 
support comprehensive redevelopment in alignment with progress on the West London Orbital. 
 

b) New Southgate Opportunity Area and Crossrail 2 – potential for at least 250 new homes. 

The Council will pursue consider new planning frameworks to support comprehensive 

redevelopment within this broad location for design-led growth in alignment with progress on 

with potential for at least 250 new homes potentially supported by Crossrail 2. 

 

c) Existing Transport Hubs - Public transport hubs with high levels of PTAL of 3 to 6 in Barnet 
offer significant potential for intensification and growth. The stations not linked to a town centre 
which are expected to support development are:  Brent Cross West, Colindale, High Barnet, Mill 
Hill East, New Southgate, Hendon and Brent Cross West (under construction). and Woodside 
Park. Development at these public transport nodes will be supported, provided that the 
proposal: 

i. Enhances the capacity, access and facilities of the transport interchange; 

ii. Demonstrates optimised density; 

iii. Delivers residential uses, or otherwise demonstrates why uses with economic or 

community benefits are suitable and are the optimal use of the potential of each site;  

iv. The sequential test for main town centre uses will apply to relevant proposals that are not 

in an existing centre and are not otherwise supported by other policies of this Plan; 

v. Is the subject of impact assessment of applications for retail and leisure development 

(where required by Policy TOW01) to ensure no unacceptable impact upon the vitality 

and viability of nearby town centres; 

should also include High Barnet, 
Woodside Park and Colindale to 
ensure a consistent approach with 
Annex 1 of the Plan and Policy 
GSS06.  
 
Clarification to ensure consistent 
approach with the Plan and national 
policy in terms of conserving and 
enhancing the historic environment. 

182



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

vi. Supports active travel modes and the healthy streets approach; 

vii. Avoids unacceptable levels of air and noise pollution for the new residents;  

viii. Is not detrimental to heritage assets, in accordance with national policy and Local Plan 

Policy CDH08;  

ix. Supports and, where appropriate improves, public access to open space and play space. 

 
Proposals involving redevelopment of car parks must be assessed with reference to Policy GSS12. 
Where it is proposed to develop a station car park, the Council expects a demonstration of how the 
use of public transport and active modes of travel will encourage reduced car park usage. Existing 
provision must be assessed, and replacement car parking may be supported through a more land-
efficient design approach such as a multi-storey design provided, with the aim to re-provide only 
where essential, for example for disabled persons or operational reasons. 

 
 
4.23 West London Orbital (WLO) and Crossrail 2 

4.23.2 The WLO will deliver a passenger service along existing rail tracks between Hounslow/ Kew 

Bridge and Hendon/ West Hampstead Thameslink, passing through Old Oak Common, Neasden, Brent 

Cross West and Cricklewood. The WLO will have positive impacts through unlocking housing delivery 

and creating leisure, community and amenity opportunities along the corridor. Delivery is expected in 

years 11 to 15 of this Plan by 2026 at the earliest. 

4.23.3 The proposed Crossrail 2 routes would directly connect north and south London while providing a 

continuous rail link beyond the capital into the southern and northern home counties. One of the northern 

spurs would connect to New Southgate. Although Crossrail 2 is subject to confirmation delivery would be 

towards the latter part of the Plan period.  Whilst work on project development and seeking consent for 

the Crossrail 2 scheme has been paused, TfL continues to work with DfT on a suitable timetable for 

updating the safeguarding directions so that the latest Crossrail 2 design is protected from future 

183



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

development. This safeguarding refresh will include a revised the alignment of the proposed New 

Southgate branch which is a part of the Crossrail 2 route that is not currently safeguarded. 

4.24 Existing Public Transport Nodes  

4.24.5 Many of Barnet’s stations provide car parking facilities which comprise an open expanse of hard 

surfacing. These locations offer opportunities for redevelopment through utilising the high PTALs and 

other potential site characteristics such as town centre locations. The Council’s expectation is that such 

sites will be developed primarily for residential uses, although in appropriate locations other uses with 

economic or community benefits, such as hotels, may be suitable. The required level of station car 

parking provision should be assessed in light of encouraging the use of public transport and active 

modes of travel, with the aim to re-provide only where essential, for example for disabled persons or 

operational reasons. Essential car parking potentially re-provided through a more land-efficient design 

approach. 

4.24.6 The level of growth possible will be informed by the context of each location in terms of urban 

form and heritage.  To support the effective development of public transport nodes the Council will 

pursue the consider preparation of planning frameworks through SPDs, masterplans and site briefs, as 

required.  While specific sites are identified by the Schedule of Proposals as set out in Annex 1 it is 

expected that further sites will come forward in response to the challenges of growth. 

4.24.7 New Southgate station has been identified as a broad location for growth dependent on delivery 

of major public infrastructure. The Other stations that are located outside of not linked to a District Town 

Centres and which are expected to support development are:  

• Brent Cross West; 

• Colindale; 

• High Barnet; 

• Mill Hill East; 

• New Southgate; and  

184



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

• Woodside Park 

• Hendon, and 

 

4.27.8. New homes at public transport hubs that are in Growth Areas, District Town Centres and Mill Hill 

East are otherwise included in the requirements identified in Policies GSS02 to GSS08. 

 
MM 
28 

Chapter 4 – 
Growth & 
Spatial 
Strategy 
 
Policy GSS10 
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Paras 4.25.1, 
4.25.3, 4.25.4 
& 4.25.5 

POLICY GSS10 Estate Renewal and Infill 
The Council working in partnership with Barnet Homes, Registered Social Landlords and the Mayor of 
London will continue its programme of estate renewal and infill to improve the urban form of housing 
estates in the Borough, making better use of underused land to provide better quality amenity space 
and 4,400 3,980 new homes.  
 
The housing estates for renewal or infill include Grahame Park, Upper and Lower Fosters, West 
Hendon, Dollis Valley, Granville Road and Westhorpe Gardens. The Council will continue to work in 
collaboration with local communities to develop a shared vision for schemes already underway in 
addition to those proposals highlighted in Annex 1 of the Local Plan. Proposals are required to meet 
the requirements of London Plan Policy H8, together with the Mayor’s Good Practice Guide to Estate 
Regeneration. 
 
1. Affordable Housing 
The Council will: 

a) Require the replacement of existing affordable housing whilst considering the specific 

circumstances of each site;  

b) Ensure that an equivalent amount of affordable housing floorspace be provided as a minimum 

and seek an uplift in such provision; 

c) Support the right of return for existing social rent tenants from estates into new social rent 

accommodation. Otherwise the Council will provide the new affordable accommodation as 

London Affordable Rent or Social Rent; Where affordable housing that is replacing social rent 

Update to capacity for housing 
growth to ensure consistency with 
MMs to Table 5, consistent with up-
to-date evidence of existing 
regeneration programmes listed in 
the policy and avoiding double 
counting if otherwise located in a 
Growth Area. 
 
Clarification that new affordable 
accommodation is sought in 
accordance with London Plan.  
 
Re-wording to ensure consistency 
with Policy HOU02. 
 
Re-wording to ensure cross-
reference to requirements in Policy 
ECC04. 
 
Re-wording to cross-refer to the 
related car parking standards in 
Policy TRC03. 

185



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

housing is not facilitating a right of return, it may be provided as either social rent or London 

Affordable Rent housing in accordance with London Plan Policy H8; and 

d) Integrate Require that replacement affordable housing is integrated into the redevelopment in 

accordance with Policy HOU02 to ensure mixed and inclusive communities. 

The Council will continue to work in collaboration with local communities to develop a shared vision 
for schemes already underway in addition to those proposals highlighted in Annex 1 of the Local Plan.  
 
Proposals will take account of the requirements of the London Plan Policy H8 – Loss of existing 
housing and estate redevelopment, together with the Mayor’s Good Practice Guide to Estate 
Regeneration. 
 
2. Development / Redevelopment Proposals  
 
Development / Redevelopment proposals must ensure that the following requirements are met: 

a) Demonstrate improvement in the quality of the housing stock and the surrounding environment; 
b) Achieve a net increase of housing units; 
c) Consider the needs of existing households on the estate; 
d) Provision of housing tenure in accordance with London Plan policies H6, H8 and Local Plan 

Policy HOU01;  
e) Provision of housing mix in accordance with Policy HOU02; according to the specific site 

needs, taking into account local housing need, local infrastructure need, the nature of the 
surrounding area, and viability;  

f) Ensure access to sufficient amenity space including open spaces and children’s playgrounds in 
accordance with the requirements of Policy ECC04;  

g) Ensure access to sufficient supporting infrastructure where the impacts of development require 
mitigation. This may include but is not limited to child nurseries, schools, community centres, 
sport and leisure facilities, and healthcare; 

h)  Design in active travel to promote walking and cycling and demonstrate sufficient access to 
public transport; and   

i) Provide an appropriate level of parking in accordance with the requirements of Policy TRC03. 

186



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
4.25 Estate Renewal and Infill 

4.25.1 Housing estate renewal and infill is an important element of the Council’s existing growth and 

spatial strategy.  The Council wants to ensure that estate renewal and infill is focused on building social 

cohesion, improving environmental conditions as well as housing. There are parts of Barnet where the 

impacts of inequality and causes of deprivation are particularly concentrated. Such areas fall within the 

20 per cent most deprived areas in England. The London Plan defines such locations as Strategic Areas 

for Regeneration. Renewal and infill of the Council’s own housing estates helps define Local Areas for 

Regeneration. This can provide opportunities for making a far more efficient use of land while greatly 

improving the standards of accommodation and quality of the urban form.   

4.25.3 Regeneration Renewal and infill must be undertaken in a partnership with Barnet Homes and 

Registered Social Landlords and in collaboration with local communities to develop a shared vision for 

the area. In delivering these schemes a co-design approach will ensure that communities are involved 

from the outset, in helping to shape design proposals, and that residents have the opportunity to 

contribute their ideas and detail their aspirations. The re-provision of affordable housing is complex and 

estate renewal and infill regeneration must take account of the specific circumstances of each site, 

including local infrastructure needs, local housing need in respect of tenure mix, affordability and tenure 

size, place-making, viability and the nature of the surrounding area. In accordance with London Plan 

Policy H8 the Council will ensure, within the housing estate subject to renewal, regeneration the Council 

will ensure no net loss of affordable floorspace and with existing social rent tenants, facilitate their right 

of return to the estate into new social rent accommodation. Otherwise the Council will require the 

replacement of existing social rent housing with new affordable accommodation as London Affordable 

Rent or Social Rent. 

4.25.4 The Council will work with the Mayor in ensuring that proposals meet the requirements of are 

consistent with London Plan Policy H8. Proposals will must take account of the requirements of the 

Mayor’s Good Practice Guide for Estate Regenerationvii. The Mayor’s Guide provides detailed guidance 

for assessing appropriate approaches to estate regeneration. In particular, only once the objectives of an 

187



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

estate regeneration scheme have been formulated in consultation with residents, should the physical 

interventions required to achieve them be considered. 

4.25.5 Housing estates at Upper and Lower Fosters, West Hendon, Dollis Valley, Granville Road, 
Westhorpe Gardens and Grahame Park are already undergoing or are scheduled to undergo, renewal or 
infill in full consultation with resident households. 

MM
29 

Chapter 4 – 
Growth & 
Spatial 
Strategy 
 
Policy GSS11 
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Paras  4.26.1, 
4.26.2, 
4.26.2A, 
4.26.3, 4.26.5, 
4.26.5A, 
4.26.6, 4.26.7 
& 4.26.8 

 

POLICY GSS11 Major Thoroughfares 
 
A. Level of Development  

a) Redevelopment along Barnet’s identified Major Thoroughfares (A1000, A598, A5, A504 and 
A110) main road corridors as set out in the Key Diagram can provide a significant supply of 
sites for growth. 

b) The Council will positively consider proposals on suitable sites which optimise the use of 
land and site capacity through a design-led approach (London Plan Policy D3). 

c) Such locations Barnet’s Major Thoroughfares have capacity to deliver an additional 
approximately 3,350 3,530 new homes between 2021 and 2036 with provision for uplift 
through the design-led approach. 

d)  The Council supports residential and mixed-use development along the Major 
Thoroughfares that accords with policies on Town Centres and the Economy. It will work 
with TfL and National Highways England to help deliver appropriate sites Over the Plan 
period it is likely the environment around Barnet’s major thoroughfares will improve due to 
regulatory changes and new technologies such as electric cars leading to a reduction in air 
and noise pollution from road vehicles. To achieve the quantum of development sought to be 
delivered, the Council will expect environmental improvements along and immediately 
adjacent to the thoroughfares identified. and will consider long term opportunities within the 
Transport for London Road Network (TLRN) (A1, A41 and A406) subject to improvements 
against Healthy Streets Indicators and Public Transport Accessibility Levels. 

 
B. Development Proposals  

Update capacity for housing growth 
to ensure consistency with MMs to 
Table 5. 
  
Clarification of Major Thoroughfares 
to ensure consistency with Key 
Diagram 
  
Clarification of support for residential 
development, and mixed-use 
development that accords with the 
Plan’s policies on town centres and 
economy. 
  
Clarification that improvements to 
accessibility may be necessary.  
 
Replacement of references to wall-
like corridors of medium rise 
buildings with a criterion to require 
development to result in a sense of 
separation between town centres. 
  
Separation of criteria relating to 
streetscapes and Healthy Streets 
Approach for effectiveness 
  
Clarification that development 
proposals should deliver 
improvements that support the ten 
Healthy Streets Indicators.  
  

188



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
Development proposals will be supported along the Major Thoroughfares in these locations where 
compliance it can be demonstrated with the following requirements that: 

a) Access to walking and cycling networks will enable safe and active travel, with 
improvements to accessibility where necessary (see Policy TRC01); 

b) Design relates to the context and character of the surrounding area, including suburban 
streets behind the thoroughfareMajor Thoroughfares (see Policy CDH01); 

c) Achieves a high-quality design that enhances visual amenity and does not contribute to a 
continuous ‘wall like’ corridor of medium rise buildings ensures a sense of separation 
between town centres (see Policies CDH01 and CDH04); 

d) Contributes to an improved and more active streetscape (see Policy CDH01C); and  
e) Facilitates delivery of the Healthy Streets Approach with improvements against the Healthy 

Streets Indicators set out in London Plan Policy T2; 
f) Avoids unacceptable levels of air and noise pollution for the new residents (see Policy 

ECC02); 
g) Supports and, where appropriate improves, access to open spaces and play spaces, as well 

as ensuring their continued maintenance (see Policy ECC04); and 
h) Any proposals to provide car parking should be in accordance with car parking standards 

(see Policy TRC03).  
 
In circumstances where additional growth is considered suitable along Transport for London Road 
Network (TLRN) routes (A1, A41 and A406), development proposals will also be supported where 
they satisfy the criteria listed in Part B above. The A5/ Edgware Road and the A1000 / Great North 
Road Major Thoroughfares may have potential for residential led tall building development in 
certain locations optimising site availability and good public transport accessibility, providing the 
opportunity for revitalising these areas. Further guidance will be provided by the emerging Height 
Strategy Supplementary Planning Document. Proposals for tall buildings (8 storeys or more) must 
be assessed with reference to Policy CDH04.  
 

Revisions to ensure that benchmark 
for assessing air quality is consistent 
with Policy ECC02, approach to open 
spaces and play spaces aligns with 
Policy ECC04 and approach to car 
parking is consistent with Policy 
TRC03. 
  
Cross-reference to Policy CDH04 
deleted as approaches to tall 
buildings are dealt with 
comprehensively under that policy.  
  
Clarification on relationship between 
the policy and the site allocations in 
Annex 1 has been transferred to para 
4.26.8. 
 
Clarification on how A1, A41 and 
A406 differs from the five listed Major 
Thoroughfares to be identified and 
set out the criterion that will be 
considered in assessing 
development proposals along those 
routes. 
 

189



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
4.26 Major Thoroughfares 

4.26.1 Across the Borough development is already coming forward on sites along major roads and a 

policy framework will allow this process to be managed more effectively. Major road corridors in Barnet 

tend to be very heavily trafficked, which creates an unattractive environment both for residents living 

along the route and businesses. Reducing car dominance and creating a more attractive environment 

designed to healthy streets standards, will have a positive impact on residents by helping to mitigate 

poor air quality. It will also benefit businesses, by creating an attractive environment. These corridors 

through Barnet provide, in certain cases, opportunities for infill, and intensification and investment. The 

Key Diagram highlights the major thoroughfares in the Borough with the most significant opportunities in 

those respects. The Council will work with Transport for London (TfL) and National Highways England to 

help find and deliver appropriate sites. The routes currently most suitable for this form of development 

are: 

o A1000 Great North Road/ High Road; 

o A598 Ballards Lane/ Regents Park Road / Finchley Road; 

o A5 Edgware Road/ Watling Street;  

o A504 Hendon Lane; and   

o A110 East Barnet Road. 

 

4.26.2 A good level of bus service underpins a high level of public transport access and good overall 

connectivity. The urban form of generally wide roads and, in places, existing larger building typology, 

offers the opportunity to develop sites more intensively for residential and other suitable mixed uses. 

Proposed developments must carefully consider how the building design will relate to the surrounding 

While specific sites along Major Thoroughfares are identified by the Schedule of Proposals it is 
expected that further sites will come forward in response to the opportunities for growth. 

190



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

urban environment, particularly in relation to suburban streets at the rear. Outside of the strategic 

locations highlighted in Policy CDH04 ‘Tall Buildings’ residential-led building blocks of up to 7 stories are 

considered particularly suitable along major thoroughfares, although any Any ‘tunnelling’ effect from 

buildings must be avoided, and a sense of separation must be maintained between town centres. 

Proposals must also consider appropriate ground floor uses in accordance with policies on town centres 

and the Economy. 

 

4.26.2A Over the Plan period it is likely the environment around Barnet’s major thoroughfares will 

improve due to regulatory changes and new technologies such as electric cars leading to a reduction in 

air and noise pollution from road vehicles. To achieve the quantum of development sought to be 

delivered, the Council will expect environmental improvements along and immediately adjacent to the 

thoroughfares identified. The Healthy Streets Approach puts human health and experience at the heart 

of planning the city. It uses a set of 10 evidence based indicators to assess the experience of being on 

London’s streets. Rather than providing an ideal model for a street, the Approach accounts for each 

street’s function and points towards how better-quality environments can be created. 

 

4.26.3 Working towards Delivering the Mayor’s Healthy Streets Approach is as much about creating a 

more attractive environment designed to healthy streets standards, which will have a positive impact on 

footfall and dwell time as it is on facilitating of a modal shift away from the private motor vehicle to more 

sustainable modes such as public transport, cycling and walking, will help to improve the environment 

along the Borough’s thoroughfares. Proposals coming forward along these road corridors must 

themselves support the Healthy Streets Approach. 

 

4.26.5 The two key historic routes in Barnet are the Edgware Road A5 corridor following the route of the 

Roman Watling Street along the valley bottom and the A1000 corridor – the old route of the Great North 

191



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

Road linking the old town centres along the ridge line. Both of these routes have been the focus for 

continual renewal and intensification over time and include a spread of tall buildings. The Council is 

preparing a Height Strategy Supplementary Planning Document to guide designs along these road 

corridors.  

4.26.5A Barnet’s Characterisation Study highlighted an association between the Major 

Thoroughfares and ‘big box’ development, typically large single building units (sheds) which are typically 

coarse grained and without an over-arching urban structure. These ‘big boxes’ are often surrounded by 

parking. The Council will consider sites close to Major Thoroughfares that lack an over-arching urban 

structure (such as ‘big box’ development) with regards to Policy GSS11. Whilst Policy GSS11 relates to 

sites that are immediately adjacent to and therefore readily able to access the Major Thoroughfares 

identified in the policy, the Council recognises that there will also be a number of nearby sites with large 

plots that do not physically adjoin one of the Major Thoroughfares. Development proposals that come 

forward on such large and accessible sites that are in close proximity to the Thoroughfares and afford 

similar opportunities for growth are also likely to be supported where they satisfactorily address the 

criteria outlined in Policy GSS11. 

4.26.6 Within Barnet there are routes that are managed by Transport for London (TLRN) along parts of 

which there could be locations potentially be suitable for housing delivery (particularly reinstating former 

homes and infill development). enhanced, but In some locations it will require more substantial public 

transport investment (proportionate with the scale of development), alongside the healthy streets 

initiatives as set out in the Healthy Streets Approach, to unlock their capacity for growth. These are 

include: 

o A406 North Circular Road;  

o A1 Great North Way/ Watford Way; and 

o A41 Edgware Way / Watford Way / Hendon Way. 

 

192



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

4.26.7 The Council is committed to delivering Healthy Streets in Barnet and will measure improvements 

against the Healthy Streets Indicators set out in London Plan Policy T2 together with Figure 10.2 which 

sets out 10 indicators of a healthy, inclusive environment in which people choose to walk, cycle and use 

public transport. A key consideration for the Council in unlocking opportunities along the Major 

Thoroughfares in the TLRN will be significant improvements in air and noise quality as well as PTAL. 

4.26.8 While specific sites along Major Thoroughfares are identified by the Schedule of Proposals it is 

expected that further sites will come forward in response to the opportunities for growth. 

 
MM
30 

Chapter 4 – 
Growth & 
Spatial 
Strategy 
Policy GSS12 
and 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
Paras  4.27.1, 
4.27.2, & 
4.27.3 

Policy GSS12 Redevelopment of Car Parks 
 
In order to  To ensure the efficient and sustainable use of land the Council will consider positively 
proposals which optimise use and capacity through support the re-development of parking spaces 
in suitable sites within publically publicly accessible surface level car parks for residential and other 
suitable main town centre uses provided that:  
A. The design preserves the amenity of neighbouring uses; The development provides a good 

standard of amenity that will allow for acceptable levels of daylight, sunlight, privacy and outlook 

for adjoining and potential occupants and nearby users impacted by the development (see 

Policy CDH01); 

Demonstrates how the use of public transport and active modes of travel will lead to reduced 
car park usage; and 

B. A Transport Assessment or Transport Statement is submitted to ensure a safe pattern of vehicle 
and pedestrian movement (see Policy TRC01); 

C. A Parking Design and Management Plan is submitted to demonstrate the suitability and 
arrangements for any retained or proposed parking (see Policy TRC03); The parking spaces 
can be demonstrated as surplus to requirement or re-provided as needed 

Clarification that policy is supportive 
of redevelopment of publicly 
accessible, surface level car parks 
for residential and main town centre 
uses (subject to compliance with 
other relevant policies).  
 
Rewording to be consistent with the 
terms of Policy CDH01 
 
Deletion of requirement for proposals 
to demonstrate how use of public 
transport /  active travel modes would 
lead to reduced car park usage 
because in effect this would involve 
reappraisal of accessibility and thus 
undermine the PTAL methodology.  
 
Add cross reference to Policy 
TRC03, which following MMs 
addresses the replacement and 
reprovision of car parking in detail.  
Re-word approach to transport 
assessment to be consistent with 
policies TRC01 and ECC02.  
 
Clarification that parking statements 
should be provided to demonstrate 

193



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

D. An Air Quality Assessment is submitted in order to improve air quality and mitigate the impacts 

of the development (see Policy ECC02); 

E. A design-led approach is taken in accordance with London Plan Policy D3. 

A transport assessment will be required to ensure a safe pattern of vehicle and pedestrian 
movement and air quality effects.  
 

In considering local capacity the Council may seek a dedicated development related parking 
strategy in order to review the existing pricing, timing, availability and management of car parking 
spaces.  
 

the suitability and arrangements for 
any retained or proposed parking. 
 
 
 

194



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
4.27 Redevelopment of Car Parks 

4.27.2 The Council acknowledges the importance of a convenient, and good quality and publicly 

accessible car parking supply to ensuring thriving and competitive town centres. Within town centres 

where publicly accessible spaces are available for short-term parking in there are several car parking 

locations, enabling greater parking system efficiency can help provide a better level of service for local 

people, businesses and visitors, and provide some capacity for further demand. In circumstances where 

development in town centres provides car parking it will be required to make provision available to the 

public. In considering local capacity the Council willmay seek a Parking Design and Management Plan 

and may use planning obligations / legal agreements to control the layout and management of the 

parking spaces, including the nature of the users and the pricing structure.  dedicated development 

related parking strategy in order to review the existing pricing, as well as the timing, availability and 

management of publicly available car parking spaces. This will enable enhanced matching of precise 

space availability in type and location to existing and anticipated future parking demand and assist in 

achieving the desirable parking system efficiencies.  

4.27.3 Proposals for redevelopment of car parking spaces must meet the requirements of Policy TRC03. 

be subject to a demonstration that capacity is available, for example due to underuse of existing 

provision, a more efficient car park design approach such as underground or multi-storey, or a shift of 

journeys to public transport and active travel modes Where car parking is maintained at the site vehicle 

access must be shown to be safe. The Parking Design and Management Plan should demonstrate the 

suitability and arrangements for any retained or proposed parking as well as showing what steps will be 

taken to ensure A clear strategy will be required as part of any proposals for redevelopment of car 

parking spaces to ensure minimum disruption to parking in the town centre or local area during 

construction. the redevelopment of the car parking. The Parking Design and Management Plan should 

therefore clearly demonstrate how access to the town centre or local area will be maintained throughout 

the construction period.   

 

195



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM 
31 

Chapter 4 – 
Growth & 
Spatial 
Strategy 
 
Policy GSS13  
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Paras  
4.28.1A, 
4.28.2, 
4.28.34.28.4A 
& 4.28.5 

POLICY GSS13 Strategic Parks and Recreation 
To promote healthy and active lifestyles within Barnet, the Council will provide and promote leisure 
and recreation facilities that encourage physical activity and assist the mental wellbeing of 
residents. The need for good access to outdoor recreation space has been highlighted by the 
COVID19 pandemic.   
A. Such facilities Facilities may comprise of indoor and outdoor leisure provision, together with 

ancillary facilities and services.  The Council is bringing forward 3 new destination hubs for sport 
and recreation at : 
a) Barnet and King George V Playing Fields; 
b) Copthall Playing  Fields and Sunny Hill Park; and  
c) West Hendon Playing Fields. 

B. New indoor facilities should be located within town centres unless  they are specifically 
designed to improve the utilisation of an open space Growth Areas, District Town Centres and 
Local Centres are the Council’s preferred locations for new indoor facilities unless they are 
specifically designed to improve the utilisation of an open space (see Policy CHW01).  

 
C. The Council will seek to actively improve the quality, quantity and access to open spaces 

across Barnet through new and improved outdoor sports, leisure and recreational facilities. 
Such improvements will be delivered alongside nature conservation and biodiversity 
enhancements. 

 
D. The Council supports will promote the creation of a new Regional Park within designated 

Green Belt or Metropolitan Open Land in the Brent Valley and Barnet Plateau Green Grid 
Area as promoted within the All London Green Grid Strategy. 

 
 
4.28 Strategic Parks and Recreation  

Highlight the 3 hubs for sport and 
recreation at Barnet and King 
George V Playing Fields, Copthall 
Playing Fields and Sunny Hill Park, 
and West Hendon Playing Fields. 
  
Clarification that Growth Areas, town 
centres and local centres are 
preferred locations for new indoor 
facilities, unless they are specifically 
designed to improve utilisation of an 
open space. 
  
Clarification that regional park is 
promoted in the Brent Valley and 
Barnet Plateau Green Grid Area. 

196



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

4.28.1A The need for good access to outdoor recreation space has been highlighted by the COVID19 

pandemic. Enabling residents to access open spaces and enjoy more opportunities for active lives is a 

key priority for the Council. 

4.28.2 Barnet’s Playing Pitch Strategy highlighted the need to create three sports and recreation hubs in 

Barnet. These proposals to are in connection with the existing use of the land for outdoor sport and 

recreation. The proposals offer a range of activities and opportunities for participation in physical activity 

as well as and also community activities some of which would be paid for whilst  and others which would 

be free of charge. Further to their support through the Parks and Open Spaces Strategy for wider 

enhancement of these locations, masterplanning work has been completed and or is being undertaken. 

4.28.3 Subject to the requirements of policies GSS13, ECC04 and CHW01 There there are wider 

opportunities for improvements to greenspaces across the Borough in terms of delivering outdoor 

recreational and leisure facilities. These include:  

a) a masterplan for open spaces in the North West Green Belt areas of the Borough: 

b) investments that will enhance heritage destination parks such as Friary Park, Oak Hill Park, 

Hadley Green and Hendon Park;  

c) improvements that can support the effective management, maintenance and utilisation of 

parks such as the introduction of UNITAS youth centre at Montrose Park, leisure centres at 

Victoria Recreation Ground and Glebelands Open Space, as well as new cafés and ancillary 

facilities across a range of other destination open spaces;  

d) maximising the access to and potential of the key river valleys throughout Barnet namely 

Dollis Brook, Pymmes Brook and Silk Stream to support leisure, recreation and active travel; 

and 

197



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

e)  work as part of the regeneration of Brent Cross Growth Area (including improvements to 

Clitterhouse Playing Fields) to make Brent Cross Town the place in London to participate in 

sport and play. 

4.28.4A The Council will produce a new Barnet Parks and Open Spaces Strategy as well as a 

Local Nature Recovery Strategy. This refresh of evidence on open spaces and biodiversity will be used 

to inform the next review of Barnet’s Local Plan. 

4.28.5 In terms of indoor recreational provision, the Indoor Sport and Recreation Study together with the 

Growth Strategy has identified the need for a review of opportunities to improve the visitor economy 

through new and enhanced facilities in appropriate locations. New indoor facilities should normally be 

located within Growth Areas, District Town Centres or Local Centres as set out in Policy CHW01 unless 

specifically designed to improve the utilisation of an open space. It is intended that identified 

opportunities will be considered as recreational destinations under this policy. 

 
MM
32 

Chapter 5 
Housing 
 
Sections 2.4,  
5.1 & Paras  
5.2.1, 5.2.3, 
5.3.1, 5.3.1A, 
& 5.3.1B. 

2.4 Housing  

2.4.1A The Housing Strategy 2023-28 sets Barnet’s strategic direction for housing activity in the Borough 
and highlights that there is not currently enough suitable housing for everyone to have a safe, secure, 
and affordable home. The Housing Strategy focuses on five key priorities: 

• Prevent homelessness and support rough sleepers off the streets. 
• Deliver the right homes in the right places. 
• Ensure safe, sustainable council housing. 
• Raise quality and standards in the private rented sector. 
• Support living well by promoting healthy homes and wellbeing. 

If delivered effectively the Strategy presents a key opportunity that can be maximised through successful 
implementation of this Local Plan. 
 
5.1 National and London Plan Policy Context 

Clarification on London Plan policies 
as well as to reflect Council’s new 
Housing Strategy and approach to 
delivering new homes. 

198



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 

NPPF 

Section 5 Delivering a Sufficient Supply of Homes specifically paras 61 to 76  

Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (PPTS) 

 London Plan  

Good Growth Objective Policy GG4 Delivering the homes Londoners need 

Policy D3 Optimising site capacity through the design-led approach 

Policy D5 Inclusive design 

Policy D6 Housing quality and standards 

Policy D7 Accessible Housing 

Policy D13 Agent of Change  

Policy H1 Increasing Housing Supply  

Policy H2 Small sites 

Policy H3 Meanwhile Use as Housing 

Policy H4 Delivering Affordable Housing  

Policy H5 Threshold Approach to Applications 

Policy H6 Affordable Housing Tenure 

Policy H7 Monitoring of Affordable Housing 

Policy H8 Loss of Existing Housing and Estate Redevelopment  

Policy H9 Ensuring the Best Use of Stock  

Policy H10 Housing Size Mix  

Policy H11 Build to Rent  

Policy H12 Supported and Specialised Accommodation  

Policy H13 Specialist Older Persons Housing  

Policy H14 Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation 

Policy H15 Purpose Built Student Accommodation 

Policy H16 Large Scale Purpose Built Shared Living 

199



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

Policy DF1 Delivery of the Plan and Planning Obligations 

 

Mayor of London Housing SPG 

Mayor of London Affordable Housing and Viability SPG 

Mayor of London Large-Scale Purpose-Built Shared Living LPG 

 

5.2 Introduction 

 
5.2.1 With Barnet’s population continuing to grow, housing demand remains high. This is within a 
challenging financial environment for a Borough where regeneration and growth need to be delivered in 
a responsible and sustainable way. To support safe, strong and cohesive mixed and inclusive 
communities and improve the quality of housing in Barnet, the Council needs to ensure that a range of 
choices is available, with a variety of sizes and types of accommodation to meet the aspirations of 
residents and increase access to affordable, good quality homes. This includes building new homes and 
supporting new products where they are optimising the use of land and helping to deliver housing to 
meet needs in each tenure. It also means, as well as protecting the existing dwelling stock for those 
whose needs are changing, such as families seeking larger dwellings, or homes for smaller households 
including older people who want to downsize and move to housing that can help meet care and support 
needs. Barnet’s demographic profile shows an increasing proportion of younger and older residents, this 
Plan therefore seeks to understand their needs and ensure that this is reflected in policy.  
 
5.2.3 Barnet’s Housing Strategy highlights that the Council will promote the delivery of homes to meet 
the needs of older people and those with disabilities, as well as measures to support young people 
leaving care to make a successful transition to living independently. The Housing Strategy 2023-28 
highlights that there is not currently enough suitable housing for everyone to have a safe, secure, and 
affordable home. Access to a good housing environment in childhood is also important for physical and 
mental development. Barnet’s Children and Young People’s Plan highlights that within a Family Friendly 
Barnet, children and young people will be afforded a good standard of living within housing that is safe 
and affordable. The Children and Young People’s Plan 2023-27 highlights that to ensure a Family 

200



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

Friendly Barnet the number of children and young people living in temporary accommodation or 
unsuitable housing is kept to a minimum. 
 

5.3 Barnet’s Housing Strategy 
 

5.3.1 The Council’s Housing Strategy highlights that while incomes in Barnet are relatively high 
compared to the rest of London costs continue to rise faster than median incomes creating an 
affordability gap which presents a real challenge for households seeking to buy or rent a home. The 
demand for homes has resulted in average local house prices increasing from £391,000 in 2014 to 
£545,000 in 2017, which is 15 times the median household income for Barnet. there is a wide gap 
between those with the highest incomes and those who live in poverty. The median income decreased 
between 2017 and 2021, indicating a squeeze on standards of living that is likely to be worsened by the 
ongoing cost-of-living crisis. Barnet is expensive, and it is becoming increasingly more expensive, to buy 
or privately rent a home in the Borough, with average house prices in October 2021 fifteen times the 
average income, and average rent prices higher than that of Outer London. Renting privately is less 
affordable than before, and private rents have more than doubled since 2011 from an average of £1,202 
to £2,810 in 2019. As house prices have increased, the proportion of Barnet households relying on the 
private rented sector has more than doubled in the last 20 years, and now accounts for a third of the 
homes in the Borough.  
 
5.3.1A There is not enough social housing to meet demand within Barnet. As of January 2023, there 
were over 3,000 households on the Housing Needs Register waiting for permanent homes, and of these 
just over 1,800 households were homeless and living in suitable long-term temporary accommodation. If 
Barnet were to not build or procure any additional social housing properties, based on the number of re-
lets of social housing homes in Quarters 1 and 2 of 2022/23 it would take 6.5 years to provide a 
permanent social housing home to all those currently on the Housing Needs Register who need a studio 
or 1-bedroom home, 7.2 years to those who need a 2-bedroom home, 16.2 years to those who need a 3-
bedroom home, and 32.7 years to those who need at least a 4-bedroom home. This does not take into 
account the particular difficulties of securing suitable accommodation for those who require a 
wheelchair-adapted property, which are in very short supply. 
 

201



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

5.3.1B The Housing Strategy 2019-2024 2023-2028 sets out priorities for meeting the housing 
challenges facing the Borough. The Strategy supports an overarching transformation programme across 
the Council, with the support of the Local Plan and other corporate strategies including Homelessness 
and Rough Sleeping and the Tenancy Strategy. The Housing Strategy focuses on five priorities : 
preventing homelessness; delivering the right homes in the right places; ensuring safe, sustainable 
council housing; raising quality and standards in the private rented sector and supporting living well by 
promoting healthy homes and wellbeing. To prioritise caring for people, our places, and the planet the 
Housing Strategy in partnership with the Local Plan will help to deliver the right homes in the right 
places, ensuring an up to date understanding of the tenures being delivered across all development 
within the Borough. This includes having a clearer view of the type and size of homes being delivered, 
and the Council seeking to influence the supply from registered providers and private developers against 
the levels of housing need. focuses on improving standards in the private rented sector, increasing the 
supply of homes that local people can afford, promoting independent living, tackling homelessness and 
rough sleeping, and ensuring that homes are safe and secure. The Housing Strategy is further 
strengthened by the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy. This Strategy focuses on preventing 
homelessness, reducing the use of temporary accommodation, and securing new homes for those that 
are homeless. Establishing effective partnerships, working arrangements, and support for those who are 
or used to be homeless. The themes of the Housing Strategy, the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 
Strategy and the objectives of this Local Plan are underpinned by Barnet’s Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment (SHMA).  

202



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM
33 

Chapter 5 
Housing 
 
Policy HOU01   
and 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Paras 5.4.3, 
5.4.4, 5.4.7, 
5.4.9, 5.4.10, 
5.4.10A, 
5.4.11, 
5.4.11A, 
5.4.12, 5.4.13 
&  5.4.14 

Policy HOU01 Affordable housing 
 
Within the context of a strategic London Plan target of 50% of all new homes to be affordable the 
Council will seek a minimum of 35% affordable housing from all developments of 10 or more 
dwellings. 
 
The Council will seek to maximise delivery of affordable housing in accordance with the London 
Plan.  
 
The strategic target is for 50 per cent of all new homes delivered across the Borough to be 
genuinely affordable. This is in accordance with the following London Plan policies H4, H5 and 
DF1.  The Council will expect Build to Rent developments to provide affordable housing in 
accordance with London Plan Policy H11. 
 
For all schemes, the basis of calculations for the affordable housing requirement will relate to the 
number of habitable rooms or the habitable floorspace of the residential development.  
 
A. Barnet’s Affordable Housing Requirements 
In accordance with London Plan Policy H6, Barnet’s affordable housing tenure split will expect to 
be applied to major development is: 
 
a) 60% per cent Low-Cost Rent products including Affordable Rent, allocated according to need 

and for households on low incomes, and; 
b) 40% per cent Intermediate products which meet the definition of genuinely affordable housing, 

including London Living Rent, and London Shared Ownership. 
 
The Council will: 
c) Assess the capacity of sites under the threshold to ensure that development is optimised at an 

optimum capacity; 

Clarification that Council is seeking 
to maximise delivery of affordable 
housing in accordance with Policies 
H4, H4A, H5 and DF1 of London 
Plan.  
 
Re-wording to specify accordance 
with affordable housing tenures in 
London Plan Policy H6 of the London 
Plan.  
 
Addition to ensure that the approach 
to Build to Rent development and 
affordable housing is in accordance 
with London Plan Policy H11. 
 
Clarification that assessment of site 
capacity is on basis of ensuring 
development is optimised, and 
provide certainty that off-site 
provision or off-site contributions will 
be sought only in circumstances set 
out in London Plan Policy H4 Part B  
Deletion of undefined Innovative 
Housing Products. Policy also re-
focussed on optimising use of land 
and facilitating delivery of housing to 
meet needs of each affordable 
housing tenure in accordance with 
London Plan.  
 
Clarification that replacement of 
existing affordable housing as part of 
proposals in housing estates falls 
under Policy GSS10.   
 
Deletion of reference to Vacant 
Building Credit as there is no local 
evidence which justifies departure 
from national policy in that respect.  
 

203



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

d) Expect affordable housing to be delivered on the application site. Off-site provision or a cash-in-
lieu contribution will only be accepted in accordance with London Plan Policy H4(B); exceptional 
circumstances;  

e) Require an appropriate housing mix in accordance with Policy HOU02, and 
f) In optimising the use of land and site capacity through a design-led approach facilitate delivery 

of housing to meet the needs of each affordable housing tenure in the London Plan.  
 
 Innovative housing products that meet the requirements of this Policy will be supported, including 
approaches that set aside a proportion of homes for critical key workers (as defined by 
Governmentviii) on land owned by Government departments and agencies. 
 
B. Estate Renewal and Infill 
On Housing Estates (Policy GSS10) the Council will seek to replace existing affordable housing in 
accordance with Policy GSS10. whilst considering the specific circumstances of each site. , it will 
facilitate the right of return for existing social rent tenants from estates into new social rent 
accommodation. Otherwise the Council will provide the new affordable accommodation as 
Affordable Rent  
 
With regards to applications for Vacant Building Credit the Council will expect all of the following 
criteria to be met:  
• the building is not in use at the time the application is submitted;  
• the building is not covered by an extant or recently expired permission;  
• the site is not protected for alternative land use; and  
• the building has not been made vacant for the sole purpose of redevelopment. 

 
 

 

 

Clarification on relationship with 
London Plan and approach to First 
Homes in the supporting text. 

204



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

5.4 Affordable Housing  

5.4.3 There are a range of options available for lower-cost or affordable homes for rent or ownership, 

including:  

• Affordable Rent - for households on low incomes, with rent levels that are based on the formula in 

the government’s Policy Statement on Rents for Social Housing. Rent levels for homes let at a 

social rent use a capped formula in line with the government’s policy, and London Affordable Rent 

homes have a benchmark target set by the GLA. 

• London Living Rent – for households on average incomes, this offers a lower rent, which enables 

people to save for a deposit to buy a home. This is an intermediate affordable housing product 

with low rents set at ward level by the GLA. 

• London Shared Ownership - allows London households to purchase a share of a new home and 

pay low rent for the remaining portion e.g. purchase 25 per cent % and rent 75 per cent %. This is 

subject to any other changes on share proportions. 

• First Homes – these are a type of Discounted Market Sale (DMS) housing introduced by national 

planning policy as a product that meets the definition for affordable housing set out in Annex 2 of 

the NPPF. As a DMS product First Homes falls within the category of intermediate housing where 

it meets national and Mayoral affordability and eligibility criteria. The Council supports the 

approach set out in the London Plan in which Policy H6 (Affordable Housing Tenure) does not 

preclude the delivery of DMS homes as part of the intermediate affordable housing component, 

however it does not contain a specific requirement for First Homes or DMS products and does not 

allow for the prioritisation of First Homes above the tenures set out in Policy H6. Planning Practice 

Guidance (PPG) does, however, include a specific chapter relating to First Homes. It indicates 

that First Homes are the Government’s preferred discount market tenure and that it should 

account for at least 25% of all affordable housing units delivered by developers through planning 

obligations. The progress of the Plan relative to this expectation will be subject to monitoring as 

set out in Table 21.  

205



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

• Other affordable housing products may be offered if they meet the broad definition of Affordable 

Housing set out in the NPPF and are considered to be genuinely affordable. 

 

5.4.4 NPPF (para 63) states that ‘provision of affordable housing should not be sought for residential 

developments that are not major developments’. A major development is defined in the NPPF as 

‘development where 10 or more homes will be provided, or the site has an area of 0.5 hectares or more.’ 

5.4.7 National policy requires the Council to set affordable housing targets that are realistic. Particular 

regard has to be made to development viability. Government does not expect that each major housing 

application should routinely be subject to viability assessment. In exceptional circumstances where it is 

considered that the required provision of affordable housing cannot be delivered, a full viability 

assessment must be undertaken. Such assessment must be verified by a specialist appointed by the 

Council at the developer’s expense and be made available in full in advance of a decision. Where a 

viability assessment is required to ascertain the maximum level of affordable housing deliverable on a 

scheme, the assessment should be undertaken in line with the NPPF, PPG and having regard to the 

Mayor’s Affordable Housing and Viability SPG. The viability assessment should also have regard to the 

guidance in the Barnet Supplementary Planning Document on Planning Obligations. This will include 

reassessment in line with the London Plan. 

5.4.9 The London Plan, Policy H4 sets the strategic target of 50 per cent % for affordable housing. 

Through Policy H5, As part of a fast track approach to delivery, the London Plan also introduces the 

Threshold Approach to Applications (Policy H5) with an initial minimum threshold of 35 per cent % 

(without public subsidy) on all land other than public sector or designated employment land where 50 per 

cent % is the threshold level unless there is a portfolio agreement with the Mayor. Public sector 

development land also represents an opportunity to deliver homes that can meet the needs of essential 

local workers, such as those working in health, fire, police, transport and support services. London Plan 

Policy H6 sets out the Mayor’s requirements for affordable products. This requires that 30 per cent % of 

new affordable housing should be low cost rental, including Social Rent/ London Affordable Rent; and 

that a minimum of 30 per cent % of affordable housing should be intermediate including, London Living 

206



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

Rent, and London Shared Ownership. In line with London Plan Policy H6 the remaining 40 per cent % of 

affordable homes should be determined by the Borough based on identified need, the tenure split of 

60/40 between rented and intermediate products and in accordance with the Housing Strategy. 

Affordable homes will be allocated in accordance with need (based on the Council’s Housing Allocations 

Scheme. 

5.4.10 The Council sets out in Policy HOU01 its minimum requirements for affordable housing. Barnet’s 

strategic affordable housing target for 50 per cent of all new homes to be affordable, with a minimum 

requirement of 35 per cent (or 50 per cent on publicly owned land unless there is a portfolio agreement 

with the Mayor of London) is consistent with the London Plan. Within the context of the option for the fast 

track route as set out in Policy H5(C), (D) and (E) London Plan Policy H5 requires that such applications 

must meet all the following criteria:  

1) meet or exceed the relevant threshold level of affordable housing on site without public subsidy;  

2) be consistent with the relevant tenure split (London Plan Policy H6);  

3) meet other relevant policy requirements and obligations to the satisfaction of the Borough and the 

Mayor where relevant; and  

4) demonstrate that they have taken account of the strategic 50 per cent target in London Plan Policy 

H4 and have sought grant to increase the level of affordable housing.  

5.4.10A If the requirements of London Plan Policy H5(C), (D) and (E) are met as part of the fast track 

route a viability assessment is not required at application stage. Any deviation from the minimum 35 per 

cent % provision that is not consistent with the required tenure mix will need to be fully justified through a 

policy compliant viability assessment. Where viability impacts are so great that a reduction in the 

percentage of affordable housing that can be achieved on site is below 35 per cent %, the Council will 

seek to pursue the preferred tenure split of 60/40 between rented and intermediate products as set out in 

Policy HOU01. This is on the basis that the delivery of more affordable tenures that would meet needs is 

207



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

a greater priority than achieving a potentially higher percentage of affordable housing on site that is not 

consistent with meeting these priority needs.  

5.4.10B All development must make the best use of land by following a design-led approach (London 

Plan Policy D3) that optimises the capacity of sites. Optimising site capacity means ensuring that 

development is of the most appropriate form and land use for the site. The Council will therefore assess 

the capacity of sites under the threshold set out in Policy HOU01 to ensure optimum capacity. In 

undertaking such an assessment it will also seek to prevent the subdivision of site(s) in the same 

ownership for the purposes of avoiding the threshold for a contribution to affordable housing. 

5.4.11 For all schemes to ensure that a range of affordable homes can be delivered, the basis of 

calculations for the affordable housing requirement will relate to the number of habitable rooms or the 

habitable floorspace of the residential development. In schemes where the affordable housing categories 

involve dwellings with more habitable rooms-per-dwelling than market provision, or different sizes of 

habitable rooms within different tenures, it is more appropriate for the calculation of the affordable 

housing proportion to be in terms of habitable floorspace. Applicants should therefore present affordable 

housing figures as a percentage of total residential provision in habitable rooms, units and floorspace to 

enable comparison. The Council expects that the percentage of affordable housing on a scheme should 

be measured in habitable rooms to ensure that a range of sizes of affordable homes can be delivered, 

including family-sized homes. Habitable rooms in affordable and market elements of the scheme should 

be of comparable size when averaged across the whole development. If this is not the case, it may be 

more appropriate to measure the provision of affordable housing using habitable floorspace. Applicants 

should present affordable housing figures as a percentage of total residential provision in habitable 

rooms, units and floorspace to enable comparison. This requirement is consistent with London Plan 

(para 4.5.3).  

5.4.11A In optimising the use of land and site capacity through a design-led approach the Council will 

support housing products that facilitate delivery of housing to meet the needs of each affordable housing 

tenure outlined in the London Plan. Minimum residential space standard requirements based on the 

minimum gross internal floor area (GIA) relative to the number of occupants apply to all new residential 

208



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

development. The Council expects these standards to drive innovation in the design of new homes that 

respond to housing needs in the Borough. 

5.4.12 The Government introduced Vacant Building Credit (VBC) in 2014. This applies to sites where a 

vacant building is brought back into any lawful use, or is demolished to be replaced by a new building. 

VBC reduces the requirement for affordable housing contributions based on the amount of vacant 

floorspace being brought back into use or redevelopment. In assessing the applicability of VBC the 

Council will expect all of the following criteria to be met:  

• the building is not in use at the time the application is submitted;  

• the building is not covered by an extant or recently expired permission;  

• the site is not protected for alternative land use; and the building has not been made vacant for 

the sole purpose of redevelopment. 

5.4.13 As highlighted by Policy GSS10 Estate Renewal and Infill, the renewal and infill of housing 

estates in Barnet is an important element of the Council’s continuing approach to reducing spatial 

inequalities. The Council is progressing estate renewal across the Borough, successfully regenerating 

housing estates such as Stonegrove. Such estates will continue to play a significant role in successful 

place making and new homes delivery. The re-provision of affordable housing is complex and estate 

regeneration must take account of the specific circumstances of each site, including local infrastructure 

needs, local housing need in respect of tenure mix, affordability and tenure size, place-making, viability 

and the nature of the surrounding area. Within the housing estate subject to renewal and infill 

regeneration the Council will, with existing social rent tenants, facilitate their right of return to the estate 

into new social rent accommodation. Otherwise the Council will replace existing social rent housing, 

ensuring no net loss of floorspace, with new affordable accommodation in accordance with the 

affordable housing tenures in the London Plan as Affordable Rent.  

5.4.14 Affordable housing provision is normally required on-site. In exceptional circumstances off-site 

provision may be acceptable where it can be robustly demonstrated that affordable housing cannot be 

209



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

delivered on-site or where an off-site contribution would better deliver mixed and inclusive communities 

than an on-site contribution. Cash in lieu contributions should only be used where there is detailed 

evidence to demonstrate that on-site affordable housing is not practical, off-site options have been 

considered and that such a contribution will not be detrimental to the delivery of mixed and inclusive 

communities. As set out in London Plan (para 4.4.9) affordable housing should only be accepted as an 

off-site contribution in exceptional circumstances where it can be robustly demonstrated that affordable 

housing cannot be delivered on-site or where an off-site contribution would better deliver mixed and 

inclusive communities than an on-site contribution. 

210



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM 
34 

Chapter 5 
Housing 
 
Policy HOU02   
and 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting 
text. 
 
Paras 5.5.3, 
5.5.4, 5.5.4A, 
5.5.5, 5.5.8, 
5.5.9, 5.5.10 & 
5.5.11. Table 6 
(as submitted) 
Table 7 (as 
submitted) 

Policy HOU02 Housing Mix  
 

In order to deliver safe, strong and cohesive mixed and inclusive neighbourhoods the Council will 
support proposals development should which provide a mix of dwelling types and sizes to help 
meet current and future housing needs. in order to create sufficient choice for a growing and 
diverse population across all households in the Borough.  
 
In protecting existing housing stock across Barnet the Council will manage the conversion of 
residential dwellings through Policy H0U03. 
A. Dwelling Size Priorities 

Barnet The Council’s dwelling size priorities are set out in Table 7. All housing schemes are 
expected to include a proportion of family sized homes and reflect these dwelling size priorities 
unless it can be robustly demonstrated that a variation to the preferred mix is justified on a site 
specific basis. 

For market homes for sale and rent – 3 bedroom (4 to 6 bedspaces) properties are the highest 
priority, homes with 2 (3 to 4 bedspaces) or 4 bedrooms (5 to 8 bedspaces) are a medium 
priority. 
For Affordable Homes (see Policy HOU01 and supporting text): 

the smallest 2 bedroom property in this tenure is required to provide a minimum of 4 bed 
spaces in accordance with the residential space standards in Table 9 
2 and 3 bedroom properties are the highest priority for homes at Low Cost Rent. 
3 bedroom properties are the highest priority for homes at a Lon don Living Rent.  
2 bedroom properties are the highest priority for homes at an Affordable Rent / Low Cost 
Home Ownership. 

 
These dwelling size priorities will be subject to periodic review and update when new assessments 
of housing need are commissioned. 
 

Revisions to emphasise requirement 
to deliver mixed and inclusive 
neighbourhoods, together with 
clarification that proposals will be 
supported where they provide a mix 
of dwelling types and sizes to help 
meet current and future housing 
needs.  
  
Revision to ensure consistency with 
the MM to Policy HOU03.  
 
Re-wording and re-numbering of 
Table 6 to Table 7 to reflect changes 
to prior tables in previous MMs and 
its purpose in setting out Council’s 
dwelling size priorities, and that all 
housing proposals are expected to 
reflect those priorities (including 
proportion of family sized homes) 
unless it can be demonstrated that a 
variation to the preferred housing mix 
is justified on a site-specific basis in 
accordance with criteria in Policy 
HOU02. 
 
Removal of reference to new 
assessments of housing need and 
replace with reference to new 
evidence of housing need as material 
consideration. 
 
Deletion of reference to AMR on 
housing mix of proposals as such an 
approach is not appropriate nor 
justified. 
 
Revisions to ensure an effective 
approach by adding site optimisation 
(taking account of London Plan 
Policies H1, H4, H5 and H10) and 

211



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

Through the Authorities Monitoring Report (AMR) the Council will set out progress on delivering 
these priorities and building the right homes for the next generation. The AMR will inform the 
Council’s consideration of dwelling mix on a site by site basis.  
 
In applying the dwelling size priorities preferred housing mix the Council will consider the following 
criteria: 
 

a) Site size, surrounding context (including town centre location), PTAL and character, mix of 

uses  and Rrange of tenures ensuring site optimisation that is consistent with London Plan 

policies H1, H4 H5 and H10;  

b) Provision of Build to Rent (see London Plan Policy H11); 

c) Viability (in alignment with London Plan Policy DF1); and  

d) Potential for custom-build and community led schemes. 

 
B. Specialist Housing Schemes  

Innovative housing products that meet the requirements of this Policy will be supported.  
The Council will consider applying flexibility for Specialist Housing schemes supported by Policy 
HOU04.   
 

 
 
5.5 Ensuring a Variety of Sizes of New Homes to meet Housing Need 

5.5.3 The Housing Strategy highlights that the Borough has a rising and ageing population, house prices 

and private rent levels are high, and there is a lack of genuinely affordable housing to meet need, with 

growing challenges in the supply of accommodation. The Council will seek to ensure that housing 

choices are available to address the housing needs of all sectors of the community, making sure that 

development proposals do not deter shared or multi-generational usage, particularly with an ageing 

population, to ensure the delivery of truly mixed communities in neighbourhoods for all ages. Innovative 

provision of Build to Rent and 
viability (in alignment with London 
Plan Policy DF1), as further material 
considerations relevant to the 
application of the preferred housing 
mix and any variation thereto. 
 
Clarification that flexibility for 
Specialist Housing schemes 
supported by Policy HOU04 will be 
applied.  
 
Deletion of undefined Innovative 
Housing Products. 
 
Clarification on approach to Build to 
Rent and Specialist Housing 
schemes. 
 
Deletion of para 5.5.9 to reflect the 
expiry of an Article 4 direction.  
 
Deletion of Table 7 (as submitted) as 
a consequence of other changes 
within this MM. 
 
 
 
 

212



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

design to increase housing choice in addressing housing needs is encouraged by the Council. 

Developments that can create intergenerational communities provide a basis for mutual support and 

offer real opportunities to develop new ways to help meet social care and support needs. 

5.5.4 With high levels of planned housing growth and a changing population a key concern for the 

Council is that residents are able to secure access to the right accommodation in the right place. It is 

important that the size and mix of the new homes delivered will reflect the changing demographic and 

economic make-up of Barnet providing opportunities to increase as well as down-size. In getting it right 

the Council will consider a range of issues including site size, surrounding context (including town centre 

location), as well as PTAL and character. Other factors to consider are the proposed mix of uses, the 

range of housing tenures and any potential for custom-build and community led schemes. Innovative 

housing products that are in line with Policy HOU02 will normally be supported. In considering Specialist 

Housing schemes that are supported by Policy HOU04 the Council will apply flexibility with regards to 

the application of the dwelling mix. 

5.5.4A The Council in supporting Build to Rent expects such developments to provide real housing 

choice as a successful tenure. It acknowledges that the distinct economics of Build to Rent can be 

impacted by increases in the number of large units within a scheme. In applying HOU02 to Build to Rent 

proposals the Council will consider the demand for new rental stock in accessible locations where Build 

to Rent is particularly well suited and it will have regard to viability in line with London Plan Policy DF1. 

This demand is typically much greater for one and two beds than in other tenures.   

5.5.5 According to the Authorities Monitoring Reportix (AMR) one and two bedroom homes remain the 

dominant type of accommodation delivered in Barnet, accounting for 78% of new homes overall and 

86% of flats. In the past a family property would traditionally consist of three bedrooms or more. Many 

families now live in two bedroom accommodation. Table 9 8 Minimum Residential Space Standard 

Requirements sets out minimum space requirements including bedrooms, bedspaces and built in 

storage space for all new self-contained accommodation.  Well-designed two bedroom properties of 

between 70m2 and 79m2 gross internal floor areax can now be considered as family homes as they are 

213



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

capable of accommodating 4 bedspaces. In assessing the size of new homes the AMR will reflect the 

number of bedspaces as well as bedrooms within homes.  

5.5.8 Priorities for the Council are to deliver well designed new homes while also protecting the stock of 

family houses. Providing family homes, with space for growing households, in Barnet will help to 

encourage such households to remain in the Borough.  Delivering (and retaining) homes that are family 

friendly and capable of providing housing choices for young people and older residents as well as being 

flexible in addressing the needs of homeworkersxi are a mainstay of the Local Plan. Key considerations 

in ensuring an appropriate dwelling mix include site size, surrounding context (including town centre 

location), PTAL and character, mix of uses and range of tenures as part of overall site optimisation. 

Other factors include provision of Build to Rent housing and scheme viability as well as the potential for 

custom-build and community led housing schemes.  

5.5.9 In order to protect affordable business space as well as ensure that development produces good 

quality residential accommodation the Council has introduced Article 4 Directionsxii to better manage 

permitted development particularly for the conversion of commercial premises to residential. While 

permitted development continues its association with substandard accommodation the Council will 

consider further Article 4 directions. 

5.5.10 The Mayor’s Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 2017 highlights that one bedroomed 

units are the largest requirement for market as well as social rented housing in London. This contrasts 

with the findings of Barnet’s SHMA published in 2018. On the basis of evidence on recent household 

formation, in-migration, out-migration and projected household dissolution the Barnet SHMA has 

identified housing mix requirements by dwelling size and tenure type over the next five years for the 

Borough. The dwelling size priorities will guide the mix of housing sought across Barnet and provide a 

basis for determining the mix of homes on individual sites. These priorities will be subject to periodic 

review and update when new assessments of housing need are commissioned. 

Table 6 7 - Full Objectively Assessed Need for Housing Size by Tenurexiii 

214



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.5.11 Table 6 7 shows a particular need for 2, 3 and 4 bedroom properties across all tenures. There is a 

significant need for family sized housing to be provided as part of any market housing mix. Barnet’s 

SHMA highlighted that for low cost rent and intermediate affordable housing products the greatest needs 

(in terms of dwelling size) was for 2 and 3 bedroom properties.  The Housing Strategy in partnership with 

the Local Plan will ensure an up to date understanding of the tenures being delivered across all 

development within the Borough, helping to influence the supply from registered providers and private 

developers against the levels of housing need. To reflect on change within housing needs in Barnet the 

size priorities for affordable properties will be informed by an annual assessment of the Housing Needs 

Register.   Around 70 per cent of the need for affordable homes in Barnet is for 2 and 3 bedroom 

properties. This is slightly more than for same sized market homes. Barnet’s SHMA highlighted that the 

smallest element of need across market and affordable housing was for houses with 5 bedrooms or 

more. Table 7 provides a further tenure breakdown by size. This covers low cost rent (households who 

Unit Size Market Housing 

1 bedroom          6% 

2 bedrooms 24% 

3 bedrooms 40% 

4 bedrooms 25% 

5+ bedrooms 5% 

Total Market 

Housing 
100% 

 Affordable Housing 

1 bedroom 13% 

2 bedrooms 43% 

3 bedrooms 27% 

4 bedrooms 13% 

5+ bedrooms 4% 

Total Affordable 

Housing 
100% 

215



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

cannot afford London Living Rent) and intermediate housing (London Living Rent and Affordable Rent) 

as components of affordable housing. Households that can afford Affordable Rent are also more able to 

access Low Cost Home Ownership products such as shared ownership. 

Table 7 – Objectively Assessed Need for Affordable Housing Tenure by Sizexiv 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 Low Cost Rent Intermediate 

Unit Size 
Cannot afford 
London Living 

Rent  

Can afford 
London living 
rent /  Cannot 

afford Affordable 
Rent  

Can afford 
Affordable Rent / 
Low Cost Home 

Ownership 

 % % % 

1 bedroom 15 1 15 

2 bedrooms 43 33 53 

3 bedrooms  27 39 23 

4 bedrooms  12 21 7 

5+ bedrooms  3 6 2 

Total  100 100 100 

MM
35 

Chapter 5 
Housing 
 
Policy HOU03   
and 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Paras  5.6.1, 
5.6.4 to 5.6.7. 

Policy HOU03 Residential Conversions and Re-development of Larger Homes 
 
To effectively manage housing growth and ensure that residential conversions do not have a 
detrimental impact on the character and amenity of local areas, the Council will permit  the 
conversion of larger homes into smaller self-contained residential units (C3) where all of the 
following apply The Council will optimise the potential for housing delivery from residential 
conversions and the re-development of larger homes subject to the following criteria : 
 

A. It is located within 400 metres walking distance of a major or district town centre (in 

accordance with Policy TOW01) or it is located in an area with a PTAL of 5 or more. Sites 

Replacement of first paragraph and 
Part A with an approach that 
provides support for optimising 
potential for housing delivery in 
locations specified in London Plan 
Policy H1 Part B 2).  
 
Revision to Part B to take account of 
need for three-bedroom houses 
identified in Table 7 (as re-
numbered), and to specify that 
conversions should include at least 
one family sized home with three 
bedrooms capable of providing 4 
bedspaces with access to a private 
rear garden. 

216



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

have existing or planned public transport access levels (PTALs) 3-6 or are located within 

800m walking distance of a station or town centre boundary; 

B. The conversion proposal provides at least one larger family sized home of 74 m² or more 

(gross internal floor area) and capable of providing with 3 bedrooms that is capable of 

providing 4 bedspaces on the ground floor with access to a dedicated rear private garden; of 

the converted home. 

C. The original gross internal floor area of the property (at time of application) should not be 

less than 135m2 exceeds 130m² where 2 self-contained residential units or more are 

proposed. At least 61m2 of gross internal floorspace is required for each additional dwelling 

proposed; 

D. The property is not in a road that is largely characterised by large houses and that no 

significant loss of character or amenity occurs to the area as a result of increased traffic, 

noise and general disturbance. Proposals will be supported, provided that they do not have 

an unacceptable impact upon the surrounding character of the area and where there is no 

unacceptable impact on the amenity of occupiers of neighbouring properties of the area; 

E. A good standard of living conditions and amenity for future occupiers in terms of privacy, 

daylight and outlook is provided; 

F. Minimum Car and cycle parking provision in accordance with requirements of Policy TRC03; 

and 

G. Proposals meet London Plan residential space standards (Policy D6) and the criteria set out 

in Policy CDH01. 

  
Revision to Part C to indicate that 
gross internal floor area of property 
should be not less than 135m2 at 
time of application where two self-
contained residential dwellings are 
proposed (i.e. equivalent to a 
minimum of one 3 bedroom 4 
bedspace, and one 2 bedroom 3 
bedspace based on Table 8 of Plan). 
At least 61m2  of gross internal floor 
space (i.e. the minimum for a family 
sized dwelling) should then be 
required for each additional dwelling 
proposed.  
 
Clarification on circumstances where 
proposals will be supported relative 
to surrounding character of the area 
and where there is no unacceptable 
impact on amenity of occupiers of 
neighbouring properties. 
 
Rewording of Part F to ensure 
consistency with Policy TRC03.  
 
Clarification that the Plan’s approach 
on conversions and redevelopment 
of larger homes is necessary to 
prioritise the delivery of family homes 
from the existing housing stock and 
to address the needs identified in 
Table 7 (as re-numbered). 

217



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 

5.6 Residential Conversions and Redevelopment of Larger Homes 

5.6.1 The Council’s Growth Strategy highlights that in delivering new homes for the growing population 

greater emphasis will be placed on locations with good public transport accessibility such as town 

centres. Sustainable housing growth will contribute to thriving town centres. However, the loss of existing 

family size housing can be difficult to offset through the provision of newbuild family accommodation in 

new housing developments which will be predominantly located in town centres. 

5.6.3 As part of the Local Plan evidence base the Council has assessed the impact of residential 

conversions, defined as a form of development that involves the replacement, extension or conversion of 

existing buildings[i]. This includes redevelopment of larger homes. The conversion of existing dwellings 

into flats or Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) can have a cumulative effect of added pressure on 

off-street on- street car parking and local services. Residential conversions may be appropriate in certain 

types of property or street, particularly where they are highly accessible; however, even in such locations 

they can harm the character of areas by changing external appearance and increasing activity. Such 

activity can often involve more noise, waste, overcrowding, people movements and increased vehicular 

movements.  

5.6.4 Notwithstanding the Local Plan’s definition of family accommodation at para 5.5.5, the Council’s 

approach to proposals for conversion or re-development of larger homes seeks provision of a minimum 

of one unit comprising 3 bedrooms and capable of providing 4 bedspaces and is necessary in order to 

prioritise delivery of family homes from the existing housing stock.  In order to manage the existing stock 

of homes the Council seeks to restrict the conversion of family accommodation into smaller self-

contained dwellings. On the basis of the Residential Conversion Study A threshold of 135m2 130m² 

gross original internal floor area has been set as the smallest floorspace allowance (at the time of 

application) that could successfully incorporate two self-contained units respectively. This size is used to 

The Council will apply these criteria to any proposals for the demolition and redevelopment of larger 
homes. 

218



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

ensure that the proposed dwellings within the development would be London Plan Policy D6 space 

compliant. It is equivalent to a minimum of one 3 bedroom (4 bedspace) unit and one 2 bedroom (3 

bedspace) unit as set out in Table 9 8 – Minimum Residential Space Standard Requirements. This is 

necessary, Iin order to mitigate the further erosion of family accommodation, whilst also addressing the 

needs identified at Table 7, Policy HOU03 requires that a family sized home (comprising 3 bedrooms 

and capable of providing 4) of at least 74m² gross internal floor area providing 3 bedrooms)xv is included 

within any proposed conversion to self-contained flats. This family sized home should be on the ground 

floor and have access to a dedicated rear garden. At least an additional 61m2 of gross internal 

floorspace (capable of providing 3 bedspaces) is required for each additional dwelling proposed. 

5.6.5 Where conversions are deemed acceptable any external alterations should seek to minimise their 

impact on the external appearance of the property and local character. Conversions must deliver London 

Plan residential space standards and also be able to satisfactorily address all other relevant policies in 

the Local Plan including the need to consider the dwelling size priorities set out in Policy HOUO2 and the 

approach to parking requirements management set out in Policy TRC03. Further detail and guidance on 

conversions is set out in the Residential Design Guidance SPD which will be replaced by the 

forthcoming Sustainable Design and Development Guidance SPD. 

5.6.6 Converted residential properties are generally more intensely used and therefore are more 

appropriate in areas with good public transport accessibility and access to local services. In order to 

optimise the potential for housing delivery from residential conversions and the re-development of larger 

homes and be consistent with London Plan Policy H1 the Council’s preferred locations for this form of 

development are sites that have existing or planned public transport access levels (PTALs) 3-6 or are 

located within 800m walking distance of a station or town centre boundary. Proposals will be supported, 

relative to the surrounding character of the area and where there is no unacceptable impact on the 

amenity of occupiers of neighbouring properties of the area. Key considerations will be that the property 

is not in a road that is largely characterised by large houses, whereby the loss of such a dwelling would 

unacceptably alter the prevailing character, and that no significant loss of character or amenity would 

otherwise occur to the area as a result of increased traffic, noise and/or general disturbance arising from 

219



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

the conversion or re-development of the larger home. Areas around Barnet’s Town Centres and places 

with a PTAL score of 3 5 or more are the preferred locations where conversions are considered 

appropriate. These locations are areas where roads are not largely characterised by larger homes and 

where conversions will contribute to an increase in the mix and type of dwellings available without being 

detrimental to local character and amenity.  

5.6.7 Areas outside of these preferred locations are considered more appropriate for families and allow 
for the provision of larger homes. Increasing the provision of larger homes in accordance with Policy 
HOU02, whilst continuing to resist the loss of existing larger homes should help ensure that the dwelling 
stock remains balanced in Barnet and capable of providing housing choice. 

220



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM 
36 

Chapter 5 
Housing 
 
Policy HOU04   
and 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting 
text. 
 
Paras  5.7.1, 
5.7.2, 5.10.1, 
5.10.5, 5.10.6, 
5.10.7, 5.12.5, 
5.12.6, 
5.12.6A, 
5.13.1, 5.13.3, 
5.13.8, 5.13.9, 
5.14.2 & 
5.14.3. 

Policy HOU04: Specialist Housing – Older Persons Housing, Housing choice for people with 
social care and health support needs, Houses in Multiple Occupation, Student 
Accommodation and Purpose Built Shared Living Accommodation 
 
A: Older Persons Housing 
The Council will support proposals for specialist older persons housing (in accordance with London 
Plan Policy H13 - Specialist older persons housing) that contribute to meeting the indicative 
benchmark of 275 new specialist older persons homes per annum. 
 
B. Housing Choice for People with social care and health support needs 
The Council will support Pproposals for people with social care and health support needs which 
should : 
(a) In meeting an identified need and help people to live independently; 
deliver older persons housing as guided by the indicative benchmark of 275 new specialist older 
persons homes per annum and the tenure priorities set out in Table 8; 
(b) Ddemonstrate that they will not have a harmful impact on the character and amenities of the 
surrounding area; 
(c) Be are located in areas within 400m walking distance of local shops and that are easily 
accessible by public transport with PTALS of 3 to 6, and have access to local shops, community 
infrastructure and health care;  
(d) Pprovide adequate communal facilities including accommodation for essential staff on site;  
(e) Ddeliver affordable and accessible accommodation in accordance with London Plan policies 
H4, H5 and D7; 
(f)  Ssupport the remodelling of residential care homes to other forms of special 
accommodation in order to widen housing choice, support healthy and independent lives and to 
reduce over supply; and 
(g) provide ensure that vulnerable residents with benefit from a housing choice; and  
(h) ensure that additional residential care home provision is only supported when evidence of 
local need can be demonstrated. 

 

Title revised to include Older 
Persons Housing.  
 
Policy also re-structured to make 
distinction between sections relating 
to older persons housing and wider 
housing choice for people with social 
care and health support needs.  
  
Part A new section for specialist 
older persons housing (SOPH) with 
cross reference to requirements of 
SOPH in London Plan Policy H13. 
Table 8 (as submitted) deleted as not 
consistent with London Plan.  
 
Rewording at Part B to express 
support for proposals for people with 
social care and health support 
needs. 
 
Rewording of Part B criterion d): to 
focus on PTAL3 or more as offering 
suitable locations that are well 
served by public transport and a 
specific requirement of being 
accessible to local shops, together 
with community infrastructure and 
health care to align with London Plan 
Policy H13.  
 
Part C  - re-wording to clarify that 
proposals should demonstrate that 
they meet an identified need and 
avoid overconcentration of HMO in 
the local area.  
 
Part C: Clarification that protection of 
living conditions for residents and 
occupiers of neighbouring properties 

221



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

C. Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) 
Proposals for new HMOs will be supported where they meet the following criteria must:  
(a)  it is Ddemonstrated that they meet the requirements of the Additional Licensing Scheme 
and comply complies with any relevant standards for Houses in Multiple Occupation; 
(b) it is demonstrated that they Mmeet an identified need and demonstrate that they do not 
create a harmful concentration of such a use in the local area. A harmful concentration is defined 
as where three or more of the ten nearest properties are HMOs; 
(c) Ddemonstrate that they will not have a harmful impact on the character and amenities of the 
surrounding area. A HMO Management Plan may be sought to protect living conditions for 
residents and occupiers of neighbouring properties; and 
(d) Be are easily accessible by public transport, cycling and walking. 
 
Where an existing HMO is of a reasonable standard it will be protected unless it is demonstrated 
that there is no local need for such accommodation. 
 

D: Student Accommodation 
Proposals for purpose-built and accredited student accommodation should demonstrate that:  

(a) they are located within an area, including town centres and main thoroughfares, that are also 
accessible by public transport, cycling and walking; 

(b)  they meet an identified local or strategic need from higher educational establishments (as 
defined by London Plan Policy H15) within Barnet or Central London that are easily 
accessible by public transport, cycling or walking; 

they are located within an area, including town centres and main thoroughfares, that are also 
accessible by public transport, cycling and walking; 

(c) the use of accommodation is secured for students of one or more specified higher education 
institutions through a nomination agreement; 

may be sought through  HMO 
management plan.  
 
Part C – New criterions added  to 
ensure consistency with London Plan 
Policy H9 and clarify that where an 
existing HMO is of a reasonable 
standard they will be protected 
unless it is demonstrated that there is 
an absence of need for HMO 
accommodation in the local area.  
 
Definition of an over-concentration of 
HMOs as where three or more of the 
ten nearest properties are HMOs, to 
ensure a complementary provision 
that would not undermine the 
separate approach of Policy HOU03 
which otherwise prioritises meeting 
needs for family housing as part of 
residential conversions and re-
development of larger homes.  
 
Part D – consolidation of  
requirements relating to public 
transport, cycling and walking, 
ensuring consistency with broader 
requirements of London Plan Policy 
H15.  
 
Part E - re-wording to ensure that 
proposals demonstrate how they 
meet an identified housing need in 
Barnet, provide a management plan 
to ensure no unacceptable impact on 
the living conditions of occupiers of 
neighbouring properties and also 
meet requirements of London Plan 
Policy H16.  
 

222



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

(d) a Student Management Plan, that acts as a code of conduct in managing the student 
housing, is agreed with the Council. Proposals involving the alternative use of the 
accommodation outside term time should also agree a Non-Student Management Plan to 
mitigate any potential impacts of the alternative use. 

(e) delivery of affordable student accommodation is in accordance with London Plan Policy H15;  

(f) the accommodation provides adequate functional living space and layout and 

(g) at the neighbourhood level, the development contributes to a mixed and inclusive 
community. 

E: Purpose Built Shared Living Accommodation 
Any pProposals for large-scale purpose-built shared living accommodation will be expected to 
demonstrate how they are meeting an identified housing need and contribute to safe, strong and 
cohesive neighbourhoods. Proposals will be expected to meet all criteria in London Plan Policy H18 
H16 and the following Barnet specific requirements: 
• demonstrate how they are meeting an identified housing need; and  
• provide a management plan that, to the satisfaction of the Council, will appropriately mitigate 
potential harm to residential amenity. 
 

All specialist housing proposals will be expected to meet the highest standards of accessible and 
inclusive design in accordance with London Plan Policies D5 - Inclusive Design and D7- Accessible 
Housing. 
 
 

 
 
5.7 Specialist Housing 

5.7.1 Barnet’s Adult Social Care – the Right Home Commissioning Plan sets out the Council’s intentions 

for accommodation and support services for adults with additional needs, including those who are aged 

New final para provides certainty that 
all specialist housing proposals will 
be expected to achieve the highest 
standards of accessible and inclusive 
design in accordance with London 
Plan Policies D5 and D7.  
 
Revision to para 5.13.8 to reflect 
contribution of net non-self-contained 
accommodation for students to 
meeting housing targets.  
 
Clarification that good accessibility 
via public transport for HMOs and 
Student Accommodation is 
considered to be PTAL3-6 to align 
with London Plan Policy H1. 

223



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

over 65 years with dementia and learning disabilities, and those aged 18-64 with learning disabilities and 

autism, physical disabilities and sensory impairment, and or mental health needs. 

5.7.2 London Plan (Policy H13) sets out requirements for the delivery of specialist older persons 

housing. Barnet has been set an indicative benchmark of 275 units per annum for C3 housing, which is 

the highest of all the London boroughs. The London Plan highlights the increasing need for 

accommodation suitable for people with dementia and that in delivering specialist older persons housing 

the Council should have regard to local housing needs information including data on the local type and 

tenure of demand, and the indicative benchmarks.  Sites for such housing need to be well-connected in 

terms of contributing to an inclusive neighbourhood, having access to relevant facilities, community 

infrastructure and health care, and being well served by public transport. 

5.10 Housing choice for vulnerable people  

5.10.1 The Council retains a responsibility for young people (of up to 25 years) with special educational 

needs and disabilities. As more young people with complex needs approach adulthood, there is a need 

to help them live as independently as possible within the community. Accommodation based support 

including the right assistive technology together with good quality, well designed group or clustered 

housing is the approach the Council will take to address this need. This may be a mix of new housing 

but the Council is also considering opportunities for re-design of existing supported housing provision. 

The Council will continue to develop innovative solutions to increase the supply of suitable 

accommodation for young people leaving care, including options to increase affordability and maximise 

the likelihood of positive tenancy sustainment. 

5.10.5 Any new extra care housing and care homes for older people should be more easily accessible to 

local shops, community infrastructure and health care than other residential developments, to take 

account of the specialised nature of those forms of accommodation insofar as they commonly meet the 

needs of a higher proportion of people with disabilities and/or reduced mobility. It follows that those types 

of development should have access to public transport (in areas with PTAL of 3 to 6) and typically be 

within a reasonable walking distance (of around 400 metres) to local shops, local centre or town centre. 

224



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

within reasonable walking distance, defined as 400m, from a local parade of shops, / local centre or town 

centre. Providing communal space on site, both for visitors and staff, supports the provision of high 

quality care for older people, facilitating visits from friends and family that they value highly. Ensuring 

adequate facilities for staff will help support them in providing a service. Schemes that can act as multi-

purpose community facilities hubs will be of particular interest. within 400m walking distance of local 

shops and easily accessible by public transport  

5.10.6 The modelling of older people’s specialist housing need is complex, which can lead to differing 

outputs. Bed spaces in residential institutions (Use Class C2) are not currently counted as part of the 

housing supply. Barnet’s SHMA identifies the future need for older persons housing broken down by 

tenure and type, as outlined in Table 8 (e.g. sheltered, enhanced sheltered, extra care and, registered 

care).  

Table 8 - Additional modelled demand for Older Persons Housing up to 2036xvi  

Tenure   % 

Traditional Sheltered   23 

Extra Care 
Owned 12 

Rented 6 

Sheltered plus or Enhanced Sheltered 
Owned 4 

Rented 4 

Dementia  3 

Leasehold Schemes for the Elderly  48 

Total  100 

 

5.10.7  The London Plan provides annual benchmarks for the delivery of specialist older persons 

housing. Barnet has been set an indicative benchmark of 275 units per annum for C3 housing, which is 

the highest of all the London boroughs. The London Plan highlights the increasing need for 

accommodation suitable for people with dementia and that in delivering specialist older persons housing 

the Council should have regard to local housing needs information including data on the local type and 

tenure of demand, and the indicative benchmarks.  Sites for such housing need to be well-connected in 

225



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

terms of contributing to an inclusive neighbourhood, having access to relevant facilities, social 

infrastructure and health care, and being well served by public transport. 

5.12 Houses in Multiple Occupation 

5.12.5 HMOs are an important source of low cost, private sector housing for students, those on low 

incomes and those seeking temporary accommodation. Many people living in this type of housing will 

only be able to afford shared accommodation (either with or without housing benefit support).  For this 

reason the loss conversion of HMO dwellings that meet the Council’s standards) including conversion to 

self-contained flats will be resisted as this impacts the choice and affordability of housing in the Borough. 

Applicants for such conversions will be expected to demonstrate the absence of need for this type of 

accommodation.  

5.12.6 An important Key considerations for determining new HMO applications is include whether 

proposals have good accessibility by public transport (PTAL 3 to 6), cycling and walking or will could 

reduce mix, inclusivity and sustainability of a neighbourhood, for example whether additions to an 

existing concentration of HMOs could skew the population towards particular groups or lifestyles have an 

unacceptable impact on the prevailing residential character of the area. For Houses in Multiple 

Occupation a harmful concentration is defined as where three or more of the ten nearest properties are 

Houses in Multiple Occupation. The potential harm to nearby residential amenity is also an important 

consideration, for example from residents congregating in outside areas close to other homes with an 

increased intensity of activity and potential for noise and disturbance when compared with other forms of 

residential accommodation. Where appropriate the Council will seek a planning obligation to protect 

amenity through an HMO Management Plan. If a Management Plan is requested it should demonstrate 

how any harm to the living conditions of residents and occupiers of neighbouring properties is 

appropriately mitigated.  

 

226



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

5.12.6A In considering proposals for new HMO the Council will ensure that the approach within Policy 

HOU03 of prioritising family housing needs is not undermined. 

5.13 Student Accommodation 

5.13.1 London’s higher education institutions make a significant contribution to the economy and labour 

market.  Locations such as town centres with good public transport accessibility (PTAL 3 to 6), 

connections are considered more appropriate for student accommodation. Developers intending to build 

new student housing should demonstrate need that links with London’s higher educational institutions, in 

particular local and Central London establishments that are easily accessible by public transport, cycling 

or walking. This should be secured through a nomination agreement. 

5.13.3 Barnet’s higher education establishments are located predominantly in the west of the Borough. 

The Council is working with Middlesex University at the Hendon campus in order to assess the potential 

of the Council’s and University’s land-holdings and allow for the regeneration and optimisation of the 

estate, including increased provision of suitable accommodation to meet the needs of students, ensuring 

that development contributes to a mixed and balanced neighbourhood. This joint work and the planning 

approach to being taken forward through The Burroughs and Middlesex University Supplementary 

Planning Document.  

5.13.8 The London Plan highlights at para 4.1.9 that net non-self-contained accommodation for students 

and shared living schemes should count towards meeting housing targets on the basis of a 3:1 2.5:1 

ratio, with three two and a half bedrooms being counted as a single home. Previously one bedroom 

space equalled one housing unit. Although the proportionate contribution to meeting housing targets will 

be reduced, such accommodation still has an important role to play in widening housing choice and 

addressing need. 

5.13.9 Unlike other low-income households, students are not eligible for welfare payments (such as 

housing benefit) and would not be allocated affordable housing; therefore, student households are also 

excluded from the assessment of affordable housing need. The Council will seek to secure through 

planning obligations / legal agreements, S106 contributions to student housing at rent levels which are 

227



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

affordable to the wider student body. London Plan Policy H157 requires at least 35 per cent % of 

bedrooms delivered to be secured as affordable student accommodation, which is defined through the 

Mayor’s Academic Forum. 

5.14 Purpose Built Shared Living Accommodation 

5.14.2 Proposals for large-scale purpose-built shared living developments are more likely to come 

forward as an alternative to sharing a flat or house. Such developments in planning terms are Sui 

Generis. non self-contained market housing. The Council will only support such proposals when it is 

demonstrated that they meet an identified housing need and they it contributes to a safe, strong and 

cohesive mixed and inclusive neighbourhood, with the Management Plan demonstrating no harmful 

impact on the character and amenities how any harm to the residential amenity of the surrounding area 

is appropriately mitigated. 

5.14.3 A Management Plan must be produced and submitted with the planning application showing how 

the whole development will be managed and maintained to ensure the continued quality of the 

accommodation, communal facilities and services, and that it will positively integrate into the surrounding 

communities. The agreed Management Plan should be secured through a Section 106 agreement. Any 

such proposal will be assessed in accordance with London Plan Policy H18 Large-scale purpose-built 

shared living. 

 
MM 
37 

Chapter 5 
Housing 
 
Policy HOU05   
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Paras  5.15.1, 
5.15.1A, 

Policy HOU05 Efficient Use of Barnet’s Housing Stock  
 
The Council will ensure the efficient use of Barnet’s housing stock in addressing identified housing 
needs. 
 
1. A. Development resulting in the net Lloss of residential accommodation will not be supported 
only in limited circumstances, where permitted unless: 

Re-wording at Part A to provide a 
positive approach setting out that 
development resulting in a net loss of 
residential accommodation will be 
supported in specific limited 
circumstances.  
  
Approach to provision of local 
community facilities  (as it is was too 
locationally restrictive) revised to 
express support for provision of 
social, physical or green 

228



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
5.15.2, 5.15.3 
& 5.15.5 

a) the proposed use is for the provision of social, physical or green infrastructure; a local 
community facility (children’s nursery, educational or health use) where  

b) a local need for that social, physical or green infrastructure can be clearly demonstrated, 
and; demand for the local community facility cannot be met within the Council’s preferred 
locations for such uses (see Policy CHW01) and  

c) the proposed use is not detrimental to residential amenity.; or 
d) The location is no longer viable for residential use; or 
e) The location involves Estate Renewal and Infill with demolition of housing and estates (see 

Policy GSS10) which provides for the net replacement of the total residential units; or 
f) The location is within a Growth Area, Town Centre or Local Centre which provides for the net 

replacement of the total residential units. 
 
2.  The Council will utilise its regulatory powers to reduce the number of vacant dwellings and bring 
them back into use. 
 
3. B The Council will protect housing from permanent conversion to ‘short-stay holiday rental 
accommodation that is used for more than 90 days a year’.  
 
4.  C Opportunities for the temporary (meanwhile) use of vacant buildings or land awaiting longer 
term development for a socially beneficial purpose, are encouraged.  Such temporary (meanwhile) 
accommodation should not have an unacceptable impact on residential amenity or prevent sites 
from being redeveloped in a timely fashion. 
 

infrastructure where local needs are 
clearly demonstrated. Clarification 
that proposed use would not be 
detrimental to amenity of existing 
residents  
 
Deletion of criterion on approaches 
to Estate Renewal and Infill, and 
Growth Areas, Town Centres and 
Local Centres as a consequence of 
aforementioned changes. 
 
Deletion of Part 2 as it was a 
statement of intent that should be in 
supporting text rather than the policy 
wording.  
  
Clarification that Part B relates 
specifically to ‘short-stay holiday 
rental accommodation to be used for 
more than 90 days a year’ to align 
with London Plan policy. 
 
Clarification at Part C to ensure that 
uses are supported subject to no 
unacceptable impact on the amenity 
of existing residents and that they 
would not prevent sites from being 
redeveloped in an efficient and timely 
manner 

229



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
5.15 Efficient Use of Barnet’s Housing Stock 

5.15.1 Barnet is expected to deliver a minimum of 35,460 new homes within the lifetime of the Local 

Plan. This is one of the most challenging housing targets in London. Ensuring the efficient use of the 

housing stock, delivering new homes as well as protecting existing ones, is an appropriate approach to 

meeting this requirement need and is supported by London Plan Policy H9 – Ensuring the best use of 

stock. 

5.15.1A Key priorities of Barnet Housing Strategy, together with the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 

Strategy 2023-28, is to prevent homelessness as well as ensure a sufficient supply of accommodation. 

This includes bringing empty properties back into use and addressing specialist housing needs. There is 

also a need to provide support for people who are or have been homeless. 

5.15.2 It is recognised that there may be specific limited circumstances where the loss of residential 

uses may be acceptable subject to consideration of how it will be replaced. Proposals will be required 

Changes of use may be permitted where a clear local need can be to demonstrated an identified need to 

provide community infrastructure such as health facilities, a children’s nursery or educational use. The 

Council strongly supports the provision of community uses within Barnet’s town centres. This is reflected 

throughout this Local Plan, particularly within Policies CHW01, TOW01 and TOW02. Therefore, Any 

proposal that involves the replacement of residential units with community uses should be of a small 

scale and will be considered on its merits having regard to the impact on the amenity of residents, car 

parking and traffic. In considering such proposals the Council will seek opportunities through appropriate 

design solutions to re-provide or increase on-site residential floorspace. The Council also recognises 

that there may be circumstances where physical infrastructure such as a significant transport 

improvement, and green infrastructure such as improving accessibility to an open space necessitates 

the loss of homes. 

 

230



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

5.15.3 Long term vacant dwellings (over 6 months) can compromise the supply of homes for people to 

live in as well as erode community cohesion. The Council will utilise its regulatory powers to reduce the 

number of vacant dwellings and bring them back into use. The Council It investigates why homes are 

vacant and seeks where possible to bring them back into use. The Council operates an Empty Property 

Grant scheme to support homeowners within Barnet to help bring properties back into use. This can help 

provide a source of income to those homeowners who are going into care. In cases where the owner will 

not work with the Council the appropriate enforcement action will be taken ranging from service of minor 

work notices to compulsory purchase. 

5.15.5 The Council will work with developers and landowners to identify appropriate sites for meanwhile 
uses. These meanwhile uses can include temporary housing on land that is awaiting longer term 
development. Temporary housing can be provided in precision manufactured homes which are capable 
of being delivered and removed quickly as well as reused on other sites. Such temporary 
accommodation should not have an unacceptable impact on residential amenity or prevent sites from 
being redeveloped in a timely fashion. The quality of such homes must meet the policy requirements of 
the Local Plan. 
 

231



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM 
38 

Chapter 5 
Housing 
 
Policy HOU06   
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting 
text. 
 
Sections 5.16, 
5.17 & 5.18 

5.16 Meeting other Housing Needs 

5.17 Build to Rent    

The Local Plan takes a positive approach to Build to Rent as a product that helps to widen housing 

choice in Barnet. In considering this form of housing the Council’s approach will reflect Barnet’s 

distinctive economic position based on rent rather than sales. Build to Rent schemes tend to require a 

minimum amount of dwellings (of over 50 units) to be attractive to institutional investors.  

As part of the Council’s plans for Brent Cross delivery of a Build to Rent scheme is supported (see Policy 

GSS02). Opportunities for Build to Rent, on specific sites with large capacities, have been identified  in 

the Schedule of Proposals (Annex 1) Build to Rent has been highlighted as an appropriate use in its 

contribution to faster build out rates  as well as widening housing choice. The Council will require 

contributions from Build to Rent proposals to affordable housing in accordance with London Plan Policy 

H11. This should be in the form of Discounted Market Rent units delivered at a genuinely affordable rent 

level. Such provision of affordable housing should be in perpetuity. 

  

5.18 Self-Build and Custom Build 

The Self Build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 widened the ability for people to build or commission 

their own home. The supply of self and custom build plots is typically very small scale, usually infill 

between existing dwellings, or in rear gardens. Barnet has a responsibility to allow for the needs of 

people who want to build their own homes; therefore, persons wanting to either self-build or custom-build 

their homes will be supported where it accords with the policies in this Local Plan. Since April 2016 the 

Council has maintained a Self-Build Register to account for those wishing to build their own home.   

 

Deletion of Policy HOU06 and 
supporting text as it is redundant 
following the MM to Policy GSS01 
which adds a policy approach to 
proposals for build to rent and self-
build and custom housebuilding as 
part of the strategic approach to 
delivering sustainable growth. 

232



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

The 2015 Act requires the Council to have regard to demand for Self Build when undertaking planning 

functions. Entrants on the Registerxvii represent an exceptionally small proportion of Barnet’s objectively 

assessed housing need. The Council has therefore not allocated any specific sites in the Schedule of 

Proposals for self-build and custom housebuilding. The Council will keep this under review. The Council 

will support Neighbourhood Plans that consider identifying appropriate sites for self-build or custom-

build. 

Policy HOU06 Meeting Other Housing Needs 

In ensuring that there are the right homes to address housing needs the Council will: 

Build to Rent 

a In consideration of Build to Rent schemes as an alternative to traditional built for sale the Council 

will apply the following criteria: 

i  Ensure through imposition of a covenant that homes remain as Build to Rent for a minimum of 15 

years post construction; 

ii All units are self-contained and let separately; and 

iii There is unified ownership and unified management of the Build to Rent scheme. 

b Requirements for affordable housing will be considered against London Plan Policy H13 Build to 

Rent. 

Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding 

c Neighbourhood Plans will be encouraged to identify opportunities for Self -Build and Custom 

Housebuilding 

 
 

233



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
MM
39 

Chapter 5 
Housing 
 
Policy HOU07 
renumbered as 
HOU06 
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Paras  5.19.1, 
5.19.1A, 
5.19.1B, 
5.19.1C & 
5.19.1D. 

Policy HOU 06 07 Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople  

 

The Council have identified can demonstrate that there is no objectively assessed need for pitches and 

plots for Gypsies and Travellers and Travelling Showpeople households.  

 

Any In the event that proposals for such accommodation that do come forward will be considered the 

Council will consider planning applications on the basis of and attach weight to ensuring: 

 

A. Effective use of previously developed land including close proximity to a main road and safe access 

to the site with adequate space on site to allow for the manoeuvring of vehicles; 

B. Reasonable access to local shops and other community facilities, in particular schools and health 

care; 

Scale of the site is in keeping with local context and character. 

Appropriate landscaping and planting to address impact on amenity and enable integration of the site 

with the surrounding environment. 

Any use on the site does not have any unacceptable adverse impacts on neighbouring residents. 

Appropriate facilities must be provided on-site, including water and waste disposal. 

 That flood risk and the impacts of climate change are taken into account when assessing the suitability 

of sites to ensure that residents on these sites are not highly vulnerable to flooding. 

C.  The site does not have an unduly adverse impact on the local environment, the character of the 

area and the amenities of both local residents and the future occupiers of the site, including the 

potential for noise, traffic movements and other activities likely to be taking place within or in the vicinity 

of the site; 

Clarification that Council have 
identified no objectively assessed 
need for provision of pitches and 
plots for Gypsies and Travellers, and 
Travelling Showpeople households.  
 
Revision to provide certainty that in 
the event that proposals for Gypsies 
and Travellers, and Travelling 
Showpeople accommodation do 
come forward that they will be 
supported provided that they meet 
the listed criteria.  
 
Rewording of criterion a) to focus 
upon seeking effective use of 
previously developed land, together 
with safe access to the site with 
adequate space on site to allow for 
manoeuvring of vehicles.  
 
Revisions in order to clarify the 
approach to layout and landscaping 
so that it is consistent with national 
policy, including promoting 
opportunities for healthy lifestyles 
and assisting the integration of the 
site with surrounding communities.  
  
Rewording  to ensure equivalent 
requirements to those that apply to 
other forms of development 
elsewhere in the Plan in terms of 
avoiding unacceptable impacts on 
the character of the area and the 
amenity of occupiers and 
neighbouring residents (including in 
terms of noise and air quality).  
 

234



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

D. The layout of the site, associated facilities and landscaping, including pitches, hard-standings, 

amenity blocks, parking, turning areas, playspaces and boundary treatments, are well planned to 

ensure the amenity and healthy lifestyles of site residents as well as adjoining occupiers, and facilitate 

the integration of the site in such a way as to positively enhance the environment and increase its 

openness; 

E. The site has, or will have, a supply of essential services, such as mains gas and electricity, water, 

sewerage, drainage and waste disposal; and 

F.  The site is not located in an area at high risk of flooding, including functional floodplains. 

 
5.19 Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople 

5.19.1 The West London Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Accommodation Assessment 

(GTAA) provides a robust and objective assessment of current and future need for accommodation. The 

GTAA identified no current or future need in Barnet for pitches and plots for Gypsy and Traveller 

households as well as Travelling Showpeople. Any applications for new provision should address the 

criteria in Policy HOU06. 

5.19.1A Any new proposed gypsy and traveller sites will need to provide a sustainable safe and 

acceptable potential living environment; which is consistent with the characteristics expected of 

mainstream housing and ideally forming part of a wider balanced and mixed residential community. An 

important consideration is that the design and layout of gypsy and travellers’ sites, does not have an 

unduly adverse impact on the local environment, the character of the area and the amenities of both 

local residents and the future occupiers of the site, facilitating the integration of the site within the 

surrounding environment. The PPTS sets out at Section 4 guidance on determining planning 

applications for traveller sites. 

 

Revisions to ensure that the site has, 
or will be served by, a suitable supply 
of essential services including 
provision of mains gas and 
electricity, water, sewerage, drainage 
and for waste disposal.  
 
Clarification on approach to flood risk 
to ensure consistency with the 
requirements of national policy. 
 
Revisions to supporting text to align 
more closely with national policy in 
Planning Policy for Traveller Sites 
(PPTS), to clarify the approach to 
negotiated stopping as part of the 
management of unauthorised 
encampments, and a commitment 
that the preparation and publication 
of findings of a London-wide Gypsy 
and Traveller accommodation needs 
assessment, taking account of the 
2021 Census, will inform the 
committed early review of the Plan. 
 

235



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

5.19.1B The Council acknowledges that insufficient pitch provision can contribute to a rise in 

unauthorised encampments, with implications for the health and wellbeing of Gypsies, Travellers and 

Travelling Showpeople, community cohesion and costs for boroughs and public services. Negotiated 

Stopping is usually the Council’s preferred approach for managing unauthorised encampments rather 

than the rapid eviction of caravans. This allows caravans to be sited on suitable specific pieces of 

ground for an agreed and limited period of time, with the provision of essential services such as water, 

waste  disposal and toilets. As part of the evidence base the Council has a record of unauthorised 

encampments and will continue to monitor such incidents.  Although on the basis of this rigorous 

assessment and monitoring of unauthorised encampments there is no known need for accommodation 

in Barnet, the Government’s Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (PPTS) suggests the use of a criteria 

based policy for any unknown households that do provide evidence that they meet the planning 

definition. This enables the Council to actively plan for Gypsy and Travellers’ accommodation needs, 

ensuring that new sites are well-connected to social community infrastructure, health care, education 

and public transport facilities, and contribute to a wider, inclusive neighbourhood. The Council will work 

with the Mayor on a London-wide Gypsy and Traveller accommodation needs assessment 

5.19.1C The Council is working with the Mayor of London on the production of a London-wide Gypsy 

and Traveller accommodation needs assessment (GTANA). The final report of the London-wide GTANA, 

together with demographic data from the 2021 Census on Gypsy, Irish Traveller and Roma households 

in Barnet, will inform the early review of the Local Plan.  

5.19.1D The Council acknowledges that households in Barnet who do, and who do not meet, the 

planning definition may be identified by the London-wide GTANA. The Council may consider providing 

culturally appropriate accommodation for those households that do not meet the planning definition. The 

need for culturally appropriate accommodation will be addressed through the Council’s Housing Strategy 

together with partnership working at a sub-regional or regional level. Where provision of culturally 

appropriate accommodation is not possible, the need for such accommodation will be addressed through 

a review of the Local Plan. The Council notes the revised PPTS published in December 2023 and the 

Government’s stated intention to review the approach to this area of policy and case law in 2024. 

236



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

Therefore, in addition to taking account of the GTANA once published, the next Local Plan review will 

also provide an opportunity to reflect any subsequent revisions made to the PPTS.      

 
MM 
40 

Chapter 6 
Character, 
Design & 
Heritage 
 
Paras 2.2.1A, 
2.2.1B, 2.2.1C 
& 6.1.1 
 

2.2 Opportunities for Good Growth 

2.2.1A The Council aspires to deliver more than just new homes in Barnet. It wants to make sure we are 

building communities where people can thrive. It is essential that our new homes are supported by the 

right infrastructure, including access to jobs, green spaces, local businesses, community facilities and 

state-of the art digital infrastructure. This is good growth. 

2.2.1B Good growth is also about good design. To help create well designed, beautiful and safe 

places, the Council has introduced a Design Review Panel. This will enable design issues to be 

discussed at an early stage in the planning process when there is greater opportunity for change. 

Planning decisions can demonstrate how design review has been addressed, ensuring that proposals 

show how they have considered and addressed the design review recommendations and that the 

most efficient use of land is made so that the development on all sites is optimised. 

 

2.2.1C The NPPF advises that local design codes should be the primary tools for local planning 

authorities to assess and improve the design of development The Council is therefore also 

considering the scope for producing design codes and guidance capable of carrying weight in 

decision making. 

 

6.1 National and London Plan Policy Context 

6.1.1 Specific National and London Plan policies to be taken into account 

NPPF  

Section 12 Achieving Well Designed Places specifically paras 125 to 132.   

Section 16 Conserving and enhancing the historic environment specifically paras 189 to 202  

  

Updates to relevant London Plan 
policies and guidance and to make 
reference to National Design Guide 
and National Model Design Code 
and to reflect emphasis on delivering 
good design and introduction of the 
Design Review Panel 

237



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

London Plan   

Policy Objective GG3 Creating a healthy city   

Policy D1 London’s form and character and capacity for growth  

Policy D2 Infrastructure requirements for sustainable densities  

Policy D3 Optimising site capacity through design-led approach  

Policy D4 Delivering good design  

Policy D5 Inclusive design  

Policy D6 Housing quality and standards  

Policy D7 Accessible housing  

Policy D6 Optimising housing density   

Policy D8 Public realm   

Policy D9 Tall buildings  

Policy D10 Basement development  

Policy D11 Safety, security and resilience to emergency   

Policy D12 Fire safety  

Policy D13 Agent of Change  

Policy S4 Play and informal recreation 

Policy HC1 Heritage Conservation and Growth   

Policy HC3 Strategic and Local Views  

Policy HC4 London View Management Framework   

Policy SI 2 Minimising greenhouse gas emissions  

Policy SI 3 Energy infrastructure  

Policy SI 7 Reducing waste and supporting the circular economy  

Policy T2 Healthy Streets 

  

238



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

Mayor of London - Accessible London: Achieving an inclusive environment SPG  

Mayor of London – Housing SPG 

Mayor of London – Circular Economy LPG  

Mayor of London - Character and Context SPG 

Mayor of London Characterisation and Growth Strategy LPG  

Mayor of London Optimising Site Capacity – A Design Led Approach LPG 

Mayor of London Small Sites Design Code LPG  

Mayor of London Housing Design Standards LPG  

Mayor of London Public London Charter LPG   

 

6.2 Introduction  

6.2.1 Delivering well designed safe, sustainable homes and places where people choose to work, rest 

and stay has never been as important and the emphasis on design to building back better has never 

been as great.  This is reflected in the National Design Guide and National Model Design Code which 

read together illustrate how well-designed places that are beautiful, healthy, greener, enduring and 

successful can be achieved in practice. work of the Building Better Building Beautiful Commission and 

the radical reforms to the English planning system as proposed in the imaginatively titled White Paper – 

Planning for the Future, published in August 2020.  

  

6.2.2 As, post Barnet recovers from COVID19, and the Borough’s opportunities for growth are further 

realised, the character of this suburban London borough will inevitably change. An important role for the 

Local Plan and the suite of supporting SPDs and accompanying  (including design codes that help 

underpin it), is managing that change and retaining the qualities that attract people to live in Barnet and 

make it the most family friendly place in London. To create the safe, beautiful, sustainable and 

successful places an appropriate balance must be struck which involves focus on the design quality of 

239



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

places and new development responding to its context in terms of existing character, appearance and 

scale.  

 

6.2.2A The Council has introduced a Design Review Panel. London Plan Policy D4(E) – Delivering Good 

Design sets out the format for design reviews highlighting that they should be agreed by the Council and 

comply with the Mayor’s guidance on review principles, process and management. This helps to ensure 

that design reviews are carried out transparently by independent experts in relevant disciplines, that 

comments are mindful of the wider policy context and focus on interpreting policy for the specific scheme 

and that where a scheme is reviewed more than once, subsequent design reviews reference and build 

on the recommendations of previous design reviews. The outcome of this process is that planning 

decisions demonstrate how design review has been addressed, ensuring that proposals show how they 

have considered and addressed the design review recommendations and that the most efficient use of 

land is made so that the development on all sites is optimised. 

 
MM 
41 

Chapter 6 
Character, 
Design & 
Heritage 
 
Policy CDH01  
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Paras 6.33, 
6.36, 6.4.1, 
6.4.2, 6.4.4, 
6.5.1, 6.5.2, 
6.6.1, 6.6.1A, 
6.7.1, 6.8.1, 
6.9.1, 6.9.2, 
6.10.1, 6.10.3 
& 6.11.1. 
 
 

 

Policy CDH01 Promoting High Quality Design   
A. In order to make the most efficient use of land residential proposals all new 

development must be developed at an optimise the capacity of sitesum density. A 

design-led approach (set out in London Plan Policy D3) to optimise determine site 

capacity should deliver the most appropriate form and land use for the site. an optimum 

density. This approach should include consideration of consider local context and 

capacity for growth, accessibility by walking and cycling and existing and planned public 

transport as well as the capacity of and infrastructure, and support higher density 

development in the most sustainable and well-connected locations and areas with 

existing high-density development.   

B. All new development should be of a high architectural and urban design quality and 

have regard to the National Model Design Code, and guidance within the Barnet’s 

Sustainable Design and Development Guidance SPD which, once published, will set out 

a and Design Code for Small Sites. This will promote, and provide guidance on 

  
Reflect London Plan policies D3 and 
H2 in respect of the design-led 
approach to development.  
  
Clarification on purpose and role of 
future SPD and the Design Code for 
Small Sites. 
  
Focus on provision of safe 
environments, including with respect 
to crime and disorder, fear of crime, 
and addition of wording to clarify that 
proposals should seek to design out 
crime have regard to Secured by 
Design principles. 
  
Removal of ‘national residential 
space standards’ to avoid referring to 
standards other than those set out by 
Table 8 (as re-numbered) and Policy 
D6 of the London Plan.  

240



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
 

achieving, ensure the resulting homes and local environment are of a higher standards 

of homes and local environment together with consideration of the incorporation of and 

biodiversity, water management and sustainable drainage measures. are incorporated.   

C. The Council will expect development proposals to:  

a) Respond sensitively to the distinctive local character and design, building form, patterns 

of development, scale, massing, roof form and height of the existing context.   

b) Use materials of a suitable quality and appearance to respect local character and 

setting.  

c) Ensure attractive, safe and, where appropriate, vibrant streets which are designed in 

accordance with the Healthy Streets Approach, (set out in London Plan Policy T2), and 

with active frontages that provide visual interest, particularly at street level., that help to 

improve street safety and amenity, promote active travel and reduce car use as well as 

to  improve health and reduce inequality.  

d) Adopt Provide safe and secure environments, meeting the requirements of the Building 

Safety Act 2022 and having regard to Secured by Design principles to create safe and 

secure environments that reduce opportunities for crime and help minimise the fear of 

crime.  

e) Apply Comply with the requirements set out in Tables 9 8 and 10 9 for the internal 

layout and design of new homes, in accordance with national residential space 

standards and the London Plan.  

f) Provide a good standard of amenity that is consistent with other policies in the Plan and 

will A allow for adequate acceptable levels of daylight, sunlight, privacy and outlook for 

adjoining and potential occupants occupiers and nearby users impacted by the 

development.  

g) Provide accessible outdoor amenity space to comply with Policy CDH075.   

h) Through building design should consider solutions to minimise light pollution and avoid 

intrusive lighting infrastructure, whilst addressing security and safety issues. 

 
Re-wording to clarify that 
development may affect the amenity 
of occupiers of property beyond 
those immediately adjacent to a site, 
and to refer to a threshold for 
acceptability of the impacts on 
amenity considerations such as 
daylight that is consistent with other 
policies in the Plan. 
 
Corrections to refer to and align with 
Policy CDH07 and not Policy 
CDH05.  
 
Broaden scope to address pollution 
impacts beyond only noise. 
  
Consequential changes to the 
supporting text to ensure a 
consistent approach. This includes 
updating to reflect LURA 2023 and 
changes to draw attention to relevant 
London Plan policies:  
 
D6 including paras 3.6.2 and 3.6.5,  
  
reference to the Healthy Streets 
Approach at London Plan Policy T2,  
  
revise para 6.4.2 to be positively 
worded,  
  
clarification at para 6.5.1 that not all 
small site development will constitute 
infilling,  
  
para 6.6.1 revised to reflect the 
approach to Secured by Design  
  

241



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

i) viii Mitigate adverse noise impacts on the surrounding environment and amenity through 

design, layout, and insulation in accordance with the Agent of Change principle 

introduced through London Plan Policy D13.   
 

 
 
6.3 Barnet’s Character   

  

6.3.3 The Characterisation Study should be used as a tool to help judge the effect of development on 

character. The Residential Design Guidance SPD provides more specific requirements on development 

that is suitable for Barnet’s distinctive suburban character. Upon adoption of the Local Plan the Council 

will produce a Sustainable Design and Development Guidance SPD. This SPD will replace two existing 

SPDs on Residential Design Guidance and Sustainable Design and Construction provide more specific 

guidance on development that is suitable for Barnet’s distinctive suburban character.  

 

6.3.6 The design of new buildings and shopfronts can have a significant impact on the appearance and 

character of a shopping area or street, particularly where facades and adverts are changed without 

careful thought. A shopfront may be of traditional or modern design and use a variety of materials, but 

should relate to the local street scene and observe the principles highlighted in Barnet’s Sustainable 

Design and Development Guidance SPD. New or altered shopfronts should be designed to respect the 

building of which they are part, as well as any adjoining shopfronts and the general street scene. 
  

6.4 Promoting High Quality Design 

6.4.1 The NPPF  highlights the importance of good design in the creation of high quality buildings and 

places. As part of the planning reforms highlighted in the 2020 White Paper and in response to the 

Building Better Building Beautiful Commission “Living with Beauty” report the NPPF is being revised and 

a draft  The National Model Design Code  published provides detailed guidance on the production of 

design codes, guides and policies to promote successful design. The National Design Guide Code sets 

para 6.7.3 deleted to avoid any 
inconsistency issues with heritage 
Policy CDH08,  
  
para 6.9.2 deleted due to a lack of 
relevant evidence about that matter. 
 
Clarifications and consequential 
changes from other MMs including 
those to Policy ECC02. 

242



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

out the characteristics of well-designed places and demonstrates what good design means in practice 

as well as providing detailed guidance and clear design parameters on the production of Borough 

design codes and guides. In accordance with the Levelling Up and Regeneration Act 2023 and the 

NPPF (para 128) the Council will prepare a design guide consistent with the principles set out in the 

National Design Guide and National Model Design Code reflecting local character and design 

preferences as part of the Sustainable Design and Development Guidance SPD following adoption of 

the Local Plan. 

  

6.4.2 The NPPF states that “development that is not well designed should be refused, especially where 

it fails to reflect local design policies and government guidance on design”. The Council expects will not 

approve designs for new development that is are inappropriate to the local context and or does not take 

opportunities to protect and enhance the environment, character and quality of an area. High quality 

design solutions help to make new places that can make a positive contribution to the existing suburban 

character. Detailed assessment of the impacts of development proposals will be based on a set of 

criteria that seek to ensure that the local character and existing context are reflected, to deliver high 

quality design, accessible buildings and connected spaces that are fit for purpose and meet the needs 

of local residents. Such criteria will be set out in the Sustainable Design and Development Guidance 

SPD following adoption of the Local Plan.  

  

6.4.4 Good design should promote healthy lifestyles, cohesive neighbourhoods and vibrant streets, and 

create buildings that have minimal negative impact on the environment, during construction and beyond 

to demonstrate high regard for natural assets. To improve health and reduce health inequalities, in 

accordance with the Mayor of London’s Healthy Streets approach (London Plan Policy T2), 

development proposals should deliver patterns of land use that facilitate residents making shorter, 

regular trips by walking or cycling. Innovative good design will be encouraged, particularly when it can 

help mitigate negative impacts on the environment with simple solutions.  

 

6.5 Design Code for Small Sites  

243



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

6.5.1 Small sites of infill development (normally below 0.25 hectares) have a significant role in Barnet’s 

housing delivery - ensuring we get the right homes in the right places, typically providing an opportunity 

to use brownfield infill sites.  The Council will pro-actively support well designed new homes on small 

sites in order to:  

1) significantly increase the contribution of small sites to meeting Barnet’s housing needs; 

2) diversify the sources, locations, type and mix of housing supply; and  

3) support small and medium-sized housebuilders.  

 

6.5.2 Small site development is typified by infill development on vacant or underused brownfield sites in 

existing residential areas. This type of development often faces a range of planning constraints and 

often causes considerable concerns to local communities because of its impact on amenity and 

character. Through the use of a specific Design Code for Small Sites The Council will produce a suite of 

clear and specific design parameters for development of small sites that responds to the context 

provided by Barnet’s Characterisation Study. The Small Sites Design Code will form part of the 

Sustainable Design and Development Guidance SPD.  

  

6.6 Safety, Security and Design  

  

6.6.1 A well designed environment can help to reduce both the real and perceived risk of crime. The 

design and layout of buildings, open spaces, roads and footpaths can influence opportunities to 

commit crime and also affect people’s sense of safety and security. Appropriate design and layout of 

landscaping, planting and lighting can help reduce crime and the fear of crime. Development proposals 

should be designed to provide safety within the development site and in adjacent areas. Measures to 

design out crime should be integral to development proposals, adopting having regard to Secured by 

Design. Where appropriate, the The Council will consult with the local Metropolitan Police Service 

‘Design Out Crime’ officers to ensure through conditions on planning consents that Secured by Design 

is applied where relevant.  

 

244



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

6.6.1A  In accordance with the Building Safety Act 2022 developers will be required to manage safety 

risks, with clear lines of responsibility for safety during design, construction, completion and occupation 

of high-rise buildings. Building owners will need to demonstrate that they have effective, proportionate 

measures in place to manage safety risks. All new Tall Buildings must meet the requirements of the 

Building Safety Act 2022 with clear lines of responsibility falling on the accountable person, as defined 

within legislation, for safety during design, construction, completion and occupation of higher-risk 

buildings. 

6.7 Residential Space Standards  

    

6.7.1 The nationally described space standard is a technical planning standard that takes into account 

the need for rooms to be able to accommodate a basic set of furniture, fittings, activity and circulation 

space necessary for effective use. The space standard in Table 9 8 sets out a comprehensive range of 

one, two and three storey dwelling types with one to six bedrooms and up to eight bedspaces (as well as 

studio flats). The London Plan (Table 3.1) applies the nationally described space standard as a minimum 

residential space standard for new dwellings. Any changes to the standards in the London Plan will be 

applied to development in Barnet. The space standards are intended to ensure that all new homes are fit 

for purpose and offer the potential to be occupied over time by households of all tenures.   

  

6.7.3 Conversion of heritage buildings may present particular challenges for minimum space standards. 

In line with Policy CDH07, any impact on the heritage value will be weighed against the benefit brought 

from meeting the sustainable design and construction requirements. 

 

6.8 National Space Standards 

 

6.8.1 Poor quality housing generated by the Government’s relaxation of permitted development rights 

has caused significant concern within the Borough. The inadequacies of such accommodation was 

245



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

further exposed by the COVID19 pandemic. This has now been recognised by the Government with all 

new dwellings created through permitted development rights from April 2021 needing to:  

• have a gross internal floorspace of at least 37 square metres; or  

• comply with the nationally described space standard (which are reflected in Tables 8 and 9 

of this Plan).  

 

6.9 Internal Layout and Design   

 

6.9.1 To ensure that homes are fit for purpose and provide safe and healthy living environments the 

internal layout of rooms and design of dwellings is an important consideration. Barnet’s requirements as 

set out in Table 10 9 are consistent with those in the London Plan; para 3.6.2 of which states that the 

space standards are minimums which applicants are encouraged to exceed, also that they are 

applicable to all new self-contained dwellings of any tenure. Any changes to the standards set out in the 

London Plan will be applied to development in Barnet. A minimum ceiling height of 2.5m for at least 75% 

of the gross internal dwelling area is required so that new housing is of adequate quality, especially in 

terms of light, ventilation and sense of space. In accordance with London Plan para 3.6.5 single aspect 

dwellings, which are more difficult to ventilate naturally and more likely to overheat, should normally be 

avoided. Dual aspect dwellings are therefore encouraged. and w Where single aspect flats are 

considered acceptable, they should demonstrate that all habitable rooms and the kitchen are capable of 

providing good ventilation, privacy and daylight and the orientation enhances amenity, including views. 

COVID19 has highlighted the need for homes to be places for safe working as well as healthy living. 

New homes should therefore be designed to enable a transition from living to working spaces and allow 

sufficient flexibility to adapt to the changing needs and circumstances of residents. This includes access 

to high quality digital communications infrastructure as set out in Policy TRC04.  

  

6.9.2 In addition to general internal storage there should be ‘dirty’22 storage space for items such as 

bicycles and buggies, which could be provided as a communal facility for flats. The level of provision as 

set out in the London Plan is:   

246



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

• 1m² for flats without private gardens.   

• 2.5m² for houses, bungalows and flats with private gardens for up to four people.   

• 3.0m² for houses, bungalows and flats with private gardens for five or more people.   

• Any changes to the standards set out in the London Plan will be applied to development in 

Barnet.  

247



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 

6.10 Amenity – Lighting, Privacy, Noise  

6.10.1 Proposals that significantly harm the amenity of neighbouring occupiers will not be acceptable. 

Protecting amenity helps to protect residents’ wellbeing and privacy. It is important to ensure that 

development does not significantly overshadow neighbouring buildings, block daylight, reduce sunlight, 

or result in a loss of privacy or outlook. Further guidance on standards affecting daylight, sunlight, 

privacy and outlook are will be set out within the Sustainable Design and Development Guidance SPD.  

Barnet’s suite of Supplementary Planning Documents.   

6.10.3 Noise can reduce the quality of life of people living or working in the Borough. Planning controls 

can help to minimise noise disturbance in new developments with planning conditions used to control the 

operating hours of a particular source of noise. Planning conditions can also be used to reduce the 

effects of noise on nearby noise sensitive residential uses, for example by screening with natural barriers 

or with consideration for the arrangement of buildings. The Agent of Change principle places the 

responsibility for mitigating impacts from existing noise and other nuisance-generating activities or uses 

on the proposed new noise-sensitive development. Policy ECC02 sets out further details with regards to 

environmental considerations of development including air quality and noise, in addition to London Plan 

Policy D13 which considers the impacts of noise and other nuisance generating activities on a wider 

scale. Further guidance on managing and mitigating noise in mixed-use development and town centre 

development is also provided in the Mayor’s London Environment Strategy.23  

6.11 Sustainable Residential Density  

6.11.1 Policy GSS01 sets out the Council’s strategic approach to development highlighting the locations 

where growth will be supported. The Council will seek to optimise rather than simply maximise housing 

density. This enables full consideration of the local context, relating appropriate density ranges to 

existing building form and massing as well as the location (central, urban, suburban), design-led 

248



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

beautiful buildings addressing national and local design codes, public transport accessibility and the 

provision of social community infrastructure.   

 
MM 
42 

Chapter 6 
Character, 
Design & 
Heritage 
 
Table 8 (as  re 
numbered). 

 

Table 9 8 Minimum residential space standard requirements  

Bedrooms  Bedspaces  
Minimum GIA (m2)  

Built-in 

storage (m2)  
1 storey 

dwellings  
2 storey 

dwellings  
3 storey 

dwellings  

1b  
1p  39 (37)*      1.0  

2p  50  58    1.5  

2b  
3p  61  70    

2.0  
4p  70  79    

3b  

4p  74  84  90  

2.5  5p  86  93  99  

6p  95  102  108  

4b  

5p  90  97  103  

3.0  
6p  99  106  112  

7p  108  115  121  

8p  117  124  130  

5b  

6p  103  110  116  

3.5  7p  112  119  125  

8p  121  128  134  

6b  
7p  116  123  129  

4.0  
8p  125  132  138  

Updates to Table 8 (as re-numbered) 
to incorporate the Notes to Table 3.1 
of the London Plan and delete 
Footnote 3 about ceiling heights, 
which does not reconcile with  
 
London Plan Policy D6(F) and 
reflected in Table 9 (as re-
numbered). 

249



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

Key b: bedrooms p: persons 
1. *Where a studio / one single bedroom one person dwelling has a shower room instead of a 

bathroom, the floor area may be reduced from 39m2 to 37m2, as shown bracketed.   
2. The Gross Internal Area (GIA) of a dwelling is defined as the total floor space measured 

between the internal faces of perimeter walls that enclose a dwelling. This includes 
partitions, structural elements, cupboards, ducts, flights of stairs and voids above stairs. GIA 
should be measured and denoted in square metres (m2).  Built-in storage areas are included 
within the overall GIA and include an allowance of 0.5m2 for fixed services or equipment 
such as a hot water cylinder, boiler or heat exchanger.  

3. GIAs for one storey dwellings include enough space for one bathroom and one additional 
WC (or shower room) in dwellings with five or more bedspaces. GIAs for two and three storey 
dwellings include enough space for one bathroom and one additional WC (or shower room). 
Additional sanitary facilities may be included without increasing the GIA, provided that all 
aspects of the space standard have been met. 

4. The nationally described space standard sets a minimum ceiling height of 2.3 metres for at 

least 75% of the gross internal area of the dwelling. To address the unique heat island effect 

of London and the distinct density and flatted nature of most of its residential development, 

a minimum ceiling height of 2.5m for at least 75% of the gross internal area is strongly 

encouraged so that new housing is of adequate quality, especially in terms of light, 

ventilation and sense of space.   
 
 

MM 
43 

Chapter 6 
Character, 
Design & 
Heritage 
 
Table 9 (as 
renumbered) 

 
Table 10 9 Internal layout and design requirements  

 

  Development scale  

A habitable room is a any room used or intended to be used for sleeping, cooking, living or 

eating purposes. within a dwelling – the primary purpose for which is for living, sleeping, cooking 

or dining, Enclosed spaces such as bath or toilet facilities, corridors, hallways, utility rooms or 

similar should not be considered habitable rooms. including kitchens where total area is more 

Revisions to Table to reflect: 
 
definition of ‘habitable room’ in the 
glossary of London Plan, 
 
all elements of Policy D6(F) including 
standards 2, 4 and 8, and Policy 
D6(C) in respect of single and dual 
aspect dwellings.   
  
Removal of  reference to categories 
C and D as this is unclear and not 
sufficiently justified. 

250



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

than 13m2 (including fittings), or the dining space if it is divided from the working area by a 

moveable partition. Rooms exceeding 20m2 will be counted as two.  

Minimum room dimensions and floor areas:   
Single bedroom: minimum floor area should be 7.5 m2 and is at least  
2.15m wide to comply with the nationally described space standard 

Double/twin bedroom: A two bedspace double (or twin) bedroom must 

have a floor area of at least 11.5 sq.m. A dwelling with two or more 

bedspaces must have at least one double (or twin) bedroom that is at 

least 2.75m wide and every other double (or twin) bedroom must be at 

least 2.55m wide. 

minimum floor area should be 11.5 m2 and minimum width should be 

2.75 m to comply with the nationally described space standard  

Any area with a headroom of less than 1.5m is not counted within the 

Gross Internal Area (GIA) unless used solely for storage. Any other area 

that is used solely for storage and has a headroom of 0.9 to 1.5m (such 

as under eaves) can only be counted up to 50 per cent of its floor area, 

and any area lower than 0.9m is not counted at all. 

A built-in wardrobe counts towards the GIA and bedroom floor area 

requirements but should not reduce the effective width of the room 

below the minimum widths set out above. Any built-in area in excess of 

0.72 sq.m. in a double bedroom and 0.36 sq.m. in a single bedroom 

count towards the built-in storage requirement. 

Minor, major and 

large scale residential  

Ceiling heights   

A minimum floor to ceiling height of 2.5m for at least 75% of the GIA of 

each dwelling. area. Habitable floorspace in rooms with sloping ceilings 

is defined as that with 1.5 m or more of ceiling height.  

Minor, major and 

large scale residential  

251



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

Housing development should maximise the provision of dual aspect 

dwellings and normally avoid the provision of single aspect dwellings. 

Development proposals should avoid single aspect dwellings that are 

north facing or exposed to noise exposure categories C & D or contain 

three or more bedrooms.  

Minor, major and 

large scale residential   

 

252



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM
44 

Chapter 6  
 
Character, 
Design & 
Heritage 
 
Policy CDH02 
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Paras 6.12.1, 
6.13.1, 6.13.3, 
6.13.4, 6.13.5, 
6.14.2, 6.15.1, 
6.15.2, 
6.15.2a, 
6.15.2B, 
6.16.1 & 
6.16.2. 

 

Policy CDH02 Sustainable and Inclusive Design  

A. - Sustainable Design and Construction - New Development 

a) All new development is required to mitigate and where necessary adapt to the impacts of 
climate change, adopting sustainable technology and design and construction principles in 
accordance with Policy ECC01.   

 

b) Major development is required to be net zero-carbon in accordance with the Mayor’s Energy 
Hierarchy, supported by an energy masterplan to identify the most effective energy supply options 
and utilise energy from waste.  

 b)c) Development proposals for non-residential buildings are required encouraged to achieve a 
minimum BREEAM ‘Very Good’ rating or higher in accordance with due regard to the guidance 
within the Sustainable Design and Development Guidance SPD25.  

 

d)c) Microclimate/Wind and Thermal Conditions are required, to be managed with due regard to 
be managed in accordance with guidance within the Sustainable Design and Development 
Guidance SPD.  

B. Inclusive Design and Access Standards   

a) e)Development proposals are required to meet the highest standards of accessible and 
inclusive design (as set out in London Plan Policy D5). An Inclusive Design Statement should be 
included within the Design and Access Statement is required to ensure that proposals meet the 
following principles:  

i. can be used safely, easily and with dignity by all;     

ii. are convenient and welcoming with no disabling barriers, so everyone can access 
developments and use their facilities them independently without undue effort, separation or special 
treatment; and  

iii. are designed to incorporate safe and dignified emergency evacuation for all building users.  

  

Correction to align with Policy 
ECC01 and para 20(d) of the NPPF 
in respect of climate change. 
  
Remove former part b) as only some 
of the requirements of Policy ECC01 
are summarised and part A already 
refers to Policy ECC01. 
 
Revised to reflect Ministerial 
Statement on Energy Efficiency and 
provide flexibility with regards to 
BREEAM’s holistic approach beyond 
that of energy efficiency 
  
Clarification about application of 
BREEAM  
  
Clarification that SPDs are guidance 
only. 
  
Clarification that Inclusive Design 
Statements are required within 
Design and Access Statements to 
ensure alignment with Policy D5 of 
the London Plan. 
  
Clarification on accessible housing 
by making reference  
  
Consequential changes to the 
supporting text to ensure a 
consistent approach. This includes  
  
Clarification that the criteria for 
Inclusive Design Statements set out 
by para 3.5.3 of the London Plan 
apply in addition to the criteria in part 
A of CDH02.  
 

253



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

b) f) All residential development is required to meet as a minimum Building Regulation M4 (2) 
‘accessible and adaptable dwellings’.  Provide accessible housing in accordance with London Plan 
Policy D7 whereby residential development must ensure that at least 10 per cent of dwellings meet 
Building Regulation requirement M4(3) ‘wheelchair user dwellings’ and all other dwellings meet 
Building Regulation requirement M4(2) ‘accessible and adaptable dwellings’. 

  

g) All major residential developments are required to provide 10% of new units as ‘wheelchair user 
dwellings’ in order to meet Building Regulation M4 (3). 

  

 
 
6.12 Sustainable and Inclusive Design 

6.12.1 Standards set out in Policy CDH02 will help deliver high quality development in Barnet that is 

sustainable and inclusive. These standards are supported by Barnet’s suite of design guidance 

Supplementary Planning Documents . Sustainable Design and Development Guidance SPD. 

 

6.13 Climate Mitigation and Carbon Reduction 

6.13.1 In May 2022 the Council declared a Climate and Biodiversity Emergency. The Council fully 

endorses the Mayor’s ambition, as set out in the London Plan, for the capital to become zero carbon The 

Council is on a credible path to achieving net zero emissions and helping make London a zero-carbon 

city by 2050. The Council supports will abide to the Mayor’s work around designing for a Circular 

Economy1. It will and use the Mayor’s energy hierarchy to help reduce carbon emissions from 

construction and operation and encourage retention and adaptation of existing buildings wherever 

practicable as well as encourage opportunities for on-site electricity and heat production, the use of 

innovative building materials and smart technologies.  

 

 

Clarification at para 6.13.3 to reflect 
Ministerial Statement and how 
BREAAM assessment can be used 
  
revision to para 6.13.4 to align with 
the NPPF’s approach to heritage 
assets. 

254



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

6.13.3 BREEAM New Construction and BREEAM (Refurbishment) represent the suite of environmental 

assessment schemes that are nationally managed by the Building Research Establishment (BRE)25 . 

However, the Written Ministerial Statement: Planning - Local Energy Efficiency Standards Update 

(December 2023) makes clear that planning policies should not set local energy efficiency standards 

that go beyond current or planned building regulations. A BREEAM ‘Very Good’ rating may not be 

feasible for all development without exceeding the requirements of building regulations due to the 

weighting of energy efficiency improvements in its methodology. However, the achievement of a 

BREEAM rating is affected by a range of design and other considerations that extend beyond the 

energy efficiency of development and have the potential to contribute to the Council’s and the Mayor’s 

sustainability objectives as set out in Policy ECC01 and the London Plan. It follows that development is 

encouraged to achieve a BREEAM ‘Very Good’ rating or higher where possible having regard to the 

Sustainable Design and Development SPD.  Amongst those objectives, Policy ECC01 expects all 

development to be energy-efficient and seek to minimise any wasted heat or power and Policy SI2 of 

the London Plan sets out carbon reduction targets pursued by the Mayor.  Major development is 

expected to be in accordance with the Mayor’s Energy Hierarchy to reduce carbon dioxide emissions (in 

accordance with Part L of the Building Regulations). All major development will be required to 

demonstrate, through an Energy Statement, compliance with the Mayor’s zero carbon targets.   

 

6.13.4 Sustainable design and construction measures must be considered having regard to Exceptions 

to this requirement may be considered in cases potential impacts on the significance of a designated 

heritage asset (see Policy CDH08). concerning the refurbishment of listed buildings and buildings in 

conservation areas. Applicants will need to balance any harm caused to heritage assets against the 

wider sustainability benefits in consultation with the conservation and design team. Applicants should 

justify any exceptions explain the approach taken in an Energy Statement Strategy where relevant as set 

out in London Plan para 9.2.12. 

 

 
 
1 Circular Economy LPG 

255



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

6.13.5 Climate change will intensify localised climatic conditions, which can be mitigated and adapted to 

through good design. It is essential that the microclimatic conditions of the urban environment are 

considered as part of the design process to ensure that the impacts of massing and building 

configuration can lead to acceptable standards of comfort and wellbeing.  Full guidance and design 

principles will be set out should be referred to in the Sustainable Design and Development and 

Construction Guidance SPD, with particular focus on wind and thermal conditions.  

  

6.14 Accessibility and Inclusive Design  

  

6.14.2 The Council will require an Inclusive Design Statement as part of the Design and Access 

Statement. The London Plan (Policy D5 – Inclusive Design) sets out what is expected from an Inclusive 

Design Statement and signposts other guidance on Inclusive Design including the Accessible London – 

Achieving an Inclusive Environment SPG as well as British Standards BS8300 Volumes 1 and 2.  Para 

3.53 of the London Plan outlines the process that should be followed and the matters that should be 

addressed within an Inclusive Design Statement. 

  

6.15 Accessible and Adaptable Dwellings   

  

6.15.1 The growing and changing requirements for housing older people is one of the most important 

emerging planning issues for London. Increasingly, older people are choosing to live independent and 

semi-independent lives in their own homes resulting in a need for more accessible and adaptable 

dwellings that can meet their needs. Policy CDH02 sets out standardised accessibility and adaptability 

requirements for all new residential development. Part M of the Building Regulations is comprised of the 

following three optional categories:   

• M4(1) – Category 1 Visitable dwellings.  

• M4(2) – Category 2 Accessible and adaptable dwellings.  

256



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

• M4(3) – Category 3 Wheelchair user dwellings.   

  

6.15.2 Part M of the Building Regulations generally applies to new dwellings only and not to conversions 

or changes of use. In order to provide suitable housing and genuine choice of accessible housing, the 

London Plan (Policy D7) stipulates that all residential development meets Building Regulation 

requirement M4(2) and that at least 10 per cent of dwellings meet the M4(3) requirement.  The 

nationally described space standard also takes into account the spatial implications of providing 

improved accessibility and adaptability, particularly for older or less mobile people, and is capable of 

accommodating the requirements of both Category 1 and 2 accessibility standards in Approved 

Document M of the Building Regulations.   

 

6.15.2A In exceptional circumstances the provision of a lift to dwelling entrances may not be achievable. 

In blocks of four storeys or less it may be necessary to apply some flexibility in the application of Policy 

CDH02. London Plan paras 3.7.6 and 4.2.9 highlight that ‘homes that are not on the ground floor on 

minor developments can comply with the M4(1) standard, which does not require step-free access, 

where provision of step-free access would be unfeasible.’  This also applies to flats above existing 

shops or garages as well as stacked maisonettes where the potential for decked access to lifts is 

restricted.  If it is agreed at the planning stage (for one of the above reasons) that a specific 

development warrants flexibility in the application of the accessible housing standards M4(2) and M4(3), 

affected dwellings above or below ground floor would be required to satisfy the mandatory Building 

Regulations requirements of M4(1) via the Building Control process. M4(2) and M4(3) dwellings should 

still be required for ground floor units. 

 

6.15.2B London Plan Policy T6.1 H (Residential Parking) sets out specific requirements for disabled 

persons parking bays. Further detail and advice on these implications and design aspects is provided 

under Standard 11 of the Mayor’s Housing SPG, Transport for London Guidance, Planning Practice 

Guidance and will be included within the Council’s Sustainable Design and Development Guidance 

SPD. 

  

257



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 6.16 Wheelchair User Dwellings   

  

6.16.1 Ten per cent of new housing should be designed to allow wheelchair user access that complies 

with part M4(3) of the Building Regulations. This requirement will therefore be applied to all major24 

residential schemes. London Plan Policy T6.1 H (Residential Parking) sets out specific requirements for 

disabled persons parking bays.  

  

6.16.2 Approach routes, entrances and communal circulations should comply with the requirements of 
regulation M4(2), unless they also serve wheelchair user dwellings, where they should comply with the 
requirements of regulation M4(3). Further detail and advice on these implications and design aspects is 
provided under Standard 11 of the Mayor’s Housing SPG, Transport for London Guidance, Planning 
Practice Guidance Barnet’s suite of design focused Supplementary Planning Documents. 

MM 
45 

Chapter 6 
Character, 
Design & 
Heritage 
 
Policy CDH03 
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Paras 6.17.1 
to 6.17.4 

Policy CDH03 Public Realm  

 

Public realm should form an integral part of the design process for development proposals to 
enhance the connection between publicly accessible space and the built environment. 
Development proposals should therefore contribute positively to the public realm by: 
 

A. Relateing to the local and historic context and incorporate high quality design, landscaping, 

planting, street furniture and surfaces, including green infrastructure and sustainable 

drainage provision.  

B. Being designed to meet the Mayor of London’s Healthy Streets Approach Indicators, (as 

required by Policy CDH01 and London Plan Policy T2), to promote active travel and 

discourage reduce car usage, together with positive safety and amenity changes to the 

character and use of streets aimed at improving health and reducing inequalities. with 

avoidance of barriers to movement and consideration given to desire lines.  

C. Provideing a safe and secure family and young people friendly environment for a variety of 

appropriate uses, including meanwhile uses and open street events.  

1st para revised to clarify that 
compliance with parts A) to H is 
required so that development will 
contribute positively to the public 
realm.  
 
Part B revised to reflect Healthy 
Streets Approach in Policy CDH01.  
 
Part D clarification to address safety 
and security issues for where crowds 
may congregate and draw a clear 
distinction with CDH01.  
 
Part F reference to ‘public realm 
design frameworks’ deleted as no 
such frameworks have been 
published or adopted.  
  
Revisions to highlight that 
requirements relating to the Public 
London Charter are set out in 

258



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

D. Utiliseing the Secured by Design Resilient Design Tool for places where crowds may 

congregate in larger numbers, to consider proportionate use of design features to facilitate 

more robust safety and security measures. Development proposals should incorporate 

measures that are proportionate to the risk and the likely consequences of any incident.  

E. Considering the relationship between building design and the public realm to enhance 

amenity value, vibrancy and natural surveillance.  

F. Ensureing appropriate management of publicly accessible private space in accordance with 

the with due regard to London Plan Policy D8 – Public Realm, the Public London Charter 

(London Plan Policy D8(H)), and Council Town Centre Frameworks and Sstrategies. and 

public realm design frameworks.  

G. Incorporate Encouraging where appropriate the use of high quality public art in the design of 
spaces (where appropriate).  

H. Ensureing that way-finding pedestrian signage is sensitively located and consistent with 
Legible London with due regard to Transport for London’s Streets Toolkit.  

 

 
 
 
6.17 Public Realm  

 

6.17.1 The public realm is a key aspect of effective design in neighbourhoods and town centres to that 

includes all publicly accessible space between buildings. Public realm that is family and young people 

friendly can also contribute significantly to the health and wellbeing of residents,; creating a sense of 

place that encourages social interaction amongst all age groups and provides opportunity for activity as 

well as enabling access to facilities such as public toilets and drinking fountains. Good public realm 

should be uncluttered so that all pedestrians including those that are mobility impaired can use 

pavements. Town centre public realm strategies will address in more detail the management of 

obstacles such as: shops which use pavements for displaying goods,; advertisement hoardings; and 

telephone kiosks. There is a need to ensure that charging points for electric vehicles do not add to this 

London Plan Policy D8(H), and that 
due regard should be given to the 
Council’s town centre strategies.  
 
Part G alignment with the NMDC in 
encouraging rather than requiring the 
incorporation of public art in the 
design of development.  
  
Part H replace reference to ‘Legible 
London’ with a requirement that due 
regard is given to TfL’s Streets 
Toolkit in respect of wayfinding 
signage. 
  
  
Consequential changes needed to 
the supporting text to ensure a 
consistent approach. This includes 
changes to:  
  
Para 6.17.1 to clarify the intentions of 
part c) of Policy CDH03 in respect of 
family and young people friendly 
environments.  
  
Clearer signposting to the Public 
London Charter and the Council’s 
adopted strategies for town centres  
  
Revision to para 6.17.4 to provide 
appropriate flexibility as to when 
planning conditions or obligations will 
be required. 

259



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

list of obstacles. Public realm design should complement the buildings that frame the space to enable 

good connectivity, security and a variety of use. In terms of proposals that affect public places where 

crowds may congregate the Council will support the use of the Secured by Design Resilient Design Tool 

(RDT). Public realm enhancements should be informed by Historic England’s 2018 publication ‘Streets 

for All – London’, the Mayor’s Healthy Streets Approach (as reflected in London Plan Policy T2 – 

Healthy Streets), and the Public London Charter, and the Council’s adopted frameworks / strategies for 

town centres and public realm design frameworks. 

 

6.17.2 Legibility and signposting make an important contribution in understanding and navigating around 

a place. Where properly planned, executed and managed, advertising can enhance peoples’ experience 

of the public realm. The Council will work with the advertising industry to ensure these benefits are 

realised. Transport for London’s Streets Toolkit also provides detailed guidance for creating high quality 

streets and public places. Legible London is a pedestrian signage system that has been installed across 

London to aid effective way-finding. The uniform nature of these signs is critical to their success, 

particularly across borough boundaries. The Council’s Long Term Transport Strategy encourages the 

use of pedestrian way-finding signage that is consistent in design and quality to Legible London, 

enhancing navigation and familiarity with the surroundings.  

  

6.17.3 The design of public realm can support a shift to active travel, which with the Mayor’s Healthy 

Street Indicators, (as set out in Figure 10.2 of the London Plan), should form a key consideration when 

planning new development and integrated public spaces and networks. To help encourage accessibility 

throughout the day and night, lighting and security are an as important to make the area welcoming 

whilst also minimising light pollution. Public art can help to create a distinctive character, adding visual 

interest, influencing the use of a space or acting as a focal point for understanding and navigating 

around a place.  

  

6.17.4 For new development that does not include appropriate public realm as part of the scheme, there 

could be impact on public spaces or networks nearby, that should be considered within proposals. 

260



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

Opportunities to enhance or complement existing public realm will be encouraged by the Council. The 

Mayor’s Public London Charter2 sets out the rights and responsibilities for users and owners of public 

spaces, regardless of whether they are public or private.  The rules and restrictions on public access 

and behaviour covering all new or redeveloped public space and its management should have due 

regard to the Public London Charter, and this requirement should be secured through legal agreement 

or planning condition. Additionally, there are a number of Town Centre Frameworks and Strategies in 

Barnet3 that identity opportunities to enhance the public realm, setting out development principles and 

good practice guidance that will be a material consideration for planning applications in the area. 

 
MM 
46 

Chapter 6  
 
Character, 
Design & 
Heritage 
 
Policy CDH04 
 
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
Paras 6.18.1 
to 6.18.12 

Policy CDH04 Tall Buildings   

A. Tall buildings (8 to 14 storeys and above or (26 to 46 metres above and above ground level)) 

may be appropriate in the following locations strategic locations:  

• Brent Cross Growth (Opportunity) Area (Policy GSS02);  

• Brent Cross West Growth (Opportunity) Area (Policy GSS03);  

• Colindale Growth (Opportunity) Area including Grahame Park Estate (Policy GSS06);  

• Cricklewood Growth (Opportunity) Area (Policy GSS04);  

• Edgware Growth Area (Policy GSS05);  

• West Hendon Estate (Policy GSS10); and 

• Locations specified on Map 4  

• New Southgate Opportunity Area27 (Policy GSS09);  
• Major Thoroughfares - Edgware Road (A5) and Great North Road (A1000) (Policy GSS11); 

and the   

• Town Centres of Finchley Central and North Finchley (Policy GSS08)  

Annex 1 - Schedule of Proposals also includes sites that may be appropriate for tall buildings. 

Part A: ‘strategic’ deleted from  
opening sentence;  
definition of a tall building revised so 
there is no upper storey or metre 
height limit;  
deletion of  7th to 9th bullet points 
and footnote 27, as insufficient 
evidence provided to support tall 
buildings in New Southgate 
Opportunity Area, and the major 
thoroughfare and town centre 
locations identified do not fully align 
with the Tall Buildings Study Update; 
new criterion added that makes clear 
that the locations specified on Map 4 
may be appropriate for tall buildings; 
and clarification provided that Annex 
1 includes site allocations that are 
identified as potentially appropriate 
for tall buildings.  
  
Former parts b) and c): both parts 
deleted as there is no substantive 
evidence as to where very tall 
buildings may be appropriate, and 

 
2 Public London Charter | London City Hall 
3 Town centre frameworks | Barnet Council 

261

https://www.london.gov.uk/publications/public-london-charter
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/planning-and-building/planning-policies-and-local-plan/local-plan/town-centre-frameworks


Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

b) b) Tall buildings of 15 storeys or more (‘Very Tall’) will not be permitted unless exceptional 

circumstances can be demonstrated, such as appropriate siting within an Opportunity Area or 

Growth Area.   

c) c) Any proposal for a ‘Very Tall’ building must have a legible and coherent role, integrating 

effectively to its location in compliance with part d)  

d)  d) The Council will produce SPD on Building Heights Supplementary Planning Document. which 

will set out within the identified strategic locations, the parameters for tall and very tall buildings 

within the areas and site locations identified as being potentially appropriate for tall buildings.   

e) B. Proposals for Tall and Very Buildings must adequately address all the criteria in London Plan 

Policy D9C, including in terms of acceptable cumulative visual, environmental and functional 

impacts including siting, microclimate, wind turbulence, noise, daylight and sunlight, reflective glare, 

aviation, navigation and electronic communication or broadcast interference; will be assessed in 

accordance with the visual, functional, environmental and cumulative impacts set out in London 

Plan Policy D9 Tall Buildings. Particular attention will be given to assessing the following:  

i. how the building relates to its surroundings, both in terms of how the top  

affects the skyline and how its base fits in with the streetscape, and integrates within the existing 
urban fabric, contributing to pedestrian permeability and  providing  an active street frontage 
where appropriate, ii. how the building responds to topography, with no adverse impact on longer  
range Locally Important Views (as shown in Map 4), as well as mid-range and intermediate 

views iii. the buildings contribution to the character of the area. Proposals should  

take account of, and avoid harm to, the significance of Barnet’s and neighbouring boroughs 

heritage assets and their settings.  

iv. the relationship between the building and the surrounding public realm, 

 v. the relationship between the building and the natural environment, including  
public open spaces and river corridors Taller elements should be set back from any rivers and 

water courses and designed so as not to cause harm to the wildlife, including directing artificial 

light away from the river corridor. vi. buildings should not interfere with digital connectivity in 

compliance with Policy TRC04 nor have a possible negative impact on solar energy generation on 

adjoining buildings 

the criteria for determining whether to 
permit proposals for very tall 
buildings was not clear.  
  
Former part d) relocated to end of 
the policy updating and clarifying the 
status of relevant current and 
potential future SPDs.  
  
Former part e) (now Part B) replaced 
with reference to Policy D9(C) of the 
London Plan, and clarification added 
(now in Part C) clearly stating that 
the locally important views identified 
on Map 4 and on Policies Map are a 
relevant consideration for 
applications. 
  
Reference added (now Part F) to 
relevant requirements contained 
within the Building Safety Act 2022. 
  
Consequential changes to supporting 
text to ensure a consistent approach.  
  
This includes changes to: 
  
Explain that proposals for tall building 
development outside the locations 
identified in Part A will be considered 
against the development 
management considerations 
contained in parts B and C as 
modified.  
  
Highlight that guidance regarding 
potential heights and locations of tall 
buildings is identified in the Tall 
Buildings Study Update. 
  

262



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

e) ensuring that the potential microclimatic impact does not adversely affect levels of comfort, 

including wind, daylight, temperature and pollution 

C.  Proposals are required to have regard to the Locally Important Views depicted on Map 4 

D. Proposals for tall and very tall buildings will need to provide evidence of how they have complied 

with the criteria in this policy as well as and the London Plan Policy D9 and as well as related 

policies (in particular CDH01, CDH08, ECC01, ECC02 and TRC04) contained within the Local 

Plan. Historic England guidance on tall buildings.  

E.   All new Tall Buildings must meet the requirements of the Building Safety Act 2022 with clear 

lines of responsibility for safety during design, construction, completion and occupation of high-rise 

buildings. Proposals that involve residential buildings over 30 metres in height will need to provide 

two staircases to meet Building Regulations standards on Fire Safety. 

Proposals for redevelopment or refurbishment of existing tall buildings will be required to make a 

positive contribution to the townscape.  

Proposals should be of an exemplary standard in architectural quality and materials to ensure the 

appearance and architectural integrity of the building is maintained.   

Barnet’s definition of a Tall Building and identification of strategic locations where tall buildings may 

be appropriate does not mean that all buildings up to 8 storeys or to a height of 26 metres are 

acceptable in these locations or elsewhere in the Borough. Such proposals will be assessed in the 

context of other planning policies, in particular Policy CDH01 – Promoting High Quality Design, to 

ensure that they are appropriate for their location and do not lead to unacceptable impacts on the 

local area. 

 

The Council will produce a Designing for Density Supplementary Planning Document. This will 

provide guidance on how the appropriateness of Tall Building proposals will be assessed relative to 

the impacts detailed in London Plan Policy D9C. It will also set out good practice design guidance 

on site-specific and character considerations including typologies related to uses, views, form, 

public realm, safety, amenity and microclimates. 

 

Explain at paras 6.18.2 and 6.18.3 
the Council’s aims for the policy and 
clarification how visual impact will be 
addressed in line with Policy D9(C) 
of the London Plan 
  
Clarification at paras 6.18.5 and 
6.18.5A that the potential for tall 
buildings in New Southgate 
Opportunity Area may be considered 
as part of the early review of the 
Plan. 
 

263



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
 
 
6.18 Tall Buildings   

 

6.18.1 The predominant and largely residential suburban character of Barnet is two or three storeys. 

Reflecting this character, the potential for tall buildings within Barnet may be constrained in some 

locations. However, as the Borough changes over the lifetime of this Plan next fifteen years certain 

locations will evolve a different local character as tall and medium rise buildings are expected to play a 

greater part in new development.   

  

6.18.2 Tall buildings can form part of a strategic design-led approach to optimising the capacity of sites 

through comprehensive redevelopment. Taller buildings are not the only way to deliver higher densities 

and optimise the potential of brownfield sites. As referenced in the London Plan, a design-led approach 

to optimising site capacity should be based on an evaluation of the site’s attributes, its surrounding 

context and its capacity for growth to determine the appropriate form of development for a site. 

Therefore, the Council will carefully assess the design and townscape qualities of proposals to ensure 

that the Borough’s predominant suburban and historic character is maintained. Such sSites in locations 

where tall buildings may be appropriate must should be well-connected by public transport and have 

good access to services and amenities. As part of a placemaking strategy they can help to emphasise 

the character of a place as a centre of activity. Tall buildings that are of exemplary architectural quality 

can make a positive contribution to Barnet and become a valued part of the identity of places such as 

Brent Cross and  Colindale as well as Growth Areas and Town Centres such as Cricklewood, and 

Edgware which are designated as Growth Areas in this Plan. Within more sensitive townscapes as well 

as Growth Areas and Town Centres such as Finchley Central, and North Finchley, and along historic 

routes such as the Edgware Road (A5) and the Great North Road (A1000) this form of development 

presents greater challenges in addressing more constrained site locations. Reflecting these 

constraints, the Council has identified specific site opportunities for higher density development within 

264



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

town centres, where tall buildings may be appropriate. These are included in Annex 1 – Schedule of 

Proposals and shown on Map 4 as well as the Policies Map.  

  

6.18.3  While tall buildings offer the opportunity for intensive use, their The siting and design of tall 

buildings should be carefully considered so not to detract from the nature of surrounding places and 

the quality of life for those living and working around them to make optimal use of the capacity of sites, 

which are well-connected by public transport and have good access to services and amenities. A 

design-led approach is essential to determine the most appropriate form of development that responds 

to existing context and capacity for growth, with due consideration to existing and planned supporting 

infrastructure. Tall buildings of a high quality design in the right location can make a positive 

contribution to the townscape; however they can also have detrimental visual, functional and 

environmental impacts. The Council will also assess applications for tall buildings proposed on sites 

outside of the locations specified in CDH04A as potentially suitable for tall buildings; all applications 

needing to be determined against relevant development management policy criteria. Due to their 

potential impact, development proposals that include tall buildings will need to must demonstrate 

compliance with address all relevant parts of Policy CDH04 as well as the requirements listed in the 

London Plan (Tall Buildings Policy D9) which emphasises that outlines the issues that proposals for tall 

buildings should address to minimise the visual, functional and environmental impacts of such 

structures. Proposals are therefore, as a minimum, required to address site specific and character 

considerations including typologies related to proposed uses, views, form, public realm, safety, amenity 

and microclimate. Regard should also be had made to Historic England’s Advice Note 4 guidance on 

tall buildings. Proposals for tall buildings of more than 30 metres in height (equivalent to 9 storeys) are 

will be referred referrable to the Mayor of London).4  

 

6.18.4 The London Plan requires Development Plans to define, based on local context, what is 

considered a tall building for specific localities. Barnet through the 2012 Local Plan established it’s its 

definition of a tall building as a structure having a height of 8 storeys or more (equivalent to 26 metres 

 
4 The Town and Country Planning (Mayor of London) Order 2008 Microsoft Word - uksi_20080580_en.doc (london.gov.uk) 

265

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/gla_migrate_files_destination/archives/Mayor%2520of%2520London%2520Order%25202008.pdf?token=j7RiZ9ll


Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

or more above ground level). This is on the basis that a storey is generally 3 to 3.25 metres in height. 

The 2012 Local Plan also identified strategic locations were where tall buildings may be appropriate.   

  

6.18.5 Barnet’s Tall Buildings Study Update informs Barnet’s Local Plan, providing guidance regarding 

the potential heights and locations of tall buildings and a detailed contextual and spatial analysis to 

establish a design-led approach to future development of Tall Buildings in the Borough. The Study 

Update It investigateds where this form of development may be appropriately sited the potential 

opportunity for development of tall buildings, and considers ing existing and approved development to 

help identify and establish the suitable locations for tall buildings and heights outlined in Policy CDH04. 

these areas.  The Update provides the basis for identifying strategic locations where proposals for tall 

buildings may be appropriate. These locations include Opportunity Growth Areas such as Brent Cross, 

-Cricklewood Brent Cross West (Staples Corner) and Colindale as well as town centres such as 

Edgware. The Update also highlighted the long established association of the and A5 and A1000 major 

thoroughfares which have a long established association with buildings of 8 storeys or more. The 

Update provides a contextual and spatial analysis of the A5 and A1000 corridors as well as Finchley 

Central Town Centre covering all (with the exception of New Southgate Opportunity Area) the identified 

strategic locations. It therefore helps and sets the basis for guidance on a design led approach 

covering parameters, scale and height that will be established through a Supplementary Planning 

Document (SPD) on Building Heights Designing for Density. The SPD will provide a well-considered 

response to achieving higher density development that takes account of best practice and guidance in 

optimising land use and development capacity. The SPD will further articulate, as guidance, the 

implementation of Policy CDH04 and distinguish between the character and context of each of the 

identified ‘appropriate’ locations to provide further clarity around heights in sensitive townscapes such 

as Finchley Central, North Finchley, and along the Major Thoroughfares. The Council will also expect 

proposals for tall buildings to reflect the guidance provided in area planning frameworks such as the 

Edgware Growth Area SPD and the North Finchley Town Centre Framework SPD. Within the New 

Southgate Opportunity Area the Council will consider bringing forward a joint area planning framework 

with LB Enfield and LB Haringey. Consideration of the parameters for tall buildings in New Southgate 

will be a key feature of the area planning framework. 

266



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

   

6.18.5A The Council has signalled its intention to facilitate an early review of the Local Plan through 

formal publication of a new Local Development Scheme. It is anticipated that a strategic policy and 

joint area planning framework will be established with LB Enfield and LB Haringey for the New 

Southgate Opportunity Area (NSOA). This will enable consideration of the potential for tall buildings 

within the NSOA to be taken into account when this Local Plan is reviewed. 

  

6.18.6 Since the definition of a Ttall Bbuilding was established in the 2012 Local Plan new buildings of 

height have been developed within the Borough’s identified strategic locations. This reflects a rising 

trend in Outer London with tall building development a consequence of estate regeneration 

programmes, increasing housing targets and comparatively lower land values in the suburbs. 

Reflecting the increase in the development of tall buildings within Barnet, notably around Colindale and 

West Hendon, since 2012 there is a need to recognise local variation and application so as to manage 

positively assist delivering proposals for Ttall Bbuildings ensuring that they are in the right place and at 

an appropriate height. In addition, the London Plan expects boroughs as part of a plan led approach to 

determine the maximum acceptable height of Ttall Bbuildings (London Plan para 3.9.2). An additional 

definition of a Very Tall Building set at 15 storeys or more (45 metres or more above ground level) has 

been introduced. 

 

6.18.7 Very Tall Buildings will not be permitted in the strategic locations identified in Policy CDH04 

unless exceptional circumstances can be demonstrated. Such circumstances can include appropriate 

siting within an Opportunity Area or Growth Area.   Opportunity Areas are designated within the London 

Plan as the capital’s principal opportunities for accommodating large scale development on the basis 

of Area Frameworks that set parameters for development proposals in the area. Opportunity Areas are 

areas of extensive change while Growth Areas are distinctive locations with good public transport 

accessibility. They have a supply of brownfield and underused land and buildings that offer 

opportunities for inward investment.  Growth Areas, together with the District Town Centres, provide 

identified developable and deliverable sites with substantial capacity for new homes, jobs and 

infrastructure.  Each Many of the strategic locations identified in Policy CDH04 is are subject to more 

267



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

detailed policy in the Chapter on Growth and Spatial Strategy. The Growth Areas (Policies GSS02 to 

GSS06) through good public transport accessibility and a supply of brownfield and underused land 

provide the best opportunities offered for development. Table 5 – New Homes Delivery shows that the 

Growth Areas are expected to deliver over 21,000 new homes within the lifetime of the Local Plan. 

Through identified developable and deliverable sites substantial capacity to accommodate new homes, 

jobs and infrastructure will be realised in Barnet’s Growth Areas. 

  

6.18.8 Detailed urban design analysis and evidence will be required for tall buildings to establish if they 

are appropriate in principle and meet all the policy tests. Proposals for tall buildings should use the 

Barnet Characterisation Study as a starting point for a 360o appraisal of the impact of the design of all 

buildings of height on their surrounding area. The Council will work with the Mayor to utilise 3D virtual 

reality digital modelling to help assess tall building proposals and aid public consultation and 

engagement. 3D virtual reality modelling can be used to help assess cumulative impacts of 

developments, particularly those permitted but not yet completed. Proposals should reinforce the 

spatial hierarchy of the local and wider context and aid legibility and wayfinding. Varying heights, 

proportion, silhouette and facing materials at the design stage will help assess how to lessen any 

negative impacts including light pollution, and reflected glare. Architectural quality and materials of an 

exemplary standard should ensure that the appearance and architectural integrity of the building is 

maintained through its lifespan. London Plan policy D9 – Tall Buildings sets out further considerations 

on the functional impact including ensuring the safety of occupants and surrounding areas through 

internal and external design as well as servicing, maintenance and building management 

arrangements which should be considered at the start of the design process. In terms of environmental 

impacts wind, daylight, sunlight penetration and temperature conditions must be carefully considered, 

and air movement affected by the building(s) should support the effective dispersion of pollutants and 

not detract from help enhance the comfort and enjoyment of open spaces around the building. All new 

tall buildings must meet the requirements of the Building Safety Act 2022 with clear lines of 

responsibility for safety during design, construction, completion and occupation of high-rise buildings. 

Mitigation measures should be identified and designed into the building as integral features from the 

outset to avoid retro-fitting.  

268



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

  

6.18.9 Policy GSS09 highlights residential led mixed-use opportunities for design-led infill development 

on the major thoroughfares of Barnet as shown on the Key Diagram.  Although Recognising that there 

has been a loss of original residential character along these routes, which are characterised by good 

public transport accessibility, there is an opportunity for higher density infill development including Ttall 

Bbuildings (where appropriately located on Edgware Road (A5) and Great North Road (A1000)) to 

have a positive impact on the environment of the thoroughfare. It is imperative that such design-led 

proposals should sensitively relate to the original character of the suburban streets behind the 

thoroughfare. The loss of original character together with good public transport accessibility has 

contributed to the promotion of such thoroughfares for higher density development. There is also a 

desire to better manage the development proposals that are coming forward in such locations.  

  

6.18.10 High density development can be delivered through well designed compact development that 

does not necessarily have to be a tall building. Tall buildings generally cost more to construct per unit 

of floor area than low or medium rise buildings, have longer build out times and are also considered 

less sustainable overall due to environmental effects and higher energy requirements. While tall 

buildings may offer the opportunity for more intensive use, it is essential that proposals occur in the 

most suitable and sustainable locations as outlined in Policy CDH04. This will help ensure that can 

protect and enhance the existing character and townscape of the Borough is protected and where 

possible enhanced.  
 

6.18.11 The Council expects Nnew tall buildings to should positively contribute to the character of the 

area. Proposals should take account of, and avoid harm to, the significance of Barnet’s and 

neighbouring boroughs heritage assets and their settings. Proposals resulting in harm will require clear 

and convincing justification, demonstrating that alternatives have been explored and that there are 

tangible public benefits derived that outweigh that harm. Riverside Watercourse locations are often an 

attractive choice for developments with tall buildings offering views over the landscape and river. 

However, if tall buildings are located too close to a watercourse they can cause overshadowing, create 

wind corridors and introduce artificial light spill which can disrupt vegetation growth and the 

269



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

attractiveness of the river corridor area as habitat or migratory/foraging routes for wildlife, such as bats, 

insects and birds. In order to avoid such impacts taller buildings should be to be set back further, more 

than 10 metres, to provide a substantial buffer zone adjacent to the river, and to preserve and enhance 

the river corridor area.    

  

6.18.12 The Council requires that visual impact is addressed in terms of long-range views from of the 

top of the building, mid-range views from the surrounding neighbourhood and intermediate views from 

the surrounding streets. The Council has identified on Map 4 and the Policies Map four long established 

important local views within the Borough. These are:  

1. from Mill Field towards Harrow-on-the-Hill;  

2. from Golders Hill Park towards Harrow-on-the-Hill;  

3. from Hampstead Heath Extension towards Hampstead Garden Suburb; and  

4. from King George Fields, Hadley Green across Central London including Canary Wharf. Map 4 

shows these locally important views, conservation areas in the Borough, Green Belt / MOL and the 

location of existing tall buildings together with the strategic locations (including Opportunity Areas) 

identified for tall buildings. The Council will seek to ensure that development is compatible with such 

views in terms of setting, scale and massing. Proposals for buildings of height that the Council considers 

cause harm to these views will be resisted.   

 

 

 

 
MM 
47 

Chapter 6 
Character, 
Design & 
Heritage 
 
Map 4 – 
Locations 
where Tall 
Buildings may 
be appropriate 

Map 4 – Locally Important Views Locations where Tall Buildings may be appropriate Map updated to include all the 
locations identified in the Tall 
Buildings Study Update that may be 
appropriate for tall buildings, 
including clusters 2, 4, 6, 8 and 10 
identified on page 30, the clusters 
around Whetstone and North 
Finchley identified on page 39, and 
the Finchley Central Town Centre 
area identified on page 45.       These 

270



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
 
 

 

changes are required so that 
potentially appropriate locations for 
tall buildings are identified and reflect 
the evidence base.  
  
The other locations specified in 
Policy CDH04A also added to Map 4 
together with the four viewing 
corridors that are identified as locally 
important.  
 
To ensure that the viewing corridors 
on Map 4 are legible, these are also 
reflected on the Policies Map. 

271



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 

272



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM 
48 

Chapter 6 
Character, 
Design & 
Heritage  
 
Policy CDH05 
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Paras 6.19.2 
to 6.19.3 

Policy CDH05 Extensions   
Proposals for extensions should follow good design principles in accordance with Barnet’s suite of 

design focused SPDs. Measures such as green roofs and small scale renewable energy 

infrastructure that improve the sustainability of buildings will be encouraged.  

Extensions to properties should : 

The Council will support proposals for extensions to any building that:  

A. Complement the character of the existing building, particularly in terms of scale, style, form and 

materials.  

B. Are Be subordinate to the existing building in terms of size, scale or and/or height and in the 

case of upward extensions of tall buildings, comply with Policy CDH04.  

C. Incorporate a roof profile and materials sympathetic to the existing property.  

D. Maintain an acceptable outlook and adequate spacing between any surrounding buildings with 

regards to Policy CDH01. 

E. Retain satisfactory amenity space and landscaping in accordance with Policy CDH07:  

a) For non-residential development this means ensuring soft landscaping is retained where 
important to ensure development responds sensitively to distinctive local character and 
design; and 

b) Extensions to existing residential buildings should not reduce amenity space provision below 
the standards set out in Table 10. 

F. Avoid significant adverse impacts on the sunlight/daylight to neighbouring properties with regard 

to Policy CDH01. 

G. Maintain or improve the appearance of the locality or street scene with regard to Policy CDH01.  

H. Respect the privacy of surrounding residents, with regard to Policy CDH01, having regard to the 

position of windows, layout/use of rooms, any changes in land levels, floor levels and boundary 

treatment.  

Not result in a significant cumulative impact on the environmental quality of the area.  

Improve energy efficiency and incorporates renewable sources of energy.  

Extensions to existing properties should not result in amenity space provision falling below the 

standards set out in Table 11.  

 
Clarification on roles and status of 
current and proposed future SPDs  
  
Policy rearranged to remove 
duplication of requirements covered 
in more than one part of the policy.  
  
Thresholds of acceptability updated 
for the impacts of development on 
the matters relevant to these parts 
(e.g. living conditions) to ensure that 
they are consistent with other 
policies in the Plan.  
  
Clarification on requirement to retain 
satisfactory amenity space in 
accordance with Policy CDH07.  
  
Requirements on cumulative impact 
on environmental quality deleted as 
the assessment criteria is unclear 
and ineffective, and environmental 
considerations are suitably 
addressed by other policies in the 
Plan.  
  
Requirements on energy efficiency 
deleted as it has not been 
demonstrated that energy efficiency 
requirements above Building Regs 
are justified for extensions to existing 
buildings (other than major 
development, which would otherwise 
be suitably addressed by CDH02 and 
Policy SI 2 of the London Plan).  
  
Reference to amenity space 
provision deleted following the 
change made at CSH05E.  
  

273



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
 
 
6.19 Extensions 

6.19.2 The Council acknowledges the contribution of residential conversions to diversifying Barnet’s 

housing supply. In locations with good service provision and transport accessibility this form of 

accommodation, when appropriately designed, can be attractive to first time buyers and downsizers.  

This positive contribution however is largely undone by residential conversions that are inappropriately 

located.  Policy HOU03 addresses the issue of managing conversions with respect to the overall housing 

stock and sets criteria for how the potential for housing delivery from residential conversions and the re-

development of larger homes will be optimised. Highlights those locations in the Borough where they 

may be more appropriate. It addresses the cumulative impact on the character of areas by changing 

external appearance and increasing activity from more people movement, increased car usage and 

parking stress as well as greater demands on servicing.  

  

6.19.3 Policy CDH05 applies to all extensions, commercial, public as well as residential uses. It is 
therefore applies to extensions to any building, including extensions to create new residential units. The 
policy highlights that context and local character are key considerations in the design of extension 
development. Extensions should not adversely impact on the character of the surrounding area or cause 
harm to established gardens, open areas or nearby trees. There should be no significant adverse impact 
on the amenity of neighbouring properties. 

I. Follow good design principles. This includes having due regard to the guidance provided in any 

extant relevant SPD addressing matters of sustainable design. 

 

Consequential changes to the 
supporting text to ensure a 
consistent approach. This includes 
changes to  
 
para 6.19.3 to clarify that the policy is 
intended to apply to all forms of 
extension including where new 
residential units would be created. 

274



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM 
49 

Chapter 6 
Character, 
Design & 
Heritage 
 
Policy CDH06 
 
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Paras 6.20.1 
to 6.20.2  
 

Policy CDH06 Basements and below ground development 
Proposals for basements should follow good design principles in accordance with the 
Barnet’s suite of design focused SPDs   
Basement and other below ground development proposals to buildings properties should: 

A. Ensure that trees and tree roots of value within the site, and trees and their roots on or 

neighbouring land,adjoining the site are not damaged;   

B. Ensure that amenity space is retained in accordance with Policy CDH07 not more than 50% 

of the amenity space (garden or front court yard) is removed;  

C. Ensure the site’s suitability taking account of ground conditions and any risks from land 

instability, contamination and Have no demonstrable adverse impact on neighbouring ground 

water conditions;   

D. Be subordinate in size to the building property being extended; and   

E. Any exposed areas should respect its the building’s original design, character and 

proportions for any visible aspects of the extension; 

F. e) Ensure railings, grilles and other light-well treatments avoid creating visual clutter and 

detracting from an existing frontage or boundary wall, or obscuring front windows;   

G. f) Be able to function properly for the purpose intended, with rooms of an adequate size and 

shape receiving acceptable levels of natural lighting and ventilation. All habitable rooms 

within basement accommodation should have minimum headroom of 2.5 metres; should 

comply with the minimum ceiling height standards set out in London Plan Policy D6;  

H. g) Consider impact of forecourt parking on light to basement windows; and  

I. h) Not be located in Flood Zone 3B. Where appropriate be accompanied by a site- specific 

flood risk assessment in accordance with the NPPF. 

J. Basement and below ground development will be considered with regard to the relevant 
requirements of Local Plan policies CDH01, CDH07, ECC01 and ECC02.  

K. Proposals for basements should follow good design principles. This includes having due 
regard to any extant relevant SPD addressing matters of sustainable design. 
 

 
Policy title amended to clarify that it 
is also applicable to different forms of 
below ground development.  
  
1st para revised to clarify the roles 
and status of current and proposed 
future SPDs. 
  
 Clarification at Part A to refer to 
‘trees’ alongside ‘tree roots’ and 
make clear that trees and roots of 
value should be retained within sites 
to reflect Policy CDH07 and London 
Plan Policy G7. 
  
Clarification at Part B to require that 
amenity space remains in 
accordance with Policy CDH07. 
Imposition of a 50% amenity space 
restriction removed due to insufficient 
evidence to justify its inclusion. 
Policy CDH01 otherwise addresses 
character and appearance matters. 
  
Part C revised to refer to ground 
stability to reflect para 6.20.1 and 
ensure consistency with NPPF para 
189.  
  
Part D: ‘property’ replaced with 
‘building’ given that below ground 
works could create new planning 
units and thus not only extend 
existing properties.  
  
Part F reworded so that approach to 
ceiling heights accords with Policy 
D6(F) of the London Plan.  
  

275



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
 
6.20 Basements and below ground development 

 

6.20.1 Basement development, or extensions that go beyond permitted development rights, and which 

involve excavation of land, helps create additional space for homes. The construction of new basements 

or any extensions to existing basements which involve excavation of the land, can help create additional 

space for existing residential and non-residential buildings. However, the excavation involved in 

basement and other forms of below ground development can have implications for ground water 

conditions leading to ground instability and/or increased flood risk and water table problems for the roots 

of existing well-established trees. Whilst each case must be considered on its merits, as a general 

indicative guideline the Council will therefore seek at least 50 per cent of the rear garden area to be free 

of subterranean development and at its original ground level. 

 

6.20.2 Policy CDH06 refers to basement development that also includes lightwells or basement light 

shafts, and other underground development at or below ground level. When it refers to garden space 

this includes unbuilt, private open space on the property which includes grassed and landscaped areas, 

paving and driveways. Policies relating to design, heritage, flood risk and open space are also relevant 

to basement development and will be taken into account when considering such schemes. Policy 

CDH06 highlights the importance of taking account of context and local character in the design of 

basement development. Basements and other forms of below ground development should not impact on 

the character of the surrounding area or cause harm to the established garden, open area, nearby trees. 

There should be no significant adverse impact caused to the amenity of neighbouring properties.  

 

Part H replaced with a requirement 
that the proposal is in compliance 
with flood risk requirements of 
national policy.  
  
  
Consequential changes to supporting 
text to ensure a consistent approach.  
  
This includes changes to para 6.20.1 
to clarify the forms of development to 
which the policy is applicable. 

MM
50 

Chapter 6 
Character, 
Design & 
Heritage 
 
Policy CDH07 

Policy CDH07 Amenity Space and Landscaping  

A. Development proposals should as a minimum provide:   

i. a) Meet as a minimum the outdoor Aamenity space requirements as set out in Table 11 10; and   

  
Clarification at Part A (a) that 
development proposals at a 
minimum should meet the amenity 
space standards set out in the Table 
and provide play spaces in 
accordance with Policy S4 of the 

276



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
Paras 6.21.1 
to 6.21.4, 
Table 10 (as 
renumbered), 
Paras 6.22.2 
to 6.22.7 

ii. b) Provide play spaces in accordance with Policy S4 of the London Plan. and the Mayor’s SPG on 

Shaping Neighbourhoods – Play and Informal Recreation.  

iii. Where amenity space does not meet the standards in (i) or (ii) contributions to off-site provision will 

be expect 

iv. ed.  

B Development proposals Where to includeing hard and/or soft landscaping must ensure that:  

v. a) Design and layout is sympathetic to the local character, whilst providing adequate effective 

amenity space that is fit for purpose and access for both existing and future occupiers with minimal 

visual impact and, with particular regard to avoiding unusable space parking areas.  

vi. b) Hardstandings should contribute positively to the streetscene, maintaining a balance between 

hard and soft landscaping;, with opportunities taken to add wild gardens supported where  

vii. c) Where possible soft landscaping is designed to provide biodiversity benefits such as habitat 

creation using native species  

viii. d) Provision is made for an appropriate level of new and existing wildlife habitat including tree and 

shrub planting to enhance biodiversity . There is no net loss of wildlife habitat and that there is a 

biodiversity net gain of at least 10%, either within the development site or off site and in 

accordance with Policy ECC06.   

ix. e)Existing trees and their root systems are safeguarded, or replaced if necessary with suitable size 

and species of tree. of value should be retained wherever possible. Retained trees must have their 

stems, canopy and root systems safeguarded. Where trees are removed they should be replaced 

with trees of equal value and of suitable sizes and species. In circumstances where it is 

demonstrated that it would not be possible to provide replacement trees on site to the value 

removed, a contribution to the Council for any residual value may be made to provide trees within 

nearby streets and open spaces. This may be secured using a planning obligation. 

f) Provision is made for Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems in accordance with Policy ECC02A.  

London Plan (rather than the Mayor’s 
SPG). Policy D6(F) of the London 
Plan sets out minimum standards 
and there is insufficient local 
evidence that planning contributions 
towards off-site amenity space 
provision would be an appropriate 
strategy to compensate for any under 
provision of private outside space. 
 
 Clarification at Part B that the five 
criteria only apply where hard or soft 
landscaping is proposed. This 
includes clarifications on the 
elements regarding amenity, access 
and parking areas, and refer to the 
amenity of both existing and future 
occupiers of property. Clarification 
that landscaping should be designed 
to provide biodiversity benefits such 
as habitat creation where possible.  
  
Clarification on retention and 
replacement of trees to generally 
conform with Policy G7(C) of the 
London Plan  
  
Clarification that sustainable 
drainage systems should be provided 
in accordance with Policy ECC02A. 
  
Consequential changes to the 
supporting text to ensure a 
consistent approach. This includes 
changes to: 
  
ensure general conformity with 
Policies D6 and S4 of the London 
Plan, particularly in respect of 
communal space in para 6.21.2, and 

277



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
6.21 Amenity Space and Landscaping   

 

6.21.1 Outdoor amenity space is highly valued to help protect and improve the living standards of 

residents enabling them to engage with the locale as well as contribute to maintaining and enhancing 

the wider character of the Borough. Minimum private open space standards, as set out in Table 11 10 

have been established in the same way as the internal space standards (as set out in Table 9 8), by 

considering the spaces required for garden furniture, access and activities in relation to the number of 

occupants. The resultant space should be of practical shape and utility and care should be taken to 

ensure that the space offers good amenity. This space does not count towards the Gross Internal Area 

(GIA) used in calculating internal space standard.  

  

6.21.2 Residential units with insufficient garden or amenity space are unlikely to provide good living 

conditions for future occupiers. For houses, amenity space should be provided in the form of individual 

rear gardens. Private outside space should be practical in terms of its shape and utility, to ensure the 

space offers good amenity. All dwellings should have level access to one or more of the following forms 

of private outside spaces: a garden, terrace, roof garden, courtyard garden or balcony. The use of roof 

areas, including podiums, and courtyards for additional private or shared outside space is also 

encouraged. For flats, options may include provision of communal spaces around buildings, on roofs, 

balconies or winter gardens. Within town centres there may be a requirement for wider contributions to 

an improved public realm.  

  

6.21.3 Amenity space for all new self-contained housing developments should meet the minimum 

standards new development should meet the standards set out in Table 11 10 and London Plan Policy 

S4. In tall buildings, where site constraints make it difficult to provide private outdoor open space that 

offers good amenity for all units, additional internal living space that is equivalent to the area of the 

private open space requirement will be expected as an integral part of the design. This additional space 

must be added to the minimum GIA internal space standard. Where the standards cannot be met and 

6.21.3 including deletion of reference 
to under provision. 
  
updates to Table 10 to replace the 
space standards for flats and houses 
with the standards specified by 
Policy D6(F)9 of the London Plan, as 
there is insufficient justification for 
imposing local standards for flats and 
differing sizes of houses. 
 

278



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

an innovative design solution is not possible the Council will seek a Planning Obligation. Barnet’s 

Planning Obligations SPD sets out the S106 criteria requirements for open spaces. These contributions 

are separate from and in addition to any contribution that is required where a development is located in 

an area of open space deficiency. Similarly, residential development in areas of playspace deficiency as 

well as those in areas with sufficient playspace will normally be expected to make a contribution either 

on site or financially for playspace. Further information on areas of open space and playspace 

deficiency in Barnet and is set out in the   Planning Obligations SPD.   

  

Table 11 10 Outdoor amenity space requirements  

  Development Scale  

Self-contained residential developments For Flats:  

A minimum 5m2 of private outdoor space should be provided for 

1-2 person dwellings and an extra 1m2 provided for each 

additional occupant that achieves a minimum depth and width of 

1.5m.  

 

Minor, Major and Large scale  

For Houses:  

• 40 m2 of space for up to four habitable rooms  
• 55 m2 of space for up to five habitable rooms  
• 70 m2 of space for up to six habitable rooms  
• 85 m2 of space for up to seven or more habitable rooms  

Minor, Major and Large scale  

Development proposals should will not normally be permitted if it 

compromise the minimum outdoor amenity space standards for 

self-contained residential developments 
Householder  

279



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

  

6.21.4 Outdoor amenity space should be designed to cater for all household needs including those of the 

elderly, young children and families. The space should be accessible for wheelchair users and should 

also facilitate use for disabled people in terms of paving, lighting and layout. It is important to distinguish 

boundaries between public, private and communal areas in order to identify who will take responsibility 

for the maintenance and security of private and semi-private areas. Further guidance is will be set out in 

the forthcoming Sustainable Design and Development Guidance SPD. Barnet’s suite of design focused 

SPDs.  

 

6.22 Landscaping, Trees and Gardens  

  

6.22.2 Landscaping of development sites should be included as an integral part of a proposal at an early 

stage and approved before work on site commences. Careful consideration should be given to the 

existing character of a site, its topography and how features such as planting, trees, surface treatments, 

furniture, lighting, walls, fences and other structures are to be designed and used effectively. More 

detailed advice about the use of landscaping is will be provided in the forthcoming Sustainable Design 

and Development Guidance SPD Barnet’s suite of design focused SPDs together with the Green 

Infrastructure SPD.   
 

 6.22.3 The Council will seek to retain existing wildlife habitats such as trees, shrubs, ponds and hedges 

wherever possible. Where trees are located on or adjacent to a site the Council will require a tree survey 

to accompany planning applications indicating the location, species, size and condition of trees. Trees 

should be retained wherever possible and any removal will need to be justified in the survey. Where 

removal of trees and other habitat can be justified, appropriate replacement should consider both habitat 

creation and amenity value. Trees and woodlands provide important environmental contributions as they 

help with  pollution removal, carbon storage, and storm water attenuation and there is a cost when these 

280



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

services are lost.  Consequently, when trees are removed the asset is degraded and the compensation 

required in terms of substitute planting to replace services lost should be based on a recognised tree 

valuation method such as Capital Asset Valuation of Amenity Trees (CAVAT).  

 

6.22.4 The NPPF and London Plan require development to provide a net biodiversity gain of at least 

10%.28 To demonstrate that the development is providing a positive contribution to biodiversity a 

development must meet the requirements of Policy ECC06.  

 

6.22.5 Trees make an important contribution to the character, and appearance of the Borough as well as 

reducing surface water run-off, improving air quality and  benefits for wellbeing. Trees that are healthy 

and are of high amenity value can be protected by a Tree Preservation Order (TPO) under the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990. Further detail is provided in the Green Infrastructure SPD.   

 

6.22.6 Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SuUDS) aim to use drainage methods which mimic the 

natural environment. Swales are linear vegetated drainage features in which surface water can be 

stored or conveyed. They provide a good example of SuUDS which can be incorporated into 

landscaping. Further guidance on SuUDs is will be set out in the forthcoming Sustainable Design and 

Development Guidance SPD. Barnet’s suite of design focused SPDs  

  

6.22.7 Gardens make a significant contribution to local character, enhancing biodiversity, landscaping 

including trees, tranquillity, sense of space and the setting of buildings. Front gardens also support local 

character, visually enhance suburban residential streetscape and environmentally friendly local 

character. Any provision of space for vehicle parking within front gardens should be carefully considered 

to ensure it is appropriately sited to minimise impact on character whilst ensuring that it is usable with 

acceptable access from the highway and maintaining pedestrian access to the building. Garden 

development that is considered to be detrimental to local character, such as large extensions or infill will 

281



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

be refused. Further guidance on managing the impact of development on gardens is will be set out in the 

forthcoming Sustainable Design and Development Guidance SPD. Barnet’s suite of design focused 

SPDs   

 
MM
51 

Chapter 6 
Character, 
Design & 
Heritage 
 
Policy CDH08 
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Paras 6.23.1 
to 6.23.3, 
Section 6.24, 
Paras 6.24.1, 
6.25.1 to 
6.25.6, 6.26.1, 
6.26.3, 6.28.1, 
6.28.2, 6.32.1, 
6.32.2, Section 
6.33, Para 
6.33.1 & Table 
11 as 
renumbered 

 

Policy CDH08 Barnet’s Heritage  

  

In accordance with national policy, tThe Council will ensure that Barnet’s designated heritage 
assets (designated and non-designated), including its conservation areas, statutory listed 
buildings, scheduled monuments, registered historic parks and gardens, archaeological remains, 
locally listed buildings registered historic battlefield, and its non-designated heritage assets 
(referred to in Barnet as local heritage assets) are conserved and enhanced in a manner 
appropriate to their significance. These assets are an irreplaceable resource which greatly 
contribute to the Borough’s distinctive character and should continue to be enjoyed by present and 
future generations.  
 

Designated Heritage Assets  

Great weight will be placed on the conservation of the Borough’s designated heritage assets, 
including listed buildings and conservation areas, when considering the impact of development 
proposals.  Any harm to, or loss of, the designated heritage asset will require clear and convincing 
justification. Substantial harm to, or loss of, designated heritage assets will not be permitted unless 
it can be demonstrated that substantial public benefits will be achieved that outweigh such harm or 
loss.  
  

Where less than substantial harm will result from a development proposal, this harm will need to 
be balanced against any public benefits that emanate from the proposal.  
  

A. Conservation Areas  

 
Comprehensive redraft to ensure  
CDH08 aligns with NPPF 
approaches to the historic 
environment.  
  
setting out clear procedures for 
designated and non-designated 
heritage assets, including 
consideration of the potential impact 
of a proposed development on the 
significance of designated heritage 
assets and the approaches where a 
proposal would result in substantial 
or less than substantial harm.  
  
ensuring that CDH08 is positively 
prepared, justified, effective, 
consistent with national policy and in 
general conformity with the London 
Plan revisions relating to:  
  
Consistency in terminology for 
archaeological assets of heritage 
interest, and clarification in respect of 
decision making for Barnet’s 
Archaeological Priority Areas (APAs) 
and the roles of ‘GLAAS’ and 
‘HADAS’ as potential consultees for 
applications.  
  
Accordance with the Council’s duties 
at sections 16(2), 66(1) and 72(1) of 
the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  

282



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

The Council will seek to preserve or enhance In exercising the Council’s duties set out in section 
72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, special attention will be 
paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character and appearance of conservation 
areas when assessing development proposals. Great weight will be given to the asset’s 
conservation. Conservation area character appraisals and, where applicable, conservation area-
based design guidance will be used in the assessment of planning applications.  
 
The following criteria will be applied to development in conservation areas:  

 

i) the loss or substantial demolition of, a building that makes a positive contribution to the character 
or appearance of a conservation area, including a locally listed building 
a) development resulting in substantial harm to or loss of the significance of the designated 
heritage asset will be resisted, unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or total loss 
is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss, or all of the 
relevant criteria within the NPPF apply. 
 
b) where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal 
including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. 
 
c) ii) the above criteria a) and b), will also be applied where impact of development either inside or 
outside a conservation area (within its setting), but which has a harmful impact on its character, or 
appearance or significance, including its setting, will be resisted where there would be adverse 
effects to buildings, iii) the impact of development on trees, landscaping and or open space, 
including gardens, that contributes positively to its significance. to the character or appearance of 
a conservation area will be opposed.  
 
d) iv) proposals should have regard to the local historic context and character, including the 
appearance, scale, mass and height of buildings, use of materials, patterns of development and 
the layout of buildings and spaces. v) vi) 

  
Deletion of requirement for contracts 
of works to be secured so 
development proceeds within specific 
timescales as there is insufficient 
justification for this. 
 

283



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
e) proposals should retain architectural detailing, traditional features, including shopfronts, which 
contribute positively to the character, appearance and significance of a building or an area 
conservation area.  
vii) in exceptional circumstances, where the loss of any heritage asset is permitted, the Council will 
require the submission of a contract of works to ensure the new development will proceed 
immediately after the loss has occurred 

 

B. Statutory Listed Buildings  
In exercising the Council’s duties as set out in sections 16(2) and 66(1) of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Tthe conservation of Barnet’s statutory listed 
buildings will be given a high priority of importance great weight (the more important the asset, the 
greater the weight should be). when assessing applications. Special regard will be given to the 
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or 
historic interest which it possesses. In accordance with national policy, Aany harm to, or loss of, 
the significance of listed buildings will require clear and convincing justification.  
 
The following criteria approach will be applied: i) Resist any where there is harm to, or loss of 
significance of a listed building, including from its whole or partial demolition, extensions or 
alterations that are inappropriate in design, scale or material, ii) Resist harmful alterations to the 
interior or exterior, or changes to curtilage features iii) Resist extensions or additions that are 
inappropriate in design, scale or material or any other iii) Resist any harm to, or loss of, its 
significance, from development within it’s the setting of a listed building, including tall buildings30: 
 
a) where resulting in substantial harm to the significance of the designated heritage asset the 

proposal will be resisted, unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or total loss is 
necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss (or all of the 
relevant criteria within the NPPF apply). 
 

284



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

b) where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the 
proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. 

 
C. Registered Parks and Gardens  

Development proposals within Registered Parks and Gardens should respect their special historic 
character and aesthetic qualities, whilst avoiding any adverse impact on their setting or on key 
views within or outside the designated sites. In accordance with national policy, Aany harm to, or 
loss of, their significance, from alterations, destruction, or from development within its their setting, 
should will require clear and convincing justification. Substantial harm to Grade II Registered 
Parks or Gardens should be exceptional, and wholly exceptional for Grade II* Registered Parks or 
Gardens, and the respective approaches to heritage assets in the NPPF will be followed in 
circumstances where a proposed development would lead to substantial harm to (or total loss of 
significance), or would lead to less than substantial harm to its significance.  
  

D. Registered Historic Battlefield  
The site of the Battle of Barnet (1471) is of great historical importance and will be protected from 
development, both above and below ground. If a proposal, that would result in harm to its 
significance it will be considered relative to the approach to heritage assets in the NPPF.  
 

E. Locally Listed Buildings and Other Non-Designated Local Heritage Assets  
  
The Council will protect conserve Locally Listed Buildings local non designated heritage assets and 
their settings in accordance with a manner appropriate to their significance. Therefore, and in 
accordance with national policy, the effect on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset 
will be taken into account in determining an application. There is a presumption in favour of their 
retention and their loss will be normally be resisted. When considering applications that directly or 
indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required, having 
regard to the scale of any harm or loss, taking into account any public benefits that might result. 
Development proposals, including external alterations and extensions, are encouraged to take 

285



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

opportunities to should conserve, better reveal and enhance the significance of these non-
designated heritage assets and their settings.  
 

F. Archaeology  
 
Archaeological remains will be protected, conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance. 
Where a site on which development is proposed includes, or has the potential to include, heritage 
assets with archaeological interest, an appropriate desk-based assessment and, where necessary, 
a field evaluation will be required. particularly within the identified Local Archaeological Priority 
Areas Areas of Special Significance, by requiring that This should include acceptable measures 
are to be taken proportionate to the significance of the heritage asset to preserve conserve them 
and their setting, including physical preservation, where considered appropriate. Where 
dDevelopment which impacts substantially on archaeological assets of national importance, which 
are of demonstrably equivalent significance to scheduled monuments, will be resisted it will be 
subject of consideration relative to the approach to heritage assets in the NPPF. 
  
Scheduled monuments and other undesignated assets which are demonstrably of national 
archaeological importance, which hold, or potentially hold, evidence of past human activity, should 
be preserved in situ. Where a site on which development is proposed includes, or has the 
potential to include, heritage assets with archaeological interest, tThe Council will require 
developers to consult with GLAAS and if appropriate HADAS the Greater London Archaeological 
Advisory Service (GLAAS) and, where relevant, the Hendon and District Archaeological Society 
(HADAS)5, including and submit submission of n appropriate desk-based assessment together 
with, where necessary, a field evaluation. Archaeological Priority Areas are identified in Table 11. 
As part of any application, development proposals within these areas will need to provide detail in 

 
5 HADAS (Hendon and District Archaeological Society) was founded in 1961 with one aim: to find and prove, on the ground, the Saxon origins of 

Hendon. Since that time the Society has expanded in area, today encompassing the whole of the London Borough of Barnet and excavation and 

research now covers all archaeological periods 

286



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
6.23 Barnet’s Heritage   

6.23.1 The Council takes a positive approach to the conservation and enhancement of the historic 

environment and recognises the wide benefits it can bring to the local economy, character, and 

distinctiveness of the Borough. Barnet’s historic environment significantly contributes to the Borough and 

its sense of place and therefore all new development should respect its the character and 

distinctiveness. of Barnet’s historic environment. The historic environment is reflected in the designation 

consultation with GLAAS of how they will investigate, catalogue and where possible preserve the 
remains in situ or in a museum. 
  
Non-Designated Heritage Assets  
When assessing the impact of a proposal on a non-designated heritage asset, the effect on its 
significance will be taken into account when determining the application. A balanced judgement will 
be required, having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and any public benefits that might 
result.   
  
The Council may identify any potential non-designated heritage asset as a consideration of 
development proposals.  
  
Heritage at Risk  
The Council will work with Historic England, asset owners, developers and other stakeholders to 
find solutions to buildings, sites and places on the Heritage at Risk Register.  
  
Archaeological Interest  
The Council will protect remains of archaeological importance in accordance with their significance. 
Assets of national archaeological importance should be preserved in-situ. Where a site on which 
development is proposed includes, or has the potential to include, heritage assets with 
archaeological interest, the Council will require developers to consult with  GLAAS and if 
appropriate HADAS and submit an appropriate desk-based assessment and, where necessary, a 
field evaluation.  

287



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

of 16 conservation areas, the majority of which are supported by conservation area character appraisals. 

Barnet has over 650 statutory listed building entries on the National Heritage List. The Borough has 5 

Registered Parks and Gardens on Historic England’s Register of Parks and Gardens. The Borough also 

has London’s only Registered Historic Battlefield, the site of the Battle of Barnet (1471), which is of 

national significance and lies to the north of Chipping Barnet. There are also two Scheduled Monuments, 

at Brockley Hill in Edgwarebury and at the Manor House in Finchley, five prehistoric, four Roman and 

thirty medieval sites containing archaeological remains of more than local importance. These have been 

grouped into nineteen ‘Local Archaeological Priority Areas’ as listed in Table 11 and shown on the 

Policies Map. In addition to these heritage assets the Council maintains a Local Heritage List consisting 

of over 1200 1250 non-designated heritage assets.  

  

6.23.2 National planning policy distinguishes between designated and non-designated heritage assets. 

Table 12 11 lists Barnet’s heritage assets (including Statutory Listed Buildings, Battlefield Sites, 

Registered Parks and Gardens, Scheduled Monuments, Local Areas of Special Archaeological 

Significance and Conservation Areas) and non-designated heritage assets (local heritage assets locally 

listed buildings)29 including Archaeological Priority Areas and locally listed buildings). These assets are 

an irreplaceable resource and the Council will therefore assess proposals based on a presumption that 

the heritage asset should be conserved while looking for opportunities to enhance a heritage asset’s 

significance. The Council recognises that well-designed development can make a positive contribution to 

and better reveal the significance of heritage assets. The Council takes a proactive approach to 

conserving its heritage assets in a number of ways. These include: the publication of Conservation Area 

Character Appraisals; working with Conservation Area Advisory Committees; working with Historic 

England to remove heritage at risk assets from the register; the maintenance establishment of a Local 

Heritage List; and the production of Design Guidance and Codes creation of Design Guidance.   

  

6.23.3 In determining applications for planning permission that affect heritage assets or their settings, the 

NPPF requires, amongst other things, that local planning authorities take into account the desirability of 

sustaining and enhancing the significance of such heritage assets, and of putting them to viable uses 

288



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

consistent with their conservation; and consider the positive contribution that conserving such heritage 

assets can make to sustainable communities including their economic vitality. 

 

6.24 Designated Heritage Assets  

  

6.24.1 In accordance with the NPPF great weight will be placed on the conservation of the Borough’s 

designated heritage assets when considering the impact of development proposals. The Council will 

not permit harm to a designated heritage asset unless the public benefits, which can include heritage 

benefits, of the proposal outweigh the harm.; or, in the case that development would result in 

substantial harm to or total loss of the significance of the asset, it is demonstrated that the nature of 

the asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site; no viable use of the asset itself can be found in the 

medium term through appropriate marketing that will enable its conservation; conservation by grant-

funding or some form of not for profit, charitable or public ownership is demonstrably not possible; and 

the harm or loss is outweighed by the benefit of bringing the site back into use. More detailed guidance 

on public benefits is set out in National Planning Practice Guidance. Harm to, or loss of, a designated 

heritage asset requires clear and convincing justification. In determining applications affecting heritage 

assets the Council will take into consideration the scale of the harm and the significance of the asset.  

  

6.25 Conservation Areas  

  

6.25.1 The Council has adopted a series of conservation area character appraisals which serve as a 

material consideration when assessing planning applications for development in conservation areas. 

Design guidance has also been produced for some conservation areas and provides advice on repairs, 

alterations, extensions, outbuildings, landscaping, works to trees and gardens. Applications are 

determined in the light of the guidance provided. The Council will manage changes in a way that ensures 

the distinctive characters of conservation areas is retained and all new development makes a positive 

contribution to the conservation areas in particular that it preservinges or enhancinges the special 

289



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

character or appearance of that area. The character of each a conservation areas derives from a 

combination of factors, which include the such as built form and scale of its historic buildings and density, 

the pattern of development, the overall landscape including the topography, trees and open space. In 

addition, characteristic materials, architectural detail and historic uses are significant. The design of new 

development should identify and respond to such elements. Design and Access Statements must 

include an assessment of the historic local context and character and clarify how new proposals have 

been informed by it and respond to it. 

 

6.25.2 Barnet’s conservation areas can also be impacted by development which takes place outside of 

the conservation area but may be visible from within it as part of its setting. This can include high or 

bulky buildings, which can have a detrimental impact on areas that may be some distance away, as well 

as development that may be sit alongside a conservation area. The Council will oppose critically 

appraise development which outside conservation areas, including in neighbouring boroughs, that it 

considers could cause harms the significance of to the character, appearance or setting of any a 

conservation area in accordance with the NPPF and any other relevant guidance produced by the 

Council (including Conservation Area Design Guidance). 

  

6.25.3 The loss of traditional uses can erode the character of an area. It is essential therefore that 

traditional uses are not displaced by redevelopment proposals for change of use. A change in traditional 

patterns of use can erode the character of an area. It is essential therefore that uses contributing to the 

character of a conservation area are not displaced by redevelopment proposals, including changes of 

use. Public houses and local shops are of particular importance to the character of conservation areas, 

especially when they are located in historic buildings. The Council will seek to protect traditional uses of 

buildings these, and other uses where viable, under policies GSS08, TOW01, TOW02, TOW03 and 

CHW04. 

 

290



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

6.25.4 When considering applications for the demolition of buildings that are locally listed or are 

considered to make a positive contribution to the area, the Council will consider take into account the 

significance of the building and its contribution to the conservation area. Proposals for the demolition of 

buildings and facadism will often have a harmful effect on the significance of a conservation area. The 

Council will resist the total or substantial demolition of such buildings, including proposals for facadism, 

unless significant public benefits, which should include heritage benefits, are shown that outweigh the 

case for retention. Applicants will be required to have regard to national and local plan policies and any 

other relevant supplementary guidance produced by the Council in order to justify the demolition of a 

building that is considered to make a positive contribution to a conservation area. All planning 

applications proposing total or substantial demolition within conservation areas must clearly demonstrate 

that effective measures will be taken to ensure the structural stability of all retained fabric during 

demolition and re-building. The Council must be satisfied that any approved development, following the 

loss of a heritage asset, will proceed within an agreed timespan. Where the loss of any heritage asset is 

permitted, the Council will seek the submission of a contract of works to ensure the new development 

will proceed immediately after the loss has occurred.  

  

6.25.5 The loss of historic architectural details can erode the character and appearance of a 

conservation area. Proposals for alterations should normally be undertaken in materials matching that of 

the original. Where traditional architectural features have been lost, re-instatement of such elements will 

be considered provided sufficient evidence exists for an accurate replacement.   

  

6.25.6 The use of Article 4 Directions to remove permitted development rights will be considered where 

the character and appearance of a conservation area is believed considered to be under threat by the 

loss or alteration of traditional architectural details. gradual erosion of its character and appearance 

through inappropriate development.  

 

6.26 Statutory Listed Buildings 

291



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 

6.26.1 Barnet’s statutory listed buildings and structures make a significant contribution to the Borough’s 

architectural legacy. They provide places for people to live and work in, are often cherished local 

landmarks, some of which contribute to their local areas as visitor attractions and make important and 

valued contributions to the character and appearance of the Borough. The Borough Council has a duty 

to preserve conserve such assets for both present and future generations and such buildings will be 

protected under such relevant policies as set out in the NPPF.  

 

6.26.3 The setting of a listed building is not fixed and may change as the asset and its surroundings 

evolve. The setting itself is not designated and its importance depends entirely on the contribution it 

makes to the significance of the heritage asset or its appreciation. New development can impact on the 

setting of listed buildings and any adverse impact should be avoided will require clear and convincing 

justification. Historic England has produced guidance on managing change within the setting of heritage 

assets and proposals will be expected to be in line with this guidance. 

 

6.29 6.28 Registered Parks and Gardens  

  

6.29.1 6.28.1 Barnet has five Registered Parks and Gardens   

• Golders Green Crematorium (grade I);  

• East Finchley Cemetery (grade II*);   

• St Pancras and Islington Cemetery (grade II*);  

• Stephens House and Gardens Avenue House Grounds (grade II); and  

• Hoop Lane Jewish Cemetery (grade II).  

  

6.29.2 6.28.2 These sites are considered to have historical significance as they have been skilfully 

planned with surroundings reflecting the landscaping fashions of their day. The emphasis for their 

292



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

recognition is on 'designed' landscapes, rather than on planting or botanical importance. Development in 

the immediate surrounds of these Registered Parks and Gardens should be designed in a manner that 

does not detract or harm their significance or  which includes their setting.   

  

6.32 6.31 Heritage at Risk   

  

6.32.1 6.31.1 Barnet’s Heritage at Risk Register is updated annually by Historic England and reported 

through the Authorities Monitoring Report. The Council will work with Historic England, asset owners, 

developers and other stakeholders to find solutions to buildings, sites and places on the Heritage at 

Risk Register. Developers considering the redevelopment of sites containing buildings on the Register 

must work with the Council and Historic England to determine the best course of action to retain and 

restore the historic asset.  

 

Non designated heritage assets  

  

6.33 6.32 Local Heritage List 

 

6.33.1 6.32.1 Barnet has many historic, locally significant buildings and other assets which make a 

positive contribution to the distinctiveness of local areas, including conservation areas. The NPPF 

identifies such buildings and structures as non-designated heritage assets. Barnet has a Local 

Heritage List which identifies buildings of historic or architectural interest. The Council may identify any 

potential non-designated heritage asset when considering development proposals.as part of the 

decision-making process on planning applications. (see NPPG para: 039 Reference ID: 18a-040-

20190723). The non-designated heritage asset will be identified by applying the adopted criteria for the 

selection of local heritage assets as found on the Council’s website. The effect of an application on the 

significance of a non-designated heritage asset will be taken into account in determining the 

293



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

application, in accordance with the NPPF. These NPPF requirements mean that the conservation of a 

building or site on a local heritage list as a heritage asset is a material consideration when determining 

the outcome of a planning application. Planning applications can be refused on the grounds of harm to 

a local heritage asset. The legitimacy and weight within the planning system of local heritage lists is 

increased when the list has been prepared in accordance with defined selection criteria and has been 

subject to public consultation. In considering applications that affect these non-designated heritage 

assets, the Council will have regard to the significance of the asset and the scale of any harm or loss. 

There is a presumption in favour of retaining all Locally Listed Buildings as well as any building which 

makes a positive contribution to the character or appearance of a Conservation Area.  

 

6.32.2  The Council will need to be satisfied that all efforts have been made to continue the present 

use or to find the compatible alternative uses before considering demolition as a viable option, 

including marketing the property for the sole purpose of its ongoing use. Prior to considering the 

demolition of a non-designated heritage asset, it is expected that efforts are made to continue its use 

or find alternative uses that are consistent with its conservation. In line with the NPPF a deteriorated 

condition as a result of deliberate neglect of or damage to a heritage asset will not be a factor 

considered in any decision.  The Council LPA will assess proposals for demolition by taking into 

consideration both the condition of the existing building (particularly if it is beyond repair and its 

continued use is unviable), the harm to its significance, balanced against and the merits of the 

alternative proposals for the site including public benefits, which could include heritage benefits. 

 

6.28 6.33 Archaeologyical Priority Areas and Scheduled Monuments 

 

6.28.1 6.33.1 Archaeological remains, above and below ground level, and Scheduled Monuments, are 

important surviving evidence of Barnet’s past and once removed are lost forever.  Due to the long history 

of human habitation across Barnet there are archaeological sites and areas, that are designated, 

undesignated and yet to be discovered; therefore, all applications that have the potential to impact upon 

archaeological heritage assets should be supported by an archaeological desk-based assessment. The 

294



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

aim of the assessment is to identify the scale and significance of the archaeological impact. An 

archaeological field evaluation may also be necessary.   The Council will consult with Historic England 

and the Greater London Archaeology Advisory Service (GLAAS) on the implications of development 

proposals in Archaeological Priority Areas. GLAAS holds further information on archaeological sites in 

Barnet. When considering proposals which have the potential to impact on archaeological remains, the 

Council will have regard to the NPPF. It may also be appropriate for Hendon and District Archaeology 

Society (HADAS) to be consulted.   

 
Table 12 11 - Barnet’s Designated and Non-designated Heritage Assets 

 

Listed Buildings  Over 670 651 entries  

Battlefield Site  Battle of Barnet 1471  

Registered Parks and Gardens  
5 registered historic parks and gardens; St Marylebone Cemetery, Stephens House and Gardens 
Avenue House Garden, Golders Green Crematorium, St Pancras Cemetery and Hoop Lane 
Jewish Cemetery.  

Scheduled Monuments  
Brockley Hill Romano – British Pottery, Edgware  
Manor House Moated Site, East End Road, Finchley  

Archaeological Priority Areas  

1.  
2.  
3.  
4.  
5.  
6.  
7.  
8.  
9.  
10.  
11.  

Barnet Gate and Totteridge Fields  
Burnt Oak  
Child’s Hill  
Chipping Barnet  
Copthall  
Cricklewood  
East Barnet  
East Finchley  
Edgware  
Edgwarebury and Scratchwood  
Finchley  

295



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 12.  Friern Barnet  
13.  Galley Lane  
14.  Halliwick Manor House  
15.  Hendon  
16.  Mill Hill  
17.  Monken Hadley Common  
18.  Totteridge and Whetstone  
19.  Watling Street.  

Conservation Areas 

1.  
2.  
3.  
4.  
5.  
6.  
7.  
8.  
9.  

The Burroughs, Hendon, 1983  
Church End, Finchley, 1979  
Church End, Hendon, 1983  
College Farm, Finchley, 1989  
Cricklewood Railway Terraces, 1998  
Finchley Garden Village, 1978  
Golders Green Town Centre, 1998  
Hampstead Garden Suburb, 1968  
Hampstead Village (Heath Passage), 1994  

10.  Mill Hill, 1968  
11.  Monken Hadley, 1968  
12.  Moss Hall Crescent, 1974  
13.  Totteridge, 1968  
14.  Watling Estate, Burnt Oak, 1998  
15.  Wood Street, Barnet, 1969  
16.  Glenhill Close, Finchley, 2001  

Locally Listed Buildings   Over 1,250 1,221  

 

MM 
52 

Chapter 6 
Character, 
Design & 
Heritage 
 
Policy CDH09 
And 
consequential 

Policy CDH09 Advertisements  

A. Advertisements should be subject to control in the interests of amenity and public safety 
taking account of cumulative impact; therefore, Tthe Council will support advertisements 
that:  

 
New sentence to clearly establish 
that advertisements are subject to 
control in the interests of amenity 
and public safety only.  
  
Part A to prevent overlap with the 
above addition, references to 

296



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
changes to 
supporting text 
Paras 6.34.1, 
6.34.3 to 
6.34.7 

a) Do not cause unacceptable harm to the character and amenity of the area or public 

safety and are sensitively designed and located within the street-scene and wider 

townscape;  

b) Ppreserve or enhance heritage assets and conservation areas;  

c) Ddo not contribute to an unsightly proliferation of signage in the area; or  

d) Ddo not contribute to street clutter in the public realm; and.  

e) Are of an appropriate size and siting. that does not  

B. The Council will resist advertisements that: 

a) i) Significantly detract from the amenity of the street scene or neighbouring properties as 

a result of a proliferation of signs and advertisements that cause ‘visual clutter’.  

b) ii) Cause a physical or visual obstruction, or have an unacceptable impact on highway 

safety.  

c) Contribute to excessive including light pollution from flashing or illumination to passers-by, 

highway users, nearby residential properties or wildlife habitats.  

  
The Council will resist advertisements on shopfronts that are above facia level or ground floor level, 
except in exceptional circumstances.  
Applications for Advertisement Consent should have due regard to the Sustainable Design and 
Development Guidance SPD. Proposals that are on Council land should have due regard to the 
Council’s Advertising Policy.  
  

amenity and public safety deleted.  
Reference to conservation areas 
deleted as already covered as one of 
several forms of heritage asset.  
  
Splitting of Part B into three different 
parts, one for light pollution and 
illumination which clarifies that not all 
illumination would be resisted, a 
second about physical or visual 
obstruction, and a third about visual 
clutter.  
  
Final para deleted as there is no firm 
local evidence that the prevention of 
advertisements to shopfronts above 
fascia or ground floor level is 
necessary, and such matters could 
be considered as part of an 
assessment of amenity on an 
individual basis. 
  
Consequential changes to  
supporting text to ensure a 
consistent approach. This includes 
changes to: 
  
replace references to ‘permission’ 
with ‘consent’,  
  
clarification that highway safety is an 
aspect of public safety in para 6.34.1,  
  
ensuring that para 6.34.3 reconciles 
with part (a) of the policy in requiring 
‘unacceptable harm’ to be avoided, 
and that para 6.34.6 accurately 
reflects the Town and Country 
Planning (Control of Advertisements) 
(England) Regulations 2007 in 

297



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
 
6.34 Advertisements   

 

6.34.1 Advertising can have an adverse impact on the appearance of an area, particularly if poorly sited 

and designed. The amenity impacts and safety implications of all advertisements will be carefully 

considered as a separate process within the planning system, which should be operated in a simple and 

effective manner. Permission Consent will not be given for proposals which detract from the character of 

a building or street and impact on public as well as highway safety. have detrimental impact on amenity 

or public safety, including highway safety, taking account of cumulative impacts.  

  

6.34.3 The Council must manage advertisements effectively in terms of number, size, siting and 

illumination, as key considerations to ensure that they do not have result in unacceptable harm by virtue 

of causing substantial detrimental impact on the public safety, character and or amenity of the 

surrounding area and residents.  Advertisements and signs should be designed to be complementary to 

and preserve the character of the host building and local area. Interesting and unique styles of 

advertisements and signs will be considered acceptable where they are compatible with the host 

buildings and surrounding environment.   

  

6.34.4 The Council will resist advertisements where they contribute to or constitute clutter or an unsightly 

proliferation of signage in the area. The Council aims to reduce visual street clutter, reducing the number 

of objects on the street, rationalising their location and limiting the palette of materials. Free standing 

signs and signs on street furniture will not normally be accepted where they contribute to visual and 

physical clutter and create a hindrance to movement along the pavement or pedestrian footway. Street 

furniture includes objects placed on the street including traffic signs and signals, benches, street names, 

CCTV cameras, lighting, cycle parking, guardrails, bollards and bus shelters. Shopfront advertisements 

respect of exempting advertisements 
from deemed consent,  
  
Clarification at para 6.34.7 on role of  
Council’s Advertising Policy 2017. 

298



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

will generally only be acceptable at the ground floor level, at fascia level or below. Advertisements above 

fascia level should not be can appear visually obtrusive and unattractive and, where illuminated, they 

can not cause light pollution to neighbouring residential properties.  

  

6.34.5 Any advertisements on or near a heritage asset listed building or in a conservation area requires 

particularly detailed consideration given the sensitivity and historic nature of these areas and buildings 

and must not harm their character and appearance and must not nor obscure or damage specific 

architectural features of buildings.   

 

6.34.7 6.34.6 Policy CDH09 applies to all advertisements requiring express advertisement consent 

under the Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007. The 

Regulations (Reg 6 and Schedule 3 Part 1) outlining where deemed consent is granted for the display of 

outdoor advertising includes generally allowing the display of “for sale/to let” advertising boards 

(commonly called estate agents’ boards) subject to certain restrictions on size, number and position. 

Where these boards proliferate to the extent of causing serious harm to the appearance of a street or 

area, the Council may, in accordance with the conditions and limitations outlined in the Regulations, seek 

the removal of these types of advertising boards. Information on the what type of advertisement 

requiringes consent is set out in in Outdoor advertisements and signs: a guide for advertisers 

(Communities and Local Government, June 2007).  Advertisements are only controlled in respect to their 

effect on amenity and public safety. Further guidance on the Council’s approach to advertisements, 

reflecting best practice, will be set out in the forthcoming Sustainable Design and Development 

Guidance SPD.  

 

6.34.6 6.34.7 The Council’s Advertising Policy 2019 provides guidance and information clarity on future 

proposals in regarding to advertising on Council land, including the criteria to be applied when granting 

consent for advertising on highway land. Advertisements must also be kept clean and tidy and remain in 

a safe condition that will not obscure or hinder the interpretation of official signage. A certain number and 

size of estate agent boards can be erected on properties without the benefit of advertisement consent. 

299



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

Areas may be exempted from this deemed consent under Regulation 7 of the 1992 Regulations. In these 

areas no boards will be granted advertisement consent by the Council because of their effect on visual 

amenity, except in exceptional circumstances.  

 
MM 
53 

Chapter 7  
Town Centres 
 
Policy TOW01, 
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Paras 2.5.1, 
7.1.1, 7.2.2, 
7.2.6, 7.2.7 
Table 12 (as 
renumbered), 
7.3.5, 7.4.3, 
7.6.2, 7.6.5, 
7.6.6A, 7.6.7, 
7.6.8, 16.7.1 & 
Glossary. 

Policy TOW01 Vibrant Town Centres  
 
The Council will promote the vitality and viability of the Borough’s town centres by managing, in 
accordance with the London Plan classification, a strong hierarchy of town centres (as set out in 
Table 12) as the priority location for commercial, business and service uses.   
  
Investment in residential led mixed use development will help to fund public realm and 
infrastructure improvements making district town centres more attractive places to live, visit and 
enjoy. The Council will work with local partners to better define and enhance the distinctive 
character of individual town centres including improvements outlined in public realm strategies 
and through taking a more visible and co-ordinated approach to address a range of uses 
including anti- social behaviour, car parking, street cleaning and licensing.  
  
A. The Council will support an appropriate mix of uses within designated centres:  
  

a) Redevelopment within the Brent Cross Growth Area (see in accordance with Policy 
GSS02) to will provide a strong retail offer together with as well as a wider mix of uses 
such as including leisure, offices and other commercial uses, community and cultural 
and residential uses to create a new Metropolitan Town Centre for North London.  

b) Edgware Major Town Centre (see in accordance with Policy GSS05) where 
regeneration will consolidate the quantum together of retail floorspace alongside with 
qualitive improvements to the quality of the retail floorspace. Proposals for and leisure 
offer, whilst providing a range of community uses and other main town centre uses 
(including offices and leisure) will be supported where they enhance the Major Town 
Centre’s viability and vitality and complement the delivery of intended levels of .New 
housing growth will form a key part of significant growth of the local economy.  

Proposed changes include: 
 
cross reference added to Table 12 
(as re-numbered) to provide certainty 
of where the hierarchy of town 
centres is defined.  
 
Revisions to Part A to emphasise the 
support for redevelopment within 
Brent Cross Growth Area in 
accordance with GSS02. Together 
with clarification that it will provide a 
strong retail offer, together with a 
wider mix of main town centre uses 
as part of the creation of a new 
Metropolitan Town Centre.  
 
Revisions to align with GSS05, 
including clearly setting out the 
approach in Edgware Major Town 
Centre of consolidation and 
qualitative improvements to retail 
floorspace, that proposals for 
community uses and other main town 
centre uses (including offices and 
leisure) will be supported where they 
enhance its viability and vitality and 
complement the delivery of intended 
levels of housing growth.  
 
Revisions to align with GSS04, 
including clearly setting out support 
for improvements to retail, 
community and other main town 
centre uses proportionate to 

300



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

c) Cricklewood District Town Centre (see in accordance with Policy GSS04) where 
regeneration will support the improvements to of the retail, community and other main 
town centre uses (including offices and leisure) that enhance the viability and vitality, 
and are proportionate to proposed housing growth of the District Town Centre offer 
alongside new housing, community and leisure facilities.  

d) Other District Town Centres (see in accordance with Policy GSS08) which will be 

promoted to provide comprising a network of centres suitable for accommodating 

residential development and provision of proportionate levels of floorspace for 

complementary retail, leisure and community and other main town centre (including 

offices and leisure) uses as well as new housing development.  

e) Local and Neighbourhood Centres (listed in Table 12) including new provision at 
Colindale Gardens) which will be promoted to provide a local level of retail and 
community uses (i.e. and smaller scale day to day convenience needs) and residential 
led mixed use development of a proportionate scale.  

 
B. Outside of the town centres local parades will be enhanced and protected with strong 

safeguarding for local community shops (that meet the criteria of Use Class F2). Proposals 
that involve the loss of such facilities will be required to provide a robust justification that 
similar shops are within a 1km walking distance.    

 
C. In order to reduce car trips the Council supports the relocation and expansion of leisure 

uses from lower PTAL (0 to 2) car dependent locations to town centres locations providing 
good public transport and where opportunities of a suitable scale arise.  

 

D. Following a ‘town centres first approach’, the sequential test will be applied to ensure 
sustainable patterns of development are achieved; therefore, outside of town centres any 
development of main town centre uses will not be permitted unless it can be demonstrated 
through the NPPF sequential approach that there are no suitable premises/sites available 
in the designated centres as set out in Table 13 12 and that there would be no harm to the 
vitality and viability of these centres by the approval of edge-of centre and out of centre 

supporting the proposed housing 
growth and the viability and vitality of 
Cricklewood District Town Centre.  
 
Changes to provide certainty that 
District Town Centres are suitable 
locations to accommodate residential 
development, and that provision of 
proportionate levels of floorspace for 
retail, community and other main 
town centre uses will be supported 
provided that they accord with Policy 
GSS08.  
 
Revisions to cross-refer to the list of 
Local and Neighbourhood Centres as 
set out in Table 12, together with 
clarification of the definition of ‘local 
level of retail’ and that residential-led 
mixed use development should be of 
a proportionate scale.  
 
Clarification of what is considered to 
constitute ‘Lower PTAL’ . Rewording 
also clarifies that support for 
expansion of leisure uses is in town 
centre locations listed under Part A 
where opportunities of suitable scale 
arise.  
 
Revisions to ensure that requirement 
for an impact assessment is only 
applied to proposals for more than 
500 sq.m of retail or leisure uses in 
an edge of centre or out of centre 
location relative to the Major and 
District Town Centre boundaries 
identified on the Policies Map. 
 
Consequential changes to the 
supporting text to ensure a 

301



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

development. In addition, any proposal of more than 500 m² of retail, office or leisure 
development in an edge or out of centre location relative to the Major and District Town 
Centre boundaries identified on the Policies Map, must be supported by an impact 
assessment.  
 

E. The Council will apply the Agent of Change principle in order to protect residential amenity 
from new development and also to protect existing businesses from residential 
development introduced nearby.  

 

consistent approach. This includes 
changes to: 
 
updates and renumbering of the 
Table (following deletion of Tables 7 
and 8 via previous MMs) to clarify the 
local and neighbourhood centres. 
 
additions to the Glossary to define 
Local and Neighbourhood Centres. 
 
changes to para 7.6.7 and 7.6.8 to 
explain approach to sequential test 
relative to Table 12.. This includes 
reference to where Major Town 
Centres and District Town Centres 
adjoin the Borough boundary as 
identified in Annex 1 of the London 
Plan (Edgware, Colindale/The Hyde, 
Cricklewood and Burnt Oak), and 
extension of areas of search into the 
neighbouring local authority areas 
will be required. 
  
changes to para 16.7.1 to ensure 
that the Plan approach to the 
sequential test is consistent with 
national policy. 
 
  

302



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 

2.5 Economy and Town Centres 

2.5.1 Barnet’s town centre hierarchy provides a strong, distinctive feature for the Borough economy. 

Barnet’s town centre hierarchy consists of one Major Centre, 14 District Centres, 16 Local Centres and a 

future Metropolitan Centre at Brent Cross. The variety of centres (regional, metropolitan, major, district 

and local) across the Borough will be the focus of sustainable, mixed-use development, with the aim of 

promoting their unique identity as a catalyst for future growth. The UK retail market has been 

experiencing significant structural and conceptual changes, with the closure and consolidation of major 

national stores and brands, and the continuing competition from on-line retail. In addition, COVID19 has 

greatly impacted the economy with the full long term effects upon business and employment, remaining 

uncertain relatively unknown.   A challenge to the success of town centre growth and vitality is the rise in 

online shopping and the difficulties that high street and independent retailers have had in responding to 

this competition. In response by offering a unique experience and providing destinations that allow 

people to access jobs, leisure and cultural facilities as well as and enjoy attractive public realm, re-

invigorated town centres can generate increased footfall and further contribute to local economic 

prosperity. 

7.1.1 Specific National and London Plan policies to be taken into account 

NPPF  
Section 7 Ensuring the vitality of town centres specifically paras 85, 86, 87, 88, 89, 90 
 
London Plan   
Policy Good Growth Objective GG3 Creating a healthy city   
Policy Good Growth Objective GG5 Growing a good economy  
Policy SD6 Town centres and high streets  
Policy SD7 Town centres: development principles and Development Plan Documents  
Policy SD8 Town centre network  
Policy SD9 Town centres: Local partnerships and implementation  

303



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

Policy SD10 Strategic and local regeneration   
Policy D12 Fire Safety  
Policy D13 Agent of Change  
Policy D14 Noise  
Policy HC5 Supporting London’s culture and creative industries   
Policy HC6 Supporting the night-time economy  
Policy E1 Offices  
Policy E2 Providing Prividing suitable business space   
Policy E3 Affordable workspace  
Policy E4 Land for industry, logistics and services to support London’s economic function  
Policy E6 Locally significant industrial sites  
Policy E7 Intensification, co-location, and substitution  
Policy E8 Sector growth opportunities and clusters   
Policy E9 Retail, markets and hot food takeaways  
Policy E10 Visitor infrastructure  
Policy E11 Skills and opportunities for all  
  
Mayor of London Culture and Night-time Economy SPG  
Mayor of London Town Centres SPG  
 

7.2 Introduction   

  

7.2.2 Barnet’s town centre hierarchy consists of one Major Centre,14 District Centres, 16 Local Centres 

(including Colindale Gardens) and with the a Regional Shopping Centre (with the future potential 

designation as of a Metropolitan Centre) at Brent Cross. In addition to this, there are seven out of town 

retail parks, over 50 local parades and several weekly markets in the Borough.  Details of the town 

centre hierarchy are set out at Table 13 12.   

  

304



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

7.2.6 Along with other uses previously in Class D1 (non-residential institutions - gyms, nurseries and 

health centres) and D2 (assembly and leisure), and other uses which are ‘suitable for a town centre 

area’ are also included includes in the class:  

• Indoors sport, recreation and fitness facilities  

• Medical and health facilities  

• Creches and day nurseries  

• Research and development facilities  

• Light industrial uses (which can be carried out in any residential area).   

 

7.2.7 The impact of the Government’s changes to the Use Classes Order in 2020 and subsequent 

expansion of permitted development rights in 2021 have been difficult to quantify for this Local Plan.  

The changes to the Use Classes Order (2020) remove restrictions on changes of use and allow 

greater flexibility for opportunities to change between main town centre uses, supporting town centre 

vitality and viability. but one immediate impact has been the removal of strategic growth targets for 

comparison and convenience retail space.  Taking account of that situation, the Plan’s approach is 

necessarily focussed on location-based opportunities for retail and other main town centre uses to 

address need and demand in the most sustainable locations and ensure that the development 

provided is proportionate to the scale of the centre and in support of housing growth as part of mixed 

use development. This is subject to the application of the sequential test to planning applications 

where necessary, and impact assessment for applications for retail and leisure development outside of 

town centres and otherwise not in accordance with the policies of this Plan.   

 
 
Table 13 12: Barnet’s Town Centre Hierarchy   

305



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 

 
Brent Cross  
Shopping Centre  

  

Regional Shopping Centre in 2016 London Plan.   

The future potential network classification for Brent Cross is as a  
Metropolitan Centre in the London Plan 2021. The new town centre will be both north and south 
of the A406 (Brent Cross North and Brent Cross Town).  

Major Town  
Centre   
  

1.        Edgware  
  

District Town Centres   

1.  
2.  
3.  
4.  

Brent Street                                8. Golders Green                  
Burnt Oak                                   9. Hendon  
Cricklewood                                10. Mill Hill  
Chipping Barnet                          11. New Barnet  

  5.  Colindale - the Hyde                   12. North Finchley    

 6.  East Finchley                              13. Temple Fortune  

 7.  Finchley Central                          14. Whetstone  

  
Local /  
Neighbourhood  
Centres  

1.  
2.  
3.  
4.  
5.  
6.  

Apex Corner                                 910. Great North Road                    
Childs Hill                                     11. Hale Lane                
Colindale Gardens                       12. Hampden Square 
Colney Hatch Lane                      13. Holders Hill Circus 
Deansbrook Road                        14. Market Place 
East Barnet Village                      15. New Southgate 

  7.  Friern Barnet                                16. West Hendon 

 8.  Golders Green Road                     

 9.  Grahame Park                                     

 
 
 
 
 
7.3 Barnet’s Town Centres  

  

306



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

7.3.5 Each Framework includes a section on delivery and implementation, which proposes the use of 

planning obligations / legal agreements Section 106 and Community Infrastructure Levy contributions 

to invest in a public realm enhancement programme with the potential to gain additional funding from 

other sources including government funds, local traders and community fundraising initiatives. Through 

this programme of town centre strategies, SPDs, planning briefs and development frameworks the 

Council will continue to develop and update frameworks for Barnet’s town centres.  

  

7.4 Town Centres Evidence Base   

  

7.4.3 The COVID19 pandemic has accelerated movement away from traditional retail formats and 

further changed the way we shop and interact with town centres as the focus of local commercial 

activity. Through working with our partners in the WLA the Council will seek a better understanding of 

what format and quantum – if any – of additional space we may need in terms of retail provision. To 

improve understanding of how town centres have changed since 2012, the Council commissioned a 

Town Centres Study which takes a benchmarking approach for identifying trends affecting town 

centres. The Study also takes a qualitative approach, based on an analysis of long-term retail, 

planning and socio-economic trends across the study area, which form the basis for a series of options 

and recommendations for future development which will inform the early review of the Plan. The 

Council will complement this Study with further town centres evidence, including identifying any 

floorspace needs for retail and other main town centre uses.     

 

7.5 Brent Cross   

  

7.5.1 Brent Cross Shopping Centre is Barnet’s largest shopping location and forms part of the Brent 

Cross Growth Area, an area which is set to be transformed over the lifetime of the Local Plan. Outline 

planning permission was granted in 2010 2014 for the comprehensive redevelopment of the whole of 

307



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

the Brent Cross Growth Area  to create a new mixed use town centre at Brent Cross North and Brent 

Cross Town with 56,600m² of comparison retail floorspace and main town centre uses; approximately 

7,500 new homes, including affordable ones, and 395,297m² of office space a new commercial quarter 

with a forecast of  over 20,000 new jobs. Implementation of the consent will deliver a major retail and 

leisure destination for North London with a range of uses contributing to the night-time economy.   

 

7.6 Vibrant Town Centres  

 

   A range of uses are important to the continued vitality and viability of the town centre.  While 

retailing remains important in town centres, housing, as a consequence of residential led intensification, 

makes a greater contribution to the town centre’s diversification and overall ‘offer’. Investment in 

residential led mixed use development will help to fund public realm and infrastructure improvements. 

Housing within mixed use areas of development can reduce the need to travel, reducing congestion and 

helping to improve air and noise quality. By enhancing the provision of arts, culture, leisure and 

recreation facilities, the Council wants to diversify the town centre offer, making them more attractive 

family friendly destinations, places which feel safe, generate more footfall and encourage longer visits. 

Good design and effective use of space can also enhance footfall and the time people may spend in the 

centre through reconfiguration of landscaping and public realm as well as integrated access to shared 

outdoor spaces. Good public realm should be uncluttered so that all pedestrians including those that are 

mobility impaired can use pavements. Town centre public realm strategies will address in more detail the 

management of obstacles such as: shops which use pavements for displaying goods; advertisement 

hoardings; and telephone kiosks.   

  

7.6.5 The Council will also support community uses in the town centres (including local centres), as 

these locations are associated with higher levels of public transport accessibility. Enhancement or 

relocation of community uses is supported by the Council on the basis that this does not reduce service 

coverage in other parts of the Borough. Policy CHW01 provides further detail on community uses. This 

308



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

approach will deliver community uses and support the wider vitality and viability of the town centre 

particularly through the maintenance of an active street frontage.   

  

7.6.6A The Local and Neighbourhood centres in the Borough, as identified in Table 12, serve their 

respective local catchment areas with a range of smaller independent shops and services. Local 

Centres have a key role in supporting ’15 minute neighbourhoods’ as they generally provide for smaller 

scale needs i.e. day to day convenience retail, social and community needs. The Council seeks to both 

protect these local centres as well as maintaining the vitality and viability of larger district town centres 

which are more appropriate locations for larger units. 

  

7.6.7 Outside of town centres all proposals for main town centre uses, including all retail, office or 

leisure development, which are outside of town centres must comply with the sequential test approach 

as set out in the NPPF (para 86). When considering planning applications for main town centre uses (as 

defined in both the NPPF and the London Plan) in locations that are not within an existing centre nor 

identified as a proposal in this plan, the Council will apply the sequential test as set out in the NPPF and 

Policy SD7 part A1 of the London Plan. In identifying potential sites for main town centre uses it may be 

necessary for the area of search to extend across into neighbouring local authority areas. This 

extension will be required for proposals in those Town Centres that adjoin the Borough boundary 

(Edgware, Colindale – the Hyde, Cricklewood and Burnt Oak). When considering whether a 

development is of an appropriate scale, consideration will be given to factors such as the size and 

amount of town centre floorspace being provided and where this is appropriate in relation to the town 

centre network set out in Annex 1 of the London Plan and Table 12 of the Local Plan. 

  

7.6.8 Enabling opportunities and directing investment that contributes to thriving town centres is a 

priority for the Council. Proposals for significant retail, office or leisure development (of more than 500m² 

gross internal floorspace) outside of Barnet’s town centres will require an impact assessment 

309



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

demonstrating that there would be no adverse impact on the vitality and viability of the designated 

centre. The Council will refuse planning permission where there is evidence that proposals are likely to 

have significant adverse impacts on the vitality and viability of the designated centres.   

 

16.7.1 Boundaries of Town Centres were established in 2012 and have not been changed. Town centre 

sites are included as those that are within 400 metres of a Town Centre Boundary. The existing Town 

Centre Boundaries should be used for the purposes of the sequential test in Policy TOW01. The delivery 

of housing within 400 metres of a Town Centre Boundary contribute to calculations for District Town 

Centres in Table 5 of the Plan. 

 

GLOSSARY  

 

Local and Neighbourhood Centres : Typically serving a localised catchment often most accessible by 

walking and cycling and include local parades serving a local level of retail need, i.e. small clusters of 

shops, mostly for convenience goods and other services. They may for example include a small 

supermarket (typically up to around 500m2), sub-post office, pharmacy, laundrette and other useful local 

services. Together with District Centres they can play a key role in addressing areas deficient in local 

retail and other services. 

 
MM
54 

Chapter 7  
Town Centres 
 
Policy TOW02 
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 

 

Policy TOW02 Development Principles in Barnet’s Town Centres, Local Centres and 
Parades  
 

Revisions to ensure consistent 
terminology for Local and 
Neighbourhood Centres as identified 
in Table 12 
 
Cross-reference to primary frontages 
depicted on the Policies Map, and  
 

310



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
Paras 7.7.1, 
7.7.1A, 7.7.1B, 
7.7.1C & 
7.7.16 

The Council expects a suitable mix of appropriate uses to respond to changing demands and 

support and boost their continued vitality and viability.   

  
Any significant new development will be expected to provide a mix of unit sizes, avoid an inward-

looking layout, maintain the street frontage and provide suitable and convenient linkages for 

shoppers to access other town centre uses.  

  

The Council will seek to ensure that:  

A. (a) Within the primary frontages (as depicted on the Policies Map) of the Major and District 
Town Centres, Local and Neighbourhood Centres (identified in Table 12) and Parades the 
retail function is main town centre uses are safeguarded protected with a strong preference for 
retail uses as part of the Commercial, Business and Service (Use Class E). This approach is 
also applicable to local parades. Any proposals that reduce Commercial, Business and 
Service Use floorspace will only be supported if criteria B (b) is met. 

B.  (b) Where proposals for alternative uses at ground floor level do not meet criteria A (a) the 
Council will take the following into consideration:  

a) (c) Significance and extent of any reduction of retail facilities.  

b) (d) Loss of any active frontages at ground floor level where the expectation is that 

these should be retained.  

c) (e) Whether alternative retail facilities are accessible by walking, cycling or public 

transport to meet the needs of the area.  

d) (f) Likelihood of Capability of the proposal in attracting visitors to the town centre.  

e) (g) Contribution of the proposal to the Council’s growth objectives.  

f) (h) Evidence that there is no viable demand for continued existing Use Class E use and 

that the property has been vacant for over 12 months, with the exception of meanwhile 

uses in accordance with part n). Evidence of continuous marketing over a 12 month 

period will be required (unless the 3 month vacancy rule for Use Class MA applies).  

(c) Properties at ground floor level are expected to retain active frontages.  

clarification that the safeguarding 
approach applies to Use Class E and 
that the criterion applies to proposals 
in local parades.  
 
Clarification on significance of any 
reduction of retail facilities, including 
clarification that properties are 
expected to retain active frontages at 
ground floor level 
Ensure that likelihood of the proposal 
to attract visitors is considered and 
clarification on expected period of 
continuous marketing.  
 
Restructuring at Part B to reflect 
requirements of proposals for 
alternative uses at ground floor level 
that don’t meet Part A and so altered 
to be sub-criteria of criterion b).  
 
Clarification on the suitability of 
utilising upper floors for alternative 
uses. 
 
Clarification that development with a 
significant adverse effect on the 
living conditions of occupiers of 
neighbouring properties will be 
resisted in accordance with the 
Agent of Change principle 
 
Clarification on supportive approach 
to meanwhile uses of vacant sites 
and buildings that make a positive 
contribution to a town centre’s 
viability and vitality.  
 
Consequential changes needed to 
the supporting text to ensure a 
consistent approach. This includes  

311



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

C. (j) The use of upper floors where suitable for alternative uses including residential, 

employment or community provision will be strongly encouraged.  

D. (k) In accordance with the Agent of Change principle, development that has significant 

adverse impact on the living conditions amenities of nearby occupiers of neighbouring 

properties will be resisted.  

E. (l) Development that has significant adverse impact on traffic flow or road safety will be is 

resisted.  

F. (m) The use of vacant sites or buildings for occupation by meanwhile uses that will 

benefit would make a positive contribution to a town centre’s viability and vitality will be 

supported. 

G.  (n) Markets in town centres will normally be supported, in particular where they 

contribute to greater retail choice, affordability and support for small enterprises.   

 
 
7.7 Development Principles for Town Centres 

7.7.1A Changes to the Use Classes Order (UCO) under the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) 

(Amendment) (England) Regulations 2020 came into effect on 1 September 2020, amending the Town 

and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987. This included of a new Use Class E (commercial, 

business and service). The government’s intention in making these changes being to support town 

centres and high streets; allowing centres to better adapt to changing circumstances, reflect changing 

retail and business models, provide a wider range of facilities and services - including new emerging 

uses - to attract people. Also, allowing businesses greater flexibility to adapt and diversify to meet 

changing customer demands.  

 

7.7.1B Town centres and high streets are needing to adapt rapidly in response to changing working 

patterns, shopping habits and social inter-action.  Appropriate flexibility in planning uses within town 

New para 7.7.1A to explain the 
implications of changes to the Use 
Classes Order and related permitted 
development rights, including those 
which apply to Class E and Class MA 
and influence the requirements 
relating to continuous marketing 
periods, 
Updates to para 7.7.6 to emphasise 
the importance of reducing vehicular 
traffic to improving public realm. 
 
  

312



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

centres can complement other strategies for high street recovery and is supported in principle. However, 

circumstances can vary considerably between town centres depending on a variety of factors such as 

proximity to residential neighbourhoods or to office and transport nodes. Mindful of the potential for 

unintended consequences arising from the introduction of Class E, some of which could prove harmful to 

town centres, the Council will closely monitor the impacts going forward and if required make any 

necessary changes to policies in the next iteration of the Local Plan.  Together with other west London 

boroughs, the Council has already commissioned the production of up-to-date evidence relating to town 

centres and any floorspace needs for retail and other main town centre uses. This evidence will be used 

to inform the early review of this Local Plan which the Council has committed to. 

 

7.7.1C The new Permitted Development Rights (PDR) rules introduced only apply to buildings which 

have been in Class E use (or prior to 1 September 2020 any predecessor use class A1, A2, A3, B1, 

D1(a), D1(b) or D2(e)) for a continuous period of at least 2 years prior to the date of the prior approval 

application. New PDR under new Class MA came into force on 1st August 2021. The associated 3-

month rule does not apply to any other Use Classes such as Class F1, F2, B2, B8, C1, C2, C2A, C3, C4 

or Sui generis. For these uses the 12-month rule will apply. Therefore, any buildings in Class E changing 

to Class MA which have been vacant for at least 3 continuous months immediately prior to the date of 

the application for prior approval are exempted from the requirements of TOW02 (part b criteria vi) and 

the 12-month marketing period.  

 

7.7.1 An appropriate mix of uses, including residential, and services is needed in order to retain and 

improve the vibrancy and vitality of Barnet’s town centres. The core area of the town centre should be 

maintained for commercial, business and service uses of which retail shops remain the priority use 

within the primary frontages. Elsewhere, in the town centres a greater diversity of uses will be 

supported, recognising the changing role of these locations as places that people visit for a variety of 

313



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

reasons, including shopping, working, leisure and community purposes as well as museums and 

hotels.   

  

7.7.6 Town centre development will be expected to enhance the public realm in order to improve 

accessibility, social spaces, safety and the environment. Achieving reductions in vehicular traffic 

makes an important contribution to improving the public realm. Reducing the dominance of vehicles 

can support town centre vitality by making the public realm more pleasant and inclusive, thus 

encouraging more frequent and longer stay trips. Therefore, Iin making high streets healthier, 

opportunities to reduce reliance on car travel should be sought encouraged, including the creation of 

attractive and welcoming places that enable well connected walking and cycling routes. In considering 

development proposals opportunities to reduce on-street and off-street car parking should be pursued 

in accordance with Policy TRC03 whilst acknowledging the contribution of appropriate car-parking 

facilities to the success of a town centre. 

 
MM 
55 

Chapter 7  
Town Centres 
 
Policy TOW03 
 
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Paras 7.8.2, 
7.8.3, 7.8.3A & 
7.8.8  

Policy TOW03 Managing Hot Food Takeaways, Adult Gaming Centres, Amusement Arcades, 
Betting Shops, Payday Loan Shops, Pawnbrokers and Shisha Bars   

A. a. In addressing increasing levels of childhood obesity and health inequality within the Borough, 
as well as to preserve the vitality and viability retail-based role of Barnet’s town centres, the Council 
will resist the proliferation and over concentration of hot food takeaways. The Council and will 
support not permit proposals for hot food takeaways that satisfactorily address all of the following 
criteria that:  

a. i) Are not separated from any existing hot food takeaway unit or group of units in such a 
use34.   

b) ii) Are not located within 400m of the boundary of an existing school or youth centre. 
c) iii) Do not hHave an unacceptable impact on highway safety. 
d) iv) Do not hHave an undue impact on the living environment for nearby residents residential 

amenity in terms of noise, vibrations, odours, traffic disturbance and litter. 

Clarifications to ensure policy 
approach to hot food takeaways at 
Part A is positively prepared by 
indicating circumstances and 
locations where proposals will be 
supported whilst preserving their 
viability and vitality by avoiding over-
concentrations of such a use.  
Associated changes to suitably re-
phrase sub-criteria as related 
requirements rather than restrictions 
Removal of duplication with respect 
to odour controls.  
Clarification to seek to ensure that 
there is no unacceptable impact on 
the living environment for nearby 
residents in terms of noise, 
vibrations, traffic disturbance and 
litter,  

314



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

e) v) Do not pProvide effective extraction of odours and cooking smells. 
f) vi) Do not pProvide adequate on-site waste storage and disposal of waste products. 

vii) Do not agree to operate in compliance with the Council’s Healthier Catering 
Commitment.  

g) Ensure that drainage facilities are adequate for the purpose intended and that an effective 
fat/grease trap has been installed at the appropriate location to control fat and grease 

entering the drainage system. 
h) Provide drainage plans for the premises which show the location of the grease trap, and 

proposed schedule of maintenance for the trap before commencement of use of the 
premises. 

In addition, hot food takeaway proposals will be expected to operate and demonstrate compliance 
with the Council’s Healthier Catering Commitment.  
 
B. In addressing increasing levels of health inequality within the Borough as well as to preserve the 
vitality and viability retail-based role of Barnet’s town centres, the Council will resist the proliferation 
and over concentration of: betting shops, adult gaming centres, amusement arcades, pawnbrokers, 
pay day loan shops and shisha bars. The Council will support not permit proposals for such Sui 
Generis uses that satisfactorily address all of the following criteria that:  
viii) a) Are not separated from any existing Sui Generis unit in this group by at least two units which 
are neither units in a different use (from those in uses as highlighted in (b)) and hot food takeaway 
uses).  
ix) Are located within 400m of the boundary of an existing school or youth centre.  
x) Are not accompanied by Health Impact Assessments (HIAs) when requested by the Council.  

xi) b) Do not pProvide active frontages and must have a positive visual impact on the street scene.  
xii) c) Do not hHave a significant adverse impact on local community and residential amenity in 
terms of noise, vibrations, odours, traffic disturbance and litter.  
 
C. The Council will expect proposals for all uses included in this policy to complete the Council’s 
Health Impact Assessment (HIA) screening tool to identify any important health considerations at 
the earliest opportunity, and to determine the type of HIA that is required.  

Removal of overlaps with other 
policies of the Plan (e.g. Policies 
TOW01 and ECC02).  
 
Clarification on  how hot food 
takeaway proposals should 
demonstrate compliance with the 
Council’s Healthy Catering 
Commitment.  
 
New criteria to ensure that details of 
suitable drainage facilities (including 
effective fat/grease traps) are 
provided with proposals for hot food 
takeaways, together with a proposed 
schedule of maintenance.  
 
Clarifications to ensure policy 
approach to identified uses at Part B 
is positively prepared by indicating 
circumstances and locations where 
proposals will be supported, 
clarifying the intention to address 
health inequalities, whilst preserving 
their viability and vitality of town 
centres by avoiding over-
concentrations of such a use.  
 
Associated changes include deletion 
of a requirement that betting shops, 
adult gaming centres, amusement 
arcades, pawnbrokers, pay day loan 
shops and shisha bars be located 
more than 400m from the boundary 
of an existing school or youth centre 
as not justified.  
 
Clarification on requirement for  
Health Impact Assessments to 
accompany the related proposals. 
 

315



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
 
7.8 Managing Hot Food Takeaways, Adult Gaming Centres, Amusement Arcades, Betting Shops, 

Payday Loan Shops, Pawnbrokers and Shisha Bars.  

 

7.8.2 Obesity is one of the greatest health challenges facing London where 38 per cent of Year 6 pupils 

(10 to 11 year-olds) are overweight or obese – higher than any other region in England. The creation of 

a healthy food environment, including access to fresh food, is therefore important. The causes of 

obesity and poor health are multi-faceted and complex. National guidance is clear that planning 

policies can limit the proliferation of certain use classes including ‘sui generis’ uses in certain areas, 

and that regard should be had to locations where children and young people congregate.31 London 

Plan (Policy E9 Retail, markets and hot food takeaways) supports restricting proposals for hot food 

takeaway uses that are within 400 metres of a school. It also supports the use of thresholds to manage 

an over-concentration of Hhot food takeaway uses within town centres. While it is acknowledged that 

takeaways provide a convenience service to local communities which has proved popular at the time of 

the COVID-19 pandemic, the Council needs to balance this with concerns about levels of childhood 

obesity and increasing levels of health inequality as well as the need to preserve the retail-based role 

of town centres. The Council’s Public Health team have produced evidence on the proliferation of hot 

food takeaways in the Borough including a map of hot food takeaways and schools – see Map 6.32 In 

addressing concerns about childhood obesity the Review focused on students attending Barnet 

schools. At the time of the Review there were at least 205 hot food takeaways in Barnet according to 

the Food Standards Agency. This figure is however considered an under-estimate as according to a 

University of Cambridge study there are 350 hot food takeaway premises in the Borough. Within this 

extensive base and responding to changes in consumer preferences for takeaway hot food there will 

be opportunities for turnover as takeaway businesses close and new ones replace them in premises 

established and allowed As consumer preferences change existing premises may convert to other uses 

whilst new proposals will be required to pass through the planning system.  

  

Consequential changes to the 
supporting text to ensure a 
consistent approach. Includes 
changes to paras 7.8.1 to 7.8.8 to 
clarify the approach to hot food 
takeaways taking account of the 
extent of existing premises and 
requirement to control new 
proposals, together with a new para 
7.83A explaining the approach to 
drainage and fat/grease traps and 
the details that should accompany 
proposals for hot food takeaways. 
  

316



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

7.8.3 The Council has established a scheme, known as the Healthier Catering Commitment (HCC), 

that helps existing food businesses in Barnet to provide healthier food, which is low in fat, salt and 

sugar, to their customers. Open to all food businesses with a hygiene rating of 3 or above, the scheme 

is about making small changes to how food is prepared making it healthier. Businesses are assessed 

and awarded with HCC if they meet the requirements of at least 8 of the criteria, including any relevant 

essential criteria. In those instances where new hot food takeaway premises are allowed the Council 

will require, through a planning condition, that operators comply with the Healthier Catering 

Commitment.   

 

Map 6 Hot Food Takeaways and Schools – Map Retained as Submitted 

 

7.8.3A Another consideration for the Council is that drainage facilities are adequate for the purpose 

intended and that an effective fat/grease trap has been installed at the appropriate location to control 

fat and grease entering the drainage system. The Council will require, through a planning condition, 

that drainage plans for the premises show the location of the grease trap and set out the proposed 

schedule of maintenance for the trap before commencement of use of the premises. 

  

7.8.8 In considering proposals for such uses the Council will require an assessment of development 

impacts which should be proportionate to the proposal. The Council may require the applicant to 

submit a rapid Health Impact Assessment (HIA) for those uses, particularly in geographical areas which 

exhibit poor economic and/or health indicators. HIAs are designed to consider whether a development 

proposal might reinforce health inequalities and inadvertently damage people's health or have positive 

health outcomes for the local community. The Council is producing Health Impact Guidance. This will 

include outlining the process and expectations for developers in relation to HIAs.   

 

317



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM
56 

Chapter 7  
Town Centres 
 
Policy TOW04 
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
Paras 7.9.1 to 
7.9.3  

Policy TOW04 Night-Time Economy  
In accordance with London Plan Policy HC6 Supporting the Night-Time Economy, Tthe Council will 
support proposals for evening and night-time economy uses in Barnet’s Town Centres in particular 
Chipping Barnet, Cricklewood, North Finchley and Whetstone as well as Brent Cross, Edgware and 
Golders Green, where: 
 

A. The scale and type of use reflects the role and function of the town centre and positively 
contribute to its vitality and viability by preserving or enhancing existing night-time economy 
activities or creating new ones.  

B. Proposals accord with any relevant requirements of Policies TOW01, TOW02 and TOW03 
and that Tthere is no conflict with other policies in the Plan. Policy TOW03    

C. There is are no unacceptable significant negative impacts on highway safety (in accordance 
with Policy TRC01) or the living environment amenity of adjoining or adjacent residential 
accommodation and non-residential uses, in terms of such as noise disturbance, cooking 
smells and anti-social behaviour, or highway safety. in accordance with Policies CHW03 and 
ECC02. 

D. There is are no unacceptable significant negative impacts arising upon resulting from a 
cumulative effect of development in relation to the number, capacity and location of other 
night-time economy uses in the surrounding area.   

E. There is no significant detrimental impact on the historic distinctiveness (see taking account 
of the requirements and approach of Policy CDH08) to the historic environment of, or 
heritage assets within, of Barnet’s town centres.   

f) Development that preserves or enhances existing night time economy activities or creates 
new ones that will reinforce the role and significance of the town centre. Chipping Barnet, 
Cricklewood, North Finchley and Whetstone as well as Brent Cross, Edgware and Golders Green 
in an inclusive and accessible way will be supported, whilst that which would undermine it will be 
refused. 

 
Addition of cross-reference to Policy 
HC6 of the London Plan and clarify 
that the policy is also relevant to 
evening economy uses.  
 
Part A revised to emphasise that the 
scale and type of use should reflect 
the role and function of the town 
centre, and positively contribute to its 
viability and vitality by preserving or 
enhancing existing night-time 
economy activities or creating new 
ones.  
 
Clarification that proposals should 
accord with any relevant 
requirements of Policies TOW01, 
TOW02 and TOW03.  
 
Changes at Part C to ensure that 
proposals would not result in 
unacceptable impacts upon highway 
safety or the living environment of 
adjoining or adjacent residential and 
non-residential uses, in terms of 
noise, disturbance, odours and anti-
social behaviour, and removal of 
overlaps with other policies of the 
Plan (e.g. Policies TRC01 and 
ECC02).  
 
Part D ensures that proposals 
demonstrate that they would not 
result in unacceptable impacts 
arising from a cumulative effect with 
the number, capacity and location of 
other night-time economy uses in the 
surrounding area. 
 

318



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
 
7.9 Night-Time Economy   

 

7.9.1 The night-time economy refers to all economic activity taking place between the hours of 6pm and 

6am and therefore includes evening uses. Night time economy uses include restaurants and bars, as 

well as cinemas, theatres and arts venues. Such uses can contribute positively to the vitality and 

vibrancy of town centres by providing informal surveillance for passers-by helping visitors to feel safer in 

the night-time. Patterns of consumer behaviour and technological change have led to the concept of a 

24-hour city, which has led to diversification of use and adaptation for many areas that have brought 

new residents to the area.  As town centres continue to change and evolve, particularly post COVID and 

the Use Class Order changes, whilst recognising the limitations on its powers, the Council will closely 

monitor the impact of these changes and consider any consequential need for policy changes. 

  

7.9.2 The majority of Barnet’s town centres have a night-time offer to varying degrees35 but for most of 

Barnet’s town centres where the night-time economy is important it is primarily the local area that is 

served. The London Plan classifies Chipping Barnet, Cricklewood and North Finchley town centres as 

having night time economies of more than local significance. Town centres that provide a safe and 

attractive environment are more likely to encourage residents and visitors to come to the Borough in the 

evening. Public realm improvements will change the image and perception of Barnet’s town centres and 

welcoming public spaces will encourage people to spend more time at the destination. The Council 

seeks to enhance the existing strengths of town centres to create a thriving night time economy with 

activities and venues that are fully inclusive and accessible.  This includes reaching a balance between 

safeguarding amenity and maximising the creative potential from a growing leisure offer that enhances 

the range and quality of local food and drink, heritage, culture and arts on offer. Further guidance is set 

out in the Mayor’s Supplementary Planning Guidance on Culture and the Night Time Economy.  

 

Cross-reference added to Policy 
CDH08 where proposals have a 
relationship with the historic 
environment or heritage assets within 
Barnet’s town centres.  
 
Consequential changes to the 
supporting text.to ensure a 
consistent approach. 

319



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

7.9.2A Each night-time economy area will have its own character which should be recognised and 

supported. London Plan Policy HC6 - Supporting the night-time economy (part B) sets out matters for 

consideration in Local Plans, town centre strategies and planning decision making. Key considerations 

are: the need to improve access, inclusion and safety; making the public realm welcoming for all night-

time economy users and workers; and protecting and supporting evening and night-time cultural venues 

such as pubs, night clubs, theatres, cinemas, music and other arts venues. Several policies in this 

Barnet Local Plan address these matters, in particular TOW02 setting out development principles for 

town centres, CDH03 relating to the public realm, CHW03 that seeks to make Barnet a safer place and 

CHW04 that gives specific policy protection to public houses. 

  

7.9.3 Town centre frameworks and strategies can help to manage the role of the night-time economy 

with regard to residential amenity and any potential adverse effects on local residents. In addition, night 

time economy uses and activities including drinking establishments are subject to a co-ordinated 

approach based on Planning and Licensing policy and considerations by other stakeholders such as 

Highways, Community Safety and Cleansing. Diversification of night-time uses can add to the vitality 

and viability of town centres and should promote inclusive access and safety. Where appropriate, 

planning conditions or legal agreements will be used to manage hours of operation, noise and fumes 

from machinery, storage and disposal of refuse, the areas used by customers and any other issues that 

may need to control the impact of night-time uses in order to protect amenity. The introduction of the 

‘agent of change’ principle will ensure that new development does not unduly add to the costs and 

administrative burdens of existing businesses.  

 
 

320



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM
57 

Chapter 8 
 
Community , 
Health and 
Wellbeing 
 
Policy CHW01  
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Paras 8.2.2, 
8.3.1, 8.3.3, 
8.3.5,8.3.5A, 
8.4.1, 8.5.2, 
8.5.3, 
8.6.1,8.6.9, 
8.10.1, & 
8.10.5 

 

Policy CHW01 Community Infrastructure    

The Council will work with partners to ensure that community facilities including schools, libraries, 
medical and dental services, leisure centres and swimming pools, outdoor sports facilities 
including playing fields and pitches, places of worship, arts and cultural facilities, community 
meeting places and facilities for younger and older people, are provided for Barnet’s 
communities.  

A. The Council will: 

a) ensure that programmes for capital investment in schools and services for young people 
address the needs of a growing, more diverse and increasingly younger population; 

b) support the enhancement and inclusive design of community infrastructure ensuring efficient 
use; 

c) support, subject to satisfactory management arrangements, the provision of multi-purpose 
community facilities hubs that can make best use of land, including the public sector estate 
and provide a range of community services, particularly within the Council’s preferred 
locations - Growth Areas, town centres or local centres; Provision outside town centres will 
need robust justification; 

d) support and promote an alternative community use where the existing community use is 
surplus; 

d) require large scale development to provide community facilities or land for facilities 

preferably on-site as an integral part of their development, to meet need generated by their 

development and wider identified demand if necessary; that increases the demand for 

community facilities and services to make appropriate proportionate contributions towards 

existing facilities and new and accessible facilities Borough wide, particularly within Barnet’s 

Growth Areas and town centres; 

Clarification that policy applies to 
outdoor sports facilities including 
playing fields and pitches, with 
consequent changes to provide 
consistency with NPPF and general 
conformity with London Plan Policy 
S5  
 
Clarification so that ‘multi-purpose 
community facilities’ are referred to 
consistently and that such facilities 
are preferred in but not limited to 
locations in GAs, town centres, local 
centres and public sector estate to 
generally conform to London Plan 
Policy S1.  
Deletion of criterion about alternative 
community use as it unnecessarily 
overlaps and complicates the more 
detailed approach covered by Part D. 
 
Clarification of Council’s preference 
for large scale development to 
provide community facilities or land 
for such facilities on site to meet the 
needs generated by the 
development.  
 
Rewording from  ‘allocate sites’ to 
‘support proposals’ 
 
Revisions to reflect the approach to 
outdoor sports facilities, including 
playing fields and pitches, to accord 
with NPPF and London Plan Policy 
S5. Replacement of  ‘not suitable’ 
with ‘not fit for purpose’ to make clear 
that facilities should be demonstrated 
to be not suitable ‘or’ viable. 
Add criteria of London Plan Policy 
S1(F). 

321



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

e) work with the Mayor of London, cemetery providers and groups for whom burial is the only 
option to maintain a supply of burial space;  

f) allocate sites Support proposals for development that address educational needs and 
demand with reference to up to date evidence as identified in the Council’s Education 
Strategy;  

g) support proposals that as part of the visitor economy help contribute to, or seek to 
incorporate, museum/display space to celebrate the culture, history and archaeology of 
Barnet; and 

h) support providers of new and improved educational facilities within the Borough, such as 
those at Middlesex University’s Hendon campus and will encourage the provision of further 
and higher education programmes, skills training and continuing professional development 
programmes, business support initiatives and applied research. 

 
B. Development (including change of use) that involves the loss or replacement of existing 

community facilities / services will only be permitted if:   

a) the a replacement facility is of equivalent to or better quality is provided which and meets 
continues to serve the needs of the neighbourhood and wider communitycurrently met by 
the existing facility, or 

b) the loss is part of a wider public service transformation plan which requires investment in 
modern, fit for purpose infrastructure and facilities to meet future population needs or to 
sustain and improve services; or  

c) it has been demonstrated that the facility is no longer required in its current use and that it 
is not fit for purpose suitable or and viable for any other forms of social community 
infrastructure for which there is a defined current or future need identified in the 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 
 

The full or partial use of redundant community infrastructure for other forms of community 
infrastructure will be considered before alternative developments are considered, unless the loss 
is part of a wider public service transformation plan. 

 
New wording to reflect London Plan 
Policy S1(G)  
 
Deletion of nomination of ACVs as a 
potential planning consideration, as 
no evidence that nominations will 
necessarily lead to the formal 
designation of such assets.  
 
Deletion in Part E of criteria that limit 
locations wherein new community 
infrastructure is supported, and to 
resolve overlap and internal 
consistency issues.  
 
Removal of reference to ‘wider 
national policy requirements’, which 
is not clearly defined.  
 
Deletion of requirement for all 
proposals to be subject to legal 
agreements as these would not be 
required or proportionate for all forms 
and scales of new community 
infrastructure.  
 
Clarification that although public 
houses constitute community 
facilities, Policy CHW04 provides a 
separate approach for public houses.  
 
Deletion of references to Council’s 
Community Asset Strategy, 
Community Asset Implementation 
Plan and Community Participation 
Strategy, as more relevant and up-to-
date information is contained in the 
IDP  
 

322



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
Proposals involving loss of sports and recreational land or facilities will be considered in 
accordance with London Plan Policy S5. 

 
 
C. In considering proposals involving the loss of community infrastructure the Council will take 

into account the listing or nomination of ‘Assets of Community Value’ as a material planning 
consideration. 

D. The Council will support proposals for new community infrastructure where the following 
circumstances apply: 

i. it forms part of a mixed-use development and is located within a Growth Area or 
outside the primary frontages of the Borough’s town centres (Policy GSS01 and Policy 
TOW02); 

ii. provides a replacement, enhancement of an existing facility or new multi-purpose 
community hub; 

iii. provides an alternative community use where the existing community use has identified 
there is surplus provision and where the alternative use can demonstrate a local need, 
and that there is no undue impact on the amenity of existing residents or the highway 
network; 

a) iv.  it provides infrastructure in line with wider national policy requirements and local 
demands; and  

b) v. a statement will need to be is submitted which demonstrates how in particular the 
development addresses community needs); and 

c) it demonstrates how other policies in this Plan, in particular Policy TRC01 and Policy 
TRC03, are met. 
 

E. All new community infrastructure should deliver a quality and inclusive design providing access 
for all as well as efficient, flexible, affordable and adaptable buildings. The developer will be 
required to reach a legal agreement with the Council on the continuing maintenance of the 
new community infrastructure and other future funding requirements. Shared use of facilities 

Clarification in paras 8.2.2 and 8.5.3 
that new community uses including 
indoor sports facilities are 
encouraged in GAs, town centres 
and local centres.  
 
Deletion of reference to ‘Lifetime 
Neighbourhoods’ as it is not 
explained or otherwise justified in  
Plan. 
 
Update to reflect wider public health 
requirements and references to 
London Plan. 

323



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

by different users will be encouraged and may be secured by legal agreement. The location 
and provision of new community uses and facilities in terms of any potential role in 
deployment for public health purposes in the future should be taken into account. 

 
 
8.1 National and London Plan Policy Context 

 

NPPF 

Section 8 Promoting healthy and safe communities specifically paras 91, 92, 93, 94, 94 and 95 

 

London Plan  

Good Growth Objective Policy GG1 Building Strong and Inclusive communities 

Good Growth Objective Policy GG3 Creating a healthy city  

Policy D8 Public realm 

Policy D11 Safety, security, and resilience to emergency 

Policy H12 Supported and Specialised Accommodation  

Policy H13 Specialist Older Persons Housing  

Policy S1 Developing London’s social infrastructure 

Policy S2 Health and social care facilities  

Policy S3 Education and childcare facilities  

324



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

Policy S4 Play and informal recreation  educational facilities 

Policy S5 Sports and recreation facilities 

Policy S6 Public toilets  

Policy S7 Burial space 

Policy HC7 Protecting public houses 

 

Mayor of London Culture and Night-time Economy SPG 

Mayor of London Social Infrastructure SPG 

 

8.2  Introduction 

 

8.2.2 The Council’s approach is to encourage new community uses to be located in Growth Areas, town 

centres or and local centres as these locations tend to be more accessible by public transport, in 

particular the bus network. Where facilities are being provided that serve a local catchment, proximity to 

the bus network will be considered to be of particular importance. Development proposals that seek to 

make best use of land, including the public sector estate, should be encouraged and supported. This 

includes the co-location of different forms of community infrastructure and the rationalisation or sharing 

of facilities. Where possible, deployment for public health purposes COVID-19 testing or vaccination 

should be considered in case of to ensure suitable arrangements are in place to enable an efficient 

response to any future surge outbreaks or pandemics. 

 

325



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

8.3 Barnet’s Community Infrastructure  

 

8.3.1 The Council has adopted a Community Asset Strategy, a Community Asset Implementation Plan 

and a Community Participation Strategy to aid in the management of its portfolio of community assets. 

These assets include manages a range of community infrastructure including sports facilities, playing 

fields, bowling greens, gyms and sports centres, and a variety of buildings including community halls, 

offices and nurseries. The Council’s approach to managing community assets is to generate commercial 

yields, subsidise where appropriate when an organisation is supporting the Council’s objectives or 

assisting with service delivery, maximise efficient use of buildings, identifying opportunities for 

organisations to share and co-locate. A key priority is to develop multi-purpose community facilities hubs 

which will provide a facility that can be used by a variety of community groups. For the purposes of 

Policy CHW01 and elsewhere in this Plan, community infrastructure reflects social infrastructure as 

defined in the Glossary to the London Plan. 

 

8.3.3 A key focus for managing Barnet's future growth will be ensuring that: 

 

• the services, facilities and infrastructure to support the local community as well as visitors are 

provided in suitable locations to meet likely and potentially increasing demand;  

• all new community facilities are accessible to all and provide for physical and sensory accessibility 

requirements; 

• families with small children, older people and disabled people can move around, enjoy and feel 

secure within all neighbourhoods to enable full participation in and contribution to the life of the community;  

• opportunities to deliver services in a new format, including web-based provision, are explored and 

maximised where possible; and 

326



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

• through Lifetime Neighbourhoods, cohesive, successful and sustainable communities are will be 

delivered. To succeed, this will involve putting people at the heart of the design process. Further details 

on inclusive design are set out in Chapter 6. 
 

8.3.5 Introducing a wider mix of uses on a community site or intensifying a community use or function is 

supported provided accessibility and the impact on residential amenity is addressed. If there are 

improvements to existing community or education uses, consideration should be given to how access to 

public transport can be improved. In line with London Plan Policy S1 - Developing London’s social 

infrastructure, the Council will consider full or partial re-use of redundant community infrastructure for  

community infrastructure uses before alternative developments are considered, unless this loss is part of 

a wider public service transformation plan. Proposals that would result in a loss of social community 

infrastructure in an area of defined need will only be permitted where there are realistic proposals for re-

provision that continue to serve the needs of the neighbourhood and wider community, or the loss is part 

of a wider public service transformation plan which requires investment in modern, fit for purpose 

infrastructure and facilities to meet future population needs or to sustain and improve services. Adapting 

a building or land for another community use is would be preferable to its loss. This could also be part of 

a mixed-use redevelopment which re-provides adequate facilities on site. As an alternative, 

improvements can be provided at another location and secured via a legal agreement. Shared use of 

facilities by different users will be encouraged and may be secured by legal agreement. 

  

8.4 Barnet's Libraries 

 

8.4.1 Barnet's libraries act as a multi-purpose community facility hub providing access to meeting space 

and wireless connectivity as well as the Council and partner’s services.  The vision for Barnet libraries is 

to provide a 21st Century library service that is in tune with the changing lifestyles of Barnet’s residents. 

327



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

Libraries are a universal and unique service, offering learning opportunities for all ages that can enhance 

and enrich the lives of residents across the Borough. Within Barnet the ambition for libraries is that they:  

• Help all children in Barnet to have the best start in life, developing essential language, literacy and 

learning skills and a love of reading from an early age.  

• Provide residents with life skills; to improve their health and wellbeing; and to get a job and 

progress whilst in work. 

• Bring people together, acting as a focal point for communities and assisting resident groups to 

support their local area. 

 

8.5 Leisure Centres and Swimming Pools  

 

8.5.2 Analysis of current provision is set out in Barnet’s Indoor Sport and Recreation Facilities Study 

2018. The Study assessed current and future unmet need and access to public sector facilities and 

highlighted optimal locations to address projected unmet need in accordance with the Fit and Active 

Barnet Framework 2016-2021.  The Study highlights that better access to physical activity at local level 

is important for residents, particularly those who are currently inactive, and those without access to 

private transport, to participate, and become physically active. Although the Borough has good sports 

facilities some will require replacement or refurbishment during the Plan period.  Linking facility 

provision, informal and formal, to good levels of public transport access and opportunities for active 

travel, and informal use facilities will help to facilitate more active lifestyles for more people. There is also 

the issue of sports hall facilities that are not accessible to community use. The Council will therefore 

seek increased community access to new provision through planning agreements; this is highlighted as 

a priority in the Study. 

328



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 

8.5.3 Despite the development of new pools at Barnet Copthall and New Barnet leisure centres there is 

insufficient swimming pool provision to meet both current and future demand. Within the period covered 

by the Local Plan the Study has identified a need for increased pay-and-play accessible water space, 

equivalent to 2 new swimming pools (6 lane x 25 m). There is an opportunity to meet this demand 

through increased water space in replacements for the ageing facilities of Finchley Lido and Hendon 

Leisure Centre alongside potential new provision in the north west of the Borough. Other priorities 

highlighted include provision of indoor bowls, fitness facilities, gymnastics and trampolining. To achieve 

this provision Growth Areas and town centres are the preferred locations, as they ensure access to 

public transport links. 

 

8.6 Arts and Culture 

 

8.6.1 Barnet’s Arts and emerging Culture Strategy 2018-2022 2023-2028 represents an exciting, 

ambitious, and fun Strategy that celebrates Barnet's creativity, heritage, and community. The Culture 

Strategy will lay out a set of collective priorities and objectives for arts and culture across the Borough, 

and contribute towards the Council’s ambitions of becoming a 'borough of fun'. provides a framework to 

harness the vision, ambition and resources of the Council, its partners and individuals working in Barnet 

to promote a rich cultural life in the Borough. The Strategy identifies how arts and culture opportunities 

are at the heart of regeneration and sets out its priorities for promoting spaces and opportunities for 

creative and ambitious art projects to thrive and new cultural organisations and industries to flourish.  

 

8.6.2 In order to contribute to the vitality and viability of town centres the Local Plan supports temporary 

(meanwhile) uses and the more flexible application of town centre policy in creating thriving places 

where people feel safe and want to visit. and where they feel safe to visit. Proposals that help celebrate 

329



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

the culture, history and archaeology of Barnet and contribute to the visitor economy will generally be 

supported. The contribution from the voluntary sector to promoting arts and culture within the Borough 

and their role in helping to rejuvenate Barnet’s Town Centres is acknowledged.  

 

8.7 Provision for Children and Young People 

 

8.7.3. Education provision for children and young people will therefore need to be kept under review. 

Policy CHW01 allows for land/contributions to be sought for education if required to make particular 

large-scale developments acceptable in planning terms under the CIL Regulation tests. 

 

8.8.1 At primary level, the demand has continued to fall and almost all school planning areas currently 

have an overall surplus. currently some schools have falling rolls and others are oversubscribed, while 

other areas such as Colindale will have need met when planned schools such as Saracens Primary 

School at Colindale Gardens open in 2026. This will continue to be monitored to ensure sufficient 

capacity remains within the schools across the Borough, with forecast demand for each pupil planning 

area continuing to be reported to the appropriate Council committee.  

 

8.9.1 Barnet’s secondary schools are now experiencing the increase in rolls as the primary school bulge 

classes move through education system. The Council has responded to the rising demand for secondary 

places through investing in the expansion of existing schools. At secondary level, Barnet is nationally 

one of the highest exporters of school places with children coming from outside the Borough to attend 

school. The Free Schools Programme, funded by Government, has helped to tackle the pressure and so 

far there has been no shortfall in the provision of secondary places. The Council considers that the need 

for school places at secondary level is now met until 2030. However, fForecast levels of demand for 

330



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

places within the Borough’s school catchment areas will also continue to be monitored by the relevant 

Council committee. 

 

8.10 Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) Schools  

 

8.10.1 A detailed review of Barnet’s SEND provision has identified the need for additional capacity to 

meet growing demand for Special Educational Need (SEN) places. This is largely being addressed 

through expansion of existing special schools (Oakleigh Primary and Oak Lodge Secondary), together 

with the new SEN provision delivered through Kisharon School, and creation of new additionally 

resourced provision (ARP) at Whitefield school and Claremont Primary. The SEN review has indicated a 

specific growth in demand for pupils with Autistic Spectrum Disorders (ASD). Proposals to open A new 

all-through provision for ASD pupils, The Windmill School, will open at new premises in Chipping Barnet 

in 2024. has received approval from the Department for Education and is currently at pre-opening stage 

whilst a suitable site is being sought.  

 

8.11 Early Years 

 

8.11.5 The Council’s Family Services’ vision is to ensure that all children and young people in Barnet, 

especially the most vulnerable children, achieve the best possible outcomes. To enable them to become 

successful adults, they should be supported by high quality, integrated and inclusive services that 

identify additional support needs early and are accessible, responsive and affordable for the individual 

child and their family. Barnet’s Early Help Strategy provides a framework to organise the early help 

services, to monitor their success, and to drive improvement.  

 

331



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM
58 

Chapter 8 
Community, 
Health and 
Wellbeing 
 
Policy CHW02  
 
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Paras  8.17.2, 
8.17.6, 
8.18.2A 

Policy CHW02 – Promoting health and wellbeing  

In order to recover, restore and thrive and make a positive difference to health and wellbeing in the 
Borough following COVID19 the Council will promote the creation of healthy environments and 
safe, accessible, sustainable and high-quality places which seek to improve physical and mental 
health and reduce health inequalities.  

A. The Council requires development to positively contribute to creating high quality, active, 
safe and accessible places. Measures that will help contribute to healthier communities and 
reduce health inequalities must be incorporated in a development where appropriate.  
 

B. The Council will ensure that the health and wellbeing impacts of larger major development 
proposals are addressed in an integrated and co-ordinated way through the use of Health 
Impact Assessments (HIA). 
 

C. The Council will support the health and wellbeing of residents by: 
a) Contributing to the priorities of the Health and Wellbeing Board and partners to help 

reduce health inequalities across Barnet; 
b) Supporting the North Central London Estate Plan and the implementation of the NHS 

Long Term Plan in responding to demand and integration of health and social care, 
including the use of developer contributions to support investment in healthcare 
infrastructure; 

c) Ensuring that development proposals have regard to Adopting the principles set out in 
Sport England’s Active Design Principles;  

d) Providing access to free drinking fountains, and public toilets and changing places in new 
and improved public realm with regard to as set out in Policy CDH03 and London Plan 
Policy S6;  

e) Ensuring compliance with the Council’s Healthier Healthy Catering Commitment with 
regard to as set out in Policy TOW03; 

f) Applying the Healthy Streets Approach, as set out in the London Plan Policy T2;  

Clarification that HIA are required for 
major development proposals.  
  
Clarification that Sport England’s 
Active Design Principles are 
guidance to which due regard should 
be given only.  
 
Clarification on cross-reference to 
CDH03 as it does not require ‘new 
and improved’ public realm to be 
provided as indicated.  
 
Rewording to ensure consistency 
with revised approach to Healthier 
Catering Commitment in MM to 
Policy TOW03.  
 
Add cross reference to London Plan 
Policy T2 in respect of the Healthy 
Streets Approach. 
  
Clarification that (part g) is consistent 
with Policy ECC02 in terms of air 
quality.  
 
Clarification that (part h): fully 
accords with Policy TRC01.  
 
Clarification on how contributions 
referenced in CHW02 part (b) would 
be needed and calculated, in 
alignment with London Plan para 
11.1.37 and with reference HUDU 
Planning Contributions Model.  
 
New reference to London Plan Policy 
S6 to ensure that its requirements 
regarding public toilets are fully 
considered for relevant proposals.  
 

332



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
 
8.17 Promoting Health and Wellbeing 

  

8.17.2 The Health and Wellbeing Strategy seeks to utilise the capacity and resilience of public health 

systems and partnerships to support Barnet to recover from COVID-19 and make a positive difference to 

health and wellbeing in the Borough. 

 

8.17.5 Another necessity for urban environments is access to social infrastructure such as public 

drinking fountains, public toilets including changing places, seating and shade. The need for public 

toilets and access to clean drinking water is more prevalent amongst certain groups such as the elderly, 

disabled and families with young children. Lack of provision can further deter people going out in the 

community, increasing the risk of social isolation and poor mental health. Provision is promoted through 

London Plan policies on Public Realm D8 D7 and Public Toilets S6 and supported within the Local Plan 

as part of the Council’s approach to managing and improving the public realm (see Policy CDH03). 

Good design, management and maintenance of such facilities is important. 

8.17.6 Access to healthy food and drinking water makes a sustainable contribution to the overall health 

and wellbeing. Locally grown food enables easy access to healthy food and it also promotes mental 

wellbeing while increasing the social capital of the community.  Policy ECC04 - Barnet’s Parks and Open 

Spaces, seeks to ensure existing food growing spaces are protected and new spaces are created as 

g) Mitigating the impact of air pollutants Ensuring that development improves air quality and 
mitigates impacts from pollutants as set out in Policy ECC02; and 

h) Deliver more sustainable and active travel as set out in Reducing car dependency, 
promoting active travel and encouraging sustainable modes of travel with regard to 
Policy TRC01.  
 

Revision to ‘HIA’ so that it aligns fully 
with definition in the London Plan’s 
glossary. 
 

333



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

part of new developments. Policy TOW03 highlights that where hot food takeaways are permitted the 

Council will ensure, through a planning condition, that the operator will operate in compliance with the 

Council’s Healthier Catering Commitment within 6 months of opening. 

8.18 Access to Integrated Health and Care Services 

 

8.18.2A  The Council works with NHS North Central London Integrated Care Board and NHS England to 

determine what investment is required by monitoring housing and population growth, keeping 

infrastructure plans up to date and working together to identify and develop projects towards which 

planning obligations / legal agreements and CIL contributions could be used. Developer contributions 

are used to fund the capital costs of new or expanded primary and community care facilities in order to 

meet the increasing demand for services which arises from population growth in new developments. The 

Council uses the London Healthy Urban Development Unit Planning Contributions Model (HUDU Model) 

to calculate the capital cost of the additional health facilities required to meet the increased demand. 

 

 8.18.3 Currently the health and care system is planned and commissioned locally by clinical 

commissioning groups (CCG), local authorities and NHS providers. Within North Central London these 

partners have worked together to develop a Sustainability and Transformation Plan. This sets out how 

local health and care services will transform and become sustainable over the long-term period as set 

out in the NHS Long Term Plan. The benefits of the joint planning between the CCG and the Local Plan 

is increased access to primary care facilities and health and care integration. 

 

8.18.4 The health and care system is planned and commissioned locally by clinical commissioning 

groups (CCG), local authorities and NHS providers. Within North Central London these partners have 

worked together to develop a Sustainability and Transformation Plan. This sets out how local health and 

care services will transform and become sustainable over the long-term period as set out in the NHS 

334



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

Long Term Plan. Another key part of the NHS Long Term Plan is the formation of Integrated Care 

Systems (ICSs). 2021/22 will see the local health and care system transition into an ICS. An ICS is a 

partnership that will bring together providers and commissioners of NHS services across a geographical 

area with local authorities and other local partners, to collectively plan and integrate care to meet the 

needs of their population. The central aim of the ICS is to integrate care across different organisations 

and settings, joining up and potentially co-locating acute/hospital services, community-based services, 

primary care, physical and mental health, voluntary services, and health and social care, with the 

following four fundamental purposes: 

• Improving population health and healthcare 

• Tackling unequal outcomes and access 

• Enhancing productivity and value for money 

• Helping the NHS to support broader social and economic development. 

 

8.19 Healthy and Green Barnet 

8.19.2 With an extensive green infrastructure incorporating public rights of way, parks and gardens 

together with a comprehensive network of sports and recreational facilities, there is an opportunity to 

create more active environments. By providing better access to green public spaces and improving 

sports and community facilities the Council seeks to promote the integration of physical activities into the 

everyday lives of residents, as well as encouraging a better understanding of the natural environment. 

Thereby assisting This will assist in the improvement of the physical and mental well-being of residents. 

Developments are expected to promote active design by having due regard to Sport England’s principles 

of Active Design. 

 

8.19.2A To ensure that development promotes and positively contributes to a healthy living environment, 

proposals will be expected to consider health outcomes at an early stage, prior to the submission of a 

planning application. The Council will therefore require that a Health Impact Assessment (HIA) be 

335



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

undertaken by developers for all major development. HIAs can help to identify aspects of development 

that can be enhanced to achieve the greatest health gains and where there is a need to mitigate for any 

potential negative impacts. If the proposal is for a major development between 10 -199 residential units 

or a proposed floorspace for other uses between 1000-9,999 m2 it will need to complete Barnet’s own 

screening assessment. This will also apply to Hot Food Takeaways, Adult Gaming Centres, Amusement 

Arcades, Betting Shops, Payday Loan Shops, Pawnbrokers and Shisha Bars as required by Policy 

TOW03. If the proposal is greater than this threshold it will be required to complete the more detailed 

Healthy Urban Development Unit (HUDU) Rapid Health Impact Assessment toolkit. 

 
MM
59 

Chapter 8 
Community , 
Health & 
Wellbeing 
 
Policy CHW03  
 
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Paras 8.20.4, 
8.20.4A,  
8.20.5A & 
Glossary 

Policy CHW03 - Making Barnet a Safer Place  

In order to make Barnet a safer place to live in, work in and visit The the Council will: 

A. a. work with partners including the Metropolitan Police (and London Ambulance Service, 
London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority) to tackle risks of terrorism, crime, fear of 
crime and anti-social behaviour; 

B. work with Neighbourhood Policing Teams to make neighbourhoods safer;  

C. b. require support development proposals that to reflect ‘Secured By Design’  provide safe 
and secure environments (in accordance with see Policy CDH01 and have regard to Secured 
by Design principles) and work with the Metropolitan Police’s Secured by Design Officers; 

D. c. expect measures to design out crime together with appropriate  crime and fire safety 
solutions to be integral to development proposals. The Council encourages developers to 
engage in pre-application discussions to ensure These measures should be are considered 
early in the design process; 

d. work with the Metropolitan Police, London Ambulance and London Fire and Emergency 
Planning Authority to provide effective and responsive emergency services in Barnet; 

e. support the work of neighbourhood policing teams to make neighbourhoods in the Borough 
safer places to live in, work in and visit; 

Clarification of what are Council 
commitments and the parts that set 
out criteria for development 
proposals to comply with. 
 
Rewording to state ‘support 
development proposals that reflect 
Secured by Design principles’ or 
similar, and bring policy into closer 
alignment with Policy CDH01. 
Deletion of specific requirement for 
all development proposals to work 
with Secured by Design Officers is 
not justified. 
 
Clarification that regard should be 
had to CHW03 as it does not 
expressly promote safer streets and 
public areas including open spaces 
as identified.  
 
Clarification through Glossary on 
what is meant by ‘town centre 
strategy’ in part (h) of the policy. 
 
Revision to para 8.20.4 to make clear 
that Secured by Design principles 

336



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
 
8.20 Making Barnet a Safer Place 

8.20.4 Everyone should feel safe on the streets of Barnet, therefore the Council will continue to take 

tough measures to tackle anti-social behaviours. The planning system has an important role to play in 

reducing the opportunity for crime and disorder and making places safer. Well planned, mixed use 

areas, good quality public realm, carefully designed buildings, open spaces and neighbourhoods can 

“design out” crime and help to reduce the fear of crime.  This includes appropriate lighting, encouraging 

natural activity, providing natural surveillance, reducing opportunities for concealment, appropriate 

placement of public realm and managing permeability thus ensuring the safety of pedestrians and 

cyclists. The Council has adopted, and will continue to produce town centre strategies / frameworks to 

help create thriving town centres. As highlighted by London Plan Policy HC6 such documents have a 

key role to play in improving access, inclusion and safety; making the public realm welcoming for all 

night-time economy users and workers; and protecting and supporting evening and night-time cultural 

venues. These are also important daytime considerations. 

 

f. encourage appropriate security and community safety measures in buildings, spaces 
and the transport system; 

g. require developers to demonstrate that they have incorporated design principles which 
limits the opportunities for crime and anti-social behaviour and thereby contributes to 
community safety and security in all new development; 

E. h. ensure that through the town centre strategy programme safer and more secure town 
centre environments are promoted; and 

F. i. promote safer streets and public areas including open spaces (see with regard to Policy 
CDH03). 

 

and consultation with the 
Metropolitan Police Secured by 
Design Officers are encouraged, and 
signpost at para 8.20 to Policy D12 
of the London Plan in respect of fire 
safety. 

337



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

8.20.4A Proposals should reflect guidance in the NPPG and Secured by Design, the official UK Police 

flagship initiative for 'designing out crime'. In addressing Secured by Design principles developers are 

strongly encouraged to work with the Metropolitan Police’s Secured by Design Officers and to aim to be 

awarded a Secured by Design Award. The Council will normally expect applicants with major proposals 

to engage with the Metropolitan Police at an early stage, however there may be some forms of minor 

development where consultation with the Secured by Design Officer is necessary because of concerns 

about community safety. Developers should also obtain advice from the London Fire and Emergency 

Planning Authority (LFEPA). The Council will seek to ensure that any new transport interchanges are 

designed to help address personal safety and reflect Secured by Design, helping reduce the number of 

road traffic accident casualties. Measures to design out the effects of flooding are is set out in Policy 

ECC02A. 

8.20.5A The requirements of Policy CHW03 do not affect existing obligations to comply with other 

legislation including the Building Safety Act 2022, Fire Safety Act 2021, Fire Safety (England) 

Regulations 2022 and consider London Plan Policy D12. 

GLOSSARY 

Town Centre Framework / Strategy : Planning document that aims to create the right environment for 
making an individual town centre vibrant and viable, identifying opportunities to enhance the public realm 
and improve accessibility for all users and support the provision of a wide range of shops and services to 
meet the needs of diverse local populations. A Town Centre Framework / Strategy is subject to 
community engagement in order to identify the different requirements of each town centre, and the 
different needs and preferences of those who use them. 

MM 
60 

Chapter 8 
Community 
Health and 
Wellbeing 
 
Policy CHW04  
And 
consequential 

 

Policy CHW04 – Protecting Public Houses  

a. A. Protecting and supporting Public Houses  

The Council will:  

Clarification that Council will protect 
public houses where they have a 
heritage, economic, social or cultural 
value to local communities, ‘or’ 
where they contribute to wider policy 
objectives for town centres.  
Deletion of support only for public 
houses that come forward as mixed-

338



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Para  8.21.6 

 a) 1. protect public houses where they have a heritage, economic, social or cultural value to 

local communities, and or where they contribute to wider policy objectives for town centres; and 

 b) 2. support proposals for new public houses in Growth Areas and town centres as part of 

mixed-use development. 

B. Proposals involving loss of a Public House  

b. a) In accordance with London Plan Policy HC7 proposals Proposals that involve the loss of a public 

houses with heritage, cultural, economic or social value will be refused unless there is authoritative 

marketing evidence that demonstrates that there is no realistic prospect of the building being used as a 

pub in the foreseeable future. no viable demand for its continued use and the property has been long 

term vacant for a period of  at least 12 months. Evidence of continued marketing over a 24 month period 

will be required. 

c. b) Where London Plan Policy HC7(B) is satisfied it is demonstrated that there is no demand for the 

public house the Council will support the full or partial use of the site proposals for other community uses 

and other uses where it is demonstrated that the site is not fit for purpose or viable for any forms of 

community infrastructure for which there is a defined current or future need identified in the Infrastructure 

Delivery Plan (see Policy CHW01).in accordance with Policy CHW01. 

d. c) Development proposals for redevelopment of associated accommodation, facilities or development 

within the curtilage of the public house that would compromise the operation or viability of the public 

house use will be resisted. In considering proposals involving the loss of a public houses the Council will 

take into account the listing or nomination of ‘Assets of Community Value’ as a material planning 

consideration. 

use development, as  unduly 
restrictive and is unjustified.  
 
Add cross reference to London Plan 
Policy HC7; as there is no 
substantive local evidence that a 
vacancy test is required. Policy 
HC7(B) with its supporting para 7.7.7 
provides a robust means to test 
whether public houses will endure.  
 
Clarification that where  Policy HC7 
is satisfied, proposals for other 
community uses will be supported, 
and alternate uses will be permitted 
where the relevant criteria of Policy 
CHW01 and Policy S1(g) of the 
London Plan that relate to proposals 
involving the loss or replacement of 
existing community facilities are met..  
 
Deletion of nomination of ACV as a 
potential planning consideration.  
 
Clarification that Policy CHW01 (after 
MM) only applies to public house 
proposals where Part D applies. 
 

339



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
 
8.21 Public Houses 

8.21.6 Where an application is based on involves the loss of a public house no longer being a viable 

commercial operation, appropriate authoritative marketing evidence will be required.  This is outlined in 

London Plan para 7.7.7. will need to show that there is no realistic prospect of a building being used as a 

public house in the foreseeable future and that the business has been marketed for at least 24 months 

as a pub at an agreed price following an independent valuation and in a condition that allows the 

property to continue functioning as a pub. The business should have been offered for sale locally and 

London-wide in appropriate publications and through relevant specialised agents.  Therefore where 

London Plan Policy HC7(B) is satisfied the Council will support proposals for other community uses that 

meet the criteria as set out in the policy. The Council’s view is that Aadapting a public house for another 

community use would be preferable to its loss to a another use that is not considered to meet the 

definition of community infrastructure. Redevelopment proposals within the curtilage of an existing public 

house will be considered having regard to London Plan Policy HC7(C). 

 
MM
61 

Chapter 9 
Economy 
 
Policy ECY01  
 
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Paras  9.6.2, 
9.6.4, 
9.7.3,9.8.1, 
9.8.2, 9.9.1 to 
9.9.3B, 9.9.4, 
9.9.4A, 9.9.6 
to 9.9.8 & 

Policy ECY01: A Vibrant Local Economy 
 
In creating a vibrant local economy across the Borough Barnet the Council will seek to protect and 
promote prioritise new employment opportunities within the Growth Areas of Brent Cross, Brent 
Cross West (Staples Corner), Cricklewood and Edgware, District Town Centres, and Locally 
Significant Industrial Sites and Business Locations as identified in Table 13 and on the Policies Map   
and create a vibrant local economy across Barnet by:  
 
A. Office Space  

a) Within, Major and District Safeguarding office space in Town Centres where possible to 
retain existing and encourage new office space and edge of centre locations. as part of the 

Clarification to provide certainty of 
locations where Council will prioritise 
promoting new employment 
opportunities to ensure consistency 
with Plan’s strategic policies and 
Policy E8 of the London Plan insofar 
as identification of locally significant 
sectors and clusters of businesses.  
  
Clarification at Part A, to provide 
certainty for decision makers and 
ensure consistency with the 
approach taken elsewhere in the 
Plan, on approach to safeguarding of 
offices as a main town centre use in 
context of Class E and the required 
period of active marketing of a period 

340



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
Table 13 (as 
renumbered). 

Commercial, Business and Service (Use Class E). Any proposals for redevelopment of office 
uses outside of these locations must demonstrate that the site is no longer suitable and 
viable and that an alternative business use including affordable workspace solutions has 
been considered and that a suitable period of active marketing at market rates suitable for 
the type, use and size for at least 12 months has been undertaken.  Where this can be 
demonstrated the proposal will be expected to provide appropriate mixed use re-
development including such as residential and community use (and/or retail on an active 
frontage location) as well as re-provision of employment use.   
 

b) Supporting requirements for up to 67,000 m2 (net) of new office space as set out in Policies 
BSS01A and GSS01 across Barnet’s Major and in District Town Centres, to accommodate 
small and medium enterprises (SME) and supplement office accommodation (395,000 m2) 
already approved for Brent Cross. The Council will apply the sequential test to applications 
for offices as main town centre uses, requiring them to be located in town centres. 

 
C. Industrial, Storage and Distribution Space 

 
a) c) Supporting appropriate proposals within a Locally Significant Industrial Site (LSIS) as 

identified in Table 13 that are one or a combination of the following uses:  

• Class B2 (general industry);  

• Class B8 (storage or distribution); and/ or  

• Uses related to light industrial or research and development; 

• Sui Generis uses, where this use is a waste management facility (with due regard to 
Policy ECC03) or is an employment generating use compatible with an industrial 
usexviii;. 

 
Any office uses within a LSIS should be ancillary to the other employment uses on site and 
be directly related to the majority uses proposed. 

 

of 12 months to be undertaken for 
proposals seeking redevelopment of 
office uses outside of Town Centres 
and edge of centre locations 
(ensures accordance with paras 
6.1.7 and 6.7.5 of London Plan).  
 
Clarification at Part A of Plan’s office 
requirements and role of this non-
strategic policy with support of 
strategic policies (such as Policy 
BSS01 and GSS01) that set out the 
relevant requirements.  
 
Clarification at Part A on locations 
where new office proposals will be 
supported and the approach to be 
taken for proposals in other locations 
that are not in an existing town 
centre (i.e. application of  sequential 
test for main town uses).  
 
Clarification at Part B to link to LSIS 
identified in Table 13 and that 
proposals for office uses in those 
locations should be ancillary to main 
employment use of premises or land.  
 
Clarification at Part B to ensure 
consistency with the Policies Map).   
  
Clarification at Part C  ensuring 
consistency with London Plan Policy 
E7 and providing certainty that 
proposals for colocation to support 
delivery of residential or other uses, 
such as community infrastructure, 
should only occur as part of 
intensification of a LSIS with no net-
loss of employment floorspace and 
should be supported by a 

341



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

b) d) Supporting intensification of uses listed in Policy ECY01Ba) (c) in a LSIS where it can be 
demonstrated that the design does not impact on the operational capability of the proposal 
site or the neighbouring sites within the LSIS.  
 

c) e) Supporting affordable workspace solutions where the uses are within the use classes set 
out in Policy ECY01Ba) c). 

 
d) f) Warehousing Warehouse uses or uses which generate high levels of movement should be 

located in close proximity to Tier One and Tier Two roads (as shown on the Policies Map) 
and minimise impacts on residential areas. 

 
e) g) Where co-location of residential uses is proposed in an a LSIS compliance with London 

Plan Policy E7 Industrial intensification, co-location and substitution) and a master-plan 
approach is expected. The development should be employment led and the Agent of 
Change Principle used in favour of existing and proposed employment uses.  The 
introduction of residential uses into an LSIS should not prejudice its ability function as an 
industrial area. 

 
D. General 

 
a) h) Where possible seeking to protect existing office accommodation and light industrial uses 

in the Borough especially those in Town Centres,  and Business Locations and LSIS as 
identified in Table 13 areas covered by Article 4 Direction.  The loss of employment 
accommodation and net loss of employment floorspace in these areas through proposals for 
development or change of use will not be supported.  

 
b) i) In assessing proposals for alternative uses to those outlined in Policy ECY01A and 

ECY01B, (a), (b) and (c), on non- designated employment sites, as well as London Plan 

coordinated master planning 
process.  
  
Deletion of reference to  Article 4 
direction following its expiry in June 
2022 .  
 
Clarification at Part C that as such 
uses fall within Use Class E 
(alongside main town centre uses), it 
should be clarified that it is proposals 
for development or change of use 
where permission is required that 
involve the loss of employment 
accommodation in those areas that 
will not be supported.  
 
Re-wording at Part D to clarify that 
support for new employment space is 
subject to the site not being allocated 
in Annex 1 of the Plan for an 
alternative use.  
 
Clarification at Part D that the fit out 
of all employment premises should 
be to at least Category A standard.  
 
Clarification at Part D to ensure that 
travel plans, transport statements or 
transport assessments are provided 
in accordance with national policy, 
London Plan Policy T4 and are 
consistent with any related MMs to 
Policy TRC01. 
 
Deletion of last para (and to accord 
with London Plan Policy E7, as the 
policy approach in the Plan should 
seek to avoid and therefore, not 
encourage proposals that involve a 
net loss of employment floorspace. 

342



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

Policy E7C, the following will be taken into consideration: 
 
i.Premises have been vacant for over 12 months and have no reasonable prospect of being 
occupied, following demonstrable active marketing during this period using reasonable 
terms and conditions, with the exception of meanwhile uses in accordance with jiii Policy 
ECY01C c) iii). 

ii.Loss of a The effect of any loss of a commercial use at ground-floor level. 
iii.Contribution of the proposed use to the Council’s growth objectives for the local area. 

 
c) j) Supporting new employment space outside of the locations outlined in Policy ECY01A and 

ECY01B, (a), (b) and (c) if the following criteria are met: 
i.The new employment use would contribute towards the Council’s regeneration growth 
objectives. 

ii.Employment uses which generate high levels of movement should be located in close 
proximity to Tier One and Tier Two roads (as shown on the Policies Map)   

iii.The new use does not have any adverse impact on residential amenity. 
iv. The site is not allocated in Annex 1 of this Plan (Schedule of Site Proposals) for an 

alternative use including residential, education or community uses 
 

d) k) Requiring all employment space to be designed to appropriate floor to ceiling heights and 
space requirements for the intended uses including on site servicing and space for waiting or 
goods vehicles, and be fitted out to at least Category A Standard. 
 

e) l) Expecting all development proposals for new employment space that will generate 
significant amounts of movement to undertake a provide travel plans and/or Transport 
Assessments or Transport Statements in accordance with national policy, London Plan 
Policy T4 and  Transport Impact Assessment as set out in Policy TRC01. 
 

m) Financial contributions will be secured from development that results in a net loss of 
employment floorspace to invest towards improving employment space elsewhere in the 

Updates to Table 13 to remove 
reference to  Article 4 Direction, and 
consequential removal of other 
references to  Article 4 direction 
elsewhere in the Plan. 
 
Revisions to para 9.9.4 to provide 
further explanation of intended 
approach of prioritising  safeguarding 
and efficient use of industrial land in 
LSIS as most sustainable 
employment locations, whilst 
addressing identified need for 
additional floorspace through 
encouraging  intensification and 
diversification of LSIS (including with 
affordable workspace to provide 
additional industrial capacity).  
  
Clarification at 9.9.4A that larger 
scale requirements for Use Class B8 
that cannot be accommodated in 
LSIS are necessarily directed to the 
Strategic Industrial Locations within 
other London Boroughs as identified 
in Table 6.2 of the London Plan and 
in accordance with its Policies E4 
and E5.  
 
Clarification at 9.9.8 on approach to 
proposals for new employment uses 
in LSIS or outside of a town centre 
that would fall under Use Class E 
(i.e. offices and uses related to light 
industrial or research and 
development). This includes as set 
out at Para 9.9.3A potential use of 
conditions and/or planning 
obligations to protect the intended 
employment use and the viability and 
vitality of Barnet’s Major and District 

343



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

Borough and/ or towards training and other initiatives that seek to promote employment and 
adult education in the Borough. 

 
 
9.6 Office Space 

 

9.6.2 The BELR states that the Barnet office market: 

• is dominated by small firms. Many of these self-employed, single person businesses will be operating 

from their own homes. 

• similarly to the rest of London it is less restricted in regards to occupation of buildings due to the 

adoption of technology and new business processes.  

• is well placed to provide space for smaller occupiers who want to be a part of a ‘business community’, 

where they can interact with other businesses and enjoy flexible terms. 

• Could reach up to 42,000 jobs by 2036, with shows a net additional demand for office floorspace in 

Barnet of between at least 67,000m2 and 106,000m2 over the period 2016 to 2036. However, the speed 

with which Brent Cross office development (395,000 m2) is delivered will determine this growth.  The 

extent of this additional office growth will be influenced by what happens with delivery of office 

development at Brent Cross.  

• The overall picture is of a small-scale market meeting largely local demand, notwithstanding a small 

number of freestanding corporate headquarters. The market is very vulnerable to pressure for 

residential conversion and, even without permitted development is prone to attrition and gradual loss 

of employment land. The BELR highlights that the biggest risk to supply is gradual loss. 

 

9.6.4 The Council will continue to monitor has taken measures to decrease the vulnerability of the 

employment market in the Borough by introducing an Article 4 Direction to remove associated with 

changes to the Use Classes Order in 2020 and the permitted development rights for E uses 

Town Centres by restricting changes 
to retail or other main town centre 
uses within the same Use Class, 
where appropriate. 

344



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

(Commercial, Business and Services) office and light industrial uses to convert to residential. This is of 

particular importance in nine town centres, the LSIS sites, Business Locations and two out of town 

centre office blocks. The Council recognises that overtime over time some buildings in these areas will 

be in need of renewal, but loss of employment space will not be supported where proposals for 

development or change of use require planning permission. 

 

9.7 Industry Industrial Space 

 

9.7.3 Barnet envisages meeting the identified need through intensification and windfall. The non 

designated sites being designated acknowledge the need to maintain the existing level of provision in 

the Borough therefore their designation as LSIS will not meet the identified need. 

 

9.8 Article 4 Direction 

 

9.8.1 The Valuation Office Agency Business Floorspace Statistics 2016xix states that Barnet’s stock of 

office floorspace is 343,000m2. The Permitted Development Right to change office into residential has 

resulted in Barnet losing over 40,000m2 of office space (May 2013-March 2017). The Council has made 

Article 4 Directionsxx, restricting the change of use from employment (Former Use Classes B1a and B1c) 

to residential use (Use Class C3). The Article 4 Directions came into force in October 2019 prior to the 

changes to the Use Classes Order in 2020. However, they continue to serve as a safeguard for 

commercial, business and service uses. 

 

345



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

9.8.2 Sites within the Article 4 Direction have been selected for their importance to the economic 

sustainability of Barnet. The distribution of Article 4 Direction areas highlights the dispersed nature and 

variety of employment sites in Barnet.  

 

9.9 A Vibrant Local Economy 

9.9.1 Barnet’s designated LSIS, are the focus for development of light industrial, Class B2 (general 

industry) Class B8 (storage and distribution) and employment generating sui generis uses (including 

waste management facilities). The designated Business Locations provide for commercial employment. 

The Growth Areas of Brent Cross and Edgware, together with the District Town Centres and ( with 

potentially for New Southgate Opportunity Area in the latter stage of the Local Plan) are the focus for 

accommodating office development and light industrial uses appropriate for town centres, with other 

employment uses being considered where it can be shown that they are able to operate without 

negatively impacting upon other uses. 

9.9.2 Industrial land uses and office space continue to make a valuable contribution to the local economy 

and provide important local services as well as jobs. The Council seeks to protect industrial land and 

office space alongside planned growth of new business space.  This approach is supported by London 

Plan Policies E2 Providing suitable business space and E6 Locally Significant Industrial Sites of the 

London Plan. 

9.9.3 Barnet’s LSIS and Business Locations are listed in Table 14 13 and shown on the Policies Map.  

Following recommendations in the BELR and to provide consistency with the Article 4 Designations 

seven new LSIS have been designated, this is also consistent with London Plan Policy E8 – Sector 

growth opportunities and clusters of recognising previously non-designated industrial sites.  The Council 

has designated new LSIS at Bittacy Hill, Coppetts Centre, Falkland Road (Alston Works), Hurricane 

Industrial Park and Propeller Way. New Business Locations have been designated at Colindale 

Technology Park (including sites off Cecil Road) and 30-100 Colindeep Lane. Although previously 

designated in the 2012 Local Plan permitted development changes of use from employment to 

346



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

residential on the Grenville Place LSIS and on part of the Lancaster Road LSIS have resulted in the de-

designation of Grenville Place LSIS and a portion of the Lancaster Rd LSIS. Revisions to LSIS are 

shown in the Changes to the Policies Map document. 

9.9.3A When considering planning applications for main town centre uses (as defined in both the NPPF 

and the London Plan) in locations that are not within an existing centre nor identified as a proposal in this 

Plan, the Council will apply the sequential test as set out in the NPPF and London Plan Policy SD7 (A1) 

and Development Plan Documents. In identifying potential sites for main town centre uses it may be 

necessary for the area of search to extend across into neighbouring local authority areas. In considering 

proposals for new employment uses under Use Class E (ie offices and uses related to light industrial or 

research and development) in LSIS or outside Major and District Town Centres the Council may apply 

conditions and /or seek planning obligations to protect the intended employment use and the viability 

and vitality of the town centres by restricting changes to retail or other main town centre uses (within Use 

Class E). 

9.9.3B To demonstrate a lack of market demand for an employment use an applicant should submit 

robust marketing evidence that the site has been vacant, and that a thorough continuous marketing 

exercise has been undertaken and sustained for at least a 12 month period, immediately prior to any 

planning application. Marketing must be through a commercial agent that sets out the competitive price 

that genuinely reflects the market value of the property in relation to its use, condition, quality and 

location. It must be demonstrated that consideration has been given to alternative layouts and business 

uses, including smaller premises with short term flexible leases appropriate for SMEs. 

 
Table 14 13 – Barnet’s Locally Significant Industrial Sites and Business Locations 
 

Site Name Article 4 Area (ha) 

Queen’s Road Industrial Estate Yes 
B1a & B1c 

0.9 

Falkland Road (Alston Works) Yes 0.5 

347



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

B1a & B1c 

Hadley Manor Trading Estate Yes 
B1a & B1c 

0.8 

Redrose Trading 
Centre 

Yes 
B1a & B1c 

0.5 

Lancaster Road Yes 
B1a & B1c 

1.2 

Granard Business 
Centre and Churchill House 

Yes 
B1a & B1c 

0.8 

Bunns Lane Works Yes 
B1a & B1c 

0.6 

Mill Hill Industrial 
Estate 

Yes 
B1a & B1c 

1.0 

Hurricane Industrial Park Yes 
B1a & B1c 

0.4 

Propeller Way Yes 
B1a & B1c 

0.4 

Connaught Business Centre Yes 
B1a & B1c 

1.0 

Garrick Industrial 
Centre 

Yes 
B1a & B1c 

7.4 

Bittacy Hill Business Centre Yes 
B1a & B1c 

0.8 

Finchley Industrial Centre Yes 
B1a & B1c 

0.9 

Oakleigh Road South (Railway Yard) No 3.5 

Brunswick Industrial Park B1a  & B1c 4.0 

Coppetts Centre Colney Hatch Yes 
B1c 

1.1 

Colindale Technology Park and Cecil Rd Yes 0.8 

348



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

B1a & B1c 

100 (30-120) Colindeep Lane Yes 
B1c & B8 

1.3 

North London Business Park Yes 
B1a & B1c 

16.2 

Squires Lane Yes 
B1 & B1c 

4.3 

Regent Office Park Yes 
B1a 

2.3 

Total Area Total Area 50.7 
 

 
 
9.9.4 Outside LSIS all employment spaces will be protected where viable to enhance Barnet’s local 

economy and support enterprise potential. Effective marketing is where a site has been continuously 

actively marketed both for sale and rent for a period of 12 months at an appropriate price which can be 

agreed in advance with the Council (at pre-application stage if appropriate) for re-use or redevelopment 

for employment use and no interest has been expressed. Any The Council prioritises the safeguarding 

and efficient use of industrial land in LSIS as these are the most sustainable employment locations 

including provision of additional capacity through affordable workspace (in accordance with Policy 

ECY02).  This is balanced with encouraging the intensification and diversification of LSIS.  

 

9.9.4A Where there is redevelopment proposed on a LSIS site it should then be employment led. An 

employment led development is one where the employment generating (as defined by ECY01) 

floorspace is greater in proportion to the other uses proposed on the site and results in no net loss of 

employment space. Proposals for co-location / intensification within LSIS will be expected to 

demonstrate compliance with London Plan Policy E7- Industrial intensification, co-location and 

substitution and a master-plan approach. Where masterplans are developer-led there is an expectation 

349



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

that the developer will work closely from the outset with the Council and with the GLA. Masterplans will 

need to be produced in accordance with the GLA Practice Note Industrial Intensification and Co-Location 

Through Plan-Led and Masterplan Approaches. Developments of non- industrial uses will not be 

permitted on LSIS until the Council has approved a masterplan, which shows how intensification / co-

location will achieve an increase in industrial floorspace. Piecemeal development which prejudices the 

delivery of a comprehensive masterplan will not be supported. The Council in considering large scale 

proposals for B8 uses, which cannot be accommodated on LSIS in Barnet, will re-direct them to the 

Strategic Industrial Locations (as identified in Table 6.2 of the London Plan) in other boroughs. Such re-

direction is in accordance with London Plan policies E4 and E5.  

9.9.6 The impact on local employment will be considered using the HCA Employment Density Guide 

2015, or updated equivalent, and re-provision, preferably business units, which can secure an equivalent 

amount of floorspace and level of employment will be favoured. A financial contribution will be required 

for the refit of existing employment space in the Borough or for employment training, where this cannot 

be delivered. Further guidance will be details are set out in the forthcoming Planning Obligations SPD on 

Contributions to Enterprise, Employment and Training. 

9.9.7 Developers intending to bring forward commercial space in the Borough should enter into 

preapplication discussions with the Council. This will enable the requirements of workspace providers to 

be considered early on in the design of the proposal. The Council will expect all new commercial space 

to be designed to appropriate floor to ceiling heights and fitted out to at least Category A a standard that 

allows for a straightforward occupation for commercial tenants. The LLDC Employment Space Design 

Study offers examples of such space standards across a range of commercial uses. This is regarded as 

offering appropriate templates for employment floorspace design that are relevant to London. All new 

employment proposals, should seek to minimise the impact of traffic on surrounding residential streets 

and provide travel plans, transport assessments in accordance with national policy, London Plan Policy 

T4 and Policy TRC01. 

 

350



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

9.9.8 Proposals for alternative uses within the designated Locally Significant Industrial Sites (LSIS), will 

only be supported where the development is employment led and does not harm the functioning of the 

LSIS.  Proposals for development of new or extensions to former Class B1 uses, which are outside of 

the designated areas (i.e. Locally Significant Industrial Sites and Business Locations, as well as the 

Growth Areas of Brent Cross, Brent Cross West (Staples Corner), Cricklewood and Edgware, Major and 

District Town Centres) must not negatively impact on the character of the surrounding area.  

 

351



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM
62 

Chapter 9 
Economy 
 
Policy ECY02  
and 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Paras  9.10.3, 
9.10.5, 9.10.6  
& Table 15 (as 
renumbered)  . 

Policy ECY02: Affordable Workspace 

The Council will promote economic diversity and support existing and new business development 
in Barnet by requiring through legal agreement:  
 

A. a) In order to sustain a mix of business uses which contribute to the character of an area, 
Nnew employment space in the Borough’s designated employment areas and mixed use 
development, in the Growth Areas of Brent Cross, Brent Cross West (Staples Corner), 
Cricklewood and Edgware, the District Town Centres (and potentially the New Southgate 
Opportunity Area in the latter stage of the Local Plan) in Brent Cross, Edgware, New 
Southgate and District Town Centres should the Council will seek provide affordable 
workspace. , equating to A minimum of 10% per cent of gross new employment floorspace, 
or equivalent cash-in-lieu payment for off-site provision will be sought of for affordable 
workspace unless a viability assessment accompanying the application demonstrates that it 
would undermine the deliverability of the development. 

 
B. b) nNew employment provision should include a range of unit sizes and types such as 

affordable and flexible workspaces and working hubs that allow for ‘touch down’ working.  
Uses should be appropriate for the location and in accordance with Policy ECY01. 

 
C. c) Developers should liaise with managed workspace providers at the design stage of the 

development to determine end user requirements and ascertain a range of unit sizes that 
are flexible, ensure provision of units suitable for subdivision and provide fully customisable 
spaces configuration for end user requirements and interior specifications whilst ensuring 
minimum Category A Fit Out in accordance with Policy ECY01(C(d)) new uses and activities, 
including for occupation by small or independent commercial enterprises.  
 

D. d) Mixed use development proposals in town centres should consider the provision of 
flexible space within the scheme that can be used by individual workers, start-ups and as 
accelerator space. 

 

Revisions to clarify that the policy 
applies to proposals for new 
employment floorspace in designated 
employment areas, together with the 
Brent Cross GA, Brent Cross West 
GA, Edgware GA, New Southgate 
Opportunity Area, and Barnet’s 
District Town Centres, to sustain a 
mix of business uses which 
contribute to the character of an 
area.  
 
Clarification that a minimum 10% of 
affordable workspace, or equivalent 
contribution to off-site provision, will 
typically be sought unless a viability 
assessment accompanying the 
planning application demonstrates 
that it would undermine deliverability. 
 
Revision to part c to remove 
duplication of part b) with respect to 
unit sizes and types. Replaced with a 
focus on ensuring provision of units 
that are suitable for sub-division and 
provide fully customisable spaces for 
end user, whilst ensuring consistency 
with MM to Policy ECY01 that 
requires minimum Category A fit out.  
 
Clarification at paras 9.10.3 and 
9.10.4 that policy applies to major 
developments for new employment 
floorspace and/ or which would 
provide net additional floorspace as 
extension(s) to existing employment 
premises.  
 
Clarification at para 9.10.6 about 
associated guidance to be provided 
in the Planning Contributions 

352



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
9.10 Affordable Workspace 

9.10.3 The BELR emphasises the need for the provision of affordable and low cost floorspace in a 

variety of formats to support the needs of start-ups and SMEs. Policy ECY02 sets out a requirement that 

within Barnet’s designated employment areas, together with the Growth Areas of Brent Cross, Brent 

Cross West (Staples Corner), Cricklewood and Edgware, the District Town Centres (and potentially the 

New Southgate Opportunity Area in the latter stage of the Local Plan) Brent Cross, Edgware, New 

Southgate   and District Town Centres Any any major commercial development proposals schemes or 

mixed-use schemes for new employment floorspace, (including any proposals which provide net 

additional employment floorspace as extension(s) to existing employment floorspace, should provide a 

minimum of 10% per cent of the gross floorspace as affordable workspace, either on or off-site.  

9.10.5 Developers bringing forward new employment commercial space (including extensions) are 

encouraged to liaise with the Council’s Business, Employment and Skills Team as part of their 

preapplication discussions. This will ensure that, where necessary, appropriate affordable workspace 

providers can be involved early at the design stage. Where developers are unable to provide affordable 

workspace on site a financial contribution will normally be sought. This will be calculated using Gross 

Internal Area (sqft M2) x Base build cost rate (psf per M2) as set out in Table 15 14.  

Table 15 14 – Estimated Base Build Costs  

Space Base build cost 
rate £psf per M2* 

Light Industrial 
Mixed Commercial 

£1837 93 

Office  £2978 217 

Kitchens £105 4,936 

 *BCIS positive indexation will be added to these costs using the month and year of Local Plan adoption as a base date for indexation.  

Costs retrieved from BCIS (December 2023).  Indexation will be added to these costs annually in November using the CIL Index, which uses BCIS data.   

Obligations SPD and that any 
contributions sought would need to 
meet relevant requirements of 
national policy and the CIL 
Regulations and/or any equivalent 
relevant legislation or regulations, 
and take account of any viability 
assessment accompanying the 
application.  
 
Definition of ‘touch down’ working 
and ‘accelerator space’ added to 
Glossary of the Plan. 

353



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 

9.10.6 Affordable workspace and/or any offset contributions that meet the tests set out in NPPF and the 

Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 and/or any equivalent relevant legislation or regulations 

will be secured through S106 legal agreement with the Council. Any contributions sought will take 

account of any viability assessment accompanying the application. A Council registered workspace 

provider should also be secured, preferably before the grant of planning consent. Affordable workspace 

should be provided in perpetuity. Further guidance will be set out in the forthcoming Planning Obligations 

SPD. 

GLOSSARY 

Accelerator Space: Combines workspace with access to technical infrastructure and support to help 

entrepreneurs grow their businesses. 

Touch Down Working : A series of smaller workstations, sometimes with flexible office partitions, 

capable of use by multiple employers typically employing predominantly remote workers who on 

occasion need to call into the office to meet with / catch up with colleagues. 

 
MM
63 

Chapter 9 
Economy 
 
Policy ECY03   
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Paras  9.11.1 
to 9.11.6 

Policy ECY03: Local Jobs, Skills and Training 
The Council will seek to increase local employment opportunities from major development 
proposals creating 20 or more full-time equivalent (FTE) jobs in the Borough by: 
 

a) A. Requiring qualifying development to provide a Local Employment Agreement which sets 
out the skills, employment and training opportunities to be delivered from the development 
including end use jobs in accordance with London Plan Policy E11 - Skills and opportunities 
for all. Financial contributions to offset unfulfilled LEA deliverables may be accepted in 
exceptional circumstances. 

b) B. Delivering construction-phase training in conjunction with the Council’s recognised 
providers. 

Clarification to provide certainty that 
qualifying development (as referred 
to in part a) where the Council seek 
to increase employment 
opportunities in the Borough, would 
be major developments where 20 or 
more full-time equivalent (FTE) jobs 
would be created.  
 
Revision to require proposals to set 
out the skills, employment and 
training opportunities to be delivered 
and deletion of requirement for a 
LEA (to align with approach of 
London Plan Policy E11. 

354



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

c) C. Having regard to  Requiring compliance with other jobs, skills and training requirements of 
the Council’s Delivering Skills, Employment, Enterprise and Training (SEET) from 
Development the guidance in the Planning Obligations SPD in terms of jobs, skills and training. 
(2014) or any subsequent SPDs. 

 
Re-wording to reflect status of SPDs, 
ensuring that decision makers have 
only regard to any relevant SPD 
guidance intended to be provided 
with respect to jobs, skills and 
training.  
 
Clarification at para 9.11.4 of how 
FTE job creation will be calculated 
for the purpose of decision making in 
terms of both permanent jobs arising 
from development, and where 
temporary jobs are created during 
the construction period.  
 
Revision to para 9.11.6 to encourage 
developers to liaise with the Council 
at an early stage, preferably pre-
application, to identify opportunities 
associated with proposed 
developments. 

355



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

9.11 Local Jobs, Skills and Training 

9.11.1 In line with the approach set out in London Plan Policy E11- Skills and opportunities for all to 

provide more meaningful employment and training opportunities for residents across London, whilst 

recognising the importance of new developments for providing local employment opportunities, the 

Council through the . Barnet’s Growth Strategy emphasises the importance of having a skilled local 

workforce and the positive impact this can have on economic growth. Promoting economic and social 

inclusion in Barnet is a major priority for the Council, ensuring that residents seeking work have the right 

skills and opportunities to gain employment. Barnet’s Work, Skills and Productivity Action Plan prioritises 

support for young people between 16 and 24 and is working directly with those furthest from the labour 

market to unlock opportunities to access employment. It is also seeking to improve pathways into work 

by prioritising high growth sectors; and delivering at scale and pace to ensure a fast recovery and 

prevent many residents from falling out of work.   

9.11.2 In order to help local residents secure local jobs, Policy ECY03 seeks to address skills deficiency 

between the Borough’s employers and the local community by seeking contributions towards local 

employment training programmes. These will largely be related to the development industry and in 

certain cases end-use jobs. This helps to provide residents with the skills needed to fill jobs both locally 

and further afield, thereby increasing employment opportunities for Barnet’s residents. Development 

proposals are also expected to have due regard to required to meet the requirements of the Council’s 

Delivering Skills, Employment, Enterprise and Training (SEET) from Development SPD (2014) or 

equivalent SPD the forthcoming Planning Obligations SPD with respect to jobs, skills and training. 

9.11.3 The SEET SPD Through the forthcoming Planning Obligations SPD   sets out a requirement for 

developers to enter into a Local Employment Agreement (LEA) with the Council will set out in order to 

deliver a range of benefits to residents. Benefits, associated with employment generating development, 

include: 

• Apprenticeships;  

• Work experience;  

356



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

• Progression into employment for those dependent on benefits; 

• Local labour;  

• Local suppliers; and 

• End use jobs (where appropriate) 

 

9.11.4 The majority of major developments can provide opportunities for apprenticeships, and work 

experience for residents and local suppliers in the construction phases.  Where a major development is 

creating 20 or more full time equivalent (FTE) end use jobs then the Council will seek to secure 

employment opportunities for Barnet residents. The Council will calculate FTE jobs in terms of both 

permanent jobs arising from the development together with temporary jobs created during the 

construction period. 

9.11.5 Financial contributions may be accepted in exceptional circumstances in lieu of onsite or 

development related employment provision.  The LEA and/ or Financial contributions will be agreed as 

part of planning obligations in a legal agreement the S106 Agreement.  However, outline LEAs should be 

agreed as part of the application process to ensure the Council and applicants are aware of the 

implications of the LEA on the development and its timetable. 

9.11.6 Developers should liaise at an early stage, preferably at pre-application stage, with the Council’s 

Business, Employment and Skills Team in identifying skills, employment and training opportunities when 

producing the LEA. 

 
MM
64 

Chapter 10  
 
Environment & 
Climate 
Change 
 
Policy ECC01 
 

 

Policy ECC01 – Mitigating Climate Change   
The Council will seek to minimise Barnet’s contribution to climate change and ensure that through 
the efficient use of natural resources the Borough develops in a way which respects environmental 
limits and improves quality of life. The Council will:  

Re-wording to align with BSS01C in 
terms of locations for growth and 
NPPF para 20  in respect of climate 
change mitigation and adaptation.  
 
Clarification at Part B on what is 
meant by ‘promote the highest 
environmental standards’ and 
‘exemplary levels of sustainability’; 

357



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Paras 10.1.1, 
10.2.1, 
10.2.1A, 
10.3.1, 10.3.2, 
10.4.1, 10.4.2, 
10.5.2 to 
10.5.6, Table 
16, 10.6.2 to 
10.6.3A, 
10.7.1 to 
10.7.4. 

A. a) Concentrate growth in accordance with Policy BSS01 the  identified  within Barnet’s 
Growth Areas and District Town Centres Growth Areas and existing town centres in order to better 
manage mitigate and adapt the impacts of development growth on the climate. 

B. b) Promote the highest environmental standards for development to deliver exemplary levels 
of sustainability throughout Barnet in order to mitigate and adapt to the effects of a changing 
climate and through, having regard to the guidance provided in the Council’s suite of design 
guidance  Sustainable Design and Development Guidance SPDs together with and the Green 
Infrastructure SPD will continue working to deliver exemplary levels of sustainability throughout 
Barnet in order to mitigate and adapt to the effects of a changing climate..  

C. c) Expect all development to reduce energy consumption, be energy-efficient and seek to 
minimise any wasted heat or power, be energy efficient and meet the requirements of Policy 
CDH02.  

D. d) Development is expected to be in accordance Encourage development to demonstrate 
compliance with the Mayor’s Energy Hierarchy to reduce carbon dioxide emissions.    

i ) All major development will be required to demonstrate, through an Energy Statement accordance 
with Part L of the Building Regulations and London Plan polices SI 2 and SI 3 including compliance 
with the Mayor’s net zero carbon targets.             
ii) For minor development efforts should be made to make the fullest contribution to minimising 
carbon emissions and meet a carbon reduction target of at least 6% beyond the latest Building 
Regulations and demonstrate how the Mayor’s Energy Hierarchy has been used to achieve this.  
  
E. e) Require an energy masterplan in accordance with London Plan Policy SI 3 Where 
Decentralised Energy (DE) is feasible or planned, for major development large scale development, 
which establishes the most effective energy supply options such as the provision of, or connection 
to, a heat network. will either provide:   

a. suitable connection    
b. the ability to connect in future   

plus correction to the title of the 
referenced SPDs containing 
guidance.  
 
Revised to reflect Ministerial 
Statement on Energy Efficiency and 
provide flexibility with regards to 
London Plan SI 2 including 
associated energy hierarchy. 
 
Clarification that energy targets are 
in London Plan not the Building 
Regs. 
  
Cross-reference added to policies 
SI2 and D6 of the London Plan in 
respect of overheating and managing 
heat risk.  
 
Wording relating to harm to the 
significance of heritage replaced with 
a reference to Policy CH08.  
Clarification on carbon offset price. 
 
Additions to ensure that the policy 
wording is consistent with the 
Council’s support of the retrofitting, 
reuse and adaptation of existing 
buildings at para 10.6.3. 
 
Consequential changes needed to 
the supporting text to ensure a 
consistent approach. Includes 
changes to: 
 
Definition of carbon’ and 
‘decentralised energy’ as per the 
London Plan definitions added to 
Glossary  
 

358



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

c. a feasibility study; or  
d. a financial contribution to a proposed feasibility study.   
 
F. f) All schemes are eEncouraged all schemes to incorporate renewable energy initiatives into 
development proposals, including householder and minor proposals where feasible taking into 
account factors of design and viability.  
  
G. g) Expect development to demonstrate how it will manage heat risk and overheating in 
accordance with London Plan Policiesy SI 4 and D6.  
H. h)The Council will support retrofitting existing buildings and encourage solutions that 
minimise or avoid harm to a heritage asset’s significance while delivering improved energy 
performance or generation. Support the retrofit of buildings where there is a benefit to the 
environment through the retention of embodied carbon. Where demolition is preferred, developers 
are encouraged to undertake a Whole Life-cycle Carbon Assessment having due regard to London 
Plan Guidance. Solutions for heritage assets that deliver improved energy performance or 
generation are also supported, subject to the considerations of Policy CDH08. 
I. i) Where a development is unable to fully achieve the relevant carbon targets for a 
development identified in London Plan Policy SI2, cannot be fully achieved seek where appropriate 
a contribution will be sought to a value calculated using the latest non-traded price of carbon per 
tonne identified by Barnet, or in the absence of a Barnet offset price, the Mayor of London.  
J. j) Require developments are required to demonstrate how sustainable design and 
construction methods are incorporated into the proposal to enable the development to mitigate and 
adapt to climate change over its intended lifetime.  

 
10.1.1 Specific National and London Plan policies to be taken into context : 

NPPF  

Section 8 Promoting healthy and safe communities specifically paras 96 to 101  

Section 13 Protecting Green Belt land specifically paras 133 to 147.  

Clarification regarding the energy 
hierarchy and the price for offsetting 
carbon at paras 9.2.2 and 9.2.8 of 
the London Plan.  
 
Clarification that Barnet has a carbon 
offset fund at para 10.3.1.  
 
At paras 10.4.1 and 10.4.2 refer to 
London Plan policies SI2 and SI3 
and clarify that the majority of Barnet 
is within Heat Network Priority Areas  
 
Carbon reduction aims for heritage 
assets set out at para 10.6.3A. 
 
Revision to para 10.7.3 to align with 
Policy CDH07 in respect of the 
retention and replacement of trees. 
 
Clarification at para 10.7.4 that 
policies SI2 and D6 of the London 
Plan address overheating and that 
applications for major development 
and single aspect residential 
dwellings should be supported by 
heat assessments as part of energy 
strategies, therefore delete 
penultimate sentence of para 10.5.4.  
 
Clarification at para 10.5.2 that Part L 
of the Buildings Regs (2022 edition 
with 2023 amendments) has been 
approved since the adoption of the 
London Plan and, therefore, that the 
application of the requirements of its 
Policy SI2 for major developments to 
achieve the zero-carbon target 
should reflect those changes. 
 
 

359



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

Section 14 Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change specifically paras 149 

to 165.  

Section 15 Conserving and enhancing the natural environment specifically paras 170 to, 183.  

London Plan, March 2021  

Good Growth Objective GG6 Increasing efficiency and resilience  

Policy D13 Agent of change  

Policy G1 Green infrastructure   

Policy G2 London’s Green Belt  

Policy G3 Metropolitan Open Land   

Policy G4 Open space  

Policy G5 Urban greening  

Policy G6 Biodiversity and access to nature  

Policy G7 Trees and woodlands  

Policy G8 Food growing   

Policy G9 Geodiversity  

Policy SI1 Improving Air Quality  

Policy SI2 Minimising greenhouse gas emissions  

Policy SI3 Energy Infrastructure   

Policy SI4 Managing heat risk  

360



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

Policy SI5 Water infrastructure  

Policy SI7 Reducing waste and supporting the circular economy  

Policy SI8 Waste capacity and net waste self-sufficiency  

Policy SI9 Safe guarded waste sites  

Policy SI10 Aggregates  

Policy SI11 Hydraulic fracturing (Fracking)   

Policy SI12 Flood risk management   

Policy SI13 Sustainable drainage  

Policy SI14 Waterways – strategic role  

Policy SI15 Water transport  

Policy SI16 Waterways – use and enjoyment  

Policy SI17 Protecting and enhancing London’s waterways    

Mayor of London Sustainable Design and Construction SPG  

Mayor of London Shaping Neighbourhoods – Play and Informal Recreation SPG 

Mayor of London All London Green Grid SPG 

Mayor of London Circular Economy Statements LPG 

Mayor of London Control of Dust and Emissions in Construction SPG 

Mayor of London Air Quality Positive LPG 

361



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

Mayor of London Air Quality Neutral LPG 

Mayor of London Whole Life Carbon LPG  

 
 
10.2  Introduction  

  

10.2.1 In May 2022 the Council declared a Climate and Biodiversity Emergency. A top priority for the 

Council, as well as robustly implementing policies on net zero carbon development through the 

development plan, is to progress a Sustainability Strategy that sets out the actions to be taken to deliver 

a green and thriving Barnet; with a key focus on keeping neighbourhoods clean, green and with good air 

quality, ensuring that development and growth in the Borough is sustainable, maximising reusing and 

recycling, and reducing consumption and waste. Ensuring a clean, pleasant and well-maintained 

environment is a top priority of the Council.42 Through the implementation of Local Plan policies the 

Council will manage growth to help deliver this environment as part of its approach to the mitigation of, 

and adaptation, to climate change. Development can be made more sustainable by measures such as 

passive solar design, natural ventilation, green and brown roofs and sustainable drainage systems. 

Details of how this can be achieved are set out in the Council’s more detailed planning guidance. 

Barnet’s suite of design guidance SPDs together with the Green Infrastructure prioritise the protection 

and enhancement of the environment and biodiversity and clarify requirements on the prudent use of 

natural resources.   

 

10.2.1A Through the implementation of Local Plan policies the Council will manage growth to help 

deliver a green and thriving Barnet as part of its approach to the mitigation of, and adaptation, to climate 

change. Development can be made more sustainable by measures such as passive house design, 

sustainable materials and location, natural ventilation, green and brown roofs or sustainable drainage 

systems for example. Details of how this can be achieved will be set out in the Council’s more detailed 

planning guidance. Barnet’s Sustainable Design and Development Guidance SPD, together with the 

362



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

SPD on Green Infrastructure, will include guidance on prioritising the protection and enhancement of the 

environment and biodiversity and clarifying requirements on the prudent use of natural resources. 

 

10.3 Reducing carbon emissions in new and existing development 

 

10.3.1 The Mayor of London has set a target for London to become a zero-carbon city by 2050. Where 

zero-carbon is used in the Local Plan it refers to net zero-carbon as defined in the London Plan.  In order 

to contribute to delivering this the Local Plan addresses the level of emissions from the existing building 

stock, in particular through retaining and re-using buildings to avoid the material and energy costs of new 

development. Creative adaptation can dramatically reduce the whole-life energy costs and waste 

impacts from demolition and replacement, even where the proposed development would be energy 

efficient. Where ongoing energy performance is unsatisfactory, there will almost always be scope for 

suitable adaptations to be made through careful consideration of the most appropriate options for 

insulation, power use and power generation. Major Ddevelopments unable to meet the net zero carbon 

targets set by the Mayor of London will may need to contribute to the Barnet’s carbon offset fund as 

explained and required by para 9.2.8 and Policy SI 2 of the London Plan. Until Barnet develops and 

adopts its own price for offsetting carbon, the London Plan offset price of £95/tonne of carbon will be 

used to collect offset payments. Information on the spend of carbon offset payments will be reported as 

part of the Barnet Authorities Monitoring Report. 

 

10.3.2 New development in the Borough will be required to should consider how the design, layout and 

building materials can minimise energy requirements and assist in the efficient use of energy. Building 

design and energy supply options will be required to should where possible provide for the building to be 

retro-fitted to incorporate new technology in the future. 

 

363



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

10.4 Energy Generation  

  

10.4.1 Developers should provide more sustainable and efficient methods of supplying heat and power 

than traditional energy supply systems and consider the best low to zero carbon options including the 

provision of decentralised energy for their developments.  The design, construction and operation of new 

buildings should be informed by the Mayor’s Energy Hierarchy (London Plan Figure 9.2 ) with 

opportunities for onsite energy and heat production maximised. As explained in London Plan (para 

9.2.2), the Energy Hierarchy should inform the design, construction and operation of new buildings; 

prioritising minimising energy demand and then addressing how energy will be supplied and renewable 

technologies incorporated.  

  

10.4.2 The majority of the Borough is within a Heat Network Priority Areas. Heat networks can deliver 

heat and/or cooling across a development or wider area. Traditionally the heat networks have used 

Combined Heat and Power (CHP) utilising a gas engine, however the carbon savings on CHPs are now 

declining.  Any new heat network should be designed to be low or zero carbon.  A heat network should 

be designed in a way that ensures that designs are adaptable and readily able to take account of future 

changes, for example it could be connected to a wider district heating network if that were to come 

forward.  Where a heat network is not being provided as part of the major development the building must 

still be designed to be connection ready and allow for connections in the future.  Developers should 

ensure that any proposed Heat Networks operate effectively and efficiently while taking into account air 

quality and the Mayor’s net zero carbon target and seek to meet the requirements of London Plan 

Policies SI 2 and SI 3 where feasible. Developers should also provide information to the Council on how 

the system is to be managed, especially if it is not part of a larger network.  Residents must be able to 

easily contact the appropriate persons to raise concerns, and have maintenance and repairs undertaken 

within appropriate timeframes.  

 

10.5 Carbon Reduction  

364



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

  

10.5.2 Major and large-scale development should have a net zero carbon target. The Building 

Regulations set national energy efficiency standards. Since the adoption of the London Plan in 2021, 

Part L of the Building Regulations has been updated. The Mayor of London has determined6 that major 

and large-scale developments should seek to achieve net zero carbon and an on-site carbon reduction 

of at least 35 per cent beyond the 2022 edition of Part L of the Building Regulations. For minor 

development efforts should be made to make the fullest contribution to minimising carbon emissions and 

meet a carbon reduction target of at least 6% beyond the latest Building Regulations and demonstrate 

how the Mayor’s Energy Hierarchy has been used to achieve this. Furthermore, the Delivering Net Zero7 

report published in 2023 provides evidence to inform future planning policy. Nonetheless the Written 

Ministerial Statement: Planning – Local Energy Efficiency Standards Update (December 2023) is clear 

that where policies go beyond current or planned Building Regulations, that those policies should be 

applied flexibly to decisions on planning applications and appeals where the applicant can demonstrate 

that meeting the higher standards is not technically feasible, in relation to the availability of appropriate 

local energy infrastructure (for example adequate existing and planned grid connections) and access to 

adequate supply chains. 

 

10.5.3 Major developments should seek to comply with the Mayor’s Energy Hierarchy as described in 

para 9.2.2 of the London Plan, and seeking to achieve have reductions in accordance with London Plan 

Policy SI 2 Minimising Greenhouse Gases where technically feasible. However, this figure is subject to 

change through the Building Regulations. Developers should utilise the energy hierarchy prioritising the 

maximisation of energy efficiency through design and building fabric. and Then renewable technologies 

such as heat pumps and solar panels can be used to further to assist them in meeting these targets and 

maximising opportunities for onsite electricity and heat production.  

 

 
6 Energy Planning Guidance | London City Hall 
7 Delivering Net Zero 

365

https://www.london.gov.uk/programmes-strategies/planning/planning-applications-and-decisions/pre-planning-application-meeting-service/energy-planning-guidance


Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

10.5.3A To achieve the highest environmental standards and exemplary levels of sustainability, 

development should seek where technically feasible to meet, and where possible go beyond, the 

minimum standards set out in development plan policy and the latest guidance at the time of the 

application, including the Sustainable Design and Development Guidance SPD. In accordance with 

London Plan Policy SI 2F, development proposals referrable to the Mayor of London are required to 

calculate whole life cycle carbon emissions and demonstrate actions taken to reduce life-cycle carbon 

emissions. A whole life-cycle approach is needed to capture: 

i) unregulated emissions (i.e. those associated with cooking and small appliances),  

ii) embodied emissions (i.e. those associated with raw material extraction, manufacture and 

transport of building materials and construction), and  

iii) emissions associated with maintenance, repair and replacement as well as dismantling, 

demolition and eventual material disposal.  

 

10.5.3B Irrespective of whether they are referrable to the Mayor, the Council encourages all major 

developments to undertake whole life-cycle carbon assessments. The approach to whole life-cycle 

carbon (WLC) emissions assessments, including when they should take place, what they should contain 

and how information should be reported, is set out in the Mayor’s Whole Life Carbon London Plan 

Guidance (LPG). Using a template this guidance8 explains how to prepare a WLC assessment including 

how to calculate WLC emissions and the information that needs to be submitted to comply with London 

Plan policy.  

  

10.5.4 Major developments should submit energy strategies with planning applications, as set out in 

London Plan para 9.2.12, to demonstrate how these targets will be met. Guidance on how to prepare 

energy strategies is available on the Mayor of London’s website.  Energy Strategies should include the 

carbon emission reports as detailed in the Mayor of London’s Energy Planning Guidance. Minor 

developments should also submit a strategy that is proportional to the development. Further detail is 

 
8 LPG document template (green) (london.gov.uk) 

366

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/lpg_-_wlca_guidance.pdf


Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

available in the Council’s suite of design guidance SPDs will be provided in the Sustainable Design and 

Development Guidance SPD.  

  

10.5.5 Where carbon reduction targets are unable to be met onsite a carbon offset contribution will be 

sought. The value of the offset contribution will be calculated in accordance with the Mayor of London’s 

price of non-traded carbon per tonne.  

  

10.5.6 To enable appropriate assessment of planning applications and ensure that new and refurbished 

buildings meet the objectives NPPF and London Plan requirements for carbon reduction, applications for 

development are expected to provide the information detailed in Policies ECC01 and TRC03 Table 16 

below in accordance with the proposal size.    

 
 
Table 16  Energy use in new buildings requirements  

  Development  
Scale   
  

Proposed development should provide an Energy Assessment which demonstrates 
compliance with the London Plan energy hierarchy,44cooling hierarchy’ the London Plan 
carbon dioxide requirements and where relevant decentralised energy. The Energy 
Assessment should be completed in accordance with the GLA Energy Assessment 
Guidance 2020.  
  

Major, Large scale 

   

367



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

Development proposals should make the fullest contribution to minimising carbon dioxide 
emissions in accordance with the London Plan energy hierarchy. Developments are 
expected to achieve carbon reductions 6% beyond Part L from energy efficiency measures 
to reduce energy demand as far as possible.  

Minor  

Proposed development to ensure that at least  1 car parking space in 5  (i.e. 20%)  is 
provided with a suitable electrical charging point; with passive provision for the remaining 
spaces.   

Minor, Major, Large 
scale  

Decentralised Energy (DE)  Major, Large Scale  

Heat risk assessment  

Major, Large scale,  
Minor - where 
single aspect units 
are proposed.  

  

 
10.6 Barnet’s Existing Building Stock  

  

10.6.2 Two-thirds of Barnet’s stationary energy emissions are produced by residential buildings, with 

industrial and commercial buildings following at a much smaller percentage. Tackling residential 

emissions should therefore be a priority for the Council.9 Due to its age Barnet’s housing stock has a 

relatively high level of carbon emissions. The Council operates a private sector decent homes 

 
9 Sustainability Strategy Framework – Report to Policy & Resources Committee – December 9th 2021 

368



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

programme targeted at vulnerable households, which has seen homes provided with measures to 

reduce fuel poverty, such as insulation, and improvements to heating systems. 

   

10.6.3 However, all  All of the Borough’s existing building stock contains embodied carbon., 

Ddemolishing and replacing existing buildings requires a reinvestment in embodied energy and other 

resources.  Where possible the reuse of existing buildings should therefore be considered.  Research 

undertaken by Heritage Counts has demonstrated that the sympathetic refurbishment, retrofit and/or 

conversion of historic buildings can result in lower estimated carbon emissions by 2050 than new builds 

when taking embodied carbon into account. This provides an important argument for the retention of 

existing buildings in Barnet, especially its over 670 2,206 Statutorily Listed Buildings entries and 1600 

1250 Locally Listed Buildings, as over time these are likely to need refurbishment and /or retrofit to 

ensure they continue to be fit for use.  

 

10.6.3A Historic buildings may need bespoke and non-standard interventions to reduce energy 

consumption and carbon emissions to avoid negative impacts on the architectural or historical 

significance of the structure. To determine the best interventions an assessment of the building should 

be undertaken, in line with Historic England’s ‘whole building approach’ as advocated in their suite of 

technical advice and guidance on improving the energy efficiency of historic buildings10, to identify what 

aspect(s) of the building requires intervention to improve its energy and carbon performance. Once the 

areas for improvement are identified then the applicant can work with Council officers and Historic 

England to determine the best intervention(s) to improve the building’s performance whilst ensuring, in 

accordance with Policy CDH08, that the integrity and significance of the building is retained.  

 

10.7 Choosing Sustainable Locations for Development  

  

 
10 Energy Efficiency and Historic Buildings | Historic England 

369

https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/technical-advice/energy-efficiency-and-historic-buildings/


Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

10.7.1 The location of development and the mix of land uses have a significant effect on the amount of 

natural resources used for transport and energy for heating and cooling. Policies BSS01 and GSS01 aim 

to make the best use of previously developed land which can be planned at higher densities and in 

accessible town centres. These areas will offer exemplary sustainable locations and furthermore, will be 

planned so as to include the high standards of design and construction as to be set out in the 

Sustainable Design and Development Guidance SPD. Council’s suite of design guidance SPDs.   

  

10.7.2 There is a variety of measures which developers can incorporate into their developments to make 

them more sustainable for example the use of sustainable materials, passive house solar design, natural 

ventilation, green and brown roofs, sustainable drainage systems and rainwater systems. Greater detail 

on these measures can will be found provided in the Sustainable Design and Development Guidance 

SPD Council’s suite of design guidance SPDs together with the Green Infrastructure SPD. The greening 

of the built environment provides a significant contribution to climate change mitigation and adaptation. 

Barnet’s green areas contribute to urban cooling and act as Barnet’s ‘green lungs’. Trees, other green 

vegetation and soils can act as carbon reservoirs, absorbing and storing carbon over long periods of 

time. Through measures such as the Urban Greening Factor (London Plan policy G5) and those outlined 

in the Green Infrastructure SPD, the Council can enhance Barnet’s network of green spaces, better 

understand the ecosystems within the Borough and how these can contribute to reducing the urban heat 

island effect, and thereby improving resilience to climate change.     

  

10.7.3 Barnet values the services trees offer the Borough not only for the amenity and habitat value they 

provide but also for their ability to assist the Borough in managing the heat island effect and improving 

air quality. ,this This is set out and explained in the Barnet Tree Policy document together with Local Plan 

Policies CDH07, ECC04 and ECC06 and supporting text; and the London Plan in particular policies G5 

Urban Greening and G7 Trees and Woodlands. Barnet has the ambitious target of planting 900 trees per 

annum. Any loss of trees or greenspace for private development of value will need to be replaced, or 

370



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

contributions will need to be made towards tree planting elsewhere will therefore, in accordance with 

Policies CDH07 and ECC06 (in respect of Biodiversity Net Gain), need to be adequately compensated.   

  

10.7.4 Other issues that have arisen as buildings have become more heat efficient are the internal air 

quality and buildings overheating.  Overheating has become a significant problem in London due to the 

higher average temperatures and extreme weather events combining with the urban heat island effect. 

Part O of the Building Regulations 2021 and London Plan  Policy policies SI 4 and D6 of the London 

Plan addresses this issue. and provides a cooling hierarchy for development as part of their required 

Energy Strategy. An assessment of heat risk and how a proposed development will manage heat risk 

should accompany major applications for both non residential and residential development as part of 

energy strategies; minor applications should also undertake this assessment if there are single aspect 

units proposed. Guidance on producing overheating reports is provided by the Chartered Institute of 

Building Services Engineers.   

 
MM
65 

Chapter 10  
 
Environment & 
Climate 
Change 
 
Policy ECC02 
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Paras 10.9.1A, 
10.9.2 to 
10.9.9, Tables 
15 & 16 (as 
renumbered), 
10.11.1, 
10.11.1A & 
10.12.1 

Policy ECC02: Environmental Considerations  
  
The Council will seek opportunities to improve air quality and mitigate impacts from pollutants. 
expects Accordingly, development proposals will be expected to ensure that :  

A. a) to improve air quality and ensure  
a. i. new areas exceeding air quality limits are not created or, where there is a localised 

source of air pollution currently exceeding legal limits, development does not delay 
when compliance will be achieved. is designed and sited to reduce exposure to air 
pollutants.  

b. ii. that the development, taking account of the cumulative impacts from sites in the 
local area, is not contributing to a further deterioration of existing poor air quality, nor 
creating an unacceptable risk of high levels of exposure to poor air quality, providing 
air quality assessments where appropriate.  

c. iii. that where it is demonstrated that on-site provision is impractical or inappropriate 
and air quality neutrality is not achieved then proportionate, off-site measures to 

Revisions to align with approaches to 
air quality at para 192 of the NPPF 
and Policy SI1 of the London Plan.  
 
Replace reference to the provision of 
air quality assessments at Part A as 
it is addressed at Tables 15 and 16 
as referred at Part C which has been 
revised to clarify that tables set out 
various other requirements beyond 
the submission of those 
assessments for noise and air. 
 
Clarification about status of relevant 
current and potential future SPDs.  
 
Clarification that demolition and 
construction management plans may 
be conditioned where necessary.  

371



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

improve local air quality should be considered, provided that equivalent air quality 
benefits can be demonstrated. Where such measures are insufficient or not possible 
a Marginal Abatement Cost payment will be secured through a planning obligation 
s106.   

 
B. b) to avoid generation of unacceptable noise levels close to noise sensitive uses. Proposals 

to locate noise sensitive development in areas with existing high levels of noise will not be 
permitted without satisfactory measures to mitigate noise impacts through design, layout, 
and insulation. Detailed guidance covering these matters will be as set out in the Council’s 
Sustainable Design and Development Guidance suite of design guidance SPDs. The 
Council will apply the Agent of Change principle in accordance with London Plan Policy D13.   

 
C. Development should provide Air Quality Assessments and Noise Impact Assessments in 

accordance with the relevant requirements of Tables 15 and 16  together with and have 
regard to the Sustainable Design and Development Guidance SPD Barnet's suite of design 
guidance SPDs.  

 
D. Proposals on land which may be contaminated should be accompanied by an investigation 

to establish the level of contamination in the soil and/or groundwater/surface waters and 
identify appropriate mitigation and remediation opportunities to be incorporated into the 
development proposal. Development which could adversely affect the quality of groundwater 
will not be permitted.  

 
E. Proposals for Notifiable Installations or developments near to existing Notifiable Installations 

will only be permitted provided that:  
a) i. There is no unacceptable risk to an individual’s health and safety; and  
b) ii. There will be no significant threat to environmental quality.  

  
F. All developments should comply with the Considerate Constructors Scheme and comply to 

the terms of their Demolition and Construction Management Plan which includes further 

New parts added to provide light 
pollution criterion (to accord with 
NPPF para 191), and odour criterion. 
 
Consequential changes to  
supporting text to ensure a 
consistent approach. Includes 
changes to: 
 
Heading of section 10.9 and 
additions to the supporting text on 
light pollution and consistent 
references to both noise and 
vibration.  
 
Para 10.9.2 to provide clarification 
and align with Parts A and B of 
Policy SI1 of the London Plan 
regarding where air quality 
assessments would be required for 
different scales of development. 
 
Para 10.9.3 to align with Parts B and 
E of Policy SI1 of the London Plan 
and clarify that all development must 
be air quality neutral and that where 
emissions need to be reduced this is 
done on-site before off-site measures 
are considered.  
 
Para 10.9.4 to clarify whether the 
need to show an air quality positive 
approach applies to both major and 
large scale development, as well as 
non-residential development.  
 
Para 10.9.8 to set out the documents 
that the Council would consider in 
respect of assessing noise impacts 
including the relevant parts of the 
PPG; deletion of reference to 

372



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

mitigation measures. Demolition and Construction Management Plans may be conditioned 
where necessary.  

 
G. To limit adverse impacts from artificial light: 

 
a) Proposals that include flood lighting or external lighting must mitigate the potential 

impacts from such lighting, and will need to submit details demonstrating that external 
lighting is appropriate for its purpose; and  
 

b) Proposals must be designed to minimise the impact of light pollution on nearby occupiers 
(including light spill from inside tall buildings) and natural habitats and biodiversity, 
including watercourses. Details of management of light spill from internal sources should 
be submitted with applications. 
 

H. Odour emitting businesses, such as restaurants, should install flues or other extraction 

systems; these should be located and designed appropriately to take into account the uses 

and amenity of nearby properties, the character and appearance of the area and the 

significance of heritage assets. 

 

 
10.8 Environmental Considerations 

10.9 Air, and Noise and Light Pollution  

 

10.9.1A  Odour can also form a type of air pollution and be considered a statutory nuisance where 

the odour is emanating from a business e.g. restaurant or agricultural use.  The Council’s Environment 

Health service seeks to manage odours across the Borough; businesses that emit odours such as 

restaurants are required to install a flue, or other extraction systems, to direct smells away from local 

residents and other neighbouring occupiers, as far as reasonably possible.  Such flues should be located 

enabling noise assessments to be 
conditioned, and clarification of the 
expectations for the submission of 
noise impact assessments.  
 
Para 10.11.1 to explain the issues 
that need to be addressed at gas 
holder sites, and clarify how the 
criteria in part (e) of Policy ECC02 
will be applied.  
 
Para 10.12.1 to reflect requirements’ 
of rows 6 and 7 of Table15 
  
Table 15 also amended to reflect the 
above; to move the part of row 2 
about air quality positive approaches 
into a new row and ensure that the 
scale of development to which such 
approaches applies accords with 
para 10.9.4; to revise row 3 so it 
refers to the Mayor’s Energy 
Assessment Guidance; deletion of 
row 4 which in substance duplicates 
row 1; reword row 6 to clarify that 
both air quality and dust risk 
assessments and management plans 
would only be required where 
necessary; and add a new row 
regarding the provision of demolition 
and construction plans to reflect para 
10.12.1 as modified.  
 
Table 16 also modified to reflect the 
above; to revise its title to reflect its 
contents more accurately; to delete 
row 1 as it contained ambiguous 
instructions about the preparation of 
a noise risk assessment prior to the 
submission of an application; and to 
remove ‘residential’ from row 2, as 

373



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

appropriately on the building and designed sensitively, especially if the premises are located in a listed 

building or within a Conservation Area. 

 

10.9.2 All major and large scale developments proposals are required to submit an Air Quality 

Assessment with planning applications and designs for any necessary mitigation proposals. Whilst a 

minor development may not necessarily have an impact on local air quality, there is still a need for an 

assessment for an indication of exposure where air pollution may be a problem. Therefore, where 

characteristics of the development or local features raise concerns about air quality an Air Quality 

Assessment may also be required for minor developments, as set out in Table 15. The justification for 

this is related to current practice, the number of Air Quality Focus Areas in Barnet and the need to 

ensure the future health of residents. This also applies to minor development for proposals within areas 

of poor air quality or where development could potentially cause significant harm to air quality.   

 
10.9.3 All development proposals must be at least Air Quality Neutral. Guidance on achieving this is set 

out in the Air Quality Neutral London Planning Guidance11. Applications for major developments will need 

to include an air quality neutral assessment in accordance with the latest GLA air quality neutral 

guidance. This will enable the Council to shall assess the emissions of the proposed development 

(buildings and transport) and either compare them to benchmarks or, in the absence of a suitable 

benchmark, against the previous use. If the benchmark is exceeded, or there is an increase in emissions 

from the previous use, then further on-site mitigation measures should be explored. or Any abatement 

measures should be effective for the pollutant and the cost proportional to the size of the exceedance. 

Where emissions need to be reduced to meet the requirements of Air Quality Neutral, or to make the 

impact of development on local air quality acceptable, this should be achieved on-site. Where it can be 

demonstrated that emissions cannot be further reduced on-site, off-site measures to improve local air 

quality may be acceptable provided that equivalent air quality benefits can be demonstrated within the 

area affected by the development. In these circumstances a proportional Marginal Abatement Cost 

there are other noise sensitive uses 
than just residential ones. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
11 Air Quality Neutral London Planning Guidance 

374



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

(MAC) will be necessary. The abatement measures may be on or off site. If offsite, a payment for the 

measures could be secured using a Section 106 agreement if the developer is not going to deliver them, 

The abatement measures should be effective for the pollutant and the cost be proportional to the size of 

the exceedance.  If the abatement measures are insufficient or not possible then a MAC payment will be 

sought, this A MAC payment will be calculated using the current value or cost for each tonne of the 

pollutant above the benchmark using the GLA guidance and the DEFRA Air quality appraisal: damage 

cost guidance49. This will be secured through a planning obligation in a legal agreement.s106 obligation.  

 
10.9.4 Delivery of an air quality positive approach will be project specific and reliant on the opportunities 

on site or in the surrounding area to improve air quality. For Llarge scale development (over 150 units), 

the site will need to show that it is air quality positive; guidance relating to the air quality positive 

approach and the types of development to which this is applicable is set out in and provide assurance 

through an Aq positive statement at the initial stage of the application in accordance with the GLA’s Air 

Quality Positive (AQP) London Plan Gguidance12. 

 

  

10.9.5 This method shall will ensure that poor air quality in Barnet does not deteriorate further as a result 

of development.   

  

10.9.6 Developers are also encouraged to consider how the design of public realm and planting 

schemes can benefit air quality in and around a development.   

 

10.9.7 Table 17 15 below provides information on the requirements for relating to aAir qQuality and 

associated matters. Assessment and Guidance on the level of detail required and further guidance 

advice on air quality is will be provided in the Sustainable Design and Development Guidance 

SPD.Council’s suite of design guidance SPDs.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
12 Air Quality Positive London Plan Guidance  

375



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
Table 17 15 Air quality and dust emissions requirements  

 
Development scale  

Where development could potentially contribute to a worsening of local air 
quality an air quality assessment is required.  

- Minor where the 
development is proposed 
in either areas of poor air 
quality or where there is a 
significant risk that 
development will fail to 
satisfy the requirements 
of London Plan Policy SI 
1(B1), 

- Major, Large scale with 
the potential to increase 
and/or change road 
traffic,  

- Commercial or industrial 

use requiring 

environmental 

permitting50; and 

- Development proposing a 
Combined Heat and 
Power plant or biomass 
boiler.  

All development proposals must be at least air quality neutral. Developers 
are to design their schemes so that they meet having regard to the Air 
Quality Neutral emission benchmarks for Buildings and Transport as set 
out in Mayor of London Guidance. Large scale developments will need to 
adopt an air quality positive approach.  

All development 
proposals. major and 
large scale developments  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

376



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
Demonstrating an air quality positive approach. 

Large scale 
developments. 

Developers shall select plant that meets has regard to the standards for 
emissions from combined heat and power and biomass plants set out in 
Mayor of London’s Energy Assessment Guidance. Appendix 7 of the 
Mayor of London’s Sustainable Design and Construction SPG  

Mixed user major and 
large-scale development 
proposing a Combined 
Heat and Power Plant or 
biomass boiler.  

Proposals may be required to demonstrate how the development is 
designed to reduce people’s exposure to air pollutants to acceptable levels 
through an air quality assessment.  
Provide a Demolition and Construction Management Plan to include 
details on impacts of development and nuisance and how this will be 
mitigated. 

 

 
Minor, Major, Large scale.  
Some Householder 
applications may also 
need to provide a Plan 
dependent on the scale 
of works proposed and 
location of the property. 

Restaurants or other odour emitting premises will be required to locate 
flues appropriately to avoid nuisance to neighbouring occupiers.  

All Class E(b), 
restaurants, takeaways 
and other odour emitting 
businesses and services.  

Developers should comply withhave regard to the minimum standards on 
construction dust management that are detailed in the Mayor of London’s 
Control of Dust and Emissions During Construction and Demolition SPG. 
Where necessary providing an Air Quality and Dust Risk Assessment and 
where necessary an Air Quality and Dust Management Plan.  

Minor, Major, Large scale  

Non-Road Mobile Machinery used on construction sites should meet 
Stage IIIA of EU Directive 97/68/EC and its subsequent amendments as a 
minimum.  Details should be registered at www.nrmm.london/register.  

Minor, Major, Large scale  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

377



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

Developers should demonstrate compliance with the Considerate 
Constructors Scheme and Control of Asbestos Regulations. All 
development proposals on sites that would create impacts will be 
conditioned through a Demolition and Construction Management Plan to 
demonstrate compliance with current best practice guidance. 
 

Minor, Major, Large scale 

 
10.9.8 Persistent and intermittent noise and vibration from sources such as transport, movements, 

commercial usage, mechanical plant and construction as well as people can undermine quality of life. 

The Council will take into account noise and vibration considerations when assessing development 

proposals. In accordance with the Agent of Change principle as set out in London Plan Policy D13, 

the Council will also take account of existing noise-generating use in a sensitive manner when new 

development, particularly residential, is proposed nearby. Agent of Change places responsibility for 

mitigating the impact of noise firmly on the design of the new development. This also applies to new 

noise generating development. Consistency with the Mayor's Ambient Noise Strategy as a reference 

source for understanding noise and identifying best practice will be an important material 

consideration. The Council will require Noise Impact Assessments for developments likely to generate 

or be exposed to significant noise. Overheating and air quality requirements will be taken into account 

when determining internal noise levels where appropriate. All reports are advisable at application 

stage but are otherwise conditioned. Table 18 below provides information on when noise 

assessments are required, further guidance on noise quality is provided in the Council’s suite of 

design guidance SPDs.  

 
10.9.8A  In assessing development proposals the Council will ensure compliance with the NPPF, the 

Noise Policy Statement for England and have regard to relevant best practice guidance from 

government, industry and professional institutions. This includes the Noise chapter of the Planning 

Practice Guidance, the Professional Planning Guidance on Planning and Noise (2017) and British 

Standard BS: 8233 Guidance on sound insulation and noise reduction for buildings (2014). Noise 

assessments (for developments likely to generate or be exposed to significant noise and /or vibration) 

may be required before an application is determined, so that all impacts are assessed in order to ensure 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

378



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

that appropriate mitigation is designed in at an early stage. Such assessments should include how any 

identified risks and impacts will be minimised including specific details on how the intended measures 

will mitigate issues between source and receptor as described in Table 16. 

 

10.9.8B A complete Noise Assessment will be required for sensitive development that is likely to be 

exposed to significant noise and/or vibration, or a development that causes noise and/or vibration 

impacts.  With regards to noise, a sensitive development would include all residential uses, including 

care homes and residential schools, and certain non-residential uses where future occupants could be 

sensitive to noise and vibration such as schools and hospitals. In the latter case, the reports are not 

assessed by the Council.  

 
10.9.9 While artificial lighting has an important role for community and traffic safety and allowing many 

commercial and recreational activities to occur after dark, inappropriate lighting can be a cause of 

nuisance.  Light pollution can have a significant adverse effect on residential amenity, natural 

environments and wildlife (as acknowledged in NPPF para 185).  Light pollution is defined as being any 

light emitting from artificial sources (both external and internal) into spaces where this light is unwanted, 

such as spillage of security lights surrounding car parking areas into residential accommodation, 

especially bedrooms, where this causes inconvenience to their occupants, or along river corridors where 

it can impact feeding patterns of bats. Developers should employ design solutions and the latest 

guidance from the Institution on Lighting Professionals13.  Such solutions could include screening, 

shielding, managing installation height, and limiting operating hours of the light source. The visual impact 

of light fittings should also be considered. The Council will require design and details for all the lighting 

equipment to be used, with full technical specifications and proposed operating hours, to be submitted at 

planning application stage in order to properly assess the impacts of the lighting proposed. Further 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
13 Guidance Note 1 for the reduction of obtrusive light 2021 | Institution of Lighting Professionals (theilp.org.uk) 

379

https://theilp.org.uk/publication/guidance-note-1-for-the-reduction-of-obtrusive-light-2021/


Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

details on managing light pollution will be provided in the Sustainable Design and Development 

Guidance SPD 

Table 18 16 Noise and Vibration Standards quality requirements  

 

 Development Scale14  

To help consider noise at a site at an early stage an initial noise risk assessment 
should assess the Noise Risk Category of the site to help provide an indication of the 
likely suitability of the site for new residential development from a noise perspective.  Minor, Major, or Large scale 

developments  

A Noise Impact Assessment is required for proposed residential development which is 
likely to be exposed to significant noise and/or vibration or cause a noise and/or 
vibration impact. For all noise sensitive and noise creating developments the Council 
will refer to the standards set out for internal and external noise levels in BS8233 
(2014) and to the approach of BS4142:2014 (2019). As well as the Noise chapter of the 
PPG.  Such assessments should be provided at application stage for sites where the 
noise impact is high.  

Minor, Major, or Large scale 
developments   

The adverse risks and impacts of noise should be minimised, using measures at source 
or between source and receptor (including choice and location of plant or method, 
layout, screening and sound absorption) in preference to sound insulation at the 
receptor, wherever possible.    

All development  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
14 Most minor sites do not need these assessments however a site might be considered appropriate if it is an extremely noise site, for example, adjacent to one of Barnet’s 
very busy ‘A’ roads or adjacent to noisy commercial usage such as a nightclub. Each application is assessed uniquely. 
 

380



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

Any proposed external plant and machinery shall be operated so as to ensure that any 
noise generated is at least 5dB(A) below the background level, as measured from any 
point 1 m outside the window of any room of a neighbouring residential property. An 
extra 5dBA penalty is added if the noise has any characteristic features.   Plant should 
also be installed to ensure that no perceptible noise or vibration is transmitted through 
the structure to adjoining premises.   

All development with external 
plant and machinery or activity 
plant which potentially has an 
external noise impact  

 
10.11 Notifiable Installations  

  

10.11.1 There is one Notifiable Installation within Barnet, the New Barnet (Gas) Holder Station. This 

facility is identified because of the large quantities of hazardous substances historically stored, used or 

transported on site. Considerable care is required when decommissioning Gas Holders that have both 

above and below ground structures that require demolition and removal from site. Gas holders, even 

when no longer in use, can contain contaminated water, oil, organic material and other hazardous waste 

all of which must be disposed of in accordance with Health and Safety Executive (HSE) and 

Environment Agency requirements. Even once demolished the soil can contain high levels of 

contaminants that can impact negatively on human health and environmental quality, such as leachates 

entering the water table and/or water courses and/or impacting on the ability of vegetation to 

successfully establish and biodiversity to flourish. Due to the level of ground contamination that occurs 

on gas holder sites, any application to develop the site should demonstrate that the soil has been 

remediated to a high standard, that it is now fit for human occupation and does not pose a significant 

threat to environmental quality. “Environmental quality” in this context means water quality and/ or the 

quality of vegetation and biodiversity.   

 

10.11.1A  A proposal for redevelopment of the New Barnet Holder Station (Site 21) is in the Schedule of 

Proposals (Annex 1). Where development is proposed at or near this installation, the Council will seek 

the advice of the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) on the potential risk to health and safety of people 

381



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

occupying the proposed development. Until safely remediated it It will be necessary to keep sensitive 

development, such as housing, schools or hospitals, at a safe distance from this Notifiable Installation.  

10.12 Construction  

10.12.1 Building works can be hugely disruptive and cause nuisance in terms of air quality, noise and 

vibration. They also make a significant contribution to air pollution raising levels of fine particulate matter 

(PM10 and 2.5).  Developers should therefore comply with the minimum standards on construction dust 

management that are detailed in the Mayor of London’s Control of Dust and Emissions During 

Construction and Demolition SPG, and Non Road Mobile Machinery (NRMM) used on construction sites, 

meeting Stage IIIA of EU Directive 97/68/EC and its subsequent amendments as a minimum. Details 

should be registered on the NRMM Register at www.nrmn.london/register. In addition, traffic 

management, storage and waste can also be problematic. Therefore, all developments should 

demonstrate compliance with the Considerate Constructors Scheme and Control of Asbestos 

Regulations. In addition, aAll sites with the potential for any of these impacts are conditioned through a 

Demolition and Construction Management Plan to demonstrate compliance with current best practice 

guidance, including where necessary, an Air Quality (Dust) risk assessment and a resultant Air Quality 

and Dust Management Plan. These are referred to in the Mayor’s Control of Dust and Emissions During 

Construction and Demolition SPG.   

 
 
 

MM
66 

Chapter 10 
Environment & 
Climate 
Change 
 
Policy 
ECC02A 
And 
consequential 

Policy ECC02A Water Management Policy   

 
The Council will seek to ensure:  
 
A. Flood risk  
 
The Council will seek to ensure that:  

Clarification in Part A that 
improvements to flood defences may 
be needed and that defended areas 
should be protected in perpetuity.  
Clarification that land adjacent to 
flood defences need to be protected 
to allow for improvements or 
replacements to such and provide 
space for flood water in the event of 
a breach, and refer to natural flood 

382



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Paras 10.13.6 
to 10.13.11, 
Table 17 (as 
renumbered) 
10.14.3, 
10.14.5, Table 
20, 10.15.1 to 
10.15.3D, 
10.15.6 & 
10.15.8 
 
  

 
a)   Development proposals are located in areas at lowest risk of flooding from any source. This will 
be assessed at planning application stage through the application of the sequential test (except for 
minor development and some changes of use15). If it is not possible for development to be located 
in areas with a lower risk of flooding (taking into account wider sustainable development 
objectives), including on sites allocated in the Plan that have already been subject of the sequential 
test, the exception test referred to in Table 17 may be applied in line with the Flood Risk 
Vulnerability Classification set out in Annex 3 of the NPPF.  
 
ba) That dDevelopment ensures that flood risk is not increased elsewhere and where possible, 
delivers a positive reduction in flood risk, from all sources, on and off-site, by demonstrably 
giving sufficient consideration to this issue from the design stage and during the pre-application 
process.  
 
bc) That dDevelopment complies with Table 19 17 and that:  

i) any flood defences are maintained, repaired, improved or replaced as appropriate, and realigned or 
set back where possible to provide amenity and environmental enhancements and maintained in 
working order for their lifetime having regard to climate change; and land adjacent to flood 
defences is protected in order to allow space for flood water in the event of a breach, future 
improvement and replacement of defences, the introduction of natural flood management 
techniques and provision of public amenity space and biodiversity enhancements.;  
c)d) A site-specific Flood Risk Assessment is undertaken in consultation with the Environment 
Agency (if applicable) or Lead Local Flood Authority if it is:  

i     A development site over 1 hectare or greater in size within Flood Zone 1.  
i. A site within Flood Zones 2 or 3.  
iii. A non-householder application on a site within 1% AEP (Annual Exceedance Probability) plus 
70% climate change fluvial flood extent and/or the 0.1% AEP RoFSW (Risk of Flooding from 
Surface Water) flood extent.  

management techniques, public 
amenity ‘space’ and biodiversity 
‘enhancements’.  
 
Cross reference at Part B to Policy 
SI13 of the London Plan.  
Clarification that where relevant 
planning conditions or obligations 
may be required, it will be necessary 
that management and maintenance 
arrangements are in place for 
drainage schemes.  
 
Clarification that major development 
will be required to demonstrate how 
appropriate solutions to water 
capacity issues will be delivered in 
appropriate timeframes.  
 
Part C addition of cross reference to 
Policy SI5 of the London Plan.  
 
Part D revised to align with paras 
10.15.3 and 10.15.4 in respect of 
whether there is flexibility in the 
water course buffer zone 
requirement of at least 10 metres. 
 
Clarification that 
contributions towards river 
restoration and de-culverting may be 
required where necessary, and 
encourage the naturalisation of river 
corridors to accord with para 10.15.7.  
 
New criterion requiring all 
applications for sites adjacent to a 

 
15 This includes householder development, small non-residential extensions (with a footprint of less than 250m2) and changes of use; except for changes of use to a 
caravan, camping or chalet site, or to a mobile home or park home site, where the sequential and exception tests should be applied as appropriate. 

383



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

iv. Within an identified Critical Drainage Area.  
v. Where development would introduce a more vulnerable use.  

   
d) e) Where development impacts flood defences and / or rivers and waterways, and this is not 
appropriately mitigated for, applicants are may be required to make a financial contribution to the 
Council and / or agree off-site provision via planning obligations.  
  
Ef) Proposals for vulnerable uses and sleeping accommodation are located away from areas of 
high flood risk or fluvial 1 in 100 plus climate change flood level.  
 
Fg) Where appropriate developers should contribute to the projects set out in the relevant 
Catchment Partnership Management Plans for the development.  
  
B. Surface water management  
  
g) a) With regard to sustainable drainage, development proposals should aim to achieve greenfield 
run-off rates and ensure that surface water run-off is managed as close to its source as possible 
and in accordance with the drainage hierarchy outlined in All major development incorporates 
sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) into proposals, and manage surface water run-off to achieve 
greenfield run-off rates where feasible and in line with the London Plan Policy SI 13 (part B). 
drainage hierarchy.   
  
h).b)  Proposals for minor and householder development incorporate SuDS where 
necessaryapplicable. In accordance with London Plan Policy SI 13, SuDS should be green, provide 
multiple benefits, such as biodiversity and integrate into the Green Infrastructure network.   
  
i) c) Development proposals incorporating SuDS will need to include provision for management 
and maintenance plans for the proposed SuDSwhere relevant through with appropriate planning 
conditions or obligations contributions made to the Council where necessary.  
 

river corridor to be accompanied by 
an assessment of impacts (including 
cumulative impacts) of the 
development on the riverine 
environment and other matters to 
accord with para 10.15.4. 
 
Consequential changes to supporting 
text to ensure a consistent approach.  
 
Update and clarifications on status of 
relevant current and potential future 
SPDs.  
 
Clarification at para 10.13.9 on  
requirement for major schemes to be 
supported by SuDs Assessments, as 
these may be required for non-major 
development too.  
 
Clarification that documents reported 
at para 10.13.6 provide guidance for 
flood risk assessment and state the 
number of site allocations outside 
flood zone 1 accurately.  
 
 Role of buffer zones for water 
courses explained at para 10.15.3. 
 
Clarifications at paras 10.15.1A and 
10.15.8, on how ECC02A will be  
implemented regarding contributions 
towards off-site provision of flood 
defences, Catchment Partnership 
Management Plan projects and river 
restoration and de-culverting. 
Changes to Table 17 to reflect the 
above and reference to section 106 
approvals with Thames Water 
deleted as it is illogical.  

384



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

j) d) Any development in a Critical Drainage Area demonstrates that runoff rates Meet greenfield 
(or lower) run-off rates.  
  
C. Water Infrastructure  
 
k) a) Major development proposals will be required to evidence how solutions to water capacity 
issues will be delivered in a timely manner. This should include demonstratinges at application 
stage that the local water supply and public sewerage networks have adequate capacity both on 
and off-site to serve the development, taking into consideration the cumulative impact of current 
and proposed development.  Should there be capacity issues resulting from development, that 
these can be addressed through upgrades of the sewerage network; developers are required to 
demonstrate how these such appropriate solutions will be delivered at the time of commencement 
of development.  
  
l) b) Development proposals should minimise the use of mains water incorporating demonstrate 
compliance with water efficiency measures standards set out in London Plan Policy SI 5. Table 20.  
 
D. Water Courses  
 
m) a) Development proposals adjacent to a river corridor are expected to on or close to controlled 
watercourses naturalise the water course and ensure an adequate buffer zone of at least 10 metres 
(which should be wider greater if a tall building is being proposed) between the water course and 
the built edge of the development and enable public accessibility.  Buffer zones should include the 
creation of the appropriate riparian habitat and native planting and have a management plan to 
ensure long term biodiversity gains. The naturalisation of river courses is encouraged and where 
necessary Ccontributions towards river restoration and de-culverting will be required. expected.  

 
n) b) Buildings are not sited over the top of new or existing culverts/ ordinary watercourses. 

 

Deletion of Table 20 as submitted as 
it ineffectively repeats parts, but not 
all, of Policy SI 5 of the London Plan 
and Policy ECC02A ,as proposed to 
be modified, would now refer to 
Policy SI 5. 

385



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

c) All applications for sites adjacent to a river corridor should be accompanied by an assessment of 
impacts (including cumulative impacts) of the development on the riverine environment and wildlife 

 
10.13 Flood and Water Management 

10.13.6 In order to meet the challenges of climate change and urbanisation, Barnet has developed in 

partnership with other West London Boroughs a Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA). A 

Level 2 SFRA has also been undertaken for 18 15 of the sites allocated identified in Annex 1 of this Plan. 

These complement the Barnet Local Flood Risk Management Strategy (LFRMS) 2017. Together these 

documents provide guidance for flood risk assessment, inform development proposals as set out in 

Annex 1 and outline the requirements for site-specific Flood Risk Assessments (FRAs) to be carried out 

by developers across the Borough.  

 

10.13.7 The NPPF Sequential Test (paras 155 to 165) should be applied in order to steer new 

development to areas with the lowest flood risk. The West London SFRA identified fluvial flooding from 

Dollis Brook, Silk Stream, Pymmes Brook and their associated tributaries as the primary source of fluvial 

flood risk. The LFRMS identifies 33 Critical Drainage Areas (CDAs) that are the areas within Barnet 

which are considered to be at the highest risk of surface water flooding. Within these CDAs there are 

over 18,700 residential properties and 731 non-residential properties. These CDAs have also been 

ranked and a series of local objectives, measures and actions provided as to how Barnet intends to 

deliver effective flood risk management. Planning is identified as having an important role to ensure 

development manages risks appropriately and encouraging surface water management.   

 

 10.13.8 To ensure these risks of flooding are managed appropriately, the requirements of the NPPF and 

PPG are met in regards to steering development away from flood prone land, and the predicted impact 

of climate change is properly acknowledged in the management of flooding across the Borough, an 

additional layer of flood risk has been introduced to assist developers and planners in assessing the 

flood risk for sites. The extent of the additional layer of flood risk has been identified using 1% AEP51 

386



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

plus 70% climate change fluvial flood extent and the 0.1% AEP RoFSW52 flood extent. Fluvial flood 

extents include the River Brent, Silk Stream, River Lee and their tributariesIf a proposed site is within 

these flood extents, then a site-specific Sequential Test and a site-specific Flood Risk Assessment will 

be required 

 

10.13.9 In 2015, the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) was made a statutory consultee in planning for 

all major developments in relation to the management of surface water drainage. As part of this 

responsibility, the Council is required to ensure that sustainable drainage systems are put in place in 

accordance with Sustainable Drainage Systems: Non-Statutory Technical Standards. Further guidance 

on the use of Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS), is will be set out in the Council’s suite of design 

guidance SPDs Sustainable Development and Design Guidance SPD, including when minor and 

household development should incorporate SuDS. All major developments are required to complete a 

SuDS Assessment. It will be necessary for minor and householder development to incorporate SuDS 

where there is an increase in either site coverage or the level of impermeable surfaces; minor 

development should also demonstrate how the development proposes to incorporate sustainable 

drainage to ensure that the proposal does not create or exacerbate drainage issues on-site or in the 

area. 

  

10.13.10 The drainage strategy should aim to achieve greenfield runoff rates (via proposed SuDS 

measures) and ensure that surface water runoff is managed as close to the source as possible. 

Preference should be given to on-ground sustainable drainage features, with all SuDS aiming to achieve 

wider ecology and biodiversity benefits.be multi-functional, employ nature based techniques, and provide 

multiple benefits, such as biodiversity; and integrate into the Green Infrastructure network. The Drainage 

Strategy should also include how any SuDS are to be managed and maintained with, if necessary, a 

Section 106 planning obligation / legal agreement made with the Council. 

 

387



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

10.13.11 As part of Barnet’s Network Recovery Programme (NRP), tree planting using flexible porous 

surface material has increased water holding capacity of street tree pits, these can now hold significant 

quantities of flood water. Adoptable road creation on new large-scale development53 presents 

opportunities to create SuDS and swales around tree and verge planting. Table 19 17 sets out when 

sequential tests are required and the expectations in regardings to SuDS for differing types of 

development. Due regard should be made to the Sustainable Design and Development Guidance and 

Green Infrastructure SPDs for further   Further guidance on flooding and water management. is provided 

in the Council’s suite of design guidance SPDs.  

 

Table 19 17 Flood risk, sustainable urban drainage requirements  

 Development Scale  

Proposed development will need to demonstrate application of the sequential 
test and exception test where  
inappropriate54 development is proposed in areas of flood risk55,56.   

 Minor, Major and large scale   

Proposed development will need to provide a Flood Risk Assessment on the 

known flood risk potential from all sources of flooding including surface 

water57 to the planning application site, the risk to others, how it will be 

managed and taking climate change into account.  
  

All development over 1 hectare in Flood 
Zone 1  
All dDevelopment in  
Flood Zone 2 & 358    
All non householder development in the 1% 
AEP plus 70% climate change fluvial flood 
extent and or the 0.1% AEP RoFSW flood 
extent.  

Developments will be required to demonstrate how they have considered the 
London Plan drainage hierarchy (Policy SI 13 Sustainable Drainage) and 
achievement ofaim to achieve a maximum runoff rate which is equivalent to 
greenfield run-off rates (typically 2 litres per second hectare). The Barnet 
LLFA pro-forma detailing SuDS strategy should be submitted with the 
application.   

Major, Large scale  

388



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

Prior to submitting a planning application dDevelopers should are strongly 
encouraged to consult with Thames Water and /or Affinity Water to confirm 
that there is capacity in the water and/or wastewater networks and that their 
scheme will not increase the risk of sewer flooding to other properties. 
Confirmation of communication and infrastructure capacity Pre-planning 
enquiries (including lack of sewer flood risk capacity confirmation) and any 
agreed draft Section 106 planning obligations / legal agreements approvals 
with between Thames Water and/or Affinity Water and the developer that 
may result from the pre-application discussions should be submitted with 
planning applications. 

Minor, Major, Large scale  

Where planning permission is required for hard surfacing porous materials 
should normally be used.   

Householder, Minor, Major, Large scale  

Where a development proposal will result in an increase of land covered by 
impermeable surfacing or alter the drainage pattern, SuDs should be 
incorporated to ensure neighbouring properties are not impacted. 

Minor and Householder 

 

10.14 Water Supply and Quality   

 

10.14.3 The Council works collaboratively with water companies to deliver adequate water and 

wastewater infrastructure to serve all new developments. Developers are encouraged to contact the 

water/ wastewater company as early as possible to discuss proposals and intended delivery programme 

to assist with identifying any potential water and wastewater network reinforcement requirements. 

Thames Water encourages developers to use their free pre-planning service to help identify capacity in 

Thames Water and/or wastewater networks that serve their development. Where an infrastructure 

capacity constraint has been identified the Local Planning Authority will consider applying phasing 

conditions to ensure the timely delivery of infrastructure upgrades. All developments are expected to 

demonstrate that the water efficiency standards set out in Table 20 London Plan Policy SI 5 have been 

met by submitting a water efficiency calculator report with planning applications.  

  

389



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

10.14.5 Barnet’s three designated water bodies under the Water Framework Directive (WFD) are: the 

Silk Stream and Edgwarebury Brook; the Dollis Brook and Upper Brent; and the Pymmes Brook 

upstream Salmon Brook confluence. These are all classified as having moderate ecological potential, 

with water body objective potential for good status by 2027 according to the 2019 WFD Classification. 

The Council will work with the Environment Agency and developers to achieve the potential of Barnet’s 

water courses being classified as ‘good ecological potential’. This may involve reducing levels of urban 

runoff and removing invasive species from the water courses. New development must be efficient in 

using water, seeking wherever possible to reduce consumption as set out in London Plan Policy SI 5 

Table 20. This can be achieved through grey water systems and rainwater harvesting. Further details on 

recommended technologies arewill be set out in the Sustainable Design and Development Guidance 

Council’s suite of design guidance SPDs.   

 
Table 20 Water efficiency requirements   

 

 Development  
Scale   
  

New dwellings should be designed to ensure that a maximum of 10559 litres of water is 

consumed per person per day. To be demonstrated through a water efficiency calculator 

report.  
  

Minor, Major, Large scale  

Commercial development is required to achieve a BREEAM ‘excellent’ rating for water 
efficiency in accordance with Policy SI 5 Water Infrastructure of the London Plan.  Retrofit and New  

 
10.15 Watercourses  

 

10.15.1 Barnet’s rivers have been hugely altered from their natural state. Culverting of watercourses can 

exacerbate flood risk, increase maintenance requirements, and destroy wildlife habitats. Hence, the 

Council strongly discourages any proposals that include any new additional culverting of the 

390



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

watercourses and will only considers it, if alternative options have been explored and there is no 

reasonably practical solution. Wherever possible, rivers and watercourses should be de-culverted and 

restored to a more natural state in order to improve biodiversity and help reduce the speed of run off. 

Buildings should not be sited over the top of new or existing culverts/ordinary watercourses. The Council 

will oppose planning consent for any building over a culvert as the culvert may, in the future, need to be 

repaired, replaced or upgraded if conditions in the catchment change.   

 

10.15.1A Flood defences can be either physical structures made of man-made materials, engineered 

earthworks or natural flood management methods. Where a development proposal impacts directly on 

these works, the defended areas, or is within their immediate vicinity, and where it is considered that the 

development could impact on the functionality of the flood defence, mitigation will be necessary and 

early consultation with the Council and the Environment Agency should occur. Where the developer is 

unable to deliver the mitigation as part of the development a financial contribution may be secured to 

deliver the mitigation where appropriate. Additional or new flood defences may need to be delivered as 

part of a development, which should be identified as part of the Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) for the 

site  

  

10.15.2 Under section 23 of the Land Drainage Act 1991 the Council (as LLFA) is responsible for 

consenting works that proposes any changes to the ordinary watercourse, altering or obstructing the flow 

in the watercourse (even temporarily). Developers should contact the LLFA if proposals include any 

works within 5m of an ordinary watercourse to determine ensure if an Ordinary Watercourse Consent is 

required.  

  

10.15.3 All developments adjacent to a river corridor are expected to create a buffer between the 

water course and the built edge of the development (> at least 10m in width is recommended but 

relevant site constraints will be considered), for instance, tall buildings may are likely to need to be 

set further back to prevent the deterioration of the riverine environment as a result of impacts such as 

391



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

overshadowing, wind and temperature. This will assist with any restoration initiatives and ensure a 

range of species can be supported by the water course and the riparian edges. Therefore, the 

designs of the buffer zones created should illustrate how appropriate riparian habitat will be 

established including native planting and provide a management plan to ensure long term biodiversity 

gains. Developers should liaise with the Council and the Environment Agency on how best to assist in 

the delivery of any of the initiatives that are relevant to their site.  

 

10.15.3A Surface water should also be managed as much as possible onsite, any run off that does 

occur into the water course should be of a quality to assist the water course in being rated ‘good 

ecological potential’ as described in the WFD.   

  

10.15.3B Development can change the flow patterns of surface water and either create new, or 

exacerbate existing, flood risk. To prevent areas of existing surface water flood risk worsening as a result 

of development the Council needs to be proactive.  For this reason, FRAs are required as set out in the 

policy.  

 

10.15.3C Once the FRA is submitted as part of the planning application the Council, as the Lead Local 

Flood Authority (LLFA) will be consulted. The Council as the LLFA will work with the developer and 

where necessary the Environment Agency to determine the most appropriate methods of managing any 

flood risk on the site.   

 

10.15.3D For sites within 1% AEP plus 70% climate change fluvial flood extent and/or the 0.1% AEP 

RoFSW flood extent, the purpose of submitting a FRA with non-householder planning applications is to 

ensure that the site is developed sustainably and that any potential flood risk is managed as part of the 

development and to lower the likelihood of having to retrofit the development to manage flood risk in the 

392



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

future. Operating under its responsibilities as the LLFA consultation with the Environment Agency in 

respect of sites within those flood extents will be at the Council’s discretion. 

 

10.15.6 The Council wants to open up public access to all river corridors within the Borough to provide 

strategic green chains and walking routes.  An example of this work is the Silk Stream, a segmented 

and closed-off watercourse in the west of the Borough. In response to growth in the west of Barnet 

there is an opportunity to create a new strategic green chain and walking route from Edgware to the 

Welsh Harp (Brent Reservoir).  The Council is investing in the Silk Stream Valley Park to improve the 

river corridor.  Further guidance on how natural flood defences could be applied in Barnet will be is set 

out in the Green Infrastructure SPD.  

 

10.15.8 The Environment Agency has identified action measures for each WFD designated watercourse 

relating to the catchments. There are three Catchment Management Plans that relate to Barnet. The 

Thames River Basin Management Plan (2015) sets out the objectives to improve waterbodies, 

developments near rivers and other waterbodies should demonstrate how it will assist in the 

achievement of these objectives.  The London Rivers Restoration Action Plan and associated website 

(www.therrc.co.uk) also sets out opportunities to restore sections of the River Brent. The Brent River 

Corridor Improvement Plan 2014 aims to improve and enhance the rivers within the Brent River 

catchment. All waterside developments and other developments which could negatively impact on water 

quality, such as those where connecting to a combined sewer is unavoidable, will be expected to 

mitigate impacts by contributing to the delivery of the Thames River Basin Management Plan and 

projects set out in the WFD, Catchment Management Plans which may be secured through conditions 

and planning obligations. This may include contributions towards off-site provision of flood defences, 

projects outlined in the Catchment Management Plan as well as river restoration and de-culverting. 

Planning obligations / legal agreements can be used to ensure delivery of such measures. This includes 

ensuring that the development provides flood defence measures in perpetuity, over the lifetime of the 

development.   

 

393



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM
67 

Chapter 10  
 
Environment 
and Climate 
Change 
 
Policy ECC03 
and 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Paras 10.16.2 
& 10.16.4 
 

Policy ECC03 – Dealing with Waste  
The Council will, in accordance with London Plan Policy SI 7 and the North London Waste Plan 
(NLWP), encourage sustainable waste management by:  
a. promoting a circular economy through waste prevention, re-use, recycling, composting and 

resource efficiency over disposal.  
b. requiring developers to submit a Circular Economy Statement in accordance with London 

Plan Policy SI 7 and the North London Waste Plan.  
c. ensuring development is designed to provide appropriate space for storage and collection 

of waste and recycling facilities which fit current and future collection practices and targets.  
d. designating sites through the North London Waste Plan (NLWP) to meet an aggregated 

apportionment target across the seven North London Boroughs. These sites will be the 
principle principal locations considered suitable for waste facilities.  

e. safeguarding all existing waste facilities in Barnet, as set out in the NLWP. For any waste 
site subject to redevelopment for non-waste uses the developer must clearly demonstrate 
to the satisfaction of the Council that compensatory capacity will be delivered in line with 
the NLWP spatial framework principles on a suitable replacement site that must at least 
meet, and, if possible, exceed, the maximum achievable throughput of the site proposed to 
be lost.  

f.  seeking to utilise additional waste capacity at Scratchwood Quarry (NLWP Site BAR 2) as 
set out in the Schedule of Proposals (Annex 1 site number 29). 

 
 
10.16 Dealing with Waste 

 

10.16.2 The London Plan sets a target of working towards managing the equivalent of 100 per cent of 

London’s waste within London by 2026. In the London Plan, Barnet has been allocated an 

apportionment target of 215,000 tonnes of waste per annum in 2021 rising to 229,000 tonnes per 

annum by 2041. Through the North London Waste Plan (NLWP), which the The Council has jointly 

produced with six other North London Boroughs, therefore needs to identify sufficient land has been 

Clarification that the Council 
encourages sustainable waste 
management in accordance with 
Policy SI 7 of the London Plan and 
the North London Waste Plan.  
 
Former parts a to e deleted as the 
North London Waste Plan has now 
been adopted and these parts echo 
but do not comprehensively set out 
the relevant policies or context for 
waste management in the North 
London Waste Plan or at Policy SI 7 
of the London Plan.  
 
Former Part f revised to reference 
relevant parts of the North London 
Waste Plan more clearly in respect of 
Scratchwood Quarry (Site No 29). 
 
Consequential changes to the 
supporting text to ensure a 
consistent approach. This includes 
changes to  
para 10.16.2 to reflect the adoption 
of the North London Waste Plan, and  
 
para 10.16.4 to explain the Plan’s 
interactions with the North London 
Waste Plan in respect of the 
allocation of Scratchwood Quarry. 
 

394



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

identified to provide capacity to manage this waste target. and have joined with six other North London 

Boroughs to produce the North London Waste Plan (NLWP) which will form part of Barnet’s Local Plan. 

It will The NLWP, (adopted in 2022 and which forms part of Barnet’s Local Plan), sits alongside the 

North London Joint Waste Strategy to secure in ensuring the sustainable management of waste. Map 

6A shows existing waste sites within Barnet and other authorities within the NLWA area.  

  

10.16.4 A site has been identified at Scratchwood Quarry to provide additional waste capacity. This is an 

existing waste management facility with potential to increase the volume of waste processed through 

more efficient and intensive use of the site. Local Plan Proposal Site 29 – Scratchwood Quarry - 

currently handles waste generated from construction, demolition and excavation and is listed as an 

existing safeguarded waste site (Site BAR 2) in Appendix 1 of the NLWP. Where existing sites need to 

be relocated or redeveloped, compensatory capacity is required. The NLWP states that, in order to meet 

any capacity gaps identified, boroughs will need to seek opportunities for new capacity through the 

intensification of existing sites and/or new facilities. Within Barnet it is known that some waste sites will 

be redeveloped for other uses as part of the regeneration of Brent Cross. Consequently therefore, 

replacement capacity needing to be found elsewhere within the Borough. At Scratchwood Quarry, the 

potential has been identified to increase the volume of waste processed on this site through more 

efficient and intensive use. 

   

Map 6A Existing Waste Sites – Map Retained as Submitted 
MM 
68 

Chapter 10  
 
Environment 
and Climate 
Change 
 
Policy ECC04 
and 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
 

 

Policy ECC04 –Barnet’s Parks and Open Spaces  
A. a).  As Barnet grows there is a need to optimise the benefits that open spaces can deliver, 
ensuring that as well as being family friendly, they consider all users and create a greener Barnet., 
tThe Council will work with its partners to improve Barnet’s Green Infrastructure by:  

i.a)   managing and enhancing open spaces, including Green Belt and Metropolitan Open Land to 
provide improved accessibility;   

Restructuring to make clear that the 
Council intends to protect and 
enhance existing open spaces; 
clarify where developers will be 
expected to make provision for new 
and/or improvements to the quality 
and accessibility of parks and open 
spaces. This includes the 
circumstances where contributions 
towards offsite provision rather than 
direct provision may be appropriate 
and sets out management and 

395



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
Paras 10.17.1, 
10.17.4, 
10.17.5, 
10.18.1, 
10.19.3 to 
10.19.8, 
10.20.1, 
10.21.1, 
10.21.2, 
10.23.1 & Map 
7 
 

ii.b)   promoting a new Regional Park within the Brent Valley and Barnet Plateau Green Grid Area; 
and 

iii.c)   ensuring positive management of Green Belt, Metropolitan Open Land and open spaces to 
provide improvements in overall quality and protection of character and historic significance.; 
and 

d)      promoting the delivery and use of the sports hubs identified in Policy GSS13.  
 

B. b).   The Council will meet increased demand for access to open space and opportunities for 
physical activity, by protecting and enhancing existing open spaces and tackling deficiencies and 
under provision through: securing new open space provision and improvements to existing open 
spaces: 

i. a) development proposals should make provision for securing improvements to open spaces, 
including parks and playing fields, where additional demand is created and new or improved open 
space is necessary, in accordance with the following standards: 

• Parks: 1.63ha per 1000 residents 

• Natural Green Spaces16: 2.05ha per 1000 residents  

• Playing pitches: 0.75ha per 1000 residents.  

• Play and informal recreation: as set out by London Plan Policy S4 

provision for children’s play, sports facilities and better access arrangements (both into parks and 
between them), where opportunities arise, from all developments that create an additional demand 
for open space. Where this is not viable, a cash in lieu payment will be required for off-site 
provision or enhancement to parks and open spaces that are nearby; 

ii. b) Contributions to improvements to existing open spaces will be secured by planning 
obligations where necessary, including where it would be unsuitable for specific forms of open 
spaces to be provided directly on site. improving access to open spaces particularly in areas of 

maintenance expectations. In 
addition, it also includes the 
standards for sports pitches identified 
in the Barnet Open Space, Sports 
and Recreational Facilities 
Assessment; and refers to London 
Plan Policy S4 in respect of the 
approach to play provision; clarifies 
what is meant by ‘natural green 
spaces’; and refers to playing fields 
as a form of open space.  
 
Former part e deleted to reconcile 
with Council’s strategy to address 
deficiencies in and improve access to 
parks and open spaces, and to 
reflect that the evidence does not 
justify a policy approach that permits 
release of existing open space for 
development. 
 
Clarification on standards in that the 
Open Space, Sports and 
Recreational Facilities Assessment 
figure is used (0.75ha per 1000 
residents) as the alternative 
approach of requiring the majority of 
residents to be within 1.2km of a 
pitch has not been justified and 
would not enable an objective 
assessment to be undertaken in 
respect of calculating contributions.  
 
Additionally, the 0.5sqm play space 
figure has not been sufficiently 
justified. Whilst there is a standard of 

 
16 Natural green spaces are defined as land, water and geological features with nature conservation value having been naturally colonised by plants and animals and which 

are accessible on foot to large numbers of residents. These less managed spaces areas might consist of areas of longer grass, ponds, hedges and areas of scrub 
and woodland and include nature reserves and green corridors. 

396



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

public open space deficiency identified by Map 7.  The Council will seek to improve provision in 
these areas of deficiency in accordance with the following standards:  

• Parks (1.63 hectares per 1,000 residents) 

• Natural green spaces (2.05 hectares per 1,000 residents) 

Iii. c) Arrangements relating to the long-term maintenance and management of open spaces will be 
secured by planning obligations where necessary. This will include maintaining and improving the 
greening of the environment through the protection of incidental greenspace, trees, hedgerows and 
watercourses, especially where this enables green corridors to link Barnet’s rural, urban fringe and 
urban green spaces.  

 
iv. d) enhancing local food production through support for community food growing, the protection 
of allotments, and the provision of opportunities for growing food in new developments.   

 

C. c). In supporting provision of new Green Infrastructure the Council will work with neighbouring 
authorities as part of the All London Green Grid to establish Area Frameworks as the basis for 
identification, creation and management of new green spaces as part of:     
i.a) Lea Valley and Finchley Ridge Green Grid Area; and  
ii.b)  Brent Valley and Barnet Plateau Green Grid Area.  
 
D. d).  The Watling Chase Forest Plan will be taken into account when assessing development 
proposals in the area covered by Watling Chase Community Forest helping it become a readily 
accessible ‘green lung’ for Barnet’s residents.  
 
e).  In areas that have been assessed by the Barnet Parks and Open Spaces Strategy as being of 
low quality and low value the Council will consider limited development on open spaces. The 
Council will require any proposal that involves the loss of low quality and low value open space to 
robustly demonstrate that the following criteria can be satisfied:   

I. the development proposal is a small scale ancillary use which supports the improved  use of 
the open space; and  

0.09ha per 1000 residents identified 
in the evidence base, applying such 
a standard would overlap with the 
requirement for play space to be 
provided in accordance with London 
Plan Policy S4 (and Policy CDH07 of 
this Plan).  
 
Consequential changes to the 
supporting text to ensure a 
consistent approach includes 
changes to: 
 
para 10.17.4 to refer to the NPPF;  
 
para 10.18.1 to accurately reflect the 
size of the proposed adjustments to 
the Green Belt and Metropolitan 
Open Land;  
 
para 10.19.1 to clarify that the 
intention is for publicly accessible 
open space to be provided at Site 
No. 45 and not Local Green Space 
(as defined in national policy);  
 
para 10.19.7 to set out the Council’s 
aspirations for improvements more 
widely than just for the regional park, 
which is addressed principally by 
Policy GSS13;  
 
para 10.22.1 to highlight that 
accessibility improvements to the 
Welsh Harp Reservoir will need 
appropriate management 
arrangements to ensure its integrity 
as an SSSI is maintained;  
 

397



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

II. that opportunities to improve the quality and value of the existing space have been explored 
and subject to viability assessment; cannot be delivered  to enhance the quality and value 
of the existing space; or  

Equivalent or better quality open space provision will  be delivered. Any permissible exception will 

also need to ensure that it does not create or exacerbate any existing public open space deficiency 

and has no significant impact on biodiversity. 

 
 
10.17 Green Infrastructure 

 

10.17.1 As well as new housing, leisure centres, schools and community buildings, the Council is 

investing in improvements to open spaces and routes connecting them. Green Infrastructure can be 

defined as a strategic network of green spaces places and features that thread through and surround 

urban areas and connect town to country. It comprises of a wide range of valued public and private 

green spaces ‘assets’ including parks, woodland, trees, residential gardens, allotments and waterways. 

Green Infrastructure provides a range of environmental benefits including flood water storage, 

sustainable drainage, urban cooling and access to shady outdoor space while assisting in mitigating and 

adapting to climate change; and can facilitate a natural and healthy environment vital to Barnet’s 

success as a place to live. It also provides habitats for wildlife and, through the creation and 

enhancement of ‘green corridors’, should aid the natural migration of species responding to the 

changing climate.   

  

10.17.4 To determine the open space, sport and recreation provision needed and In ensureing the best 

use of parks and open spaces the Council has produced the following documents:   

• Green Belt and Metropolitan Open Land Study 2018;  

• Playing Pitch Strategy 2017;   

• Tree Policy 2023-28 2017;   

• Green Infrastructure SPD 2017;  

para 10.22.2 to clarify the roles and 
status of the current and proposed 
future SPDs;  
 
revisions to para 10.18.9 to explain 
the Council’s approach in targeting 
areas of open space deficiency and 
clarify the role of Map 7 in that 
regard.  
clarification at para 10.17.5, 
reference to preparation of up-to-
date evidence relating to park and 
open space requirements to inform 
an early review of the Plan. 
 

398



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

• Fit and Active Barnet 2016-2020;  

• Barnet Parks and Open Spaces Strategy 2016 (BPOSS);  

• Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2015-20; and   

• Open Space, Sport and Recreational Facilities Needs Assessment 2009   

  

10.17.5 The NPPF (para 96) states that planning policies should be based on an assessment of the 

need for open space, sports and recreational facilities and opportunities for new provision. BPOSS 

provides the Council with a review of the quality of its parks and suggests a range of opportunities that 

green spaces offer to enhance the quality of life and economic success of the Borough. However, the 

Council recognises the need to now prepare more up to date evidence relating to park and open space 

requirements across the Borough. Work is already underway on a new Barnet Parks and Open Spaces 

Strategy. This refresh of evidence will be used to inform the early review of Barnet’s Local Plan and 

deliver the Council’s commitment as set out at Section 1.7. 

  

10.18 Barnet’s Green Belt and Metropolitan Open Land   

  

10.18.1 Barnet is one of the greenest boroughs in London. Green Belt and MOL covers a third of the 

Borough. MOL is strategic open land within the urban area. The principles of natural national Green Belt 

policy also apply to MOL. In total there are 2,466 2,471 hectares of Green Belt and 690 688 hectares of 

MOL. This designated land makes a major contribution to quality of life in the Borough. This is reflected 

in the findings of Barnet Green Belt Study.    

  

10.1918 Barnet’s Parks and Open Spaces   

  

10.189.1 Barnet has 10 district parks and 77 local parks ranging in size from Hamilton Road Playground 

(0.04 ha) to Monken Hadley Common (41 ha). These are categorised according to the London Plan 

399



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

public open space hierarchy. Changes to The the Policies Map shows Barnet’s parks and public open 

spaces. The Schedule of Proposals in Annex 1 highlights the provision of new publicly accessible Local 

Open Space open space at Whalebones (Site 45) Park which will be designated in accordance with 

NPPF para 99 to help address an existing local deficiency in open space.  

  

10.189.3 The success and value of an open space network is dependent on three principal factors: the 

quantity, quality and accessibility of open spaces. Barnet’s Open Space, Sports and Recreational 

Facilities Needs Assessment 2009 applied these factors to the existing open spaces in the Borough to 

create a standard for Barnet. As highlighted in Chapter 4 Barnet’s Growth Areas as Barnet grows there is 

a need to improve provision and plan for the creation of at least one new district park and 13 new local 

parks by 2040. To achieve this new developments will be expected to deliver adequate levels of open 

space in accordance with the standards below. Where a development is in an area of deficiency for 

publicly accessible open space Nnew open space and improvements to existing open spaces should be 

provided in line with these standards:   

• Children’s play (0.09 hectares per 1,000 residents);  Play and informal recreation: as set out by 
London Plan Policy S4. 

• Parks (1.63 hectares per 1,000 residents); and  

• Natural green spaces (2.05 hectares per 1,000 residents); and   

• Playing pitches (0.75ha per 1000 residents). 

  

10.19.4 BPOSS, in a follow up to the 2009 Assessment, has assessed open spaces around the Borough 

and identified a number of low quality / low value sites where alternative uses may be a more optimal 

use of the land and allow investment in other parks.  

  

10.19.5 Development on open space will only be permitted where it results in no net loss of equivalent 

open space or a better quality of provision. Small scale development on open space identified in BPOSS 

as being of low quality and low value may sometimes be acceptable.  

400



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

  

10.19.6 The release of low quality, low value open space for development must robustly demonstrate 

that the criteria set out in Policy ECC04(e) is satisfied and the requirements of Policy ECC06 – 

Biodiversity are met. Replacement open space should be the same or better quality than that which is 

proposed to be lost and be provided in the local catchment area to ensure that it does not create further 

deficiency in public access to open space.  

  

10.189.7 The All London Green Grid Strategy identifies the potential for a Regional Park within the Brent 

Valley and Barnet Plateau Green Grid Area. The open spaces that can most effectively support a new 

Regional Park lie within designated Green Belt or Metropolitan Open Land, therefore maximising the 

long-term benefit of such areas for residents will be the key test for any proposals.  Such locations may 

need accessibility enhancements to unlock their full potential. The Council will seek improvements to 

individual parks and open spaces; enhancement of footpath, cycling and bridleway networks; improved 

green corridors and nature conservation areas will be supported. Improvements to signage, surfaces, 

lighting and surveillance should all assist in encouraging existing and new residents to make greater use 

of the local spaces in close proximity to where they live. For any new green infrastructure secured 

proposals must also include information detailing proposed future management and maintenance 

arrangements, including a payment programme. This management plan will be secured through 

planning obligation or planning condition as part of any permission.  

 

10.198.7A All developments should also consider how accessibility to open space can be improved 

through pedestrian and cycle links as well as bus routes where practicable. The Dollis Valley Green Walk 

and the Capital Ring are strategic walking routes that cross Barnet.  To support health and wellbeing 

aspirations it is an ambition of the borough and ensure everyone has access to green space, the Council 

will seek to increase the number of local and strategic walking routes as well as continuing to protect and 

enhance the existing public rights of way across the Borough. This is demonstrated reflected in the 

Barnet  Long Term Transport Strategy which introduces the aspiration  aims to create a walking and 

cycling route referred to as the Barnet Loop. 

401



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

    

402



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

Map 7 – Public open space provision and deficienciesy  

 

© London Borough of Barnet, 2019  

403



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
© Crown copyright [and database rights] 2019 OS 100017674 EUL. Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions   
 

10.189.8 Map 7 identifies those areas of the Borough that are deficient in public open space being 

outside the (radii of 1.2km (district parks) and 0.4km (local parks). have a deficiency in both district 

and local parks). Whilst Map 7 shows areas of deficiency wherein open space provision is needed, 

the Council may require open space provision or improvements  elsewhere in the Borough. Areas of 

Map 7 that are not covered by a park or a catchment area are considered to be areas of open space 

deprivation. This type of deprivation is of particular concern in areas of dense urban development as 

these are areas where residents do not have easy access to open space. Where development is 

proposed in areas of open space deprivation the developer should work with the Council to ensure 

the residents will have access to open space whether that is through assisting in new provision, or 

through improving access to and quality of existing open space. New open space and /or financial 

contributions towards improvements of existing open space will be secured through planning 

obligations / legal agreements or utilising the Community Infrastructure Levy Infrastructure Payments 

Policy. 

 

10.1920 Children’s Play Facilities  

  

10.1920.1 There are 50 public parks in Barnet that provide formal play space for children, this equates 

to 0.5m2 of space per child under 15 years. Children should also have access to stimulating play space 

in private residential developments. As detailed in para 6.21.5 and Policy CDH07, cChildren’s play 

spaces should therefore be provided in all new residential development containing flatted schemes 

with the potential occupancy of 10 or more child bed spaces as set out in the Mayor’s SPG Shaping 

Neighbourhoods – Play and Informal Recreation. Residential development will normally be expected to 

make provision on site for play space. However, there may be occasions where it is demonstrated that 

it is not feasible to provide play space as part of the development. In these instances, contributions to 

the provision of new play space, or the improvement to existing play space provision in a near-by 

public open space, might be more appropriate.  

404



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

  

10.2122 Natural and Semi Natural Space  

  

10.212.1 The Borough contains one Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) – the Welsh Harp (Brent 

Reservoir) - into which the River Brent and Silk Stream flow. The Reservoir was created in 1835 as a 

water supply for the canal network and is jointly managed by Barnet and Brent Councils with the Canal 

and River Trust. As the largest expanse of water in Barnet, it provides an important recreational 

resource as well as a valuable wildlife habitat. Access to the Welsh Harp (Brent Reservoir) is being 

improved as part of the regeneration proposals for West Hendon.  Any increased access to the Welsh 

Harp will be managed appropriately in partnership with the community’s Vision for the Harp’ and in 

consultation with Natural England to ensure its integrity as a SSSI is maintained. 

  

10.212.2 The Council seeks to maintain networks of natural habitats by avoiding their fragmentation and 

isolation and will therefore identify ‘missing links’ where enhanced or new measures to support 

biodiversity and nature conservation may be supported as part of proposals. Where no additional open 

space is being created, the Council will ensure that the development is designed in a way to enable it to 

replace and enhance biodiversity, ensuring Biodiversity Net Gain. Barnet’s suite of design guidance 

SPDs Sustainable Design and Development Guidance SPD together with the Green Infrastructure SPD 

will provide further guidance on making provision for biodiversity.   

  

 

10.23 Trees 

10.23.1 Barnet has around 36,000 street trees, the second highest number in London. These trees make 

an important contribution to the character of the Borough and the quality of life of residents as well as 

mitigating climate change. The Mayor of London seeks to utilise Borough Tree Strategies to increase 

tree cover in London, with 2 million additional trees sought by 2025. Barnet’s Tree Policy 2023-28 sets 

out ambitious targets to plant 900 trees annually focussing primarily on improving air quality, reducing 

405



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

the urban heat island effect and enhancing Barnet’s parks highlights that since 2017 the Council has 

planted more than 4,500 trees across the Borough.  Planting locations have focused on targeting areas 

of poor air quality, urban heat island temperatures, avenue and landscape trees within parks, replacing 

street trees and green infrastructure planting. The Council aims to plant 5,000 new trees over the 5 year 

life of the Tree Policy.  

 
MM
69 

Chapter 10  
 
Environment 
and Climate 
Change 
 
Policy ECC05 
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Paras 
10.24.1A to 
10.24.2 & 
10.24.4 

 

Policy ECC05 - Green Belt and Metropolitan Open Land   
a) A. Green Belt   

i. Any proposals for development in Green Belt will be considered in accordance with NPPF 
paras 133 to 147.   

ii. Development adjacent to Green Belt should not have a significant detrimental effect on the 
openness of the Green Belt and respect the character of its surroundings.   

b: B Metropolitan Open Land (MOL)  
i.    In accordance with London Plan Policy G3, Metropolitan Open Land is to be protected from 

inappropriate development in accordance with national planning policy tests that apply to the Green 

Belt.    

 

 
10.245 Green Belt / Metropolitan Open Land (MOL)  

 
10.245.1A Barnet is one of the greenest boroughs in London. Green Belt and MOL covers a third of the 

Borough. MOL is strategic open land within the urban area. The principles of national Green Belt policy 

also apply to MOL. In total there are 2,466 2,471 hectares of Green Belt and 690 688 hectares of MOL. 

This designated land makes a major contribution to quality of life in the Borough. This is reflected in the 

findings of Barnet Green Belt Study.    

Clarification that there is no evidence 
that development outside the Green 
Belt affects its openness in the terms 
of its definition in the NPPF, and it 
conflicts with the Framework’s 
approaches to assessing openness. 
 
  
 

406



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 

10.25.24.1 The Barnet Green Belt and Metropolitan Open Land Study shows that the majority of 

Barnet’s Green Belt performs well and that all existing areas meet one or more of the purposes of Green 

Belt set out in the NPPF. The vast majority of the MOL is considered to be open and maintaining and 

protecting the functions, green links and other features it contains. Although, there are buildings within 

the MOL these support the use of the MOL as open space and do not impact on the openness to such a 

degree to warrant any land being removed from the MOL 

10.245.2 One of the purposes of the Barnet Green Belt Study was to identify mapping irregularities with 

regard to land designated as Green Belt / MOL. This helps create strong defensible boundaries and 

ensures consistency with the NPPF and the London Plan. Minor adjustments have been made to Green 

Belt and MOL boundaries where inconsistencies and errors have been identified. The majority of these 

are mapping errors where the boundary did not match existing property or road boundaries.  These 

adjustments are shown in the Changes to reflected on the Policies Map document.  

 

10.245.4 This aspiration of improvement and accessibility can be achieved through appropriate 
development in Green Belt or MOL (as supported by the NPPF and the London Plan).  Development 
adjacent to areas of Green Belt/MOL needs to comply with Policy ECC05 and should respect the 
character of its surroundings and the visual amenity of these areas. When assessing the likely impact on 
the openness of the Green Belt the Council will have regard to the spatial and visual impact of a 
development, its duration and prospects for remediation as well as the degree of activity such as traffic 
that is likely to be generated.  Where development is proposed adjacent to Green Belt / MOL a design 
led approach, as set out in Policy CDH01 is strongly advocated with a particular focus on landscape and 
local character where necessary. 

407



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM
70 

Chapter 10  
 
Environment 
and Climate 
Change 
 
Policy ECC06 
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Paras 10.25.2 
to 10.25.6, 
10.25.9 to 
10.25.14 & 
Tables 18 & 19 
(as 
renumbered) & 
Glossary 

 

Policy ECC06 - Biodiversity  
  
The Council will seek the retention and enhancement, or the creation, of biodiversity in 
development proposals by:  
  
a) A. protecting existing Site of Special Scientific Interest, Sites of Importance for Nature 
Conservation, and priority habitats and species according to the NERC Natural Environment and 
Rural Communities Act 2006 and working with partners including the London Wildlife Trust and the 
Brent Catchment Partnership to improve protection and enhancement of biodiversity in Barnet;   
b) B. ensuring that having regard to the requirements of local and strategic green infrastructure 
studies as incorporated in the Green Infrastructure SPD, or other relevant local guidance are met;   
c) C. ensuring that contributions are secured towards the projects development adjacent to or 
within areas identified as part of within the All London Green Grid SPG, where relevant, from 
development adjacent to or within the two Green Grid Areas (Brent Valley and Barnet Plateau, and 
Lea Valley and Finchley Ridge);  Framework makes a contribution to the enhancement of the 
Green Grid;  

d) D. ensuring that development makes the fullest contributions to enhancing biodiversity and 
protects existing site ecology. To realise this aim it is expected that an overall net gain at a minimum 
that is in accordance with national policy and legislation is achieved (the provisions of the 
Environment Act 2021 require at least 10% Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) for major development 
from February 2024, with BNG required from small sites from April 2024) the required level of 
biodiversity net gain, stated by regulation, is attained.  This should be achieved both through on-site 
measures and where necessary by contributions to local biodiversity improvements. Developments 
will be expected to comply with the requirements set out in Table 18 unless legislation indicates 
otherwise. Consideration of how this BNG will be achieved should be detailed at the start of the 
development process by providing a Biodiversity Gain Plan as part of the application;  

e) E.  Ensuring developers shall take a holistic approach to delivering BNG, Urban Greening 
Factor, and SuDs within the scheme to maximise opportunities to enhance the multiple benefits 
these requirements deliver for communities and nature. All developments shall comply with the 

Part B revised to clarify that the 
current and proposed future Green 
Infrastructure SPDs constitute 
guidance only.  
 
Part C clarifies that contributions may 
be sought towards the opportunities 
of the Green Grid Areas relevant to 
Barnet in respect of biodiversity.  
 
Part D revised to confirm that, at a 
minimum, biodiversity net gain 
should be provided in accordance 
with national policy, or legislation 
once it takes effect; and that 
compliance with Table is required, 
unless legislation indicates 
otherwise.  
 
Part E clarification that proposals 
meet the Urban Greening Factor 
target scores set out by Policy G5 of 
the London Plan and provide SuDs 
schemes that maximise biodiversity 
benefits.  
 
Revised wording to align with 
para186(a) of the NPPF in respect of 
the approaches to significant harm to 
biodiversity. 
  
Clarification that where necessary 
monitoring of biodiversity net gain 
may need to be secured by planning 
conditions or obligations as 
appropriate 
 
Consequential changes to the 
supporting text to ensure a 
consistent approach. This includes 
changes to: 

408



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

Urban Green Factor target scores set out within London Plan Policy G5. The Council encourages 
placing emphasis on the provision of measures that enhance and support biodiversity, creating 
multiple benefits, including social benefits, and integration into the wider London networks to 
meeting the Urban Greening Factor target scores and SUDs schemes that maximise biodiversity 
benefits delivery; and  

f) F. supporting opportunities that facilitate river restoration and floodplain habitat restoration, in 
particular for the River Brent, Silk Stream and Pymmes Brook (See Policy ECC02).  
 
Where significant harm to biodiversity resulting adverse impacts from a development on biodiversity 
cannot be avoided, measures must be taken to ensure that they are appropriately managed so as 
to reduce and /or  to  adequately mitigate any that harm disturbance to wildlife as appropriate. 
These measures should be included as part of a planning application and a monitoring schedule 
agreed at the time of planning permission. Applications will be refused where adverse impacts 
cannot be avoided, adequately mitigated or as a last resort compensated for. 
  
For major applications S106 planning obligations, Conservation Covenants, or planning conditions 
will where necessary be sought for monitoring of BNG. 

 
 
10.256 Biodiversity 

 

10.256.2 The Welsh Harp (Brent Reservoir) is designated as a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) 

as it is an important refuge and breeding site for waterfowl and other birds. As the largest expanse of 

water in Barnet, it provides a valuable wildlife habitat. The Council supports ‘Vision for the Harp’ and will 

work in partnership to deliver proper protection for the Welsh Harp (Brent Reservoir).  

  

10.256.3 However, this does not imply that the areas of Barnet that have not been recognised for their 

importance to nature have little or no value. The needs of wildlife and the value of natural habitats 

 
update and explain at paras 10.25.9 
and 10.25.10A the likely implications 
of the Environment Act 2021 and 
associated regulations in respect of 
biodiversity net gain and Local 
Nature Recovery Strategies;  
 
clarify at para 10.25.6 the Green Grid 
Areas and opportunities specified in 
Policy ECC06 and signpost to 
relevant parts of the All London 
Green Grid SPG;  
 
clarify the roles and status of the 
current and proposed future Green 
Infrastructure SPD;  
 
deletion of 1st sentence of para 
10.25.12 as it inaccurately 
summarises the requirements of 
Policy CDH08;  
 
Rewording of para 10.25.13 to make 
clear that Sites of Metropolitan 
Importance and Sites of Local 
Importance constitute Sites of 
Importance for Nature Conservation 
(SINCs) to align with para 8.6.1 of 
the London Plan; 
 
Clarification on Green Chains at para 
10.25.6 and how Council intends to 
further identify new corridors. 
  
Clarification on Welsh Harp in terms 
of components of local wildlife rich 
habitats and wider ecological 
networks, in order to accord with 
para 180 of the NPPF. 
  

409



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

vegetation should be considered throughout the planning process. It is particularly important that 

opportunities be taken to preserve, enhance or create areas of natural water and vegetation within 

heavily built-up areas, as these can assist the Borough adapt to a changing climate while providing 

access to access to natural areas for residents. The Council will utilises the Climate Change Adaption 

Manual62 and the Greenspace Information for Greater London (GiGL) database to identify areas of the 

Borough that can have their ecosystem value improved providing climate resilience, habitat 

enhancement and access to nature for residents.  

 

10.256.4 Barnet is fortunate in having space that consists of contiguous private gardens. Suburban 

gardens are considered to be of great value to nature and may even be the most important habitat in a 

neighbourhood. Parts of the Borough that have large and well established gardens with mature trees, 

shrubs, water features and other habitats are particularly important for nature in urban settings, but such 

features can also occur in small gardens, especially where neighbours work together to create or 

maintain links between gardens such as hedgehog highways. New developments should seek to link 

into such networks to ensure that linkages are improved as a result of a site being redeveloped. Local 

Nature Recovery Strategies have been detailed within the Environment Act 2021 and should be used, 

where relevant, to establish priorities and map proposals for specific targets to restore decline in 

biodiversity and provide wider environmental benefits. 

  

10.256.5 The recognised sites of importance to nature Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation 

(SINCs), together with the public parks and suburban gardens of Barnet, provide the Borough with the 

opportunity to create green corridors for wildlife that also function as and ecological networks. Green 

Chains and green corridors are relatively continuous areas, of open space leading through the built 

environment and which may link SINC sites to each other and to the Green Belt. Ooften consisting of 

railway embankments and cuttings, roadside verges, canals, parks, playing fields, residential gardens 

and rivers. Tthey should allow wildlife to move through an area and ensure the habitats do not fragment 

further. The Council shows existing Green Chains on the Policies Map. It will use the Mayor of London’s 

Green Infrastructure maps and tools63 to identify both existing and potential further green corridors 

Table 18 revised to separate the 
requirements for the submission of 
ecological assessments and 
statements regarding biodiversity net 
gain. 
 
Clarification in Table 18 that 
ecological surveys would only be 
required where there may be an 
adverse impact on habitats and 
wildlife and/or it is required by 
legislation or associated regulations. 
First row clarifies that Council’s 
preference is for biodiversity net gain 
to be provided on site, and that 
delivery of such off-site may be 
secured where necessary. The last 
row about biodiversity net gain 
monitoring also updated to reflect the 
changes to the final paragraph of the 
policy. 
 
Clarification on Conservation 
Covenants 
 

410



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

across the Borough in the future. Where development is adjacent to such chains and corridors the 

Council will seek to establish a positive connection with it.  

 

10.256.6 Development proposals should consider any impact on biodiversity. areas designated for 

nature conservation, protected species and habitat/species prevent loss and provide mitigation to these 

areas as well as providing opportunities to create or improve habitat and linkages for wildlife.  

Development should first aim to avoid significant harm to biodiversity. Where such harm cannot be 

avoided then adequate mitigation should be provided, or compensation provided as a last resort, 

planning permission will be refused. Financial contributions to provide mitigation may be secured 

through planning obligations or utilising the Community Infrastructure Levy Infrastructure Payments 

Policy. The Council will also continue to work jointly with partners to deliver the objectives of, and 

projects identified as opportunities within the All London Green Grid (ALGG) SPG relating to the 

Borough. Embedding the ALGG into plans and strategies will give greater opportunity to access funding 

mechanisms for strategic projects in addition to planning obligations and CIL (Chapter 3, ALGG17). 

Barnet’s Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) will be updated regularly to reflect the requirements and 

associated costs to deliver improvements or identified projects. 

 

10.256.9 The Environment Bill Act 2021 will , which is expected to be enacted towards the end of 2021  

requires all qualifying development for which planning permission is granted to provide at least a 10 per 

cent increase on the pre-development biodiversity value of the onsite habitat. This is being referred to 

as Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG). The most up to date version of the Government’s Biodiversity Metric at 

the time of planning application should be used to calculate the 2.0 is the current method for calculating 

BNG in accordance, this may change in the regulations that are intended to accompany with the 

Environment Act when required or other relevant national requirements legalisation,.  

 

10.256.10 The Council will seek the standards as set out in the Act that policy to be met on site.  Where 

this is proven not to be possible there will be a requirement for the proportion not delivered on site to be 

 
17 https://www.london.gov.uk/programmes-and-strategies/environment-and-climate-change/environment-publications/all-london-green-grid 

411



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

provided offsite at a location that benefits the Borough agreed with the Council.  A developer must 

demonstrate consideration of BNG as an integral part of the design of the development, with an 

understanding of their wider ecological context from the outset, rather than as an afterthought. All 

development is required to make a positive contribution to biodiversity in Barnet.  Therefore, a 

Biodiversity Net Gain Plan should be submitted with planning applications to enable them to be 

assessed as part of the planning application process.  The Biodiversity Gain Plan should include how 

the biodiversity will be managed and monitored. 

 

10.256.10A The Council will work with partners within the Borough and across London, including the 

Mayor of London, and relevant authorities in Hertfordshire to develop the Local Nature Recovery 

Strategies (LNRSs) and the associated Nature Recovery Network (NRN). When required by the 

Environment Act 2021, these will assist in making Barnet a wildlife rich place which will benefit people 

and wildlife. Relevant details of this work can then be provided in the Green Infrastructure SPD and 

other relevant Council documents. 

  

10.256.11 The London Plan has introduced the Urban Greening Factor as a generic model to determine 

the appropriate provision of urban greening in new major developments. Further details are set out in 

London Plan Policy G5 and associated guidance18.  It is expected that developers will combine the 

requirements of the Urban Greening Factor with the BNG.  For instance, if planting is to be provided for 

the Urban Greening Factor, that it will be of benefit to local wildlife and not simply ornamental.  

  

10.256.12 Policy CDH08 states that development proposals should retain existing wildlife habitat and 

trees for amenity and biodiversity, where appropriate a survey will be required to determine the 

significance of that interest.  Table 21 18 provides requirements for biodiversity and habitat quality while 

and the Green Infrastructure SPD provides more detail guidance for design and construction principles 

for the protection and enhancement of biodiversity and habitats within Barnet.   

 
18 Urban Greening Factor LPG 

412



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
Table 21 18  Biodiversity and habitat quality requirements   
 

 Development  
Scale   
  

All development proposal should provide as part of a submission a baseline ecological 
assessment and clearly demonstrate BNG based on this assessment. The scale of 
development will determine the level of detail required. This statement should demonstrate 
how protection of biodiversity and habitat quality will be achieved and provide the level (%) 
of BNG improvement that will be achieved onsite as well as recommendations on where 
enhancements to biodiversity can be made onsite.  
Development proposals where required by legislation or associated regulations should 
provide a Biodiversity Net Gain assessment using the latest Defra Metric where applicable. 
All applicable developments must seek to deliver the minimum BNG in accordance with 
national policy and legislation (the provisions of the Environment Act 2021 once enacted 
require at least 10% BNG for major development from February 2024, with BNG required 
from small sites from April 2024, and any approved BNG would be evidenced by means of 
a Biodiversity Gain Plan submitted as a post-permission document for the approval by the 
planning authority).This statement should demonstrate how protection of biodiversity and 
habitat quality will be achieved and provide the level (%) of BNG improvement that will be 
achieved onsite as well as recommendations on where enhancements to biodiversity can 
be made onsite.  
The Council’s preference is for Biodiversity Net Gain to be provided on site. Where a 
development is unable to achieve the appropriate level of BNG an offsite contribution 
equivalent to the deficit percentage will be agreed with the Council.  
 

 

All  

Where a development proposal would be likely to result in harm to a protected species or 
its habitat, an ecological survey and details of any necessary mitigation must be provided 
to the Council as part of the application process. 

All 

413



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
 
10.25.13 Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINCs) Nature conservation sites are identified 

in a hierarchy of importance with the level of protection commensurate with their status and the 

contribution they make to wider ecological networks. and Table 22 19 identifies the sites designated in 

Barnet as:  

  

1. Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) are of national importance;  

2. Sites of Metropolitan Importance are strategically important conservation sites for  of London-

wide significance;  

3. Borough Grade Sites of Borough Importance for Nature Conservation (SINCs) are sites which 

support habitats or species of value at the borough level significant in a Barnet-wide context 

(albeit that they are sub-divided, on the basis of their quality, into two grades); and  

4. Sites of Local Importance are sites which are important for the provision of access to nature at 

the neighbourhood level. of particular value to nearby local residents and schools because they 

are designated in areas deficient in wildlife sites.  

  

Where necessary S106 planning obligations, Conservation Covenant or planning 
conditions will be sought for delivery and/or monitoring of BNG for developments major 
and above.  Minor and householder developments will have BNG managed through 
conditions. 

Major, Large Scale  

414



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

10.26.14 Barnet’s rivers have been significantly altered from their natural state. The Council will pursue 

opportunities to enhance the biodiversity, water quality and amenity value of Barnet’s waterways, in 

particular the River Brent, Silk Stream, Dollis Brook and Pymmes Brook. Opportunities for restoration 

including opening culverts and naturalising river channels will be explored.  These rivers, streams and 

brooks function as Blue Corridors and are important within the borough affording vital habitat for wildlife 

and providing recreational benefits for people. 

 
GLOSSARY 

Conservation Covenants  - A private, voluntary agreement to conserve the natural or heritage features of the 
land. The parts of a conservation covenant agreement which set out what a landowner and “responsible body” 
must or must not do to help conserve the land become legally binding as a conservation covenant (CC). In the 
context of Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) those who agree to the terms of the CC must undertake all necessary 
actions are legally and financially bound to ensure that any habitats secured through BNG must be created, 
managed and monitored to ensure Net Gain is achieved in a manner which could not otherwise be secured on the 
development site through planning conditions or legal agreement. 

 

 

 

Table 22 19 Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation in Barnet 

 
 

Sites of Special Scientific Interest     

 •  Welsh Harp (Brent Reservoir)      

 Sites of Metropolitan Importance    

415



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

• Hampstead Heath  
• Hadley Green   
• Edgware Way Rough  
• Rowley Green Common (Local  

                           Nature Reserve)  

 • Mill Hill Substation Pastures  
• Totteridge Fields and Highwood Hill 

    
• Scratchwood (Local Nature Reserve)  
• Arrandene Open Space & Feather  stone Hill  

Sites of Borough Importance-Grade I    

• Coppett’s Wood and Scrubland  
               (Local Nature Reserve)   

• Glebe Lane Pastures  
• The Folly Brook and Darlands Lake (Nature 

Reserve)  
• Glebelands (Local Nature Reserve)  
• Monken Hadley Common    
• The Upper Dollis Brook    

• Oak Hill Woods (Local Nature Reserve)    
• Totteridge Croft Field (or Dell’s Down 

Acre)  
• Big Wood and Little Wood (Local Nature 

Reserve)    
• Mill Hill Golf Course  

Sites of Borough Importance- Grade II    

• Sulloniacis Pastures    
• Edgwarebury Brook  
• Deans Brook    
• Mill Hill Old Railway (Nature Reserve)  
• The Silk Stream and Burnt Oak Brook   
• Moat Mount (Local Nature Reserve) and Mote End 

Farm  
• Bruno’s Field    
• Totteridge Common    
• The Mill Field  
• Copthall Railway Walk and Copthall Old Common 

   
• Drivers Hill  
• Burtonhole Lane and Pasture  

    
• Ashley Lane  
• King George’s Field    
• Totteridge Green  
• Northern Line Railway Embankment, High 

Barnet    
• Lower Dollis Brook  
• St Pancras and Islington Cemetery 

  
• North Middlesex Golf Course Ponds  
• New Southgate Cemetery   
• Pymme’s Brook  
• Rowley Lodge Field    
• Arkley Lane and Pastures  
• Arkley South Fields    
• Turners Wood  

 

416



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

Sites of Local Importance    

• Clay Lane    
• Grahame Park  
• Sunny Hill Park  
• Barnet Countryside Centre  
• Bell’s Hill Burial Ground  
• Clitterhouse Playing Fields  
• Avenue House Grounds   
• East Finchley Cemetery  
• The Mutton Brook    
• Greenhill Gardens  
• Friary Park    

 • Oakleigh Park Rail Cutting  
• Cherry Tree Wood   
• College Farm  
• Prince’s Park    
• Lakeside Nature Reserv   
• Hendon Park & Northern Line Rail 

Cutting  
• Edgwarebury Park    
• Woodridge School Nature Reserve  
• Barfields Allotments Nature Park 
• Belmont Open Space, Cockfosters  
• Copthall South Fields  

 

417



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM
71 

Chapter 11  
 
Policy TRC01   
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Section 11.1,  
Paras  11.2.4, 
11.4.1 to 
11.4.4, 11.6.1, 
11.6.2, 
11.6.2a, 
11.6.4, 11.7.1, 
11.7.3, 11.7.6 
& 11.8.1 
 

Policy TRC01 – Sustainable and Active Travel 
 
The Council will work to deliver a more sustainable transport network that supports a growing healthy 
population and prosperous economy by reducing car dependency, encouraging sustainable modes of 
transport, and improving air quality and encouraging active travel as the mode with the least 
environmental impact and health benefits for residents. The Council also recognises that active travel 
benefits the health of residents while having the lowest environmental impacts. In particular  
Tthe Council will : 
 
A.  a) Promote and enable active travel requiring developments to address the needs of cyclists and 
pedestrians by ensuring : 

a. i.   Good connections to bus stops, stations; and strategic and local walking and cycling 
networks;  

b. ii.   A healthy, safe and attractive walking and cycling environment within, through and in the 
immediate vicinity of around the development that will assist in achieving Vision Zero; and 

c. iii. Seeking Opportunities opportunities for improvements to the wider walking and cycling 
environment are sought and implemented. 

 
B. Ensure that improvements to the transport network to improve active travel and sustainability are 
brought forward by requiring development proposals to: 
 

a) i. Supporting the delivery of new transport infrastructure identified in Policy TRC02 and the 

BLLTS   and any other transport infrastructure necessary to deliver and mitigate the impacts 

caused by the development, and not compromise delivery of transport infrastructure 

elsewhere; 

b) ii. Ensure that impacts on highway safety and the road network would be satisfactory. The 

Council will refuse Refuse proposals that have an negative unacceptable impact on highway 

safety, or on where the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe that 

cannot be appropriately mitigated;  

Clarification on time frame of LTTS 
 
Revision to opening sentence to 
clarify the application of policy 
criteria.  
 
Revision to Part B, deleting reference 
to the ‘BLLTS’ so it refers to Policy 
TRC02 only. Clarification that 
proposals will be required to 
demonstrate that adequate provision 
is made for necessary transport 
infrastructure, and that development 
should not compromise the 
implementation of necessary 
transport infrastructure projects.  
 
Rewording of Part B to align with 
NPPF para 115 in respect of highway 
safety and road network impacts.  
 
Rewording of Part B to make clear 
that orbital connectivity and public 
transport enhancements are sought. 
 
Restructure of Part D to clearly set 
out requirements for all development 
(including non-major schemes) to 
provide travel plans and transport 
assessments/statements where 
significant amounts of movement 
would be generated, to accord with 
NPPF para 117 
 
Revision to Part E to provide 
flexibility so that the documents 
referred to are not required in cases 
where there would clearly be no 
construction vehicle or servicing or 
delivery issues.  
 

418



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

c) iii. Support the Healthy Streets Approach, improving street lighting, security coverage and 

accessibility along new walking and cycling routes, transport interchanges and around bus 

stops as well as delivering, where resources permit and in appropriate locations, targeted local 

safety schemes; and 

d) iv. Where necessary, contribute to Promote orbital travel connectivity and public transport 

enhancements improvements where appropriate. 

 
C. Secure, where transport improvements or remedial actions are identified as required through 
consideration of a planning application, through planning obligation or agreements under section 278 
(Highways Act 1980) in accordance with Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy 
Regulations 2010 and /or any equivalent legislation and regulations.   
 
D. Require for For all major development proposals identified as generating significant amounts of 
movement, to provide Council will require: 
 

a) i. A Transport Statement or Transport Assessment setting out how the proposal mitigates any 

negative impact on the existing transport network and incorporates sustainable transport 

initiatives for cycling, walking, car clubs and electric vehicle charging; 

b) ii. A Travel Plan setting out details on how the proposal minimises any increase in road traffic 

and how future occupants will be encouraged to use more sustainable and active modes of 

transport and demonstrate how the development will contribute to Barnet meeting its 72% 

target for sustainable modes by 2041 as set out in the Mayor’s Transport Strategy and the 

BLTTS; and  

iii 

E. Require Construction Traffic Management Plans (CTMP) / Construction Logistics Plans and 

Delivery and Servicing Plans to control vehicle movements, servicing and delivery arrangements 

Clarification on how transport 
improvements / remedial actions 
secured 
 
Text updated with references to 
proposed SPDs, and cross reference 
at para 11.7.4 to Vision Zero (as 
described in London Plan para 
10.2.8) 
 
Clarification at para 11.7.6 that 
mitigation of highway safety and road 
network impacts may be sought 
through planning condition, 
obligations or agreements under 
Section 278 of the Highways Act 
1980.  
 
Revisions at paras 11.4.2, 11.4.3, 
11.4.4 and 11.7.3 to reflect the status 
of works to Colindale Station, the 
WLO, Crossrail 2 and the ULEZ.  
 
Revisions to paras 11.6.4 and 11.7.1 
to accurately reflect requirements of 
policies GSS13, ECC04 and 
CHW02. 
 
Clarification on support for strategic 
walking network. 
 
Updates to London Plan Guidance 

419



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

where appropriate to ensure that impacts from the construction phase of the development and 

delivery and servicing arrangements are well managed and any disturbance is sufficiently mitigated. 

 
11.1 National and London Plan Policy Context 
Specific National and London Plan Policies to be taken into account: 
 
NPPF 
Section 9 Promoting sustainable transport specifically paras 102, 103, 104, 105, 106, 107, 108, 109, 
110, 111. 
Section 10 Supporting high quality communications specifically paras 112, 113, 115, 116. 
 
London Plan 
Good Growth Objective Policy GG3 Creating a healthy city 
Policy D13 Agent of change 
Policy SI6 Digital connectivity infrastructure 
Policy T1 Strategic approach to transport 
Policy T2 Healthy streets 
Policy T3 Transport capacity, connectivity, and safeguarding 
Policy T4 Assessing and mitigating transport impacts 
Policy T5 Cycling 
Policy T6 Car parking 
Policy T6.1 Residential parking 
Policy T6.2 Office parking 
Policy T6.3 Retail parking 
Policy T6.4 Hotel and leisure uses parking 
Policy T6.5 Non-residential disabled persons parking 
Policy T7 Deliveries, servicing and construction 
Policy T8 Aviation 

420



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

Policy T9 Funding transport infrastructure through planning 
Mayor of London’s Sustainable Transport, Walking and Cycling LPG 
 

 

11.2 Introduction 

 

11.2.4 A key objective of Barnet’s Long-term Transport Strategy 2020 -2041 is that  

“Transport in Barnet keeps the borough moving, enabling people and goods to move within and beyond 

the borough efficiently using high quality orbital and radial links.”  The ability of people and goods to 

move around the Borough is vital for its the continued social and economic wellbeing of the Borough.  

Environmental wellbeing will also be achieved through less congestion and the promotion of modal shifts 

in transport, for instance from private vehicles to more sustainable forms of transport 

 

11.4 Proposed Changes to the Public Transport Network 

 

11.4.1 In Growth Opportunity Areas such as Brent Cross and Colindale and around development 

opportunities presented by public transport nodes such as Finchley Central and Edgware the Council is 

seeking to deliver improved public transport services and facilities. Improved bus provision (in terms of 

configuration as well as capacity) will play a key role in meeting the transport needs of residents. New 

and extended bus services are being pursued through the Brent Cross and Colindale regeneration 

schemes, including better links between the two areas. This is additional to the new station at Brent 

Cross West being promoted and delivered by the Council. 

421



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 

11.4.2 Plans are currently being prepared by TfL to replace the existing Colindale Station with a new 

station to meet the needs of the growing population as well as provide step-free access. The 

Government in 2023 announced Levelling Up funding for the redevelopment of the existing Colindale 

Underground station. Funding is also being provided for the The new station is being funded by 

contributions from the Peel Centre development as well as from the Council and TfL. The 

redevelopment, which is being taken forward in partnership with TfL, will increase station capacity to 

meet the needs of the growing population, create step-free access and support sustainable transport 

choices.  

 

11.4.3 West London Orbital (WLO) is a new London Overground line that will use existing track 

(formerly known as including the currently freight-only Dudding Hill Line) to connecting Hounslow with 

Cricklewood and with the new station at Brent Cross West and Hendon via the Great West Corridor at 

Brentford, Old Oak, Neasden and the new station at Brent Cross West.  The WLO is supported by the 

Mayor’s 2018 Transport Strategy and the London Plan as well as the West London Alliance (WLA) group 

of Local Authorities. The Council is fully supportive of this initiative and is working with the Mayor of 

London, Network Rail and other partners. It has ensured passive provision has been made to ensure 

that the new station at Brent Cross West is capable of accommodating the necessary interchanges.  

 

11.4.4 Crossrail 2 is a proposed new railway line serving London and the South East, linking Surrey to 

Hertfordshire via Central London destinations. A new Crossrail 2 station remains proposed at New 

Southgate and will be located at the end of the New Southgate branch. Crossrail 2 train infrastructure 

maintenance depot and stabling is are planned to be located on Oakleigh Road South and a tunnel 

portal to the south of the station. The land at Oakleigh Road South, (currently identified as a Locally 

Significant Industrial Site (LSIS) remains  safeguarded for Crossrail 2 and this safeguarding is reflected 

in the Local Plan Policies Map (see the Changes to the Policies Map document).  New Southgate Station 

422



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

is on the boundary with LB Enfield and as such the boroughs will work together to ensure the station 

upgrade and subsequent regeneration of the area as an Opportunity Area (as identified in the London 

Plan) is coordinated and benefits both existing and new residents. 

 

11.6 Walking and Cycling in Barnet 

 

11.6.2 Walking is an important mode of travel for short journeys (31% of all tripsxxi), and Barnet’s network 

of town centres makes walking a convenient way for many residents to access services in the Borough.  

The Council will ensure, wherever possible, that consideration is given to improving or extending the 

existing strategic walking network from all development proposals within the Borough. Proposals, 

wherever this may be a relevant factor, should ensure that rights of way (including footpaths) in, on and 

around proposed development sites are maintained in order to promote and achieve sustainable and 

active travel in accordance with Policy TRC01. 

 

11.6.2A Cycling is becoming has become a an more important transport mode in Barnet. Low take-up 

(1% of all trips ibid) has historically been associated with the topography of Barnet and its rolling 

landscape of valleys and ridges. The advent of Electrical electrical cycles (or e-cycling) have helped 

encourage may assist in encouraging residents to take up cycling as these require less physical effort 

from the cyclist. The Sub Regional Transport Plan for London 2016 update reports that there has been a 

growth in cycle trips in Barnet.  The Barnet LIP strongly supports the delivery of attractive and accessible 

cycle links especially in development areas, as does the BLTTS.  The BLTTS identifies the provision of 

safe routes and cycle parking as being vital to increase the number of cycle journeys in the Borough.    

 

423



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

11.6.4 Policy ECC04 sets out how the Council is managing and enhancing open spaces, including 

Green Belt and Metropolitan Open Land to provide improved accessibility. Chapter 10 – Environment 

and Climate Change encourages the improvement and extension of existing off road recreational routes 

through green spaces and Policy GSS13 highlights how the Council supports the creation of a new 

Regional Park in the Brent Valley and Barnet Plateau Green Grid Area and refers to work to develop 

Area Frameworks as part of the All London Green Grid Strategy. This work will incorporate proposals for 

the improvement of the existing strategic walks and other links including cycling routes.  

 

11.7 Promoting Active Travel and Improving Health 

 

11.7.1 Active travel through walking and cycling can play an important part in increasing levels of activity 

to address poor health. The Council also recognises that active travel benefits the health of residents 

while having the lowest environmental impacts.  Policy CHW02 sets out how the Council will support the 

health and wellbeing of residents work with partners on locating health services where access can be 

improved, particularly for those vulnerable groups with physical or sensory impairment. Good quality 

walking surfaces and off-road cycle routes can assist in making walking or cycling a more feasible option 

for some people, including children on their way to and from school.  

 

11.7.3 The Mayor’s Transport Strategy was revised in 2022 to refer to the contribution that road user 

charging could make to address the challenges of air pollution, carbon emissions and congestion – 

including Londonwide expansion of the Ultra-Low Emission Zone. discusses the benefits of utilising 

incentives (such as road charges) to encourage people to make the modal shift in the area identified by 

the Ultra Low Emission Zone (ULEZ) to improve air quality.  From The part of the Borough October 

2021, land south of (but not including) the North Circular (A406) has been will be includedxxii. in the 

ULEZ zone since October 2021. In August 2023 this was extended by the Mayor to cover most of the 

424



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

roads in the Borough (and all London boroughs).  and Any any petrol or diesel vehicle driven within this 

enlarged the ULEZ area will also needs to meet new tighter emissions standards or pay a daily charge. 

 

11.7.4 Accident rates in Barnet have fallen dramatically since 2000 (98 people were killed or seriously 

injured in road traffic accidents in the Borough in 2014 compared with 261 in 2000xxiii) but the rate of 

decline has now slowed. remain high in comparison to the London average19 As set out in the LIP, 

Barnet will seek to achieve the Mayor’s Vision Zero ambition  (as set out at London Plan (para 10.2.8)) 

of zero killed or seriously injured road traffic casualties by 2041. 

 

11.7.6 Transport modelling and assessments of proposed developments should therefore demonstrate 

that there will be no negative is not an unacceptable impact on to the highway safety or severe residual 

cumulative impacts (in terms of highway/traffic management, safety or otherwise) on the functioning of 

the road network as a result of the proposal.  Where negative such impacts are identified remedial 

actions would need to be identified and agreed by the relevant agencies in order to make to 

development acceptable. These would be secured through planning obligations or agreements under 

section 278 (Highways Act 1980) in accordance with Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure 

Levy Regulations 2010.   

 

11.8 More Environmentally Friendly Transport Networks 

 

11.8.3 In Barnet the issue of climate change and the contribution of traffic to it, will be mitigated through 

support for mixed use developments, particularly in Barnet’s Growth Areas and by comprehensively 

tackling the school run, ensuring that school travel plans include ambitious targets for walking and 

cycling. Within the forthcoming Sustainable Design and Construction In Barnet’s suite of design 

425



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
19 Number of killed or seriously injured road casualties (3-year average) in Barnet, Department of Transport 2023. 
 

426



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

guidance SPDs the Council will sets out generic design and construction principles to reduce the 

contribution of travel to Barnet’s carbon footprint. The Council is exploring alternatives to private vehicles 

such as car clubs and bike hire to encourage modal shifts. 

 

11.8.4 Travel planning associated with major developments also has a role to play in encouraging use of 
more sustainable transport modes. In assessing and mitigating transport impacts, regard should be 
made to London Plan Policy T4. Detailed travel plans for all proposed uses should be submitted with an 
application. At Brent Cross for example, the developers have submitted a framework travel plan for all 
land uses as part of the outline application. The Council requires contributions for monitoring to ensure 
that travel plans are implemented, and outcomes achieved. 
 

427



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM
72 

Chapter 11  
 
Policy TRC02  
and 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Paras 11.10.2, 
11.10.3, 
11.11.1, 
11.11.4, 
11.11.6, 
11.11.6A & 
11.11.7 

Policy TRC02 – Transport Infrastructure  

The Council will promote delivery of new transport infrastructure to support the travel needs of a growing 

population. It will provide a range of alternative travel modes and facilitate growth. as set out at Policy 

GSS09 and Policy GSS11. 

A.  a) The Council will in particular facilitate contributions from development to and support the delivery 

of key new transport infrastructure, including (but not restricted to): 

i. a) A new rail station at Brent Cross West and public transport interchange; 

 

        ii. b)  A replacement or remodelled and improved bus station at Brent Cross North Shopping 

Centre; 

        iii.  c) An upgraded and enlarged Colindale new Underground underground station and enhanced 

public transport interchange at  Colindale.  

        iv.  d) A new London Overground passenger rail line - the West London Orbital Line together with 

upgrades to existing stations (Cricklewood and Hendon and new station at Brent Cross West) on 

the line; 

        v.  e) Crossrail 2 at New Southgate, including safeguarding for the railway and for worksites at 

Oakleigh Road South as shown on the Local Plan Policies Map; 

        vi.  f) New bus stopping and standing arrangements in North Finchley to allow for redevelopment of 

the bus station for commercial uses; 

        vii  g) Interchange improvements at Edgware. Bus operations and the function of the bus station 

and the garage must be protected or re-provided as part of any redevelopment. London 

Underground infrastructure and operations must also be maintained 

Delete reference to policies GSS09 
and GSS11 as the transport 
infrastructure referred to within Policy 
TRC02 has wider application than for 
land relevant to those policies. 
Clarification at Part A that Council 
will facilitate and support 
contributions to delivery of the 
specified transport infrastructure.  
 
Clarification at Part A that the Brent 
Cross North bus station may be 
replaced, remodelled or improved.  
 
Update to Part A to reflect the current 
status of Colindale Station and the 
WLO. Clarification that land at 
Oakleigh Road South is safeguarded 
for Crossrail 2. Revision to be 
consistent with  requirements of 
Policy GSS05.  
 
Addition of Part C to clarify that 
Council will work with TfL and 
Network Rail to bring forward 
capacity improvements identified in 
the STA 
 
Addition of Part D to clarify the role of 
IDP in relation to transport 
infrastructure monitoring.  
 
Revision to para 11.11.1A to align 
with requirements of Policy TRC01 
 
Explanation at para 11.11.6A on 
roles of and signpost to the relevant 
elements of the Long Term Transport 
Strategy 2020-2041, Strategic 
Transport Assessment, and IDP 

428



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

        viii Feasibility of other public transport improvement projects will be explored as appropriate, 

including the protection and enhancement of existing public transport operational facilities and where 

necessary for the provision of new facilities.  

 

B. The Council’s has an adopted Long Term Transport Strategy (BLTTS) (2020-2041) identifies 

additional boroughwide improvements necessary to support growth. The Council It will work with 

National Highways England, TFL, Network Rail and others to deliver schemes and boroughwide 

improvements identified within the BLTTS BLLTS document.  In progressing schemes and 

improvements particular the Council will : 

 

            i.  a) The Council will seek to work with TFL and others to increase rail capacity in Barnet and to 

improve all London Underground, Thameslink and Great Northern Rail stations in Barnet, especially 

where these have potential to deliver Step Free access for passengers;    

            ii. b)  To work with TfL and neighbouring boroughs to review and improve the  bus network and 

overall public transport provision, including seeking to develop proposals to improve orbital transport 

provision within the Borough; 

            iii  c) To deliver and promote infrastructure for electric or other ultra-low  emission vehicles; and 

 iv   d) work with TFL to identify and protect land for enhancing rail capacity,  including for the 

stabling of trains and sidings; and. 

           v    e) identify and deliver projects that enhance the pedestrian and cycling network in Barnet, 

such as the Barnet Loop. 

 

insofar as these relate to the 
requirements of Policy TRC02 
Deletion of para 11.10.2 as it is 
inconsistent with Policy TRC01(c)(iii) 
as modified. 
 
Clarifications on Building Regulations 
Part S requirements. 

429



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

C. The Council will work with key partners to bring forward capacity improvements, identified as required 

in the Strategic Transport Assessment and in particular TfL and Network Rail, to address cumulative 

impacts of growth at underground and rail stations, TfL to secure improvements to bus services and 

TfL/National Highways for those to the road network; 

 

D. Transport infrastructure improvements are included in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP). The 

Council will have regard to the IDP when assessing planning applications, securing planning obligations 

/ legal agreements as necessary and taking decisions on applying CIL. 

 

E.) The feasibility of other public transport improvement projects will be explored, and where appropriate   

existing public transport operational facilities protected and enhanced and provision of new facilities 

supported. 

 
 
11.10 Ensuring Efficient Use of the Local Road Network 

11.10.2 Construction maintenance and utility work can have a serious impact on the transport network. 

Therefore, the Council will require submission and approval of Construction Traffic Management Plan 

(CTMP) / Construction Logistics Plan (CLP) before works are carried out. 

 

11.10.3 The Council will work with TfL on improving the local bus network, with the aim of more closely 

and efficiently matching demand and capacity and improving public transport accessibility overall. The 

Council will also seek a review of how the night tube and the local night time economy has impacted on 

the night bus network and to provide appropriate facilities for coaches, private hire vehicles and taxis. 

The improvement of orbital connectivity through improvement and extension of bus services within 

430



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

Barnet is vital to ensuring genuine and effective alternatives to  private vehicle use.  In instances where 

orbital connectivity is considered to be inadequate, the Council will support developer contributions in 

order to improve orbital public transport services.   

11.11 Delivery of High Quality Transport Systems in Growth Areas 

 

11.11.1 Major growth across Barnet provides opportunities to deliver high quality transport 

improvements in a planned and structured manner, and closely co-ordinated with other transport 

authorities, including adjacent boroughs. The Council’s transport objectives and requirements relating to 

highway and road network impacts are set out in Policy TRC01. Barnet’s Growth Areas are supported by 

a range of planning documents including area action plans, development frameworks, transport 

assessments/ statements, Travel Plans, negotiated planning (S106) and highway agreements (S278), 

planning conditions and delivery plans.   These tools enable developments to be appropriately phased 

and aligned with investment to deliver proposed improvements to transport and the public realm.  

Outside these areas the Council requires Transport Assessments / Statements and Travel Plans as set 

out in Policy TRC01. 

  

11.11.4 The Brent Cross Growth Area will benefit from new and enhanced bus services, including better 

bus links between Brent Cross, Colindale and neighbouring boroughs. The BLLTS BLTTS contains an 

action to link West London Orbital, both branches of the Northern Line, Great Northern, Piccadilly, 

Jubilee and potential Crossrail 2 lines (existing National Rail lines) with rapid and orbital bus routes. In 

addition there will be improvements at the existing Brent Cross and Cricklewood rail stations and a new 

station at Brent Cross West where many passengers are expected to reverse commute and arrive in the 

‘contra-peak’ direction, from Central London in the morning, helping to utilise spare rail capacity. A 

replacement bus station has been approved as part of the 2014 Section 73 planning permission. 

However, if that were not to come forward as approved, a remodelled and improved bus station would 

otherwise be supported at Brent Cross North. The new bus station at Brent Cross will replace the 

431



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

existing Brent Cross Shopping Centre bus station and although it is not within the Brent Cross scheme, it 

will provide benefits to the area and the wider bus network. 

 

11.11.6 These approaches set the basis for the preparation of detailed transport mitigation and 

improvements likely to be required in association with future redevelopment proposals within town 

centres. These proposals should be informed by the outputs of an area wide transport model. These will 

be delivered through Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL), S106 planning obligations and other 

contributions from development. 

 

11.11.6A The Local Plan is supported by a Strategic Transport Assessment (STA). The STA assessed 
the cumulative impact of growth and development as set out in the Local Plan, including those impacts 
relating to the highway network (strategic and non-strategic) and public transport (bus and rail). The 
Barnet Long Term Transport Strategy (BLTTS) articulates the vision for transport in Barnet to 2041. It 
sets out proposals to achieve the vision supported by high level actions, with associated timescales and 
delivery plans. Section 3 of the BLTTS focuses on 2041 looking at predicted changes in how people use 
transport networks, understanding changes in journey time and journey purpose together with the mode 
of transport that people will have available to them in future. Policy TRC02 sets out a range of transport 
infrastructure that the Council has identified as required to support growth. Policy TRC02A sets out the 
specific large-scale interventions that are required in the Growth Areas or which are significant transport 
infrastructure projects in their own right and relate closely to policies GSS09 and GSS11. The items 
listed under TRC02B are more general improvements of boroughwide importance that have been 
identified as being required in the BLTTS . Items under TRC02C are capacity improvements at 
Underground and rail stations identified as required in the STA to support cumulative impacts of growth 
The Council will work with its partners to bring forward the improvements. It is likely that the items in 
TRC02B will be brought forward incrementally over time and will be led by the Council. Items in TRC02A 
are substantial transport infrastructure projects that will require significant external funding. The Council 
will use its powers and influence to support and bring forward these projects but their realisation will 
depend to a large extent on other bodies including Government. The improvements identified within the 

432



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

STA (pages 14 and 16) and the BLTTS (Section 3) will inform updates to the Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
which is a living document which the Council uses to monitor the infrastructure required to support 
growth and inform expenditure of Community Infrastructure Levy, planning obligations and other funding. 
 
11.11.7 To help keep Barnet moving whilst minimising carbon emissions the Council will encourage 

greater numbers of electric vehicles. Charging points for electric vehicles should be provided in 

accordance with Policy TRC03.  New development is required to provide a proportion of the car parking 

spaces in the development with charging points for electric vehicles in accordance with London Plan 

Policy T6, with at least 20 per cent of spaces for new residential development having active charging 

facilities, and passive provision for all remaining spaces, i.e. the infrastructure should be in place to 

ensure they can be made into active spaces in the future. All car club parking spaces should be supplied 

with an active charging point for electric vehicles. Charging facilities are now also available from some 

on street car parking spaces and car parks. For more detail on electric car charging points see 

https://tfl.gov.uk/modes/driving/electric-vehicles-and-rapid-charging or Electric vehicles in Barnet | Barnet 

Council. 

 
 

MM
73 

Chapter 11  
 
Transport and 
Communicatio
ns 
 
Policy TRC03 
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Paras 11.12.1 
to 11.12.10 & 
Table 20 (as 
renumbered) 

 

Policy TRC03 – Parking Management 

The Council will expect development to provide limit car and motorcycle parking in accordance with the 

London Plan standards (Policy T6. Car Parking and Policies T6.2-T6.5.), except in the case of residential 

development (Policy T6.1).     

  

A.     a) The Council will expect residential development to provide parking in accordance with Table 23 

20. Parking permits may be issued for development in Controlled Parking Zones (CPZs) in line with the 

Clarification that parking should be 
limited in accordance with London 
Plan standards.  
 
Explanation that parking permits may 
be issued for development in CPZs 
in line with maximum provision level 
permissible for schemes by Table 20 
(as re-numbered to reflect previous 
MMs), taking account of any on-site 
provision and subject to any capacity 
for additional on-street parking.  
 
Clarification at Part B that where new 
CPZs or alterations to existing CPZs 
are deemed necessary to make 

433

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Ftfl.gov.uk%2Fmodes%2Fdriving%2Felectric-vehicles-and-rapid-charging&data=05%7C02%7Cnick.lynch%40barnet.gov.uk%7Cd4e6f2f192dc48159b4c08dc39fc3a24%7C1ba468b914144675be4f53c478ad47bb%7C0%7C0%7C638449002664285352%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=ctELVbIpdqXSJONi3am%2BGYMP1mE3ODreNa9UbyH9jWE%3D&reserved=0
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/roads-and-pavements/electric-vehicles-barnet
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/roads-and-pavements/electric-vehicles-barnet


Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

maximum permission level that would be permissible for schemes as set out in Table 23 20, taking 

account of any on-site provision and subject to any capacity for additional on-street parking. 

 

  B.     b) Where development is proposed, and it is deemed a new or amended CPZ is necessary, the 

then it should be in place within the surrounding area of the development before occupation. A developer 

may be required to make a contribution towards the implementation or alteration and monitoring of the 

CPZ will be agreed as part of the planning permission. 

   

C.      c) In car free development, where no parking would be provided within a development site, 

Rresidential parking permits will only be available to Blue Badge holders in car free developments. 

Disabled Persons parking should be provided in accordance with London Plan Policies T6.1 and T6.5.  

  

D.      d) Where development proposals involve a reduction of existing off-street car parking spaces, the 

developer must demonstrate that sufficient parking will remain in the area to serve local needs. Where 

sites are redeveloped, parking provision should reflect the standards in Table 20 for residential 

development and the London Plan standards for non-residential development, and not be re-provided at 

previous levels where this exceeds the standards.  

 

E.      e) Cycle parking is to be delivered in accordance with London Plan Standards set out in London 

Plan Policy T5 Cycling. 

 

F.       f) Electric Vehicle charging points to be delivered in accordance with Part S of the Building 

Regulations  London           Plan Standards as appropriate for the use. 

development acceptable, 
contributions towards implementation 
and monitoring may be required.  
 
Deletion of  requirement for CPZs to 
be in place prior to the occupation of 
development, as the delivery of 
CPZs is outside control of applicants.  
 
Clarification at Part c of  ‘car free 
development’ by making certain that 
‘where no parking would be provided 
within a development site, residential 
parking permits will be made 
available to Blue Badge Holders’. 
 
Clarification on requirements for on-
street parking surveys 
 
Re-wording at Part D  to reflect 
London Plan policies T6(L) and 
T6.3(G) regarding the reprovision of 
parking and parking for new retail 
development respectively as 
substantive evidence to justify an 
alternate approach has not been 
provided.  
 
Update references to electric vehicle 
charging to refer to Part S of the 
Building Regulations with similar 
consequential changes made 
elsewhere in the Plan.  
 
Clarification that car club parking 
spaces with active charging facilities 
are encouraged as an alternative to 
private parking for residents (in 
accordance with Policy T6.1 of the 
London Plan) and if provided count 

434



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 

G.    g) In accordance with Policy T6.1 (part D) of the London Plan, where appropriate spaces Spaces 

with active charging facilities are encouraged. These should be available for car club vehicle parking 

along with car club membership for future residents of the development as an alternative to private 

parking within the agreed maximum car parking provision. 

 

H. h) Appropriate provision should be made for efficient deliveries and servicing. 

 

I.  The Council will require a Parking Design and Management Plan for all applications which include car 

parking. The extent of the Parking Design and Management Plan should be proportionate to the scale 

and type of development proposed, assess appropriate provision levels and any capacity for proposed 

on-street parking. 

 

J. Where on-street parking surveys are undertaken, the scope of the survey should be agreed in 

advance with the Council. 

towards the maximum provision 
calculated by the parking standards.  
 
New wording (Part I) to explain that 
parking statements or transport 
statements/assessments as 
appropriate should be provided with 
proposals to assess appropriate 
provision levels and any capacity for 
proposed on-street parking.  
 
Deletion from the supporting text at 
para 11.12.6 of indications that there 
may be flexibility in the application of 
the parking standards. This is not 
justified by firm local evidence, 
except for the early phases of large 
scale schemes where the overall 
quantum would not exceed the 
parking standards. 
 
Clarifications that parking standards 
are maximums and that although not 
a requirement of all development - in 
some cases, the Council may seek to 
ensure new or updated CPZs 
become effective prior to the 
occupation of proposed development 
where unacceptable impacts on local 
highway conditions would otherwise 
result. 
 
Clarification at para 11.12.6 on how 
parking assessments and on-street 
parking capacity will be assessed.  
 
Deletion of references to orbital 
PTAL and orbital connectivity, as 
support for such approaches is not 
underpinned by substantive 
evidence, the methodology for 

435



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

11.12 Parking  

 

11.12.1 London is a diverse city, and as such it requires a flexible approach to identifying appropriate 

levels of car parking. As an Outer London Borough Barnet faces the challenge of low levels of overall 

public transport accessibility, especially in the north of the Borough. This is compounded by a lack of 

orbital travel options. The Mayor’s London Plan sets out maximum car parking standards for residential 

and non-residential uses and advocates that such standards should not be exceeded. For non-

residential uses the Council supports the application of London Plan car parking standards. For 

residential uses the Council advocates an approach which is more reflective of local circumstances. 

 

11.12.2 Barnet’s Car Parking Study sets out the basis for a locally specific approach to parking 

provision.  The Council accepts the need for restraint in terms of car parking management, but intends to 

apply the standards set out in Table 23 for residential developments with sensitivity to local 

circumstances. The accessibility of individual locations will be taken into consideration, based on: 

 

• The public transport accessibility level (PTAL); 

• Travel Time Mapping (TIM); 

• Opportunities for sustainable orbital travel  

• Orbital access by public transport ; 

• Parking stress including the level of on-street parking control; 

• Population density and parking ownership of surrounding areas; 

• Location and proximity to local services (i.e. is it in a town centre); 

• Ease of access by cycling and walking; and 

• Other relevant planning or highways considerations, such as to whether the proposal is a 

conversion of an existing use. 

calculating such is unclear, the 
infrastructure required to facilitate 
growth anticipated throughout the 
Plan period would be secured by 
Policy TRC02, and Policy TRC01 as 
modified highlights the Council’s 
support in principle for enhanced 
orbital connectivity and public 
transport facilities. Revisions to Table 
20 (as re-numbered to reflect 
previous MMs) to make clear that 
PTAL5 and PTAL6 areas should be 
car free as necessary for alignment 
with London Plan Table 10.3; and to 
delete the ^ footnote because clear 
evidence has not been provided that 
higher standards of provision would 
support additional family housing. 

436



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
 
11.12.3 The improvement of orbital connectivity of bus services within Barnet is vital if suitable 

alternatives to the private vehicle are to be effective. For this reason a method to calculate the level of 

orbital access by public transport has been developed.  This is available in Appendix A of the Car 

Parking Standards Report 2021. Developers in PTALs 5 and 6 need to determine the level of orbital 

access for their site to determine the car parking requirements.  

11.12.4 Appropriate parking levels for disabled people, that meets London Plan standards, should 

always be provided in developments. This may include visitors parking for disabled residents who may 

have regular visitors such as carers and provision should also be made for motorcycle parking.  Parking 

requirements for the emergency services which have particular operational needs will need to be 

assessed on an individual basis. All other uses except   residential should provide limit parking in 

accordance with the relevant London Plan parking standards.   Uses which don’t have parking standards 

set out in the London Plan will be required to be assessed by the developer as part of the a Parking 

Design and Management Plan. Transport Assessment Parking Design and Management Plans should 

demonstrate compliance with the requirements of Policy TRC03(I) and the maximum standards in Table 

20 and be submitted with the application. The level of detail contained in the document should be 

proportionate to the scale and type of the development. 

11.12.5 Appropriate car club and visitor parking must be included in the overall parking figures for the 

relevant uses and not be additional to the number calculated as appropriate. The Council will seek 

appropriate car club parking ratios in locations with higher PTALs mainly in town centres and Growth 

Areas.  On street parking management and controls will be applied appropriately taking into 

consideration local conditions and issues, and to ensure the free flow of traffic. Where parking pressure 

has been identified in residential neighbourhoods a Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) may could be 

introduced, in consultation with residents, to ensure existing residents have access to parking in their 

own area. 

 

437



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

11.12.6 Some developments however, may have difficulty meeting parking requirements, particularly in 

town centres. In these situations and when public transport and active travel is available, the Council will 

show flexibility in the assessment of parking requirements. Where necessary within CPZs the Council 

will restrict new residential occupiers from obtaining car parking permits through a planning obligation in 

a legal agreement. The specific approach in the legal agreement will depend on the PTAL of the site and 

whether the site is within a Metropolitan or Major Town Centre or in an Opportunity Area identified in the 

London Plan, as Tthe Council will apply the maximum standards set out in Table 23 20, as a cap on the 

number of CPZ permits able to be applied for per property. The cap in the planning obligation will also 

depend on the number of spaces that are provided within the development itself.  In some cases it could 

be appropriate to block the occupiers from obtaining CPZ permits through a planning obligation in a legal 

agreement, in other cases it may be appropriate to impose a cap per dwelling which is aligned to the 

standards in Table 23 20, also enforced through a planning obligation in a legal agreement. This will help 

reduce parking congestion in town centres for other users. The Council may seek to ensure that new or 

updated CPZs become effective prior to the occupation of a development proposal where unacceptable 

impacts on local highway conditions would otherwise result. In order to determine the suitability of 

parking arrangements, the Council promotes the use of the parking survey methodology set out in the 

guidance produced by Lambeth Council Parking20, which is an industry accepted method for parking 

assessments. The Council may seek to ensure that new or updated CPZs become effective prior to the 

occupation of a development proposal where unacceptable impacts on local highway conditions would 

otherwise result.  

11.12.6A  Mixed use town centre development should provide parking in accordance with the standards 

set out in London Plan policies T6 – T6.5. Where parking is provided, off-street spaces should be secure 

where possible and on-street spaces should be provided as part of public realm improvements. Off-street 

spaces may be subject to a S106 legal agreement to control the layout of the parking spaces, the nature 

of the users and the pricing structure. Where parking is provided the Council will encourage the allocation 

of spaces for low emission vehicles, car clubs, pool cars, cycle hire and parking, and electric vehicle 

charging equipment. 

438



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

11.12.7 Also where development proposals are on the edge of a CPZ, or are within a CPZ with 

controlled hours, the streets in close proximity but outside the CPZ will need to be included in the 

parking survey to ensure parking stress is not increased in the surrounding area not covered by the 

CPZ. The scope of the on street parking surveys must be agreed in advance with the Council. With 

regards to larger scale phased development, particularly within Growth Areas, the Council will, take a 

flexible approach to parking ratios in the early phases as long as the overall quantum does not exceed 

the maximum car parking standards. This would be on the basis that sufficient alternative and more 

sustainable travel options are provided for each phase of development. Phased development should 

also ensure that appropriate active and public transport measures are provided for each phase in order 

to encourage sustainable travel whilst protecting the surrounding local amenity (e.g. CPZ protections). 

11.12.8 The Council will require a Car Parking Design and Management Plan to be submitted for all 

applications which include car parking. This should incorporate TfL guidance21  on car parking 

management and design.  

11.12.9 Levels of car parking provision can also be reduced through the delivery of car club parking bays 

and pool cars which promote a more efficient use of parking spaces.  A network of car club bays spread 

across the Borough, both on-street and off-street, should provide a convenient and cost-effective 

alternative to owning a private car.  Developers providing memberships to car clubs for periods of 3 to 5 

years assist residents in moving away from dependence on private vehicles. 

11.12.10 Electric vehicle charging points should be delivered in accordance with Part S of the Building 

Regulations. Parking for bicycles and electric vehicle charging points will generally be provided in 

accordance with the London Planxxiv and meet the London Cycling Design Standards for all new 

development or as agreed in a Travel Plan. Edgware Town Centre is identified in the London Planxxv as 

requiring higher than minimum cycle parking standards. Major residential, high density developments 

should provide secure onsite cycle spaces for each unit. Mixed use town centre development should 

 
20 Lambeth Council Parking Survey Guidance Note 
21 Transport for London Supplementary Guidance on Car Parking 

439



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

provide secure off-street space where possible as part of the development and on-street spaces as part 

of public realm improvements. Showering and changing facilities for cyclists should be provided as part 

of all non-residential development.  Provision of safe, secure and sheltered cycle parking facilities, for 

commuters and visitors to town centres should also be considered. 

 
Table 23 20 – Residential Car Parking Standards 

 

PTAL  

Maximum spaces per unit* 

LBB Proposed Parking Standards for 1/2 
bed units 

 LBB Proposed Parking Standards for 
3+ bed unit 

0 1.25 1.5^ 

1 1.25 1.5^ 

2 0.75 1 

3 0.75 1 

4 0.5-0.75# 0.5-0.75# 

5 Car free ~ ! Car free ~ ! 

6 Car free ~ Car free ~ 

 

* Metropolitan and Major Town Centres to be Car Free~; and Up to 0.5 spaces per dwelling be allowed for developments 

within London Plan Opportunity Areas (except for areas with PTAL 5 or 6 which should be car-free).  

~ With the exception of disabled persons parking, see Part G London Plan Policy T6 .1 Residential parking. 

! Where the orbital PTAL is 4 or less minimal parking for car club schemes to be considered ! Where the orbital PTAL is 4 or 

less minimal parking for car club schemes to be considered. 

440



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

# When considering development proposals that are higher density or in more accessible locations, the lower standard 

shown here should be applied as a maximum. 

^ Boroughs should consider standards that allow for higher levels of provision where there is clear evidence that this would 

support additional family housing. 

 
MM
74 

Chapter 11  
 
Transport and 
Communicatio
ns  
 
Policy TRC04   
And 
consequential 
changes to 
supporting text 
 
Paras 11.13.1 
& 11.13.4A 

 

Policy TRC04 – Digital Communication and Connectivity  
 
The Council supports the delivery of full-fibre or equivalent digital infrastructure, with particular 
focus on areas of the Borough with gaps in connectivity and barriers to digital access. It will 
promote the development of advanced, high quality communications infrastructure to support 
economic growth and more accessible, inclusive communities and enabling residents to work from 
home. Developments should facilitate high speed broadband and advancement in communication 
networks where possible.   
 
Proposals for the installation of telecommunications equipment will be permitted where it can be 
demonstrated that: 

A. i. There is no significant adverse effect on the external appearance of the building on which, 
or space in which, they are located; 

B. ii. The special character and appearance significance of all heritage assets isare preserved 
conserved or enhanced in accordance with Policy CDH08; 

C. iii. The possibility of sharing facilities, such as masts, cabinet boxes and satellite dishes, and 
erecting antennae on existing buildings or other structures has been fully explored and where 
practical becomes the preferred location; 

D. iv. Technologies to minimise and camouflage any telecommunications apparatus have been 
explored; 

E. v. They are appropriately designed, coloured and landscaped to take account of their setting, 
and are sited in context with their setting;  

Clarification that Council will support 
the delivery of digital connectivity 
infrastructure with a particular focus 
on areas with gaps in connectivity 
and barriers to digital access as set 
out in London Plan Policy SI6(B).  
  
Revision to (criterion b): to align with 
Policy CDH08 and NPPF in respect 
of heritage assets.  
  
Revision to overlapping references to 
setting.  
 
Clarification at para 11.13.4A to 
reflect Council’s aims in respect of 
CCTV provision and refer to the 
requirements of proposals as 
identified in Policy SI6 of the London 
Plan. 

441



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

F. vi. The heights and usage of surrounding buildings and screening opportunities have been 
taken into account and 

G. vii. There is no significant adverse impact on the visual amenities of neighbouring occupiers. 
 
Where buildings or other structures taller than 3 storeys are proposed these should not interfere 
with existing broadcast and electronic communications services, particularly CCTV. Where such 
interference is unavoidable mitigating measures are required to ensure that the quality of existing 
signal reception is maintained as a minimum. 
 

442



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 
 
11.13 Digital Communication 

11.13.1 Advances in communication technology have transformed the way people work. With increased 

on-line services and growth of home-based workers, combined with more flexible working practices, the 

expectation is the pattern of commuter travel will change further as more people are able to travel less 

frequently and also outside the busiest times.  London Plan Policy Policy SI 6 highlights the importance 

of support within local plans for the delivery of full-fibre or equivalent digital infrastructure, with particular 

focus on areas with gaps in connectivity and barriers to digital access. The Council is generally 

supportive of proposals that improve e-infrastructure and access to business services / managed 

workspaces in town centre locations.  As communications infrastructure can be obtrusive the Council will 

discuss placement and setting of the infrastructure with the provider. Where the placement has the 

potential to impact on the significance of a heritage asset, the Council will have regard to Policy CDH08. 

Providers should consider how the design, colour and landscaping can be best utilised to avoid or 

minimise impacts of their proposal. 

 

11.13.4A The Council is increasing the number and coverage of CCTV cameras to provide improved 

security and safety for residents; especially in the areas where there is increasing development density 

and mixed-use is being promoted. This will involve improved coverage for town centres, including 

extensions to the network of smaller town centres and parades, alongside camera networks at transport 

nodes such as Underground and bus stations. This will also include consideration of CCTV around the 

entrances to parks and along the Borough’s network of highways for safety and security benefits. 

 

443



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM
75 

Chapter 12 
 
Delivering the 
Local Plan 
 
Paras 12.1.1, 
12.1.1A, 
12.4.1, 12.4.3, 
12.5.1, 
12.5.1A to 
12.5.1G, 
12.6.1, 12.6.2, 
12.8.1 & Table 
24 (re-
numbered to 
Table 21 to 
reflect 
previous MMs) 

12.1 Introduction 

12.1.1 As a London Borough, Barnet has powers under planning and other legislation to help ensure that 

the development that is set out in this Local Plan is delivered.  This Chapter highlights the powers that 

Barnet has as Local Planning Authority to help deliver development and the Council’s wider corporate 

objectives.  It also highlights that in delivering the Local Plan the Council will utilise London Plan Policy 

DF1, particularly with regards to the prioritisation of Planning Obligations. As a local planning authority 

determining planning applications, the Council will determine applications in accordance with policy set 

out in this local plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

12.1.1A Each year the Council publishes an Infrastructure Funding Statement (IFS). The IFS sets out 

the types of infrastructure that the Council as Charging Authority considers will be or may be funded by 

CIL and a report about CIL and planning obligations for the past financial year.  

12.4 Delivering infrastructure alongside development 

12.4.1 An important role of the planning system is to identify and coordinate the provision of 

infrastructure.  The Council council has prepared produced an Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) in order 

to help do this effectively, and to support a review of the CIL Charging Schedule which is ongoing and 

explained further below. This was examined as part of the CIL Charging Schedule Review in 2021. This 

is a living document that the Council intends to update on a regular basis and for which a version was 

examined as part of the CIL Charging Schedule Review in 2021.   

New cross reference to London Plan 
Policy DF1 relating to delivery of the 
Local Plan, including reference to 
planning obligations based on paras 
12.6.4 and 12.6.5 to specify that the 
Council intends to prepare a new 
Planning Obligations SPD, and that 
both the current and potential new 
version of the SPD offer guidance 
only.  
  
Further changes include:  
 
clarification that where it has been 
demonstrated that planning 
obligations cannot viably be 
supported by a specific development, 
obligations should be prioritised in 
accordance with Part D of London 
Plan Policy DF1;  
 
clarification on roles and interactions 
between and potential uses of 
planning contributions, CIL funds and 
the Council’s Infrastructure 
Payments Policy, outlining potential 
other sources of funding;  
 
updates to paras 12.4.1 and 12.5.1 
to reflect that the CIL Charging 
Schedule has been adopted;  
 
cross-refer to NPPF paras  12.6.3 
and 12.8.1 respectively;  
 
clarification at para 12.6.4 that the list 
of considerations that may require 
planning obligations is 
comprehensive and accurately 
reflects other policies in the Plan.  
  

444



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

12.4.3 The IDP is a “living” document that will be used as a tool for helping to deliver infrastructure and. 
it will be monitored and revised where necessary. The IDP is used to inform the Council’s capital 
programme and its work in terms of supporting other agencies delivering infrastructure requirements, 
particularly through developer contributions, such as Community Infrastructure Levy and S106 planning 
obligations. 

12.5 Funding of Infrastructure including Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

 12.5.1 The IDP is being used to support a review of the Barnet CIL Charging Schedule which is being 

brought forward ahead of this local plan to help ensure developments pay an appropriate contribution 

towards infrastructure through the levy and to secure more funding for infrastructure to deliver the Local 

Plan objectives. The rate for residential, which comprises the majority of charges applied, is proposed to 

increase from circa £200 per square metre to £300 per square metre. Actual receipts from CIL are very 

difficult to anticipate in advance as receipts are dependent on planning permissions being implemented 

and some planning permissions are not implemented or take some time to be implemented as sites 

changes hands or schemes are revised. An estimate undertaken for the charging schedule review 

indicated that circa £500 million could be collected through CIL though the lifetime of this plan, if all of 

the development set out in the plan is granted permission after adoption of the new charging schedule 

and comes forward. It is therefore anticipated that the Council’s current projection of collecting £10 

million a year in CIL, could increase to £33 million a year. This will not be sufficient to provide all the 

infrastructure required as set out in the IDP, so the Council will need to secure other funding from other 

infrastructure providers / funders as well as using its other income streams effectively. A new CIL 

Charging Schedule came into effect on 1st April 2022, which increased the residential rate by 50 per 

cent. Actual receipts from CIL are very difficult to anticipate in advance as receipts are dependent on 

planning permissions being implemented and some planning permissions are not implemented or take 

some time to be implemented as sites changes hands or schemes are revised. An estimate undertaken 

for the charging schedule review indicated that circa £500 million could be collected through CIL though 

the lifetime of this plan, if all of the development set out in the plan is granted permission after adoption 

of the new charging schedule and comes forward. It is therefore anticipated that the Council’s current 

445



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

projection of collecting £10 million a year in CIL, could increase to £33 million a year. This will not be 

sufficient to provide all the infrastructure required as set out in the IDP, so the Council will need to 

secure other funding from other infrastructure providers / funders as well as using its other income 

streams effectively. 

12.5.1A On an annual basis the Council agrees allocations for Strategic CIL expenditure going forward. 

These priorities are reflected in the Infrastructure List of the Infrastructure Funding Statement (IFS) 

which is updated each year. An Infrastructure Payments Policy, under section 73a of the CIL 

Regulations 2010 (as amended) was adopted by the Council alongside adoption of the new Charging 

Schedule on 1st April 2022. Under the Infrastructure Payments Policy the Council may accept one or 

more land and/or infrastructure payments in place of the whole, or part of, the CIL due in respect of a 

chargeable development. The Council considers, that alongside continuing to make exceptional 

circumstances relief available, allowing infrastructure payments would ensure the most efficient method 

for delivery of infrastructure to support development alongside balancing any unacceptable viability 

impacts of the increase to the CIL rates, especially on strategic sites. 

12.5.1B As S106 contributions will only be sought in accordance with the Regulation 122 tests, the scale 

and type of contributions required will vary depending on the development proposed and the need to 

address its impact. If a proposal demonstrates through an independently verified viability assessment 

that it is undeliverable with the full set of policy and S106 obligation requirements, the Council will 

prioritise the requirements in accordance with Policy DF1(D) of the London Plan. The Council also 

supports the exceptional circumstances relief from CIL procedure and the Infrastructure Payments Policy 

rather than reducing S106 contributions or not meeting policy requirements, although each planning 

application will need to be considered on its merits and a balanced planning judgement taken when 

planning applications are determined. Developers should note that if they are proposing to provide 

infrastructure in kind, it will need to be identified on the Infrastructure List, published in the Infrastructure 

Funding Statement, and it cannot be necessary to the make the development granted by the relevant 

446



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

permission acceptable in planning terms (i.e. a S106 requirement) under Regulation 73A of the 

Community infrastructure Regulations 2010 (as amended). 

12.5.1C The Council will continue to use its powers in the most effective way possible to deliver 

infrastructure to support growth set out in the Local Plan. This will include securing other sources of 

funding through central government, Transport for London, the GLA, public sector borrowing where 

necessary and effective use of CIL and s106. In accordance with government guidance and the CIL 

regulations 2010 (as amended), the Council’s Infrastructure Funding Statement will set out how CIL is 

proposed to be used (the Infrastructure List under regulation 121A(1)(a)) and what CIL and s106 funding 

is secured and spent on an annual basis. 

12.6 Planning obligations  

12.6.2 Planning obligations should only be used where it is not possible to address unacceptable 

impacts through a planning condition. NPPF (para 56) highlights that planning obligations must only be 

sought where they meet all of the following tests:  

a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;  

b) directly related to the development; and  

c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.  

12.6.4 The items sought through a planning obligation will vary depending on the development scheme 

and its location.  Considerations that may require S106 include: 

• improvements to public transport infrastructure, systems and services (Policies TRC01 and 

TRC02); 

• contributions to the carbon offset fund where development can demonstrably not meet net zero 

carbon policy requirements on site (Policy ECC02); 

• education provision (Policy CHW01); 

447



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

• affordable or special needs housing (Policies HOU01 and HOU04); 

• health facilities (Policy CHW01); 

• small business accommodation and training programmes to promote local employment and 

economic prosperity (Policy ECY01); 

•  town centre regeneration, promotion, management and physical environmental improvements 

including heritage and conservation (Policy TOW01); 

• improvements to highways and sustainable forms of transport including cycling and walking 

(Policies TRC01 and TRC02); 

• environmental improvements including air quality (Policy ECC02); 

• provision of public open space and improving access to public open space (Policy ECC04);  

• other community facilities including policing (Policy CHW01); and 

• other benefits sought as appropriate. 

• CCTV enhancements in town centres or the incorporation or replacement of CCTV cameras on 

redeveloped buildings in town centres (Policy TRC04); 

• contributions to ensure that parking impacts from new development are managed, such as 

monies to implement or vary controlled parking zones including restrictions on occupiers parking 

permits (Policy TRC03); 

• commitments to energy supply infrastructure such as decentralised energy (Policy ECC01); 

• contributions or infrastructure towards addressing flooding issues (Policy ECC02A); 

• affordable workspace contributions (Policy ECY02) (A financial contribution would only be sought 

if the development does not meet the required standard onsite); 

• Travel Plan Monitoring contributions (Policy TRC01); and 

• playspace where it is not possible to meet the required standard on site (Policy CDH07). 

 

448



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

12.6.5 Details for how these considerations will be identified and negotiated for Barnet will be are set out 

as guidance in the forthcoming Planning Obligations SPD. 

12.8 Viability  

12.8.1 NPPF (para 57) highlights that where up-to-date policies have set out the contributions expected 

from development, planning applications that comply with them should be assumed to be viable. It is up 

to the applicant to demonstrate whether particular circumstances justify the need for a viability 

assessment at the application stage.  

12.9 Monitoring 

12.9.2 The Council has committed to undertake an early review of the Local Plan.  An effective approach 

to monitoring is necessary to fit together with the process of review in order to inform the scope of 

policies both strategic and non-strategic policies which may need to be updated. The NPPF) indicates 

that the evidence base for Plans should be adequate and proportionate. The Council acknowledges that 

with a commitment to an early review of the Plan it may be more difficult to measure longer term trends. 

Therefore, some of the policies of the Plan may endure to subsequent reviews whereby the 

effectiveness of the delivery of those policies would be easier to ascertain if underpinned by effective 

monitoring. This will be set out in the Authorities Monitoring Report. Therefore, the Council considers it 

reasonable and appropriate for the purposes of performance triggers/actions in the Plan, that any 

strategic policies are simply identified as within the scope of the early review and that performance 

triggers and contingencies are identified for non-strategic policies within Table 21.   

 

 

 

449



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
MM
76 

Chapter 12 
Delivering the 
Local Plan 
 
 
Table 24  – 
Monitoring 
Indicators 
(as submitted, 
now re-
numbered to 
Table 21 to 
reflect 
previous MMs) 

Category/ 

Number 

Key 
Perform
ance 
Indicator 

Policy 
Target (if 
applicable) 

Trigger & Contingencies 
Source of 
Monitoring 
Information 

Housing  

1 Housing 
supply – 
number 
of net 
addition
al 
dwelling
s 
complet
ed in the 
Borough 

BSS01: 
Spatial 
Strategy for 
Barnet 

Deliver 
35,460 new 
homes 
between 
2021 and 
2036 

Strategic Policy within scope of early review Planning 
database22 and 
on-site monitoring 

2 Housing 
supply - 
number 
of net 
addition
al 
dwelling
s 
complet
ed in 
strategic 
locations 

GSS01: 
Delivering 
Sustainable 
Growth 

 

Delivery of 
new homes 
between 
2021 and 
2036 in 
accordance 
with time 
periods set 
out in Table 
5. 

 

 Planning 
database and on-
site monitoring 

32 Housing 
supply – 
allocate
d land 
for 
develop

GSS01: 
Delivering 
Sustainable 
Growth 

Delivery of 
new homes 
through 
Site 
Proposals 
in 

Strategic Policy within scope of early review. Housing trajectory 
Planning 
database 

Table 24 as submitted re-numbered 
to Table 21 to reflect previous MMs 
and revised to provide additional 
monitoring indicators, performance 
triggers and actions (including where 
necessary bringing forward the 
timetable for a partial or full review of 
the Plan). Table 21 includes changes 
to reflect the MMs to other parts of 
the Plan and new indicators as set 
out below:  
 
o number of new jobs arising 
from development (Policy GSS01); 
 
o number of new homes per 
annum delivered on small sites of 
0.25 ha and below (Policy GSS01);  
 
o annual delivery of self-build 
and custom housebuilding (Policy 
GSS01)  
 
o  delivery of retail and other 
main town centre uses in Barnet’s 
Town Centres and planning 
permissions granted in edge of 
centre and out of centre locations 
(Policies GSS08 and TOW01);  
 
o progress on delivery of 
destination hubs and the regional 
park (Policy GSS13), and;  
 
applications received and granted for 
provision of pitches for Gypsies and 
Travellers and plots for Travelling 
Showpeople (Policy HOU07). 

 
22 Planning database includes planning appeal decision letters 

450



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
ment 
progress 

accordance 
with 
Schedule of 
Proposals 
Table 5A 

43 Affordab
le 
housing 
delivere
d as % 
of net 
addition
al 
dwelling
s 

 

HOU01: 
Affordable 
Housing 

Minimum 
35% 
affordable 
housing 
from all 
developme
nts of 10 or 
more 
dwellings. 

Negative trend  

Identify any local problems and barriers to 
delivery against London Plan targets 
 
Annual review with London Plan team to 
understand any London-wide problems on 
delivery. 
 
If following the above, the negative trend 
prevails to the next Local Plan mandatory 
review, consider whether updates to Policy 
HOU01 are required.  

 

Planning 
database,  

S106 monitoring 
and Affordable 
Housing team 

3A First 
Homes- 
delivere
d as % 
of 
affordabl
e 
housing 

HOU01: 
Affordable 
Housing 

Governmen
t target that 
at least 
25% of 
affordable 
homes are 
First 
Homes  

Negative trend  

Identify any local problems and barriers to 
delivery of First Homes as part of London 
Plan targets. 
 
Annual review with London Plan team to 
understand any London-wide problems on 
delivery. 
 
 
If following the above, the negative trend 
prevails to the next Local Plan mandatory 
review, consider whether updates to Policy 
HOU01 are required.  

Planning 
database,  

S106 monitoring 
and Affordable 

451



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
 

54 Housing 
mix – 
building 
the right 
homes 
for the 
next 
generati
on 

HOU02: 
Housing Mix 

New homes 
delivered in 
accordance 
with 
HOU02 
dwelling 
size 
priorities 

Negative trend  

Through Annual Planning Agents Forum 
work with key partners, developers and 
landowners to identify any local problems 
and barriers to delivery against Barnet’s 
priorities 

Renew evidence base on housing need. 

Compare with other London boroughs. 
 
If negative trend prevails to the next Local 
Plan mandatory review, consider whether 
updates to Policy HOU02 are required. 
 

Planning 
database 

65 Conversi
ons and 
Re-
develop
ment of 
Larger 
Homes 
– 
manage
ment of 
family 
housing 
stock  

HOU03: 
Residential 
Conversions 
and Re-
development 
of Larger 
Homes 

No 
conversion 
or re-
developme
nt of larger 
houses in 
locations 
that are 
either in an 
area with a 
PTAL of 2 4 
or less OR 
are not 
within 400 
metres 
walking 
distance of 
a Major or 
District 

Annual  increase in loss of existing family 
housing stock allowed at appeal  

Work with Registered Social Landlords, 
amenity societies and planning agents to 
identify local problems . 

Renew evidence base on housing need. 

Compare with other London boroughs.  
 
Consider the need to produce new SPD on 
ensuring that the Plan is delivering new 
homes for the next generation. 
 
If annual increase in loss of existing family 
housing stock allowed at appeal persists to 
the next Local Plan mandatory review, 

Planning 
database 

452



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
Town 
Centre 

Contributio
n to 
housing 
supply from 
sites that 
have 
existing or 
planned 
PTALs of 3-
6 or are 
located 
within 
800m 
walking 
distance of 
a station or 
town centre 
boundary. 

 

Contributio
n to family 
sized 
homes 

 

consider whether updates to Policy HOU03 
are required. 
 

76 Speciali
st 
housing 
– 275 
number 
of 

HOU04: 
Specialist 
Housing 

Delivery in 
accordance 
with 
London 
Plan Policy 
H13 

Negative trend 

Work with Health and Wellbeing Board to 
identify any local problems and barriers to 
delivery against London Plan targets. 

Planning 
database and 
Adults and Health 
Directorate 

453



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
specialis
t older 
persons 
homes 
provided 
annually  

Annual review with London Plan team to 
understand any London-wide problems on 
delivery. 
 
If following the above, the negative trend 
prevails to the next Local Plan mandatory 
review, consider whether updates to Policy 
HOU04 are required. 
 

87 Speciali
st 
housing 
– 
manage
ment of 
Houses 
in 
Multiple 
Occupati
on 
(HMO)   

HOU04: 
Specialist 
Housing 

All new 
HMOs 
meet 
requiremen
ts of the 
Additional 
Licensing 
Scheme  

Increase in number of unlicensed HMOs 

Work with amenity societies and planning 
agents to identify and understand local 
problems.  

Renew evidence base on housing need. 

Compare with other London boroughs.  
 
If the increase in number of unlicensed HMO 
persists to the next Local Plan mandatory 
review, consider whether updates to Policy 
HOU04 are required. 
 

Planning 
database and 
Environmental 
Health Private 
Sector Housing 
Team 

98 Speciali
st 
housing 
– 
manage
ment of 
student 
accomm
odation 

HOU04: 
Specialist 
Housing 

All new 
student 
accommod
ation 
subject to a 
Student 
Manageme
nt Plan 

Increase in student accommodation 
(approved at appeal) without a Student 
Management Plan 

Work with academic institutions (including 
Middlesex University) and student housing 
providers to identify local problems.  

Renew evidence base on housing need. 

If the increase in student accommodation 
(approved at appeal) without a Student 

Planning 
database and 
S106 monitoring 

454



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
Management Plan persists to the next Local 
Plan mandatory review, consider whether 
updates to Policy HOU04 are required. 

 

9 Barnet’s 
Town 
Centres 
Housing 
Supply 

GSS08- 
Barnet’s 
District Town 
Centres 

Delivery of 
new homes 
between 
2021 and 
2036 in 
District 
Town 
Centres 
with due 
regard to 
time 
periods set 
out in Table 
5. 

 

Strategic Policy within scope of early review Planning 
database 

10 Gypsies, 
Traveller
s, and 
Travellin
g 
Showpe
ople 

 

Number 
of 
unauthor
ised 

HOU06-
Gypsies, 
Travellers, 
and 
Travelling 
Showpeople 

 

 

No Target Increase in number of unauthorised 
encampments 

Work with Community Safety Team, Barnet 
Safer Communities Board and neighbouring 
boroughs  to identify and understand local 
problems. 

Renew evidence base on housing need of 
Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling 
Showpeople. 

If new evidence indicates that there is a need 
for provision of accommodation for Gypsies, 
Travellers and/or Travelling Showpeople, 

Community 
Safety Team 

 

Planning 
database 

455



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
encamp
ments 

 

Planning 
applicati
ons a) 
received 
and b) 
approve
d for 
provisio
n of 
pitches 
and 
plots 

 

 

consider whether a partial or full review of the 
Local Plan is required. 

If there is a trend indicating an increase in 
number of unauthorised encampments with 
the period up to Local Plan mandatory 
review, consider whether updates to Policy 
HOU06 are required. 

 

11 Contribu
tion of 
small 
sites 
(under 
10 units) 
to 
housing 
supply 

 

GSS01 -
Delivering 
Sustainable 
Growth 

Minimum of 
434 new 
homes per 
annum 

Strategic Policy within scope of early review Planning 
database 

12 Build to 
Rent 

GSS01 -
Delivering 
Sustainable 
Growth 

Positive 
trend 

Strategic Policy within scope of early review Planning 
database 

456



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
 

Planning 
applicati
ons 
granted.  

13 Self 
Build 
and 
custom 
housebu
ilding  

Exempti
ons from 
CIL 

Entries 
on Self 
Build 
Register 

GSS01 -
Delivering 
Sustainable 
Growth 

Ensure 
Council is 
meeting its 
duties 
under 
Sections 2 
and 2A of 
the Self-
Build and 
Custom 
Housebuildi
ng Act 
2015 

Strategic Policy within scope of early review CIL database 

 

Self Build 
Register 

14 

 

 

Homes 
lost to 
Other 
Uses 

Number 
of Empty 
Homes  

Number 
of New 
Meanwh
ile 
Homes 

HOU05 – 
Efficient Use 
of Barnet’s 
Housing 
Stock 

Reduction 
in number 
of homes 
lost to other 
uses  

 

Reduction 
in number 
of empty 
homes 

Increase in number of homes lost to other 
uses  

Work with amenity societies, RSLs and 
planning agents to identify and understand 
local problems including impact of Agent of 
Change, and the floorspace needs of the new 
uses that have replaced housing. 

If a trend of an increase in number of homes 
lost to other uses persists to the next Local 
Plan mandatory review, consider whether 
updates to Policy HOU05 are required. 

Planning 
database 

 

Council Tax 
database  

457



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
 

Increased 
opportunitie
s for 
socially 
beneficial 
meanwhile 
housing 

 

 

  

15 High 
quality 
standard 
of 
design 
in new 
develop
ment  

 

Planning 
appeals 
allowed 
following 
refusal 
on 
design 
grounds 
as being 
contrary 
to 
CDH01 

CDH01 – 
Promoting 
High Quality 
Design 

 

No Target  Strategic Policy within scope of early review Planning 
database 

 

Design code(s) 

 

Planning 
applications 
refused and 
appeals 
dismissed. 

1016 Inclusive 
design 
and 

CDH02: 
Sustainable 

All new 
homes 
meet M4(2) 

Strategic Policy within scope of early review Planning 
database 

458



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
access 
standard
s - % of 
units 
which 
are 
M4(2): 
accessib
le and 
adaptabl
e 
dwelling
s 
complia
nt and 
M4(3): 
wheelch
air user 
dwelling
s 
complia
nt 

and Inclusive 
Design 

standard 
and  

10% of new 
homes to 
meet M4(3) 

 

 

 

Planning 
applications 
refused 

17 Public 
Realm 

 

Planning 
appeals 
dismisse
d for 
planning 
applicati
ons 
refused 
on the 

CDH03 – 
Public Realm 

No Target  Strategic Policy within scope of early review Planning 
database 

459



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
basis 
that they 
were 
contrary 
to 
CDH03 

1418 Tall 
Building
s – 
number 
and 
location 
of Tall 
Building
s 
approve
d/compl
eted 

 

Planning 
appeals 
allowed 
for 
planning 
applicati
ons 
refused 
on the 
basis 
that they 
were 
contrary 
to 
CDH04 

CDH04: Tall 
Buildings 

No Tall 
Buildings 
outside of 
Strategic 
Locations 

No Target 

Strategic Policy within scope of early review Planning 
database 

460



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
1519 Heritage 

assets – 
number 
of 
buildings 
on the 
heritage 
assets 
at risk 
register 

CDH08: 
Barnet’s 
Heritage 

No 
increase in 
buildings 
on Heritage 
Assets at 
Risk 
Register 

Increase in buildings on Heritage Assets at 
Risk Register 

Work with landowners, amenity societies and 
Historic England to identify and understand 
local problems. 

If an increase in buildings on the Heritage 
Assets at Risk Register persists to the next 
Local Plan mandatory review, consider 
whether updates to Policy CDH08 are 
required. 

 

Heritage Team 

1620 Conserv
ation – 
number 
of 
conserv
ation 
appraisa
ls less 
than 5 
years 
old 

CDH08: 
Barnet’s 
Heritage 

No 
conservatio
n appraisal 
is more 
than 5 
years old 

Increase in number of conservation 
appraisals that are more than 5 years old 

Identify reasons for conservation appraisals 
not being renewed after 5 years, and 
progress updates as necessary. 

 

Heritage Team 

Brent Cross and 
Brent Cross West 

Growth 
Areas 

   

21 Housing 
supply - 
number 
of net 
addition
al 
dwelling
s 
complet

GSS01: 
Delivering 
Sustainable 
Growth 

GSS02: 
Brent Cross 
Growth Area 

Delivery of 
new homes 
between 
2021 and 
2036 in 
Growth 
Areas and 
other 
strategic 

Strategic Policy within scope of early review Planning 
database  

461



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
ed in 
Growth 
Areas 
and 
other 
strategic 
locations 

GSS03: 
Brent Cross 
West 
(Staples 
Corner) 

GSS04: 
Cricklewood 
Growth Area 

GSS05: 
Edgware 
Growth Area 

GSS06: 
Colindale 
Growth Area 

GSS07: Mill 
Hill East 

 

locations 
with due 
regard to 
Table 5. 

 

11 Housing 
supply - 
number 
of net 
addition
al 
dwelling
s 
complet
ed within 
Brent 
Cross 
Growth 
Area 

GSS01: 
Delivering 
Sustainable 
Growth 
GSSO2: 
Brent Cross 
Growth Area 

GSS03: 
Brent Cross 
West Growth 
Area 

Deliver 
minimum of 
9,500 new 
homes in 
Brent Cross 
and 1,800 
new homes 
in Brent 
Cross West 
between 
2021 and 
2036 in 
accordance 
with time 

 Planning 
database and 
Brent Cross Team 

462



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
and 
Brent 
Cross 
West 

periods set 
out in Table 
5  

22 Metropol
itan 
Town 
Centre 

BSS01 
Barnet’s 
Spatial 
Strategy 

 GSSO2: 
Brent Cross 
Growth Area 

 

Delivery 
towards 
115,000m2 
of retail 
floorspace 
and 
395,297m2 
of office 
space in 
2014 
planning 
consent 

Strategic Policy within scope of early review Planning 
database and 
Brent Cross Team 

23 New 
Jobs in 
Growth 
Areas 

GSS01: 
Delivering 
Sustainable 
Growth 

Contributio
n of Growth 
Areas to 
delivering a 
minimum of 
12,000 new 
jobs 

Strategic Policy within scope of early review Planning 
database  

12 Office 
and 
retail – 
new 
floorspa
ce 
provisio
n for 
office 
and 
retail 

BSS01: 
Spatial 
Strategy for 
Barnet 

GSSO2: 
Brent Cross 
Growth Area 

Deliver 
395,000m2 
of new 
office 
space and 
56,000m2 
of new 
retail space 
within Brent 
Cross 
Growth 
Area 

 Planning 
database and 
Brent Cross Team 

463



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
13 Transpo

rt – 
improve
ments to 
transport 
infrastru
cture 
within 
the 
Brent 
Cross 
Growth 
Area 
and 
Brent 
Cross 
West 
Growth 
Area 

BSS01: 
Spatial 
Strategy for 
Barnet 

GSSO2: 
Brent Cross 
Growth Area 

GSS03: 
Brent Cross 
West Growth 
Area 

Delivery in 
accordance 
with IDP 

 Planning 
database and 
Brent Cross Team 

24 Status of 
Transpo
rt 
Infrastru
cture 
funding 
and 
delivery 
timescal
es 

 

• N
ew rail 
station 
and 

GSS01 : 
Delivering 
Sustainable 
Growth 

 

TRC02 – 
Transport 
Infrastructure 

Delivery in 
accordance 
with IDP 

Strategic Policy within scope of early review Planning 
database 
Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan 

Infrastructure 
Funding 
Statement 

464



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
transport 
intercha
nge at 
Brent 
Cross 
West 

• r
eplacem
ent or 
remodell
ed and 
improve
d bus 
station 
at Brent 
Cross 
North 
new 
undergr
ound 
station 
and 
enhance
d public 
transport 
intercha
nge at 
Colindal
e 

• n
ew 
passeng
er rail 
line - the 
West 
London 
Orbital 

465



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
Line 
together 
with 
upgrade
s to 
existing 
stations 
(Crickle
wood 
and 
Hendon 
and new 
station 
at Brent 
Cross 
West) 

• C
rossrail 
2 at New 
Southga
te, 
including 
safeguar
ding for 
railway 
and 
worksite
s at 
Oakleigh 
Road 
South  

• N
ew bus 
stopping 
and 
standing 
arrange

466



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
ments in 
North 
Finchley 
to allow 
redevelo
pment of 
the bus 
station. 

• I
nterchan
ge 
improve
ments at 
Edgware 

 Town 
Centres 

    

25 Delivery 
of retail, 
office 
and 
other 
main 
town 
centre 
uses in 
Barnet’s 
Major 
and 
District 
Town 
Centres  

 

 

Policy 
GSS08- 
Barnet’s 
District Town 
Centres  

 

Policy 
TOW01 
Vibrant Town 
Centres 

 

No Target  Strategic Policy within scope of early review Planning 
database  

Retail surveys 

467



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
26 Planning 

Permissi
ons 
granted 
for Main 
Town 
Centre 
Uses in 
Edge of 
Centre 
and Out 
of 
Centre 
Location
s  

Policy 
GSS08- 
Barnet’s 
District Town 
Centres  

 

Policy 
TOW01 
Vibrant Town 
Centres 

 

None  

Reasons 
for any 
planning 
consents to 
be explored 
and 
clarified in 
the AMR, 
prior to any 
review of 
town centre 
boundaries 
or/and  
Policy 
TOW01 

Strategic Policy within scope of early review Planning 
database  

Retail surveys 

17 27 Town 
centres, 
local 
centres 
and 
parades 
– trends 
within 
Barnet’s 
town 
centres, 
local 
centres 
and 
parades 

TOW02: 
Development 
Principles in 
Barnet’s 
Town 
Centres, 
Local 
Centres and 
Parades 

No 
significant 
net 
reduction in 
Commercia
l, Business 
and Service 
Use Class 
floorspace 
within 
primary 
frontages 

 

Increase in uses other than Commercial, 
Business and Service Use Class floorspace 
within primary frontages 

Work with landowners,  landlords,local 
businesses and local amenity societies as 
part of corporate approach to town centres to 
understand reasons for increase 

Identify uses that have replaced Commercial, 
Business and Service Use Class floorspace. 

Review evidence base on town centre 
floorspace. 

If the trend of increase in uses other than 
commercial, business and service Use Class 
floorspace within primary frontages persists 
to the next Local Plan mandatory review, 

Planning 
database  

Retail surveys 

468



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
consider whether updates to Policy TOW02 
are required. 

 

18 

28 

Clusterin
g of 
specific 
town 
centre 
uses - 
Hot 
Food 
Takeaw
ays, 
Adult 
Gaming 
Centres, 
Amusem
ent 
Arcades, 
Betting 
Shops, 
Payday 
Loan 
Shops, 
Pawnbro
kers and 
Shisha 
Bars 

TOW03: 
Managing 
Hot Food 
Takeaways, 
Adult 
Gaming 
Centres, 
Amusement 
Arcades, 
Betting 
Shops, 
Payday Loan 
Shops, 
Pawnbrokers 
and Shisha 
Bars  

 
 

All new Hot 
Food 
Takeaways 
meet the 
Healthier 
Catering 
Commitme
nt 

 

No 
proposals 
refuse to 
demonstrat
e evidence 
of health 
impacts 
through a 
Health 
Impact 
Assessmen
t 

Increase in number of applications for Hot 
Food Takeaways that fail to meet the 
Healthier Catering Commitment 

Work with Public Health Team and Health 
and Wellbeing Board to identify and 
understand local problems.  

Renew evidence base on Hot Food 
Takeaways 

If there is a clear trend of applications for Hot 
Food Takeaways being refused but allowed 
at appeal by the next Local Plan mandatory 
review, consider whether updates to Policy 
TOW03 are required. 

 

Planning 
database  

Retail surveys,  

Public Health 
team. 

29 Night 
time 
econom
y 

 

Policy 
TOW04 
Night-Time 
Economy 

No Target Strategic Policy within scope of early review Planning 
database 

469



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
Number 
of 
applicati
ons 
approve
d for 
night-
time 
econom
y uses in 
Barnet’s 
Town 
Centres 

Community 
Infrastructure 

    

19 

30 

Commu
nity 
infrastru
cture 
delivery 

CHW01: 
Community 
Infrastructure 

Delivery of 
community 
facilities 
and 
infrastructur
e in 
accordance 
with 
Barnet’s 
IDP 

Strategic Policy within scope of early review Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan 

31 Promoti
ng 
Health 
and 
Wellbein
g  

 

Number 
of 

CHW02: 
Promoting 
health and 
wellbeing 

No Target  Increase in number of major applications that 
fail to provide a HIA  

Work with Public Health Team and Health 
and Wellbeing Board to identify and 
understand local problems. 

If there is a clear trend of applications being 
refused for failing to promote health and 
wellbeing but being allowed at appeal by the 
next Local Plan mandatory review, consider 

Planning 
database 

470



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
applicati
ons 
refused 
for 
failing to 
promote 
health 
and 
wellbein
g 

whether updates to Policy CHW02 are 
required. 

 

19A32 Family 
Friendly 
Barnet 

CHW03 : 
Making 
Barnet a 
Safer Place 

Increasing 
in the % of 
young 
people and 
adults that 
consider 
the 
Borough is 
Family 
Friendly 

Decrease in % of young people and adults 
that consider the Borough is Family Friendly 

Work with Barnet Safer Communities 
Partnership to consider corporate response 
to understand reasons for downturn. 

If the negative trend persists to the next Local 
Plan mandatory review, consider whether 
updates to Policy CHW03 are required.  

  

Youth Perception 
Survey 

20 

33 

Public 
houses 
– 
number 
of public 
houses 
closed 

CHW04: 
Protecting 
Public 
Houses 

No loss of 
public 
houses that 
have been 
vacant for 
less than 
12 6 
months and 
subject to 
continued 
marketing 
for at least 
24 months 

Increased loss of public houses  

Work with local amenity societies, CAMRA, 
landowners and planning agents to identify 
and understand local problems including the 
use of Assets of Community Value 

Identify uses that have replaced public 
houses . 

Review evidence base on public houses. 

Planning 
database 

471



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
If there is a clear trend that applications 
involving loss of public houses are being 
refused but allowed at appeal, consider 
whether updates to Policy CHW04 are 
required at the next mandatory Local Plan 
review. 

 

 Econom
y 

    

34 New 
Industria
l land 

BSS01: 
Barnet’s 
Spatial 
Strategy 

Delivering a 

minimum of 
7.3 
hectares of 
additional 
industrial 
land   

Strategic Policy within scope of early review Planning 
database 

35 New 
Jobs 
from 
Develop
ment in 
Barnet 

GSS01: 
Delivering 
Sustainable 
Growth 

Deliver a 
minimum of 
12,000 new 
jobs 

Strategic Policy within scope of early review Planning 
database  

21 

36 

Offices – 
new 
floorspa
ce 
provisio
n for 
offices 

ECY01: A 
Vibrant Local 
Economy 

GSS01: 
Delivering 
Sustainable 
Growth 

Delivering 
minimum of 
between 
67,000m2 
and 
106,000m2 
of new 
office 
space in 
across 
Major and 
District 

Strategic Policy within scope of early review Planning 
database 

472



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
Town 
Centres 

22 

37 

Industria
l – 
managin
g LSIS 
within 
the 
Borough  

 

 

ECY01: A 
Vibrant Local 
Economy 

No net loss 
of 
employmen
t floorspace 
within LSIS 

Employment space lost  

Consider corporate approach to local jobs, 
skills and training.   

Compare performance with other London 
boroughs. 

Review evidence base on employment 
space. 

If there is a clear trend that applications 
involving loss of employment space are being 
refused but allowed at appeal, consider 
whether updates to Policy ECY01 are 
required at the next mandatory Local Plan 
review. 

Planning 
database 

38 Net 
addition
al 
industria
l 
floorspa
ce 
provided 
in LSIS 
by 
intensific
ation or 
co-
location 

ECY01: A 
Vibrant Local 
Economy 

Additional 
employmen
t floorspace 
within LSIS 

Employment space lost as a consequence of 
co-location 

Consider corporate approach to local jobs, 
skills and training   

Compare performance with other London 
boroughs. 

Review evidence base on employment 
space. 

If there is a clear trend that applications 
involving loss of employment space are being 
refused but allowed at appeal, consider 
whether updates to Policy ECY01 are 

Planning 
database 

473



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
required at the next mandatory Local Plan 
review. 

39 Net 
addition
al 
industria
l 
floorspa
ce 
outside 
LSIS 

ECY01: A 
Vibrant Local 
Economy 

No Target.  

Reasons 
for 

any net 
loss of 
floorspace 
to be 

explored 
and 
clarified in 
the AMR 

Increase in number of applications for 
redevelopment of employment floorspace 

Consider corporate approach to local jobs, 
skills and training.  

Compare performance with other London 
boroughs. 

Review evidence base on employment 
space. 

If there is a clear trend that applications 
involving loss of employment space are being 
refused but allowed at appeal, consider 
whether updates to Policy ECY01 are 
required at the next mandatory Local Plan 
review. 

Planning 
database 

23 

40 

Affordab
le 
workspa
ce – 
total 
affordabl
e 
employ
ment 
floorspa
ce 
propose
d 

ECY02: 
Affordable 
Workspace 

Delivery of 
10% of 
gross new 
employmen
t floorspace 
or 
equivalent 
alternative 

Negative trend 

Work with developers and affordable 
workspace providers to identify and 
understand local issues.. 

Compare performance with other London 
boroughs. 

Review evidence base on employment 
space. 

If new evidence indicates that insufficient 
affordable workspace is being provided to 

Planning 
database 

474



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
meet local needs, consider whether a partial 
or full review of the Local Plan is required. 

f there is a clear trend that applications failing 
to provide sufficient affordable workspace are 
being refused but allowed at appeal, consider 
whether updates to Policy ECY02 are 
required at the next mandatory Local Plan 
review. 

 

41 Contribu
tions to 
skills 
and 
training 
program
mes  

 

ECY03 – 
Local Jobs, 
Skills and 
Training 

 

No Target  Negative trend  

Consider corporate approach to local job, 
skills and training.  

Review S106 performance.  

If there is a clear trend that applications 
failing to provide contributions to skills and 
training programmes are being refused but 
allowed at appeal, consider whether updates 
to Policy ECY03 are required at the next 
mandatory Local Plan review. 

 

Planning 
database 

S106 Monitoring  

 Environ
ment 

    

24 42 Regional 
Park – a 
new 
Regional 
Park 
within 
designat

BSS01: 
Barnet’s 
Spatial 
Strategy for 
Barnet 

Progress 
towards 
delivery in 
as set out 
accordance 
with in IDP 

Strategic Policy within scope of early review Greenspaces 
Team 

475



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
ed 
Green 
Belt or 
MOL 

GSS13: 
Strategic 
Parks and 
Recreation 

24 43 Sports 
and 
Recreati
on - 3 
new 
designat
ion hubs 
for 
sports 
and 
recreatio
n at: 

• B
arnet 
and 
King 
George 
V 
Playing 
Fields 

• C
opthall 
Playing 
Fields 
and 
Sunny 
Park 

• W
est 
Hendon 

BSS01: 
Spatial 
Strategy for 
Barnet 

GSS13: 
Strategic 
Parks and 
Recreation 

Progress 
towards 
delivery in 
as set out 
accordance 
with in IDP 

Strategic Policy within scope of early review Greenspaces 
Team 

476



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
Playing 
Fields 

26 44 MOL/Gr
een Belt 
– 
amount 
of 
borough 
designat
ed 
MOL/Gr
een Belt 

ECC05: 
Green Belt 
and 
Metropolitan 
Open Land 

No net loss 
of land 
designated 
Green Belt 
and MOL  

Any net loss of Green Belt / MOL without 
reasoned justification 

Understanding reasons for loss. 

Compare performance with other London 
boroughs. 

Review evidence base on Green Belt / MOL. 

If there is a clear trend that applications 
involving development in the Green Belt 
and/or Metropolitan Open Land are being 
refused but allowed at appeal, consider 
whether updates to Policy ECC05 (or to the 
wider Plan if due to unmet needs) are 
required at the next mandatory Local Plan 
review.  

Planning 
database and 
Greenspaces 
Team 

45 Environ
mental 
Conside
rations - 
Number 
of 
appeals 
allowed 
that 
were 
contrary 
to 
ECC02 

Policy 
ECC02 
Environment
al 
Consideratio
ns 

Zero Strategic Policy within scope of early review Planning 
database 

477



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
46 Number 

of 
develop
ments 
permissi
oned 
where 
the 
Environ
ment 
Agency 

has 
outstand
ing 
advice 
that 
there 
has 
been 
failure to 

make 
appropri
ate 
provisio
n for 
flood 
risk 
mitigatio
n, or 
which 
would 
increase 
risk or 
consequ

Policy 
ECC02A – 
Water 
Management 

Zero Permissions approved contrary to advice 
from Environment Agency 

Understanding reasons for not following 
advice. 

Review evidence base on flood risk. 

If there is a clear trend that applications are 
being refused on the basis of flood risk but 
allowed at appeal, consider whether updates 
to Policy ECC02A are required at the next 
mandatory Local Plan review. 

 

Planning 
database 

478



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
ence of 
flooding 

27 47 Open 
space – 
amount 
of open 
space 

ECC04: 
Barnet’s 
Parks and 
Open 
Spaces 

No net loss 
of public 
open space 

New open 
space 
delivered 
(hectares)  

 

Any net loss of public open space without 
reasoned justification 

Review evidence base on open space. 

Consider corporate approach to improving 
the quality and accessibility of open spaces. 

If new evidence indicates that identified 
needs require a change to quantitative, 
qualitative or accessibility standards for open 
space, consider whether updates to Policy 
ECC04 are required, or whether a partial or 
full review of the Local Plan is necessary. 

If there is a clear trend that applications 
resulting in net loss of open space are being 
refused but allowed at appeal, consider 
whether updates to Policy ECC05 are 
required at the next mandatory Local Plan 
review. 

 

Planning 
database and 
Greenspaces 
Team 

48 Improvin
g the 
quality 
and 
accessib
ility of 
open 
spaces 

ECC04: 
Barnet’s 
Parks and 
Open 
Spaces 

Positive 
trend 

Negative trend 

Review evidence base on open space. 

Consider corporate approach to improving 
the quality and accessibility of open spaces.  

If new evidence indicates that identified 
needs require a change to quantitative, 
qualitative or accessibility standards for open 

Planning 
database, S106 
monitoring and 

Greenspaces 
Team 

479



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
space, consider whether updates to Policy 
ECC04 are required, or whether a partial or 
full review of the Local Plan is necessary. 

 

28 49 Mitigatin
g 
climate 
change 
– 
number 
of 
permitte
d and 
complet
ed major 
develop
ment 
scheme
s 
designe
d to 
achieve 
the net 
zero 
target 

ECC01: 
Mitigating 
Climate 
Change 

Delivery in 
accordance 
with net 
carbon 
targets in 
London 
Plan and 
Mayor’s 
Energy 
Hierarchy 

Increase in number of appeals allowed that 
are contrary to ECC01. 

Compare appeal performance with other 
London boroughs. 

Consider corporate approach to Climate and 
Biodiversity Emergency 

If there is a clear trend that applications 
considered contrary to Policy ECC01 are 
being refused but allowed at appeal, consider 
whether updates to Policy ECC01 are 
required at the next mandatory Local Plan 
review. 

 

Planning 
database 

29 50 Waste – 
capacity 
of waste 
manage
ment 
facilities 
both 
new and 
existing 

ECC03: 
Dealing with 
Waste 

Targets as 
set out in 
NLWP 

Loss of waste management capacity without 
reasoned justification 

 

Review of NLWP 

 

Planning 
database 

480



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
30 51 Biodiver

sity – 
change 
in areas 
of 
biodiver
sity 
importan
ce 

ECC06: 
Biodiversity 

No net loss 
of area 
designated 
as SINC 

Any net loss of land from SINC 

Compare performance with other London 
boroughs. 

Consider corporate approach to Climate and 
Biodiversity Emergency 

If there is a clear trend that applications 
resulting in net loss of land from the SINC are 
being refused but allowed at appeal, consider 
whether updates to Policy ECC06 are 
required at the next mandatory Local Plan 
review. 

 

Planning 
database and 
Greenspaces 
Team 

31 52 Biodiver
sity – 
ensuring 
develop
ment 
makes 
fullest 
contribut
ion to 
enhanci
ng 
biodiver
sity 

ECC06: 
Biodiversity 

All 
proposals 
to provide 
at least 
10% 
Biodiversity 
Net Gain 

Negative trend 

Compare performance with other London 
boroughs. 

Consider corporate approach to Climate and 
Biodiversity Emergency 

If there is a clear trend that applications are 
being refused on the basis of insufficient 
Biodiversity Net Gain but allowed at appeal, 
consider whether updates to Policy ECC06 
are required at the next mandatory Local 
Plan review. 

Planning 
database 

53 Biodiver
sity – 
Appeals 
allowed 
that are 

Policy 
ECC06 
Biodiversity 

Zero Increase in number of appeals allowed 

Compare appeal performance with other 
London boroughs 

Planning 
database 

481



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
contrary 
to Policy 
ECC06 

Consider corporate approach to Climate and 
Biodiversity Emergency 

If there is a clear trend that applications are 
being refused for reasons relating to 
biodiversity but allowed at appeal, consider 
whether updates to Policy ECC06 are 
required at the next mandatory Local Plan 
review. 

 

 Transpo
rt 

    

32 54 Parking 
– 
number 
of cycle 
parking 
spaces 
provided 

TRC03: 
Parking 
Management 

Delivery in 
accordance 
with 
London 
Plan 

Strategic Policy within scope of early review Planning 
database 

33 55 Parking 
– 
number 
of 
disabled 
parking 
spaces 
provided 

TRC03: 
Parking 
Management 

Delivery in 
accordance 
with 
London 
Plan 

Strategic Policy within scope of early review Planning 
database 

34 56 Parking 
– 
number 
of 
electric 
vehicles 
charging 
points 

TRC03: 
Parking 
Management 

Delivery in 
accordance 
with 
London 
Plan 

Strategic Policy within scope of early review Planning 
database 

482



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 
57 Parking 

-number 
of 
applicati
ons 
approve
d 
contrary 
to 
TRC03  

TRC03- 
Parking 
Management 

Zero Strategic Policy within scope of early review Planning 
database 

58 Modal 
share of 
journeys 
by 
walking, 
cycling, 
public 
transport 

and 
private 
vehicle 

TRC01 – 
Sustainable 
and Active 
Travel 

By 2041 
72% of all 
journeys 
will be 

undertaken 
by walking, 
cycling and 

public 
transport. 

Strategic Policy within scope of early review Planning 
database/Onsite 
monitoring 

 

MM
77 

Chapter 13 
Appendix A 
 
List of 
Technical 
Evidence 

Appendix A – List of Technical Evidence –  

LB Barnet  

Authorities Monitoring Reports  
 
Published  
Barnet Characterisation Study (2010) 
Barnet Substance Misuse Needs Assessments (2019)  
Barnet Employment Land Review (2017)  
Barnet Indoor Sports and Recreation Facility Study (2018)  
Barnet Surface Water Management Plan (2011) 
Barnet Local Flood Risk Management Strategy (2017) 

Deleted as more comprehensive and 
up-to date Local Plan evidence base 
is available on the Council’s Local 
Plan webpages 

483



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

Barnet Town Centre Floorspace Needs Assessment (2017)  
Barnet Housing Delivery Action Plan (2019) 
Barnet Shisha Bars Report (2016) 
Barnet Hot Food Takeaways Review (2018) 
Barnet Strategic Housing Market Assessment (2018) 
 
Integrated Impact Assessment (Sustainability Appraisal, Equalities Impact Assessment, Health Impact Assessment) 
Barnet Residential Conversions Study (2019) 
Barnet Green Belt and Metropolitan Open Land Study (2018) 
Barnet Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (2019) 
Barnet Car Parking Study  (2019) 
Barnet Public Houses Review (2018) 
Barnet Tall Buildings Update (2020) 
Barnet Key Facts Evidence Paper (2020) 
 
Published at Reg 19 
Barnet Infrastructure Delivery Plan  
Barnet Strategic Transport Assessment 
Barnet Local Plan Viability Assessment  
Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Needs Assessment Update  
Barnet Car Parking Study Update 

Barnet Strategic Flood Risk Assessment – Stage 2  

West London 

Published  
West London Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (2018)  
West London Strategic Housing Market Assessment (2018) 
West London Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Needs Assessment (2018) 

484



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

West London Employment Land Review (2019) 
 
To be published 
West London Affordable Workspace Study 
 
London 
London Office Policy Review (2017) 
London Industrial Demand Study (2017) 
GLA London Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (2017)  
GLA Town Centre Health Checks (2017)  
London’s Regional Landscape Framework (2011) 
 
National 
Demographic Information including Census data and GLA Projections 

 
MM
78 

Chapter 14  
 
Appendix B – 
Acronym 
Buster and 
Glossary 

 
Appendix B A – Acronym Buster and Glossary 

 

Acronym Buster 

AEP Annual Exceedance Probability 

AQN Air Quality Neutral 

AQP Air Quality Positive 

LEA Local Employment Agreement 

NERC Natural Environment and Rural Communities 

RoFSW Risk of Flooding from Surface Water 

Additions to list acronyms used in 
Local Plan 
 
 
Revisions to Glossary not previously 
highlighted in MMs. 
 
 
Revision to definition of ‘large scale’ 
to ‘large scale development’ to reflect 
the terminology used throughout the 
rest of the Plan, and make clear the 
interaction with the use and definition 
of ‘large-scale’ in the London Plan 
and The Town and Country Planning 
(Mayor of London) Order 2008. 

485



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

 

 
 

 
Glossary 

Affordable Housing: defined by the NPPF 2023 2019 as: housing for sale or rent, for those whose 

needs are not met by the market. Within London there is a move away from Affordable Rent as a 

product. The alternative is London Living Rent which is more focused on income. Options in London 

include: 

 

• London Affordable Rent – for households on low income with rent levels that are genuinely 

affordable and akin to social rent. 

• London Living Rent – for households on average incomes, this offers a lower rent, which enables 

people to save for a deposit to buy a home. 

• London Shared Ownership - allows London households to purchase a share of a new home and 

pay low rent for the remaining portion e.g. purchase 25% and rent 75%. 

 

For dwellings to be considered affordable in London, annual housing costs should be no greater than 40 

per cent of net household income. 

 

Business Locations : Designated employment areas that provide for commercial employment 

opportunities. 

 

SRN Strategic Road Network 

TLA Three Letter Acronym 

486



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

Category A Fit Out :  This is the basic finishing of an interior commercial space. Generally 

commissioned by landlords, this type of fit out includes the installation of a building’s mechanical and 

electrical services. A Cat A project will also include finished internal walls, reception areas and lift 

lobbies. 

It includes  

• Lighting 

• Toilets 

• Raised floors and suspended ceilings (with a basic finish) 

• Basic mechanical and electrical services 

• Fire detection services and smoke alarms 

• Air-conditioning and ventilation (HVAC) 

• Basic internal finishes 

 

Decentralised Energy: Local renewable and local low-carbon energy sources. refers to low- and zero-

carbon power and/or heat generated and delivered within London. This includes microgeneration, such 

as photovoltaics on individual buildings, through to large-scale heat networks. 

 

Embodied carbon / energy / emissions : The total life cycle carbon / energy / greenhouse gases used 

in the collection, manufacture, transportation, assembly, recycling and disposal of a given material or 

product. 

 

Health Impact Assessment (HIA): is used as a systematic framework to identify the potential impacts 

of a development proposal, policy or plan on the health and wellbeing of the population and highlight any 

health inequalities that may arise. or particular groups within it. HIA should be undertaken as early as 

487



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

possible in the planning application or plan making or design process to identify opportunities for 

maximising potential health gains, minimising harm, and addressing health inequalities. Mitigate any 

potential negative impacts and maximise potential benefits. 

 

Large scale development: as defined by the Town and Country Planning (Mayor of London) Order 

2008 – Part 1 residential development over 150 200 units or a site of 4 hectares or more. non-residential 

development over 15,000 10,000m2 

 

Lifetime Neighbourhood: Places where, in view of an ageing society, transport, basic amenities, green 

spaces, decent toilets, and places to meet and relax, are consciously planned for people of all ages and 

conditions in mind within easy reach of homes, accessible to all and planned into proposals at the 

outset. 

 

Secondary A Aquifer  : These are permeable layers capable of supporting water supplies at a local 

rather than strategic scale, and in some cases forming an important source of base flow to rivers. These 

are generally aquifers formerly classified as minor aquifers. 

 

Strategic Road Network (SRN) : In England, the Strategic Road Network (or SRN) is made up of motorways ‘M’ 

roads and trunk roads (the most significant 'A' roads). They are administered by National Highways England, a 

government-owned agency. They are also known as Tier One roads. All other roads are administered by local or 

regional authorities. 

 

Strategic Walking Network : Within Barnet the Strategic Walking Network covers the Dollis Valley Greenwalk as 

well as the proposed Silk Stream Valley Walk (as part of the proposed Barnet Loop). The Network also includes 

488



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

sections of the London LOOP (London Outer Orbital Path) and the Capital Ring. Existing routes are shown as 

Metropolitan Walks on the Policies Map.  

 

Tall Buildings and Very Tall Buildings: Within Barnet a tall building is defined as having a height of 

eight storeys or more (equivalent to 26 metres or more above ground level and Very Tall are those of  15 

storeys (46 metres or more above ground level). 

 

Transport for London Road Network (TLRN): The Transport for London Road Network is made up of 

roads that are owned and maintained by Transport for London (TfL). They are the key routes or major 

arterial roads in London and are also known as Tier One roads. 

 
MM 
79 

Chapter 15  
Appendix C 
 
Replacement 
of Local Plan 
Policies 

Appendix C B  - Replacement of Local Plan Policies 

 

Barnet Local Plan 2012 Draft Barnet Local Plan 2021 2024 

CS3 – Distribution of growth in meeting 

housing aspirations  

GSS05 - Edgware Growth Area 

GSS06 - Colindale Growth Area 

GSS07 - Mill Hill East 

GSS08 - Barnet’s District Town Centres 

GSS09 - Existing & Major New Transport 

Infrastructure 

GSS10 - Estate Renewal and Infill 

GSS11 - Major Thoroughfares 

GSS12 – Redevelopment of Car Parks 

GSS13 – Strategic Parks and Recreation 

Revisions to Appendix C as 
consequential changes arising from 
MMs to the Policies. 

489



Ref  Chapter / 
Policy 
Number /  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for Modification 

 

CS4 – Providing quality homes and housing 

choice in Barnet 

HOU01 – Affordable Housing 

HOU02 – Housing Mix 

HOU03 – Residential Conversions and 

Redevelopment of Larger Homes 

HOU06 – Meeting Other Housing Needs 

HOU07 06- Gypsies, Travellers and 

Travelling Showpeople 

N/A New policy CDH04 CHW04 – Protecting 

Public Houses 
 

 

 

490



 

 

 

Table of Proposed Main Modifications – February  2024 

Annex 1 – Schedule of Site Proposals    

SCHEDULE OF PROPOSED MAIN MODIFICATIONS TO SUBMISSION DRAFT BARNET LOCAL PLAN  

 This schedule contains all proposed main modifications to Barnet’s Local Plan that was submitted for examination on November 26th 

2021.  

 

Modifications 

491



 

Ref  Section / 
Site 
Proposal  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

MM 
80 

Chapter 
16 – 
Annex 1  
 
Paras 
16.1.2, 
16.1.3, 
16.1.4, 
16.1.6, 
16.1.7, 
16.1.8, 
16.2.1, 
16.2.2, 
Figure 1, 
16.3.2, 
16.5.1, 
16.5.2, 
16.7.1 & 
16.8.1. 
 

16.1 Background 
 

16.1.2 The sites allocated identified in the Local Plan Schedule of Proposals are derived from the following 
sources also addressed : 
 

• Nominated through the Call for Sites process by owners and developers seeking to realise development 
potential. These include public-sector partners such as Transport for London, Middlesex University, NHS, 
Ministry of Defence, as well as the Council. The sites included in this plan have been assessed as suitable for 
development;  

• being previously identified in the 2006 Unitary Development Plan but not yet developed;  

• Allocated in other planning documents adopted by the Council, including Supplementary Planning 
Documents, Town Centre Frameworks and Planning Briefs.  
 

16.1.3 As part of the evidence gathering for the Local Plan the Council conducted an extensive call for sites in 
2017-18. This supported the work on previous calls for sites that took place in 2009, 2010 and 2015. Further 
engagement with landowners and developers took place in 2022 and 2023 to inform the detail of the Schedule 
sites. 
 

16.1.4 To be included in the Schedule sites must be assessed as: 
 

• Deliverable i.e. it should be available now and offer a suitable location for the proposed use(s) and a 
good prospect that proposal will be delivered within next five years. sites for housing should be available now, 
offer a suitable location for development now, and be achievable with a realistic prospect that housing will be 
delivered on the site within five years. In particular: 
a) sites which do not involve major development and have planning permission, and all sites with detailed 
planning permission, should be considered deliverable until permission expires, unless there is clear evidence 
that homes will not be delivered within five years (for example because they are no longer viable, there is no 
longer a demand for the type of units or sites have long term phasing plans). 

492



 

Ref  Section / 
Site 
Proposal  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

b) where a site has outline planning permission for major development, has been allocated in a development 
plan, has a grant of permission in principle, or is identified on a brownfield register, it should only be considered 
deliverable where there is clear evidence that housing completions will begin on site within five years 
 

• Developable i.e. it should be in a suitable location for the proposed use(s) and there should be a 
reasonable prospect that it will be available for and could be developed within 15 years. 
 

16.1.6 It is acknowledged that there are a range of constraints potentially further restraining development 
capacity. Although these constraints are not absolute, Physical physical or environmental factors, such as 
conservation areas or flood risk (as identified in the 2018 West London Strategic Flood Risk Assessment and 
Barnet’s 2021 Strategic Flood Risk Level 2), or conservation areas, and further supported by the Sequential and 
Exceptions Test, have been taken into account in the identification the sites in this Schedule.  are acknowledged 
as potentially further restraining development capacity, although these constraints are not absolute. 
 

16.1.7 The Schedule includes updates proposals that have gained planning consent since Reg 18 since the Plan 
was submitted for Examination, but have not been implemented to date. All proposal sites in the Schedule, 
together Such sites along with sites with other planning consents are reflected in the Housing Trajectory. 
 
16.1.8 The sites set out in Annex 1 this document have the potential to be brought forward for development, 
subject to a suitable development proposal being submitted to and approved by the Council. It should be noted 
that the Council will not directly carry out the development.  
 

16.2 Assessing Indicative Residential Capacity of Sites 
 

16.2.1 For the purposes of the Local Plan, site capacity assessment has been based on the site size and the 
public transport accessibility level (PTAL), which is used to determine the range of appropriate dwelling densities 
for residential development, and thus an indicative number of dwellings.  
 

493



 

Ref  Section / 
Site 
Proposal  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

16.2.1 16.2.2 A density matrix approach to calculate indicative residential capacity has been utilised in order to 
provide sufficient accuracy in terms of indicative numbers at the plan-making stage. This provides a good basis 
for a more detailed design led approach as proposals near the planning application stage. For relevant sites on 
which student halls of residence are expected the a figure is included on the ratio that three student rooms are 
equivalent to one standard housing unit (as per the 2017 London Strategic Housing Market Assessment).reflects 
the London Plan (para 4.1.9) that clarifies that net non-self-contained accommodation for students should count 
towards meeting housing targets on the basis of a 2.5:1 ratio, with two and a half bedrooms/units being counted 
as a single home. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 1: The Density Matrix 
 

Setting Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) 

  0 to 1 2 to 3 4 to 6 

Suburban: 150-200 hr/ha 150–250 hr/ha 200–350 hr/ha 

3.8-4.6 hr/unit 35-55 u/ha 35–65 u/ha 45–90 u/ha 

3.1-3.7 hr/unit 40-65 u/ha 40–80 u/ha 55–115 u/ha 

2.7-3.0 hr/unit 50-75 u/ha 50–95 u/ha 70–130 u/ha 

Urban: 150-250 hr/ha   200–450 hr/ha 200–700 hr/ha 

3.8 -4.6 hr/unit 35-65 u/ha 45–120 u/ha 45–185 u/ha 

3.1-3.7 hr/unit 40-80 u/ha 55–145 u/ha 55–225 u/ha 

2.7-3.0 hr/unit 50-95 u/ha 70–170 u/ha 70–260 u/ha 

494



 

Ref  Section / 
Site 
Proposal  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Central: 150-300 hr/ha    300–650 hr/ha 650–1100 hr/ha 

3.8-4.6 hr/unit 35-80 u/ha 65–170 u/ha 140–290 u/ha 

3.1-3.7 hr/unit 40-100 u/ha 80–210 u/ha 175–355 u/ha 

2.7-3.0 hr/unit 50-110 u/hr 100–240 u/ha 215–405 u/ha 

 
Appropriate density ranges are related to setting in terms of location, existing building form and massing, and the index of public transport accessibility (PTAL). 
The setting can be defined as: 

• central – areas with very dense development, a mix of different uses, large building footprints and typically buildings of four to six storeys, located within 
800 m walking distance of a Metropolitan or Major town centre. 

• urban – areas with predominantly dense development such as, for example, terraced houses, mansion blocks, a mix of different uses, medium building 
footprints and typically buildings of two to four storeys, located within 800 m walking distance of a district centre or, along main arterial routes 

• suburban – areas with predominantly lower density development such as, for example, detached and semi-detached houses, predominantly residential, 
small building footprints and typically buildings of two to three storeys. 

 
16.3 Other Uses 
 
16.3.2 The use types are expressed as an estimated percentage as of the potential development and are 
therefore set out and shown as a proportion of total floorspace.  
 

16.5 Opportunity Area Planning Frameworks/ Area Action Plans/ Local Area Frameworks 
 

16.5.1 The Local Plan for Barnet includes existing opportunity area planning frameworks for Brent Cross-
Cricklewood and Colindale-Burnt Oak, along with a new more recently identified opportunity area at New 
Southgate.  
 

16.5.2 The Opportunity Areas are designated within the London Plan as the capital’s principal opportunities for 
accommodating large scale development. The Opportunity Areas are or will be supported by Area Frameworks 
that set the parameters for development proposals that contribute to regeneration and tackle inequalities as well 

495



 

Ref  Section / 
Site 
Proposal  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

as the environmental, economic and social barriers that affect the lives of people in the area. Opportunity Areas 
have the highest expectations for delivering new homes and new jobs as well as supporting infrastructure.  
Opportunity Areas are the largest strategic locations in the Key Diagram.  
 

16.8 Major Thoroughfares 
 

16.8.1 Major Thoroughfares are identified in the Key Diagram Map 2 of the Local Plan. Major Thoroughfare sites 
are identified as those along an identified Major Thoroughfare and that are not otherwise within a Growth Area or 
Town Centre. 
 

Reason for MM 
Clarification on:  

• Plan allocating sites 

• Recent engagement with landowners and developers. 

• The definition of a Deliverable site. 

• Use of Sequential and Exceptions Test. 

• The approach of the density matrix and student housing as standard units within sites. 

• Removal of percentages from site allocations to ensure flexibility for the design-led approach. 

• The contribution of sites associated with Town Centres. 

MM 
81 

Chapter 
16 – 
Annex 1 
Section 4 

List of Sites – Summary Table  

Site 
No 

Site Ward  Address 
Indicative residential 
dwellings units 

Inclusion of non-residential uses 

1 
Former Church Farm 
Leisure Centre  

Brunswick Park 
East Barnet 

Burlington Rise, Brunswick Park, EN4 8XE 12 None. 

2 
North London Business 
Park 

Brunswick Park 
Brunswick Park Rd, Brunswick Park, N11 
1NP 

1,350 
A school, multi-use sports pitch, employment 
and associated car parking. 

3 
Osidge Lane Community 
Halls 

Brunswick Park Osidge Lane, Southgate, N14 5DU 16 
Community uses, school access and retained 
parking access. 

4 
Osidge Library & Health 
Centre 

Brunswick Park 
Brunswick Park Rd & Osidge Lane, 
Brunswick Park, N11 1EY 

16  
10 

Replacement library and health centre 
Community uses, school and park access. 

496



 

Ref  Section / 
Site 
Proposal  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

5 
Edgware Hospital (Major 
Thoroughfare) 

Burnt Oak Edgware Rd, Burnt Oak, HA8 0AD 
366 
129 
 

Hospital continuing in use, with associated car 
parking Retention of healthcare provision and 
access. 

6 
Watling Avenue car park 
& market (Burnt Oak 
Town Centre) 

Burnt Oak Barnfield Rd, Burnt Oak, HA8 0AY 160 
40% mixed uses (station building, retail and car 
parking)  

7 

Bingo Hall Cricklewood 
Beacon Bingo 
(Cricklewood Growth 
Area) 

Childs Hill 
Cricklewood 

200 Cricklewood Broadway, Cricklewood, 
NW2 3DU 

132 
77 
 

Leisure uses. 

8 
Broadway Retail Park 
(Cricklewood Growth 
Area) 

Childs Hill 
Cricklewood 

Cricklewood Lane, Cricklewood, NW2 1ES 
1007 
1,049 
 

Commercial - retail and community. 
 

9 
Colindeep Lane (adjacent 
to Northern Line) 
(Colindale Growth Area) 

Colindale Colindeep lane, Colindale, NW9 6RY 128 - 

10 
Douglas Bader Park 
Estate (Estate 
Regeneration and Infill) 

Colindale Clayton Field, Colindale, NW9 5SE 478 
Small quantum of community facilities and 
commercial (retail) 

11 
KFC/ Burger King 
Restaurant (Colindale 
Growth Area) 

Colindale Colindale 
South 

Edgware Road, NW9 5EB 
162 
102 
 

Commercial uses (restaurant) and takeaway 
 Use Class E(b). 
 

12 
McDonald's Restaurant 
(Colindale Growth Area) 

Colindale Colindale 
South 

157 Colindeep Lane, NW9 6BD 
 

175 
112 
 

Commercial uses (restaurant) and takeaway 
Use Class E(b). 
 

13 
Public Health England 
(Colindale Growth Area) 

Colindale Colindale 
South 

61 Colindale Avenue, NW9 5EQ/HT 
794 
391 
 

Community. 

14 
Sainsburys The Hyde 
(Major Thoroughfare)  
 

Colindale Edgware Rd, The Hyde, NW9 6JX 1,309 
Commercial (retail), community and car parking  
 

15 
Tesco Coppetts Centre 
(Major Thoroughfares) 

Coppetts  
Friern Barnet 

Colney Hatch Lane, Friern Barnet, N11 0SH 
 

397 
Commercial (retail), community and car parking. 
 

16 
45-69 East Barnet Rd 
(New Barnet Town 
Centre) 

East Barnet 
45-69 East Barnet Rd, New Barnet, EN4 
8RN 
 

110 
75 
 

Commercial (retail and office). 
 

17   

Site previously removed before the Plan was 
submitted for Examination, but number 
retained to provide consistency of numbering 
between the Plan versions. 

  

18 
Former East Barnet 
Library 

East Barnet 85 Brookhill Rd, New Barnet EN4 8SG 12 
Community. 
 

497



 

Ref  Section / 
Site 
Proposal  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

19 
East Barnet Shooting 
Club (New Barnet Town 
Centre) 

East Barnet 
Victoria Rd New Barnet EN4 9SH 
 

43 
 

None. 

20 
Fayer’s Building Yard & 
Church (New Barnet 
Town Centre) 

East Barnet 
63-77 East Barnet Rd & 15-17 Margaret Rd, 
New Barnet, EN4 9NR 

25 
Community. 
 

21 
New Barnet Gasholder 
(New Barnet Town 
Centre) 

East Barnet 
Albert Rd, New Barnet, EN4 9SH 
 

201 
Community None. 
 

22 
Sainsburys (New Barnet 
Town Centre) 

East Barnet 66 East Barnet Rd, New Barnet, EN4 8RQ 199 Commercial (retail and office) and car parking. 

23 
Bobath Centre (East 
Finchley Town Centre) 

East Finchley 250 East End Rd, East Finchley, N2 8AU 25 Community. 

24 
East Finchley Station Car 
Park (East Finchley Town 
Centre) 

East Finchley High Rd East, Finchley, N2 0NW 135 
Commercial (office), and public realm and car 
parking. 
 

25 
East Finchley Substation 
(East Finchley Town 
Centre) 

East Finchley Garden 
Suburb 

High Rd, East Finchley, N2 0NL 
 

23 
9 

Commercial (office). 

26 
Park House (East 
Finchley Town Centre) 

East Finchley 
16 High Rd, East Finchley, N2 9PJ 
 

2019 Community  

27 
Edgware Town Centre 
(Edgware Growth Area) 

Edgware 
Station Rd, Edgware, HA8 
 

2,379 
 

Town centre uses, commercial (retail and office), 
leisure, entertainment and community and car 
parking. 
 

28 
Edgware Underground & 
Bus Stations (Edgware 
Growth Area) 

Edgware 
Station Rd, Edgware, HA8 7AW 
 

2,317 
2,316 

Town centre uses, transport, commercial (retail 
and office), leisure, public realm, and community 
and car parking. 
 

29 Scratchwood Quarry 
Edgware 
Edgwarebury 

NW7 3JA - Waste management. 

30 
Finchley Central Station 
(Finchley Central/ Church 
End Town Centre) 

West Finchley/ 
Finchley Church End 

Squires Lane/ Nether St/ Crescent St, 
Finchley N12 (railway verges and airspace 
above tracks and Finchley Central station) 

556 
Transport infrastructure, commercial (retail and 
offices) and car parking. 
 

31 
Brentmead Place (Major 
Thoroughfare) 

Golders Green 
1-6 Brentmead Place (North Circular Road), 
Golder's Green, NW11 9JG 

46 None. 

32 
Manor Park Road car 
park 

Golders Green 72-76 Manor Park Rd, East Finchley, N2 0SJ 7 - 

33 
Bunns Lane Car Park 
(Mill Hill Town Centre) 

Hale Edgwarebury Bunns Lane, Mill Hill, NW7 2AA 
 
43 
 

Hotel and car parking.  
 

34 
Burroughs Gardens Car 
Park (Middlesex 

Hendon The Burroughs, Hendon, NW4 4AU 9 None. 

498



 

Ref  Section / 
Site 
Proposal  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

University and The 
Burroughs) 

35 

Egerton Gardens Car 
Park (Middlesex 
University and The 
Burroughs) 

Hendon The Burroughs, Hendon, NW4 8BD 

23 (69 student halls or 
residence)  
25 (2.5 student rooms to 1 
standard housing unit). 

None. 

36 
Fenella (Middlesex 
University and The 
Burroughs) 

Hendon The Burroughs, Hendon, NW4 4BS 

60 (180 student halls of 
residence)  
65 (2.5 student rooms to 1 
standard housing unit). 

Educational  
 

37   

Site previously removed before the Plan was 
submitted for Examination, but number 
retained to provide consistency of numbering 
between the Plan versions. 

  

38 
Ravensfield House 
(Middlesex University and 
The Burroughs) 

Hendon The Burroughs, Hendon, NW4 4BT 

84 (252 student halls of 
residence) 
90 (2.5 student rooms to 1 
standard housing unit). 

Educational uses.  
 

39 
The Burroughs Car Park 
(Middlesex University and 
The Burroughs) 

Hendon The Burroughs, Hendon, NW4 4AR 21 None. 

40 Meritage Centre Hendon 
28-46 Meritage Centre, Church End Hendon 
NW4 4JT 

36 (108 student halls of 
residence) 73 (2.5 student 
rooms to 1 standard housing 
unit) 

Community.  
 

41 
PDSA and Fuller Street 
Car Park 

Hendon The Burroughs, Hendon, NW4 4BE 

12 (36 student halls of 
residence) 32 (2.5 student 
rooms to 1 standard housing 
unit) 

Community.  
 

42 
Usher Hall (Middlesex 
University and The 
Burroughs) 

Hendon The Burroughs, Hendon, NW4 4HE 

39 (117student halls of 
residence) 
9 (23 student units ratio 2.5 
student rooms to 1 standard 
housing unit ) 

None. 

43 
Army Reserve Depot 
(Chipping Barnet Town 
Centre) 

High Barnet St Alban's Rd, Chipping Barnet, EN5 4JX 193 
Commercial. (office) and community  
 

44 
High Barnet Station 
(Chipping Barnet Town 
Centre) 

High Barnet Barnet 
Vale 

Great North Rd, Chipping Barnet, EN5 5P 292 

Commercial, public realm and car parking. and 
employment. Designated within UDP (2006) as 
Site 26 supporting commercial (office), hotel and 
leisure.  
 

499



 

Ref  Section / 
Site 
Proposal  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

45 

Land Adjoining The 
Whalebones Park 
(Chipping Barnet Town 
Centre) 

High Barnet Wood St, Chipping Barnet, EN5 4BZ 
149 
100 
 

Community facilities and publicly accessible 
open local green space.  
 

46 
IBSA House (Mill Hill 
Growth Area) 

Mill Hill The Ridgeway, Mill Hill, NW7 1RN 197 None. 

47 
Mill Hill East Station (Mill 
Hill Growth Area) 
 

Mill Hill 
Bittacy Hill, Mill Hill, NW7 1BS – airspace 
above and land adjoining station 

127 
Rail Transport infrastructure and car parking.  
 

48 
Mill Hill Library 
(Mill Hill Town Centre) 

Mill Hill Hartley Avenue, NW7 2HX 
19 
10  
 

Community.  

49 
Watchtower House & 
Kingdom Hall (Mill Hill 
Growth Area) 

Mill Hill The Ridgeway, Mill Hill, NW7 1RS/ 1RL 

224 
184 
 
 

Open Green Belt and community uses.  
 

50 
Watford Way & Bunns 
Lane (Major 
Thoroughfare) 

Mill Hill Adjacent to Watford Way, Mill Hill, NW7 2EX 105 None. 

51 
Great North Road Local 
Centre (Major 
Thoroughfare) 

Oakleigh  
Barnet Vale 

Great North Rd, New Barnet, EN5 1AB 
84 
27 
 

Cinema and public house.  
 

52 
Kingmaker House (New 
Barnet Town Centre) 

Oakleigh 15 Station Rd, New Barnet, EN5 1NW 61 
Commercial (office)  
 

53 
Allum Way (Whetstone 
Town Centre) 

Totteridge 
Whetstone 

Totteridge & Whetstone station/ High Rd/ 
Downland Close/ Allum Way, Whetstone, 
N20 

600 
599 
 

TfL rail Transport infrastructure, commercial 
(office and light industrial), community and car 
parking.  

54 
Barnet House 
(Whetstone Town Centre) 

Totteridge 1255 High Rd, Whetstone, N20 0EJ 139 
Commercial (office) and community  
 

55 
Woodside Park Station 
East (Existing Transport 
Infrastructure) 

Totteridge Totteridge 
& Woodside 

Woodside Park Rd, Woodside Park, N12 
8RT 

95 
Car parking.  
 

56 
Woodside Park Station 
West (Existing Transport 
Infrastructure) 

Totteridge Totteridge 
& Woodside 

Station Approach, Woodside Park, N12 8RT 
356 
86 
 

None. 

57 
309-319 Ballards Lane 
(North Finchley Town 
Centre) 

West Finchley 
309-319 Ballards Lane, North Finchley, N12 
8LY 

130 
83 
 

Commercial (retail and office) and community.  
 

58 
811 High Rd & Lodge 
Lane car park (North 
Finchley Town Centre) 

West Finchley 
811 High Rd & Lodge Lane, North Finchley, 
N12 8JT 

132 
Commercial (retail and office) and public car 
parking.  
 

500



 

Ref  Section / 
Site 
Proposal  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

59 
Central House (Finchley 
Central / Church End 
Town Centre) 

West Finchley 1 Ballards Lane, Finchley N3 1UX 

48 
42 
 
 

Commercial. (retail and office)  
 

60 
Finchley House (key site 
3) (North Finchley Town 
Centre) 

West Finchley 
High Road & Kingsway North Finchley N12 
0BT 

202 
128 
 

Commercial (office) and community. 
 

61 
Tally Ho Triangle (key 
site 1) (North Finchley 
Town Centre) 

West Finchley 
High Rd, Ballard’s Lane & Kingsway, North 
Finchley, N12 0GA/ 0GP 

281 
205 
 

Commercial, town centre uses (retail, and 
office), leisure, transport infrastructure, car 
parking and community facilities  
 

62 
Tesco Finchley (Central 
Finchley Central / Church 
End Town Centre) 

West Finchley 21-29 Ballard’s Lane, Finchley, N3 1XP 170 
Commercial (retail and office) and car parking.  
 

63 
Philex House (Major 
Thoroughfare) 

West Hendon 
110-124 West Hendon Broadway, West 
Hendon, NW9 7DW 

 
48 
22 
 

None. 

64 
744-776 High Rd (North 
Finchley Town Centre) 

Woodhouse 744-776 High Rd, North Finchley, N12 9QG 
 
175 
112 

Commercial. (retail and office)  
 

65 
Barnet Mortuary (former) 
(Major Thoroughfare) 

Woodhouse West 
Finchley 

Dolman Close Finchley N3 2EU 

20 
60 
 
 

None. 

66 
East Wing (key site 4) 
(North Finchley Town 
Centre) 

Woodhouse 
672-708 High Rd North Finchley N12 
9PT/9QL 

125 
80 
 

Commercial (retail and office) and cultural  
 

67 
Great North Leisure Park 
(Major Thoroughfare) 

Woodhouse High Rd, Friern Barnet, N12 0GL 352 
Sports and Leisure, commercial and (restaurants 
and cafes), community.  and car parking  
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

    

 

Reason for MM 
Clarification to: 

• Reflect removal of site proposals by subsequent MMs.  

• Reflect changes to ward boundaries in 2022. 

501



 

Ref  Section / 
Site 
Proposal  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

• Provide certainty of non-residential uses expected.  

• Reflect removal of expected percentages for site use to provide flexibility for the design-led approach. 

• Update indicative capacities to reflect Inspector findings in terms of deliverability and developability of sites.  
 

MM
82 

Chapter 
16 – 
Annex 1 
Section 5 
 
Borough 
Sites Map 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Reason for MM 

• Reflect removal of site allocations by subsequent MMs.  

 

MM
83 

Site 1  
 

Former Church Farm Leisure Centre 

502



 

Ref  Section / 
Site 
Proposal  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reasons for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Changes to the development timeframe to 6-10 years to provide a more realistic prospect of housing delivered. 

• Remove percentages for proposed uses to provide flexibility for a design-led approach.  

• Clarify need to consider the relationship with the surrounding historic environment; and confirmation that archaeological 
assessment is required at application stage. 
 

503



 

Site No. 1 

 

Former Church Farm Leisure Centre 

Site Address: Burlington Rise, Brunswick Park, EN4 8XE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Map and I 

 

 

 

mage retained as submitted 

Ward: 
Brunswick 

ParkEast Barnet 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 1B 

PTAL 2031:  1B 

Site Size: 0.13 ha 

Ownership: Council 

Site source: 

Council assets 

disposal 

programme 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Swimming pool/ 

leisure centre 

Development 

timeframe: 

 0.5 years 6-10 

years    

Planning 

designations: 

Archaeological 

Priority Area 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

 
Site 

description:  

The site is immediately adjacent to Grade II listed buildings, including 

the water tower, 2A and 3 Church Farm School, and the nearby St 

Mary’s Church. Surrounding buildings are of 2-3 storeys. The site 

504



 

formerly included a Council-owned public swimming pool and leisure 

centre ( replaced in 2019-20 by the new leisure centre in Victoria 

Recreation Ground, New Barnet). The site adjoins Mill Hill County Oak 

Hill Secondary School. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan policies: 

GSS01, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, CDH08, 

CHW01, CHW02, TRC01, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ 

allocation (as a 

proportion of floorspace): 

100% Residential 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

12 dwellings  

Justification: The leisure centre has been replaced by the new facility at 

Victoria Recreation Ground. The location and context make this 

site suitable for residential development.  

 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

The adjacent and nearby statutorily listed buildings must be carefully considered in any redevelopment of the site, 

and proposals must also respect the scale and form of the surrounding buildings, including the nearby listed St 

Mary’s Church.  

The scale of proposals should be modest across the site and reflect the existing cottages to the north. 

The relationship with the surrounding historic environment should be considered. Proposals must consider and 

respect the setting of adjacent and nearby statutorily listed buildings in terms of the scale and form of the 

surrounding buildings. Building heights must consider the adjacent Grade II listed water tower that stands as a 

prominent feature above its immediate surroundings, along with the nearby listed St Mary’s Church, to ensure that 

505



 

Site Address: Brunswick Park Rd, Brunswick Park, N11 1NP 

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

 

Ward: Brunswick Park 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 1B 

PTAL 2031:  1A/1B 

Site Size: 16.49 ha 

Ownership: Private 

Site source: 
Call for sites, 

Planning Brief 

the significance of the heritage assets is conserved or enhanced. Proposals must not affect the safe running of the 

neighbouring school.  

Provision of an archaeological assessment is required at the application stage.  

 

MM
84 

Site 2 North London Business Park 
 

Reasons for MM  

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Changes to provide certainty that the indicative residential capacity contributing to housing supply in the Plan is a minimum figure of 1,350 
dwellings based on the extant hybrid planning permission (15/07932/OUT).  

• Clarification that the development timeframe of 6-10 years is consistent with Table 5 and does not preclude 360 dwellings comprising the 
detailed element of the permission contributing to deliverable supply at the time of adoption of the Plan, with the remainder constructed 
over the longer-term developable supply timeframe.  

• Clarify that should any subsequent application proposal seek an uplift to the residential density within the allocation it would require 
demonstration of acceptability through a design-led approach in accordance with Policy D3 of the London Plan at application stage.  

• Clarify the need for development to include greenspaces, pocket parks, walking and cycling routes and linkages.  

506



 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 
Offices, school 

Development 

timeframe: 

 

6-10 years  

Planning 

designations: 

Locally Significant 

Industrial Site 

 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

15/07932/OUT 

(granted on 

appeal). 

 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

A large site currently in use for low-rise office buildings, extensive car 

parking and a secondary school. Designation as a Locally Significant 

Industrial Site reflects existing office uses. There are also large areas of 

green landscaping. The main line railway runs along the western 

boundary of the site, and on other sides is surrounded by suburban 

housing. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, CDH04, 

CDH07, CHW01, CHW02, ECY01, ECY02, ECY03, TRC01, 

TRC02, TRC03 

507



 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

Residential with a school, multi-use sports pitch, 

employment and associated car parking. 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

 1,350 (15/07932/OUT) 1,350 dwellings – based on 

the extant hybrid planning permission (15/07932/OUT) 

Justification: The site has received planning permission (ref 15/07932/OUT).  

508



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

The Council seeks comprehensive redevelopment through a residential led scheme that integrates with the 

surrounding area. There should also be provision of education, replacement nursery and other community uses; 

affordable and flexible employment floorspace for SMEs; a replacement sports pitch to serve both the new 

development and the surrounding area; and provision of a significant quantity of public open space. Access to the 

site from surrounding areas must improve both permeability and security, while avoiding vehicular traffic using the 

site as a through-route.  The scale provides an opportunity for the redevelopment to define the site’s own character, 

and to increase local permeability and integration. The design will need to consider the amenity of surrounding 

suburban housing. There is a need for development to include the provision of greenspaces, pocket parks, walking 

and cycling routes and linkages between Brunswick Park Road, Ashbourne Avenue, Howard Close and Oakleigh 

Road. 

The wastewater network capacity in this area may be unable to support the demand anticipated from this 

development. Where there is a potential wastewater network capacity constraint, the developer should liaise with 

Thames Water to enable delivery of the detailed element of the existing planning permission and determine whether 

a detailed drainage strategy informing what additional infrastructure is may be required to support the remaining 

development. The A detailed drainage strategy should be submitted with the any subsequent planning application.  

The consented 1,350 residential dwellings is a minimum figure that is based on the extant hybrid planning 

permission (15/07932/OUT). The development timeframe of 6-10 years reflects consistency with Table 5 and does 

not preclude a contribution of 360 dwellings to deliverable supply as consistent with the detailed element of the 

permission at the time of adoption of the Plan, with the remainder constructed over the longer-term developable 

supply timeframe. Any subsequent application proposal seeking an uplift to the residential density within the 

allocation would be required, at the application stage, to demonstrate acceptability through a design-led approach in 

accordance with Policy D3 of the London Plan.  

 

For further information refer to the North London Business Park (2016) Planning Brief. 

MM
85 

Site 3 Osidge Lane Community Halls 

Reasons for MM  

509



 

Site No. 3 Osidge Lane Community Halls 

Site Address: Osidge Lane, Southgate, N14 5DU 

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

 

Ward: Brunswick Park 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 2 

PTAL 2031:  2 

Site Size: 0.45 ha 

Ownership: Council 

Site source: 

Council assets 

disposal 

programme 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Community 

facilities, 

associated car 

park, access road 

to primary school 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Changes to the development timeframe to 6-10 years to reflect a more realistic prospect of when housing will be delivered.  

• Clarification to provide certainty that Metropolitan Open Land is included within only part of the site. 

• To provide certainty of the findings of evidence with respect to flood risk and the associated expectations of development proposals. 

• Removal of percentages for proposed uses to provide flexibility for a design-led approach. 

• Clarify the need for the development to improve walking and cycling access to the primary school and Brunswick Park open space. 

510



 

Development 

timeframe: 

0-5 years 6-10 

years  

Planning 

designations: 

Includes 

Metropolitan Open 

Land (MOL) within 

part of the site 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

The site contains two community halls, parking for Brunswick Park, and 

an access road to a primary school and for maintenance access to 

Brunswick Park. The site is close to Pymmes Brook and the northern 

edge of the site lies partly within Flood Zone 3. The site includes a small 

area of Metropolitan Open Land (MOL) along the south part of the site. A 

Site of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC) is adjacent, and 

Green Chain which surrounds Pymmes Brook. Buildings on Osidge Lane 

are low-rise residential dwellings. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS12, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CHW01, 

CHW02, ECC02,ECC02A, ECC04, TRC01, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

25% Residential floorspace with 75% floorspace for 

Community uses, school access and retained parking, 

park access with residential development.  

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

16 dwellings  

511



 

Justification: This site is in a residential area and is in a relatively low-

intensity use, providing an opportunity for a more effective use 

of the space. 

The Council’s Level 2 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) 

and supporting Technical Note conclude that the site passes the 

exceptions test and could be developed safely, subject to a 

robust Flood Risk Assessment at planning application stage, 

and design that incorporates suitable mitigation measures. 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

Evidence must be provided that the community halls are no longer required or will be replaced at a suitable location. 

The site is partly in Flood Zone 3 and proposals must, with reference to the SFRA Level 2, demonstrate how flood 

risk will be managed and mitigated. Development should avoid losing openness of the MOL designated area.  

Proposals must take into consideration that that a critical Thames Water trunk sewer runs through or close to this 

site. Vehicular access to the primary school and for Brunswick Park must be maintained, reducing the developable 

area at the west of the site. Proposed designs must take into consideration the low-rise (2-3 storey) residential 

context. 

There is a need for the development to improve walking and cycling access to the primary school and Brunswick 

Park Open Space.  

MM
86 

Site 4  Osidge Library & Health Centre 
 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Changes to the development timeframe to 6-10 years to reflect a more realistic prospect of when housing will be delivered on site.  

• Reduction of the indicative residential capacity to 10 dwellings to be consistent with the most up-to-date calculations provided by the 
Council in EXAM75 and EXAM87.  

• Remove percentages for proposed uses to provide flexibility for a design-led approach.  

• Provides certainty of the approach to biodiversity and trees. 

512



 

Site No. 4 Osidge Library & Health Centre 

Site Address: Brunswick Park Road & Osidge Lane, Brunswick Park, N11 1EY  

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

Ward: Brunswick Park 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 1B/ 2 

PTAL 2031:  1B/ 2 

Site Size: 0.39 ha 

Ownership: Council 

Site source: 
Council assets 

disposal programme 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or 

most recent 

site use/s: 

Public library and 

health centre with 

associated car parking 

Development 

timeframe: 
0-5 years  6-10 years  

Planning 

designations: 

None 

Relevant 

planning 

applications: 

None 

• Clarify the need for the development to improve walking and cycling access to the primary school and Brunswick Park open space. 

513



 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

The existing uses include a health centre and library which are essential 

community infrastructure. 

The surrounding buildings are of a low-rise residential nature. The site is 

situated on a prominent corner location and includes attractive, mature 

trees as part of a landscaped area. 

Applicable 

Draft Local 

Plan policies: 

GSS01, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CHW01, CHW02, 

TRC01, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

50% residential floorspace with 50% floorspace to 

provide a replacement library and health centre  

Residential development, community uses, and park 

access. 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

 16 10 dwellings  

Justification: This site is in a residential area and is in a relatively low-intensity 

use, providing an opportunity for a more effective use of the space. 

514



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

The health centre and library are essential community infrastructure and that any proposal must re-provide, either 

on-site or in a comparable replacement site. Community facilities will need to be provided on the ground floor. Any 

proposal must take into consideration the low-rise residential nature of surrounding buildings and avoid overlooking 

the neighbouring primary school.  

A Pproposal must address in design terms the site’s prominent corner location in the local urban context, including 

retention of the mature trees as part of a landscaped area. Any development of the land must seek to retain 

important wildlife habitats and trees; and appropriate habitat enhancement and/or creation to provide the fullest 

contributions to enhancing biodiversity and protects existing site ecology in accordance with Policies CDH07 and 

ECC06 of the Local Plan.  

There is a need for the development to improve walking and cycling access to the primary school and Brunswick 

Park Open Space.  

The parking requirements must be assessed as part of any proposal. 

MM
87 

Site 5  Edgware Hospital 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Changes to provide certainty that the indicative residential capacity contributing to housing supply in the Plan is 129 dwellings based on 
the extant planning permission (21/0274/OUT).  

• Clarification that any subsequent application proposal seeking additional residential development within the allocation would require 
demonstration of acceptability through a site-specific flood risk assessment and design-led approach, including application of the 
exception test to any parts of the site within Flood Zone 3a and avoidance of any development within the functional floodplain (Flood Zone 
3b).  

• Removal of percentages for proposed uses to provide flexibility for a design-led approach.  

• Provide certainty of the site size consistent with the allocation boundary on the Policies Map. 

• Provides certainty of the approach to biodiversity and trees. 

• Clarify the need for the development to ensure effective connectivity between the Strategic Walking network and access to the Silk 
Stream.  

• Timeframe for housing completion changed to 6-10 years to reflect a more realistic prospect of when housing will be delivered on site.  

515



 

Site No. 5 Edgware Hospital (Major Thoroughfare) 

Site Address: Edgware Rd, Burnt Oak, HA8 0AD  

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

Ward: Burnt Oak 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 3 

PTAL 2031:  3 

Site Size: 

2.87 ha 6.4 ha 

(5.2 ha currently 

outside of Flood 

Zone 3b) 

Ownership: Public (NHS) 

Site source: Call for sites 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 
Hospital 

Development 

timeframe: 
6-10 years 

Planning 

designations: 

Site of Borough 

Importance for 

Nature 

Conservation 

516



 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

 

 (21/0274/OUT). 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

An NHS hospital on a relatively low-density site, with buildings of 1-25 

storeys. To the north and south are 3-6 storey residential blocks, while a 

railway line is located to the rear.  

A  There are large areas of surface car parking. Much of the site is in 

Flood Zone 2 and  a significant portion within  Zone 3a; while land 

surrounding the Silk Stream is Zone 3b (functional floodplain). A Site of 

Borough Importance for Nature Conservation lies along the Silk Stream. 

The site is on the A5 Edgware Road which is in this section is 

predominantly low-rise in character, with retail and office uses. To the 

north and south are 3-4 storey residential blocks, while a railway line is to 

the rear. Burnet Oak Station is within approximately ½ km. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS11, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH04, CDH07, CHW01, CHW02, ECC02, ECC02A, ECC06, 

TRC01, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

75% of the site by floorspace to continue in use as a 

hospital , with associated car parking; with 25% of site 

by floorspace to be residential. Residential 

development with retention of healthcare provision and 

access. 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

 366 units 129 dwellings based on the extant planning 

permission (21/0274/OUT). 

517



 

Justification: There is potential to make more efficient use of this relatively 

low-density location for housing while maintaining the hospital 

uses on site.  

The Level 2 SFRA and supporting Technical Note conclude that 

the site passes the Exceptions Test as there are no reasonable 

alternatives to this site with similar capacity within flood zones 

with a lower risk of flooding, and that the site can be developed 

safely with regards to flood risk. It recommends avoiding 

development within Zone 3b which is largely concentrated 

closer to the Silk Stream but suggests that flood resilience 

measures and compensatory flood storage equal to or 

exceeding flood depths will be required to offset development. 

Without prejudice, any forthcoming scheme must be 

accompanied by a detailed site-specific Flood Risk Assessment 

that assesses flood risk from all sources and provides detailed 

mitigation and safe access and egress. Given the findings and 

recommendations of the Level 2 SFRA and Technical Note. 

although the 6.4ha site size and proposal boundary as shown 

on the Policies Map remains unchanged, it is notable that 

currently 19% of the site is within Flood Zone 3b. 

 

518



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

The hospital will continue in operational use and full unrestricted access must be maintained. Any subsequent 

application proposal seeking additional residential development within the allocation would require demonstration of 

acceptability through a site-specific flood risk assessment and design-led approach, including application of the 

exception test to any parts of the site within Flood Zone 3a. Development should avoid those parts of the site in 

Flood Zone 3b (functional flood plain). Proposals should refer to the SFRA Level 2 for flood risk avoidance and 

mitigation measures. The opportunity to remove obsolete weirs at the confluence of the Silk Stream and Deans 

Brook in northern part of site should be considered.  The designated SINC must be protected. Opportunities should 

be sought to improve biodiversity along the Silk Stream, with a 10 meter buffer reserved along the waterway 

corridor. Better public access along the Silk Stream should be provided, linking together with the north-south 

pathway which runs between Deansbrook Road and Watling Avenue along the eastern edge of the site. Connectivity 

for the Barnet Loop should be explored, with reference to Barnet’s Long Term Transport Strategy (LTTS). 

The scale of development is likely to require upgrades to the wastewater network. The developer and the Council 

should liaise with Thames Water at the earliest opportunity to agree a housing and infrastructure phasing plan to 

ensure development does not outpace delivery of essential network upgrades. 

Opportunities should be sought to improve biodiversity along the Silk Stream, with a 10-meter buffer reserved along 

the waterway corridor. Any development of the land must seek to retain important wildlife habitats and trees that are 

present to protect existing site ecology. Proposals must make the fullest contributions to enhancing and/or creating 

biodiversity in accordance with Policies CDH07 and ECC06 of the Local Plan.  

This site lies on the Strategic Walking Network and a footpath runs along the back of the hospital grounds alongside 

the railway line. There is a need for development proposals to ensure effective connectivity to this network and 

improve the environment of this footpath and open up its access to the Silk Stream. Connectivity for the Barnet Loop 

should be explored, with reference to Barnet’s Long Term Transport Strategy (LTTS).  

The site should be subject to an archaeological assessment.  

This location may be suitable for a tall building; further guidance will be provided by the Building Heights SPD. Any 

tall building should be located away from Silk Stream main river.  

MM
88 

Site 6  Watling Avenue car park & market 

519



 

Reason for MM  

• The site has been found to be not developable due to constraints arising from the extent and magnitude of flood risk affecting the site, and, 

therefore, the proposed site allocation is to be deleted from the Plan.  

Site No. 6 Watling Avenue car park & market (Burnt Oak Town Centre) 

Site Address: Barnfield Rd, Burnt Oak, HA8 0AY 

 

Map and Image as submitted - deleted  

Ward: Burnt Oak 

Image as submitted - deleted  

PTAL 2019: 5 

PTAL 2031:  5 

Site Size: 1.47 ha 

Ownership: 
Public (Council 

and TfL) 

Site source: Call for sites, UDP 

Location type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Car park, station 

building, shopping 

parade and 

market 

Development 

timeframe: 
5-10 years 

520



 

Planning 

designations: 

Burnt Oak Town 

Centre; Site of 

Borough 

Importance for 

Nature 

Conservation; 

Watling Estate 

Conservation Area 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

The site is predominantly public car parking (227 spaces), with a portion 

given over to a semi-permanent market. An extensive area to the north of 

the site is undeveloped and overgrown with trees and shrubs. The 

southern part of the site lies along Watling Avenue and includes part of 

Burnt Oak Station and a retail parade of 2-storey, inter-war era buildings, 

designated as a Primary Retail Frontage. The site is within Burnt Oak 

Town Centre and the Watling Estate Conservation Area.  The Silk Stream 

wraps around the western edge and much of the site is within Flood Zone 

3, with a significant portion of the site in Zone 3b (functional flood plain). A 

Site of Borough Importance for Nature Conservation lies along the 

watercourse. The Northern Line is along the eastern site boundary, with 

the Underground and bus routes providing public transport access. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS08, GSS12, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, 

CDH03, CDH04, CDH08, TOW01, TOW02, TOW03, CHW02, 

ECC02, ECC06, TRC01, TRC03 

521



 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

 80% residential floorspace with 20% of floorspace 

for mixed uses including the station building, 

commercial (E uses) and car parking. 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

160 

Justification: The location is highly accessible and has potential for significant 

intensification. Development should avoid those parts of the site 

at highest flood risk. 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

The Flood Zone 3 covering much of the site means that proposals must be subject to the sequential and exception 

tests and demonstrate how flood risk will be managed and mitigated;  the SFRA Level 2 sets out mitigation 

measures. Development should be located away from those parts of the site at the highest level of flood risk. 

Proposals must retain town centre uses along the Primary Retail Frontage. Design proposals must also consider the 

conservation area status ensure protection of the mature trees designated SINC. Proposals should seek to retain 

the areas of greenery along the Silk Stream and to the northern part of the site to improve biodiversity and as 

locations for SuDS. Opportunities for public access along the Silk Stream should be fully explored, along with 

improvements to the footpath running northwards towards Deansbrook Road. Connectivity for the Barnet Loop 

should be explored, with reference to Barnet’s Long Term Transport Strategy (LTTS). 

The site should be subject to an archaeological assessment. Public car parking requirements must be assessed and 

re-provide as needed. TfL are seeking an improved station interchange and step-free access and proposals may be 

required to make a planning contribute towards this.  

The scale of development is likely to require upgrades to the wastewater network. The developer and the Council 

should liaise with Thames Water at the earliest opportunity to agree a housing and infrastructure phasing plan.  

The adjacent Northern Line runs through the night on Friday and Saturday and noise levels must be mitigated. 

MM
89 

Site 7  Bingo Hall Cricklewood 

Reason for MM 

522



 

Site No. 7 Beacon Bingo Bingo Hall Cricklewood (Cricklewood Growth Area) 

Site Address: 200 Cricklewood Broadway, Cricklewood, NW2 3DU 

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

Ward: 
Childs Hill 

Cricklewood 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 5 

PTAL 2031:  6A 

Site Size: 0.47 ha 

Ownership: Private 

Site source: Call for sites 

Context type: Central Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 
Bingo hall 

Development 

timeframe: 
6-10 years 

• Site name changed to future proof.  

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Changes to indicative residential capacity to reduce it to 77 dwellings based on calculations consistent with a change to reclassify the 
location within the ‘Urban’ density category of Figure 1 of Annex 1. 

• Removal of percentages for proposed uses to provide flexibility for a design-led approach.  

• A revised approach to tall buildings consistent with Policy CDH04 and modify the approach to the relationship with the setting of the 
nearby Railway Terraces Conservation Area to align with Policy CDH08 and ensure consistency with national policy. 

523



 

Planning 

designations: 

Archaeological 

Priority Area 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

The bingo hall occupies a prominent corner location on Cricklewood 

Broadway. The site is adjacent to the northern boundary of Cricklewood 

Town Centre. Cricklewood Broadway is characterised by a diverse range 

of buildings, including late 19th century frontages of 2-4-storeys with retail 

and residential uses. The site is close to Cricklewood Station. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS04, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH04, CDH08, TOW01, TOW02, TOW04, CHW02, TRC01, 

TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

70% of floorspace residential with 30% as leisure uses 

Residential led mixed use development with leisure. 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

132 77 dwellings.  

Justification: The location is highly accessible and has potential for significant 

intensification.  

524



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

Proposals must support the continuing use of the site as a leisure venue on the vibrant and accessible Cricklewood 

Broadway. The design should include an active frontage onto Cricklewood Broadway.   

While tall buildings may be permitted in the Cricklewood Growth Area means, the design must be mindful of the local 

context. 

The north-western-most boundary of the site sits adjacent to the Railway Terraces Conservation Area; although this 

interaction occurs on a smaller, narrower section of the site there is a need for the design to respect the adjacent 

character and heights of those properties in the Railway Terraces Conservation Area which comprises of a large 

collective of Locally Listed dwelling houses. This is necessary to ensure that the significance of designated heritage 

assets is conserved or enhanced, and the effect on the significance of non-designated heritage assets is taken into 

account as part of the determination of the application.  

Tall buildings may be appropriate, however, all tall building proposals will be subject to a detailed assessment of how 

the proposed building relates to its surroundings, responds to topography, contributes to character, relates to public 

realm, natural environment and digital connectivity. The approach to tall buildings must be consistent with Policy 

CDH04 of the Local Plan and give consideration to the relationship with the setting of the nearby Railway Terraces 

Conservation Area. Further guidance will be provided by the Designing for Density SPD. 

The scale of development, when taken together with Site 8, is likely to require upgrades of the water supply network 

infrastructure. The developer and the Council should liaise with Thames Water at the earliest opportunity to agree a 

housing phasing plan to ensure development does not outpace delivery of essential network upgrades. 

The site should be subject to an archaeological assessment. 

The Council will prepare an area planning framework for the Cricklewood Growth Area. 

MM
90 

Site 8  Broadway Retail Park 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

525



 

Site No. 8 Broadway Retail Park (Cricklewood Growth Area) 

Site Address: Cricklewood Lane, Cricklewood, NW2 1ES 

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

Ward: 
Childs Hill 

Cricklewood 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 5 

PTAL 2031:  5 

Site Size: 2.77 ha 

Ownership: Private 

Site source: Call for sites 

Context type: Central  

Existing or most 

recent site 

use/s: 

Retail and associated 

car parking 

• Change to the indicative residential capacity to comply with planning permission granted under ref no: 20/3564/OUT dated 4th December 
2023 which is important to recognise that the allocation is capable of contributing to the deliverable supply at the time of the Plan’s 
adoption.  This change is consistent with the planning permission granted in December 2023 that has a density which aligns with the 
Central context type. For certainty, it does not set a precedent for a similar density at Site 7 given the different character of the immediate 
surroundings of that location. 

• Clarify that the indicative residential capacity is a minimum and that should any subsequent application proposal seek an uplift within the 
allocation it would require demonstration of an acceptable design-led approach in accordance with Policy D3 of the London Plan. 

• Amend the development timeframe to 6-10 years to provide an indication of when there is a realistic prospect of housing being delivered 
within the plan period and ensure consistency with Table 5.  

• Removal of percentages for proposed uses to provide flexibility for a design-led approach. 

• Provide an approach to tall buildings consistent with Policy CDH04 and modify the approach to the relationship with the setting of the 
nearby Railway Terraces Conservation Area to align with Policy CDH08 and ensure consistency with national policy. 

526



 

Development 

timeframe: 

0-5 years  6-10 years 

 

Planning 

designations: 

None 

Relevant 

planning 

applications: 

20/3564/OUT 
(refused)  
1,100 residential 
units and mixed 
uses. 
 
(Planning permission 
granted on appeal for  
1,049 residential 
units  
and up to 1,200 M2 of 
flexible commercial 
and community 
floorspace (use 
classes A3/B1/D1 
and D2)  
 

 

527



 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

Low-density retail units with extensive car parking, adjacent to 

Cricklewood Town Centre. The Midland Mainline railway runs along the 

eastern boundary. Opposite are 2-3 storey early 20th Century buildings in 

retail and residential use.  

The Cricklewood Railway Terraces conservation area lies to the north 

west of the site while the Mapesbury Conservation Area lies to the south 

in neighbouring Brent. 

Cricklewood Station is adjacent, and the site is highly accessible by 

public transport. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS04, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH04, CDH07, CDH08, TOW01, TOW02, CHW01, CHW02, 

ECY03, TOW02, TRC01, TRC02, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

.90% of floorspace as residential with 10% 

commercial and community  

Residential led mixed use development with 

commercial and community uses  

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

1007 1,049 dwellings (20/3564/OUT) 

Justification: The low density buildings and surface car parking are in a high 

PTAL location, adjacent to town centre shops and services.  

528



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

The site is suitable for a residential-led scheme along with retail and community uses.  

Good public transport access, proximity to town centre facilities and the potential for tall buildings mean that significant 

intensification of the site is possible. Any subsequent application proposal would be required to demonstrate an 

acceptable design-led approach in accordance with Policy D3 of the London Plan.  

Proposal dDesign must also take into careful consideration the sensitive adjacent conservation areas in Barnet and 

Brent, and low-rise buildings to the south east to ensure that the significance of heritage assets is preserved or 

enhanced. Whilst tall buildings may be appropriate, the approach to tall buildings must be consistent with Policy 

CDH04. All tall building proposals will be subject to a detailed assessment of how the proposed building relates to its 

surroundings, (including the setting of the nearby Railway Terraces Conservation Area), responds to topography, 

contributes to character, relates to public realm, natural environment and digital connectivity. Further guidance will be 

provided by the Designing for Density SPD. 

The site should be subject to an archaeological assessment. 

The water supply and wastewater network capacity in this area may be unable to support the demand anticipated 

from this development. Where there is a potential wastewater network capacity constraint, the developer should 

liaise with Thames Water to determine whether a detailed drainage strategy informing what infrastructure is 

required. The detailed drainage strategy should be submitted with the planning application.  

The Council will prepare an area planning framework for the Cricklewood Growth Area.  

MM91 Site 

No. 9 

Colindeep Lane (adjacent to Northern Line) (Colindale Growth Area) 

Reason for MM  

• The site has been found to be not developable due to constraints arising from the extent and magnitude of flood risk affecting the site and, 
therefore, the proposed site allocation is to be deleted from the Plan.  

Site Address: Colindeep Lane, Colindale, NW9 6RY 

 Ward: Colindale Image as submitted - deleted 

529



 

Map and Image as submitted - deleted PTAL 2019: 1A 

PTAL 2031:  2 

Site Size: 0.81 ha 

Ownership: Public (TfL) 

Site source: Call for sites 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Vacant; surplus 

railway corridor 

land. 

Development 

timeframe: 
6-10 years 

Planning 

designations: 

Site of Borough 

Importance for 

Nature 

Conservation; 

Green Chain 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

530



 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

The site is thickly wooded and lies adjacent to the embankment for the 

Northern Line. Due to the proximity of the Silk Stream a significant portion 

of the site is Flood Zone 2, with some of the site in Zone 3. Difficult 

access also makes the site vulnerable to flood risk.. A Site of Borough 

Importance for Nature Conservation covers part of the site, which is also 

crossed by a green chain route along the Silk Stream. The backlands 

location and watercourse make site access to difficult. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS06, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH04, CHW02, ECC02, ECC02A, ECC06, TRC01, TRC04 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

100% residential 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

128 

Justification: The site is not in use and lies within a residential area, offering 

potential for intensification. The portion of the site in Flood Zone 

3b (functional flood plain) should not be built on.  

531



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

 Necessary flood risk prevention and mitigation measures must be made to enable development, with reference to 

the SFRA Level 2. Naturalised SuDS should be integrated within the proposals.       

Design proposals must ensure protection of the mature trees and Green Chain and adjoining SINC. Proposals 

should seek to retain the areas of greenery along the Silk Stream to improve biodiversity, along with the potential for 

creating publicly accessible nature areas. Opportunities for public access along the Silk Stream should be fully 

explored, with potential for a direct through-route between Colindale Park and Rushgrove Park as part of the Barnet 

Loop with reference to Barnet’s Long Term Transport Strategy (LTTS). 

The site should be subject to an archaeological assessment. 

The scale of development is likely to require upgrades to the wastewater network. The developer and the Council 

should liaise with Thames Water at the earliest opportunity to agree a housing and infrastructure phasing plan to 

ensure development does not outpace delivery of essential network upgrades. 

Designs must consider the privacy and amenity of neighbouring residential properties and mitigate the noise from 

the adjacent Northern Line that runs through the night on Friday and Saturday. 

Proposals must demonstrate how sufficient access to public highway will be secured. 

 

Reason for MM  

• The site has full planning permission (20/6277/FUL), and the development is under construction with significant progress having been 
made. The site allocation as proposed in the Plan is therefore not necessary, its inclusion in the Plan would not be effective and, therefore, 
the proposed site allocation is to be deleted from the Plan. 

Site No. 10 Douglas Bader Park Estate (Estate Regeneration and Infill) 

Site Address: Clayton Field, Colindale, NW9 5SE 

 Ward: Colindale Image as submitted - deleted 

MM
92 

Site 10 Douglas Bader Park Estate 

532



 

Map and Image as submitted - deleted PTAL 2019: 1B 

PTAL 2031:  1B 

Site Size: 4.12 ha 

Ownership: RSL 

Site source: 
Regeneration 

Report 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 
residential 

Development 

timeframe: 
6-10 years 

Planning 

designations: 

None 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

This is a low-rise 1970s-era estate comprising 200 dwellings. The 

surrounding area is mainly residential. Public transport access is poor. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS10, HOU01, HOU02, HOU05, CDH01, CDH02, 

CDH03, CDH04, CDH07, CHW01, CHW02, TRC01, TRC03 

533



 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

Mostly residential with a small quantum of community 

facilities and commercial uses. 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

 478 (net increase) 

Justification: The estate has been identified for renewal to update 

the existing stock, which is in poor condition, while 

intensifying and making better use of the site through a 

net increase in housing.  

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

Due to high costs and substandard dwellings sizes the owner (Home Group) is seeking extensive redevelopment.  

In 2016 a full assessment was carried out of the estate by the owner; the majority of the properties (99.3%) on the 

estate fail to meet London Plan Space Standards. Additionally, the homes were built in the 1970s and will need 

significant investment to maintain both now and in the near future. Many of the homes are no longer fit for purpose 

and do not meet the housing need of Home Group customers. Home Group, in a Joint Venture with Hill, has 

undertaken pre-application advice discussions with both LBB and the GLA in relation to the future regeneration of 

the site. A successful residents’ ballot was held in May 2019 where 90.5% of eligible residents participated and 

75.4% voted in favour of the regeneration. 

Proposals must protect the amenity of existing households while providing sufficient amenity for the new homes.  

The scale of development is likely to require upgrades to the wastewater network. The developer and the Council 

should liaise with Thames Water at the earliest opportunity to agree a housing and infrastructure phasing plan to 

ensure development does not outpace delivery of essential network upgrades. 

Due to the low PTAL, proposals should support transport accessibility improvements. 

 

 

 

534



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Site No. 11 KFC/ Burger King Restaurant (Colindale Growth Area) 

Site Address: Edgware Road, NW9 5EB 

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

Ward: Colindale South 
Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 4 

MM
93 

Site 11 KFC/ Burger King Restaurant 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Reduce indicative residential capacity to 102 dwellings based on calculations consistent with a necessary change to reclassify the 
allocation within the ‘Urban’ density category.  

• Amend the development timeframe to 6-10 years to reflect a more realistic prospect of when housing will be delivered on site.  

• Remove percentages for proposed uses to provide flexibility for a design-led approach; and make changes to the approach to tall 
buildings to ensure consistency with Policy CDH04, and changes to the approach to heritage assets to align with Policy CDH08 and 
ensure consistency with national policy. 

• Change to confirm that the allocation lies within the Colindale Growth Area.  

535



 

PTAL 2031:  4 

Site Size: 0.44 ha 

Ownership: Private 

Site source: 
Colindale Area 

Action Plan 

Context type: Central Urban  

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Fast food 

restaurant and 

take-away with 

associated parking 

Development 

timeframe: 

0-5 years  6-10 

years.  

  

Planning 

designations: 

None 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

536



 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

The site consists of a fast food restaurant and take away on a low-density 

site, with the single-storey building surrounded by surface car parking.  

The site lies on the busy arterial A5/ Edgware Road, along which a 

significant amount of development and intensification is being 

undertaken. Surrounding the site along this section of the A5/ Edgware 

Road are large scale business premises.  

The Watling Estate Conservation Area is to the north of the site, while 

within Brent the Roe Green Village Conservation Area lies to the west 

east, and the Buck Lane Conservation Area is to the south-west  

To the rear is low rise residential housing.  Colindale Station is within less 

than 1km and the A5/ Edgware Road has a high level of bus services. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS06, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH04, ECY03, ECC02, CHW02, TOW03, TRC01, TRC03   

Proposed uses/ allocation (as 

a proportion of floorspace): 

90% residential floorspace with 10% floorspace 

restaurant  

Residential led development with Use Class E(b) 

Indicative residential capacity: 162 102 dwellings  

Justification: The site is in low density use and can be intensified 

to provide residential uses in the an accessible 

location. The 102 dwellings indicative residential 

capacity is based on calculations classifying the 

allocation within the ‘Urban’ density category. 

537



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

The site lies within the Colindale Growth Area. and may be suitable for tall buildings, although any proposal must 

take account of the low-rise nature of residential areas to the rear. Furthermore, Whilst tall buildings may be 

appropriate, the approach to tall buildings must ensure consistency with Policy CDH04. All tall building proposals will 

be subject to a detailed assessment of how the proposed building relates to its surroundings, responds to 

topography, contributes to character, relates to public realm, natural environment and digital connectivity. In 

particular, the potential impact of any tall buildings on the setting of the Watling Estate Conservation Area, Roe 

Green Village Conservation Area and Buck Lane Cconservation Aareas must be considered to ensure that the 

significance of the heritage assets is conserved or enhanced. Careful design and massing could minimise or 

mitigate impacts will be required to achieve that expectation. The Character Appraisals for these conservations 

areas should form part of the evidence base. Further guidance will be provided by the Designing for Density SPD.  

The site should be subject to an archaeological assessment.  

As the site lies on an important movement corridor, development should positively address the Edgware Road and 

provide an active ground floor frontage along its length.  Residential uses must ensure the future occupants are 

protected from air and noise pollution arising from the busy A5/ Edgware Road. Compliance is required with Policy 

TOW03 and the Council’s Healthier Catering Commitment. The scale of development is likely to require upgrades to 

the wastewater network. The developer and the Council should liaise with Thames Water at the earliest opportunity 

to agree a housing and infrastructure phasing plan to ensure development does not outpace delivery of essential 

network upgrades. 

 
 

MM
94 

Site 12 McDonald’s Restaurant 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for development 
proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the development plan as whole. 

• Reduce the indicative residential capacity to 112 dwellings based on calculations consistent with a necessary change to reclassify it within the 
‘Urban’ density category.  

• Change to confirm that the allocation lies within the Colindale Growth Area.  

• Amend the development timeframe to 6-10 years to reflect a more realistic prospect of when housing will be delivered on site.  

538



 

Site No. 12 McDonald’s Restaurant (Colindale Growth Area) 

Site Address: 157 Colindeep Lane, NW9 6BD 

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

Ward: Colindale South 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 3 

PTAL 2031:  3 

Site Size: 0.48 ha 

Ownership: Private 

Site source: 
Colindale Area 

Action Plan 

Context type: Central Urban  

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Fast food 

restaurant and 

take-away with 

associated parking 

Development 

timeframe: 

0-5 years 6-10 

years  

Planning 

designations: 

None 

• Removal of percentages for proposed uses to provide flexibility for a design-led approach.  

• Clarify that the required approach to tall buildings is consistent with Policy CDH04, and changes to the approach to heritage assets to align 
with Policy CDH08 and ensure consistency with national policy. 

539



 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

The site consists of a fast food restaurant and take away on a low-density 

site, with the single-storey building surrounded by surface car parking.  

The corner site lies on the busy arterial A5 Edgware Road, along which a 

significant amount of development and intensification is being 

undertaken. On the opposite side of the Colindeep Lane junction a tall 

building has recently been completed. The LB Brent side of the A5/ 

Edgware Road consists of large-scale business premises.  

The Watling Estate Conservation Area is to the north of the site, while 

within Brent the Roe Green Village Conservation Area lies to the east 

west, and the Buck Lane Conservation Area is to the south-west. To the 

east and south is low rise residential housing. Colindale Station is within 

1km and the A5 Edgware Road has a high level of bus services. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS06, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH04, CHW02, ECY03, ECC02, TOW03, TRC01, TRC03   

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

90% residential floorspace with 10% floorspace 

restaurant  

Residential led development with Use Class E(b) 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

 175 112 dwellings.  

 

540



 

Justification: The site is in low density use and can be intensified 

to provide residential uses in an the accessible 

location. The 112 dwellings indicative residential 

capacity is based on calculations consistent with 

classification of the site within the ‘Urban’ density 

category.  

 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

The site lies within the Colindale Growth Area.  and may be suitable for tall buildings, although any proposal must 

take account of the low-rise nature of residential areas to the rear. Furthermore,  

Whilst tall buildings may be appropriate, the approach to tall buildings must ensure consistency with Policy CDH04. 

All tall building proposals will be subject to a detailed assessment of how the proposed building relates to its 

surroundings, responds to topography, contributes to character, relates to public realm, natural environment and 

digital connectivity. In particular, the potential impact of any tall buildings on the setting of the Watling Estate, Roe 

Green Village Conservation Area and Buck Lane conservation areas must be considered to ensure that the 

significance of the heritage assets is conserved or enhanced. Careful design and massing could minimise or 

mitigate impacts will be required to achieve that expectation. The Character Appraisals for these conservations 

areas should form part of the evidence base. Further guidance will be provided in the Designing for Density SPD. 

The site should be subject to an archaeological assessment. 

As the site lies on an important movement corridor, development should positively address the Edgware Road and 

provide an active ground floor frontage along its length. Residential uses must ensure the future occupants are 

protected from air and noise pollution arising from the busy A5 Edgware Road. Compliance is required with Policy 

TOW03 and the Council’s Healthier Catering Commitment. The scale of development is likely to require upgrades to 

the wastewater network. The developer and the Council should liaise with Thames Water at the earliest opportunity 

to agree a housing and infrastructure phasing plan to ensure development does not outpace delivery of essential 

network upgrades.  

541



 

Site No. 13 Public Health England (Colindale Growth Area) 

Site Address: 61 Colindale Avenue, NW9 5EQ/HT 

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

 

Ward: Colindale South 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 3 

PTAL 2031:  3 

Site Size: 

 

4.77 ha  

(developable area 

of 3.46 ha)   

 

MM
95 

Site 13 Public Health England 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for development 
proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the development plan as whole. 

• Confirm that the indicative residential capacity is reduced to 391 dwellings based on a necessary change to reclassify the allocation location 
within the ‘Urban’ density category and to account for flood risk constraints upon the developable area.  

• Confirm that the allocation lies within the Colindale Growth Area, together with correction of the site size to 3.46ha.  
• Remove the percentages for proposed uses to provide flexibility, and explain the expected approach to flood risk. This includes the 

requirement for applications to demonstrate acceptability through a design-led approach (in accordance with Policy D3 of the London Plan) 
and exception test requirements for any parts of the site within Flood Zone 3a, together with the need for an alternative site access and 
avoidance of parts of the site within Flood Zone 3b.  

• Provides certainty of the approach to biodiversity and trees. 

• Specify the requirement for development to ensure effective connectivity between the Strategic Walking network and access to the Silk 
Stream.   

542



 

Ownership: 

Department of 

Health & Social 

Care (Public 

Health England) 

Site source: Call for sites 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Research 

laboratories 

Development 

timeframe: 
6-10 years 

Planning 

designations: 

Colindale Growth 

Area; Site of 

Borough 

Importance for 

Nature 

Conservation   

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

543



 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

The Public Health England research laboratories will be moving to a new 

facility in Harlow which is expected to be operational by 2025. 

The site lies within the Colindale Growth Area and is adjacent to the recently 

redeveloped former Colindale Hospital site. Colindale tube station is within 

300m. 

A Site of Borough Importance for Nature Conservation runs along the Silk 

Stream edge of the site. 

Parts of the site close to the Silk Stream are within Flood Zones 2 and 3. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS04, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH04, CDH07, CHW01, CHW02, ECY01, ECY02, ECY03, 

ECC02, ECC02A, ECC06, TRC01, TRC02, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

95% rRsidential floorspace with 5% community 

floorspace 

Residential and Community uses  

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

 794  391 dwellings. 

 

544



 

Justification: The planned move of the Public Health England facilities 

provides an opportunity for intensification of this site 

within the Colindale Growth Area.  

The 391 dwellings indicative residential capacity is based 

on classification of the allocation within the ‘Urban’ 

density category and to account for flood risk constraints 

upon the developable area. 

The Level 2 SFRA and Technical Note identify that Flood 

Zone 3a occupies 26 per cent of the site, and within this, 

Flood Zone 3b also occupies 21 per cent. It is concluded 

that there are no reasonable alternatives to this site that 

provide a similar capacity; also that the site could be 

developed safely with regards to flood risk by avoiding 

vulnerable development within the flood plain – i.e. 

concentrating vulnerable development to the north and 

middle of the site, and avoiding the access road. 

Proposals should avoid the parts of the site that is Flood 

Zone 3b (functional flood plain). 

545



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

The site lies within the Colindale Growth Area is within a tall building area and has good access to public transport, 

potentially supporting a higher density of development.  Community uses should be provided on site to support the 

significant number of new residents. The site is part of the wider Colindale redevelopment area and proposals must 

demonstrate that the physical and social infrastructure can sustainably support the site, and contributions may be 

required to make development acceptable. 

Proposals should avoid those parts of the site that are within Flood Zone 3b (functional flood plain). Necessary flood 

risk prevention and mitigation measures must be made to enable development, with reference to the SFRA Level 2.  

Application proposals will be required to demonstrate acceptability through a design-led approach (in accordance with 

Policy D3 of the London Plan) and meet the exception test requirements for development on any parts of the site 

within Flood Zone 3a. The flood zone extends over the point of current access to the site, consideration must 

therefore be given to alternative safe means of access and escape in the event of a flood. Additional access 

arrangements via neighbouring sites to the north/ north-east should be explored.   

Whilst tall buildings may be appropriate, the approach to tall buildings must be consistent with Policy CDH04. All tall 

building proposals will be subject to a detailed assessment of how the proposed building relates to its surroundings, 

responds to topography, contributes to character, relates to public realm, natural environment and digital connectivity. 

Further guidance will be provided in the Designing for Density SPD. 

The site should be subject to an archaeological assessment. 

Mature trees on the site should be are protected by a group TPO and proposals must demonstrate how they will be 

integrated into the landscape. Any development of the land must seek to retain important wildlife habitats and trees 

present on the site.  

Proposals must seek the fullest contributions to enhancing and/or creating biodiversity in accordance with Policies 

CDH07 and ECC06 of the Local Plan.  

The Silk Stream Corridor provides an opportunity to be opened-up for public access, extending an attractive green 

route into Montrose Park and connecting with Colindale Avenue. This site lies on the Strategic Walking Network. 

Development proposals should therefore take the opportunity to ensure effective connectivity to this network and 

546



 

open up its access to the Silk Stream with a walking and cycling route. Connectivity for to the Barnet Loop should be 

explored, with reference to Barnet’s Long Term Transport Strategy (LTTS).  

The scale of development is likely to require upgrades to the wastewater network. The developer and the Council 

should liaise with Thames Water at the earliest opportunity to agree a housing and infrastructure phasing plan to 

ensure development does not outpace delivery of essential network upgrades. 

Reason for MM 
The site has full planning permission (19/4661/FUL) and the development is under construction with significant progress having been made. The 
site allocation as proposed in the Plan is therefore not necessary, its inclusion in the Plan would not be effective and, therefore, the proposed site 
allocation is to be deleted from the Plan. 

Site No. 14 Sainsburys The Hyde (Major Thoroughfare) 

Site Address: Edgware Rd, The Hyde, NW9 6JX 

 

Map and Image as submitted - deleted 

Ward: Colindale 

Image as submitted - deleted 

PTAL 2019: 2 

PTAL 2031:  3 

Site Size: 3.18 ha 

Ownership: Private 

Site source: Call for sites 

Context type: Urban 

MM
96 

Site 14 Sainsburys The Hyde 

547



 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Supermarket with 

associated car 

parking and petrol 

station 

Development 

timeframe: 
1-5 years 

Planning 

designations: 

Site of Borough 

Importance for 

Nature 

Conservation; 

Green Chain 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

19/4661/FUL 

(approved) 1,309 

residential units 

and commercial 

uses. 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

A single-storey out-of-centre supermarket with associated surface car 

parking and a petrol filling station. The western boundary of the site lies on 

the busy A5 Edgware Road. To the east is the Silk Stream watercourse, 

along which is a Site of Borough Importance for Nature Conservation and 

Green Chain. The site is located within 1 kilometre of the Welsh Harp (Brent 

Reservoir) SSSI. The majority of the site is within Flood Zone 2 and parts of 

the south within Flood Zone 3a along the Silk Stream River Corridor. 

Surrounding uses are typically large-scale businesses. Hendon station is 

within ½ km. 

548



 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS11, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH04, TOW01, CHW01, CHW02, ECY03, ECC02, ECC02A, 

ECC06, TRC01, TRC02 TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

Mixed use development comprising a replacement 

Sainsburys store of 8,998 sqm GIA (Use Class A1), 1,309 

residential units (Use Class C3) and 951 sqm GIA flexible 

commercial space. 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

 1,309 

Justification: The site has received planning permission (19/4661/FUL) 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

The Council has resolved to grant planning permission for this site (planning ref: 19/4661/FUL).  The assessment 

provided in support of the application concluded that for fluvial risk for up to the 1 in 100-year flood event the existing 

flood defences would be sufficient, according to flood modelling completed by the Environment Agency. The 

assessment of existing surface water flood risk at the site is generally very low, although with some areas of higher risk 

– this will be managed through a surface water drainage strategy incorporating SuDS. A SFRA Level 2 has been 

carried out for the site. Given the location adjacent to the SSSI, the development should ensure there is no 

inappropriate access from the developments onto sections of the SSSI that are not formal paths/ recreation areas. The 

scale of development is likely to require upgrades to the wastewater network. The developer and the Council should 

liaise with Thames Water at the earliest opportunity to agree a housing and infrastructure phasing plan to ensure 

development does not outpace delivery of essential network upgrades. 

MM
97 

Site 15  Tesco Coppetts Centre 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for development 
proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the development plan as whole. 

• Remove percentages for proposed uses to provide flexibility for a design-led approach. 

549



 

Site No. 15 Tesco Coppetts Centre (Major Thoroughfares) 

Site Address: Colney Hatch Lane, Friern Barnet, N11 0SH 

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

Ward: 
Coppetts Friern 

Barnet 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 2 

PTAL 2031:  2 

Site Size: 3.12 ha 

Ownership: Private 

Site source: Call for sites 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 
Retail 

Development 

timeframe: 
6-10 years 

Planning 

designations: 

None 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

• Clarify that as the site lies on the Strategic Walking network that development proposals should take opportunities to ensure effective 
connectivity thereto. 

550



 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

A large single storey supermarket with extensive associated car parking 

and a petrol filling station. The site is part of a larger out-of-town retail 

park with other business units to the west and north east. The site is 

accessed from the east from Colney Hatch Lane, with the A406 North 

Circular Road and slip road to the south. Adjacent to the north of the site 

is Coppetts Wood which is Metropolitan Open Land, a Local Nature 

Reserve, and a Site of Borough Importance for Nature. A small section 

along the southern boundary to west of the site adjacent to Pinkham Way, 

is at flood risk. In addition, the Bounds Green Brook runs underneath the 

site close the Pinkham Way in culvert and is designated main river. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS11, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH04, TOW01, CHW01, CHW02 ECY03, ECC02, ECC02A, 

TRC01, TRC02 TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

75% floorspace residential with 25%  

Residential led mixed use development with commercial 

and community uses and car parking. 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

397 dwellings 

Justification: The site is in low density use and can be intensified to 

provide residential uses while maintaining the 

supermarket use. 

551



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

No increase in retail floorspace would be expected as part of any redevelopment. An assessment must be 

undertaken of car parking requirements for retained retail; replacement spaces may be required. A residential 

redevelopment of this scale would justify the provision of a small community facility. Relatively poor access to public 

transport and local services will affect the level of density achievable at this site.  

The design must also ensure mitigation of noise and pollution from the North Circular Road and slip roads. 

Continuing business uses of other parts of the retail park may affect the residential potential, and ideally any 

proposal would be part of a wider redevelopment masterplan for the entire retail park. Proposals must ensure they 

avoid harm to the adjacent Coppetts Wood Local Nature Reserve.  

Proposals for the site should consider de-culverting of the Bounds Green Brook and inclusion of an appropriate 

buffer zone either side of the main river. Under no circumstances should buildings be allowed on top of the culvert, 

and access should be maintained along the entire length. Further information on flood risk and mitigation is provided 

by the SFRA Level 2.   

This site lies on the Strategic Walking Network. Development proposals should take the opportunity to ensure 

effective connectivity to this network. 

Site No. 16 45-69 East Barnet Rd (New Barnet Town Centre) 

Site Address: 45-69 East Barnet Rd, New Barnet, EN4 8RN 

 Ward: East Barnet Image retained as submitted 

MM
98 

Site 16 45-69 East Barnet Rd 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for development 
proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the development plan as whole. 

• Reduce indicative residential to 75 dwellings and confirm that it is a minimum figure and that should any subsequent proposal seek an uplift 
to the residential capacity within the allocation it would require demonstration of acceptability through a design-led approach in accordance 
with Policy D3 of the London Plan at application stage.  

• Remove percentages for proposed uses to provide flexibility for the design-led approach.  

• Inclusion of the provision for a public square, in accordance with the New Barnet Town Centre Framework (2010). 

552



 

Map and Image retained as submitted PTAL 2019: 3 

PTAL 2031:  4 

Site Size: 0.60 ha 

Ownership: Mixed 

Site source: 

New Barnet Town 

Centre Framework 

2010 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Retail, public 

house, light 

industry, petrol 

service station and 

residential 

Development 

timeframe: 
6-10 years 

Planning 

designations: 

Town Centre 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

553



 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

Located within New Barnet Town Centre, this site has a Primary Frontage 

which includes a public house, petrol station and a number of small retail 

outlets with flats/offices above. The rear of the site is small-scale 

industrial units with areas of hardstanding and car parking. Surrounding 

buildings are mostly 1-2 storeys in retail use, with a church adjacent to 

the southern site boundary. To the rear of the site has already been 

redeveloped with 3-storey residential block. The site is close to New 

Barnet Station. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS08, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH04, TOW01, TOW02, TOW03, TOW04, CHW02, CHW04, 

ECY01, ECY02, ECY03, TRC01, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

70% residential floorspace with 30% commercial 

uses  

Residential led mixed use development with 

commercial uses. 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

 110  Minimum 75 dwellings. 

Justification: The site is in low density use and can be intensified 

to provide residential development of an appropriate 

scale and massing while maintaining the town centre 

uses. 

554



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

Maintain retail uses in the Primary Frontage along East Barnet Road. The high street character should be enhanced, 

potentially through refurbishing some of the existing buildings – the public house is identified as a character building 

by the Town Centre Framework. Any forthcoming design should make provision for a public square, in accordance 

with the New Barnet Town Centre Framework (2010). Residential uses can be focused at the rear of the site. 

Designs must be appropriate to the context of the high street and surrounding area. Further planning guidance is 

provided by the New Barnet Town Centre Framework (2010) which identifies the site as within Opportunity Site Area 

2. 

The minimum figure indicative residential capacity is 75 dwellings. This minimum figure reflects a cautious approach 

taking account of the surrounding context, the irregular shape of the allocation and the provision of a new public 

square. However, should a future proposal seek an uplift to the residential capacity within the allocation it would be 

required to demonstrate at the application stage acceptability through a design-led approach in accordance with 

Policy D3 of the London Plan.  

Site No.17 This site had been previously removed due to it being unlikely to come forward for redevelopment during 

the Local Plan period. The site number is being retained to provide consistency of site numbering 

between the Plan versions subject of consultation. 

Site No. 18 Former East Barnet Library 

Site Address: 85 Brookhill Rd, New Barnet EN4 8SG 

 Ward: East Barnet Image retained as submitted 

   

MM
99 

Site 18  Former East Barnet Library 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for development 
proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the development plan as whole. 

• Change the development timeframe to 6-10 years to reflect a more realistic prospect of when housing will be delivered on site.  

• Remove percentages for proposed uses to provide flexibility for a design-led approach.  

• Provides certainty of the approach to biodiversity and trees. 

555



 

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 2 

PTAL 2031:  2 

Site Size: 0.16 ha 

Ownership: Council 

Site source: 

Council assets 

disposal 

programme 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Public library and 

associated car 

park 

Development 

timeframe: 

0-5 years  6-10 

years. 

Planning 

designations: 

Archaeological 

Priority Area 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

20/4546/FUL 

(approved) 

temporary change 

of use to storage/ 

distribution 

556



 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

The site has previously operated as a public library, but the facility has 

been relocated to share the new leisure centre building at Victoria Park.  

The location is on a relatively busy crossroads and is within 220m of the 

East Barnet Village local centre. Opposite across the road are 3-storey 

blocks of flats with some business uses on the ground floor. Low-rise 

residential units lie adjacent to the north and west of the site. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, CDH04, 

CHW01, CHW02, TRC01, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

50% residential floorspace with 50% community uses 

floorspace 

Development for residential / community uses. 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

 12 dwellings. 

Justification: The public library has relocated so the building is no 

longer required for this use. The site is located within a 

residential area and is close to East Barnet local town 

centre facilities and bus routes. 

557



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

The site must be assessed for the potential need to retain a community use as part of the development. 

The site contains mature trees which should be retained. Any development of the land must seek to retain important 

wildlife habitats and trees that are present to protect existing site ecology.  Proposals must make the fullest 

contributions to enhancing and/or creating biodiversity in accordance with Policies CDH07 and ECC06 of the Local 

Plan.  

The design of any proposal must be mindful of the Combined with a significant slope across the site and the 

adjacent low-rise residential units, the design must be mindful of these restrictions and may require differing heights. 

The site should be subject to an archaeological assessment. 

East Barnet Village provides a range of local amenities and the site is connected to the wider area through several 

bus routes. 

Site No. 19 East Barnet Shooting Club (New Barnet Town Centre) 

Site Address: Victoria Rd New Barnet EN4 9SH 

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

Ward: East Barnet 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 3 

PTAL 2031:  3 

Site Size: 0.25 ha 

Ownership: Council 

MM
100 

Site 19 East Barnet Shooting Club 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for development 
proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the development plan as whole. 

558



 

Site source: 

Council assets 

disposal 

programme 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 
Shooting range 

Development 

timeframe: 
11-15 years 

Planning 

designations: 

None 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

A small building in use as a shooting range. The site is adjacent to New 

Barnet Town Centre and to the main entrance to Victoria Recreation 

Ground from New Barnet town centre. Surrounding sites to the north and 

west are being redeveloped as part of the regeneration of the Victoria 

Quarter. The site is within 400m of New Barnet Station. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS08, HOU01, HOU04, CDH01, CDH02, CHW01, 

TOW01, CHW01, CHW02, TRC01, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

Residential 

559



 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

 43 dwellings. 

Justification: The site is highlighted in the New Barnet Town Centre 

Framework (2010) and has good access to public 

transport and town centre facilities.  

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

Highlighted in the New Barnet Town Centre Framework (2010) as part of Opportunity Site 1, the Victoria Quarter. 

Build-out of several parts of the Victoria Quarter are underway. As a community facility there should be an 

assessment as to the need to replace the functionality and floorspace of the existing facility. For further information 

refer to the New Barnet Town Centre Framework. 

Site No. 20 Fayer’s Building Yard & Church (New Barnet Town Centre) 

Site Address: 63-77 East Barnet Rd & 15-17 Margaret Rd, New Barnet, EN4 9NR 

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

 

Ward: East Barnet 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 3 

PTAL 2031:  3 

Site Size: 0.21 ha 

Ownership: Private 

MM
101 

Site 20  Fayer’s Building Yard & Church 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Remove percentages for proposed uses to provide necessary flexibility for a design-led approach. 

560



 

Site source: 

Call for sites; New 

Barnet Town 

Centre Framework 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Retail and place of 

worship 

Development 

timeframe: 
6-10 years. 

Planning 

designations: 

Town Centre 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

The site consists of a building supplies yard and a church, situated on a 

corner location within New Barnet Town Centre. Surrounding buildings 

are largely low-rise in retail and residential use. New Barnet Station is 

within approximately 300m.   

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS08, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH04, TOW01, TOW02, TOW03, CHW01, CHW02, ECY01, 

ECY03, TRC01, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

70% residential use with 30% re-provided community 

use. 

Residential development with re-provision of 

community use. 

561



 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

25 dwellings. 

Justification: The site is highlighted in the New Barnet Town Centre 

Framework (2010) and has good access to public 

transport and town centre facilities. 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

A residential-led scheme, with retention or re-provision of the church. The design must be appropriate to the 

surrounding context. For further guidance refer to Opportunity Site 5 of the New Barnet Town Centre Framework 

(2010). 

Site No. 21 New Barnet Gasholder (New Barnet Town Centre) 

Site Address: Albert Rd, New Barnet, EN4 9SH 

 

Map retained as submitted  

Ward: East Barnet  

Image retained as submitted PTAL 2019: 1A 

MM
102 

Site 21 New Barnet Gasholder 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Clarify that the indicative residential capacity of 201 dwellings is a minimum and that should any subsequent application proposal seek an 
uplift within the allocation it would require demonstration of an acceptable design-led approach in accordance with Policy D3 of the 
London Plan.  

• Remove percentages for proposed uses to provide necessary flexibility for the design-led approach and to optimise residential 
development. 

• Highlighting the requirement for integration with key footpath linkages to enhance connectivity to the Strategic Walking Network. 

562



 

PTAL 2031:  1A 

Site Size: 2.23 ha 

Ownership: Private 

Site source: 

Call for sites 

New Barnet Town 

Centre Framework 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Gasworks 

(demolished); 

gasholder  

Development 

timeframe: 
6-10 years 

Planning 

designations: 

None 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

The site is a former gasholder and gasworks site. The remainder of the 

gasworks site, running south along the railway towards New Barnet town 

centre, was demolished several years ago and is being redeveloped 

(B/04834/14 - residential-led, mixed-use development 305 residential 

units). To the north and east of the site is a 1930s housing estate, Victoria 

Recreation Ground and the new leisure centre. To the west is the East 

Coast Mainline railway. New Barnet Station is within 1km. 

563



 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS08, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CHW01, CHW02, ECC02, TRC01, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

95% residential floorspace with 5% community 

floorspace 

Residential development.  

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

Minimum 201 dwellings. 

Justification: The site is highlighted within the New Barnet Town 

Centre Framework (2010) and presents a redundant 

industrial use within a residential area that is within 

walking distance of East Barnet Town Centre with its 

shopping, services and public transport connections.  

The 201 dwellings indicative capacity is a minimum 

figure. Any future application proposal seeking an uplift 

within the allocation would be required to demonstrate 

an acceptable design-led approach in accordance with 

Policy D3 of the London Plan. 

564



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

The site is highlighted within the New Barnet Town Centre Framework (2010), being part of Opportunity Site 1. 

Build-out of several parts of Site 1 are already well underway. Due to the nature of the existing use land 

decontamination will be an important consideration. The scale of the site means that it may be appropriate to 

provide a community use to address the needs of new residents. Proposals must take into consideration the existing 

suburban housing to the north and east of the site and ensure there is no loss of amenity in terms of overlooking. 

The residential capacity of the site could be exceeded, subject to a design-led approach that takes into account the 

surrounding context and other material planning policy considerations. 

Development should incorporate key footpath linkages to enhance connectivity to the Strategic Walking Network. 

 

Site No. 22 Sainsburys (New Barnet Town Centre) 

Site Address: 66 East Barnet Rd, New Barnet, EN4 8RQ  

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

Ward: East Barnet 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 3 

PTAL 2031:  4 

Site Size: 1.02 ha 

Ownership: Private 

MM
103 

Site 22 Sainsburys 

Reason MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Remove percentages for proposed uses to provide flexibility for a design-led approach. 

 

565



 

Site source: 

Call for sites 

New Barnet Town 

Centre Framework 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Supermarket with 

associated car 

parking 

Development 

timeframe: 
6-10 years. 

Planning 

designations: 

Town Centre 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

A largely one storey building within New Barnet Town Centre, containing 

a supermarket with offices in an additional 2-storey tower above. There is 

surface car parking to the rear and a roof car park over the supermarket. 

East Barnet Road is a relatively narrow thoroughfare and the surrounding 

buildings are mostly 1-2 storeys and in retail B-uses. The rear of the site 

faces the mainline railway and 3-4 storey residential block. New Barnet 

station is next to the site. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS08, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH04, TOW01, TOW02, TOW03, TOW04, CHW02, ECY03, 

TRC01, TRC03 

566



 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

75% residential floorspace with 25% commercial and 

car parking  

Residential led mixed use development with 

commercial uses and car parking. 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

 199 dwellings.  

Justification: The site can be intensified and provides a town 

centre location that is accessible by bus and rail links.  

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

Maintain an active frontage with town centre uses along East Barnet Road. The design should reflect the 

surrounding context. Seek to incorporate a new/ improved pedestrian route connecting East Barnet Road to the 

railway station. For further guidance refer to the New Barnet Town Centre Framework (Opportunity Site 3). The 

existing retail use should be retained, with associated car parking requirements assessed and re-provided if 

supported by the evidence.  

  

MM
104 

Site 23 Bobath Centre 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for development 
proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the development plan as whole. 

• Changes to confirm the relevance and status of the application (21/2602/FUL) which is important to recognise that the allocation will 
contribute to the deliverable supply at the time of the Plan’s adoption.  

• Change the development timeframe to 6-10 years to reflect a more realistic prospect of when housing will be delivered during the plan period 
and ensure consistency with Table 5 of the Plan. 

• Remove the percentages for proposed uses to provide flexibility for a design-led approach should any alternative application proposal come 
forward in the future, and amended the approach to heritage assets to ensure consistency with national policy. 

 

567



 

Site No. 23 Bobath Centre (East Finchley Town Centre) 

Site Address: 250 East End Rd, East Finchley, N2 8AU  

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

Ward: East Finchley 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 4 

PTAL 2031:  4 

Site Size: 0.39 ha  

Ownership: Private 

Site source: Call for sites 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 
Child-care nursery. 

Development 

timeframe: 
0-5 6-10 years. 

Planning 

designations: 

Listed Building; 

Archaeological 

Priority Area 

568



 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

18/4547/FUL 

approved) 

extensions and 

creation of 

external 

playground. 

21/2602/FUL  – 25 

units (approved)  

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

The site contains a Grade II listed building, while to the rear are non-

listed elements of the building and car parking. The site adjoins East 

Finchley Centre. Surrounding buildings are mostly residential and consist 

of either 2-storey terraces or 3-storey housing blocks. Bus routes are 

close by and East Finchley Underground Station is within approximately 

half a kilometre. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS08, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH07, 

CDH08, TOW01, CHW01, CHW02, TRC01, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

25% Residential floorspace with 75% community 

floorspace.  

Community led mixed use development with 

residential. 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

  25 dwellings.  

569



 

Justification: The site is adjacent to the services of East Finchley 

Town Centre and close to tube and bus links. The area 

at the rear of the site provides an opportunity for 

intensification with a design that is respectful of the 

listed building.  

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

The building is in use as a child-care nursery, providing the community use on the site. Residential development to 

the rear of the site must protect and conserve or enhance the setting of the listed building. While pedestrian access 

is good, including a pathway directly to the nearby station, proposals for residential use at the rear of the site must 

resolve the issue of restricted access for any car parking and service vehicles. The site should be subject to an 

archaeological assessment.  

 

Site No. 24 East Finchley Station Car Park (East Finchley Town Centre) 

Site Address: High Rd East, Finchley, N2 0NW 

 Ward: East Finchley Image retained as submitted 

MM
105 

Site 24 East Finchley Station Car Park 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for development 
proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the development plan as whole. 

• Change the development timeframe to 11-15 years to reflect a more realistic prospect of when housing will be delivered during the plan 
period and ensure consistency with Table 5 of the Plan.  

• Remove percentages for proposed uses to provide flexibility for a design-led approach. 

• Confirm an approach to car parking that meets the requirements of TRC03 and has regard to Policy GSS12.  

• Add the requirement to conserve or enhance the setting of the adjacent Grade II listed station building, whilst clarifying that proposals should 
seek to protect the existing community garden close to the allocation boundary or mitigate its loss through equivalent or improved provision 
accessible to the community. 

• Include a requirement to consider opportunities to ensure effective connectivity to the Strategic Walking Network. 

570



 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

 

PTAL 2019: 5 

PTAL 2031:  5 

Site Size: 0.74 ha 

Ownership: Public (TfL) 

Site source: Call for sites 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 
Public car park 

Development 

timeframe: 
6-10 11-15 years 

Planning 

designations: 

Town Centre 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

Currently in use as the car park (269 spaces) for the adjacent 

Underground station. The site lies partly within, and partly adjoining, East 

Finchley Town Centre. Immediately adjoining the site is the Grade II listed 

East Finchley Station (including the platforms). Surrounding uses are a 

mix of office and residential in modern buildings of 3-4 storeys. The site is 

highly accessible by public transport. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan policies: 

GSS01, GSS08, GSS12, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, 

CDH04, CDH07, CDH08, TOW01, TOW02, TOW03, CHW01, 

CHW02, ECC02, TRC01, TRC03. 

571



 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

 70% residential floorspace and 30% commercial 

uses (E Class),   

Residential led mixed use development with 

commercial uses, public realm including station drop-

off and public car limited commuter car parking with 

the aim to re-provide only where essential, for 

example for disabled persons or operational reasons. 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

135 dwellings. 

Justification: In this highly accessible town centre location, the car park is a 

low intensity use; the potential for higher density usage 

including residential would be in line with the national and 

London Plan policy approaches to enhance the town centre 

and reduce commuter public car parking based on adjacency 

to the underground station and local bus routes, and 

provisions to encourage active modes of travel. 

572



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

Site layout of a proposal must take into account the will be important due to surrounding residential and transport 

uses. , along with the Grade II listed station building. Sensitive design is vital to conserve and enhance the adjacent 

Grade II listed station building and adjacent Hampstead Garden Suburb Conservation Area and their settings.  

It would might be advantageous to separate the needs of the station users from residents and visitors accessing the 

residential units. Access to the latter could be through Diploma Avenue, which would also provide a more direct 

route to the town centre, helping to integrate the new development into the surrounding area. Design proposals must 

demonstrate how they will sensitively take account of the neighbouring listed building, particularly with regard to 

building height, materials and architectural details. A building typology that favours high-density low to medium rise 

could provide the most suitable approach. with  High quality public realm is required to the front of the building to 

complement and enhance the existing station frontage. Public car parking requirements must be assessed and re-

provided as needed, and access ensured for people with disabilities.  

Proposals for redevelopment of car parking spaces must meet the requirements of TRC03 and have regard to Policy 

GSS12.  

If development extends beyond the allocation boundary proposals should protect the existing community garden or 

mitigate its loss through equivalent or improved re-provision, that is accessible to the community. 

This site lies on the Strategic Walking Network. Development proposals should take the opportunity to ensure 

effective connectivity to this network. 

MM
106 

Site 25 East Finchley Substation 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Changes to confirm the relevance and status of the application (21/5217/FUL) which is important to recognise that the allocation will 
contribute to the deliverable supply at the time of the Plan’s adoption. 

• Certainty that the indicative residential capacity contributing to housing supply in the Plan is reduced to 9 dwellings and the development 
timeframe should be identified as 6-10 years to reflect a more realistic prospect of when housing will be delivered during the plan period 
and ensure consistency with Table 5 of the Plan.  

573



 

Site No. 25 East Finchley Substation (East Finchley Town Centre) 

Site Address: High Rd, East Finchley, N2 0NL 

 

Map retained as submitted 

Ward: 
East Finchley 

Garden Suburb 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 4 

PTAL 2031:  4 

Site Size: 0.19 ha 

Ownership: 
Public (TfL) 

Private 

Site source: Call for sites 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Vacant (former 

substation for 

Northern Line) 

Development 

timeframe: 

 

11-15   6-10 years  

 

• Clarify that this indicative residential capacity is a minimum and that should any alternative application proposal seek an uplift within the 
allocation it would require demonstration of acceptability through a design-led approach in accordance with Policy D3 of the London Plan. 

• Remove percentages for proposed uses to provide flexibility for the design-led approach should an alternative application proposal come 
forward, and changes to the approach to heritage assets to ensure consistency with national policy. 

574



 

Planning 

designations: 

None 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

21/5217/FUL – 

new part-five, part-

six storey building, 

retail and office 

use (Class E) and 

9 dwellings  

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

The site lies close to the southern boundary of East Finchley Town centre 

and opposite the boundary of the Hampstead Garden Suburb 

conservation area; to the rear is the Underground line embankment, while 

to the south is a 3-storey office building. The existing building comprises 

a disused London Underground electricity substation. Public transport 

access is good. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS08, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH04, 

CDH07, CDH08, TOW01, TOW02, CHW02, ECC02, TRC01, 

TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

95% residential floorspace with 5% commercial 

(offices). 

Residential led mixed use development with small 

quantum of commercial (office) uses. 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

29  residential dwellings Minimum 9 dwellings.   

 

575



 

Justification: The facility is no longer in use for infrastructure and this highly 

accessible location offers an opportunity for redevelopment for 

residential with a small amount of commercial space that does 

not have a negative impact on the nearby town centre.  

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

The indicative residential capacity of 9 dwellings is a minimum figure. However, should a future proposal seek an 

uplift to the residential capacity within the allocation it would be required to demonstrate acceptability through a 

design-led approach in accordance with Policy D3 of the London Plan. The design must take account of the 

adjoining conservation area and listed buildings, to ensure that the significance of heritage assets is conserved or 

enhanced, and should provide a high-quality addition at this entranceway to the East Finchley Town Centre. Good 

access to public transport and town centre facilities support an intensification of the site. There is potential for a 

small amount of office uses on the ground floor, which should present an active frontage. Noise from passing trains 

must be mitigated for the residential use, particularly since trains run through the night on Friday and Saturday.  

 

Site No. 26 Park House (East Finchley Town Centre) 

Site Address: 16 High Rd, East Finchley, N2 9PJ 

MM
107 

Site 26 Park House 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Change the development timeframe to 6-10 years to reflect a more realistic prospect of when housing will be delivered on site.  

• Provide certainty that the indicative residential capacity contributing to housing supply in the Plan is reduced to 19 dwellings to be 
consistent with the most up-to-date calculations provided by the Council in EXAM75 and EXAM87.  

• Remove of percentages for proposed uses to provide necessary flexibility for a design-led approach, and changes to the approach to 
heritage assets to ensure consistency with national policy. 

• Clarify that any forthcoming application proposal should give consideration as part of a design-led approach to the integration with and 
enhancement of the entrance to Cherry Tree Wood. 

576



 

 

 

Ward: East Finchley 

 

PTAL 2019: 4 

PTAL 2031:  5 

Site Size: 0.2 ha 

Ownership: Council 

Site source: 
2015 call for 

sites 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Community 

building 

Development 

timeframe: 
0-5 6-10 years  

Planning 

designations: 

Town Centre 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

18/5822/FUL 

(approved) 

adjacent to the 

north for 24 

flats and office 

space 

577



 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

The site is within East Finchley Town Centre and consists of two storey 

buildings with outdoor amenity and parking spaces. The building is set 

back from the road and to the front is an area of green with mature trees. 

The building is in use as a childcare facility. The Grade II listed East 

Finchley station lies opposite. To the south is a railway embankment, 

along with Cherry Tree Wood which is Metropolitan Open Land and an 

area of Local Importance for Nature Conservation. To the north is a 

Victorian 3-storey terrace with retail uses, while to the rear of the site is 

low-rise housing. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan policies: 

GSS01, GSS08, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH04, 

CDH07, CDH08, TOW01, TOW02, TOW03, CHW01, 

CHW02, ECC02, TRC01, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

60% residential floorspace with 40% commercial 

(offices). 

Residential led development with community use. 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

 20  19 dwellings.  

Justification: The town centre site is highly accessible and can be 

intensified to provide a mix of residential and community 

uses.  

578



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

Design proposals must take a sensitive approach to building massing and height to ensure no loss of amenity for 

local residents. The site is prominent within East Finchley Town Centre and the design must be compatible with and 

contribute to the surrounding townscape, including the Grade II listed station, to ensure that the significance of 

heritage assets are conserved or enhanced. The area of green space with mature trees at the front should be 

maintained and improved, while the overall site design should attractively frame and signpost the entrance to the 

sensitive green area of Cherry Tree Wood to the south. Any forthcoming application proposal should give 

consideration as part of a design-led approach to the integration with, and enhancement of, the entrance to Cherry 

Tree Wood to encourage and promote its use. 

Proposals should be mindful that the site to the north permission was granted in 2020 (18/5822/FUL) for demolition 

of existing buildings and construction of two 4-storey buildings providing 24 flats, along with office space.  

The community facility must be re-provided and proposals must show how the community will benefit from the 

redevelopment. 

The site should be subject to an archaeological assessment. 

The design must mitigate noise from the adjacent railway and road, particularly since trains run through the night on 

Friday and Saturday. 

MM
108 

Site 27 Edgware Town Centre 

Reason for MM  

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Remove percentages for proposed uses to provide flexibility for a design-led approach and to ensure certainty of the residential-led mixed 
use development that will be supported, including the necessary transport infrastructure and an approach to car parking that meets the 
requirements of TRC02, TRC03 and has regard to Policy GSS12. 

• Clarify the approach to tall buildings in a manner consistent with Policy CDH04, and changes to the approach to heritage assets to ensure 
consistency with national policy. 

• Reflect development of Premier Place – 122 dwellings as part of Site 27. 

• Provide certainty that as the site lies on the Strategic Walking network that development proposals should take opportunities to ensure 
effective connectivity thereto. 

579



 

Site No. 27 Edgware Town Centre (Edgware Growth Area) 

Site Address: Station Rd, Edgware, HA8 

 

Map and Image retained as 

submitted 

Ward: Edgware 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 6A 

PTAL 2031:  6A 

Site Size: 7.83 ha 

Ownership: Private,Council and TfL 

Site source: 
Edgware Town Centre 

Framework (2013) 

Context 

type: 
Central 

Existing or 

most recent 

site use/s: 

Retail, office, residential and 

car parking. 

Developmen

t timeframe: 

6-10 years. Development of 

Premier Place within 1 – 5 

years 

Planning 

designations

: 

Town Centre; Archaeological 

Priority Area 

580



 

Relevant 

planning 

applications: 

16/0112/FUL (approved) at 

120-124 Station Road for 

122 flats and retail (Premier 

Place); 19/6697/FUL 

(approved) at 30 High Street 

offices and 14 residential 

units; 17/4335/FUL 

(approved) at 1-2 Church 

Way 9 flats; 19/6776/FUL 

(refused) land to rear of 

Railway Hotel to be used as 

a car park. 

 

Site 

description

:  

The site is within Edgware Town Centre and includes Primary Retail Frontages. It 

encompasses the Broadwalk Shopping Centre (with roof car parking), a 

supermarket and associated car parking. To the north and west the sites faces 

onto Station Road and A5 Edgware Road with retail frontages in mid-20th Century 

buildings. The site also includes some office and residential uses. To the south is 

a mosque and a primary school, along with low-rise housing. To the east are the 

bus and railway stations. The Grade II listed Railway Hotel – a local landmark 

building - is close to the north western part of the site. Public transport 

accessibility is high. Edgware is identified as a strategic location for where tall 

buildings of 8 storeys or more. Tall buildings may be appropriate within the 

boundaries of the Town Centre.  

Applicable 

Draft Local 

Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS05, GSS12, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, CDH04, 

CDH07, CDH08, TOW01, TOW02, TOW03, TOW04, CHW01, CHW02, ECY01, 

ECY02, ECY03, ECC02, TRC01, TRC03 

581



 

Proposed uses/ allocation (as a 

proportion of floorspace): 

75% residential floorspace with 25% mixed uses of town 

centre commercial (retail and office), entertainment, 

community, and car parking  

Residential led mixed use development with town centre 

uses, commercial (retail and office), leisure, community and 

car parking. 

Indicative residential capacity:  2379 dwellings  

Justification: The site is highly accessible by public transport and includes large areas of 

brownfield land, surface car parking and low-density buildings. Intensification is 

an opportunity to improve the quality of the build environment and deliver 

benefits for the local area while providing new housing and town centre uses. 

582



 

Site 

requireme

nts and 

developme

nt 

guidelines: 

The site’s high accessibility, town centre context and potential for tall buildings support a high density of 

redevelopment. Proposals must consider existing site uses, including retail, offices and residents. Car parking 

requirements must be assessed and re-provided as needed  

Residential-led mixed use development should provide the necessary transport infrastructure with regard to Policy 

TRC02. Proposals for redevelopment of car parking spaces must meet the requirements of TRC03 and have regard to 

Policy GSS12.  

Proposals must consider the site context which includes the Grade II listed Railway Hotel to ensure that the 

significance of heritage assets are conserved or enhanced, together with the existing character of Station Road and 

the High Street, Edgware Primary School to the south, and the relationship with adjacent low-rise suburban housing.  

Consistent with Policy CDH04, all tall building proposals will be subject to a detailed assessment of how the proposed 

building relates to its surroundings, responds to topography, contributes to character, relates to public realm, natural 

environment and digital connectivity. Further guidance will be provided by the Designing for Density SPD. 

Proposals must be subject to an archaeological assessment.  

The scale of development is likely to require upgrades to the wastewater network. The developer and the Council 

should liaise with Thames Water at the earliest opportunity to agree a housing and infrastructure phasing plan to 

ensure development does not outpace delivery of essential network upgrades. 

The potential risk of surface water flooding must be considered.   

This site lies on the Strategic Walking Network and development proposals should therefore take the opportunity to 

ensure effective connectivity to this network. 

The emerging Edgware Growth Area SPD (2021) provides further guidance. 

MM
109 

Site 28 Edgware Underground & Bus Stations 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

583



 

Site No. 28 Edgware Underground & Bus Stations (Edgware Growth Area) 

Site Address: Station Rd, Edgware, HA8 7AW 

 

Map retained as submitted 

Ward: Edgware 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 6B 

PTAL 2031:  6B 

Site Size: 8.17 ha 

Ownership: TfL 

Site source: 

Call for Sites and 

Edgware Town 

Centre Framework 

(2013) 

Context type: Central 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Transport 

operations 

Development 

timeframe: 
6-10 years 

• Reduce indicative residential capacity to 2316 dwellings to be consistent with the most up-to-date calculation provided in EXAM75 and 
EXAM87.  

• Remove percentages for proposed uses to provide necessary flexibility for a design-led approach and ensure certainty of the residential-
led mixed use development that will be supported, including the necessary transport infrastructure and an approach to car parking that 
meets the requirements of TRC02, TRC03, and has regard to Policy GSS12. 

• Clarify approach to tall buildings in a manner consistent with Policy CDH04 and the relationship with nearby heritage assets, and provide 
certainty that as the site lies on the Strategic Walking network that development proposals should take opportunities to ensure effective 
connectivity thereto. 

584



 

Planning 

designations: 

Town Centre; Site 

of Borough 

Importance for 

Nature 

Conservation 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

The northern part is within Edgware Town Centre, facing onto the main 

shopping street, including Primary Shopping Frontage. The site 

encompasses Edgware Station, platforms and tracks, the bus garage 

with parking and access, along with areas of open land to the south and 

east. To the west is the Broadwalk Shopping Centre, classified as 

Primary Retail Frontage, with associated car parking. To the south and 

east is low-rise suburban housing, with the Watling Street Conservation 

Area adjacent to part of the site. Public transport accessibility is high for 

the northern and western elements of the site. The culverted Deans 

Brook runs through part of the site, and flood risk zone levels 2 and 3 

overlaps the north eastern boundary of the site in some places. There is 

also some surface water flood risk. A Site of Borough Importance for 

Nature Conservation covers the south eastern parts of the site. Edgware 

is a strategic location for tall buildings of 8 storeys or more. Tall buildings 

may be appropriate within the boundaries of the Town Centre. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS05, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH04, CDH07, CDH08, TOW01, TOW02, TOW03, TOW04, 

CHW01, CHW02, ECY01, ECY03, ECC02, ECC02A, TRC01, 

TRC02, TRC03 

585



 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

70% residential floorspace with 30% mixed uses of 

town centre commercial (retail and office) and 

transport infrastructure.  

Residential led mixed use development with town 

centre uses, commercial (retail and office), transport, 

leisure, community, public realm /open space, and 

limited commuter car parking with the aim to re-

provide only where essential, for example for 

disabled persons or operational reasons. 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

 

2317 2316 dwellings.  

Justification: The western parts of the site are highly accessible and provide 

a town centre location which is currently underused. The need 

to maintain the London Underground infrastructure, and the 

barriers imposed by this infrastructure, make the eastern and 

southern parts of the site far more challenging and restricted in 

terms of potential for redevelopment. 

586



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

The site’s high accessibility, town centre context and potential for tall buildings support a high density of 

redevelopment in the western and northern parts of the site. Consistent with Policy CDH04, all tall buildings will be 

subject to a detailed assessment of how the proposed building relates to its surroundings, responds to topography, 

contributes to character, relates to public realm, natural environment and digital connectivity. Further guidance will 

be provided by the Designing for Density SPD.  Proposals must carefully consider the context of the adjacent 

Watling Estate Conservation Area, to ensure that the significance of nearby heritage assets are conserved or 

enhanced, and the relationship with surrounding low-rise suburban housing. 

Residential-led mixed use development should provide the necessary transport infrastructure with regard to Policy 

TRC02. Bus operations and the function of the bus station must be protected or re-provided as part of any 

redevelopment. London Underground infrastructure and operations must also be maintained. 

Proposals for redevelopment of car parking spaces must meet the requirements of TRC03 and have regard to Policy 

GSS12.  

Proposals must be subject to an archaeological assessment.  

Proposals should preserve the area of Borough Importance for Nature Conservation which covers the south eastern 

part of the site, including the areas around Deans Brook. The SFRA Level 2 provides a detailed assessment of flood 

risks and the impact from climate change and shows parts of the site are in Flood Zone 3 and at surface water flood 

risk. Where possible, proposals for the site should consider de-culverting of Deans Brook and inclusion of an 

appropriate buffer zone either side of the main river. Under no circumstances should built development be allowed 

on top of the culvert, and access should be maintained along the entire length. 

The scale of development is likely to require upgrades to the wastewater network. The developer and the Council 

should liaise with Thames Water at the earliest opportunity to agree a housing and infrastructure phasing plan to 

ensure development does not outpace delivery of essential network upgrades. 

This site lies on the Strategic Walking Network and development proposals should therefore take the opportunity to 

ensure effective connectivity to this network and open up its access to the Silk Stream with a walking and cycling 

route. 

587



 

Proposals must carefully consider the context of the adjacent Watling Estate Conservation Area and surrounding 

low-rise suburban housing. 

The emerging Edgware Growth Area SPD (2021) provides further guidance. 

 

MM110 Site 29 Scratchwood Quarry 

Reason for MM  

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole 

• Remove (as a proportion of floorspace) to be consistent with all other site proposals. 

Site No. 29 Scratchwood Quarry  

Site Address: NW7 3JA  

 

 

 

 

Map retained as submitted 

Ward: Edgware 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 0 

PTAL 2031:  0 

Site Size: 3.1ha 

Ownership: TfL 

Site source: 
C.F Cronin 
(London) Limited  
 

Context type: Urban 

588



 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Waste 
management  
 

Development 

timeframe: 

Potential to 
increase waste 
volume handled 
over the Plan 
Period  
 

Planning 

designations: 

A previously 
developed site 
within the Green 
Belt; 
Archaeological 
Priority Area  
 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

The site lies within a former quarry which is now used for waste 
processing. There is recycling of concretes and aggregates materials for 
highways maintenance and utilities industries. The site is leased over 
three plots, with current operational use on all three leased plots, 
although some of the site is underused/ part vacant.  

The site is located to the north of the raised M1 carriageway and adjacent 

to the Midland Main Line railway. Woodland surrounds the site on the 

other sides. Access is via a long service road which links to roads serving 

the M1. This is a previously developed site within the Green Belt. The site 

is also adjacent to Metropolitan SINC and a Local Nature Reserve.  

589



 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, ECC01, ECC02, ECC02A, ECC03, ECC05, ECC06  

 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

Waste management  

 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

NA  

Justification: 
The site is remote from residential areas and is accessible via 
suitable roads. 
 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

There is potential to increase the volume of waste processed through the site by more efficient and intensive use.  
Proposals must be subject to an archaeological assessment.  

Any proposal must preserve the openness of the Green Belt and avoid harm to the SINC and Local Nature Reserve.  

 

 

MM 
111 

Site 30 Finchley Central Station 

Reason for MM  

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Provide the correct site address as Regents Park Road / Chaville Way / Nether Street / Station Road and Crescent Road. 

• Clarify that the site allocation relates to land adjacent to the railway tracks and Finchley Central Station.  

• Changes to the requirements relating to nearby heritage assets to ensure consistency with national policy. 

590



 

Site No. 30 Finchley Central Station (Finchley Central/ Church End Town Centre)  

 

Site Address: Squires Lane/Regents Park Road / Chaville Way / Nether Street / Station Road and Crescent Road Finchley 

N312 (land adjacent to railway verges and airspace above tracks and Finchley Central Station). 

 

 

Ward: 

Finchley Church 

End and West 

Finchley 

  

PTAL 2019: 6A 

PTAL 2031:  6A 

Site Size: 4.15 ha 

Ownership: Public (TfL) 

Site source: Call for sites 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 
Station, retail 

Development 

timeframe: 
6-10 years 

• Remove percentages for proposed uses to provide flexibility for a design-led approach, also provide certainty of the residential-led mixed 
use development  and include the necessary transport infrastructure and an approach to car parking that meets the requirements of 
TRC03 and has regard to Policy GSS12. 

• Certainty of the approach to tall buildings that is consistent with Policy CDH04 and clarify that as the site lies on the Strategic Walking 
network that development proposals should take opportunities to ensure effective connectivity thereto. 

591



 

 

Planning 

designations: 

Town Centre; 

Archaeological 

Priority Area 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

592



 

Image retained as submitted 

Site 

description:  

Comprises land at Finchley Central station located either side of 

Regents Park Road (A598) and either side of the railway tracks. The 

site extends beyond the town centre and includes Secondary 

Frontage at Station Road. Site uses include the station and car 

park, retail and office units on Nether Street and Station Road and 

vacant, incidental land adjacent to rail tracks. The Town Centre 

Strategy highlights 3 specific parcels of land -  

• Site 4: 290-298 Nether Street: - poor quality buildings, 
numerous advertisements and cluttered nature has a 
negative impact on town centre townscape. 

• Site 5: Finchley Central Station car park (and land to the 
east): pedestrian environment between Ballards Lane and 
station has limited pavement space, lack of natural 
surveillance and generally poor-quality public realm.  Part of 
the site is currently used as a commuter car park (267 
surface parking spaces).   

• Site 6: Station Road: point of arrival for significant number of 
users of town centre. Buildings of a generally poor quality 
and fail to make effective use of the land.  Builders’ yard 
creates noise, disturbance and vehicle movements which 
impact on residential amenity.  

The surrounding context is mixed, with a 9-storey office building 

(Central House) to the north of station, with other nearby taller 

buildings on the high street including the Travelodge hotel (6/7 

storeys) and Gateway House (8 storeys). Ballards Lane/ Regents 

Park Road is lined with 3-4 storey buildings in retail and office uses. 

The north-western and south-eastern parts of the site are adjacent 

to 2-3 storey terraced housing. The Town Centre Strategy makes 

reference to a distinctive character within Church End known as the 

‘Finchley vernacular’. There is a Grade II listed cattle trough at 

593



 

junction of Ballards Lane/ Nether Street.  Finchley Church End 

Conservation Area is located a short distance to the south west of 

the site.   

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS08, GSS12, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, 

CDH03, CDH04, CDH08, TOW01, TOW02, TOW03, CHW02, 

TOW04, ECY01, ECY02, ECY03, ECC02, TRC01, TRC02, 

TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

50% residential uses with 50% retained transport 

infrastructure, commercial uses and car parking  

Residential led mixed use development with transport 

infrastructure, commercial uses and limited commuter 

car parking with the aim to re-provide only where 

essential, for example for disabled persons or 

operational reasons, reflecting the site’s highly 

accessible location and encouraging the use of public 

transport and active modes of travel. 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

 556 dwellings.  

Justification: The site is a highly accessible town centre location that offers 

considerable potential for intensification.  

594



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

Comprehensive residential led mixed use development will be supported with improved access to the station from 

Regent’s Park Road and enhanced visual and functional connection between station and town centre. Finchley 

Church End Town Centre is a location where, consistent with Policy CDH04, tall buildings of 8 storeys or more may 

be appropriate. However, all tall building proposals will be subject to a detailed assessment of how the proposed 

building relates to its surroundings and responds to topography, contributes to character, relates to public realm, 

natural environment and digital connectivity. Further guidance will be provided by the Designing for Density SPD.  

There is potential to deck over railway tracks, particularly at Regent’s Park Road overbridge, to optimise 

development potential and provide a continuous active frontage and strong visual link between Ballards Lane and 

Regent’s Park Road town centre frontages.  

There is potential for ‘meanwhile’ uses on parts of the site at the early stages of development to help create an 

identity and attraction. Development should create active and attractive frontages particularly along Regents Park 

Road / Ballards Lane, Station Road and Nether Street. 

Floorspace could take the form of flexible and affordable workspace, small / affordable shop units suitable for SMEs.   

Development should take into account proximity of the Grade II listed cattle trough at junction of Ballards Lane/ 

Nether Street and Finchley Church End Conservation Area and respond to the ‘Finchley vernacular’ in a positive 

manner, including incorporation of design features and elements as appropriate, to ensure that the significance of 

heritage assets is conserved or enhanced.  

Provision of transport infrastructure should be consistent with Policy TRC02. For any loss of car parking spaces an 

assessment must be undertaken and mitigation provided to encourage the use of public transport and active modes 

of travel. Proposals for redevelopment of car parking spaces must meet the requirements of TRC03 and have 

regard to Policy GSS12. The development should reflect the ‘Healthy Streets Approach’ with improved interchange 

facilities for pedestrians and cyclists. 

The wastewater network capacity in this area may be unable to support the demand anticipated from this 

development. Where there is a potential wastewater network capacity constraint, the developer should liaise with 

Thames Water to determine whether a detailed drainage strategy informing what infrastructure is required. The 

detailed drainage strategy should be submitted with the planning application. Proposals must be subject to an 

archaeological assessment.  

595



 

This site lies near to the Strategic Walking Network. Development proposals should take the opportunity to ensure 

effective connectivity to this network. Finchley Church End Town Centre is a strategic location for tall buildings of 8 

storeys or more. Tall buildings may be appropriate within the boundaries of the Town Centre. 

Site No. 31 Brentmead Place (Major Thoroughfare) 

Site Address: 1-6 Brentmead Place (North Circular Road), Golder's Green, NW11 9JG 

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

Ward: Golders Green 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 3 

PTAL 2031:  3 

Site Size: 0.27 ha 

Ownership: Public (TfL) 

Site source: Call for sites 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Mostly an open 

site with two 

buildings. 

Development 

timeframe: 
0-5 years 

MM
112 

Site 31 Brentmead Place 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 

development plan as whole. 

596



 

Planning 

designations: 

None 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

Adjacent to the North Circular Road (A406). Previous use of the site was 

residential; the houses were acquired by Department for Transport for a 

road widening scheme that was never brought forward. TfL demolished 

most of the homes on the site after they were vandalised and became 

unsafe. A synagogue occupies the two remaining houses on a short lease 

as a ‘meanwhile use’ prior to the site being comprehensively 

redeveloped. Surrounding buildings are large houses of 2-3 storeys. Site 

access is difficult. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS11, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH04, 

CDH07, CHW02, ECC02, TRC01, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

Residential 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

 46 dwellings. 

Justification: The site is underused and sits in an urban location, 

predominantly surrounded by housing.  

597



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

The North Circular Road generates high levels of air and noise pollution which any proposal must assess and 

mitigate. Site accessibility issues must be resolved.  

The site is close to an Archaeological Priority Area and should be subject to an archaeological assessment. 

Reason for MM 
The site allocation has not been demonstrated to be developable when taking account of the presence within the site of a small park and public 
car parking, together with its relationship to surrounding properties. The site allocation as proposed in the Plan is therefore not justified and, 
therefore, the proposed site allocation is to be deleted from the Plan. 

Site No. 32 Manor Park Road car park 

Site Address: 72-76 Manor Park Rd, East Finchley, N2 0SJ 

 

 

Map and Image as submitted - deleted 

Ward: East Finchley 

Image as submitted - deleted 

PTAL 2019: 1A 

PTAL 2031:  1A 

Site Size: 0.08 ha 

Ownership: Council 

Site source: 

Council assets 

disposal 

programme 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Public car park 

and small park 

MM
113 

Site 32 Manor Park Road car park 

598



 

Development 

timeframe: 
6-10 years 

Planning 

designations: 

None 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

An area formerly occupied by three terrace houses and surrounded by 

low-rise housing. The front part of the site is a public car park. The rear 

part of the site is occupied by a small public park with benches, lighting 

and fencing. The High Barnet Northern Line runs to the rear of the site. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS12, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH07, CHW01, CHW02, ECC04, TRC01, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

Residential 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

 7 

Justification: The open site is in a residential area where a suitable design 

could deliver new homes.  

599



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

The scale of any redevelopment should be no higher than the adjoining terrace dwellings of 2-3 storeys. proposals 

for residential use must undertake an assessment of car parking needs. Any loss of public open space will require 

robust justification. 

 

Site No. 33 Bunns Lane Car Park (Mill Hill Town Centre) 

Site Address: Bunns Lane, Mill Hill, NW7 2AA 

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

 

Ward: Hale Edgwarebury  

Image retained as submitted 

 

 

 

PTAL 2019: 4 

PTAL 2031:  5 

Site Size: 0.33 ha 

Ownership: Council 

MM
114 

Site 33 Bunns Lane Car Park 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Change the development timeframe to 6-10 years to reflect a more realistic prospect of when housing will be delivered on site.  

• Remove percentages for proposed uses to provide necessary flexibility for a design-led approach for any future application.  

• Include an approach to car parking that meets the requirements of TRC03 and has regard to Policy GSS12. 

600



 

Site source: 

Council assets 

disposal 

programme 

 

 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Car park (adjacent 

to Mill Hill 

Broadway station) 

Development 

timeframe: 
6 -10 years 

Planning 

designations: 

None 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

Comprising the car park (184 spaces) for Mill Hill Broadway Station and 

the Town Centre. The car park is also used when Saracens are playing at 

the StoneX Stadium in nearby Copthall home. The site is immediately 

adjacent to the Midland Main Railway on the eastern boundary, with the 

raised M1 carriageway immediately beyond. Mill Hill Broadway town 

centre is immediately to the east. To the west is low-rise suburban 

housing. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS08, GSS12, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, 

CDH03, CDH07, TOW01, TOW02, CHW02, ECY03, ECC02, 

TRC01, TRC02, TRC03 

601



 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

50% residential floorspace,  25% hotel floorspace and 

25%, re-provision of car parking.  

Residential led mixed use development (which may 

include hotel) and re-provision of car parking.   

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

 43 dwellings. 

Justification: The site is highly accessible by public transport and is located 

adjacent to the shops and services of Mill Hill Broadway.  

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

While the site is highly accessible and close to local services, any development must fully assess and mitigate the 

air and noise pollution caused by the proximity to the raised motorway and mainline railway. Proposals must take 

into account existing residential areas to the west and south, including concern over potential overspill car parking; 

there may be further need to control for residents-only parking. Site characteristics, including connectivity, offer the 

potential for visitor accommodation, such as a hotel. The design must ensure active frontages facing on to Bunns 

Lane. Public car parking provision should also be assessed and re-provided as needed.  

Proposals for redevelopment of car parking spaces must meet the requirements of Policy TRC03 and have regard to 

Policy GSS12.  

MM
115 

Site 34 Burroughs Gardens Car Park 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Remove reference to SPD as it has been withdrawn. 

• Changes to the approach to the historic environment to ensure consistency with national policy. 

• Changes to the development timeframe to 6-10 years to reflect a more realistic prospect of when housing will be delivered on site.  

• Provide an approach to car parking that meets the requirements of TRC03 and has regard to Policy GSS12. 

602



 

Site No. 34 Burroughs Gardens Car Park (Middlesex University and The Burroughs) 

Site Address: The Burroughs, Hendon, NW4 4AU 

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

 

Ward: Hendon 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 4 

PTAL 2031:  4 

Site Size: 0.06 ha 

Ownership: Council 

Site source: 

 

Emerging 

Burroughs and 

Middlesex 

University SPD 

Call for Sites  

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 
Public car park 

Development 

timeframe: 

 0-5 years 6-10 

years 

 

603



 

Planning 

designations: 

Conservation 

Area; 

Archaeological 

Priority Area 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

 

Site description:  A small car park located in The Burroughs Conservation Area. 

Adjacent to 2-3 storey buildings in office and residential use. 

Public transport is provided by several bus routes which run 

along the Burroughs. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS12, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH08, CHW02, TRC01, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

Residential 

 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

 9 dwellings 

Justification: The site presents an underutilised space within an urban area 

that can be intensified for residential development.  

604



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

The sensitive context of the Conservation Area, surrounding heritage assets and 2-3 storey buildings mean that any 

proposal must be of a suitable scale and design, to ensure that the significance of heritage assets is conserved or 

enhanced. Design proposals must take into account maintaining visibility of the heritage buildings to the rear of the 

site.  

The site is within an Archaeological Priority Area and must be subject to an archaeological assessment. 

Proposals for redevelopment of car parking spaces must meet the requirements of TRC03 and have regard to Policy 

GSS12.  

Car parking requirements should be assessed, and spaces re-provided as needed. Further planning guidance will 

be provided by the emerging Burroughs and Middlesex University SPD. 

Site No. 35 Egerton Gardens Car Park (Middlesex University and The Burroughs) 

Site Address: The Burroughs, Hendon, NW4 8BD 

 Ward: Hendon Image retained as submitted 

MM
116 

Site 35 Egerton Gardens Car Park 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole.  

• Remove reference to SPD as it has been withdrawn. 

• Changes to the approach to the historic environment to ensure consistency with national policy. 

• Certainty of the indicative residential capacity contributing to housing supply in the Plan of 25 residential units (including a ratio of 2.5 
student rooms to 1 standard housing unit) based on recent planning applications (Ref no: 21/4709/FUL & 23/2868/FUL), and the 6-10 
year timeframe to reflect a more realistic prospect of when student housing will be delivered on site given that a planning permission has 
yet to be granted.  

• Remove the percentages for proposed uses to provide necessary flexibility for a design-led approach of any future application. 

• Provide an approach to car parking that meets the requirements of TRC03 and has regard to Policy GSS12. 

 

605



 

Map and Image retained as submitted PTAL 2019: 4 

PTAL 2031:  4 

Site Size: 0.09 ha 

Ownership: Council 

Site source: 

 

Emerging 

Burroughs and 

Middlesex 

University SPD 

Call for Sites  

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 
Public car park 

Development 

timeframe: 

0-5 years 6-10 

years 

Planning 

designations: 

None 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

 21/4709/FUL   

and revised 

application 

23/2868/FUL (both 

undetermined) 

606



 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

A small surface car park (29 spaces) that is close to the Burroughs 

Conservation Area and opposite a range of Grade II listed buildings, 

including Hendon Town Hall, Library and Fire Station.  Middlesex 

University occupies many buildings in the area. The site is also within the 

immediate setting of two churches on The Burroughs/ Egerton Gardens 

which have been nominated for locally listing (Hendon Methodist Church 

and Our Lady of Delours Roman Catholic Church). Buildings adjacent to 

the site are 3-storeys with retail uses on the ground floor, while to the rear 

is a residential suburban road. Bus routes run along The Burroughs. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01,  GSS12, HOU01, HOU02, HOU04, CDH01, CDH02, 

CDH03, CDH08, CHW02, TRC01, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ 

allocation (as a 

proportion of floorspace): 

Residential 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

69 Student halls of residence (equivalent to 23 standard 

residential). units on the ratio that 3 student rooms are 

equivalent to 1 standard housing unit)  

25 residential units (ratio of 2.5 student rooms to 1 

standard housing unit). 

Justification: The site presents an underutilised space within an urban area 

that can be intensified for residential development.  

607



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

Proposals must be of a suitable scale and style which reflects the design context of heritage assets and low-rise 

buildings, to ensure that the significance of heritage assets is conserved or enhanced. Accommodation will be in the 

form of student halls of residence – the indicative capacity shown is on the ratio of three student rooms to one 

conventional unit of accommodation. Car parking requirements should be assessed, and spaces re-provided as 

needed. Proposals for redevelopment of car parking spaces must meet the requirements of TRC03 and have regard 

to Policy GSS12.  

The site adjoins an Archaeological Priority Area and must be subject to an archaeological assessment.  

Further planning guidance will be provided by the emerging Burroughs and Middlesex University SPD. 

 

Site No. 36 Fenella (Middlesex University and The Burroughs) 

Site Address: The Burroughs, Hendon, NW4 4BS 

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

Ward: Hendon 
Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 4 

MM
117 

Site 36 Fenella 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Remove reference to SPD as it has been withdrawn. 

• Changes to the approach to the historic environment to ensure consistency with national policy. 

• Provide certainty of the indicative residential capacity contributing to housing supply in the Plan of 65 residential units (including a ratio of 
2.5 student rooms to 1 standard housing unit) based on two planning applications (Ref no: 21/4709/FUL and the revised application 
23/2868/FUL). 

• Change the development timeframe to 6-10 years to reflect a more realistic prospect of when student housing will be delivered on site 
given that a planning permission has yet to be granted.  

• Remove the percentages for proposed uses to provide necessary flexibility for a design-led approach for any future application. 

608



 

PTAL 2031:  4 

Site Size: 0.26 ha 

Ownership: Council 

Site source: 

Emerging 

Burroughs and 

Middlesex 

University SPD 

Call for Sites 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 
Education 

Development 

timeframe: 
0-5  6-10 years 

Planning 

designations: 

None 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

21/4709/FUL and 

revised application 

23/2868/FUL (both 

undetermined) 

609



 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

A modern 2-storey office building owned by Council and currently used by 

Middlesex University for administrative functions; the surrounding area 

contains Middlesex University’s main campus. The site is opposite a 

range of Grade II listed buildings, including Hendon Town Hall, Library 

and Fire Station and is close to both the Burroughs and Hendon Church 

End Conservation Areas. Surrounding buildings are of 2-4 storeys, while 

to the rear is a residential suburban road. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01,  HOU01, HOU02, HOU04, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH08, CHW01, CHW02, TRC01, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ 

allocation (as a 

proportion of floorspace): 

90% residential (halls of residence) floorspace with 10% 

educational uses  

Residential led development (halls of residence) with 

educational uses 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

180 Student halls of residence equivalent to 65 60 

standard residential units on the ratio that 3 student 

rooms are equivalent to 1 standard housing unit) 

(ratio of 2.5 student rooms to 1 standard housing unit) 

Justification: Greater use can be made of this well-located site to provide 

accommodation and for educational purposes.  

610



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

The University’s future needs will be a key determinant for this site, with the potential to use part of the site for 

educational purposes such as a lecture hall. Proposals must be of a suitable scale and style which reflects the 

design context of heritage assets and low-rise buildings, to ensure that the significance of the heritage assets is 

conserved or enhanced. Accommodation will be in the form of student halls of residence – the indicative capacity 

shown is on the ratio of three student rooms to one conventional unit of accommodation. The site adjoins an 

Archaeological Priority Area and must be subject to an archaeological assessment. Further guidance will be 

provided by the Emerging Burroughs and Middlesex University SPD. 

Site No.37 This site was previously removed due to it being unlikely to come forward for redevelopment during the 

Local Plan period. The site number is being retained to provide consistency of site numbering between 

the Plan versions subject of consultation.  

Site No. 38 Ravensfield House (Middlesex University and The Burroughs) 

Site Address: The Burroughs, Hendon, NW4 4BT 

 Ward: Hendon Image retained as submitted 

   

MM
118 

Site 38 Ravensfield House 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Remove reference to SPD as it has been withdrawn. 

• Changes to the approach to the historic environment to ensure consistency with national policy. 

• Provide certainty of the indicative residential capacity contributing to housing supply in the Plan of 90 residential units (including a ratio of 
2.5 student rooms to 1 standard housing unit) based on planning applications (Ref no: 21/4709/FUL and 23/2868/FUL), and a 6-10 year 
development timeframe to reflect a more realistic prospect of when student housing will be delivered on site given that a planning 
permission has yet to be granted.  

• Remove the percentages for proposed uses to provide necessary flexibility for a design-led approach for any future application. 

611



 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

  

PTAL 2019: 3 

PTAL 2031:  4 

Site Size: 0.36 ha 

Ownership: Council 

Site source: 

Emerging 

Burroughs and 

Middlesex 

University SPD 

Call for Sites 

 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Community 

meeting facility 

Development 

timeframe: 

0-5 years 6-10 

years  

Planning 

designations: 

None 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

21/4709/FUL and 

revised application 

23/2868/FUL (both 

undetermined) 

612



 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

A modern 2-storey building owned by Council but currently being used by 

Middlesex University. The site is opposite a range of Grade II listed 

buildings, including Hendon Town Hall, Library and Fire Station and is 

close to both the Burroughs and Hendon Church End Conservation 

Areas. Surrounding buildings adjacent to the site are of 2-3 storeys, while 

to the rear is toward low-rise residential areas. Bus routes run along the 

Burroughs. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01,  HOU01, HOU02, HOU04, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH08, CHW01, CHW02, TRC01, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

90% residential (halls of residence) floorspace with 

10% educational uses  

Residential led development (halls of residence) with 

educational uses. 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

252 student halls of residence (equivalent to 84 

standard residential units on the ratio that 3 student 

rooms is taken as equivalent of 1 new housing unit) 

Student halls of residence equivalent to 90 residential 

units (ratio of 2.5 student rooms to 1 standard 

housing unit) 

Justification: Greater use can be made of this well-located site to provide 

accommodation and for educational purposes.  

613



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

The University’s future needs will be a key determinant for this site, with the potential to use part of the site for 

educational purposes such as a lecture hall. Proposals must be of a suitable scale and style which reflects the 

design context of heritage assets and low-rise buildings, to ensure that the significance of heritage assets is 

conserved or enhanced. Accommodation will be in the form of student halls of residence – the indicative capacity 

shown is on the ratio of three student rooms to one conventional unit of accommodation.  

The site adjoins an Archaeological Priority Area and must be subject to an archaeological assessment.  

Further guidance will be provided by the Emerging Burroughs and Middlesex University SPD. 

Site No. 39 The Burroughs Car Park (Middlesex University and The Burroughs) 

Site Address: The Burroughs, Hendon, NW4 4AR 

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

 

Ward: Hendon 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 4 

PTAL 2031:  4 

Site Size: 0.13 ha 

Ownership: Council 

MM
119 

Site 39 The Burroughs Car Park 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Remove reference to SPD as it has been withdrawn. 

• Changes to the approach to the historic environment to ensure consistency with national policy. 

• Changes to the development timeframe to 6-10 years to reflect a more realistic prospect of when housing will be delivered on site.  

• Provide an explanation of the approach to car parking that meets the requirements of TRC03 and has regard to Policy GSS12. 

614



 

Site source: 

Emerging 

Burroughs and 

Middlesex 

University SPD 

Call for Sites  

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 
Car parking 

Development 

timeframe: 
0-5 6-10 years  

Planning 

designations: 

Conservation 

Area; 

Archaeological 

Priority Area 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

A public car park (46 spaces) located in The Burroughs Conservation 

Area. The site is adjacent to 2-3 storey buildings in office and residential 

use. Bus routes run along the Burroughs. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS12, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH08, CHW02, TRC01, TRC03 

615



 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

Residential  

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

 21 dwellings. 

Justification: The site presents an underutilised space within an urban area 

that can be intensified for residential development.  

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

The sensitive context of the Conservation Area, surrounding heritage assets and 2-3 storey buildings mean that any 

proposal must be of a suitable scale and design to conserve or enhance the significance of the historic environment. 

Design proposals must take into account maintaining visibility of the heritage buildings to the rear of the site. Car 

parking requirements should be assessed, and spaces re-provided as needed. Proposals for redevelopment of car 

parking spaces must meet the requirements of TRC03 and have regard to Policy GSS12. 

The site is within an Archaeological Priority Area and must be subject to an archaeological assessment. Further 

planning guidance will be provided by the emerging Burroughs and Middlesex SPD. 

 

MM
120 

Site 40 Meritage Centre 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Remove reference to SPD as it has been withdrawn. 

• Certainty of the indicative residential capacity contributing to housing supply in the Plan of 73 residential units (including a ratio of 2.5 
student rooms to 1 standard housing unit) based on the planning application 21/4722/FUL, to be delivered within a 6-10 year development 
timeframe to reflect a more realistic prospect of when student housing will be delivered on site given that a planning permission has yet to 
be granted.  

• Remove the percentages for proposed uses to provide necessary flexibility for a design-led approach for any future application and 
changes to the approach to the historic environment to align with Policy CDH08 and ensure consistency with national policy. 

616



 

Site No. 40 Meritage Centre (Middlesex University and The Burroughs)  

Site Address: 28-46 Meritage Centre, Church End Hendon NW4 4JT 

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

 

Ward: Hendon 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 2 

PTAL 2031:  2 

Site Size: 0.33 ha 

Ownership: Council 

Site source: 

Emerging 

Burroughs and 

Middlesex 

University SPD Call 

for Sites 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Office/ Community 

Space with 

associated car 

parking 

Development 

timeframe: 

0-5 years 6-10 

years 

• Provides certainty of the approach to biodiversity and trees. 

617



 

Planning 

designations: 

Conservation Area; 

Archaeological 

Priority Area 

Relevant 

planning 

applications: 

None 21/4722/FUL 

(undetermined)  

 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

The site contains a modern, low-rise building providing a community 

service for elderly people. Within the curtilage are areas of landscaping, 

including mature trees, and a car park. The site is within the Church End 

Conservation Area and is within the immediate setting of the Grade II* 

listed St Mary’s Parish Church. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, HOU01, HOU02, HOU04, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH07, CDH08, CHW01, CHW02, TRC01, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

50% residential floorspace and 50% community 

floorspace 

Development for residential / community uses. 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

108 student halls of residence (equivalent to 36 

standard residential units on the ratio that 2.5 student 

rooms are equivalent to 1 standard housing unit)  

73 residential units (ratio of 2.5 student rooms to 1 

standard housing unit) 

Justification: The site can be intensified to provide residential accommodation 

and community uses.  

618



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

The Meritage Centre is community infrastructure and must be re-provided either on site or at a suitable alternative 

location. The Hendon Conservation Area Character Appraisal acknowledges that the Meritage Centre is a possible 

future site for redevelopment. Any proposals need to be sensitive in relation to conserve or enhance the significance 

of heritage assets and should reinforce local distinctiveness, with consideration given to the location within the 

conservation area and directly adjoining the Grade II* listed St Mary’s Parish Church forming part of its setting. 

Proposals should also seek to retain the two mature birch trees located in the courtyard area. The site is within an 

Archaeological Priority Area and must be subject to an archaeological assessment. Accommodation could be in the 

form of student halls of residence. – the indicative capacity shown is on the ratio of three student rooms to one 

conventional unit of accommodation. Further planning guidance will be provided by the emerging Burroughs and 

Middlesex University SPD.  

Any development of the land must seek to retain important wildlife habitats and trees that are present. to protect 

existing site ecology.  Proposals must make the fullest contributions to enhancing and/or creating biodiversity in 

accordance with Policies CDH07 and ECC06 of the Local Plan.  

Site No. 41 PDSA and Fuller Street Car Park (Middlesex University and The Burroughs) 

Site Address: The Burroughs, Hendon, NW4 4BE 

MM
121 

Site 41 PDSA and Fuller Street Car Park 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Remove reference to SPD as it has been withdrawn. 

• Provide certainty of the indicative residential capacity contributing to housing supply in the Plan of 32 residential units (including a ratio of 
2.5 student rooms to 1 standard housing unit) based on the planning application, and a 6-10 year development timeframe  to reflect a 
more realistic prospect of when student housing will be delivered on site given that a planning permission has yet to be granted .  

• Remove the percentages for proposed uses to provide necessary flexibility for a design-led approach for any future application and 
changes to the approach to the historic environment to align with Policy CDH08 and ensure consistency with national policy. 

• Provide an approach to car parking that meets the requirements of TRC03 and has regard to Policy GSS12. 

619



 

 

Map retained as submitted 

Ward: Hendon 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 2 

PTAL 2031:  2 

Site Size: 0.23 ha 

Ownership: Mixed 

Site source: 

 

Emerging 

Burroughs and 

Middlesex 

University SPD Call 

for Sites 

 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Animal hospital, 

residential, garages 

and car parking 

Development 

timeframe: 
0-5 6-10 years  

Planning 

designations: 

Archaeological 

Priority Area 

620



 

Relevant 

planning 

applications: 

None  21/4722/FUL 

(undetermined). 

21/4612/FUL) 

approved for 2 

storey building over 

existing public car 

park for occupation 

by the PDSA. 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

The site includes an animal hospital (PDSA), four residential units, 

garages and a car park that are associated with the surrounding 

residential units; it should be noted that on street parking in the area is 

very limited. The PDSA is located very close to the eastern boundary of 

the Hendon, Church End conservation area and is also in the vicinity of 

listed and locally listed buildings. Surrounding buildings to the south and 

east are mostly low-rise residential in character, while to the north is St 

Mary’s and St John’s Primary School. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, HOU01, HOU02, HOU04, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH07, CDH08, CHW01, CHW02, ECY01, TRC01, TRC03 

 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

50% residential floorspace and 50% community 

floorspace  

Development for residential / community uses. 

621



 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

48 student halls of residence (equivalent to 16 

standard residential units on the ratio that 3 student 

rooms are equivalent to 1 standard housing unit) 

32 residential units (ratio of 2.5 student rooms to 1 

standard housing unit). 

Justification: The site can be intensified to provide residential accommodation 

and community uses. 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

The PDSA is a well-established use in the area and provides an important service to the community due to its 

charitable function. It is one of only three PDSA Hospitals in London. As such the use should either be re-provided 

on site, or at a suitable alternative location. Any proposal must consider impact on the proximate heritage assets, 

including the Hendon, Church End Conservation Area and nationally and locally listed buildings, to ensure that the 

significance of designated heritage assets are conserved or enhanced and that the effect of non-designated heritage 

assets is taken into account.  

The site is within an Archaeological Priority Area and must be subject to an archaeological assessment. 

Accommodation could be in the form of student halls of residence – the indicative capacity shown is on the ratio of 

three student rooms to one conventional unit of accommodation.  

Proposals for redevelopment of car parking spaces must meet the requirements of TRC03 and have regard to Policy 

GSS12. 

Further planning guidance will be provided by the emerging Burroughs and Middlesex University SPD.  

MM
122 

Site 42 Usher Hall 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Remove reference to SPD as it has been withdrawn. 

• Amend the development timeframe to 6-10 years to reflect a more realistic prospect of when student housing will be delivered on site.  

622



 

Site No. 42 Usher Hall (Middlesex University and The Burroughs) 

Site Address: The Burroughs, Hendon, NW4 4HE 

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

Ward: Hendon 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 3 

PTAL 2031:  4 

Site Size: 0.44 ha 

Ownership: 
Public (Middlesex 

University) 

Site source: 

 

Emerging 

Burroughs and 

Middlesex 

University SPD 

Call for Sites 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 
Student housing 

• Reduce the indicative residential capacity contributing to housing supply in the Plan to a minimum of 9 dwellings (equivalent to 23 student 
units) as neither the indicative residential capacity identified in the Plan as submitted nor the Council’s most up-to-date calculations in 
EXAM75 and EXAM87 reflect a realistic minimum figure.  

• Clarify that any proposal seeking an uplift within the allocation is required to demonstrate an acceptable design-led approach in 
accordance with Policy D3 of the London Plan at application stage, and changes to the approach to the historic environment to align with 
Policy CDH08 and ensure consistency with national policy.  

623



 

Development 

timeframe: 
5  6-10 years  

Planning 

designations: 

None 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

Purpose-built 4-storey student accommodation with car parking to the 

rear. On the opposite side of The Burroughs is a range of Grade II listed 

buildings including the Middlesex University main building, along with 

Hendon Library, Fire Station and Town Hall. Hendon Church End 

Conservation Area lies immediately to the north of the site. Public 

transport is provided by bus routes which run along the Burroughs. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, HOU01, HOU02, HOU04, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH07, CDH08, CHW02, TRC01, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ 

allocation (as a 

proportion of 

floorspace): 

Residential accommodation for students 

 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

117 student halls of residence (equivalent to 39 standard 
residential units on the ratio that 3 student rooms are 
equivalent to 1 standard housing unit)  

Minimum of 9 dwellings (equivalent to 23 student units 

based on a ratio of 2.5 student rooms to 1 standard 

housing unit). 

624



 

Justification: The site can be intensified to provide a greater quantum of 

student accommodation. 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

Proposals must be of a suitable scale and style which reflects the design context of heritage assets and surrounding 

buildings to ensure that the significance of heritage assets is conserved or enhanced. The existing use of the 

building as student halls of residence is expected to be retained – the indicative capacity shown is on the basis of a 

net-increase and at the ratio of three student rooms to one conventional unit of accommodation. The site adjoins an 

Archaeological Priority Area and must be subject to an archaeological assessment. Further guidance will be 

provided by the emerging Burroughs and Middlesex University SPD. 

Any proposal seeking an uplift within the allocation would be required to demonstrate an acceptable design-led 

approach at application stage in accordance with Policy D3 of the London Plan. 

 

Site No. 43 Army Reserve Depot (Chipping Barnet Town Centre) 

Site Address: St Alban's Rd, Chipping Barnet, EN5 4JX 

 Ward: High Barnet Image retained as submitted 

MM
123 

Site 43 Army Reserve Depot 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Changes to the development timeframe to 11-15 years taking account of the most up-to-date evidence and to reflect a more realistic 
prospect of when housing will be delivered on site.  

• Removal of percentages for proposed uses to provide necessary flexibility for a design-led approach for any future application. 

• Changes to the approach to the historic environment to align with Policy CDH08 and ensure consistency with national policy. 

• Clarify that improvements to streets and public realm should be delivered in line with the Healthy Streets Approach.  

• Provides certainty of the approach to biodiversity and trees. 

625



 

Map and Image retained as submitted PTAL 2019: 3 

PTAL 2031:  3 

Site Size: 1.26 ha 

Ownership: Public (MoD) 

Site source: 
The Spires Planning 

Framework (2012) 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Territorial Army drill hall, 

ancillary buildings and 

yard. 

Development 

timeframe: 
0-5 11-15 years 

Planning 

designations: 

Archaeological Priority 

Area 

Relevant 

planning 

applications: 

None 

626



 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

The current site does not link or relate to the surrounding residential area and 

does not permit access between St Albans Road to roads to the rear of the 

site. It is predominantly surrounded by small scale residential and retail units. 

Due to security issues relating to its present use the site has a ‘closed’ 

appearance and is out of character with the street scene and surrounding 

uses. The site is only accessible from St Albans Road. Pedestrian 

connections to Chipping Barnet Town Centre are poor. Mature trees help 

define the site’s character. The site is adjacent to Chipping Barnet Town 

Centre and the Monken Hadley Conservation Area and is close to the Grade 

II listed Christ Church and Locally listed White Lion Pub and 39-41 St Albans 

Road. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS08, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, CDH07, 

CDH08, TOW01, CHW01, CHW02, ECY01, ECY02, ECY03, TRC01, 

TRC03. 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

90% residential floorspace with 10% commercial, business 

and services uses  

Residential led mixed use development with small quantum 

of commercial uses. 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

193 dwellings. 

Justificati

on: 

Vacation of the site by the current user provides an opportunity for new uses 

and more intensive development that are appropriate in this accessible 

location on the edge of the town centre.  

627



 

Site 

requirement

s and 

developme

nt 

guidelines: 

New residential development with potential for commercial, business and services use elements will strengthen the 

vitality and viability of the town centre. This is an opportunity to provide family housing in an accessible location. The 

design should reflect the context of the surrounding residential grain, building heights and heritage.   

Improvements to key road junctions, including Stapylton Road/ St Albans Road and St Albans Road/ A1000, should 

be investigated and any improvements deemed necessary should be implemented. Enhancements should be sought 

for pedestrian connectivity between residential areas and the town centre through enhancing existing footpaths and 

reopening routes to recreate historical connectivity.  

Design of any proposed development should be sensitive to surrounding area, including the Monken Hadley 

Conservation Area and Locally Listed Buildings on St Albans Road. This is necessary to ensure that the significance 

of heritage assets is conserved or enhanced, and that the effect on non-designated assets is taken into account. 

Design cues could be taken from Livingstone Court at the rear of the site as it would be possible to replicate similar 

scale, design and massing to achieve the current indicative capacity.  

Improvements to streets and the public realm should be delivered in line with the Healthy Streets Approach. Mature 

trees on the site should be retained. to protect existing site ecology.  Proposals must make the fullest contributions to 

enhancing and/or creating biodiversity in accordance with Policies CDH07 and ECC06 of the Local Plan.  

The site is within an Archaeological Priority Area and must be subject to an archaeological assessment. 

 

MM
124 

Site 44 High Barnet Station 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole.  

• Changes to the development timeframe to 6-10 years to reflect a more realistic prospect of when housing will be delivered on site.  

• Remove percentages for proposed uses and provide certainty of the residential-led mixed use development that will be supported, 
including the necessary transport infrastructure. This should include a requirement for a pedestrian footbridge over the railway line to 
Potters Lane if possible (otherwise a footway down the east side of Barnet Hill to the south of the station slip road) and an approach to car 
parking that meets the requirements of TRC03 and has regard to Policy GSS12.  

• Reference added to new pedestrian bridge over the rail line.  

628



 

Site No. 44 High Barnet Station (Chipping Barnet Town Centre) 

Site Address: Great North Rd, Chipping Barnet, EN5 5P 

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

 

Ward: 
High Barnet Barnet 

Vale 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 6 

PTAL 2031:  6 

Site Size: 1.50 ha 

Ownership: Public (TfL) 

Site source: Call for sites 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Public car parking 

and B-use storage 

and business 

Development 

timeframe: 
6-10 years 

Planning 

designations: 

None 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

629



 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

This is land to the south west of High Barnet station and tracks, fronting the 

A1000 Barnet Hill / Great North Road.  It is currently used as a commuter 

car park (157 spaces), a range of low-density B-uses including vehicle hire, 

scaffolding and self-storage facilities in temporary structures and vacant, 

incidental land around the railway. Levels change significantly across the 

site and in the surrounding area, rising (quite steeply in places) to the 

northwest.  The site is within 400m of Chipping Barnet Town Centre. It is 

located on one of the highest points (134 metres above sea level) of the 

Barnet Plateau. There are no statutorily or locally listed buildings close to 

the site, and it is not within a conservation area or its setting. There is a 

wooded area to the west (containing Tree Preservation Orders), that 

provides opportunities for placemaking and maximising residential amenity. 

 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan policies: 

GSS01, GSS08, GSS12, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, 

CDH03, CDH04, CDH07, CHW02, ECY01, ECY02, ECY03, 

,TRC01, TRC02, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ 

allocation (as a 

proportion of floorspace): 

75% residential floorspace with 25% commercial uses, 

public realm and public car parking. Designated within UDP 

(2006) as Site 26 supporting B1 uses, hotel and leisure. 

 Residential led mixed use development with commercial 

uses, public realm and limited commuter car parking with 

the aim to re-provide only where essential, for example for 

disabled persons or operational reasons, reflecting the site’s 

highly accessible location and encouraging the use of public 

transport and active modes of travel. 

630



 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

 292 dwellings. 

Justification: The site is highly accessible by public transport and is close to 

Chipping Barnet town centre, making this location suitable for 

intensification.  

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

Comprehensive residential led development including necessary transport infrastructure will be supported which will 

improve the sense of arrival and of place at entrances to High Barnet station, creating a new public space and 

improving visual connectivity, will be supported including necessary transport infrastructure.   

Seek opportunities for public realm improvements from station entrances up the hill to Chipping Barnet Town Centre 

and pedestrian connections to Great North Road Local Centre. There is potential for meanwhile uses on parts of the 

site at the early stages of development to help create an identity and attraction. The development should create 

active and attractive frontages along Barnet Hill. This is not in a Tall Buildings Location - 8 storeys or more would not 

be appropriate. Meanwhile use floorspace could take the form of flexible and affordable workspace, small / 

affordable shop units suitable for SMEs.  An assessment must be undertaken of public car parking spaces lost and 

replacement spaces may be required. Proposals for redevelopment of car parking spaces must meet the 

requirements of TRC03 and have regard to Policy GSS12.  

Residential-led mixed use Ddevelopment must reflect the ‘Healthy Streets Approach’ with improved interchange 

facilities for pedestrians and cyclists, providing the necessary transport infrastructure with regard to Policy TRC02. 

Proposals for development should seek to provide a pedestrian bridge over the railway line to Potters Lane if 

possible, or otherwise provision of a footway down the east side of Barnet Hill south of the station slip road will be 

necessary.  

MM
125 

Site 45 Land Adjoining The Whalebones 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

631



 

Site No. 45 Land at Adjoining The Whalebones 

Site Address: Wood St, Chipping Barnet, EN5 4BZ 

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

 

Ward: High Barnet 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 2 

PTAL 2031:  2 

Site Size: 

 

2.20 4.37 Ha 

 

Ownership: Private 

Site source: Call for sites 

Context type: Suburban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Agriculture, 

community facilities 

• Provide certainty that the allocation relates to land adjacent to Whalebones, to amend the development timeframe to 6-10 years to reflect 
a more realistic prospect of when housing will be delivered on site, and correct the allocation size to 4.37 hectares. 

• Provide certainty that the indicative residential capacity contributing to housing supply in the Plan is reduced to 100 dwellings which 
reflects a cautious approach consistent with the lower end of the range identified in EB_SoCG_20.  

• Clarify that a design-led approach in accordance with Policy D3 of the London Plan will be necessary at application stage for a proposal 
for up to 100 dwellings or any uplift to that number to ensure that the development responds appropriately to the historic character of the 
site and its surroundings. 

• Provides certainty of the approach to biodiversity and trees. 
• Changes to the approach to the historic environment to align with Policy CDH08 and ensure consistency with national policy. 

• Remove percentages for proposed uses for necessary flexibility for a design-led approach and provide certainty of the residential-led 
mixed use development that would be supported, including publicly accessible open space and community uses. 

632



 

Development 

timeframe: 
0-5  6-10 years  

Planning 

designations: 

Conservation Area 

Relevant 

planning 

applications: 

19/3949/FUL 

(REFUSED) 152 

residential units, 

public open spaces 

and dismissal of 

related appeal 

APP/N5090/W/21/3

273189. 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

The site forms part of Wood Street Conservation area and comprises a 

largely green and undeveloped area, consisting in the west and north of 

open fields with some tree cover, and in the east of a more heavily-treed 

field. Whalebones House itself and the extensive surrounding garden are 

in private ownership and are not part of the site. The surrounding area 

consists of large suburban houses. To the west there has been recent 

residential development at Elmbank of 114 units. Barnet Hospital lies to 

the south. There is access to bus routes serving Barnet Hospital and 

Wood Street. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, CDH07, 

CDH08, CHW01, CHW02, ECC02, ECC04, ECC06, TRC01, 

TRC03 

633



 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

90% residential with 10% local open space and 

community facilities. Residential led development with 

publicly accessible open space and community uses. 

 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

152 100 dwellings. 

 

Justification: The site presents an area of undeveloped land near Barnet 

Hospital that is close to the services and transport links of 

Chipping Barnet Town Centre. The site is not currently accessible 

by the public and development provides an opportunity to deliver 

public open space.   

634



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

The This sensitive character of this site means that proposals must have great attention to how the design 

corresponds to the historic and local context, and addresses local needs. A design-led approach in accordance with 

Policy D3 of the London Plan will be necessary at the application stage for a proposal for up to 100 dwellings, or any 

uplift to that number, to ensure that the development responds appropriately to the historic character of the site and 

its surroundings.  

 

There must be retention of trees and other natural features, with the introduction of new pedestrian access points 

and woodland walks which benefit the local community and users of Barnet Hospital. Residential development to the 

west of Whalebones House, adjacent to the Elmbank development, will help to integrate the site into the surrounding 

suburbs. There should be provision of a new Local Open Space publicly accessible open space and a community 

facility, subject to legal agreement with developer on continuing management and maintenance. 

 

Any development of the land must seek to retain important wildlife habitats and trees that are present to protect 

existing site ecology.  Proposals must make the fullest contributions to enhancing and/or creating biodiversity in 

accordance with Policies CDH07 and ECC06 of the Local Plan.  

The site adjoins an Archaeological Priority Area and must be subject to an archaeological assessment. The design 

must reflect the site location in the Wood Street Conservation area and the surrounding suburban and historic 

character, to ensure that the significance of heritage assets is conserved or enhanced.  

Planning application (19/3949/FUL) was refusedfor 152 residential units and public open spaces. 

 

MM
126 
 

Site 46 IBSA House 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Remove the reference to Mill Hill East being a Growth Area to ensure consistency with Policies GSS01 and GSS07, and Map 3E.  

635



 

Site No. 46 IBSA House (Mill Hill East Growth Area) 

Site Address: The Ridgeway, Mill Hill, NW7 1RN 

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

 

Ward: Mill Hill 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 1B 

PTAL 2031:  1B 

Site Size: 2.08 ha  

Ownership: Private 

Site source: Call for sites 

Context type: Suburban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Office / light 

industrial / storage 

and distribution 

Development 

timeframe: 
0-5 6-10 years  

Planning 

designations: 

Green Belt (on 

part of the site)  

• Clarify in the site requirements and development guidelines that footpath connectivity across the site will be required if any subsequent 
alternative proposal were to come forward during the Plan period. 

• Necessary updates to the relevant planning applications to confirm the planning permissions issued, including 19/6551/FUL for 197 
dwellings which justifies that the site will make a contribution to deliverable supply upon adoption, but necessitates inclusion in the 
development timeframe of 6-10 years to reflect when it is expected to come forward in the plan period supply and ensure consistency with 
Table 5. 

636



 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

21/0332/FUL - 

Extensions of 

49m2 and 147m2, 

sole use as Class 

E (g) (i) Office 

Space with former 

Printworks and 

existing factory 

buildings as Class 

E (g) (iii) Light 

Industrial or Class 

B8 Storage or 

distribution space. 

 

19/6551/FUL) 

(approved) for 197 

dwellings  

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

The site contains the print works and offices for International Bible 

Students Association within a modern 5-storeys building on the Finchley 

Ridge. The site is adjacent to residential areas of the Millbrook Park 

development. To the north of the site is Green Belt, with the designation 

overlapping part of the site alongside Partingdale Lane. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS07, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH07, CHW02, ECY01, ECY02, ECY03, ECC05, TRC01, 

TRC03 

637



 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

Residential only  

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

 197 dwellings as per 19/6551/FUL 

Justification: The owners and users of the site are leaving the site, providing 

an opportunity for more effective and intensive use.  

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

Proposals must be of appropriate scale and design that responds to the context. There should be delivery of high 

quality residential development comprising a range of housing types and tenures, including family homes. Proposals 

must ensure development does not negatively affect the small area of Green Belt at the north of the site. The 

potential for the development to increase traffic must be assessed and mitigated.  

Footpath connectivity across the site should be explored and would be required if any subsequent alternative 

proposal is advanced. 

 

 

MM
127 

Site 47 Mill Hill East Station 

638



 

Site No. 47 Mill Hill East Station (Mill Hill East Growth Area) 

Site Address: Bittacy Hill, Mill Hill, NW7 1BS – airspace above and land adjoining station  

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

 

Ward: Mill Hill 

Image retained as submitted 
PTAL 2019: 3 

PTAL 2031:  3 

Site Size: 1.24 ha 

Reason for MM  

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Remove percentages for proposed uses and provide certainty of the residential-led mixed use development that will be supported, 
including the necessary transport infrastructure and approach to car parking that meets the requirements of TRC03 and has regard to 
Policy GSS12.  

• Include additional clarification in the site requirements and development guidelines with respect to the design-led approach required to 
building heights in this location taking account of the locally listed station building.  

• Emphasise that comprehensive development of the site allocation with neighbouring sites is encouraged should they come forward to 
optimise density and delivery of housing, services and facilities for existing and future residents of Mill Hill East.  

• Remove the reference to Mill Hill East being a Growth Area to ensure consistency with Policies GSS01 and GSS07, and Map 3E.   
• Provide certainty of the approach to biodiversity and trees. 

• Provide certainty that as the site lies on the Strategic Walking network that development proposals should take opportunities to ensure 
effective connectivity thereto. 

639



 

Ownership: 

 

Public (non-

Council) TfL 

 

Site source: Call for sites 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Railway station, 

platforms and 

lines, with public 

car parking and 

unused bordering 

land 

Development 

timeframe: 
11-15 years 

Planning 

designations: 

None 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

The site includes Mill Hill East Station building, platform and tracks, along 

with the public car park (42 spaces) and overgrown adjacent strip of land. 

The large, partially completed Mill Brook Park development is across 

Bittacy Hill road to the north east of the site. To the north is low-density 

two-storey housing, while to the south is a supermarket and gym 

surrounded by large areas of surface car parking. 

640



 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS07, GSS12, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, 

CDH03, CDH07, CHW02, ECC06, TRC01, TRC02, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

 60% residential floospace with 40% retained rail 

infrastructure and car parking.  

Residential led mixed use development with transport 

infrastructure and limited commuter car parking with the 

aim to re-provide only where essential, for example for 

disabled persons or operational reasons, reflecting the 

site’s accessible location and encouraging the use of 

public transport and active modes of travel. 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

 Minimum of 127 dwellings. 

Justification: The site is accessible by public transport and is could be 

intensified to provide residential uses.  

641



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

The varied surroundings to the site mean that the design and height must be sensitive in terms intensification; for 

example, the southern boundary towards the supermarket provides greater scope for building height than towards 

the low-rise housing to the west.  

A design-led approach required to building heights in this location must take account of the locally listed station 

building. Subject to careful layout, massing and design testing, buildings over 3 storeys in height, taking cues from 

the Millbrook Park redevelopment to the north-east opposite, where there are a range of taller buildings, may be 

explored. Comprehensive development of the site allocation with neighbouring sites, should they come forward, will 

be encouraged to optimise density and housing, services and facilities for existing and future residents of Mill Hill 

East. 

Preservation of mature trees is required. Any development of the land must seek to retain important wildlife habitats 

and trees that are present on the north and south sides of the railway line.  

Proposals must make the fullest contributions to enhancing and/or creating biodiversity in accordance with Policies 

CDH07 and ECC06 of the Local Plan.  

The station building and associated platforms and tracks must should be retained and/ or re-provided. Development 

around the station building will need to be mindful of its local listing. Should the station building be proposed to be 

demolished, the loss of the locally listed building would need to be robustly justified relative to its status and 

significance as a non-designated heritage asset, and a replacement station building would need to be provided. 

This site lies on the Strategic Walking Network. Development proposals should must take the opportunity to ensure 

effective connectivity to this network. 

Residential-led mixed use development should provide the necessary transport infrastructure with regard to Policy 

TRC02. Proposals for redevelopment of car parking spaces must meet the requirements of TRC03 and have regard 

to Policy GSS12.  

The scale of development is likely to require upgrades of the water supply network infrastructure. The developer and 

the Council should liaise with Thames Water at the earliest opportunity to agree a housing phasing plan to ensure 

development does not outpace delivery of essential network upgrades.  

642



 

An assessment of public car parking requirements must be undertaken and mitigation provided to encourage the 

use of public transport and active modes of travel. 

 

Site No. 48 Mill Hill Library (Mill Hill Town Centre) 

Site Address: Hartley Avenue, NW7 2HX 

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

Ward: Mill Hill 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 4 

PTAL 2031:  4 

Site Size: 0.17 ha 

Ownership: Council 

Site source: 

Council assets 

disposal 

programme 

MM
128 

Site 48 Mill Hill Library 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Change the development timeframe to 6-10 years to reflect a more realistic prospect of when housing will be delivered on site.  

• Reduce the indicative residential capacity contributing to housing supply in the Plan to a minimum of 10 dwellings to provide a realistic 
prospect of the extent of housing delivery on site.  

• Additional clarification that as the library is a locally listed building it should seek to retain the existing building, with any residential uses 
integrated via appropriate conversion and subservient extension as required. 

• Removal of percentages for proposed uses to provide necessary flexibility for delivery.  

643



 

Location type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Public library and 

associated car 

parking 

Development 

timeframe: 

 

0-5 6-10 years 

Planning 

designations: 

Local Heritage List 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

Mill Hill Library is a single storey Neo-Georgian building in red brick with 

stone portico and slate tiled roof which was built in 1937. The building is 

included on has been nominated for the Local Heritage List.  

The curtilage includes a border of landscaping, along with an access road 

to a rear car park.   

Opposite lies the fire station built in a similar civic style. To the west of the 

site is a car park while to the east is a three-storey officer building.  The 

location is close to Mill Hill district centre and lies close to the A1 arterial 

road.  Mill Hill station is within approximately 500m. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS08, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH08, 

TOW01, TOW02, CHW01, CHW02, TRC01, TRC02 

644



 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

50% Residential floorspace with and 50% Community 

uses. 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

 19 Minimum of 10 dwellings.  

Justification: The library use is leaving the building, allowing the site to be 

used for other purposes suitable to this accessible and edge-of-

town-centre location.   

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

The library is community infrastructure and must be re-provided either on site or at a suitable alternative location.  

Due to the proposed Local Heritage listing and the significance of the non-designated heritage asset, proposals 

should retain the existing building and sensitivity integrate new residential uses through appropriate conversion and 

or additional subservient extensions if required buildings.  

Good accessibility to the Mill Hill district centre and transport links will help to support new uses on this site.   

 

MM
129 

Site 49 Watch Tower House & Kingdom Hall 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Reduce the minimum indicative residential capacity to 184 units so as to be consistent with recent planning permission (Ref no: 
22/0649/FUL) and to modify the development timeframe to 0-5 years.  

• Clarify that any subsequent alternative application proposal seek an uplift within the allocation it would require demonstration of 
acceptability through a design-led approach in accordance with Policy D3 of the London Plan.  

• Remove reference to Mill Hill East being a Growth Area to ensure consistency with Policies GSS01 and GSS07, and Map 3E.  

• Remove percentages for proposed uses to provide flexibility for a design-led approach should an alternative application proposal come 
forward.  

645



 

Site No. 49 Watch Tower House & Kingdom Hall (Mill Hill East Growth Area) 

Site Address: The Ridgeway, Mill Hill, NW7 1RS/ 1RL 

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

Ward: Mill Hill 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 1B 

PTAL 2031:  1B 

Site Size: 7.31 ha 

Ownership: Private 

Site source: Call for sites 

Context type: 

Green Belt with existing 

buildings on parts of the 

site  

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Sui generis religious 

community 

Development 

timeframe: 

 

6-10 years 0-5 years 

 

• Provide additional clarification of requirements associated with its location within the Green Belt and Mill Hill Conservation Area. This 
should include that the large open space to the west of the allocation will be expected to remain undeveloped and that the significance of 
the Conservation Area is conserved or enhanced. 

• Provide certainty of the approach to biodiversity and trees. 

• Confirm that opportunities should be explored to secure public access to the land from the existing footpath within the site and links into 
the Strategic Walking network.  

646



 

Planning 

designations: 

Green Belt, 

Conservation Area 

Major Developed Site in 

the Green Belt (UDP 

2006)  

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 22/0649/FUL 

(approved) for 

demolition and 

construction of 10 new 

buildings comprising 

175 units of specialist 

older persons housing 

and 9 residential 

dwellings (184 units in 

total). 

647



 

 

 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

A large site with extensive open spaces that is within designated Green Belt 

and the Mill Hill Conservation Area, previously classified as a Major 

Development Site within the Green Belt.  There is a broad west/ east split, with 

the eastern half of the site containing a sprawling complex, largely over three 

storeys, which provides 85 self-contained a sui-generis use comprising 

residential units accommodation and ancillary services for staff of the 

International Bible Students Association (IBSA), at nearby IBSA House. There 

are also extensive gardens and car parking. The western half of the site 

comprises a Kingdom Hall with a large, open field to the rear. The field is a 

large green open space that is not currently open to the public.  The site has 

numerous mature trees and is subject to an Area Tree Preservation Order.  A 

public footpath bisects the site north-south. The land falls sharply from north to 

south, providing good views towards London. Suburban roads of semi-

detached housing surround the site to the south, east and west, with the 

Ridgeway Road to the north.  

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS07, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, CDH07, 

CHW02, ECC05, ECC06, TRC01, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

 80% retained as undeveloped Green Belt with 18% 

residential and 2% community floorspace. 

Area of existing buildings redeveloped for residential with 

supporting community uses while the site maintains the 

purposes of the Green Belt, including retaining the areas of 

undeveloped land. 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

224 Minimum 184 dwellings. 

648



 

Justification: The existing user plans to vacate the site and the extant built areas 

are suitable for housing and community uses.  

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

The quantum and design of redevelopment are significantly constrained by numerous factors including: the low level 

of public transport access, the suburban semi-rural character, the Green Belt and Conservation Area status, the very 

prominent position at the top of the ridge and trees subject to TPOs. Any development proposal that is not within the 

area of previously developed land must demonstrate very special circumstances.     

While planning permission has been granted for 184 residential units on the site, the indicative residential capacity is 

a minimum.  Any future proposal seeking an uplift from development would be required to demonstrate acceptability 

through a design-led approach in accordance with Policy D3 of the London Plan and ensure that the significance of 

the Conservation Area is conserved or enhanced. Proposals that are not within the area of previously developed 

land must demonstrate very special circumstances, although the Council would expect this space to remain 

undeveloped and retained for the purposes of the public and existing/future residents’ benefit. Consideration should 

be given to improved access to the green space from the public footpath. 

This site lies near to the Strategic Walking Network and the public footpath traversing the site must be retained. 

Development proposals should take the opportunity to ensure effective connectivity to this network. 

Local wildlife must be protected both from development and disturbance during development. Any development of 

the land must seek to retain important wildlife habitats and trees to protect existing site ecology.  Proposals must 

make the fullest contributions to enhancing and/or creating biodiversity in accordance with Policies CDH07 and 

ECC06 of the Local Plan.  

MM
130 

Site 50 Watford Way & Bunns Lane 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Specify that the site allocation is developable for an indicative residential capacity of 105 dwellings as proposed in the Plan when taking 
account of the potential for access from either Bunns Lane by travelling beneath the A1 Watford Way ‘flyover’, or through the garage site 
adjacent to 19-24 Farm House Court and/or from the adjacent Brancaster Drive development. 

649



 

Site No. 50 Watford Way & Bunns Lane (Major Thoroughfare) 

Site Address: Adjacent to Watford Way, Mill Hill, NW7 2EX 

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

Ward: Mill Hill 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 1B 

PTAL 2031:  2 

Site Size: 0.86 ha 

Ownership: 

 

Public (TfL)  

 

Site source: Call for sites 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Vacant (former 

motorway ramp & 

verges) 

Development 

timeframe: 

 

5-10 11-15 years 

• Clarify the development timeframe as 11-15 years given the potential lead in times associated with facilitating a suitable access for 
residential development.  

• Provide confirmation that part of the site adjacent to the A1 may be required by TfL to support transport operations and that such a use 
must be carefully sited and designed to ensure a suitable living environment for new and existing housing. 

• Provide certainty of the approach to biodiversity and trees. 

• Confirm that opportunities should be explored to ensure effective connectivity to the Strategic Walking network. 

650



 

Planning 

designations: 

None 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

An overgrown site on a disused road connection. The site’s eastern 

boundary is along the raised Watford Way (A1), with the remainder of the 

boundary running to the rear of 2-3 storey residential properties along 

Bunns Lane and other local streets. The site does not have direct access 

to the public highway, other than the A1 which would not be suitable due 

to safety issues of vehicles joining a busy, raised three-carriageway road. 

A raised public footpath crosses the site.  

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS11, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH04, CDH07, CHW02, ECC02, ECC06, TRC01, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

Residential 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

 105 dwellings 

Justification: The site is unused and provides an opportunity for new housing 

in a residential area. 

651



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

Proposals must demonstrate how adequate access to site will be secured. Possible accesses should be explored 

from either Bunns Lane by travelling beneath the A1 Watford Way ‘flyover’, or through the garage site adjacent to 

19-24 Farm House Court and/or from the adjacent Brancaster Drive development. In the event that TfL requires part 

of the site adjacent to the A1 to support transport operations, this use must be carefully sited and designed to ensure 

the amenity a suitable living environment of new and existing housing is maintained.  

Critically, the design must manage and mitigate air pollution and noise from the adjoining A1 road and must also 

ensure the amenity of neighbouring residential properties is maintained or improved. Ans assessment of the trees 

must be undertaken with the objective of preserving mature and high-quality specimens or mitigating on-site through 

re-planting.  

Any development of the land must seek to retain important wildlife habitats and trees to protect existing site ecology.  

Proposals must make the fullest contributions to enhancing and/or creating biodiversity in accordance with Policies 

CDH07 and ECC06 of the Local Plan.  

The public footpath through the site must be maintained. This site lies on the Strategic Walking Network and 

development proposals should take the opportunity to ensure effective connectivity to this network.  

The site allocation is developable for an indicative residential capacity of 105 dwellings having taken account of the 

potential access options. This scale of development is likely to require upgrades of the water supply network 

infrastructure. The developer and the Council should liaise with Thames Water at the earliest opportunity to agree a 

housing phasing plan to ensure development does not outpace delivery of essential network upgrades. 

MM
131 

Site 51 Great North Road Local Centre 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Specify the requirement for retention of the existing Grade II listed cinema building and to preserve its significance and setting, including 
retention of the adjacent public house buildings where possible in accordance with Policy CHW04. 

• Reduce the indicative residential capacity to a minimum of 27 dwellings given that the remainder of the site consists of a petrol station that 
is potentially capable of supporting a suitable redevelopment proposal as part of a design-led approach in accordance with Policy D3 of 
the London Plan and/or masterplan for the allocation. There is no realistic prospect of 84 dwellings being delivered within the allocation.  

652



 

No. 51 Great North Road Local Centre (Major Thoroughfare) 

Site Address: Great North Rd, New Barnet, EN5 1AB  

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

Ward: 
Oakleigh Barnet 

Vale 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 4 

PTAL 2031:  5 

Site Size: 0.81 ha 

Ownership: 

 

The 

Leathersellers’ 

Company Private 

Site source: Call for sites 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Cinema, public 

house and service 

station 

Development 

timeframe: 
6-10 years 

Planning 

designations: 

None 

• Remove percentages of proposed uses to provide greater flexibility for a design-led approach to delivery of development.  

653



 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

This site is part of the Great North Road Local Centre which includes the 

recently refurbished Grade II listed cinema, public house and petrol 

station. The site is next to a junction of the Great North Road. To the rear 

is a railway line embankment, along which is a Site of Borough 

Importance for Nature Conservation. High Barnet Station is within ½ km. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS11, GSS11, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, 

CDH03, CDH08, TOW01, TOW04, CHW02, CHW04, TRC01, 

TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

40% residential floorspace with 60% of floorspace in 

use as a cinema and public house 

Residential development with cinema and public 

house retained. 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

84 Minimum 27 dwellings. 

Justification: The site is accessible and presents an opportunity for 

intensification while seeking to maintain the existing important 

uses.   

654



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

Proposals must retain the Grade II listed cinema building and should consider retaining the public house. Proposals 

must also retain the Public House, unless it can be demonstrated there is no viable demand for its continued use, or 

no viable alternative community use in accordance with the policy tests within Policy CHW04. Reprovision of the use 

within a mixed-use development would be supported. 

Noise and air pollution from the Great North Road must be mitigated. 

The indicative minimum residential capacity of 27 dwellings takes into account that the remainder of the site consists 

of a petrol station and the site’s potential capability for supporting a suitable redevelopment proposal as part of a 

design-led approach in accordance with Policy D3 of the London Plan and/or masterplan for the allocation, this is 

particularly necessary to ensure that the significant of the Grade II listed building is conserved or enhanced.  

 

Development needs to take account of the Site of Borough Importance for Nature Conservation to the rear. A site 

masterplan will be required. 

Reason for MM 

The development is approaching completion. The site allocation as proposed in the Plan is therefore not necessary, its inclusion in the Plan 

would not be effective and, therefore, the proposed site allocation is to be deleted from the Plan. 

Site No. 52 Kingmaker House (New Barnet Town Centre) 

Site Address: 15 Station Rd, New Barnet, EN5 1NW 

 

Map and Image as submitted - deleted 

 

Ward: Oakleigh 

Image as submitted - deleted 

PTAL 2019: 3 

PTAL 2031:  4 

Site Size: 0.26 ha 

Ownership: Private 

MM
132 

Site 52 Kingmaker House 

655



 

Site source: 
Existing prior-

approval 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 
Office 

Development 

timeframe: 
0-5 years 

Planning 

designations: 

Town Centre 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

19/5403/FUL 

(approved) 

extension for 43 

additional 

residential units; 

19/1952/PNO 

(approved) 

conversion to 94 

residential units. 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

Located in New Barnet Town Centre, the site consists of a 7-storey 1960s 

office building with parking to the front and rear. Similar adjacent 

buildings have been converted to residential use. The site is close to New 

Barnet Station. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS08, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH04, CDH08, TOW01, TOW02, CHW02, ECY01, ECY02, 

TRC01, TRC03 

656



 

Proposed uses/ allocation (as 

a proportion of floorspace): 

90% residential floorspace with 10% commercial 

(office) 

Indicative residential capacity:  61 

Justification: The town centre and well-connected location provides an 

opportunity to sensitively redevelop this site for residential units.   

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

While prior approval for conversion from office to residential has been approved, planning applications have been 

refused on the basis of impact on residential properties to the rear. Proposals must therefore carefully assess the 

quantum of development and scale and massing of the design. Nevertheless, high public transport access and 

proximity to town centre functions may support a relatively high density of development. Proposed designs must 

also take into consideration the Grade II listed New Barnet War Memorial and locally listed East Barnet Town Hall 

which are opposite the site. 

MM
133 

Site 53 Allum Way 

Reason for MM 
• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 

development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Clarify that the indicative development capacity for residential-led mixed use development would be a minimum of 599 dwellings within the 
allocation based on an Urban density classification. 

• Emphasise the requirement for a design-led approach in accordance with Policy D3 of the London Plan and reduce the development 
timeframe to 6-10 years. 

• Confirm that uplifts to the number of dwellings may be possible dependent upon TfL operational requirements and if train stabling is not 
required.  

• Remove the percentages of proposed uses to provide the necessary flexibility for a design-led approach for future proposals, specify an 
approach to car parking that meets the requirements of TRC03 and has regard to Policy GSS12, and emphasise the need to take account 
of local topography. 

• Clarify the approach to tall buildings in a manner consistent with Policy CDH04. 

• Provide certainty of the approach to biodiversity and trees. 

657



 

Site No. 53 Allum Way (Whetstone Town Centre) 

Site Address: Totteridge & Whetstone Station/ High Rd/ Downland Close/ Allum Way, Whetstone, N20 

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

Ward: 
Totteridge 

Whetstone 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 4 

PTAL 2031:  4 

Site Size: 4.27 ha 

Ownership: 
Mixed (TfL and 

private) 

Site source: Call for sites 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Railway station 

with car parking, 

industry and 

storage 

Development 

timeframe: 
10-15 6-10 years 

Planning 

designations: 

None 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

658



 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

This site encompasses the station, car parking (101 spaces), storage and 

small industrial units. Parts of the site are heavily wooded. The north-east 

is adjacent to Whetstone Town Centre and fronts onto the High Road. 

The site slopes steeply from the High Road down to the railway line. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS08, GSS12, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, 

CDH03, CDH04, CDH07, TOW01, TOW02, CHW01, CHW02, 

ECY01, ECY02, ECY03, ECC02, ECC05, ECC06, TRC01, 

TRC02, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

46% for TfL rail infrastructure, commercial (office and 

light industry), community and car parking, and 54% 

residential floorspace  

Residential led mixed use development with transport 

infrastructure (if there is an operational requirement 

by TfL), commercial (office and light industry), 

community and limited commuter car parking with the 

aim to re-provide only where essential, for example 

for disabled persons or operational reasons, 

reflecting the site’s accessible location and 

encouraging the use of public transport and active 

modes of travel. 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

600 Minimum of 599 dwellings. 

659



 

Justification: The site is highly accessible by public transport and is next to 

Whetstone Town Centre. There is potential to intensify and 

deliver housing with some commercial uses. A portion of the site 

should be safeguarded for new LU rail infrastructure. 

660



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

A portion of the site should be safeguarded for TfL / London Underground for operational purposes, to serve a future 

Northern Line upgrade, with the extent to be established by London Underground following feasibility studies. 

Should TfL conclude that this site is not required for transport infrastructure then additional residential development 

may be appropriate. Station functions must be maintained and development must safeguard station operations in 

line with the agent of change principles. Landowners should work with TfL and the Council to identify a 

comprehensive scheme. 

Good access to public transport and town centre functions support intensification. There is sufficient space within the 

site to accommodate a graduated range of heights, subject to compliance with relevant policies, that would not 

significantly impact the character of the site and surrounding area given the opportunities afforded by differences in 

topography, particularly if buildings are concentrated closer to the Northway House site. Consistent with Policy 

CDH04, tall buildings may be appropriate. However, all tall building proposals will be subject to a detailed 

assessment of how the proposed building relates to its surroundings responds to topography, contributes to 

character, relates to public realm, natural environment and digital connectivity. Mature trees within the site should be 

assessed and either preserved or replaced. There is adjoining Green Belt to the west and north and Site of Borough 

Importance for Nature Conservation along the western site boundary, along with the Dollis Valley Green Walk. A 

further restricting design factor is the suburban 2-3 storey housing to the east. Building heights must be carefully 

considered to avoid excessive impact within the area which already has the tall buildings of Barnet House and 

Northway House. Homes near to the Northern Line must be provided with noise mitigation, with trains running 

through the night on Friday and Saturday. Further guidance will be provided by the Designing for Density SPD.  

The residential capacity of the site is indicative and based on TfL operational requirements for train stabling. If this 

transport infrastructure is no longer required the indicative capacity could be exceeded, subject to a design-led 

approach in accordance with Policy D3 of the London Plan that takes into account the local topography and 

surrounding context together with other material planning considerations. Access to the site must be managed to 

form safe entrance and exit, particularly from High Road and Totteridge Lane.  

Proposals for redevelopment of car parking spaces must meet the requirements of TRC03 and have regard to Policy 

GSS12.  

There is adjoining Green Belt to the west and north and Site of Borough Importance for Nature Conservation along 

the western site boundary, along with the Dollis Valley Green Walk. Any development of the land must seek to retain 

661



 

important wildlife habitats and trees. Mature trees within the site should be assessed and either preserved or 

replaced to protect existing site ecology.  Proposals must make the fullest contributions to enhancing and/or creating 

biodiversity in accordance with Policies CDH07 and ECC06 of the Local Plan.  This site lies on the Strategic Walking 

Network. Development proposals should take the opportunity to ensure effective connectivity to this network.  

 

The wastewater network capacity in this area may be unable to support the demand anticipated from this 

development. Where there is a potential wastewater network capacity constraint, the developer should liaise with 

Thames Water to determine whether a detailed drainage strategy informing what infrastructure is required. The 

detailed drainage strategy should be submitted with the planning application.  

Access to the site must be managed to form safe entrance and exit, particularly from the  High Road and Totteridge 

Lane. Car parking requirements will be assessed and provided, within the context of a move to sustainable modes of 

transport. 

 

Reason for MM 

The site has full planning permission (21/3726/FUL) that has been implemented and the development is under construction with significant 

progress having been made. The site allocation as proposed in the Plan is therefore not necessary, its inclusion in the Plan would not be 

effective and, therefore, the proposed site allocation is to be deleted from the Plan. 

Site No. 54 Barnet House (Whetstone Town Centre) 

Site Address: 1255 High Rd, Whetstone, N20 0EJ  

 

Map and Image as submitted - deleted 

Ward: Totteridge 

Image as submitted - deleted 
PTAL 2019: 4 

PTAL 2031:  4 

Site Size: 0.59 ha 

MM
134 

Site 54 Barnet House 

662



 

Ownership: Private 

Site source: Call for sites 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 
Office 

Development 

timeframe: 
0-5 years 

Planning 

designations: 

Town Centre; 

Archaeological 

Priority Area 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

17/1313/PNO 

(approved) 

conversion to 254 

residential units; 

17/5373/FUL 

(refused) 

extension and 216 

residential units. 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

A 10-storey 1960s office building and associated car parking spaces. The 

site is within the Whetstone Town Centre and fronts onto the Great North 

Road. Surrounding buildings vary from 2-6 storeys. The site is within 

300m of Totteridge and Whetstone Station. 

663



 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS08, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH04, TOW01, TOW02, CHW01, CHW02, ECY01, ECY02, 

ECY03, TRC01, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ 

allocation (as a 

proportion of floorspace): 

90% residential uses with 10% community and 

commercial  

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

 139 

Justification: The town centre site is accessible and could be used to provide 

residential uses along with ancillary town centre uses.  

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

While prior approval (17/1313/PNO) has been granted for office to residential conversion, planning applications 

which come forward should include community and commercial office uses. The good public transport access and 

town centre location support a relatively intensive development. High quality design will be expected to reflect the 

context of Whetstone High Street and the prominent location of the site. The site is within an Archaeological Priority 

Area and must be subject to an archaeological assessment. 

MM
135 

Site 55 Woodside Park Station East 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Change the development timeframe to 6-10 years to reflect a more realistic prospect of when housing will be delivered during the plan 
period and ensure consistency with Table 5 of the Plan (NB. this does not preclude inclusion of the site within the deliverable supply for 
the purposes of housing supply calculations at the time of the Plan’s adoption).  

• Remove percentages of proposed uses to provide the necessary flexibility for a design-led approach for future proposals. 

• Specify an approach to car parking that meets the requirements of TRC03 and has regard to Policy GSS12.  

• Specify the need for proposals to have a suitable relationship with surrounding properties. 

664



 

Site No. 55 Woodside Park Station East (Existing Transport Infrastructure) 

Site Address: Woodside Park Rd, Woodside Park, N12 8RT 

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

 

Ward: 
Totteridge & 

Woodside 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 3 

PTAL 2031:  4 

Site Size: 0.46 ha 

Ownership: Public (TfL) 

Site source: Call for sites 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 
Car park 

Development 

timeframe: 
0-5 6-10 years  

Planning 

designations: 

None 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

 
Site 

descripti

on:  

A commuter car park (148 spaces) serving Woodside Park Station, which 

is locally listed. Surrounded on other sides by low-rise housing and a 

small private school. 

665



 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS09, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH04, CDH07, CHW02, ECC02, TRC01, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

Residential with 20% re-provision of car parking. 

Residential development with limited re-provision of car 

parking with the aim to re-provide only where essential, 

for example for disabled persons or operational 

reasons, reflecting the site’s highly accessible location 

and encouraging the use of public transport and active 

modes of travel. 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

 Minimum 95 dwellings.  

Justification: The surface car park in this accessible and residential area 

offers potential for intensification for housing.  

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

Proposed designs must avoid privacy issues with neighbouring housing and be suitable for the context of the locally 

listed station building and surrounding housing. The adjacent railway line operates through the night on Friday and 

Saturday and the effects of noise disturbance must be mitigated. Restrictions on free parking at the entrance to 

Woodside Grange Road should be retained - where parking is at present prohibited from 2 to 3 pm  Monday-Friday 

– to prevent all-day commuter parking in this small area and maintain safe access for the adjoining school and 

others.  

Public car parking requirements should be assessed, and mitigation provided to encourage the use of public 

transport and active modes. Proposals for redevelopment of car parking spaces must meet the requirements of 

TRC03 and have regard to Policy GSS12.  

Development will be required to take account for the need for a buffer with properties on Woodside Grange Road 

and Budd Close. 

666



 

Site No. 56 Woodside Park Station West (Existing Transport Infrastructure) 

Site Address: Station Approach, Woodside Park, N12 8RT 

 

Map retained as submitted 

 

Ward: 
Totteridge & 

Woodside 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 3 

PTAL 2031:  4 

Site Size: 1.37 ha 

Ownership: Public (TfL) 

Site source: Call for sites 

Context type: Urban 

MM
136 

Site 56  Woodside Park Station West 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Reduce the indicative residential capacity of the allocation to a minimum of 86 dwellings with any uplift dependent on a design-led 
approach. The site allocation insofar as it relates to the southern parcel is deliverable in accordance with the planning permission for 86 
dwellings (19/4293/FUL) which is under construction. However, the current constraints on the northern parcel, necessitates a cautious 
approach to any uplift in the contribution to housing supply in the Plan beyond the existing planning permission and it being identified as 
development that is unlikely to take place until the 6-10 year period. 

• Provide certainty of the approach to biodiversity and trees.  

• Indicate that opportunities should be explored to ensure effective connectivity to the Strategic Walking network. 

667



 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Undeveloped land 

adjacent to railway 

corridor 

Development 

timeframe: 

0-5 years (existing 

planning 

permission) 

6-10 years 

(remaining 

undeveloped 

parcel, subject to 

acceptability of 

proposal) 

Planning 

designations: 

None 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

19/1809/FUL 

(refused) 86 flats; 

19/4293/FUL 

(approved) 86 

flats. 

 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

The site is a corridor of undeveloped land next to the Northern Line 

railway and Woodside Park Station which is overgrown and partially 

wooded. To the west are a mix of houses and residential blocks of up to 

four storeys.  

668



 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS09, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH04, CDH07, CHW02, ECC02, ECC06, TRC01, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

Residential 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

356Minimum of 86 dwellings (based on existing 

planning permission, any uplift on the undeveloped 

parcel is dependent upon acceptability of a proposal 

subject of a design-led approach).  

Justification: The unused areas of land in this accessible and residential area 

offers potential for intensification for housing. 

669



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

Design considerations must avoid privacy issues with neighbouring housing and mitigate noise impact from the 

adjacent railway line. The location and elongated shape of the site may pose issues with access. The impact of the 

loss of trees and other vegetation must be mitigated. The Council has granted planning permission for the 

redevelopment of the southern part of the site (ref: 19/4293/FUL) which is under construction. Land to the north of 

Station Approach is a longer-term development opportunity, dependant on provision of satisfactory access for 

pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles. This may require significant redesign of one of the station entrances to the 

western side of the bridge link at the station. Access is narrow and relatively isolated and dark at night, raising 

issues of security that must be considered and addressed through drawing on the principles of ‘Secured by Design’.   

The current constraints on the northern parcel of the site including absence of a suitable existing access, the 

potential loss of mature trees and irregular shape of the site in close proximity to the railway line, necessitates a 

cautious approach to any uplift beyond the existing planning permission. Accordingly, the minimum indicative 

residential site capacity is 86 units in accordance with the planning permission which is under construction. Any uplift 

would be dependent on a design-led approach for an appropriate development of the northern parcel that suitably 

overcomes the site constraints identified above.  

Noise mitigation must be provided with regards to the adjacent Northern Line which runs through the night on Friday 

and Saturday.  

Any development of the land must seek to retain important wildlife habitats and trees to protect existing site ecology.  

Proposals must make the fullest contributions to enhancing and/or creating biodiversity in accordance with Policies 

CDH07 and ECC06 of the Local Plan.  

This site lies on the Strategic Walking Network and therefore development proposals should take the opportunity to 

ensure effective connectivity to this network.  

The wastewater network capacity in this area may be unable to support the demand anticipated from this 

development. Where there is a potential wastewater network capacity constraint, the developer should liaise with 

Thames Water to determine whether a detailed drainage strategy informing what infrastructure is required. The 

detailed drainage strategy should be submitted with the planning application.   

 

670



 

Site No. 57 309-319 Ballards Lane (Key Opportunity Site 2) (North Finchley Town Centre) 

Site Address: 309-319 Ballards Lane, North Finchley, N12 8LY  

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

Ward: West Finchley 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 3 

PTAL 2031:  4 

Site Size: 0.40 ha 

Ownership: Private 

Site source: 
North Finchley 

SPD 

Context type: Central Urban  

MM
137 

Site 57 309-319 Ballards Lane 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Reclassify the allocation as suitable for ‘Urban’ density and reduce the indicative residential capacity to 83 dwellings accordingly.  Central 
density matrix classification in North Finchley is not consistent with the definition provided by Figure 1 of Annex 1 and the surrounding 
context.  

• Specify that if further uplifts in dwelling numbers are proposed that they would be required to demonstrate acceptability via a design-led 
approach in accordance with Policy D3 of the London Plan. 

• Remove the percentages of proposed uses to provide the necessary flexibility for a design-led approach to future residential-led mixed 
use proposals. 

• Ensure certainty of the approach to tall buildings in a manner consistent with Policy CDH04. 

671



 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 
Retail and office 

Development 

timeframe: 
6-10 years 

Planning 

designations: 

Town Centre 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

The site is within North Finchley Town Centre and fronts onto Ballards 

Lane. The 4-5 storey buildings are set back from the highway boundary 

with car parking to the front and rear and are largely in office use. 

Opposite is the Tally Ho Triangle site, which includes the Arts Deport and 

to 11 storey residential building. The West Finchley and Woodside Park 

stations are within 1km. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS08, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH04, CDH08, TOW01, TOW02, TOW03, TOW04, CHW01, 

CHW02, ECY01, ECY02, ECY03, ECC02, TRC01, TRC03  

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

80% residential floorspace with 20% commercial and 

community uses  

Residential led mixed use development with 

commercial and community uses. 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

 130  83 residential units  

672



 

Justification: This accessible town centre site was identified for intensification 

in the North Finchley SPD 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

Proposals should include town centre uses of retail, office and community, with residential above. The accessible 

location and surrounding townscape underpin a relatively high density of redevelopment, while being sensitive to the 

adjacent United Services Club and Finchley War Memorial, as well as the low-rise residential properties to the rear. 

Refer to the North Finchley SPD for further guidance. Proposals must take into consideration that that a critical 

Thames Water trunk sewer runs through or close to this site. 

Consistent with the requirements of Policy CDH04, tall buildings may be appropriate. However, all tall building 

proposals will be subject to a detailed assessment of how the proposed building relates to its surroundings, 

responds to topography, contributes to character, relates to public realm, natural environment and digital 

connectivity. Further guidance will be provided in the Designing for Density SPD. 

Any proposed uplifts in dwelling numbers are required to demonstrate acceptability of a design-led approach in 

accordance with Policy D3 of the London Plan.  

Site No. 58 811 High Rd & Lodge Lane Car Park (Key Opportunity Site 6) (North Finchley Town Centre) 

Site Address: 811 High Rd & Lodge Lane, North Finchley, N12 8JT  

 Ward: West Finchley Map and Image retained as submitted 

MM
138 

Site 58 811 High Rd & Lodge Lane Car Park 

Reason for MM  

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Change the development timeframe to 6-10 years to reflect a more realistic prospect of when housing will be delivered on site.  

• Remove the percentages of proposed uses to provide the necessary flexibility for a design-led approach of residential-led mixed use 
proposals. 

• Specify an approach to car parking that meets the requirements of TRC03 and has regard to Policy GSS12. 

• Ensure an approach to tall buildings consistent with Policy CDH04. 

673



 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

 

PTAL 2019: 4 

PTAL 2031:  4 

Site Size: 0.73 ha  

Ownership: 
Mixed Council and 

private 

Site source: 
North Finchley 

SPD 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Public car park 

retail and office   

Development 

timeframe: 
0-5 6-10 years  

Planning 

designations: 

Town Centre 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

The site is within North Finchley Town Centre and includes a Primary 

Shopping Frontage. To the front is a 3-storey 1960s building with retail 

and office use, while to the rear is a large Council-owned public car park 

(232 spaces). Surrounding 2-3 storey high street buildings include town 

centre uses. Beyond the rear of the site is a primary school with outdoor 

sports areas and 2-3 storey housing, including the locally listed 45-53 

Lodge Lane terrace. Woodside Park Station is within 600m. 

674



 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS08, GSS12, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, 

CDH03, CDH04, CDH08, TOW01, TOW02, TOW03, TOW04, 

CHW01, CHW02, ECY01, ECY02, ECY03, ECC02, TRC01, 

TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

 70% residential floorspace with 30% commercial town 

centre uses and replacement public car parking  

Residential led mixed use development with 

commercial town centre uses and  if necessary, re-

provision of public car parking. 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

 132 dwellings. 

Justification: This accessible town centre site was is identified for 

intensification in the North Finchley SPD. 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

Proposals should include town centre uses such as retail and office, with residential above. The accessible location 

and surrounding townscape can underpin a relatively high density of redevelopment, although proposals must be 

sensitive to the context. Further guidance is provided by the North Finchley Town Centre SPD. 

Consistent with the requirements of Policy CDH04, tall buildings may be appropriate. However, all tall building 

proposals will be subject to a detailed assessment of how the proposed building relates to its surroundings responds 

to topography, contributes to character, relates to public realm, natural environment and digital connectivity. Further 

guidance will be provided by the Designing for Density SPD.  

Proposals for redevelopment of car parking spaces must meet the requirements of TRC03 and have regard to Policy 

GSS12.  

MM
139 

Site 59 Central House, 7-9 Ballards Lane & 9a Albert Place 

Reason for MM 

675



 

Site No. 59 Central House, 7-9 Ballards Lane & 9a Albert Place (Finchley Central Town Centre)  

Site Address: 1 Ballards Lane, Finchley N3 1UX 

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

 

Ward: West Finchley 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 5 

PTAL 2031:  6 

Site Size: 0.15 ha 

Ownership: Private 

Site source: 

Call for sites, 

Finchley Church 

End Town Centre 

Strategy 

Context type: Central  Urban  

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Reclassify the allocation as suitable for ‘Urban’ density and reduce the indicative residential capacity to a minimum of 42 dwellings when 
having regard to the principle established by a previously approved prior notification. Central density matrix classification in Finchley 
Central Town Centre is not consistent with the definition provided by Figure 1 of Annex 1 and the surrounding context. 

• Amend the development timeframe to 6-10 years to reflect a more realistic prospect of when housing will be delivered on site.  

• Remove the percentages of proposed uses to provide the necessary flexibility for a design-led approach of residential-led mixed use 
proposals. 

• Clarify the site address.  

• Ensure an approach to tall buildings that is consistent with Policy CDH04.  

• Emphasise that should redevelopment rather than conversion be pursued, that a design-led approach should necessarily seek to 
conserve or enhance the settings of the Grade II listed cattle trough at the junction of Ballards Lane, and Finchley Church End 
Conservation Area. 

676



 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 
Retail and office 

Development 

timeframe: 
0-5 6-10 years  

Planning 

designations: 

Town Centre; 

Archaeological 

Priority Area 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

16/3722/PNO 

(approved) 

conversion to 42 

flats. 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

The site is a nine-storey office building within Finchley Central Town 

Centre with a Primary Frontage along Ballard’s Lane. Surrounding 

buildings are largely retail and office and not more than 3-storeys. The 

site is close to Finchley Central Station. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS08, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH04, TOW01, TOW02, TOW03, TOW04, CHW01, CHW02, 

ECY01, ECY02, ECY03, ECC02, TRC01, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

80% residential with 20% commercial uses 

floorspace.  

Residential led mixed use development with 

commercial uses. 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

 48   Minimum 42 dwellings.  

677



 

Justification: This highly accessible town centre location is identified in the 

Finchley Church End and Town Centre Strategy   

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

High public transport accessibility and access to town centre services support a relatively high density of 

development.  An attractive, active frontage with town centre uses should be provided on the ground floor. Prior 

approval (16/3722/PNO) was granted for 482 units. The site is within an Archaeological Priority Area and proposals 

must be subject to an archaeological assessment. For further information refer to the Finchley Church End Town 

Centre Strategy. 

Consistent with Policy CDH04, tall buildings may be appropriate. However, all tall building proposals will be subject 

to a detailed assessment of how the proposed building relates to its surroundings, responds to topography, 

contributes to character, relates to public realm, natural environment and digital connectivity. Further guidance will 

be provided by the Designing for Density SPD.  

If redevelopment rather than conversion is pursued a design-led approach should seek to conserve or enhance the 

settings of the Grade II listed cattle trough at the junction of Ballards Lane, and Finchley Church End Conservation 

Area. 

Site No. 60 Finchley House (Key Opportunity Site 3) (North Finchley Town Centre) 

MM
140 

Site 60 Finchley House 

Reason for MM  

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Reclassify the allocation as suitable for ‘Urban’ density and reduce the indicative residential capacity to  
128 dwellings accordingly.  Central density matrix classification in North Finchley is not consistent with the definition provided by Figure 1 
of Annex 1. 

• Amend the development timeframe to 6-10 years to reflect a more realistic prospect of when housing will be delivered on site.  

• Remove the percentages of proposed uses to provide the necessary flexibility for a design-led approach of residential-led mixed use 
proposals and provide an approach to tall buildings consistent with Policy CDH04. 

678



 

Site Address: High Road & Kingsway North Finchley N12 0BT  

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

Ward: West Finchley 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 4 

PTAL 2031:  4 

Site Size: 0.62 ha 

Ownership: Private 

Site source: 
North Finchley 

SPD 

Context type: Central Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Offices and 

residential 

Development 

timeframe: 

 

0 – 5 6-10 years   

 

Planning 

designations: 

Town Centre 

679



 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

17/6746/PNO 

(approved) 

conversion to 63 

residential units; 

18/0782/FUL (2 

storey extension 

for 9 residential 

units) 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

A corner site within North Finchley Town Centre. A 9-storey 1970s office 

building fronts onto the Kingsway, while the frontage onto the Great North 

Road is a terrace of Victorian 2-storey buildings in office and residential 

use. The Tally Ho Triangle is opposite, which includes the Arts Deport and 

11-storey residential. To the rear is 2-3 storey housing. West Finchley and 

Woodside Park Stations are within 1km. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS08, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH04, TOW01, TOW02, TOW03, TOW04, CHW01, CHW02, 

ECY01, ECY02, ECY03, ECC02, TRC01, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace) 

80% residential floorspace with 20% community and 

community use floorspace  

Residential led mixed use development with 

commercial and community uses. 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

 202  128 dwellings.  

Justification: This accessible town centre site was identified for intensification 

in the North Finchley SPD. 

680



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

Proposals should include town centre uses of retail, office and community, with residential above. The ground floor 

frontage should accommodate active town centre uses and be designed to create a pedestrian-friendly environment. 

The high accessibility to public transport and local services would support a relatively high density of redevelopment. 

Design must be sensitive to surrounding low-rise residential properties. For further guidance refer to the North 

Finchley SPD. 

Consistent with Policy CDH04, tall buildings may be appropriate. However, all tall building proposals as part of a 

design led approach will be subject to a detailed assessment of how the proposed building relates to its 

surroundings, responds to topography, contributes to character, relates to public realm, natural environment and 

digital connectivity. Further guidance will be provided by the Designing for Density SPD.  

Site No. 61 Tally Ho Triangle (Key Opportunity Site 1) (North Finchley Town Centre) 

Site Address: High Rd, Ballard’s Lane & Kingsway, North Finchley, N12 0GA/ 0GP 

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

  

Ward: West Finchley 

Image retained as submitted PTAL 2019: 4 

PTAL 2031:  4 

MM
141 

Site 61 Tally Ho Triangle 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Reclassify the allocation as suitable for ‘Urban’ density and reduce the indicative residential capacity to 205 dwellings accordingly.  Central 
density matrix classification in North Finchley is not consistent with the definition provided by Figure 1 of Annex 1 and the surrounding 
context. 

• Remove the percentages of proposed uses to provide the necessary flexibility for a design-led approach of residential-led mixed use 
proposals. 

• Specify an approach to car parking that meets the requirements of TRC03 and has regard to Policy GSS12, and tall buildings with Policy 
CDH04.  

681



 

Site Size: 0.99 ha 

Ownership: 

 

Mixed – Council/ 

TfL / private 

Site source: 
North Finchley 

SPD 

Context type: Central Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Retail, office, arts 

centre, bus 

station, public car 

parking, 

residential and 

community 

facilities 

Development 

timeframe: 
6-10 years 

Planning 

designations: 

Town Centre 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

682



 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

The site is within North Finchley Town Centre. Nether Street splits the 

site, with the northern segment mostly in retail and office use within 

buildings of 3-4 storeys. The southern segment includes an arts centre, 

bus station, public car parking, and office and retail uses, with building 

heights from 3/4 storeys to a tower of 11 storeys of residential.  The site is 

surrounded by main roads and town centre uses. Adjacent to the north is 

the locally listed Tally Ho public house. The West Finchley and Woodside 

Park Stations are within 1km. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS08, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH04, TOW01, TOW02, TOW03, TOW04, CHW01, CHW02, 

ECY01, ECY02, ECY03, ECC02, TRC01, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

70% residential floorspace with 30% commercial (office 

and retail), community leisure, transport and public car 

parking  

Residential led mixed use development with commercial 

town centre uses, community, leisure, transport 

infrastructure and public car parking. 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

 281  205 dwellings  

Justification: This accessible town centre site was is identified for 

intensification in the North Finchley SPD 

683



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

The accessible location and townscape context support a high density of redevelopment. Town centre uses must be 

retained with ground floor frontages accommodating active uses. The northern segment of the site could increase its 

offering of uses such as cafes, restaurants and retail at ground level, with employment and residential above. Taller 

buildings should be focused on the southern part of the site.  Public car parking requirements must be assessed, 

and mitigation provided to encourage the use of public transport and active transport modes. For further guidance 

refer to the North Finchley Town Centre SPD. 

Consistent with the requirements of Policy CDH04, tall buildings may be appropriate. However, all tall building 

proposals will be subject to a detailed assessment of how the proposed building relates to its surroundings responds 

to topography, contributes to character, relates to public realm, natural environment and digital connectivity. Further 

guidance will be provided by the Designing for Density SPD. 

Proposals for redevelopment of car parking spaces must meet the requirements of TRC03 and have regard to Policy 

GSS12.  

The wastewater network capacity in this area may be unable to support the demand anticipated from this 

development. Where there is a potential wastewater network capacity constraint, the developer should liaise with 

Thames Water to determine whether a detailed drainage strategy informing what infrastructure is required. The 

detailed drainage strategy should be submitted with the planning application.   

Site No. 62 Tesco Finchley (Finchley Central Town Centre) 

MM
142 

Site 62 Tesco Finchley 

Reason for MM  

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Change the development timeframe to 6-10 years to reflect a more realistic prospect of when housing will be delivered on site.  

• Remove the percentages of proposed uses to provide the necessary flexibility for a design-led approach of future residential-led mixed 
use proposals.  

• Specify an approach to car parking that meets the requirements of TRC03 and has regard to Policy GSS12, and an approach to tall 
buildings consistent with Policy CDH04. 

684



 

Site Address: 21-29 Ballard’s Lane, Finchley, N3 1XP 

  

Map and Image retained as submitted 

  

Ward: West Finchley 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 4 

PTAL 2031:  5 

Site Size: 0.85 ha 

Ownership: Private 

Site source: 

Finchley Church 

End Town Centre 

Strategy 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Supermarket with 

associated car 

parking and office 

uses 

Development 

timeframe: 

  

0-5 years 6-10 

years  

  

Planning 

designations: 

Town Centre; 

Archaeological 

Priority Area 

685



 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

 

Site 

description:  

A modern 3-storey building with a large supermarket on the ground floor 

and offices on the upper floors, with associated car parking to the rear. 

The street separating the main building from the car park is within the 

curtilage. The site is within Finchley Central Town Centre and has a 

Primary Frontage along Ballard’s Lane. Surrounding buildings are 

largely retail and office and not more than 3-storeys. The site is close to 

Finchley Central Station. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan policies: 

GSS01, GSS08, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH04, TOW01, TOW02, TOW03, TOW04, CHW01, CHW02, 

ECY01, ECY02, ECY03, ECC02, TRC01, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation (as 

a proportion of floorspace): 

75% residential floorspace with 25% commercial 

town centre uses and car parking 

 Residential led mixed use development with 

commercial town centre uses and car parking. 

Indicative residential capacity:  170 dwellings. 

Justification: The town centre location is highly accessible by public transport 

and can be intensified to deliver town centre and residential 

uses. 

686



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

High accessibility to public transport and local services, and the tall buildings location, mean this site should support 

a relatively high density of development, while being mindful of the surrounding context, including low-rise 

residential properties to the north 

An attractive, active frontage with town centre uses should be provided on the ground floor., car parking 

requirements should be assessed, and mitigation provided to encourage the use of public transport and active 

transport modes. Proposals for redevelopment of car parking spaces must meet the requirements of TRC03 and 

have regard to Policy GSS12. The site is within an Archaeological Priority Area and must be subject to an 

archaeological assessment. For further information refer to the Finchley Church End Town Centre Strategy. 

Consistent with the requirements of Policy CDH04, tall buildings may be appropriate. However, such proposals 

should be concentrated on the frontage of Ballards Lane. Development towards the rear where there are low-rise 

residential development should be graded in height to reflect and respect the clear transition to the domestic scale 

character and context of The Grove. Tall building proposals will be subject to a detailed assessment of how the 

proposed building relates to its surroundings responds to topography, contributes to character, relates to public 

realm, natural environment and digital connectivity. Further guidance will be provided by the Designing for Density 

SPD. 

The wastewater network capacity in this area may be unable to support the demand anticipated from this 

development. Where there is a potential wastewater network capacity constraint, the developer should liaise with 

Thames Water to determine whether a detailed drainage strategy informing what infrastructure is required. The 

detailed drainage strategy should be submitted with the planning application. 

For further information refer to the Finchley Church End Town Centre Strategy (Opportunity Site 8). 
 

 

MM
143 

Site 63  Philex House 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

687



 

Site No. 63 Philex House (Major Thoroughfare) 

Site Address: 110-124 West Hendon Broadway, West Hendon, NW9 7DW 

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

Ward: West Hendon 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 3 

PTAL 2031:  3 

Site Size: 0.28 ha 

Ownership: Private 

Site source: 

Unimplemented 

2006 UDP 

proposal 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 
Office 

Development 

timeframe: 

0-5 years 6-10 

years 

Planning 

designations: 

None 

• Reduce the indicative residential capacity to a minimum of 22 dwellings consistent with the most recent prior notification approval. The 
original indicative residential capacity of 48 dwellings is unlikely to be achieved when taking account of the historic and architectural 
interest of the building which is more suitable for conversion than redevelopment. 

• The development timeframe to 6-10 years to reflect a more realistic prospect of when housing will be delivered on site.  

• Emphasise that should redevelopment rather than conversion be justified and pursued, that a design-led approach in accordance with 
Policy D3 of the London Plan will be required.  

688



 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

Ref no: 

16/3265/PNO 

(approved but 

expired) 

conversion to 22 

residential units. 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

A disused office building on West Hendon Broadway/ A5. The building is 

set back and elevated from the street, with a driveway/ parking 

surrounding the building. The 3-storey building is of a Modernist style, 

however, it is not listed. A mobile phone mast is on the roof. The site 

backs onto the Midland Railway, with the M1 immediately beyond. To the 

south are light industrial uses, with terraced housing to the north. 

Opposite are light industrial units and new residential blocks. Numerous 

bus routes run along the A5. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS11, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH04, CDH08, CHW01, CHW02, ECC02, TRC01, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

Residential  

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

48 Minimum 22 dwellings  

Justification: The derelict site can be brought back into use and intensified to 

deliver housing.  

689



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

The site is suitable for residential redevelopment. Under 16/3265/PNO prior approval was granted for 22 units.  

Proposals must mitigate the air pollution and noise from surrounding major roads and railway. Preferably the current 

building with its architectural features should be preserved, with new development of a consistent style. The site lies 

on the possible route of Watling Street, a Roman Road, and should be subject to an archaeological assessment. 

Should redevelopment rather than conversion be justified and pursued, a design-led approach in accordance with 

Policy D3 of the London Plan will be required. 

 

Site No. 64 744-776 High Rd (Key Opportunity Site 5) (North Finchley Town Centre) 

Site Address: 744-776 High Rd, North Finchley, N12 9QG 

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

Ward: Woodhouse 

Image retained as submitted 
PTAL 2019: 4 

PTAL 2031:  4 

Site Size: 0.54 ha 

MM
144 

Site 64 744-776 High Rd 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 
development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Reclassify the allocation as suitable for ‘Urban’ density and reduce the indicative residential capacity to 112 dwellings accordingly.  Central 
density matrix classification in North Finchley is not consistent with the definition provided by Figure 1 of Annex 1 

• Remove the percentages of proposed uses to provide the necessary flexibility for a design-led approach of residential-led mixed use 
proposals. 

• Specify an approach to tall buildings that is consistent with Policy CDH04.  

• Provide an approach to car parking that meets the requirements of TRC03 and has regard to Policy GSS12. 

690



 

Ownership: 
Mixed Council and 

private 

Site source: 
North Finchley 

SPD 

Context type: Central Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Retail, 

restaurants, 

residential and 

public car park 

Development 

timeframe: 
6-10 years 

Planning 

designations: 

Town Centre 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

The site is central to North Finchley Town Centre and includes Primary 

Shopping Frontage. The buildings are mostly 3-storeys ranging in age 

and style from late Victorian to 1950s. A small public car park is at the 

rear of the site. The context is of largely similar town centre uses and 

building types. To the rear of the site is a mix of office uses and 2-3 storey 

housing. Woodside Park Station is within approximately 800m. 

691



 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS08, GSS12, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, 

CDH03, CDH04, CDH08, TOW01, TOW02, TOW03, TOW04, 

CHW01, CHW02, ECY01, ECY02, ECY03, ECC02, TRC01, 

TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

80% residential floorspace with 20% commercial 

town centre uses  

Residential led mixed use development with 

commercial town centre uses. 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

 175  112 dwellings.  

Justification: This accessible town centre site was identified for intensification 

in the North Finchley SPD 

692



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

Proposals should include active ground floor frontages with town centre commercial uses, with residential above. 

The accessible location and surrounding townscape underpin a relatively high density of redevelopment, while 

proposals must be sensitive to the context of adjacent town centre buildings and residential properties and the 

retention of the Bohemia pub and 760 High Road (formerly the Santander Bank) buildings within the site that make a 

positive contribution to townscape quality. The redeveloped buildings should match the height of those retained 

along the High Road, with the potential for upper level residential development to be stepped back from the frontage 

with total building height not exceeding six storeys. Development should respond to the sensitive edges on the 

eastern part of the site, where heights should not exceed three storeys. For further guidance refer to the North 

Finchley SPD. 

Consistent with the requirements of Policy CDH04, tall buildings may be appropriate. However, all tall building 

proposals will be subject to a detailed assessment of how the proposed building relates to its surroundings, 

responds to topography, contributes to character, relates to public realm, natural environment and digital 

connectivity. Further guidance will be provided by the Designing for Density SPD. 

Proposals for redevelopment of car parking spaces must meet the requirements of TRC03 and have regard to Policy 

GSS12. The loss of public car parking must be assessed, and mitigation provided to encourage the use of public 

transport and active transport modes as required. 

 

Site No. 65 Barnet Mortuary (former) (Major Thoroughfare) 

Site Address: Dolman Close Finchley N3 2EU 

MM
145 

Site 65 Barnet Mortuary (former) 

Reason for MM 
• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 

development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Increase the minimum indicative residential capacity to 60 dwellings consistent with planning consent (22/3385/FUL).  

693



 

  

Map and Image retained as submitted 

  

Ward: West Finchley 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 1B 

PTAL 2031:  1B 

Site Size: 0.25 ha 

Ownership: Council 

Site source: 

Council assets 

disposal 

programme 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 
Storage 

Development 

timeframe: 
0-5 years 

Planning 

designations: 

None 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None  22/3385 

FUL (60 flats) 

(approved). 

 
Site 

description:  

A disused mortuary and grounds which is adjacent to the North Circular 

Road. To the north and west are low-rise semi-detached and terraced 

residences, while to the east are the grounds of Tudor Primary School. 

694



 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan policies: 

GSS01, GSS11, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH07, CHW02,  ECC06, TRC01, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation (as 

a proportion of floorspace): 

Residential 

Indicative residential capacity:  20 Minimum 60 dwellings 

  

Justification: The disused site lies in a residential area and can be 

redeveloped and intensified for residential uses.  

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

Development must take into consideration the effect of noise and air pollution from the adjacent North Circular 

Road. Building height needs to compatible with adjoining residential development. Development should have regard 

to meet the requirements of GSS11 Major Thoroughfares. 

  

Site No. 66 East Wing (Key Opportunity Site 4) (North Finchley Town Centre) 

MM
146 

Site 66 East Wing 

Reason for MM 
• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for 

development proposals, compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the 
development plan as whole. 

• Reclassify the allocation as suitable for ‘Urban’ density and reduce the indicative residential capacity to 80 dwellings accordingly.  Central 
density matrix classification in North Finchley is not consistent with the definition provided by Figure 1 of Annex 1 

• Remove the percentages of proposed uses to provide the necessary flexibility for a design-led approach of residential-led mixed use 
proposals. 

• Specify an approach to tall buildings that is consistent with Policy CDH04.  

695



 

Site Address: 672-708 High Rd North Finchley N12 9PT/ 9QL 

 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

 

Ward: Woodhouse 

Image retained as submitted 

PTAL 2019: 3 

PTAL 2031:  4 

Site Size: 0.44 ha 

Ownership: Private 

Site source: 
North Finchley 

SPD 

Context type: Central  Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Retail, office and 

residential 

Development 

timeframe: 
6-10 years. 

Planning 

designations: 

Town Centre 

Local listing 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

15/06414/FUL 

(approved) 

conversion to 21 

flats 

696



 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

The site is within the North Finchley Town Centre and includes Primary 

Shopping Frontage. The buildings are mostly 3-storeys ranging from late 

Victorian to 1960s, with retail and office uses on ground floor and 

residential above.  Opposite is the Tally Ho Triangle site, which includes 

the Arts Deport and 11-storey residential building. Office uses and 2-3 

storey housing adjoin to the rear. West Finchley and Woodside Park 

stations are within 1km. 

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS08, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH04, CDH08, TOW01, TOW02, TOW03, TOW04, CHW01, 

CHW02, ECY01, ECY02, ECY03, ECC02, TRC01, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

70% residential floorspace with 30% town centre 

commercial and cultural uses  

Residential led mixed use development with 

commercial town centre and cultural uses. 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

 125  80 dwellings  

Justification: This accessible town centre site was identified for intensification 

in the North Finchley SPD. 

697



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

Consistent with Policy CDH04, tall buildings may be appropriate. However, all tall building proposals will be subject 

to a detailed assessment of how the proposed building relates to its surroundings responds to topography, 

contributes to character, relates to public realm, natural environment and digital connectivity. Further guidance will 

be provided by the Designing for Density SPD.  

Proposals should include an active ground floor frontage with town centre commercial uses such as retail and office 

space, with residential above. The accessible location and town centre context underpin a relatively high density. 

The curved Sea Rock façade at the junction of the High Road and Woodhouse Road is on the Local List and should 

be retained as a local landmark. Development should be sensitive to and consistent with the existing and retained 

buildings, with height on the High Road matching the height of the retained buildings as a guide. Where floors above 

this level are added, these need to be set back from the building line. Higher buildings eights of up to six storeys 

may be appropriate in the south-eastern corner of the site, if set back from the existing High Road building line. For 

further guidance refer to the North Finchley Town Centre SPD. Proposals must take into consideration that that a 

critical Thames Water trunk sewer runs through or close to this site. 

Site No. 67 Great North Leisure Park (Major Thoroughfare) 

Site Address: High Rd, Friern Barnet, N12 0GL 

 Ward: Woodhouse Image retained as submitted 

MM
147 

Site 67 Great North Leisure Park 

Reason for MM 

• Remove the selected policies previously identified as relevant in the Plan as submitted. When planning permission is sought for development proposals, 
compliance will be assessed in terms of any relevant policies of the Plan and its accordance with the development plan as whole. 

• Confirm that the indicative residential capacity of 352 dwellings is a minimum figure expected and that significant uplifts may be supported where 
acceptability is demonstrated via a design-led approach in accordance with Policy D3 of the London Plan to optimise the use of land and provide 
flexibility for any residential-led development that may come forward in the site. 

• Remove the percentages of proposed uses to provide the necessary flexibility for a design-led approach and clarify that a reduction in main town centre 
uses is sought. 

• Specify an approach to car parking that meets the requirements of TRC03 and have regard to Policy GSS12. 

• Confirm that opportunities should be explored to ensure effective connectivity to the Strategic Walking network. 

698



 

Map and Image retained as submitted 

 

PTAL 2019: 1B  

PTAL 2031:  2 

Site Size: 3.45 ha 

Ownership: Mixed 

Site source: Call for sites 

Context type: Urban 

Existing or most 

recent site use/s: 

Cinema, bowling, 

leisure/ sports 

centre with lido, 

restaurants and 

extensive car 

parking 

Development 

timeframe: 
6-10 years 

Planning 

designations: 

None 

Relevant planning 

applications: 

None 

699



 

 

Site 

descripti

on:  

This is an out-of-town-centre, car-centric leisure park. This site includes a 

cinema, bowling alley and ancillary restaurants with extensive car 

parking, as well as Finchley Lido Leisure Centre. It is close to a major 

junction of the Great North Road and North Circular Road (A406) and is 

adjacent to Metropolitan Open Land, a Local Nature Reserve and Site of 

Importance for Nature Conservation.   

Applicable Draft 

Local Plan 

policies: 

GSS01, GSS11, HOU01, HOU02, CDH01, CDH02, CDH03, 

CDH07, CHW01 CHW02, ECC05, ECC06, TRC01, TRC03 

Proposed uses/ allocation 

(as a proportion of 

floorspace): 

60% residential floorspace with 40% commercial, 

leisure and community uses  

Residential led mixed use development with 

commercial, leisure and community uses. 

Indicative residential 

capacity: 

 

Minimum 352 dwellings. 

Justification: The low density nature of the existing site, including large areas 

of surface parking, provide an opportunity for intensification that 

includes residential as well as existing leisure uses.  

700



 

Site 

requirements 

and 

development 

guidelines: 

There is potential for comprehensive or infill residential development utilising space released by existing surface car 

parking, allowing better integration into the surrounding residential environment for more efficient and sustainable 

use of space. There should be no additional floorspace of leisure and commercial floorspace in use for restaurants 

and cafes and sui generis take away uses, which should be located in town centres. 

Proposals must reflect the context of a major thoroughfare and respond to the adjacent MOL. Further 

Masterplanning will be required in the event of comprehensive redevelopment. Due to the low PTAL, proposals 

should include measures that contribute towards modal shift away from private car use to more sustainable means 

of transport. Proposals for redevelopment of car parking spaces must meet the requirements of TRC03 and have 

regard to Policy GSS12.  

The 352 dwelling residential capacity of the site is an indicative minimum figure expected. To optimise the use of 

land significant uplifts may be supported subject to a design-led approach in accordance with Policy D3 of the 

London Plan, that takes into account the reduction in main town centre uses, surrounding context plus other material 

and planning policy requirements. 

This site lies on the Strategic Walking Network and development proposals should take the opportunity to ensure 

effective connectivity to this network.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

701



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
i West London SHMA 

ii This SPD will replace two existing SPDs on Residential Design Guidance and Sustainable Design and Construction 
iii Annual Regeneration Report 2018/19 

iv Annual Regeneration Report 2018/19 

v Barnet’s Employment Land Review 

vi Planning permission will no longer be required to move between retail, professional services, restaurants/cafes, offices (including research and development 
facilities and light industrial uses), clinics, health centres, creches, day nurseries, day centres, gyms, and most indoor recreation facilities. Previously these 
were all separate use classes but now all fall within the new Class E. 
vii Better homes for local people, Mayor of London, 2018 

viii https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-maintaining-educational-provision/guidance-for-schools-colleges-and-local-authorities-

on-maintaining-educational-provision  

ix https://www.barnet.gov.uk/planning-and-building/planning-policies/local-plan-review/authorities-monitoring-report 

 

702

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-maintaining-educational-provision/guidance-for-schools-colleges-and-local-authorities-on-maintaining-educational-provision
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-maintaining-educational-provision/guidance-for-schools-colleges-and-local-authorities-on-maintaining-educational-provision


 

 
x  London Plan Table 3.1 – Minimum space standards for new dwellings 

xi Barnet’s Employment Land Survey highlights the number of microbusinesses operating from residential premises 

xii https://www.barnet.gov.uk/planning-and-building/planning-policies-and-local-plan/employment-use-residential-use-article-4 

xiii Barnet SHMA 2018 – Figure 35 

xiv Barnet SHMA 2018 Figure 36 

[i] Barnet Residential Conversions Study 2019 

xv  London Plan Table 3.1 – Minimum space standards for new dwellings 

xvi Barnet SHMA 2018 Figure 44 

xvii As at November 2019 there were 80 entries on Barnet’s Self-Build Register. This compares with an Objectively Assessed Need of 3,060 new homes per 
annum.  

xviii a use that is solely employment generating use for the equivalent of 2FTE and does not invoke the Agent of Change Principle. 

xix Valuation Office Agency Statistical Release 8 December 2016: Non-domestic rating: Business Floorspace England and Wales: Table FS3.3: Office sector - 
total floorspace1, by administrative area, data to 31 March 2016. 

xx https://www.barnet.gov.uk/planning-and-building/planning-policies-and-local-plan/employment-use-residential-use-article-4 

xxi Sustainable Transport Strategy – London Strategy, Journeys originating in Barnet – modes of transport 14/15-16/17 

xxii http://content.tfl.gov.uk/ulez-boundary-map-from-25-october-2021.pdf  

xxiii Department of Transport – Road Casualties by Severity - London Datastore 

xxiv London Plan – Table 10.2 – Minimum cycle parking standards 

xxv London Plan – Figure 10.2 – Area where higher minimum cycle parking standards apply 

 

 

703

https://www.barnet.gov.uk/planning-and-building/planning-policies-and-local-plan/employment-use-residential-use-article-4
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/planning-and-building/planning-policies-and-local-plan/employment-use-residential-use-article-4
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/ulez-boundary-map-from-25-october-2021.pdf


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Table of Proposed Additional Modifications – March 2024 

Policies  

SCHEDULE OF PROPOSED ADDITIONAL MODIFICATIONS TO SUBMISSION DRAFT BARNET LOCAL PLAN  

 This schedule contains all proposed additional modifications to Barnet’s Local Plan that was submitted for examination on 

November 26th 2021.  

 

Modifications 

Ref  Chapter 
/ Policy 
Number 
/  

Proposed Modification 
Strikethrough text = text proposed for removal compared to submission version  
Underline text = new text proposed for addition compared to submission version  
 

Reason for 
Modification 

705



AM1 Chapter 1 – 
Introduction 
 
 

1.1.1 The Council is progressing Barnet has a new Local Plan. The existing previous 
Local Plan (comprising Core Strategy and Development Management Policies 
Development Plan Documents) was adopted in 2012.  Appendix C sets out how 
these 2012 Local Plan policies are being have been replaced. Policies in Local Plans 
should be reviewed at least once every five years to check whether they need to be 
updated on the basis of changing circumstances locally or relevant changes in 
national policy. Therefore, these documents now need to be reviewed in full and the 
Local Plan updated to ensure that the Borough continues to grow and develop to 
provide a thriving place for people to live, work and visit. 
   
1.1.4 Table 1 sets out the regulatory stages and timetable for planmaking. This 
document is known as Barnet’s Publication Local Plan  This version of the Local 
Plan is a draft document specifically produced to enable representations to be made 
on the draft plan that will then be considered by an independent Inspector at the 
examination stage. It takes account of comments received on the previous stage of 
consultation: Preferred Approach (January 2020 to March 2020). It is the version that 
the Council seeks to adopt as the framework for decision making on planning. The 
Council recognises however that it is possible that responses to this regulatory stage 
will result in further proposed changes to the Plan as part of the Examination in 
Public.   
 
1.1.5 At this stage of the Plan comments should be related to the ‘test of soundness’ 
as set out in the NPPF. These are whether the Plan is “sound” in respect of being: 
 
Positively prepared – providing a strategy which, as a minimum, seeks to meet the 
area’s objectively assessed needs; and is informed by agreements with other 
authorities, so that unmet need from neighbouring areas is accommodated where it 
is practical to do so and is consistent with achieving sustainable development; 
 
Justified – an appropriate strategy, taking into account the reasonable alternatives, 
and is based on proportionate evidence; 
 

Update 

706



Effective – deliverable over the plan period, and based on effective joint working on 
cross-boundary strategic matters that have been dealt with rather than deferred, as 
evidenced by the statement of common ground; and 
 
Consistent with national policy – enabling the delivery of sustainable development 
in accordance with the NPPF.  
 
1.1.6 All representations received on Barnet’s Local Plan Publication (Reg 19) will be 
summarised and collated within a consultation statement to be considered by the 
appointed Inspector alongside the Local Plan. Respondents will be identifiable by 
name. Any other personal information will be processed in accordance with the 
General Data Protection Regulations 2018. 
 

707



AM2 Chapter 1 – 
Introduction 
 
Figure 2 
 
 

Update with inclusion 
of Sustainability 
Strategy 
 

708



 

709



AM3 Chapter 1 – 
Introduction 
 
 

1.4 Evidence Base 
 
1.4.1 National planning policy requires that Local Plans should be based on up-to-
date and relevant evidence about the economic, social and environmental 
characteristics and prospects of the Borough.  An extensive evidence base has 
informed the preparation of this Local Plan.  This includes technical studies covering 
a range of topics such as housing need and delivery, employment land, transport, 
Green Belt and Metropolitan Open Land, infrastructure requirements and flood risk. 
A full list of technical evidence base documents is set out on the Council’s website at 
Appendix A. Reference is also made here to data and information the Council has 
been collecting to support its response to COVID19.  
 
1.4.2 In addition, a combined Sustainability Appraisal (SA), Habitats Regulations 
Assessment (HRA), Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) and Health Impact 
Assessment (HIA) of the Barnet Local Plan (2021-2036) has also been undertaken.  
This is known as the Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA). The IIA is published 
alongside the Local Plan. 
 
1.4.3 The SA component of the IIA assesses Local Plan policies and site proposals 
against a range of social, environmental and economic indicators and helps to 
identify all the likely significant effects.  The SA, incorporating the requirements of 
the SEA Regulations, advises on ways in which any adverse effects could be 
avoided, reduced or mitigated or how any positive effects could be maximised.  This 
helps to ensure that impacts are considered through the SA process and that the 
emerging policies and site proposals and that the policies and site proposals 
included within the Local Plan promote sustainable development.  
 
 
1.5 Community Engagement and Duty to Co-operate 
 
1.5.1 Local Plans are subject to a rigorous statutory process involving several stages 
of public consultation. These stages of engagement from visioning workshops in 

Updates and 
clarifications 
 

710



2017, through several rounds of public consultation up to participation in the 
examination in public in 2022 / 2023 have helped to will help shape the Local Plan. 
Further detail on how we will consult and what you have told us so far is set out in 
the Local Plan Consultation Report. 
 
1.5.2 As required by the Localism Act 2011 and the ‘duty to co-operate’, the Council 
is committed to co-operating with a wide range of organisations including 
neighbouring authorities, infrastructure providers and key organisations on strategic 
and cross-boundary planning issues. The Council’s intentions, the work it has done 
so far on co-operation and the template for addressing strategic issues, are set out in 
the Duty to Co-operate Statements and the Initial Statements of Common Ground.  
 
1.6 Neighbourhood Plans 
 
1.6.1 Communities can influence the future of their local areas by preparing a 
Neighbourhood Plan that sets out the vision for the area and general planning 
policies to guide development.  Neighbourhood Plans are led and written by the 
community (not the Council) and must be in accordance with Barnet’s adopted 
Development Plan as well as the London Plan and national planning policy. 
 
1.6.2 A Neighbourhood Plan that is prepared in line with legal requirements and 
supported by a majority in a local referendum must be adopted by the Council.  Once 
adopted, a Neighbourhood Plan becomes part of the Development Plan and will be 
taken into account alongside the Council’s other plans when making decisions on 
planning applications in that area.  Neighbourhood Plans should support 
development and provide policies to guide and shape the form it takes.  One 
Neighbourhood Plan in Barnet at West Finchley was adopted in October 2021. is, 
subject to a confirmatory referendum, expected to be adopted in Autumn 2021. 
Progress on this is set out on the Council’s planning webpages. 
 

711



AM4 Chapter 2 – 
Challenges and 
Opportunities  
Sections 2.1 to 
2.8 

2.1 Response to COVID19 and Changes to the Use Classes Order 
 
2.1.1 In May 2023 the World Health Organisation declared that COVID19 no longer 
presents a global health emergency. This does not disguise the shadow cast by 
COVID19 and that Barnet has been impacted greatly by the COVID19 pandemic. , 
particularly on many aspects of day-to-day life, from how we shop, work and learn to 
how we relate to our immediate environment indoors and most importantly how we 
relate to each other. While Whilst primarily a health issue, the unprecedented 
responses the pandemic has necessitated means meant that it is also became an 
economic and social crisis.  There are a range of long term changes we will need to 
respond to in planning the future of the Borough. This includes changes to our 
places, travel patterns and economy as well as health and wellbeing issues 
particularly among young people.  
 
2.1.2 The pandemic has created new, and in some cases dramatic, economic 
challenges for residents, businesses and town centres. Young people, black and 
minority ethnic communities and people living in overcrowded rented 
accommodation have suffered a disproportionate impact from COVID19 particularly 
in terms of rising unemployment, worsening mental health and reduced physical 
activity. Existing health inequalities in Barnet have been became further heightened.  
 
2.1.3 Although local evidence on the long term impact of COVID19 is still emerging, 
particularly through the Council’s COVID19 Recovery Programme, COVID19 
exposed deep inequalities within communities across Barnet. The Local Plan helps 
to form the basis of a response to the pandemic. Effective implementation of the 
Plan will help make a difference by fighting inequalities, reducing poverty, being 
family friendly and helping our residents to live well.  It reflects Council priorities: to 
support residents to improve their skills and get good jobs in the post-COVID 
economy; to enable residents to access and enjoy more opportunities for active 
lives; to enable helps town centres to be for everyone and be places that have good 
business health and vitality;, and our delivers regeneration that benefits local 
communities and improves well-being areas to thrive; and creates an environment 

Updates with respect 
to COVID19 and 
clarifications 

712



where residents and in which businesses benefit from green opportunities, skills and 
employment can succeed and are supported by accelerate the borough-wide roll out 
of high quality digital connectivity. As part of the London Recovery Programme the 
Council is working with the Mayor of London and London Councils as well as other 
partners from the public, private and voluntary sectors to help restore confidence in 
the city, minimise the impact on London’s most vulnerable communities and helping 
to rebuild the capital’s economy and society. 
 
2.1.4 With more people set to continue to work at home there has been a greater 
connection with local services in town centres. The concept of the ’15 minute 
neighbourhood’ underpins the advantages for people to have local shops as well as 
parks and open spaces that can be used for essential daily exercise and recreation 
within a readily walkable distance. The Local Plan helps to safeguard and enhance 
such valuable spaces. In addition, through promotion of Healthy Streets and healthy 
environments the Local Plan encourages more active and sustainable modes of 
travel as well as providing a framework for actions from the emerging Sustainability 
Strategy for making Barnet carbon neutral and helps facilitate a green recovery from 
COVID-19. 
 
2.1.5 The importance of adequately sized homes to for health and wellbeing has 
been was highlighted by COVID19, particularly for those living in overcrowded rented 
accommodation.  We know that having the right home helps families stay healthy, 
sustain a job, care for one another the family and contribute to their community. 
Having access to outdoor space was found to be particularly acute during the 
pandemic lockdown for those living in accommodation without access to private 
gardens.   Health inequalities linked to deprivation are a key challenge for the Plan. 
The Council’s Estate Renewal programme has the potential to positively address 
deprivation and associated health inequalities which have been further exposed by 
COVID19. Issues of ventilation and air circulation, social distancing space, 
homeworking space, private amenity space (in terms of gardens and balconies) and 
use of public realm and open spaces coming to the fore can be addressed by good 

713



quality design, delivering good quality safe, sustainable homes and places where 
people choose to work, rest and stay. 
 
2.1.6 In our town centres the impact of e-tailing (online shopping) and m-tailing 
(mobile app shopping) has been amplified by the COVID19 pandemic. Whilst they 
now present greater challenges they also provide opportunities for Barnet’s town 
centres to improve their offer, helped by the Council’s COVID19 Recovery 
Programme and the way the Local Plan responds to the Government’s fundamental 
review of the Use Classes Order in 2020 which introduced Use Class E – 
Commercial, Business and Service Uses. Use Class E is intended to allow greater 
flexibility to change between commercial, business and service uses. It will therefore 
have an impact on the Council’s ability to manage and safeguard commercial uses in 
Barnet’s town centres and employment areas. Further planning reforms through the 
General Permitted Development Order in 2021 have widened permitted 
development, allowing conversion from Use Class E to residential. The 
Government’s encouragement of permissiveness presents a significant challenge for 
enabling existing businesses to be resilient and ensure ensuring that Barnet remains 
a great place to start and grow a business. In addition, the impact of the departure 
from the European Union on Barnet’s economy needs to be considered in planning 
the future of the Borough.  
 
2.3 Barnet’s Character 
 
2.3.1 To fully appreciate Barnet’s character, it is important to understand its growth in 
the last 150 years from a population of 6,400 living in villages in the mid-19th century 
to over 400,000 residents living in a successful London suburbi. An important part of 
the Borough’s character, is that it is a family friendly place, as home to more families 
than any other London borough, a family friendly place. On the basis of current 
projections up to 2036, Barnet’s population is expected to reach 452,000.  
 
2.3.2 Barnet is one of the greenest boroughs in London and has 28 per cent % of its 
area designated as Green Belt. Overall, there is 1,192 hectares of public open space 

714



across the Borough. A key challenge of the Local Plan is to ensure that the 
distinctive character of the area is retained and where possible, enhanced further, 
whilst achieving sustainable growth. Character can also evolve over time in a 
positive way with good growth from developments large and small. Furthermore, the 
Council seeks to optimise the opportunity to use the Borough’s open spaces asset to 
improve the health and wellbeing of its residents and attract visitors to the area. 
 
2.3.4 Sustainable growth is key to delivering the vision and objectives of this Plan to 
meet the needs of the Borough. Proposals such as the West London Orbital and the 
potential arrival of Crossrail 2 at New Southgate could provide a catalyst for growth. 
This potential must be planned for whilst the Council recognises the consequences 
of delays or cancellation. Ambitious schemes at Brent Cross Cricklewood, including 
such as Brent Cross Town, will help areas develop a new character. Understanding 
the challenges that we face in terms of providing new homes, jobs, services and 
infrastructure whilst still protecting Barnet’s distinctive character underpins the 
effective delivery of the polices within the Local Plan. Effective planning will seek to 
maximise the opportunities that the Borough has to offer, including its town centres 
and areas of growth, open space and connectivity.  
 
 
2.4 Housing  
 
2.4.1 The housing crisis in Barnet is felt most keenly by those who have no home at 
all, and the Council faces a great challenge to reduce the harms associated with this. 
A significant challenge for the Local Plan will be to provide Providing a suitable mix 
of good quality housing that, in meeting the changing needs of the local community, 
remains affordable and is capable of serving future generations remains a significant 
challenge. The A challenge that is not simply just a crisis of numbers and meeting 
targets. Although significant quantities of new homes are needed with increased 
access to home ownership for first-time buyers, but the real problem is not the 
numbers, but the affordability, type, design, quality and location of new and existing 
homes. It is important that the size and mix of homes delivered will reflects the 

715



changing demographic and economic make-up of Barnet. This Plan will seeks 
efficient use of previously developed land and Barnet’s existing housing stock. It will 
supports opportunities for tenure diversity when it can bring development forward 
quicker. It and may also consider pPrecision manufactured housing on long term 
regeneration sites will also be considered as an appropriate option in addressing 
Barnet’s housing needs. 
 
 
2.4.2 An efficient housing market that offers choice and affordability has an impact 
on the diversity of the area. The Council seeks to use all tools available to ensure 
that the Borough’s housing needs are met, with the challenge of homes actually 
being built after planning permission is granted and with that supporting 
infrastructure being is funded and delivered in the right place and at the right time. 
Housing delivery must be accompanied by investment in transport, education, 
health, leisure, open spaces, green corridors and new employment opportunities.  
Barnet's Housing Delivery Action Plan (HDAP) highlights the causes of delays 
following planning consent and sets a narrative for housebuilding, highlighting the 
obstacles to delivery. Within the context of national housebuilding the HDAP sets out 
the local actions the Council proposes to undertake to help speed up the delivery of 
new homes in Barnet.   
 
2.4.4 Barnet’s Housing Strategy 2019–2024 highlights that the Council will promote 
delivery of homes that meet the needs of older people and those with disabilities, as 
well as measures to support young people leaving care to make a successful 
transition to living independently. Provision of housing to meet these needs can also 
help support the wider objectives of the Council including health, wellbeing and 
safety. If delivered effectively this is a key opportunity that can be maximised through 
successful implementation of this Plan. 
  
2.5 Economy and Town Centres 
 

716



2.5.3 As highlighted in the Key Facts Evidence Paper Barnet’s economic activity rate 
is below the London and UK average. The employment rate is also lower than that 
for London as a whole. Employment in Barnet is expected to grow by 22% by 2036, 
generating an additional demand for office space of approximately 40,000 m2. With 
a strong culture of self-employment in Barnet it is particularly important that there is 
sufficient provision of affordable and flexible workspace, particularly in town centres, 
to support small to medium businesses that can contribute to the success of the 
Borough’s economy. 
 
2.6 Environment 
 
2.6.1 Maintaining the quality of the environment whilst delivering the levels of 
forecast growth is a key challenge for Barnet. Good growth also provides an 
opportunity to become more efficient and resilient, adapting to the consequences of 
environmental change created by human behaviour and mitigating the future 
impacts, in particular flood risk and water quality from proposed development. Water 
supply and wastewater management have both been assessed as part of the West 
London Alliance Strategic Infrastructure Delivery Plan (WLA SIDP). A Stage 2 
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment provides further support for the Local Plan’s 
development proposals. 
 
2.6.2 Barnet is one of the greenest boroughs in London. Green spaces and low 
density suburban development form an important element of Barnet’s character. 
There is a challenge in protecting and enhancing this space and amenity value to 
residents. Barnet’s Parks and Open Spaces Strategy 2016-26 (BPOSS) provides 
evidence on existing open spaces that forms part of Barnet’s Green Infrastructure 
network and its intrinsic value. The Borough contains one Site of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSI) – the Welsh Harp (Brent Reservoir) which, as the largest expanse of 
water in Barnet, provides an important recreational resource as well as a valuable 
wildlife habitat. Access to the Welsh Harp is being improved in response to growth in 
the west of Barnet. The Council supports ‘Vision for the Harp’ and will work in 
partnership to deliver proper protection for the Welsh Harp. Any increased access to 

717



the Welsh Harp will be managed appropriately in partnership with the community’s 
Vision for the Harp’ and in consultation with Natural England to ensure its integrity as 
a SSSI is maintained. 
 
2.6.2A In May 2022 the Council declared a Climate and Biodiversity Emergency. To 
make Barnet carbon neutral by 2050 the Council is progressing a Sustainability 
Strategy that sets out the actions to be taken we will take to deliver a green and 
thriving Borough; with a key focus on keeping neighbourhoods clean, green and with 
good air quality, ensuring that development and growth in the borough is 
sustainable, maximising reusing and recycling, and reducing consumption and 
waste. 
 
2.7 Health and Wellbeing 
 
2.7.1 Health and wellbeing is strongly determined by the surrounding environment in 
which people live, including factors such as housing, education, air quality, 
unemployment, transport/connectivity and social inclusion. Planning policies can 
contribute greatly to many of these determinants of health, which is a further 
challenge over the Pplan period. The Council will seek to ensure that both direct and 
indirect consequences of the delivery of this Plan will help improve the health and 
wellbeing of local residents. COVID19 has highlighted further existing public health 
challenges and disparities in health and wellbeing to which the Council is responding 
through the Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2021-2025. to respond to.  
 
2.7.2 The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) provides a background to 
understanding the needs of the population. Whilst Tthe Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy 2021 – 2025 sets the vision and priorities on how the Council can help 
create a healthy place that supports people in living healthy and happy lives and 
staying as independent as long as possible. A key ambition for the Local Plan is 
delivering the Healthy Streets Approach. As outlined in the London Plan, this 
promotes the use of public space to improve health and reduce health inequality.   
 

718



2.7.3 Barnet’s growth has the potential to bring several challenges for community 
safety and cohesion. Policies should express the objectives of the Community Safety 
Strategy 2015-2020 2022 – 2027 to reduce crime and fear of crime, helping to 
ensure Barnet is recognised as a safe place to visit, whilst enhancing the wellbeing 
of its residents.  
 
2.8 Transport 
 
2.8.1 Barnet is well served by public transport for radial travel, but orbital movement 
travel is significantly more challenging. In addition to the underground and national 
rail services to central London, Barnet has a good network of bus services that 
provide a varied frequency of journeys depending on the route; however, bus 
journeys tend to be slower trips than those made by car due to congestion. Map 1 
shows existing levels of Public Transport Accessibility in the Borough. 
 
2.8.3 On the basis of the 2021 Census public transport as a method of travel to work 
makes up around 37 per cent 29% of journeys made by Barnet residents (14 per 
cent 8% by bus, 19 per cent 17% by underground and 4% per cent by rail)ii, which is 
slightly higher than the Outer London average. 
 
2.8.4 The car is the dominant mode of transport in Outer London and Barnet has 
long been associated with high levels of car ownership. Although there has been 
some indication of a decline in car ownership, 70 per cent % of residents live in 
households with a motor vehicleiii. A challenge for the Local Plan is to reduce 
increase the rate of change in terms of car use., which This includes support for 
active travel and public transport opportunities, as well as promoting innovative ways 
to enable long term modal shift. Improvements to orbital public transport are is a vital 
consideration if suitable alternatives to car use are to be delivered effectively.  
 
2.8.5 A key objective of Barnet’s Long Term Transport Strategy is that for transport 
to keeps the Borough moving, enabling people and goods to move within and 
beyond the Borough efficiently using high quality orbital and radial links.  The ability 

719



of people and goods to move around the Borough is vital for the continued social and 
economic wellbeing of the Borough.  Environmental wellbeing will also be achieved 
through less congestion and the promotion of modal shifts in transport, for instance 
from private vehicles to more sustainable forms of transport. 
 
2.8.6 The Local Plan is supported by a Strategic Transport Assessment which has 
assessed the cumulative impact expected from projected growth up to 2036. This 
includes impacts on relating to the highway network (strategic and non-strategic) and 
public transport (bus and rail). 
 

AM5 Chapter 4 – 
Growth and 
Spatial Strategy 
 
Section 4.2 
Introduction 

4.2 Introduction 
4.2.1 Over the Plan period of 2021 to 2036, significant growth and change is 
anticipated in the Borough. This Chapter sets out the forecast levels of growth and 
identifies broad locations to accommodate it. New housing remains a key component 
of planned growth, and this must be accompanied by suitable supporting 
infrastructure including transport, schools, healthcare and open spaces. Economic 
growth is vital to provide local employment and services, sustaining thriving town 
centres and delivering a range of jobs which meets the needs of Barnet’s increasing 
population. 
 
4.2.2 Good growth, especially that in response to the impact of COVID19, must be 
beneficial for existing and future Barnet residents, and Policies in this Chapter must 
be read with cross-reference to other more thematic Local Plan policies such as 
those on character, design and heritage, housing needs and aspirations or 
community health and wellbeing. 
 

Update and 
clarification 

720



AM6 Chapter 4 – 
Growth & 
Spatial Strategy 
 
Brent Cross 
 
Sections 4.13 to 
4.15  

4.13 Brent Cross West (Thameslink)  
 
4.13.1 Working with public sector partners and Network Rail, the Council has 
delivereding a new rail station ‘Brent Cross West’, which will support the area’s 
regeneration and growth as well as provide new and existing residents with direct 
access to Thameslink rail services. The £416.5 million project to deliver the new 
Brent Cross West station and associated rail infrastructure has will meant that the 
new station was completed is delivered much earlier than originally planned and will 
be opened and is operational for the first development plots.  And when completed 
(forecast for 2022 ) Brent Cross West opened in 2023. With It will accommodate up 
to eight trains per hour the with a journey time to Kings Cross St Pancras of is less 
than 15 minutes. The new station will also provides a much-needed 24-hour 
pedestrian link across the railway lines which will opening up access to 
neighbourhoods in LB Brent to the west. 
 
4.13.3 CPO 3 was confirmed by the Secretary of State in May 2018 for all the land 
needed to deliver the new station and associated rail infrastructure. The construction 
of new sidings and rail systems began in 2019 with the new South Sidings being 
commissioned into use in January 2021. Development of the new Brent Cross West 
station began in September 2020 and is expected to open in 2022.  
  
4.14 Sequence of Delivery within the Brent Cross Growth Area 
 
4.14.4 The Brent Cross West station provides a fundamental component of the 
integrated transport strategy to enable and accommodate the wider Brent Cross 
Growth Area development proposals to come forward; encouraging a significant 
mode shift to public transport as part of the comprehensive development of the area. 
 
4.14.5 The Council is also delivering a package of critical infrastructure works that 
are funded by central government grant as part of the revised funding agreement for 
Brent Cross Cricklewood. These comprise two key junction improvements on 
Cricklewood Lane and one on Tilling Road. The improvements to Claremont Road / 

Updates 

721



Cricklewood Lane junction were completed in 2020 with the improvement to 
Cricklewood Lane / A5 Edgware Road due to be completed in 2021.  
 
4.14.6 BXS LP is continuing with the development of Brent Cross Town. Significant 
progress has been made with detailed consent in place for five a number of 
development plots, and items of infrastructure, including mixed use residential and 
retail development, student accommodation, a replacement primary school, a new 
public square and new neighbourhood park. Main works commenced in 2020 with 
demolition and ground preparation as well as the works to create Claremont Park 
and deliver the first development plots and roads. The first residential completions 
are expected in 2024/2025. 
 

AM7 Chapter 4 – 
Growth & 
Spatial Strategy 
 
 
Edgware 
 
Section 4.18 
 

4.18 Edgware Growth Area 
 
4.18.4 Edgware is identified in the London Plan town centres hierarchy as Barnet’s 
only Major Centre and is also highlighted in the Growth Strategy as one of Barnet’s 
main town centres, a location prioritised for improving its offer due to its larger scale 
and economic gravity, in particular as employment hubs for small to medium 
businesses in comparison to other Barnet town centres.  
 
4.18.6 Despite its advantages the town centre has experienced a range of pressures 
in recent years like many town centres and high streets nationally. In common with 
similar town centres there has been a significant shift in retail resulting in the loss of 
major retail anchors as more people have moved to shopping online or are attracted 
to out of town retail centres as they expand their offering.   
 
4.18.7 Edgware Town Centre hosts a range of non-retail uses, including a significant 
amount of office space for professional and commercial services. There are diverse 
community uses such as buildings for community organisations, education, 
healthcare, religious uses, and a library. There are is also a presence of leisure uses 
including a fitness gym.  
 

Clarification 

722



AM8 Chapter 4 – 
Growth & 
Spatial Strategy 
 
Colindale 
 
Section 4.19 

4.19 Colindale Growth Area 
 
4.19.13 The District Town Centres of Colindale - The Hyde and Burnt Oak are in 
proximity to the Colindale Growth Area and have an important part to play in 
supporting and benefiting from the success of the area.  These town centres are 
shared with London Borough of Brent with whom the Council will work to ensure the 
effective renewal and growth of these places. This includes new housing, economic 
growth, and enhancing character, identity and heritage assets.   

Clarification 

AM9 Chapter 4 – 
Growth & 
Spatial Strategy 
 
Barnet’s District 
Town Centres 
 
Section 4.21 

4.21 Barnet’s District Town Centres 
 
4.21.2 Retail continues to evolve as a multi-channel activity. Comprising a mix of 
physical stores, ‘click and collect’ points, direct delivery to homes and workplaces, 
and showrooms for digital businesses. This is a significant contributory factor to the 
decline in physical presence of shops on high streets, a trend that has been was 
amplified by the Covid19 COVID19 pandemic. 
 
4.21.7 Barnet’s District town centres will pursue an approach that aligns with the 
Mayor’s Healthy Streets Approach, promoting active modes of travel and good public 
transport provision. This approach, combined with the immediate accessibility of the 
town centre functions, should allow residential development with car free or low 
parking provision. Space previously intended for car parking can be used more 
efficiently to contribute to the overall quality of the development. 
  

Clarification 

723



AM10 Chapter 4 – 
Growth & 
Spatial Strategy 
 
Existing and 
Major New 
Public Transport 
Infrastructure 
Section 4.22 

4.22 Existing and Major New Public Transport Infrastructure 
 
4.22.2 The longer-term impacts of Whilst post COVID19 are as yet unclear, but there 
is potential for more working from home Nevertheless, proximity to public transport 
nodes is expected to remains a key support for growth as commuting and leisure 
trips are expected to return, albeit at a lower level than before. The TfL Streetspace 
Initiative sets out the approaches and priorities to creating a safer environment to 
enable movement around London.  
 
 

Clarification 

AM11 Chapter 4 – 
Growth & 
Spatial Strategy 
 
Existing Public 
Transport Nodes 
Section 4.24 

4.24 Existing Public Transport Nodes  
 
4.24.3 The Borough is also served by seven six Network Rail stations. Three Four of 
these are on the Midland Main Line in the west of Barnet. The introduction opening 
of the new Brent Cross West Station will be represents a major improvement and, 
together with the new West London Orbital line, will be key to improving the 
connectivity of these locations to unlock further opportunities for growth. 

Clarification 

AM12 Chapter 4 – 
Growth & 
Spatial Strategy 
 
Redevelopment 
of Car Parks 
Section 4.27 
 

4.27 Redevelopment of Car Parks 
 
4.27.1 With pressure for ensuring the efficient use of land for housing and other uses 
there is potential for releasing capacity from surface level car parks within the 
Borough which are accessible to the public. There is an opportunity to enable 
surface level car parks to be more efficiently and sustainably utilised while still 
serving a car parking function. Publically Publicly accessible car parks located within 
or close to town centres and part of a more urban streetscape will be considered 
suitable for greater levels of intensification.  
 

Grammar 

724



AM13 Chapter 4 – 
Growth & 
Spatial Strategy 
 
Strategic Parks 
& Recreation 
 
Section 4.28 

4.28 Strategic Parks and Recreation  
 
4.28.1Supporting the visitor economy is an important element of the Council’s 
Growth Strategy. This includes both indoor and outdoor destinations that will have a 
local and or regional reach. Destination locations include the RAF Museum, Allianz 
Park Stadium, Welsh Harp (Brent Reservoir) and Brent Cross Shopping Centre well 
as London’s only registered battlefield. Barnet has important historical parks and 
gardens which provide a much-valued resource for residents and visitors. 
 
4.28.2B Copthall Playing Fields and Sunny Hill Park is located in the centre of the 
Borough. This is the Council’s most significant sports and recreation site, home to 
nationally and regionally significant sports organisations. It also has connections to 
adjacent open spaces (Arrandene Open Space, Mill Hill Park and Mill Hill Old 
Railway Corridor/Bittacy Hill Park) although it suffers from poor public transport. The 
adopted Copthall masterplan will deliver the following professional and amateur 
sports facilities: A new Lleisure Ccentre with regional competition pool; community 
football pitches (both grass and artificial); professional and community cricket pitches 
and facilities; an improved Allianz Park Stadium alongside amateur rugby pitches 
facilities; and competition standard athletics facilities. These sports facilities will be 
complemented by recreational facilities that include café; play and other leisure uses 
that will support wider site management and maintenance; ancillary services and 
utilities. The existing woodland and nature reserve areas will be complemented with 
further ecological enhancements and new habitats to protect and improve local 
biodiversity. Together these improvements will deliver a new district park and 
regional destination at the heart of the Borough. 
 
4.28.2C West Hendon Playing Fields is located in the south west of the Borough 
and is closely linked with the Welsh Harp (Brent Reservoir), a Site of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI) which provides the connection between the Silk Stream in 
the west and Dollis Dolls Brook in the east. It is also the key open space connected 
to and supporting regeneration in West Hendon and around the (The Hyde) A5 
Corridor. The masterplan proposes the delivery of facilities that will provide a 

Grammar 

725



regional destination for sports and recreation: existing and improved non-motorised 
water sports; community football pitches (both grass and artificial); bowls; tennis 
courts; hub buildings including changing facilities, café, leisure and childcare 
provision and multi-use community rooms; enhanced amenity space, gardens and 
play areas; outdoor gym; adventure golf; informal and organised adventure sports 
including BMX, skating, high ropes and climbing provision; and ancillary services and 
utilities. There will also be walking and cycle routes across the site that will 
complement and improve accessibility to the existing woodland and conservation 
areas alongside ecological enhancements and new habitats to protect and improve 
local biodiversity. 
 
4.28.4 The All London Green Grid Strategy identifies the potential for a Regional 
Park within the Brent Valley and Barnet Plateau Green Grid Area. Over the lifetime 
of the Local Plan this will be supported and developed over time through component 
improvements to individual parks and open spaces; enhancement of footpath, 
cycling and bridleway networks; improved green corridors and nature conservation 
areas.  A network of new strategic recreational destinations will form the building 
blocks for this wider regional opportunity, addressing the need for sport, recreation 
and nature conservation improvements.  The open spaces that can most effectively 
support a new Regional Park and strategic recreational facilities lie within designated 
Green Belt or Metropolitan Open Land, therefore maximising the long-term benefit of 
such areas for residents will be the key test for any proposals.  Such locations may 
need accessibility enhancements to unlock their full potential.  

726



AM14  Chapter 5 
Housing 
 
Affordable 
Housing 
Section 5.4 
  
 

5.4 Affordable Housing  
 
5.4.1 Home ownership for many people across London remains out of reach and this 
is no different for many Barnet residents. The increase in house prices along with 
requirements for sizeable deposits has restricted housing choices for many residents 
with standard home ownership the most expensive tenure. The delivery of affordable 
housing has never been more important and in greater demand. This is due to a 
number of factors including: 
 

• The increasing affordability gap as housing costs continue to rise faster than 
household incomes. 

• The limitations of mortgage availability as lenders have developed a more 
cautious approach on lending criteria. This has resulted in much lower income 
multiples being approved for mortgages, the knock-on effect of which is the 
increased need for larger deposits to secure a mortgage. 

• Greater reliance on the private rented sector, making it more challenging for 
people to save for deposits with high rent costs. 

• The housing choices of households on benefits have become more limited as 
changes to welfare reform make the private rented sector less accessible. 

• A reduction in capital funding for housebuilding. 

• The cautious approach of investors and housing developers following the 
economic downturn.  

• An increased reliance on the planning system to deliver affordable housing 
through S106 planning obligations / legal agreements requirements. 
 
5.4.2 The NPPF defines affordable housing as housing for rent for those whose 
needs are not met by the market and which comply with one of the following: 
 

• Affordable housing for rent – for homes managed by a Registered Provider 
where the rent is set at up to 80 per cent % of market rent, inclusive of service 
charges, in accordance with the Government’s Policy Statement on Rents for Social 

Clarification 

727



Housing, and for Build to Rent affordable rental units that are to be maintained in 
perpetuity at affordable levels. 

• Starter homes - built on commercial or industrial land which is no longer in 
use and sold at below market levels to young first- time buyers.  Full details are set 
out in Sections 2 and 3 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016. Implementation 
remains subject to secondary legislation. 

• Discounted market sales housing – sold at least 20 per cent % below local 
market value.  Eligibility should be set locally having regard for local incomes and 
house prices.  Provision should be made to ensure that it remains discounted for 
future eligible purchasers. 

• Other affordable routes to home ownership. 
 
 
5.4.6 In terms of meeting the objectively assessed need for affordable housing the 
SHMA states a need to provide as a minimum 23 per cent % of the overall 
objectively assessed need as affordable accommodation. This equates to a 
minimum of 10,600 new affordable homes by 2036. The delivery of this level of 
affordable homes should be viewed within the context of a strategic London Plan 
target of 50 per cent % affordable provision for residential proposals on public land, 
or where agreed with public sector landowners a target of 50 per cent % affordable 
housing across a portfolio of sites where at least 35 per cent % affordable housing is 
provided on each site 

728



AM15 
  
  
 

Chapter 5 
Housing 
 
Residential 
Conversions 
and 
Redevelopment 
of Larger Homes 
 
Section 5.6 
 

5.6 Residential Conversions and Redevelopment of Larger Homes 
 
5.6.3 As part of the Local Plan evidence base the Council has assessed the impact 
of residential conversions, defined as a form of development that involves the 
replacement, extension or conversion of existing buildingsiv. This includes 
redevelopment of larger homes. The conversion of existing dwellings into flats or 
Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) can have a cumulative effect of added 
pressure on off-street car parking and local services. Residential conversions may 
be appropriate in certain types of property or street, particularly where they are 
highly accessible with good PTAL; however, even in such locations they can harm 
the character of areas by changing external appearance and increasing activity. 
Such activity can often involve more noise, waste, overcrowding, people movements 
and increased vehicular movements.  
 
 

Clarification 

AM16 Chapter 5 
Housing 
 
 
Housing choice 
for older people 
 
Section 5.8   
 
 
 
 
 

5.8 Housing choice for older people  
 
5.8.2 Chapter 2 highlights that the number of older residents in Barnet is set to 
increase. It is therefore necessary to ensure suitable housing choices are available 
in order to meet their aspirations. Older people are living longer, healthier lives, and 
the specialist housing offered today may not be sufficient in future years. Care is 
underpinned by the principle of sustaining people at home for as long as possible. 
Therefore, despite the ageing population, current policy recognises that the number 
of care homes may decline, as people are supported to continue living in their own 
homes for longer. This is reflected in Barnet’s Housing Strategy which aims to make 
it easier for older residents to plan for the future and ensure that they have choices 
when their own home no longer meets their needs. A growing need is being 
identified for care homes that are able to provide complex care and nursing services 
for conditions such as dementia.  and nursing services.  
 

Clarification 

729



AM17
   
 
 
 
 
 

Chapter 5 
Housing 
 
 
Residential Care 
Homes  
 
Section 5.11   

5.11 Residential Care Homes 
5.11.2 The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment shows that while the Council has been 
highly successful in reducing the rate of admission to residential care, the numbers 
of people living in this type of accommodation remains relatively high within Barnet’s 
local authority comparator group. This is due to the high number of care homes 
places within the Borough purchased by the NHS, other local authorities and people 
funding their care privately, many of whom will come from other areas. The Council 
makes relatively few placements into care homes, with less than 30% per cent of 
care home places within the Borough purchased by the Council, and some of the 
lowest rates of admission nationally for both older people and working age adults.  
 
5.11.3 Places for people who do not require specialist nursing or dementia care are 
known as 'mainstream places'. The care home market in Barnet currently consists of 
64 52 registered residential homes and 18 22 registered nursing homes. Together 
they provide capacity for over 3,000 2,500 people, with the majority of places 
designed for older people. The current supply of mainstream residential places in 
Barnet exceeds placements made by the Council. The oversupply of mainstream 
places is a national issue. The effect of this additional mainstream supply is to 
increase the potential of cross border purchasing from outside Barnet. This places a 
greater burden on the Council and local healthcare services.  
 
 

Update 

730



AM18 Chapter 5 
Housing 
 
 
Homes in 
Multiple 
Occupation  
 
Section 5.12   

5.12 Houses in Multiple Occupation 
5.12.4 The Council determines HMO Licences in order to protect the health, safety 
and welfare of the occupying tenants of such residential premises. HMO Licence 
holders are advised that where planning consent is required for HMO use, they will 
be responsible for obtaining the necessary permission and that the property licence 
and conditions do not imply or grant by inference or otherwise, any approval or 
permission for any other purpose including for planning purposes under the relevant 
Acts. Where planning issues are identified as part of the HMO Licencing Licensing 
process, the Planning Enforcement Team will investigate the matter and take the 
appropriate action.   
 

Grammar 

AM19 Chapter 6 
Character, 
Design & 
Heritage 
Accessibility & 
Inclusive Design 
Section 6.14   

6.14.1 Inclusive design is fundamental to improving the quality of life for all Barnet’s 
residents, particularly the disabled and elderly. It is intended to make the built 
environment safe, accessible and convenient. Good design should reflect the needs 
of different communities and not impose barriers of any kind. Development proposals 
should ensure that the needs of people with mobility difficulties, both physical and 
sensory, are taken into account at an early stage. This includes the public realm and 
any extensions or refurbishment works to buildings, particularly those used by the 
general public such as shops and community facilities. 
 
 

Grammar 

AM20 Chapter 6 
Character, 
Design & 
Heritage 
 
Energy 
Efficiency and 
Historic 
Buildings 
Section 6.27.1 

6.27.1 Whilst tThe Council recognise that historic buildings, including those in 
conservation areas, can be sensitively adapted to improve their energy efficiency 
and respond to the issue of climate change. However, proposals to improve the 
energy efficiency of statutory listed buildings must be able to clearly demonstrate 
that they will not cause harm to the special architectural and historic interest of the 
building or group to which it belongs. When assessing applications for improving the 
energy efficiency of historic buildings the Council will weigh the public benefits up 
against the possible harm that such proposals may have to the significance of the 
building. Guidance on the thermal improvements of historic buildings can be found 
on the Historic England website. 
 

Grammar 

731



AM21 Chapter 7 
Town Centres 
 
Introduction 
Section 7.2 

7.2.3 The diversity of Barnet’s town centres is one of its strongest attributes. This 
should be capitalised upon in order to help fulfil growth opportunities and deliver the 
goods and services, employment and leisure opportunities that local communities 
require. Town centre development should deliver on the Council’s guiding principles 
for growth and be underpinned by the Good Growth policies of the London Plan. This 
will help deliver thriving town centres as well as building strong and inclusive 
communities, making best use of land, creating a healthy city and growing a good 
economy. Mixed-use development that can reduce the need to travel and provide a 
range of housing and employment opportunities together with retail and leisure 
space which will help create more sustainable and successful places. 

Grammar 

AM22 Chapter 7 
Town Centres 
 
Town Centres 
Evidence Base 
 
Section 7.4 

 
7.4.1 The Town Centre Floorspace Needs Assessment (TCFNA) was produced on 
the basis of the pre-2020 Use Classes Order. This considered demand for another 
77,000 m2 of (Use Class A1-retail) comparison floorspace up to 2036. Use Class A1 
has also been subsumed with A2 and A3 uses within new Use Class E. The TCFNA 
also considered demand for up to 33,330 m2 of food and drink uses, the majority of 
which (as restaurants and cafes) now sits within new Use Class E. As the retail 
market experiences significant structural and conceptual change there is a need for 
town centres to diversify in terms of other retail uses such as food and drink, 
becoming social and community hubs as well as economic centres supported by 
new housing development. 
 
7.4.2 The TCFNA provides an overview of the health of the town centre network 
before the arrival of COVID19 in 2020. The Study highlighted that:  
  

• There is scope for further improvement of Barnet’s town centres in both 
quantitative and qualitative terms. This remains a post COVID19 priority.  

• All town centres could benefit from improvement to the leisure offer. Improving 
the offer of town centres to their neighbourhoods and being accessible by walking 
and cycling is an increased priority.  

• Colindale, The Hyde is a District Centre performing more like a Local Centre. 
The immediate impact of COVID19 on all town centres is being monitored.  

Clarifications and 
update 

732



• Clustering of uses for gambling, betting, payday loan shops, hot food take-
away bars have negative health implications for users. This still remains an issue of 
concern in Barnet’s town centres.  

• Growing number of service sector units (e.g. hairdressers, nail bars), 
accounting for almost half of total retail unit provision in Local Centres. The 
immediate impact of COVID19 on all town centres is being monitored.  

• Opportunities to promote digital technologies in town centres to future-proof 
them against declining footfalls. There is a more urgent need for digital high streets 
to enable town centres to respond to online retail and improve the attractiveness of 
their offer.  

• Landlords are focusing on improving the quality of existing retail parks through 
refurbishment and the introduction of a greater range of uses, including leisure and 
night-time economy. Retail unit floorplates in town centres are generally more 
constrained. The response of landlords to the overhaul of the Use Classes Order in 
2020 and the replacement of the A1 – shops Use Class by the wider Use Class E – 
Commercial, Business and Service is still being assessed.  

• Food and drink uses account for approximately 77% of total leisure spending 
growth in Barnet with North Finchley, Whetstone and Edgware highlighted as the 
town centres most likely to experience the most significant levels of food and drink 
expenditure growth if spending patterns return to pre COVID19 trends.  

• Pre COVID19 spending on recreational and sporting services was estimated 
to account for 12% of total leisure spending growth in Barnet. The town centres of 
Cricklewood, North Finchley and Golders Green were forecast to experience the 
most significant levels of recreational and health and fitness expenditure growth 
based on those pre COVID19 spending patterns.  

• Barnet has three cinemas with a total of 14 screens. With most of the screens 
in the east of the Borough, Barnet prior to COVID19 experienced a high level of 
spend expenditure leakage (57%) amongst cinema goers going out of the Borough. 
The cinema screen capacity assessment highlights capacity to support an additional 
14 screens up to 2036 in Barnet, equivalent to one large multiplex cinema or up to 
five boutique cinemas.  

733



• The proposed multiplex at Brent Cross will account for a significant element of 
the indicated capacity, however there may also be potential for localised boutique 
style cinemas in larger town centres. Further evidence is required on the revival of 
cinema following the COVID19 pandemic. 
 

AM23 Chapter 7 
Town Centres 
 
Vibrant Town 
Centres  
 
Section 7.6 

7.6 Vibrant Town Centres  
 
7.6.3 Employment is critical to the vitality of town centres, and the Council will 
support viable employment opportunities to sustain activity and encourage growth 
including greater variety in the types typology of workspace provision (see Policy 
ECY01).   
 
 

Grammar  

AM24 Chapter 7 
Town Centres 
 
Managing Hot 
Food 
Takeaways, 
Adult Gaming 
Centres, 
Amusement 
Arcades, Betting 
Shops, Payday 
Loan Shops, 
Pawnbrokers 
and Shisha Bars 
 
Section 7.8 

7.8 Managing Hot Food Takeaways, Adult Gaming Centres, Amusement 
Arcades, Betting Shops, Payday Loan Shops, Pawnbrokers and Shisha Bars 
 
7.8.6 The Royal Society of Public Health’s Report, “Health on the High Street: 
Running on Empty,” identifies bookmakers and payday lenders as health hazards. At 
a national level, shops with Fixed Odds Betting Bettering Terminals (FOBT) have 
been found to have a strong negative affect on mental health and the presence of 
bookmakers is directly correlated with a rise in crime. The Public Health Team are 
working to assess the local impact of such uses. 

Correction 

734



AM25 Chapter 8 
 
Community 
Uses, Health 
and Wellbeing 
 
Introduction 
 
Section 8.2 
 

8.2  Introduction 
 
8.2.1 Community uses cover a range of uses from health facilities, educational 
institutions and community meeting places to public houses, libraries and theatres. 
Community access to these uses has been was impacted by COVID-19 and had 
which has already had disproportionate impacts upon young people and other 
vulnerable and disadvantaged groups. Within Barnet there is a need for a range of 
community facilities to support the diverse requirements of the Borough’s population. 
Barnet’s demographic structure will change during the lifetime of the Local Plan and 
there is a need to protect and make better use of existing community uses in order to 
be able to respond to population change.   
 

Update 

735



AM26 Chapter 8 
 
Community 
Uses, Health 
and Wellbeing 
 
Provision for 
Children and 
Young People 
 
Section 8.7 
 

8.7 Provision for Children and Young People  
8.7.2 The school population is changing and although there has been a substantial 
investment programme to provide new school places, more will be required in 
response to the Borough’s growth. Planning for any new provision will be closely 
linked to the distribution and delivery of housing growth as highlighted in the housing 
trajectory. Maintaining a balanced supply of school places is a complex task as 
trends in demand are driven by a range of variable factors, some of which are 
acutely sensitive to unforeseen changes at local, national and global level. These 
uncertainties include:  

• the unprecedented disruption to the education system caused by COVID-19 
and the uncertainty as to how the fallout will impact on future school place demand;  

• the ongoing uncertainty around Brexit and changing population, particularly as 
a result of recent changes in EU / Non-EU migration patterns and birth rates;  

• large-scale regeneration across the Borough and unknown child yield from 
new housing developments;  

• the housing market volatility with the mini boom recently experienced as a 
result of Government initiatives;  

• rising unemployment in Barnet; 

• changes in parental perception and Ofsted ratings of Barnet schools; and the   

• popularity of Barnet schools, place planning in neighbouring LAs local 
authorities and cross-border movement.  
 

Update 

736



AM27 Chapter 8 
 
Community 
Uses, Health 
and Wellbeing 
 
Early Years 
 
Section 8.11 

8.11.1 The Council has a statutory duty to secure sufficient childcare for working 
parents and secure prescribed early years provision free of charge, ensuring eligible 
2 year olds and all 3 and 4 year olds can access high quality free nursery education. 
Barnet’s Children & Young People’s Pplan 2023-2027 sets out the vision for Barnet 
to be ‘the most Family Friendly borough in London’ This means making Barnet an 
even better place to live for all families and the strategy to achieve this is to focus on 
children’s and families’ resilience, which evidence shows is critical to achieving the 
best outcomes for children and young people. The pre COVID19 position was that 
Barnet had sufficient places across the Bborough to meet the needs of families for all 
of the free entitlement offers. This was made up of 336 providers, of which 200 are 
open all year round and 136 are term time only. This is made up of Schools with 
Nursery classes, 4 maintained nursery schools, the private voluntary and 
independent sector (PVI’s) and childminder’s. 
 
8.11.3 Barnet’s Children and Young People’s Plan 2019 – 2023 2023-2027 sets out 
the aim to make Barnet the most family friendly borough based upon a strategy 
which focuses on developing families’ resilience in order to deliver the best 
outcomes for children and young people. 
 
8.11.6 The 0-19 Early Help hubs sit across 3 localities in Barnet – East Central, 
South and West. Within these hubs, partners are co-locating and co-delivering 
services to ensure integrated delivery of the Early Help offer across the 0-19 age 
range moving from the pilot stage. The Early Help Offer is underpinned by the 
Troubled Families Programme. Within the east central part of the Borough the hub is 
based at Newstead Children’s Centre. Other buildings within this locality are 
Underhill, BEYA and Coppetts Wood children’s centres. Also, in East Central locality 
is Finchley Youth Centre. In the western side of the Borough the main hub is based 
in Barnet and Southgate Ccollege. Other buildings are Wingfield, Barnfield (to be 
renamed Silkstream) and Fairway Children’s Centres as well as Canada Villa and 
Greentops centre. The south locality hub is based at Parkfield Children’s Centre 
which has also recently been remodelled to provide additional space for the service. 
There is also The Hyde, Childs Hill and Bell Lane Children’s Centre. 

Grammar and Update 

737



AM28 Chapter 8 
 
Community 
Uses, Health 
and Wellbeing 
 
Further and 
Higher 
Education 
 
Section 8.12 

8.12.1 Barnet has 22 Secondary Schools and Colleges that offer post 16 education 
opportunities, . Tthere are also a range of options for further and higher education in 
the Borough including Middlesex University. These options are important to ensure 
that students remain engaged in education until at least the age of 19. Overall, the 
number of Barnet young people who are not engaged in education, employment or 
training (NEET) is low. The quality and the wide range options of further education 
will assist in keeping the NEET numbers low. The Colleges and Middlesex University 
also offer important opportunities for post 19 and adult education. Barnet recognises 
the importance of life-long learning and the benefits that such opportunities can offer 
for people at all stages of life and therefore encourages the provision of post 19 and 
adult education. The Council will work on helping young people into local jobs; this is 
supported through policies set out in the Economy Chapter 9. 

Grammar and 
Clarification 

AM29 Chapter 8 
 
Community 
Uses, Health 
and Wellbeing 
 
Community 
Premises 
 
Section 8.14 

8.14.1 A major challenge for the Local Plan is ensuring the that social infrastructure 
addresses the needs of a changing population. For many community groups it is 
difficult to maintain or extend existing buildings due to obsolescence, site constraints 
or the high value of land in the Borough, together with an inability to mitigate their 
impact on the local area. This has led to some people having to travel outside the 
Borough to meet and pursue community activities. 

Grammar 

738



AM30 Chapter 8 
 
Community 
Uses, Health 
and Wellbeing 
 
Promoting 
Health and 
Wellbeing  
Section 8.17 

 8.17 Promoting Health and Wellbeing 
 
8.17.1 The COVID-19 pandemic has served to further highlight existing public health 
challenges and disparities in health and wellbeing. This includes interaction between 
people and the built and natural environment and access to local open spaces, no 
matter how small. Local planning authorities therefore play a key role in shaping 
healthy environments and contributing to wellbeing. National and London Plan policy 
recognise the needs for creating public safe spaces, access to healthy food and 
drinks, social infrastructure and health facilities in order to promote health and 
wellbeing of local residents. This is further reinforced by Barnet’s Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 2021-2025 that sets out a vision for improving the health and 
wellbeing of the people who live, study and work in Barnet.   
 

Clarification and 
update 

AM31 Chapter 8 
 
Community 
Uses, Health 
and Wellbeing 
 
Access to 
Integrated 
Health and Care 
Services  
Section 8.18 

8.18 Access to Integrated Health and Care Services 
8.18. 1 Predicted population growth coupled with housing growth locally will create 
additional demand on the existing health infrastructure. General Practitioners (GPs) 
are central to the co-ordination and delivery of patient care and act as a first point of 
call, however it is also crucial to plan for other models of care. Primary Care Estate 
at the North Central London and local level will be the primary vehicle for enabling 
planning of local new local health care models.  
 
 
 

Clarification 

AM32 Chapter 8 
 
Community 
Uses, Health 
and Wellbeing 
 
Healthy and 
Green Barnet 

8.19 Healthy and Green Barnet  
8.19.1 Barnet’s open spaces and outdoor sports and recreational facilities are an 
important element of the Borough’s character and all contribute to health and 
wellbeing.  The importance of open space to access and enjoy during the COVID-19 
lockdown has been highlighted by the increased usage of Barnet’s parks and open 
spaces. As Barnet grows there is a need to improve provision and plan for the 
creation of at least one new district park and 13 new local parks by 2040. 
 

Update 

739



Section 8.19 

AM33 Chapter 8  
 
Community 
Uses, Health 
and Wellbeing 
Making Barnet a 
Safer Place 
Section 8.20 

8.20 Making Barnet a Safer Place 
8.20.1 Despite Barnet being amongst the safest boroughs in London, crime and anti-
social behaviour remain a key concern of local residents. Understanding how we can 
to create safer environments through well planned good growth is key to the ‘place-
shaping’ agenda.  
 
 

Grammar 

AM34 Chapter 8 
 
Community 
Uses, Health 
and Wellbeing 
 
Public Houses  
 
Section 8.21 
  

8.21 Public Houses 
8.21.1 Around Over 70 pubs have closed in Barnet since 2000. The COVID19 
pandemic lockdown and social distancing measures have has had a significant 
impact on the hospitality sector with many pub businesses not surviving. However, 
COVID19 has highlighted the contribution of pubs to well-being and as a valued 
community destination away from home. Whether alone, or as part of a cultural mix 
of activities or venues, pubs are often an integral part of an area’s day, evening and 
night-time culture and economy. Public houses can be at the heart of a community’s 
social life often providing a local meeting place, a venue for entertainment or a focus 
for social gatherings. Barnet’s The Council’s evidence on Public Houses (Barnet 
Public Houses Review) highlights that once pubs are lost to other uses it is unlikely 
that they will be returned to their original use. This is likely to be exacerbated by the 
impact of COVID19 on the survival of pub businesses. 
 

Update  

740



AM35 Chapter 9 
 
Economy 
 
National and 
London Plan 
Policy Context  
 
Section 9.1 

9.1 National and London Plan Policy Context  
 
NPPF 
Section 6 Building a Strong and Competitive Economy specifically paras 80, 81 and 
82. 
 
London Plan  
Policy SD10 Strategic and local regeneration  
Policy D13 Agent of Change 
Policy HC5 Supporting London’s culture and creative industries  
Policy HC6 Supporting the night-time economy 
Policy E1 Offices 
Policy E2 Providing suitable business space  
Policy E3 Affordable workspace 
Policy E4 Land for industry, logistics and services to support London’s economic 
function 
Policy E6 Locally significant industrial sites 
Policy E7 Intensification, co-location, and substitution  
Policy E8 Sector growth opportunities and clusters  
Policy E11 Skills and opportunities for all 
 
 
 
 

Clarification and 
update 

741



AM36 Chapter 9 
 
Economy 
 
Introduction 
 
Section 9.2 

9.2 Introduction 
 
9.2.1 Barnet has a relatively low supply of established industrial sites and office 
accommodation. Requirements for this space are changing, partly in response to the 
post COVID19 pandemic with the growth of homeworking but mainly in response to 
the manner in which businesses have modernised the ways they operate. The Local 
Plan can help to provide the conditions that modern businesses are seeking and 
thereby foster an economically sustainable place where Barnet residents have 
access to local jobs and services. 
 

Update  

AM37 Chapter 9 
 
Economy 
 
Local Economy 
Evidence Base 
 
Section 9.4 

9.4 Local Economy Evidence Base 
 
9.4.1 Barnet’s economic evidence base is comprised of a range of studies. These 
include the London Office Policy Review (LOPR), London Industrial Land Demand 
Study (LILDS), West London Employment Land Review (WLELR) and Barnet’s 
Employment Land Review (BELR). Both All were produced on the basis of the pre-
2020 Use Classes Order. The BELR considered Barnet’s supply of office and 
industrial space as well as the prospects for the office market and jobs growth. It also 
set out the opportunities for affordable workspace in Barnet. Both the BLER and the 
WLELR studies demonstrate that industrial space is needed and safeguarding of 
existing industrial land is a priority.  
 

Clarification 

742



AM38 Chapter 9 
 
Economy 
 
Employment 
Space  
 
Section 9.5 

9.5 Employment Space 
 
9.5.1 In terms of local employment the BELR highlights that jobs may be lost as a 
consequence of constraints within Barnet’s commercial property market. A reduced 
stock, leading to rising rents, together with a lack of new investment could lead to 
businesses moving out of the Borough. The situation is compounded by competition 
between the residential and commercial markets. Following the introduction in 2020 
of the wider Use Class E for commercial, business and services use (and 
subsequent reforms) it still remains unclear if greater flexibility for commercial uses 
will strengthen its it's protection from conversion to residential.  
 
 

Clarification and 
grammar 

AM39 Chapter 9 
 
Economy 
 
Office   
 
Section 9.6 

9.6 Office Space 
 
9.6.1 Produced before COVID19 and the introduction of Use Class E in 2020 the 
LOPR and BELR were positive about the prospects for new office space in Barnet.  
The Proposals for the Brent Cross Growth Area proposals will create a significant 
employment location in the Borough which is anticipated to have a positive impact on 
the demand for office space in the Borough. While the Office Guidelines provided in 
Annex 1 of the London Plan advises that the Council should only protect small office 
capacity only in Edgware, Chipping Barnet, Finchley Central, North Finchley and 
Whetstone the BELR is more positive regarding the ability of Barnet’s Town Centres 
to accommodate new office space. 
 
9.6.3 The impact of greater flexibility on changing between commercial uses and 
changes in work practices as a consequence of COVID19 is are most likely to be felt 
in the office market. The nature of Barnet’s office market may put it in a better 
position to respond to these changes within the network of town centres. 
 

Clarification and 
grammar 

AM40 Chapter 9 
Economy 

Clarification and 
grammar 

743



  
Industrial Space  
 
Section 9.7 

9.7 Industry Industrial Space 
 
9.7.6 Co-location of residential uses in a LSIS can prove problematic for both the 
existing businesses and new residents in regard to impacts of noise, dust, operating 
hours as well as traffic vehicle manoeuvres and overall quality of amenity.  The 
Agent of Change principle set out in the London Plan Policy D13 aims to protect the 
existing uses and prevent impacts on business operations in planning terms, 
however, this may not prevent the new residents from making complaints to the 
Council and placing pressure on businesses to close or relocate. For these reasons 
any applications for co-location in an a LSIS must be employment ledv and 
demonstrate how a development will enable the continued functioning of the LSIS 
while delivering high quality residential accommodation that meets high quality 
design standards such as triple glazed windows, careful consideration of siting of 
opening windows and balconies, the inclusion of air filtering mechanisms and high 
standards of sound insulation. 
 
9.7.7 On non-designated industrial sites if co-location is proposed as an approach or 
a residential use is proposed adjacent to an operating industrial use the highest 
possible building and design standards should be demonstrated to ensure business 
operation either onsite or those in the surrounding area are not impacted by the 
proposed residential use. London Plan Policy E7C requirements should also be met.  
For the residential element high quality design would be is expected as set out 
above in para 9.7.6.   
 

 

AM41 Chapter 10  
 
Environment 
and Climate 
Change 
 
Air and Noise 
Pollution 

10.9 Air and Noise Pollution 
 
10.9.1 Significant housing growth in the Borough involves locations such as along 
major thoroughfares (Policy GSS11). Within Barnet, emissions from traffic have the 
most severe and pervasive impact on air quality where air and noise pollution is are 
an issue. The pollutants are produced within the combustion process. The two main 
air pollutants of concern within the Borough are Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) and fine 
particles (PM10); research has shown the most harmful fraction of these fine 

Grammar 

744



 
Section 10.9 

particles is PM2.5. Nitrogen dioxide is a toxic gas and fine particulate matter is a 
mixture of particles and droplets with a diameter of less than 10 (PM10) or 2.5 
micrometres (PM2.5). Other significant sources of particulate matter are 
construction, commercial cooking and wood burning. Barnet is an Air Quality 
Management Area (AQMA) and an Air Quality Action Plan for Barnet, which is 
updated annually, has been developed to improve air quality. Consistency with 
Barnet’s Air Quality Action Plan and the Mayor's Environment Strategy will be 
important material considerations in assessing proposals. 

AM42 Chapter 10  
 
Environment 
and Climate 
Change 
 
Flood and Water 
Management 
Section 10.13 

10.13 Flood and Water Management 
10.13.4 Flood Risk Regulations (2009) together with the Flood and Water 
Management Act (2010) sets out the Council’s responsibilities as the Lead Local 
Flood Authority (LLFA) to manage local flood risks from surface water, groundwater 
and ordinary watercourses. However, the Environment Agency maintains a national 
overview and lead on flood risk from main rivers, coasts and reservoirs. 
 

Grammar 

AM43 Chapter 10  
 
Environment 
and Climate 
Change 
 
Watercourses  
 
Section 10.15 

10.15 Watercourses  
10.15.4 Therefore all applications adjacent to a river corridor should be accompanied 
by an assessment of the impacts (including where appropriate the cumulative 
impacts) of the development on the riverine environment, and wildlife including flood 
risk, wind, temperature and state how any surface water runoff quality will be 
improved before it enters into the water course. Buffer zones should include creation 
of wetland habitat and native planting and have a management and maintenance 
plan to ensure long term biodiversity gains and create a well-connected habitat 
within the buffer for the benefit of wildlife. Public accessibility is also important and 
the ability to link into the wider network of footpaths and cycleways should be 
considered. Where the recommended set back is not achievable this should be fully 
justified Where reduced buffer zones are proposed, additional measures to improve 
biodiversity proposed on-site such as green spaces, tree planting, sustainable 
drainage measures or off-site compensation will be required. 
 

Clarification 
 

745



AM44 Chapter 10  
 
Environment 
and Climate 
Change 
 
Playing Pitches 
and Outdoor 
Sports 
 
Section 10.21 
 

10.21 10.20 Playing Pitches and Outdoor Sports  
 
10.21.1 10.20.1 Barnet is relatively well provided for in terms of distribution of playing 
pitches with 277 pitches covering nearly 160 hectares, with almost the entire 
Borough being within 1.2km of a playing pitch. The Playing Pitch Strategy (2017) 
highlights that despite good geographical coverage there is demand for additional 
provision because of issues related to the quality of the existing pitches (mainly due 
to poor drainage) and accessibility. The Council has created three strategic sports 
hubs in the Borough, Chipping Barnet which provides facilities for football and 
cricket; Copthall which provides facilities for football, cricket, rugby and athletics; and 
West Hendon which provides facilities for football and tennis. These strategic sports 
hubs are set to become important destinations for healthy and active lifestyles. 
Further details on these strategic hubs is set out at Policy GSS13. 

Change to numbering 

AM45 Chapter 10  
 
Environment 
and Climate 
Change 
 
Biodiversity 
 
Section 10.26 
 

10.26.7 The London Environment Strategy identifies important habitats and species 
and sets out targets for improvements in both quality and quantity. It also sets out 
priority species which are nationally rare species of conservation concern and are 
found in London. These are categorised under birds, fungi, invertebrates, vertebrates 
and plants. The Council will favour the provision of habitats for species identified in 
the SINC citations and London’s Biodiversity Action Plan. Within Barnet, the main 
specially-protected species that are likely to be encountered are bats, badgers, great 
crested newts, grass snakes, the common lizard and slow worms. Other species that 
are under threat, for example, hedgehogs and swifts should also be considered for 
habitat enhancement. Future studies may identify other species in need of additional 
support. 

Reinstate badgers as 
a protected species 

746



AM46 Chapter 11  
 
Transport and 
Communications 
 
Introduction 
 
Section 11.2  
 

11.2 Introduction 
 
11.2.2 COVID19 has had a major impact of the use of public transport across Barnet 
due to the requirement for people to stay home and local where possible.  
 
11.2.3 Fewer journeys by people on public transport has post COVID19 have had a 
consequential impact on revenue to transport bodies such as Transport for London. 
The long-term impact of this loss of income is likely to result in a decrease in the an 
amount of funding available to boroughs for improvements to the public transport 
and road network.  Barnet will continue to work with TfL, the neighbouring boroughs 
and developers to ensure necessary works are carried out allowing to ensure the 
transport policies set out in the London and Barnet Plans to be are delivered.  
 

Update  

747



AM47 Chapter 11  
 
Transport and 
Communications 
 
Barnet's Existing 
Public Transport 
Network 
 
Section 11.3  
 

11.3 Barnet's Existing Public Transport Network 
 
Existing Network 
 
11.3.1 Barnet is served by national rail lines providing suburban services in the east 
and west of the Bborough, and main line services in the west. The Ttwo branches of 
the Northern Line serve the Borough (including a shuttle service to Mill Hill East).  
The Jubilee and Piccadilly lines and national rail lines pass to the west and east of 
the Borough respectively.  
 
11.3.2 Several stations within Barnet currently benefit from Step Free Access, 
however the Council is working with TfL and National Rail to increase the number 
further. There are currently plans to make improvements at four stations to provide 
step free access: Brent Cross, Colindale, Burnt Oak, and Mill Hill Broadway. The 
new station at Brent Cross West will also be is fully accessible. 
 
11.3.6 The improvement of orbital travel for Barnet is a focus of the Barnet Long 
Term Transport Strategy (BLTTS).  The BLTTS document provides detail on the 
options for orbital travel including improving the speed of the bus network through 
bus prioritisation initiatives and rapid transit buses; and improvements to the cycle 
network. 
 
11.3.7 As development comes forward in the Borough this will also increase the 
dependence on the Northern Line raising concerns of overcrowding and the need to 
ensure that passengers will be able to board the trains at stations along both 
northern branches of the Northern Line.  Issues with the Camden Town junction of 
the line where both branches converge also needs to be addressed.  
 

Clarification 

748



AM48 Chapter 11  
 
Transport and 
Communications 
 
Walking and 
Cycling in 
Barnet 
 
Section 11.6 
 

11.6 Walking and Cycling in Barnet 
11.6.1 Walking and cycling are transport modes that the Council is keen to promote 
due to the many benefits they provide ranging from reducing the use of private cars 
with consequent improvements for air quality to a more active and healthy population 
that increased walking and cycling leads to in terms of the health benefits for the 
individuals derived from partaking in undertaking exercise. 
 

Clarification 

AM49 Chapter 11  
 
Transport and 
Communications 
 
Promoting 
Active Travel 
and Improving 
Health 
 
Section 11.7 
 

11.7 Promoting Active Travel and Improving Health 
 
11.7.7 The Council will ensure that School Travel Plans (STPs) in Barnet are an 
effective tool for helping to manage air quality. They should include ambitious targets 
for walking and cycling. They will also ensure that remedial measures are taken if 
STP targets are not met and encourage the dissemination of good practice among 
the Borough’s schools. It The Council will also take positive action to prevent any 
pupil parking, promoting car sharing, providing safe cycle routes and improved cycle 
parking facilities, and will encourage more children to walk and cycle to and from 
school. This is reflected in the BLTTS which seeks to identify healthy routes to 
schools (including school streets) which will complement the STPs. 
 

Clarification 

749



AM50 Chapter 11  
 
Transport and 
Communications 
 
Investing in 
Infrastructure 
 
Section 11.9  
 

11.9 Investing in Infrastructure 
 
11.9.1 Despite facing challenging housing targets, Barnet does not benefit from 
levels of public transport investment seen in other parts of the capital and country. 
Increasing travel demand without proportionate infrastructure investment across the 
modes leads to increased congestion and reduced reliability of transport networks 
and services. Reducing car use as part of an overall transport strategy can tackle 
congestion particularly in urban areas. In suburban areas such as Barnet this is more 
challenging (except in some town centres) as the lower public transport accessibility 
limits transport choice for many journeys. Increased priority for public transport helps 
make it more attractive, improving the level of usage and decreases decreasing the 
level of reliance of Barnet residents on private vehicles.   
 
 

Clarification 

AM51 Chapter 11  
 
Transport and 
Communications 
 
Digital 
Communication  
 
Section 11.13  
 
  

11.13 Digital Communication 
 
11.13.4 Barnet The Council utilises wireless communication for CCTV monitoring 
and management. Contributions from developments may be required to deliver 
infrastructure for CCTV to ensure continuity of coverage of an area. Developers also 
need to consult with the Council to ensure that their proposal will not interfere with 
existing broadcast and communication services, including CCTV. The Council will, if 
necessary, request mitigation measures such as the installation of a signal carrying 
device, during the construction phase(s) and at completion of the development. 
 

Clarification 

750



AM52 Chapter 12 
Delivering the 
Local Plan 
 
Working with 
partners 
 
Section 12.2 
 

 
12.2 Working with partners 
 
12.2.2 Barnet’s Through a number of Statements of Common Ground it is shows 
shown  how the Council has been is working with neighbouring boroughs, the wider 
West London sub-region and other north London local authorities to ensure that 
Barnet's the adopted Local Plan has taken takes account of their plans and 
programmes as well as the spending and delivery plans of regional bodies such as 
the GLA and Transport for London. This demonstrates how the Council has met we 
meet the Duty to Cooperate. 
 
12.2.3 The Council will continue to ensure that a consistent approach is taken in 
relation to Growth Areas and town centres which adjoin or cross borough boundaries 
with Barnet.   
 
 
 

Clarification 

 
 

 

ii 2011 2021 Census – Method of travel to work (local authorities England and Wales) 

iii 2011 2021 Census 

iv Barnet Residential Conversions Study 2019 

v An employment led development is one where the employment generating (as defined by ECY01) floorspace is greater in proportion to the other uses 
proposed on the site, 

751



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

Cabinet 

Title  Our Plan for Adult Social Care 2024-2029 

Date of meeting 12 March 2024 

Report of Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care, Councillor Paul Edwards   

Wards All  

 

Status Public  

 

Key Key 

Urgent No 

Appendices Appendix A – Our Plan for Adult Social Care  

Lead Officer Dawn Wakeling, Executive Director - Communities, Adults and 
Health 

Dawn.wakeling@barnet.gov.uk  

Officer Contact Details  Ella Goschalk, Head of Commissioning – Mental Health and 
Dementia 

Ella.goschalk@barnet.gov.uk  

Summary 
Adult social care makes an invaluable difference to people’s lives. At its best, care and support mean 
that people can live a ‘gloriously ordinary life.’  

This plan tells the story of adult social care in Barnet – through facts and figures, but most importantly 
through people’s experiences. The plan shows the difference that adult social care makes to 
individuals, families, communities and staff across the sector.  

At the same time, we know that times are tough. There is less money for councils, including adult 
social care, with more people likely to need support. 

753

AGENDA ITEM 13

mailto:Dawn.wakeling@barnet.gov.uk
mailto:Ella.goschalk@barnet.gov.uk


Our aim in this plan is to show how we will focus our efforts to have the biggest impact we can, even 
within our constraints. We will set out our plans for the next few years, the priorities and how we will 
make a difference.  

To write this plan, we spoke to many people across Barnet, including people who draw on care and 
support, families and carers, care staff, and experts. We engaged with over 300 people through 
surveys, focus groups and community visits. We also brought in what we have heard from people's 
feedback over recent years.  

Recommendations 

1. Cabinet is asked to approve Our Plan for Adult Social Care 2024-2029 and delegate authority 
for implementation to Executive Director – Communities, Adults and Health 

1. Reasons for the Recommendations 
1.1 We have created this plan for adult social care in order to bring together in one place a clear 

vision, narrative and action plan for adult social care over the next 5 years. 

1.2 The plan brings together key information about adult social care, data and evidence on our 
performance, as well as people’s stories to illustrate the impacts of adult social care. 

1.3 We also set out the national and local context for adult social care, and some the challenges and 
constraints we face. It situates adult social care in the context of  Our Plan for Barnet – caring for 
people, places and planet , as well as other strategies and plans from across the council.  

1.4 We worked with a wide range of residents, families, care providers and staff to put together the 
strategy. We involved people in different ways including surveys, focus groups, and attending 
community events. In total, we heard from 300 people. 

1.5 We also brought together data and insight from the past few years, including what we know from 
residents’ feedback and experiences.   

1.6 There are 5 priorities for adult social care in Barnet which are set out in the strategy: 

- We will be ambitious about what people can achieve, and get the right support for each 
individual  

- We will support people to live well and be part of communities 
- We will work with people to shape and develop care and support 
- We will work towards more equal access and more inclusive services 
- We will be realistic in how we use resources, keeping up with changes and ways of working, and 

being creative in finding solution 

1.7   For each area we have set out a number of actions – which will enable us to work towards each 
of these priorities 

1.8    We have also developed an action plan which will enable us to track and report on progress 

2. Alternative Options Considered and Not Recommended 

2.1 Not applicable 

3. Post Decision Implementation 

We will promote the plan through different communications channels 

754



Once approved, we will continue to update the action plan and provide updates to Cabinet and Adults 
and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub- Committee  

4. Corporate Priorities, Performance and Other Considerations 

 

4.1 Corporate Plan 

   Part of the Barnet Plan priority ‘Caring for People’ is the aspiration to enable all residents – 
particularly our older and disabled communities – to live well so they can lead fit, healthy and happy 
lives, feeling safe in their own homes and as part of a supportive community.  

   Adult social care is a huge part of achieving this aim, particularly working with some of the most 
vulnerable people in the community, promoting independence, keeping people safe, well and 
achieving their goals and aspirations. This plan will enable us to keep a focus on our key priorities to 
achieve these aims.  

4.2       Corporate Performance / Outcome Measures 

The action plan will be used to track progress against outcomes and actions, this will also support the 
achievement of the goals of the corporate plan.  

4.3      Sustainability  

The plan covers all elements of adult social care including financial sustainability and how we will 
make best use of resources, manage demand and prevent people’s needs from escalating so people 
stay well for longer in the community.  

4.4     Corporate Parenting  

In line with Children and Social Work Act 2017, the council has a duty to consider Corporate Parenting 
Principles in decision-making across the council.  

Care experienced adults may go on to develop care and support needs and draw on council adult 
social care support. The services and initiatives described in this report are relevant and accessible to 
care experienced adults.  

4.5     Risk Management 

The Council has an established approach to risk management, which is set out in the Risk 
Management Framework. Risks are reviewed quarterly (as a minimum) with risks rated 15+ reported 
to Adults and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committee.  

4.6     Insight 

The plan makes extensive use of data, insight, and people’s feedback and experience. Each priority 
details relevant performance information and key findings from engagement and consultations. Some 
of the sources we used are: 

 
1. Adult Social Care User Survey and Survey of Adult Carers (national surveys) 
2. Adul Social Care Outcomes Framework (national data collection) 
3. Other performance data from adult social care 
4. Data on disproportionality / inequalities  
5. Findings from feedback surveys and engagement activities with people who use adult social 

care 

755



6. A survey developed specifically for this strategy  
7. Findings from focus groups about adult social care and proposed proprieties 

 

4.7       Social Value 

The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2013 requires people who commission public services to think 
about how they can also secure wider social, economic and environmental benefits. There are no 
social value implications in relation to the recommendations in this report. 

5. Resource Implications (Finance and Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT 
and Property)  

5.1    There are no specific resource implications for the plan, which will be delivered within existing 
resources.  In 2023/24 the adult social care net revenue budget is  £137m (net) 

6. Legal Implications and Constitution References  
6.1 In accordance with the Council Constitution, Part 2D, Section 1 the terms of reference of the 

Cabinet state that “The Executive will exercise all of the local authority functions which are not the 
responsibility of any other part of the local authority, whether by law or under this Constitution.” It 
also includes the following responsibility, approving policies that are not part of the policy 
framework;  

6.2 Cabinet is asked to approve the Adult Social Strategy for 2024-2029 which is a ‘key decision’. In 
accordance with the Constitution, Part 2D - Terms of Reference and Delegation of Duties to the 
Cabinet, paragraph 4 - Cabinet is responsible for all key decisions. The approval of the Adult Social 
Strategy is a key decision for the following reasons:  

- an executive decision which is likely to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living 
or working in an area of two or more wards of the Borough;   

7. Consultation  

7.1 As outlined above, the strategy is heavily based on feedback, insights and experiences of people 
with lived experience of care and support. We did this through a variety of methods including: 

1. Responses to a survey specifically about the strategy  

2. Findings from  feedback surveys from people with recent experience of adult social care 

3. Engaging with residents  at community meetings and events 

4. Feedback from care providers  

5. Feedback from the voluntary, community and faith sector 

8. Equalities and Diversity  

8.1 Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 sets out the Public-Sector Equality Duty which requires a 
public authority (or those exercising public functions) to have due regard to the need to:  

• Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited 
by the Equality Act 2010.  

• Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not.  

756



• Fostering of good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not.  

The broad purpose of this duty is to integrate considerations of equality into everyday business and 
keep them under review in decision making, the design of policies and the delivery of services. The 
protected characteristics are: age; disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; 
religion or belief; sex and sexual orientation.  

In order to assist in meeting the duty the Council will:   

• Try to understand the diversity of our customers to improve our services.  

• Consider the impact of our decisions on different groups to ensure they are fair.  

• Mainstream equalities into business and financial planning and integrating equalities into 
everything we do.  

• Learn more about Barnet’s diverse communities by engaging with them. This is also what we 
expect of our partners.  

8.2 This is set out in the Council’s Equalities Policy, which can be found on the website at: 
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/your-Council/policies-plans-and-performance/equality-and-
diversity  

Equalities, diversity and inclusion are a key part of the plan and is one of our four pillars in adult social 
care.  

8.3 One of the 5 priorities is: We will work towards more equal access and more inclusive services 

8.4 As part of this we set out some of the inequalities and challenges within adult social care, which 
we know through our data and people’s experience. We set out the key areas of focus that will 
enable us to achieve this priority.  

 

9. Background Papers 
9.1     An earlier version of the plan was presented at Adults and Health Overview and Scrutiny sub 

committee on 24 January 2024  

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1005&MId=11464&Ver=4  

 

 

757

https://www.barnet.gov.uk/your-Council/policies-plans-and-performance/equality-and-diversity
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/your-Council/policies-plans-and-performance/equality-and-diversity
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1005&MId=11464&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

London Borough of Barnet 

Our Plan for Adult Social Care 2024 – 2029 

 

“We all want to live in the place we call home with the people and things that we love, in communities where we look out for one another, doing things that 
matter to us. That’s the social care future we seek” Social Care Futures 

“Thank you so very, very much for putting your heart and soul into my care and case. You really showed me how you cared…which means so much to me.” 
Barnet resident 

“You gave me more than one thing, options, what was best for me, you listened, I felt listened to.” Barnet resident 

Adult social care makes an invaluable difference to people’s lives. At its best, care and support means that people can live a ‘gloriously ordinary life’.1  

This plan includes real stories about care and support in Barnet. The plan shows the difference that adult social care makes, as well as the local and national 
challenges.  

To write this plan, we spoke to many people across Barnet. We spoke to people who draw on care and support, families and carers, care staff, and experts. 
We engaged with over 300 people through surveys, focus groups and community visits. We also brought in what we have heard from people's feedback 
over recent years.  

Our Plan for Barnet (2023-26) is the Council’s plan for the borough. It sets out the ambition for Barnet to be a borough that cares for people, places and the 
planet, through listening to and working with residents and communities. Adult social care is a very important part of this. We support thousands of people 
a year, helping people impacted by age, disability or mental health challenges live an independent life, get back on their feet after a hospital stay, and keep 
safe. Adult social care is worth around £300m to Barnet's economy, with around 10,000 people working in the sector. 

At the same time, we know that times are tough. There is less money for councils, including adult social care, with needs for care and support increasing. 
The Local Government Association found that councils in England face a funding gap of £4 billion over the next two years. They also show that by 2024/25 
cost and demand pressures will have added £15 billion (almost 29 per cent) to the cost of delivering council services since 2021/22.  There are pressures on 
finances for individuals, care providers and public services. We know that our communities face inequalities in accessing and experience of services. Similar 

 
1 House of Lords Adult Social Care Committee – Report 22/23 

759

https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/31917/documents/193737/default/


 

 

to many other local authorities, in Barnet we are facing a significant financial challenge, especially in adult social care. We are working hard to make sure 
that we use our limited resources the best we can to meet people’s needs, provide value for money, and maintain our invaluable services into the future.   

The plan shows how we will focus our efforts to have the biggest impact we can, within this challenging environment. We set out the priorities we have 
developed with people, plans for the next few years, and how we will make a difference.  

Thank you to all involved. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

760



 

 

 

1. About Barnet  
 

• Almost 400,000 people live in Barnet. 
• The population increased by 9.2% between 2011 and 2021. 
• 56,500 people are over 65 - 1 in 7 of the total population. 
• One in ten residents are aged 75+ years – and this is the fastest growing age group. 
• Older adults (65+) make up 14% of the population in Barnet and numbers have increased by 18% over ten years. 
• The numbers of people aged 70-74 years has increased by 40%. 
• One in ten older residents live alone. 
• We have approx. 85 registered domiciliary care providers and 80 registered providers that offer bed-based care and support. 
• It is estimated that 4300 people in Barnet are living with dementia, the second highest in London.2  
• We supported 1,025 adults with a learning disability in 2022/23 an increase of 7.3% from 2019/203 
• There are an estimated 40,000 carers, including 3.6% of Barnet’s population who provide 20 or more hours of unpaid care. 
• Over 90 languages spoken. 
• 98% of schools rated ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’.  
• 88% of residents say their local area is a place where people from different backgrounds get on well together. 
• 28% of the borough is covered with 200 parks and green spaces. 
• There are 1075 charities based in Barnet. 

This plan fits in with other strategies and plans that shape the work we do in Barnet. Some of these are shown below and you can find out more by clicking 
on the links.   

• Our Plan for Barnet: Caring for people, our places and the planet (2023-26) 
• Barnet Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2021-2025 
• Together: Barnet Community Participation Strategy (published 2022) 
• Engagement and Co-Production Strategy and Charter for Adult Social Care (published 2022) 

 
2 Data taken from LG Inform. The estimate is based on the characteristics of the population and the age and sex specific prevalence rates from the Cognitive Function and Ageing Study II 
3 Data taken from the ASC-FR. It captures people with a primary support reason recorded as LD for those aged 18-64 and also those aged 65+ throughout the year and is available from 2019-20 onwards 

761

https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-02/Barnet%20Corporate%20Plan%202023-26.pdf
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2021-11/Joint%20Health%20and%20Wellbeing%20Strategy.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s74754/Community%20Participation%20Strategy%20final%20cleared%20CLLC%20311022.pdf
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-05/Engagement%20and%20Co-production%20strategy%20and%20charter%20Nov22.pdf


 

 

• Barnet Joint Strategic Needs Assessment  
• Barnet Market Position Statement (2024) 
• Barnet Dementia strategy (2023-28)  
• Barnet Carers and young carers strategy (2023-28) 
• Barnet Safeguarding Adults Board Strategic Plan (2023-26) 
• Barnet Housing Strategy (2023-28) 
• Currently being finalised: Age Friendly Barnet action plan 
• Currently being finalised: Equalities Strategy 
• Quality Assurance Framework for Adult Social Care  
• Resident Experience and Digital Strategy  

 

a. What is adult social care? 
 

We know that people haven’t always heard of ‘adult social care’ and may use different words or phrases to describe this kind of support.  

When we asked Barnet residents what adult social care means to them, people said:  

• “My care and support” 
• “Looking after all adults who need help because of physical or mental [health challenges]. Helping them be as independent as possible. Helping their 

families, friends and carers“ 
• “Provision to help disabled people live better lives with support and understanding.” 
• “Taking a holistic view”  

762

https://open.barnet.gov.uk/insight-and-intelligence/jsna/
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/adult-social-care/market-position-statement
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-08/Dementia%20Strategy%202023-2028.pdf
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-08/Carers%20and%20Young%20Carers%202023-2028.pdf
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-08/BSAB%20strategic%20plan%202023-26%20.pdf


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What do we do in Barnet? 

Barnet Council adult social care provides information, advice and support for people who:

• want to stay well and independent
• are living with a disability, physical or sensory impairment
• have a learning disability 
• have mental health support needs
• care for a partner, friend or relative
• need support to gain employment
• are vulnerable and need support to stay safe

To do this we talk to you about your strengths, your community and what you want to achieve.  We work with you to put in place changes that will support you to 
live the life you want to lead.  This might be finding groups and opportunities in your neighbourhood, getting technology or equipment that helps you stay safe 
and independent, accessing short or long-term care at home, or finding a different type of accommodation (like sheltered housing or a care home) that works for 
you.

We have specialist teams who work with different groups of people, such as older people, people with a learning disability, physical or sensory impairment, or 
mental health challenge.

Our work is guided by some key laws, including the Care Act 2014, the Mental Capacity Act 2005 and more. 

763



 

 

 

b. The four pillars of adult social care in Barnet 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prevention

�Our priority is to enable people to 
stay independent, well and in 
control of their lives by preventing, 
reducing and delaying  social care 
needs. 

�We work with people, partners and 
the local community to provide a 
range of services and easy access to 
information, to help prevent care 
needs developing.

�Our services help residents to enjoy 
Barnet, stay well, achieve their 
potential and retain their skills, 
independence and confidence.

Co-production

•Continual engagement and co-
production with people who draw 
on care and support, carers and 
residents is at the heart of what we 
do.

�We aim to make all engagement 
and coproduction accessible, 
empowering and representative of 
our diverse communities.

�We will gain insight and further 
develop connections with our 
residents and partners to make sure 
our services are best serving the 
needs of residents.

Choice and control

�Our services and approach to care 
are designed to support people to 
live a life of their choice. Our staff 
use a strengths-based approach, 
working with residents to 
understand their goals, what gives 
them purpose and how they wish to 
live their lives.

�The person and their support 
network are central to the approach 
we take, and we will be ambitious 
but realistic about what we can 
achieve together. 

� We work with people and partners 
to develop and suppor a diverse and 
high quality care sector in Barnet, 
so that people have the greatest 
choice possible

�We also support people to make 
informed decisions about their care 
through having a strong 
information, advice, and advocacy 
offer.

Equality 

�We recognise the importance of 
tackling inequalities in adult social 
care, and our staff put equality at 
the heart of what we do. 

�We listen to residents, providers 
and staff to help understand how 
we can tackle  inequalities and 
provide equality of care in a way 
that is ambitious, realistic and 
person-centred. 

�We will make sure residents have 
equal access to our support services 
as well as our information, advice 
and advocacy services.

764



 

 

 

c. What do people say about adult social care in Barnet? 
 

We talk to hundreds of people every year about their experiences of adult social care. This helps us find out what is working well and what could be 
improved, which we then put into action wherever possible.  

You will find more feedback and data in each section of this plan, as well as people’s stories.  

For this plan we asked people the following questions. We were given hundreds of responses, and have included a selection of them below, but all of the 
feedback alongside other surveys and people’s experiences, has been used to shape the plan.  

In your experience, what is working well at the moment when it comes to adult social care in Barnet? 

People talked about our staff and receiving personalised support: 

• “Sympathetic and empathetic help from Barnet Adult Social Care department to my husband with advanced dementia and me, his carer” 
• “I liked the way Barnet sent someone to view my flat to see what I needed to make my life easier and within a few days of meeting, physical aids 

were installed”. 
• “Social workers are supportive and understand an individual's support needs”. 
• “Skilled social workers and home carers - who are also caring and provide holistic care”. 

They also praised the approach to collaboration and involving residents in any changes: 

• “'It is with great pride that we have the Involvement Board who are doing their best to improve and make things better for everyone”. 
• “There is a massive attempt towards collaboration which is great”. 
• “Willingness to listen, communicate and see improvements / change”. 

Other positive comments related to specific services: 

• “Being able to get out and go somewhere friendly to chat with people and do some enjoyable activities (wellbeing services)” 
• “I feel most of the services work- they are just stretched”. 
• “Having access to activities through voluntary groups”. 

765



 

 

 

In your view, what could make things better when it comes to adult social care in Barnet? 

People gave some comments around the experience of communication:   

• “Having phone calls promptly directed to the correct department”. 
• “One computer system, accessible by all NHS staff; GPs, hospitals, psychiatric staff etc. The worst thing is having to repeat one’s ‘story’ again and 

again”. 
• “Better communication with autistic people” 
• “Help in other languages”. 

Some people talked about what would improve adult social care as a whole:  

• “More staff and better training” 
• “Ensuring that everyone has equal access to care”. 
• “More staff who know about what actually can be done / is available. Speedier answers to problems” 
• “Meeting everyone at their level of need, and being realistic about what works”. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

766



 

 

 

 

2. Five priorities for adult social care 
 

This section introduces our five priorities for adult social care in Barnet, which build on our four pillars of prevention, co-production, choice & control, and 
equality. These priorities have been written based on co-production with residents and staff, data and information, and wider trends in adult social care. 
The five priorities are: 

1. We will support people to live well and be part of communities. 
2. We will be ambitious about what people can achieve and get the right support for each individual. 
3. We will work with people to shape and develop care and support. 
4. We will work towards more equal access and more inclusive services. 
5. We will be realistic in how we use resources, keeping up with changes and ways of working, and being creative with finding solutions.  

 

1. We will support people to live well and be part of communities. 
This priority is all about supporting people to keep up the things that help them stay happy, well, and connected to their communities. This is also called 
‘prevention’.  

Prevention is about the care and support system actively promoting independence and wellbeing. This means enabling individuals to help themselves, 
intervening early to support individuals, helping people to retain their skills and confidence, make sustainable choices and preventing need or delaying 
deterioration wherever possible. To meet our duties under the Care Act 2014 we provide a range of services and facilities and access to the advocacy, 
information and advice residents need to make informed decisions about how to meet their care and or support needs. 

In Barnet our vision as a council is to embed prevention, as a golden thread, in all that we do.  A council-wide prevention framework has been developed to 
help us achieve this and to assist services, staff and partners to deliver support to enable our residents to enjoy Barnet, stay well and achieve their best 
potential. 

At a time when finances are so stretched, prevention also means that we can use our resources in the best way to keep people well and prevent, reduce and 
delay needs for long term care 

767



 

 

 

 

What we know from our data: 

• We commission a range of information, advice and community prevention services and are fortunate to have a thriving voluntary and 
community services sector in Barnet. Over 38,500 residents accessed these services between April and September 2022, and we know that 
having such a wide offer enables us to reach a diverse range of people who may not want to approach the council directly.    

• Between April 2022 and March 2023, 368 people got support from the Prevention and Wellbeing team, with 340 of those (92%) achieving their 
objectives. The team also set up 17 new community initiatives that will continue to support people in our neighbourhoods and hold community 
drop-ins in around 15 locations every three months. 

• We have an enablement service which supports people when they are coming out of hospital to build skills and confidence so they are able to 
stay independent in the community. In 2022/23 there were 2,446 episodes of enablement. After the service (which lasts up to 6 weeks) 76% of 
people did not need long term support or got support at a lower level than before.  

• Over 4000 people are registered as a carer with Barnet Carers Centre, which provides information, advice and support for carers across Barnet. 
In the first half of 23/24, Barnet Carers Centre completed 230 adult carers assessments. 

• We are supporting more people with care at home – overall the number of homecare hours has gone up, as well as individuals generally 
receiving more homecare per person, over the past 3 years. 

• We are good at supporting people’s independence, performing well when it comes to people with a learning disability being in employment, 
and living independently or with family. 

What we know from people’s experiences:  

• We know from the national Department of Health and Social Care annual survey4 that many people who use adult social care in Barnet do not 
have as much contact as they would like. From the survey responses, 33% of people aged 65+ who responded to the survey had as much social 
contact as they want, compared to 42% of respondents aged 18-64. We know that this is to do with lots of factors across Barnet and London.  

• From the same survey we know that 38% of people responding  have never tried to find information or advice on care and support services. 
Taking only those that did try to find information or advice, 63% found it fairly or very easy to find. Younger adults found it slightly easier to 
find information and advice compared to those responding aged 65+. 

 
4 DHSC annual survey was sent to 1358 individuals. 360 out of the 1,358 questionnaires were responded to. This is 6.5% of the total number of individuals who received care and support. 

768



 

 

• In a small survey of 40 people, 61% of people responding said their mental or emotional wellbeing has improved since accessing wellbeing 
services in Barnet. One person said “I really enjoy the activities…they have been really welcoming. I’m so glad I found out about the activities as 
it’s so nice to be part of such a wellbeing focused community. I make sure to go every week and it’s really positive”. 

• 89% of people surveyed who recently used adult social care agreed with the statement: ‘The plan I developed with my social care practitioner 
helps me live the life I want and do things that are important to me.’ 

 

Jamal’s story:  

'I am an apprentice and work locally. I was referred to specialist employment advisors who helped me into my current role. I have a learning disability and I 
am a care leaver. I enjoyed volunteering in the local community when I was a teenager and in supported living. The advisors I spoke to and who helped me 
into work were considerate and took the time to get to know me. I feel lucky to have worked with them. I would like more enterprise-related events and 
opportunities to be available for young adults in the local area'. 
 

2. We will be ambitious about what people can achieve and get the right support for each individual.  
 

This priority is all about working with each person, and those around them, to make life better.  

This might be about staying safe (safeguarding), completing daily tasks, living independently, or getting involved in activities, volunteering or work.  

There is no set ‘journey’ for people accessing adult social care – instead we will work with each individual to look at what is important to them and be 
ambitious about how that can be achieved. This will be different for everyone, and have a person-centred approach helps us to work with people from a 
wide cross-section of the community, across the full diversity of backgrounds and experiences.   

What we know from our data: 

• We support many thousands of people each year – around 5,000 for long term support. Around 2,000 people are aged between 18-65, and over 
3,000 are 65+.  

• We also provide short term support for another 2,000 people per year, with most people going on to recover their independence. In 2022/23, 
88.3% of people were still at home 91 days after discharge from hospital into reablement/rehabilitation services. This is better than national and 
London averages. 

769



 

 

• Most people we support live in their own home, with a smaller proportion supported in care or nursing homes. 85% of people with a learning 
disability supported by the council live in their own home or with their family, which is the top 25% nationally. 

• Similarly, permanent admissions of older adults aged 65 and over to care homes are low in Barnet, with 382 individuals’ long-term support needs 
met by admission to residential and nursing care homes, per 100,000 population. Again, this is in the top 25% of performance nationally.  

• We are supporting more people with long term support each year, and we know that people’s needs are getting more complex. We also support 
many people with keeping safe (safeguarding concerns). From April 2022 to March 2023 almost 1,400 people were involved in safeguarding 
concerns. 

What we know from people’s experiences:  

• Overall, 88% of people who responded in the Department of Health and Social Care’s annual national survey were (extremely, very and quite) 
satisfied with their care and support services.  

• 88% of people in the same survey said that the services they receive help them feel safe and secure. 
• These findings are similar to what we hear when we engage with residents, including speaking to people about this plan. We heard a lot of positive 

feedback about experiences with staff and care and support services. We heard challenges around communication and ensuring information was 
clear to those receiving it. 

Louisa’s story: 

'When I lost my sight, I was assigned a support worker from Barnet adult social care. Losing my sight so suddenly was the most traumatic thing that 
happened to me. My whole world felt like it ended – I didn’t know what was happening, if I was going to be okay or even how to get out of bed. I have never 
felt so scared in my life’. Louisa was supported from her hospital stay onwards by a practitioner who had a similar lived experience: ‘When I was discharged, 
they came to visit me at home. They brought all these things to help me; even little things that helped me make a cup of tea, or to help me see better by 
changing the lamp bulbs. I remember the first time I went back outside was with them. They brought me a mobility cane and explained how I needed to use 
it to get out and about. We then went around my block, and it was the first time I thought I would be okay.’ 

 

3. We will work with people to shape and develop care and support.  
 

In Barnet, we know that individuals and communities are the experts in their own experience. Only by working together can we make sure that adult social 
care services are excellent for everyone.  

770



 

 

This priority is about making sure that people are involved in all areas of adult social care, from shaping their own care and support, helping us to 
understand and improve services, recruiting our staff, to designing new services and making changes to adult social care. 

We recently developed a whole strategy just focusing on this area, which is often called engagement and co-production. Over 300 people were directly 
involved in co-producing this strategy. Our Voluntary and Community sector partners helped us to ensure that resident groups who the council finds harder 
to engage with were also part of developing the strategy, such as people with learning disabilities and those from under-represented faith and cultural 
groups. The Engagement and Co-Production strategy for adult social care can be found online.  

What we know from our data: 

• In 2022/23, we engaged with over 800 people as part of our engagement and co-production work in adult social care. 
• 300 carers co-produced the carers and young carers strategy. Barnet Carers Centre lead the carers partnership board, which includes carers with 

lived experience, to oversee the delivery of the strategy and action plan. 
• 140 people, both those living with dementia and their carers, co-produced Barnet’s dementia strategy. 
• Our People’s Voice community has over 236 residents with lived experience of adult social care who are invited to get involved, and is growing 

every month. 
• The Involvement Board and People’s Voice members have engaged in projects to review services and shape improvements, including for wheelchair 

services, reablement services and wellbeing services. Residents have also helped to design assessment forms, feedback forms, and the language we 
use in social care. They are involved in recruitment and training of staff, developing resources and delivering briefings on a wide range of 
experiences including autism and being a carer.  

 

What we know from people’s experiences: 

• From our surveys of people who had a recent experience of an adult social care assessment, 96% agreed with the statement ‘I was part of planning 
my care and support in a way that makes sense to me.’ 

• We get lots of positive feedback as part of our engagement meetings and events, for example: 
• “Being part of the [Involvement] Board has boosted my confidence. I’m now involved in other communities and speaking up.” [Involvement 

Board member] 
• "Really heartening to see co-production done in a sincere way, with residents feedback given equal standing with that of the professionals" 

[Feedback from the ‘language of social care’ event] 

771

https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-05/Engagement%20and%20Co-production%20strategy%20and%20charter%20Nov22.pdf


 

 

Engagement in Barnet 
 
In 2022 we developed a new Engagement and Co-Production strategy for adult social care. We involved over 300 people through surveys, focus groups, and 
going out into the community. This was all overseen by a steering group made up of residents, staff, voluntary sector and other organisations like the NHS.  
 
This was a great experience in breaking down the barriers and working on a project together as equals from the start, with positive feedback from both staff 
and residents:  

 
“I'm relishing this opportunity to be involved in the steering group…I'm thankful to be able to input my thoughts and feelings into that whole process. All in 
all, I'm grateful for the opportunity to 'give back' for all that I've received”. Resident member of the steering group.  

 “Having started a role in the engagement team during the development of the strategy and joining the steering group where I could see residents, officers 
and managers all working together as equals in a setting where constructive challenge was welcome, made me sure that this was a good place to work and 
that we have the appetite and environment for true co-production” Staff member of steering group. 

The strategy has three priorities which are: 

• We will hear from more people about their experiences and use this to make a positive change. 
• We will build our People’s Voice community to provide more opportunities to be part of adult social care. 
• We will move beyond feedback to participation in adult social care and ensure that people have a voice across a wider range of services. 

772



 

 

 

 

 

4. We will work towards more equal access and more inclusive services.  
 

This priority is about better understanding equality and inclusion in adult social care, including barriers to accessing services for people from different 
communities, and how inclusive those services are once accessed.  

What we know from our data:  

• In the Council’s Residents’ Perception Survey 2021/22, 88% of residents agreed that their local area was a place where people from 
different backgrounds get on well together. 

• In the same survey, disabled residents were less satisfied than non-disabled residents, across a range of question areas.  

Interested in getting involved? 

Join People's Voice and you will get:

• opportunities to have your say in the way that works for you.

• to take part in focus groups, surveys, interviews or in other ways to help make a change on topics that are most important to you.

• an opportunity to represent the community on our Involvement Board.

• access to our newsletters, which are co-produced by a group of People’s Voice members.

Who can join: Anyone with experience of adult social care can join People's Voice. This includes carers.

We can support you to take part: Whatever your requirements, we will support you to take part where we can. For example, we have meetings in 

accessible venues and can provide British Sign Language, large print or Easy Read documents.

Sign up using our online form or call the team on 0208 359 5582.

773

https://forms.office.com/r/iei7tci2PQ


 

 

• Learning disability support is accessed less by all other ethnicities compared to white residents. 
• Black residents are twice as likely to access mental health social care support services than white residents. This rises to three times more 

likely for those in the 20 to 39 age range. This reflects trends across the country.  
• We continue to collect data and demographics from the full range of communities and backgrounds - this will enable us to keep focusing on 

any gaps or inequalities and how we can tackle these.  

What we know from people’s experiences: 

• In the annual DHSC adult social care survey, we looked at differences in people’s responses by age, gender and ethnicity. For many questions there 
was very little difference in people’s experiences.  

• However, we found small differences by ethnicity when it came to overall satisfaction - 91% of White respondents were quite, very or extremely 
satisfied with care and support, compared to 87% of people from other ethnicities.  

• The council commissioned an in-depth study about the experiences of disabled people in Barnet. One of the key findings was that disabled 
residents belong and see themselves as belonging to multiple groups, whether relating to their disability, ethnic or religious background, or gender 
identity. 

• We recently worked with Community Barnet to understand people’s experiences of safeguarding in our diverse communities. Initial findings 
showed that many residents are not familiar with the word ‘safeguarding’ and preferred phrases like ‘keeping all adults safe’. 

 

Dara’s story 

The Prevention and Wellbeing team worked with Dara, who was living with mental health challenges including schizophrenia. She was living alone and 
wanted to feel more settled, as well as connect with others in the Lao and Thai communities. The Prevention and Wellbeing coordinator identified local Thai 
and Lao businesses, and visited them with Dara, speaking to people to find out about local groups, as well as encouraging Dara to contact the embassies for 
further connections. Dara was able to attend a temple in another part of London and also took part in an annual new year celebration. The coordinator also 
worked with Dara to apply for a volunteering role in a charity shop and join a gardening group, as well as practical things like sorting out a Freedom Pass, 
tax returns and housing. Dara said that her self-confidence has increased, as well as her wellbeing. She said: “thank you, you have helped me a lot. I don’t 
feel lonely any more”. 

 

 

774



 

 

 

5. We will be realistic in how we use resources, keeping up with changes and ways of working, and being creative with finding solutions.  
 

The first part of this priority recognises that we are in an extremely challenging time for adult social care. Budgets are getting tighter while people’s needs 
are getting more complex. We are good at working efficiently and will keep building on this so that we are making best use of limited money and resources 
to meet people’s needs, which continuing to improve access and tackle inequalities.  We want to provide people with the best possible support whilst also 
ensuring the best possible value for money.  We will use data, evidence and best practice to achieve this.   

The other part of this priority is about opportunities – there are creative solutions and exciting technology that we are exploring to get the right support to 
those who need it and enable people to live the lives they want.  

We aim to always focus on improvement and innovation where we can – this means always looking at what could be working better, having more of an 
impact, or trying new ways of working. This is called our ‘transformation approach’. 

We have some key ways of measuring how we are doing, and using this information to make changes, including a performance framework, a quality 
assurance framework, quality board and engagement strategy. 

We also use people’s feedback, data and professional expertise to make good decisions. For example, we are rolling out better ways of using our data to 
improve our services to people and are continuing to bring together relevant professionals to make good decisions about risk.  

What we know from our data:  

• The council has a total net revenue budget of £296.6 million, and 46% of the budget is allocated to adult social care (£135.8 million in 2023/24).  
• It is nationally recognised that Adult Social Care faces significant funding challenges, with sector leaders such as the Local Government Association, 

the Health Foundation, and the Kings Fund calling for additional investment into the sector to meet funding shortfalls.  
• Adult social care represents approximately 14% of the Barnet economy with over 10,000 people employed in the sector.  
• There are 80 registered care homes and approximately 85 registered home care agencies, along with supported living schemes, day services and 

other services, such as personal assistants.  
• We have over 400 members of staff working within Barnet Council adult social care, with a relatively low turnover rate (people leaving) of around 

11%. 
• The Barnet website is working towards the highest accessibility standards, which are the Web Content Accessibility Guidelines version 2.1 (AA 

standard). 

775



 

 

What we know from people’s experiences: 

• When we asked people for their views on this plan and the priorities, this priority was rated by 26% as the most important. People said:  
o “Using resources well is key to helping the vulnerable”. 
o “Things are changing all the time”.  
o “Not wasting limited resources”. 

 

Ben’s story: 

“My wife has Multiple Sclerosis (MS). She uses a wheelchair, and her mobility has deteriorated over the years. We have set carers who are really understanding 
of the needs of my wife, friendly and helpful. The relationship with the carers and agency is excellent and just knowing you have the support when things are 
difficult makes life easier.  I adjust and arrange everything in advance to make sure cover is in place for my wife; everything must be planned in advance.  

Recently I was unwell and was admitted to hospital unexpectedly for tests. I had to phone the care agency and let them know I was in hospital 
but struggled getting through because of network issues. The care agency had been putting things into place and arranging a plan with Barnet to cover all 
scenarios to plan care for my wife.  It was a great relief to hear that care and support for my wife was covered. Everything worked out well and I was thankful. 
It took a big weight off my shoulders.”  

 
 
 
 
 
 

3. How we will know it’s working 
 

We have many ways to understand people’s experiences of adult social care and how we are doing. These are listed below as well as where to find them.  

776



 

 

The Care Quality Commission (CQC) are the independent regulators of health and adult social care in England. For many years they have monitored and 
inspected care providers such as care homes and homecare agencies. The CQC has a new responsibility to assess local authorities’ delivery of their duties 
under part 1 of the Care Act 2014. This new approach to assessing local authorities will help us better understand our performance and areas of focus.  

Some data, information and surveys are collected and reported by every local authority. These measures and questions are agreed nationally, which helps 
to see how we are doing over time and compared to other areas: 

• Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework measures how well care and support services achieve the outcomes that matter most to people.  
• Adult Social Care User Survey and Survey of Adult Carers in England – these are national surveys with a set of questions asked by every local 

authority. The user survey takes place every year, and the carers survey every 2 years.  
• Compliments and complaints – all councils with adult social care duties must have a dedicated social care complaints procedure which follows 

national guidance. we listen to and learn from compliments and complaints. We publish an annual complaints report.  

We also have some Barnet-specific ways of knowing how we are doing: 

• We have a feedback survey that goes to people after they have had an interaction with the council’s adult social care team. This gives us a quicker 
picture of people’s experiences. We share any individual feedback with staff members and managers and look at the wider messages and themes in 
order to take appropriate action. 

• We review feedback surveys and other performance measures from care homes, homecare agencies and other care providers. 
• We have internal and external audits – this is where a professional looks at the way we practice adult social care and gives recommendations.  
• Most of this information is published and reported through the scrutiny process. Look for papers called ‘performance report’.  
• Local elected Councillors oversee adult social care through: Adults and Health Overview and Scrutiny Subcommittee   

 

 

 

4. Action Plan 

 

777

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/adult-social-care-outcomes-framework-ascof
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/personal-social-services-survey-of-adult-carers
https://open.barnet.gov.uk/download/e5qpg/g5c/Annual%20Complaints%20report%202021-22.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1005


 

 

Priority area Action Service / partner 
strategy 

778



 

 

1. We will continue to deliver our prevention and wellbeing service, working with staff from 
across adult social care, and better recording the impact of these interventions. We will 
expand the role of the prevention team at the beginning of a resident’s engagement with 
adult social care, ensuring a preventative approach is offered to people when they first 
contact us. 

 

2. We will continue to work closely with both commissioned and other Voluntary and 
Community Sector services in the borough to ensure a joined-up approach to prevention. 
We will facilitate a network of social care VCS organisations.  

Community 
Participation Strategy 

3. We will work with colleagues across the council and partners to establish job roles for 
people with a learning disability and continue to work with BOOST to improve opportunities 
for disabled people to get into work and stay in employment.  

 

4. We will put our Carers and Young Carers strategy into action – this includes identifying 
carers early, making sure carers have individualised support, involving carers in shaping 
future services, and raising the profile of carers and young carers.  

Carers and Young 
Carers Strategy (2023-
28) 

5. We will take a neighbourhood approach to all of our prevention activity, to make sure 
services are tailored to local need and culturally appropriate. 

Barnet Borough 
Partnership  

6. We will continue to be a dementia friendly borough and put our dementia strategy into 
action, in partnership with our NHS and other partners. We will focus on prevention, 
diagnosis, living well and dying well with dementia. 

Dementia Strategy 
(2023-28) 

7. We will become an Age-Friendly borough, developing our full action plan, recruiting age 
friendly champions and working with residents, businesses, partners to make Barnet more 
age-friendly. 

Age Friendly Barnet 
action plan 

1. We will support 
people to live well 
and be part of 
communities. 

 

8. We will work with colleagues across the council to better understand what people need 
from  our information and advice offer and change or adapt to make sure this is accessible 
to everyone  

Resident Experience 
and Digital Strategy  

2. We will be ambitious 
about what people 
can achieve and get 
the right support 
for each individual.  

 

1. We will continue to work in a way that builds on people’s strengths, aspirations and 
communities – through making sure we have the right staff, training and systems to support 
these conversations.  

 
 
 

Quality assurance 
framework 

779



 

 

 2. We will improve the experience for young people coming into adult social care, through 
earlier planning and support, working closely with young people, families and professionals 
to get it right first time, and checking in regularly.  

 

 3. We will improve our approach to prioritising and communicating with people before they 
have an assessment or review 

Resident Experience 
and Digital Strategy 

 4. We will establish a new service to support people with self-neglect including hoarding 
behaviours 

 

 5. We will continue improving our reablement service, led by occupational therapists and 
making sure people get a quick review after leaving hospital. 

 

 6. We will continue to quickly respond to safeguarding concerns and conduct investigations 
when these are required. 

Barnet Safeguarding 
Adults Board Strategic 
Plan (2023-26) 

 7. We will move forward with establishing new extra care housing for people with a range of 
different needs  

Market Position 
Statement 

 8. We will continue to work with care providers on supporting people to be as independent as 
possible, including through contract monitoring, support and the right training for front line 
carers. 

 

 9. We will work with care providers to ensure a high quality of services and make sure the 
focus is on people’s wellbeing and meaningful activities 

 

 

 10. We will work with care providers to meet changing and evolving needs of residents, for 
example more services for people requiring urgent or crisis care, and more suitable 
accommodation for all groups 

 

 

 11. We will work with council colleagues and partners to make stronger links between adult 
social care and housing. As part of this we will create more opportunities to separate 
accommodation from care and support where possible. This will mean more choice and 
control over how people are supported and where they live.  

Right Homes strategy  
 
Barnet Housing 
Strategy 

780



 

 

3. We will work with 
people to shape and 
develop care and 
support. 

 

1. We will embed our new feedback system that gives us a better and more immediate 
understanding of people’s experiences of being supported by Barnet council adult social 
care  

 2. We will bring together all our feedback (like complaints, surveys, audits) to better 
understand the bigger picture and make positive changes 

 3. We will increase the number of people involved in the engagement and co-production work 
– both in our People’s Voice community and reaching out to a wider range of people in 
Barnet 

 4. We will make sure that residents are involved in ‘business as usual’ – including recruiting 
new social care staff and developing training 

 
 5. We will continue working with our excellent Involvement Board to make positive changes in 

adult social care  

 6. We will continue with our annual programme of co-production working groups,, focusing on 
topics that will have the biggest impact for people who draw on care & support and carers.  

 7. We will continue to build our relationships with other parts of the council, the NHS and 
other partners to make sure that any feedback, concerns and ideas for change get to the 
right place to make an impact 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Engagement and Co-
Production Strategy and 
Charter for Adult Social 
Care  
 
Community 
Participation Strategy 

4. We will work 
towards more equal 
access and more 
inclusive services. 

1. We will continue to work with colleagues across the council to understand where there are 
inequalities and disproportionate impact on some people  

Equalities Strategy 

 2. We will continue to work with the Mental Health Trust to understand and tackle inequalities 
in mental health 

 

781



 

 

 3. As part of our engagement work we will capture people’s experiences from different parts of 
the community to enable us to better understand and tackle inequalities  

 

 4. We will introduce autism leads in each area with monthly protected time to develop 
resources and train up their teams, and improve the experience of neurodivergent young 
people coming into adult services  

 

 5. We will work with Council colleagues to put into action the findings from recent research 
into disabled people’s experiences in Barnet 

 

 6. We will put into action findings from research with diverse communities of experiences and 
perceptions of safeguarding  

 

 7. We will work with the Involvement Board, People’s Voice group and community groups to 
better understand the differences between people’s experiences and co-design action plans 
to address these. 

 

 8. We will continue to recruit and retain a diverse group of staff who are reflective of the wider 
Barnet community  

Workforce strategy  

5. We will be realistic in 
how we use resources, 
keeping up with 
changes and ways of 
working, and being 
creative with finding 
solutions. 

1. We will continue our improvement, innovation and transformation programmes – always 
looking at areas we could change for the better and having a clear plan about how we will 
make a change  

 

 2. We will continue to make changes to our systems to improve the experience for residents 
and better understand the impact of our work  

 

782



 

 

 3. We will continue to manage our finances so that we have a sustainable budget for the future   

 4. We will continue to focus on having competent, caring and skilled staff and workforce – 
including making sure we are recruiting and keeping good staff and giving good support and 
training.  

 

 5. We will continue to build our care technology service, including rolling out digital 
technology, using new kit, supporting people coming out of hospital and linking with 
people’s existing home technology to support people to stay independent and well at home 

 

 6. We will continue to work together with NHS colleagues to make sure that people’s care and 
support is being funded appropriately, including from Continuing Healthcare Funding  

 

 7. We will keep working together with other public services and with the voluntary and 
community sector, particularly across the wider partnership with the health services 

 

 

783



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 

Cabinet 

Title  Our Plan for Barnet – Delivery and Outcomes Framework, Q3 2023-
24 

Date of meeting 12 March 2024 

Report of Councillor Barry Rawlings, Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Resources and Effective Council 

Wards All 

Status Public  

Key Non-key 

Urgent No 

Appendices Appendix A - Q3 2023-24 Activity Detail 

Appendix B - Q3 2023-24 Performance Detail 

Appendix C - Latest Available Benchmarking Data 

Appendix D - Oflog Metrics with Comparators 

Appendix E - Q3 2023-24 High Level Risks (15+) by Our Plan Theme 

Lead Officer Deborah Hinde, Transformation Director 

Deborah.hinde@barnet.gov.uk  

Officer Contact Details  Alaine Clarke, Head of Programmes, Performance and Risk 

Alaine.clarke@barnet.gov.uk  

Katie Nevin, Corporate Performance and Risk Manager 

Katie.nevin@barnet.gov.uk  

Summary 

This report provides an update on activity and performance for Q3 2023-24 to demonstrate the 
progress being made on delivering the outcomes in Our Plan for Barnet, using the activities and 
performance indicators captured in the Delivery and Outcomes Framework.  

Recommendations 

785

AGENDA ITEM 14

mailto:Deborah.hinde@barnet.gov.uk
mailto:Alaine.clarke@barnet.gov.uk
mailto:Katie.nevin@barnet.gov.uk


1. That Cabinet note the contents of Our Plan for Barnet – Delivery and Outcomes Framework, Q3 
2023-24 Report.  

1. Reasons for the Recommendations 

Background 

1.1 The Delivery and Outcomes Framework sets out the key activities to deliver the outcomes in 
Our Plan for Barnet, along with the performance indicators that show how well we are 
delivering these activities and progress towards achieving the outcomes. This report provides 
an update on that activity and performance for Q3 2023-24 to demonstrate the progress being 
made on delivering the outcomes in Our Plan for Barnet. 

1.2 The report provides an overview for Q3, covering key achievements, strategic challenges, 
performance, residents’ perception and benchmarking/Oflog. More detail can be found in the 
five appendices:  

• Appendix A provides a comprehensive update on the delivery of activities outlined in the 
Delivery and Outcomes Framework for Q3. This also links in performance data to show 
where we are performing well and not so well; and highlights any significant strategic or 
operational risks to delivery (with full details set out in Appendix E). 

• Appendix B sets out performance in detail for the indicators along with the baseline 
position for 2022-23 or latest available period if reported in arrears. Some themes do not 
yet have performance indicators as these are being developed. They will be included in 
future reports once available.  

• Appendix C sets out the latest available benchmarking data from the Public Health 
Outcomes Framework (PHOF), Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework (ASCOF), 
Department for Education and Keep Britain Tidy.  

• Appendix D sets out Barnet’s position for the latest published measures from the Office for 
Local Government (Oflog). 

• Appendix E sets out the high-level (scoring 15+) strategic and service risks by Our Plan 
theme. 

Our Plan for Barnet - key achievements 

2.1 The table below sets out the key achievements by theme for Q3. More detailed progress on 
activities for each theme can be found in Appendix A. 

Caring for People 

Tackling inequality The State of the Borough report was published on the council’s website 
alongside the Equalities Annual Report 2023. These form the evidence base 
for the new Equalities, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) policy, which is being 
developed. 

Work continued on our accreditation as a "Borough of Sanctuary" with the 
Borough of Sanctuary strategy being approved by Cabinet in December 2023.  

 

 
 
 

786



 
Caring for People 

Reducing 
poverty 

6,059 residents used the financial calculator (up to 31 December 2023) and 
34% went on to apply for financial support. 

The Social Value policy was approved by Cabinet in October 2023, and sets out 
a minimum expectation that 5% is reinvested in social value initiatives for all 
contracts above £100k. 

Progress continued on becoming accredited as a London Living Wage 
employer: all non-social care contracts paying the Living Wage have been 
identified and support is being given to the two contracts, who are currently 
not in line with this, to help them meet the target. 

Delivery of the BOOST three year plan continued: 317 residents have now 
started work following their participation in employment projects and 53% of 
residents who undertook BOOST programmes have found employment. 

Family friendly In November 2023, the Young Persons’ Perception Survey and Bright Spots 
Survey were launched. These surveys are carried out periodically to capture the 
views of children and young people in Barnet. The results are used to inform 
the development of services and interventions for children and young people. 

2023 achievement data from Barnet schools shows achievement remains 
strong compared to the national average – in almost all areas Barnet is in the 
top quartile, with GCSE and A Level in the top 5% of the country. For 
Attainment 8 Barnet was ranked third in the country and for Progress 8 Barnet 
was ranked second. 

In October 2023, Barnet Youth Justice Service was awarded the Quality Lead 
Status with a Child First Commendation; this is the highest rating within the 
Youth Justice SEND Award. 

In December 2023, the new Child and Family Social Work Apprenticeship 
Programme was launched and will commence in September 2024. An 
apprenticeship pathway into social work gives an opportunity to widen the 
corridor for those embarking on education and retraining. 

Living well As part of the Autism Action Plan, Talking Therapies started taking referrals for 
therapeutic support for autistic adults who are experiencing mental health 
challenges. 

21 venues now have Dementia Friendly accreditation, including Chipping 
Barnet and Finchley Church End libraries and Copthall, New Barnet and Burnt 
Oak leisure centres. 

Fit and Active Barnet (FAB) card membership reached 44,363 and 394,625 
people visited our leisure centres in Q3. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

787



 
Caring for Our Places 

Safe, attractive 
neighbourhoods 
and town 
centres 

 

To ensure high standards of cleanliness and care across the borough, the 
residential street cleansing target of visiting all roads four times a year is on 
track.  

100% of scheduled community skips were delivered as planned. 

The Highways service continued to demonstrate strong performance in 
effectively managing and addressing all categories of defects throughout the 
network in Q3. The yearly inspection schedule has achieved 100% performance 
for completing all planned monthly inspections and for the second quarter, the 
service exceeded expectations for remedial works, achieving 97.6% against a 
90% target. 

Quality, 
affordable 
homes 

 

Brent Cross West station opened in December 2023 and work continued on 
site. 

The first 142 homes the council acquired in the Colindale Gardens scheme 
were handed over in October 2023 and the first residents moved into the 
properties. 

The £52m fire safety programme for council housing stock is complete, except 
for a small number of properties where access has been difficult, but these are 
not putting the buildings at risk. Barnet Homes are now delivering the low/ 
medium rise property programme. 

A new Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy was approved at Cabinet in 
July 2023. This sets out how the council will prevent homelessness and support 
those who face or are at risk of becoming homeless. The number of 
homelessness preventions was 1028 against a target of 712.  

Borough of fun The Civic and Community Events Policy enables community groups to apply for 
grant funding to put on community events which foster cohesion and celebrate 
culture. 40 events took place in Q3, celebrating occasions such as Silver Week, 
Black History Month and Winter Festivals.  

Following approval of the Events in Parks Policy in March 2023, 60 events took 
place in parks in Q3, with estimated attendance of over 58,000 people. 

The Borough of Culture bid for 2027 was submitted to the GLA and will be 
announced in March 2024. 

The new Culture Strategy was drafted and will be launched in summer 2024. 
Barnet Legends public art and cultural trail, which commemorates cultural 
figures in the borough, was initiated and will be launched in June 2024. 
Planning work began for the London Festival of Architecture which will 
celebrate 20 years this year.  

Fair Play Barnet, the council's first fully inclusive and accessible play area in 
Victoria Recreation Ground (New Barnet) opened in February 2024. 

 
 
 
 
 

788



 
Caring for the Planet 

Journey to net 
zero 

Work to update the council’s carbon baseline for 2022-23 was completed and 
confirmed an overall reduction in carbon emissions. Since the initial baseline in 
2018-19, the council has reduced Scope 1-3 emissions (excluding Supply Chain) 
by around 29%, with two thirds of this originating from electricity emissions. 

As part of the Sustainability Action Plan, retrofit programmes continued to 
progress for residential and non-residential buildings. And, as part of the Public 
Sector Decarbonisation Scheme (PSDS), heat pumps are now live at four sites 
for PSDS1. 

The BarNET ZERO Challenge launched in December 2023 for anyone who 
works, lives or studies in Barnet to win up to £5,000 seed funding for an idea 
that supports the delivery of recommendations from the Citizens' Assembly. 

As part of the Reduction and Recycling Plan, a Flats Behaviour Change Trial 
launched in November 2023 to improve recycling and implement food waste 
collections at four flats sites and will run for 16 weeks. 

A Transport Decarbonisation Study was completed in October 2023 to set a 
decarbonisation pathway for the borough and support the identification of 
priorities within the forthcoming Transport Strategy to enable us to deliver net 
zero ambitions. 

The Air Quality Action Plan 2023-28 was published and outlined the actions the 
council will deliver to reduce concentrations of pollution and exposure to 
pollution. 

Enhancing the 
local 
environment 

As part of the Highways Gulley Programme, scheduled gulley cleaning is at 
99%. 16,948 of 22,348 gulley cleans were completed (72% of the gulley cleans 
year to date). 

The Local Flood Risk Management Strategy was approved by Cabinet in 
September 2023, and the Sustainable Drainage Systems Strategy and Land 
Drainage Bylaws Proposals were approved at Cabinet in January 2024. 

Enhancing green 
spaces 

As part of the development of a new Parks and Open Spaces Strategy and 
Nature Recovery Strategy, assessments of the borough’s Sites of Importance to 
Nature Conservation (SINC) were undertaken, with 12 surveys completed so 
far. 

£624k external funding was awarded via the Forestry Commission and 
Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs to support delivery of the 
Tree Planting Programme. 1135 trees have been planted, exceeding the annual 
target of 1000, including trees at the regeneration sites in Ballards Lane and 
Mill Hill Broadway, Cherry Tree Woods and on behalf of the Friends of Halliwick 
Park. In addition, 82 residents took up the opportunity to have a tree planted 
at individual residential sites as part of the Trees for Streets sponsorship. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

789



 
Engaged and Effective Council 

Community 
participation 

Following the Leader Listens events, an annual report has been completed on 
the successes and learnings of the events, as well as recommendations to 
improve the programme. The report was discussed with the Leader in January 
2024 and a new programme of events will be scheduled, which are likely to 
have a stronger synergy with community engagement and community 
cohesion work. 

Following the enablement of the hybrid meeting functionality at Hendon Town 
Hall, 50 participants (council staff and partners) joined meetings remotely in 
Q3; subject to proof of concept and stability of hybrid meeting system, the 
intention is to roll out remote participation to residents. 

Working in 
partnership 

The Barnet Together Alliance is a cross-sector partnership to develop and build 
capacity for Barnet’s Voluntary, Community, Faith and Social Enterprise 
(VCFSE) sector, enabling the borough to strengthen, innovate and thrive. The 
council continued to engage with partners to deliver more borough-wide 
services and opportunities, for example, working in partnership with New 
Citizens Gateway to provide online training for partners from across the sector 
on issues related to asylum seekers and refugees. This training enabled 
partners to understand the unique challenges faced by asylum seekers, 
refugees and services and identify how we can work together to support them. 

The Barnet Partnership Board, which brings together public, private and 
voluntary organisations, met in November 2023, where partners discussed 
their contributions to Barnet’s sustainability journey and the ongoing Deaf and 
Hard of Hearing Project being delivered by the council. In Q4 there will be a 
review of the board to ensure it can facilitate effective partnership working and 
collaboration.  

Neighbourhood 
working  

The Grahame Park pathfinder project is being used as a concept piece to create 
an established Neighbourhood Working model that can be deployed 
throughout the borough. The Reimagine the Concourse engagement project 
continued in Q3: the community has identified uses for two vacant commercial 
units - one will be a cafe and the other a "service hub" to provide a base from 
which the council and its partners can provide face-to-face access to services, 
including housing, the police and benefits advice. Work has progressed on the 
design and conversion of the units.  

The estate has been an early site for adoption of the "Clear Hold Build" 
initiative, which is designed to Clear an area of criminal activity through 
intensive policing; Hold the position by working with partners to prevent other 
criminals from filling the void; and Build community resilience to reduce the 
risk of future criminal activity. 

 

 

 

 

 

790



 

Engaged and Effective Council 

Improving access 
to services 

Further improvements to the contact centre platform went live, allowing the 
routing of repeat callers to proactively manage where issues are not resolved 
first time. Functionality has been added to proactively route residents requiring 
extra support and the ability for customer service advisors to proactively 
identify signposting for digital inclusion and other initiatives. The impact of this 
is shown in the customer satisfaction score for telephony experience, which 
remains high at 93.1%. 

Development started on new designs for the council’s website. These were 
designed in consultation with residents and services to provide more flexibility 
and visual layouts. There was a 10.6 percentage point increase in web-
satisfaction between October (68.0%) and December (78.6%) 2023. 

The co-location of BOOST, Customer Services and Financial Support teams is 
being piloted at Burnt Oak and Chipping Barnet. The teams are now capturing 
demand data in a more consistent way so they can signpost residents to the 
right support, where residents need more in-depth support across service. 

Financially 
responsible 

The proposed budget for 2024-25 and the council’s Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS) for 2024-30 was presented to Cabinet on 6 February 2024. It 
showed a balanced position for 2024-25 with no use of reserves and was 
approved by Full Council on 27 February 2024. 

A great place to 
work 

Work continued on the Conditions for Success project in Children’s Services to 
improve the working environment and working practices for staff. Engagement 
with key stakeholders across the organisation and differing service areas has 
taken place to establish the day-to-day issues faced by staff which may be 
preventing them to easily enter the building and ‘sit down to do their job’. A 
log of identified issues has been compiled and assigned to key areas of the 
business to work towards a solution.  

The EDI action plan, which was developed in 2022-23, continued to be 
implemented and monthly monitoring is in place via the EDI Steering Group. 
The action plan was audited in Q3 and confirmed that the Steering Group was 
having a positive effect in ensuring delivery of the action plan. 

 

Strategic challenges 

3.1 This section sets out some of the strategic challenges for Q3. 

3.2 The council continued to face financial challenges from the rising demand for services, against 
the backdrop of rising inflationary costs in the sector. The projected overspend for 2023-24 was 
reported as £19.763m (a reduction of £6.089m from Q2) in the Chief Finance Officer (Q3 2023-
24) report to Cabinet on 6 February 2024. A Financial Sustainability Board was set up to 
oversee recovery plan actions and service demand mitigations. Opportunities for additional 
income realisation and cost mitigation were also being explored, alongside possible efficiencies 
identified via the Transformation Strategy.  

3.3 Work continued on the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS), with the Business Planning 
2024-2030 report going to Cabinet on 6 February 2024. This report outlines some of the 
pressures facing services and gives an overview of the work undertaken towards a balanced 

791

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s81924/CFO%20Financial%20Monitoring%20Report%20Q3%202023-24.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s81924/CFO%20Financial%20Monitoring%20Report%20Q3%202023-24.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s81908/Business%20Planning%202024-2030.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s81908/Business%20Planning%202024-2030.pdf


budget for 2024-25 and, to reduce the gap, the savings requirement for 2025-26 to 2029-30. It 
also highlights some of the financial risks being faced by services such as in Adult Social Care, 
Children’s Services and Housing (temporary accommodation). Some of these risks have been 
flagged as high-level (scoring 15+) and can be seen in Appendix E.  

3.4 In light of the financial challenges, the Transformation Programme was refocused to prioritise 
PMO resources and oversight on MTFS projects. A review of the Tier 1 workstreams has taken 
place, which tracked progress on the initial activities and produced an updated plan for the 
next six months. Following this, some workstreams have been moved to ‘business as usual’ and 
monitoring will now sit with the service area and be reported less frequently to the PMO and 
Council Management Team. Tier 1 workstreams will continue to be Tackling inequalities, 
Neighbourhood working, Improving access to services and A great place to work; and now 
Financially responsible, which will track delivery of MTFS savings, including digital 
transformation work and areas where transformation resources have been provided. 

3.5 Oracle Cloud (replacement HR and Finance system) has diverted staff resources from these 
services for the final phase of implementation before going live in April 2024. Capacity within 
the HR team has also been impacted by a need to focus resources on relations with local trade 
unions and TUPE transfers, which together have posed some challenges to the progress of 
activities under ‘A great place to work’ theme.  

Our Plan for Barnet - performance  

4.1 This section provides a summary of performance for Q3. More detail on the indicators for each 
theme, including baseline data and results for the past two quarters, can be found in Appendix 
B. 

4.2 There are 114 indicators in total of which 56 are reported on quarterly and six are reported on 
annually but the latest data became available during Q3, so are included in Appendix B. 21 of 
these currently have targets and 19 of these achieved or exceeded that target in Q3. Two 
indicators (Number of visits across Better leisure facilities and % of tenanted council properties 
compliant with the Decent Homes Standard) did not achieve the target; the reasons for this are 
set out in the performance tables in Appendix B and under the relevant theme commentary in 
Appendix A (Living well and Quality affordable homes).  

Adults and Children’s - performance 

5.1 Quarterly performance for Adults and Children’s social care is reported separately to Adults 
and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committee and Children and Education Overview and 
Scrutiny Sub-Committee respectively.  

5.2 The Q2 report for Adults was presented at committee on 24 January 2024 and covered 
progress on implementation of the Dementia Strategy and Carers’ Strategy, an update on new 
Care Quality Commission Assurance Process for councils, and the 2022-23 data from the Adult 
Social Care Outcomes Framework (ASCOF). A link to the report is included here: 
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s81644/ASC%20Q2%20Performance%20Report%
202023-24%20Final%20v1.pdf. The Q3 report is due to be presented at the meeting on 6 
March 2024.  

5.3 The latest Family Services Quarterly Update was presented at committee on 15 January 2024 
and included the latest available Children's Services Analysis Tool (ChAT), covering the period 
May to November 2023. A link to the report is available here: 

792

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s81644/ASC%20Q2%20Performance%20Report%202023-24%20Final%20v1.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s81644/ASC%20Q2%20Performance%20Report%202023-24%20Final%20v1.pdf


https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s81468/Quarterly%20FS%20Update%20Committ
ee%20Report%20Final.pdf  

5.4 Key points to note about performance in this period included:  

• Performance remained relatively stable across the majority of all key indicators, when 
compared to the same reporting period in the previous year and the previous six month 
period.  

• There were 1408 referrals to Children’s Social Care in the period April to November 2023 
which was a 5.5% increase from the 1334 reported in the previous six months, although 
10% lower than the same period in 2022 (1580). 

• 68% of Social Work Assessments were completed within the recommended 45-day 
timescale in the reporting period, this was a small improvement from the same time last 
year and was reflective of a period where assessments took longer to complete due to 
staffing challenges in the Duty and Assessment Teams.  

• Performance on staying in touch with 17-18 year olds and 19-21 year olds remained at 
100% and accommodation suitability remained high for both cohorts at 99% and 97% 
respectively. 

Residents’ perception  

6.1 Understanding how residents perceive the council is an important component of Our Plan for 
Barnet. We have residents’ perception data on most of the themes, consisting of data from the 
last Adults Residents’ Perception Survey (RPS) and other forms of resident feedback (such as 
the Adult Social Care Survey, Barnet Homes Survey, Greenwich Leisure Ltd (GLL) User Survey 
and My Say Matters).   

6.2 Of the 114 indicators in the Delivery and Outcomes Framework, 20 are residents’ perception 
indicators. The latest results for these indicators were included in both the Q1 and Q2 reports 
to Cabinet. However, due to the nature of collecting the data (often annually or biennially), the 
latest data for the Adults RPS (14 of 20 indicators) is from Q3 2021-22 (when the survey was 
last carried out) and the latest data for the Adults Social Care Survey and GLL User Survey (two 
of 20 indicators) is from 2022-23. 

6.3 The council is currently refreshing the Adults Residents’ Perception Survey and Young People’s 
Perception Survey to find out the views of adults and young people on local services and 
various aspects of life in their local area. The surveys will close in March 2024, with the results 
published in summer 2024. More information can be found on Engage Barnet.  

6.4 Data from the last Adults Residents Perception Survey (2021-22) for the indicators included in 
the Delivery and Outcomes Framework is set out in the table below and will be used as a 
comparator for the refreshed data to see how the views of adults have changed in the past few 
years. The full report for 2021-22 can be found on Engage Barnet here: Adults Residents’ 
Perception Survey 2021-22. The results for the Young Persons Survey 2021-22 were reported to 
Barnet Children's Partnership Board on 13 July 2022 and can be found here: Young Persons 
Survey 2021-22. 

 

 

 

 

793

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s81468/Quarterly%20FS%20Update%20Committee%20Report%20Final.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s81468/Quarterly%20FS%20Update%20Committee%20Report%20Final.pdf
https://engage.barnet.gov.uk/
https://engage.barnet.gov.uk/12817/widgets/59504/documents/35315
https://engage.barnet.gov.uk/12817/widgets/59504/documents/35315
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=456
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s73443/Barnet%20Young%20Person%20Survey%202022%20full%20presentation%20with%20segmentation%20analysis%20for%20Young%20People%20Partn.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s73443/Barnet%20Young%20Person%20Survey%202022%20full%20presentation%20with%20segmentation%20analysis%20for%20Young%20People%20Partn.pdf


 
Theme Indicator Title % 

Caring for People 

Tackling 
inequalities 

% of residents who agree that their local area is a place where people 
from different backgrounds get on well together? 

88 

% of residents who agree the council promotes equal opportunities for 
all and equal access to quality services 

67 

Caring for Our Places 

Safe, attractive 
neighbourhoods 
and town centres 

% of residents satisfied with street cleansing  58 

Perception of crime/ASB - % of residents who see these things as a 
problem / concern  

25 

% of residents satisfied with refuse and recycling services  80 

Borough of fun % of residents who agree that LBB is making the local area a better 
place for people to live 

68 

Caring for the Planet 

Enhancing the local 
environment 

% of residents satisfied with refuse and recycling services 80 

Engaged and Effective Council 

Improving access 
to services 

% of residents who agree LBB is improving their customer services  57 

% of residents who agree that it is easy to access council services  64 

% of residents who agree that LBB promotes equal access to quality 
services  

67 

Community 
participation 

% of residents who feel Barnet Council keeps residents informed about 
what they are doing  

70 

% of residents who feel Barnet Council listens to concerns of local 
residents  

New 

% of residents who feel Barnet Council involves residents when making 
decisions 

56 

% of residents who feel Barnet Council acts on the concerns of local 
residents 

57 

 
6.5 The latest data for the Adults Social Care Survey and GLL User Survey is for 2022-23; whilst the 

data for the Barnet Homes Survey is for Q2 2023-24 and the Contact Centre (Capita) is for Q3 
2023-24. The data for the indicators included in the Delivery and Outcomes Framework is set 
out in the table below. Similarly, this data will be used as a comparator to see how residents’ 
views change over time. 

Theme Indicator Title Period % 

Caring for People 

Living well Proportion of people who use services who say that 
those services have made them feel safe and secure 

2022-23 88.2 

Overall customer experience (out of 5) (GLL User Survey)  2022-23 77 

Caring for Our Places 

Quality, affordable 
homes 

% of council tenants who report that they are satisfied 
that their home is well-maintained  

Q2 2023-24 57.1 

% of council tenants who report that they are satisfied 
that their home is safe to live in  

Q2 2023-24 65.7 

 

 

794



 
Engaged and Effective Council 

Improving access 
to services 

% of customers who are satisfied with the telephony 
experience 

Q3 2023-24 93.1 

% of customers who are satisfied with the service on the 
web 

Q3 2023-24 72.5 

 
6.6 The My Say Matters strategy is central to the Family friendly theme. Its implementation has 

resulted in an increased volume of feedback from children, young people, and families across 
all service areas. This feedback has been incorporated in planning practitioner training and 
developing services that align with the expressed needs of families. Participation and co-
production, which were initially led by the participation team, are now being more consistently 
embedded across the service and practitioners are becoming increasingly involved in leading 
areas of this work. The My Say Matters annual report went to the Children and Education 
Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committee in June 2023 (My Say Matters Update). 

6.7 As well as understanding how residents perceive the council, resident feedback is invaluable in 
influencing our decision-making process. The Engage Barnet platform gives residents the 
opportunity to participate in discussions and consultations in order to help how services are 
shaped and developed. During Q3, 20 consultations/engagement projects were live covering 
topics such as the London Borough of Culture bid 2027, Fees and charges for 2024/25, Changes 
to the Free Early Years Childcare Offer and the West Hendon Playing Fields project. In addition, 
24 closed consultations/engagement projects published how feedback from residents was 
being used during Q3. This is available at https://engage.barnet.gov.uk/we-asked-you-said-we-
did.  

Benchmarking / Oflog 

7.1 Benchmarking data for the indicators in the Delivery and Outcomes Framework is limited 
because many of the indicators are specific to Barnet, or data from other local authorities is not 
publicly available. However, where information could be sourced, this has been included in 
Appendix C and this aspect of the reporting will be developed further over the coming year. 

7.2 Four themes have benchmarking data: Tackling inequalities, Living well, Family friendly and 
Safe, attractive neighbourhoods and town centres. 

Caring for People 

Tackling 
inequalities 

Six indicators included from the Public Health Dashboard, with all indicators 
better or on par with the London average. 

Living well Ten indicators included from the Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework. 
Most indicators are better or on par with the 'peer group comparator', 
except: - Proportion of adults in contact with secondary mental health 
services living independently, with or without support; and Proportion of 
people who use services who say that those services have made them feel 
safe and secure.   

Family friendly Three indicators included from the Department for Education annual 
performance statistics, all of which are performing well nationally. 

Caring for Our Places 

Safe, attractive 
neighbourhoods 
and town centres 

Four indicators from Keep Britain Tidy, with all performing well against the 
London Benchmark or Barnet’s result in 2019-20. 

 

795

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s78340/My%20Say%20Matters%20Update.pdf
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fengage.barnet.gov.uk%2Fwe-asked-you-said-we-did&data=05%7C02%7CAlaine.Clarke%40Barnet.gov.uk%7C976ca539f45b448751b908dc3203a282%7C1ba468b914144675be4f53c478ad47bb%7C0%7C0%7C638440238399948984%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=38uoua93JC7zfUnTfpYBKstYw0A%2BoXyhpmYhtEvZZp8%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fengage.barnet.gov.uk%2Fwe-asked-you-said-we-did&data=05%7C02%7CAlaine.Clarke%40Barnet.gov.uk%7C976ca539f45b448751b908dc3203a282%7C1ba468b914144675be4f53c478ad47bb%7C0%7C0%7C638440238399948984%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=38uoua93JC7zfUnTfpYBKstYw0A%2BoXyhpmYhtEvZZp8%3D&reserved=0


7.3 Following the launch of the new online tool - Local Authority Data Explorer for the Office for 
Local Government (Oflog)1 - Barnet's data for the selected metrics has been set out in 
Appendix D along with comparative data for the borough's Nearest Neighbours2 and the 
England median. 

7.4 There are four areas relevant to Barnet covered by the Local Authority Data Explorer3: Adult 
Social Care, Waste Management, Planning and Finance. The most recent data reported covers 
the financial year of 2021-22, and whilst this still has use for comparing authorities against each 
other, the values reported are nearly two years out of date. 

7.5 In Adult Social Care (linked to the ‘Caring for People’ theme), Barnet performed broadly similar 
with its Nearest Neighbours in 2021-22, except: 

• The proportion of people who received short-term services during the year – who 
previously were not receiving services – where no further request was made for ongoing 
support’ - 54.50% in Barnet, compared to the median of its Nearest Neighbours at 77.40%. 

7.6 In Waste Management (linked to the ‘Caring for Our Places’, and ‘Caring for Our Planet’ 
themes), Barnet performed less well in 2021-22 than the median of its Nearest Neighbours for 
all indicators: 

• Proportion of household waste sent for recycling – 29.80% in Barnet compared to median 
of 38.40% against its Nearest Neighbours. 

• Residual (i.e. non-recycled) waste per household (tonnes) – 653.9kg per household in 
Barnet compared to median of 517.9 kg per household against its Nearest Neighbours. 

• Contamination rate of recycling – 8.30% in Barnet compared to the median of 5.10% for its 
Nearest Neighbours. 

7.7 In Finance (linked to the ‘Engaged and Effective Council’ theme), Barnet was broadly similar or 
better than its nearest neighbours, with three indicators performing less well: 

• Social care spend as % of Core Spending Power – 72.30% in Barnet compared to the median 
of 63.70% for its Nearest Neighbours. 

• Council tax collection rates (in year) – 94.50% in Barnet compared to the median of 96.40% 
for its Nearest Neighbours. 

• Non-domestic rates collection rates (in year) – 90.80% in Barnet compared to the median of 
95.10% for its Nearest Neighbours.   

7.8 In Planning (linked to the ‘Engaged and Effective Council’ theme), Barnet performed broadly 
similar in two indicators, and less well in the other two compared to its Nearest Neighbours: 

• Percentage of major planning applications decided on time – 82.40% in Barnet compared to 
the median of 92.30% for its Nearest Neighbours. 

• Percentage of non-major planning overturned on appeal – 2.80% in Barnet compared to the 
median of 1.60% for its Nearest Neighbours. 

 
 

 
1 This tool brings together a selection of existing metrics across a subset of service areas for data that is available at 
different levels of local authority. Further service areas will be added, and existing areas expanded, as the metrics are 
developed. 
2 Nearest neighbours in terms of economic and demographics. 
3 The Oflog Data Explorer also includes information on Adult Skills and Roads, however this is not available at local 
authority level for Barnet, so is not included.      

796



2. Alternative Options Considered and Not Recommended 

2.1 None.  

3. Post Decision Implementation 

3.1 None. 

4. Corporate Priorities, Performance and Other Considerations 

Corporate Plan 

4.1 This report provides an update on activity and performance for Q2 2023-24 to demonstrate the 
progress that is being made on delivering against the outcomes the council has committed to 
working towards in Our Plan for Barnet, using the activities and performance indicators 
captured in the Delivery and Outcomes Framework.  

4.2 The purpose of the Delivery and Outcomes Framework is to answer the “so what?” question, 
the presumption being that the successful delivery of defined activities will have a positive 
impact on outcomes for residents. 

Corporate Performance / Outcome Measures 

4.3 The Delivery and Outcomes Framework is the means through which we provide assurance that 
the council’s priorities are being delivered as planned and highlight any potential areas of 
concern.  It focuses on the key activities being carried out under each theme and the most 
appropriate way of measuring the progress and impact of these activities.  This includes a 
combination of Outcome Indicators that measure impact (e.g. percentage of residents who 
report that it is easy to access council services), Key Performance Indicators that measure 
activity (e.g. percentage of cases resolved using self-service via online forms and automated 
phone lines) and a narrative on progress against key activities. 

Sustainability  

4.4 There are no direct impacts on sustainability from noting the recommendations. 

Corporate Parenting  

4.5 In July 2016, the Government published their Care Leavers’ strategy Keep on Caring which 
outlined that the ‘‘… [the government] will introduce a set of corporate parenting principles 
that will require all departments within a local authority to recognise their role as corporate 
parents, encouraging them to look at the services and support that they provide through the 
lens of what a reasonable parent would do to support their own children.’  

4.6 The corporate parenting principles set out seven principles that local authorities must have 
regard to when exercising their functions in relation to looked after children and young people, 
as follows:  

• To act in the best interests, and promote the physical and mental health and well-being, of 
those children and young people 

• To encourage those children and young people to express their views, wishes and feelings 

• To take into account the views, wishes and feelings of those children and young people 

• To help those children and young people gain access to, and make the best use of, services 
provided by the local authority and its relevant partners 

797



• To promote high aspirations, and seek to secure the best outcomes, for those children and 
young people 

• For those children and young people to be safe, and for stability in their home lives, 
relationships and education or work 

• To prepare those children and young people for adulthood and independent living. 

4.7 This report provides an update on activities across the council in relation to Our Plan for 
Barnet. Any implications to corporate parenting would be considered by the appropriate 
service and incorporated into decision making as required. There are no direct impacts on 
corporate parenting from noting the recommendations.  

Risk Management 

4.8 The council has an established approach to risk management, which is set out in the Risk 
Management Framework.  Risks are reviewed quarterly (as a minimum) and the high-level 
(scoring 15+) risks for Q3 are included in this report in Appendix A and E, as well as being 
reported to GARMS as part of a wider corporate risk report.  

4.9 The risks have been mapped to the pillars and themes of Our Plan for Barnet.  However, many 
relate to ‘business as usual’ activity rather than specific activities outlined in Our Plan for 
Barnet.  In Q3, there were 18 high-level (scoring 15+) risks.  

Insight 

4.10 In developing Our Plan for Barnet, insight and intelligence data has been used to identify 
priorities and support decision-making. The Delivery and Outcomes Framework brings together 
data from across the organisation into one place, allowing a comprehensive view of progress 
and performance against the pillars and themes of Our Plan for Barnet. Once the Delivery and 
Outcomes Framework has been established, analysis of the data will include comparison 
against external benchmarking data to help identify areas of best practise or where further 
focus might be required.  

4.11 Benchmarking data for the indicators in the Delivery and Outcomes Framework is limited 
because many of the indicators are specific to Barnet, or data from other local authorities is not 
publicly available. However, where information could be sourced, this has been included in 
Appendix C and this aspect of the reporting will be developed further over the coming year. 

4.12 Following the launch of the new online tool - Local Authority Data Explorer for the Office for 
Local Government (Oflog)4 - Barnet's data for the selected metrics have been included in 
Appendix D along with comparative data for the borough's Nearest Neighbours and the 
England median.  

Social Value 

4.13 The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2013 requires people who commission public services to 
think about how they can also secure wider social, economic and environmental benefits.  

5. Resource Implications (Finance and Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT 
and Property)  

5.1 A budget report is provided separately to Cabinet. 

 
4 This tool brings together a selection of existing metrics across a subset of service areas for data that is available at 
different levels of local authority. Further service areas will be added, and existing areas expanded, as the metrics are 
developed. 

798



6. Legal Implications and Constitution References  

6.1 In accordance with the Council Constitution, Part 2D, Section 1 the terms of reference of the 
Cabinet state that “The Executive will exercise all of the local authority functions which are not 
the responsibility of any other part of the local authority, whether by law or under this 
Constitution.” It also includes the following responsibility: 

• Approving policies that are not part of the policy framework. 

7. Consultation  

7.1 Obtaining resident feedback has formed part of the development of Our Plan for Barnet and 
there are a number of performance indicators from the Residents’ Perception Survey in the 
Delivery and Outcomes Framework. This helps to inform service delivery, service development 
and service improvement. 

8. Equalities and Diversity  

8.1 The Equality Act 2010 requires organisations exercising public functions to demonstrate that 
due regard has been paid to equalities in: 

• Elimination of unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited by the Equality Act 2010. 

• Advancement of equality of opportunity between people from different groups.  

• Fostering of good relations between people from different groups.  

8.2 The Equality Act 2010 identifies the following protected characteristics: age; disability; gender 
reassignment; marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; 
sex and sexual orientation. 

8.3 In order to assist in meeting the duty the council will:  

• Try to understand the diversity of our customers to improve our services. 

• Consider the impact of our decisions on different groups.  

 This is also what we expect of our partners. 

8.4 This is set out in the council’s Equalities Policy, which can be found on the website at:  
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-performance/equality-and-
diversity  

9. Background Papers 

9.1 Our Plan for Barnet: 
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s76605/Barnet%20Corporate%20Plan%202023-
26.pdf   

 

799

https://www.barnet.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-performance/equality-and-diversity
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-performance/equality-and-diversity
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s76605/Barnet%20Corporate%20Plan%202023-26.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s76605/Barnet%20Corporate%20Plan%202023-26.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A - Q3 2023-24 Activity Detail 

1 

 

 

1. Tackling inequality 

1.1 This theme has three outcomes: there are equal opportunities for 
all, and equal access to quality services, based on need; residents 
live healthy, happy and long lives; and the council makes Barnet 
the healthiest borough in London where everyone who lives, 
works or studies locally can achieve their full health and wellbeing 
potential.  

1.2 The council knows there is a need for structural change and new 
policies to address inequalities, not just one-off interventions, and 
as a result, a new Equalities, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) Policy is 
being developed. The State of the Borough report was completed 
and published on the council’s website alongside the Equalities 
Annual Report 2023i; these form part of the evidence base for the 
new EDI Policy. 

1.3 Phase Two of the Resident Engagement Programme on the new EDI 
Policy was completed in Q3. This engaged people with a range of 
protected characteristics, through open residents’ workshops and 
targeted sessions with voluntary groups to seek views on the 
priorities for the new policy. A report for Cabinet on the outcome of 
the engagement exercise is being prepared in Q4. 

1.4 The 2021-22 Residents’ Perception Survey showed that disabled 
residents are significantly less likely to be satisfied across a number 
of key indicators, compared to residents without a disability. To 
investigate these findings in-depth, in Q2, the Tackling the Gaps 
Working Group commissioned a specialised ethnographic research 
company to conduct a research study to understand the lived 
experiences of disabled residents. A report on the council’s 
proposed response to this research is scheduled for submission to 

 

 the next meeting of the Tackling the Gaps Working Group on 6 
March 2024.  

1.5 Work continued towards applying for Barnet to be accredited as a 
"Borough of Sanctuary". On 12 December 2023, the Borough of 
Sanctuary Strategyii was approved by Cabinet; and the Borough of 
Sanctuary Network continued to meet in person to develop the 
council’s Borough of Sanctuary application and identify projects to 
collaborate on throughout the year.  

1.6 Digital inclusion is an area of focus within this theme and work in 
2023-24 is centred on sustaining the Digital Inclusion Co-ordination 
services delivered by BOOST (the employment, benefit advice, skills 
and wellbeing project to help Barnet residents), including improved 
support for digital skills and improved awareness of affordable 
connectivity options and devices. A comprehensive Digital Inclusion 
newsletter went out to partners during Get Online Week (16 to 22 
October 2023). BOOST celebrated Get Online Week with a 
campaign led by the Good Things Foundation. Barnet Council, 
Barnet Libraries, BOOST and community groups showcased 25 
digital skills workshops and events, shedding light on the 
importance of digital inclusion and empowering residents to get 
online. The campaign also showcased various digital inclusion 
offerings including free SIM cards, free broadband, volunteering 
opportunities and accredited IT courses. In Q3, 213 residents 
attended support and drop in sessions across the borough, 102 free 
SIM cards were distributed, and 83 devices were gifted to residents.  

1.7 The council aims to make Barnet the healthiest borough in London 
and key to this is tackling health inequalities so that life expectancy, 
and the number of years people spend living in good health, is not 
varied between different areas. Working together with partners, 

This pillar of Our Plan for Barnet has four themes: Tackling inequality, Reducing poverty, Family friendly and 
Living well 

Caring for People 

801



2 

 

Barnet’s Health and Wellbeing Strategyiii has been developed, 
which is committed to reducing health inequalities and the 
contributing factors to ill health or “wider determinates of health”. 
The Health and Wellbeing Strategy continued to be delivered in Q3. 
As well as delivery to support digital inequality and asylum seeker 
health, delivery highlights this quarter included a Food Summit 
which cemented the work being undertaken to improve food 
security and quality and a new round of Prevention Fund projects 
agreed which will help embed preventative approaches in service 
delivery being led by different council departments. In addition, the 
suicide rate in Barnet has fallen for the second year in a row to 4.2 
deaths per 100,000 population.  

Performance 

1.8 Good performance for this theme, with most indicators showing an 
improvement on the baseline whilst a couple are performing less 
well. 

Performing well  

• 21 venues in Barnet classed by the Alzheimer's Society as 
Dementia Friendly – up from 12 in 2022/23 

• 5,969 people in contact with Social Prescribers/Prevention and 
Wellbeing Co-ordinators (year to date) – on track to match 7,521 
in 2022/23 

• 288 people have been trained Mental Health Champions in the 
community this quarter – on track to match/be up from 300 in 
2022/23 

• 83 schools on the Resilient Schools Network – up from 81 in 
2022/23 

• 27% of the eligible population aged 40-74 offered an NHS Health 
Check who received one – slightly up from 26.9% in 2022/23 

• 107 businesses involved in Healthier High Streets programme – up 
from 52 in 2022/23 

• 96 health and wellbeing events taken place in libraries - new 
measure 

Performing less well 

• 49% of people quit smoking after using a Local Authority funded 
or delivered service – down from 54.3% in 2022/23 

• 43,005 people have used the Food Bank and Healthy Start – 
higher than 36,289 in 2022/23 

Risks 

1.9 Risks for this theme covering EDI and public health (e.g. pandemic 
type disease) are being managed effectively – none are scored at a 
high-level (15+). 

  

802



3 

 

2. Reducing poverty 

2.1 This theme focuses on delivering the outcomes of reduced poverty 
in our communities; the council, contractors and local businesses 
and partners pay the living wage; and residents are engaged in 
employment.  

2.2 Following the launch of Barnet's new financial calculatoriv in Q1, 
residents continued to make use of the tool to identify further 
financial support available to them. As at 31 December 2023, 6,059 
residents have fully completed the calculator, with 34% then going 
on to click through to apply for financial support identified. The 
Google Translate function has been included in the calculator to 
make it more accessible, covering all languages listed in Barnet's 
2021 Census. In order to further support residents, outreach 
sessions at Chipping Barnet and Burnt Oak libraries were launched 
on 5 December 2023 and analysis of data from the calculator 
continued to understand where support could be targeted in 
future.  

2.3 Following the approval of the updated Social Value Policyv at 
Cabinet on 18 October 2023, the implementation stage commenced 
on 1 November 2023. This will contribute to reducing poverty and 
inequalities, supporting the local economy, creating more jobs and 
learning opportunities, and protecting and improving the 
environment. One of the objectives for the new policy is a minimum 
expectation of 5% reinvested in social value initiatives for all 
contracts above £100k, and the inclusion of Liquidated Damages 
Clauses (which have been developed by HB Public Law) are 

 
1 The UKSPF is the government's domestic replacement for the European Structural and 
Investment Programme (ESIF). It provides local authorities funding for communities, 
places, businesses, people and skills. 

expected to improve compliance in the supply chain, as this enables 
the council to seek compensation for non-delivery of social value 
commitments. 

2.4 Progress continued towards becoming accredited as a London 
Living Wage employer in Q3: all non-social care contracts paying the 
living wage have been identified and only two contracts are now 
not in line with the living wage; work is continuing to support them 
to meet the target. In Adult Social Care and Children’s Services, the 
living wage is being paid to a large number of contracts, a mapping 
exercise commenced to identify the shortfall required to meet living 
wage and we are continuing to work closely with the Living Wage 
Foundation to determine the most appropriate route for managing 
our accreditation. The economic development team are currently 
developing an employer engagement programme to launch an 
accreditation awareness campaign with local businesses in Barnet. 

2.5 Delivery of the BOOST (employment, benefit advice, skills and 
wellbeing project to help Barnet residents) three year plan 
continued in Q3 with the following highlights: in October 2023, 
Barnet Homes' new cohort of apprentices were inducted and a  
Health and Social Care recruitment event was held at the RAF 
Museum which saw 198 visitors and 38 exhibitors; the Mayors 
Academy for Health and Social Care confirmed that Barnet are the 
highest performer for jobs and in December 2023, £45k was 
secured from UKSPF (UK Shared Prosperity Fund1) to reimburse for 
the last Business Startup project.  

2.6 As a result of the support given by BOOST, as at the end of Q3, 317 
residents have now started work following their participation in 

803



4 

 

employment projects and 53% of residents who undertook BOOST 
programmes found employment, which has exceeded last year’s 
result where 50% found employment.  

2.7     To support young people aged 16-24, a range of advice and 
interventions have been delivered to over 155 young people, 
resulting in ten moving into education and further training, 38 
finding work and five young people starting apprenticeships. Work 
also continued with parents, charities and youth organisations to 
support those young people who struggle with finances to access 
training, transport to college or work and bursaries for resources to 
help them into employment. 

2.8 Good progress continued in Q3 on converting the old Argos site in 
Edgware into a construction and green skills centre in Barnet. The 
intention is that the centre will be the flagship element of the skills 
and employment offer for Edgware regeneration programme with 
strong links to Brent Cross. The site is on track to open in March 
2024. Work continued to determine how the vacant front area of 
the building will be used and whether there is an opportunity for 
council support services to use the space or open it up to other 
stakeholders. 

Performance 

2.9 Mixed performance for this theme, with some indicators showing 
an improvement on the baseline whilst others are performing less 
well. 

Performing well  

• £1.723m financial support awarded to residents (year to date) – 
new measure 

• 34% of residents completing the financial calculator go on to visit 
webpages to apply for national benefits (year to date) – new 
measure 

• 10 locations offering employment support services – new measure 

• 56 job starts in Growth Sectors – new measure 

• 43 businesses and partners paying the London Living Wage – up 
from 39 in 2022/23 

• 53% residents finding employment after undertaking BOOST 
programme - up from 50% in 2022/23 

Performing less well 

• 317 job starts following employment projects (year to date), down 
slightly from same time last year (509 in 2022/23) 

• 64 jobs sustained for three months – down from same time last 
year (293 in 2022/23) 

• 1150 families in temporary accommodation – higher than 1108 in 
2022/23 

• 78.9% of council tax is collected in year (previously council tax 
collection has been reported as a 4-year collection rate; however 
for this theme the in year collection rate is more appropriate) 

• 69% of Barnet residents are employed – down from 76.5% in 
2022/23 

Risks 

2.10 Risks for this theme are being managed effectively – none are 
scored at a high-level (15+). 

  

804



5 

 

3. Family friendly 

3.1 There are five outcomes for this theme: there is excellent 
education for all; children have their best start in life and are 
ready for learning; children and young people have good social, 
physical and mental wellbeing; young people are engaged in 
learning and work post 16; and young people are safe and secure.  

3.2 The latest Family Services Quarterly Updatevi was presented at the 
Children and Education Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committee on 
15 January 2024.  

3.3 In November 2023, the Young Persons’ Perception Survey (YPS)vii 
was launched. This takes places every two years in Barnet and 
involves interviews with 500 young people to understand how 
family-friendly they think Barnet is and what their views are of the 
council and its services. The findings from the last survey were 
incorporated into our Children and Young People’s Plan.  

3.4 The last survey revealed that children and young people with a 
disability are less likely to say they are happy with their local area as 
a place to live and would like support to help them live happy and 
fulfilled lives. To support the council in responding to the needs of 
disabled children and young people, a study was commissioned to 
capture the voices and experiences of disabled children and young 
people who live and study in Barnet. Key messages from the report 
were the importance of creating environments where trusted and 
peer relationships can flourish; a whole person approach during 
transitional stages is crucial to disabled children and young people 
having the right support at the right time; connected parents lead 
to connected children and that young people want to be included in 
decision making and creating solutions.  

3.5 Following the initial survey in 2021, the second Bright Spots survey 
for all children in care over four years old and care experienced 
young adults over 18, was launched in November 2023. The results 
from the last survey supported the development of services and 
interventions for children and young people; feedback included that 
they wanted more time with their family and understanding their 
care journey.  

3.6 In Education, Barnet Education and Learning Service (BELS) have 
continued to support, challenge and monitor schools and settings 
effectively. 2023 achievement data from Barnet schools showed 
achievement remains strong compared to the national average – in 
almost all areas Barnet is in the top quartile, with GCSE and A Level 
in the top 5% of the country.  

3.7 A key focus for this theme is to support children and young people 
to adopt healthy lifestyles to prevent avoidable illness and improve 
their social, physical and mental wellbeing, including through 
integrated health and social care. In October 2023, a mental health 
and wellbeing campaign for children and young people was 
launched, including a film featuring young people from Barnet. The 
campaign was created with a panel of 14 to 21 year olds, who drew 
on their own experiences to provide unique insight into the realities 
of the mental health issues affecting Barnet’s young people.  

3.8 There were three celebration events during Q3: in October 2023, 
Barnet Youth Justice Service was awarded the Quality Lead Status 
with a Child First Commendation, the highest rating within the 
Youth Justice SEND Award. In December 2023, the annual Barnet 
Foster Carer Festive Celebration and Awards Dinner was held and 
attended by 39 foster carers, the fostering service staff, senior 
leaders and councillors. 13 foster carers were presented with an 
award in recognition of their combined 185 years of service to more 

805



6 

 

than 206 children and young people. On 20 December 2023, 
Onwards and Upwards (O&U) hosted the Annual Festive 
Celebration Event for care experienced young people and 
unaccompanied asylum seeking children. 

3.9 In December 2023, the new Child and Family Social Work 
Apprenticeship Programme was launched, which will commence in 
September 2024. An apprenticeship pathway into social work gives 
an opportunity to widen the corridor for those embarking on 
education and retraining, and as the council wants our workforce to 
represent the community we serve, people with protected 
characteristics will be prioritised for this opportunity. 

3.10 In working towards the outcome of young people being safe and 
secure, the 2022-23 annual report for the Barnet Safeguarding 
Children’s Partnershipviii was approved by the Leadership Forum in 
December 2023. The report went to Children and Education 
Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committee in January 2024. The 
Independent Scrutineers undertook their scrutiny visit in January 
2024 to scrutinise the multi-agency partnership arrangements, 
which included the Independent Scrutineers meeting with a panel 
of young people for the first time. 

3.11 The draft Serious Violence Strategic Needs Assessment (SNA)ix, 
completed on behalf of the Safer Communities Partnership, was 
presented to the Safer Communities Partnership Board on 24 
November 2023x. A draft Serious Violence Strategyxi was developed 
from the SNA findings and agreed by Cabinet on 16 January 2024.   

Performance 

3.12 Indicators for this theme are available annually in line with the 
academic year. The 2022/23 data became available during Q3 

2023/24 and is reported here in arrears. Performance mostly shows 
an improvement on 2021/22. 

Performing well  

• 70.4% of children reached a Good Level of Development at the 
end of Early Years Foundation Stage in 2022/23 – an improvement 
on 64.7% in 2021/22  

• Barnet achieved a Progress 8 score of 0.64% (meaning pupils 
made above average progress between primary school and the 
end of GCSEs in eight subject areas) – an improvement on 0.49% 
in 2021/22 

• Barnet achieved an Attainment 8 score of 57.0% - the fourth best 
performing local authority in the country 

Performing less well 

• 95.3% of schools achieved Ofsted rating of Good or Outstanding – 
less than 98.4% in 2021/22 but above the national average of 89% 

Risks 

3.13 Risks for this theme covering children and young people (e.g. 
education and wellbeing) are being managed effectively. However, 
two risks are scored at a high-level (15+) – school budget pressures 
and strain on special educational needs transport. These risks can 
be found in Appendix E. 

  

806



7 

 

4. Living well 

4.1 This theme focuses on positive outcomes for disabled residents 
and older people; ensuring residents can lead fit and active lives; 
and working to eradicate domestic abuse and violence against 
women and girls. This includes working to achieve more disabled 
people being employed by the council and partners; more older 
and disabled people, including with mental health needs and 
learning disabilities, can stay living in their own homes; residents 
experience high quality, joined-up health and care services, with 
positive outcomes; residents have a positive experience of social 
care services; there is social inclusion and representative access of 
older residents and those with disabilities in council and other 
services; residents can access and enjoy more opportunities for 
physical activity and lead more active lives; and working to 
eradicate domestic abuse and violence against women and girls.  

4.2 In Q3, the Disability Employment Co-ordinator continued to 
establish partnerships including one with Barnet Mencap through 
collaboration on a weekly job club. Commencing in December 2023 
the 12 week programme covers aspects of job readiness such as 
how to write a CV and how to prepare for an interview. Recent 
feedback from resident engagement illustrated that this was a 
helpful forum for adults with disabilities to access employment 
related support from BOOST, Mencap and their peers.  

4.3 The inaugural disability employment forum was held in October 
2023 and was attended by representatives from the Department of 
Works and Pensions (DWP), Inclusion Barnet, Prevention and 
Wellbeing Service, Your Choice and Mencap. The group identified 

 
2 The Oliver McGowan Mandatory Training on Learning Disability and Autism is a 
standardised training package to ensure that staff across health and social care develop 

common blockages in Barnet to employing people with disabilities, 
with the main one being a lack of knowledge among employers 
about access to work and support to claim. 

4.4 As part of the Autism Action Plan, following the launch of the Oliver 
McGowan training2 in September 2023, the Tier 1 module became 
available on the council’s learning portal and has been completed 
by 83 people. Preparations continued with the North Central 
London Integrated Care Board (NCL ICB) who will facilitate Tier 2 
training in Q4.   

4.5 A big factor in keeping people well and healthy is living in a home 
that suits them. The tender for the new accommodation and 
support service was issued in Q2 and the evaluation of bids 
continued in Q3 with completion due in January 2024 and 
mobilisation in Q4. The first meeting of the new Social Care and 
Housing Strategy Group agreed the terms of reference and 
interface with the Homes and Development Board. Activities and 
priorities are being developed for meetings of the group from Q4.  

4.6 One of the ambitions of this theme is to ensure that health, social 
care and associated services are more joined up in order to improve 
the access, experience and outcomes for residents. In Q3, the 
Dementia Strategyxii action plan was completed alongside partners 
as part of the Ageing Well workstream of the Barnet Borough 
Partnership. Some elements of the plan have already been 
completed including improved information and advice via leaflets 
and updates to the council and GP websites. The service also 
continued to work closely with Central London Community 
Healthcare Trust to ensure that community healthcare is working 

a common understanding of key issues and that consistent language is used across 
health and care organisations. 

807



8 

 

well for people with dementia and their carers. Training is being 
delivered to practice staff, GPs and to acute staff.  

4.7 On 10 October 2023 the Mental Health Charter was launched to 
coincide with World Mental Health Day, and during Q3 the service 
started collecting signatures and pledges from a wide range of 
organisations. Performance of the advocacy contract improved in 
Q3. Waiting lists have reduced and there are plans for further 
recruitment and interventions to continue to boost the service. The 
contract is monitored closely by the Care Quality team. 

4.8 Barnet is working to become a Dementia Friendly Borough and 
during Q3, around 1,400 people attended Understanding Dementia 
training. In collaboration with key partners, a number of video case 
studies about dementia have been released marking the launch of 
the Dementia Strategy, and Dementia Friendly signage has been 
included in Chipping Barnet refurbishment and Dementia Friendly 
programming now forms part of the Creative Communities 
programme in libraries.   

4.9 Following the launch of the Engagement and Co-production 
Strategyxiii and Charter for Adult Social Care in November 2022, the 
Adult Social Care service have introduced a feedback process for 
residents who have had an assessment or review. Over 100 surveys 
have been completed since they were introduced in 2023 and 
themes across different disciplines have been identified and used 
alongside other information to understand broader themes across 
resident experience.  

4.10 The Fit and Active Barnet (FAB) implementation plan continued to 
be delivered with and by partners in Q3. The Q3 target for leisure 
centres visits of 394,625 was missed by 55,403.  The targets are 
split equally across all four quarters but Q3 is the quietest in terms 
of footfall. This reduction in usage is expected to be made up in Q4 

which is traditionally the busiest for leisure centres. Visits have 
increased by 11% compared to the same quarter last year and the 
end of year target is expected to be met.  

4.11 As part of this theme, there is also an ambition to, in the long term, 
eradicate domestic abuse and violence against women and girls 
(VAWG) and make Barnet a borough where everyone can live free 
from domestic abuse and violence. In Q3, the service supported the 
United Nations’ 16 Days of Activism against Gender-Based Violence 
which is a global awareness raising campaign that takes place every 
year between 25 November (International Day for the Elimination 
of Violence Against Women) and 10 December (Human Rights Day) 
to call for an end and to prevent VAWG.  

Performance 

4.12 Performing reasonably well based on the two indicators reported 
quarterly for this theme.   

Performing well  
• 2 libraries accredited as Dementia friendly (year to date) - new 

measure 

Performing less well 

• 339,222 visits across Barnet leisure facilities – slightly below the 
quarterly target but in line with previous Q3 performance  

Risks 

4.13 Risks for this theme covering disabled residents and older people 
(e.g. safeguarding, mental health) are being managed effectively. 
However, two risks in Adult Social Care are scored at a high-level 
(15+) – shortage of community equipment and triage and 
allocation. These risks can be found in Appendix E.  

808



9 

 

5. Safe, attractive neighbourhoods and town centres 

5.1 This theme focuses on the outcomes of town centres having good 
business health and vitality; consistent, high standards of 
cleanliness and care across all parts of the borough; and residents 
feeling safe.  

5.2 Town centres work in Q3 focused on the continuation of public 
realm improvements and creative placemaking started in Q1. As 
well as a variety of ongoing programmes of development and 
events, the service launched a temporary mural as part of the 100 
years of Station Road celebratory programme, piloted a public 
space area for community events and activities at the Golders 
Green Crescent junction and secured a further £330,000 of Green 
and Resilient Funding secured from the Mayor of London, for street 
trees and sustainable drainage systems, bringing the total grant 
awarded to £500,000. 

5.3 To ensure high standards of cleanliness and care across the 
borough, the residential street cleansing target of visiting all roads 
four times a year is on track. In Q1 and Q2, all roads were visited 
once (and cleansed to at least a Grade B). Towards the end of Q3, 
the schedule got slightly delayed due to the extra diverted resource 
required to remove consistent leaf fall (rather than the usual 
concentrated fall of leaves seen when temperatures dip below 
freezing). However, any roads missed in Q3 will be visited twice in 
Q4 to maintain performance against the target. The street cleansing 
service is also trialling software to improve the efficiency of record 
management, raising work orders and managing workflow.  

5.4 During Q3, 100% of scheduled skips were delivered as planned. 
Data analysis of the usage of the service has been carried out and a 
report produced for the Portfolio Holder for Environment and 

Climate Change. This indicates reducing levels of usage over time, 
which may be due to residents having made good early use of the 
service to deposit unwanted items. Further communications are 
underway, including on social media, to remind residents of the 
service available to them and encourage usage, including for the 
delivery of items suitable for reuse through the service. The next 
steps in Q4 include a trial to obtain demographic data capture in 
relation to the council's wider Tackling the Gaps initiative. 

5.5 To support high standards of care, the Highways service continued 
to demonstrate strong performance in effectively managing and 
addressing all categories of defects throughout the network in Q3. 
The yearly inspection schedule has achieved 100% performance for 
completing all planned monthly inspections and for the second 
quarter, the service exceeded expectations for remedial works, 
achieving 97.6% against a 90% target. The Highway Investment 
Strategy has been developed and the outcomes are being built into 
the council’s MTFS budget setting exercise. The strategy sets out 
the current network position with particular reference to footways 
and carriageways and identifies a range of investment options for 
consideration. These options will be assessed by the council 
management team and Cabinet Members and the intention is to 
report to Cabinet and Full Council in February 2024.  

5.6 The latest Safer Communities Partnership Board (SCPB) took place 
on 24 November 2023 where a performance updatexiv of all 
activities and statistics of the Community Safety Team, police and 
partners was presented. The report documented the work to date 
towards the priorities of the Community Safety Strategyxv and 
highlighted successes of projects and exercises carried out such as 
the Community Safety Hubs programme, ward walks and the new 
CCTV control room at Colindale which went live at the end of Q2.  

This pillar of Our Plan for Barnet consists of three themes: Safe, attractive neighbourhoods and town centres, 
Quality affordable homes and Borough of Fun 

Caring for Our Places 

809



10 

 

Performance 

5.7 Good performance for Highways and Street Scene services with all 
indicators meeting the quarterly target or showing an improvement 
on Q2.   

Performing well  

• 100% of highways defects passed to the contractor for repair 
within 10 days of being notified or identified through cyclical 
inspection 

• 97.6% of highways defects repaired within prescribed timescale – 
exceeding the 90% target 

• 100% of residential roads visited once per quarter met cleanliness 
Grade B or above post inspection 

• 100% of scheduled community skips delivered 
• 96% of fly tips collected within agreed times – new measure 

• 53% of complaints upheld for Street Scene services – better than 
61% in Q2 

Risks 

5.8 Risks for this theme covering community safety, highways and 
street scene services (e.g. operations such as CCTV, contractual 
arrangements, resourcing and processes) are being managed 
effectively. However, one risk is scored at a high-level (15+) – 
response to emergency or incident. This risk can be found in 
Appendix E. 

 

  

810



11 

 

6. Quality, affordable homes 

6.1 The outcomes for this theme are that residents experience 
regeneration that benefits local communities and improves 
wellbeing; there is increased supply of new homes in the borough 
including social rented homes; all council homes are safe, warm 
and sustainable; private sector licensing schemes are effective and 
improve quality in the private rented sector; and nobody is 
sleeping rough.  

6.2 The development of Brent Cross Town continued in Q3, the 
highlight being the opening of Brent Cross West station in 
December 2023 and work continued on site. In November 2023, the 
Planning Committee approved the planning application for Phases 
5/6 of the West Hendon regeneration scheme which will add a 
further 350 units to the scheme (of which 50% will be affordable 
housing) and a new purpose built health centre. 

6.3 Following the bid made in Q2 by the West London Alliance to the 
Department for Science Innovation and Technology (DSIT) for a 5G 
innovation region, the council was advised that the bid had not 
been successful. However, Brunel University (who was a partner in 
the DSIT bid) have approached the council to collaborate on an EU 
funded Horizon bid for 5G, which will be worth £18 million. In terms 
of deployment of the new CCTV Fibre Broadband network, 119 
circuits have been deployed with seven outstanding due to either 
UKPN power faults or CCTV columns requiring installing. It is 
expected that remaining circuits will be completed by end of March 
2024. 

6.4 The first 142 homes that the council have acquired in the Colindale 
Gardens scheme were handed over in October 2023 and the first 
residents have moved into the properties. Work has continued in 

Q3 in preparation for the handover of the remaining 107 homes 
which took place on 18 January 2024.   

6.5 In December 2023, Planning Committee approved the application 
by Opendoor Homes for the development of 56 new homes at 
Moxon Street and Whitings Road, including 11 homes for social rent 
and 18 shared ownership homes. These schemes will contribute 
towards the commitment to deliver 1,000 new affordable council 
homes by 2026, taking the total either delivered or agreed at 
Planning Committee to date to 511. 

6.6 Two out of the three performance targets relating to compliance 
checks were met for Q3, with the third indicator (% of tenanted 
council properties compliant with the Decent Homes Standard) 
showing an improvement on Q1 and Q2, but just missing the target 
(99.8% against a target of 100%). This equates to 16 properties, 
which currently do not meet the standard. These are all in progress 
with appointments booked. 

6.7 The £52m fire safety programme for council housing stock is 
complete, except for a small number of properties where access 
has been difficult, but these are not putting the buildings at risk. 
Barnet Homes are now delivering the low/medium rise property 
programme, which has been rephased due to some delays in 
secondary legislation relating to the Building Safety Act meaning 
the required approach to leaseholder consultation for relevant 
works has been unclear. The initial focus of the programme has 
been on undertaking external wall assessments on blocks which are 
between 11-18m in height and on completing fire safety 
improvements to hostels in the stock. 

6.8 Following the procurement of a comprehensive online licensing 
system for the planned selective licensing schemes in Q2, 
installation was delayed by the contractor but will take place in 

811



12 

 

February 2024 following the successful completion of testing. As a 
result, it has not been possible for the designation for the first 
Selective Licensing Scheme to be signed as this cannot take place 
without such a system. The consultation for a privately rented 
property licensing scheme has been reviewed and the findings were 
approved by Cabinet in December 2023. An application will be 
made to the Secretary of State for scheme two following at least 12 
successful months of phase 1 of selective licensing in Colindale 
North, Colindale South and Burnt Oak. 

6.9 Homelessness and rough sleeping remain challenges for Barnet, as 
in all London boroughs, but the new Homelessness and Rough 
Sleeping Strategyxvi, approved at Cabinet on 18 July 2023, sets out 
how over the coming five years the council will prevent 
homelessness and support those who face or are at risk of 
becoming homeless. Several new performance indicators have been 
introduced to monitor the effectiveness of the initiatives being 
implemented and the number of homelessness preventions year to 
date to the end of Q3 was 1028 against a target of 712.  

6.10 The Severe Weather Emergency Protocol (SWEP) was triggered 
from 29 November to 4 December 2023. During this period, 18 
rough sleepers were offered emergency accommodation, of which 
three did not take up the accommodation. At present, there are 
four individuals accommodated under SWEP who remain in 
temporary accommodation – three of whom are verified rough 
sleepers who continue to be accommodated on a discretionary 
basis, and one who is accommodated as there is reason to believe 
that they have priority need for housing assistance. In addition, 
Barnet Homes’ latest street count was conducted on the night of 23 
November 2023. Through the count, nine people were identified as 
sleeping rough in the borough, compared to 13 rough sleepers 
identified at the previous count in September 2023. 

Performance 

6.11 Mixed performance for this theme, with most indicators showing an 
improvement on the baseline whilst a couple performed less well.   

Performing well  
• 100% of tenanted council properties with current Landlord Gas 

Safety Record 

• 100% of tenanted council properties had fire risk assessment 
where required 

• 5.3% of repeat homelessness applications (year to date) – better 
than 7.5% in Q2 

• 1028 homelessness preventions (year to date) – better than 712 
target 

Performing less well 

• 99.8% of tenanted council properties compliant with decent home 
standard – slightly below target of 100%  

• 8.7% of rough sleepers returned to the streets – higher than 4% in 
Q2 

Risks 

6.12 Risks for this theme covering regeneration and housing (e.g. new 
developments, affordable housing, homelessness) are being 
managed effectively. However, three risks in housing are scored at 
a high-level (15+) – unsafe/unhealthy living accommodation in 
private rented sector; increased demand for temporary 
accommodation; and health safety and compliance issues. These 
risks can be found in Appendix E.  

812



13 

 

7. Borough of fun 

7.1 This theme focuses on the outcomes of residents pulling together 
to improve local areas; residents think the council is making the 
local area a better place to live; achieving London borough of 
culture status – with residents experiencing a fun borough; and 
delivering an increased quality and investment in sports facilities, 
libraries and other public spaces.  

7.2 Key to achieving these outcomes is ensuring there is provision of 
appropriate spaces, supportive infrastructure and robust structure 
(policies and strategies) to facilitate opportunities to have fun.  

7.3 Development of the draft Community Assets Strategy continued in 
Q3, with the focus on working with the Estates team to evaluate 
financial impact of the proposed Community Asset Strategy, as well 
as devising ways to track the benefits of the work delivered within 
those assets; the findings will be included in the Social Value/ 
Community Investment report in summer 2024. 

7.4 Implementation of the Civic and Community Events Policyxvii 
continued in Q3, enabling community groups to apply for grant 
funding through the council in order to put on community events 
with the aim of fostering community cohesion and celebrating the 
culture of our borough. In Q3, 40 events took place celebrating 
occasions such as Silver Week, Black History Month and Winter 
Festivals.  

7.5 The Events in Parks Policyxviii was approved at Environment 
Committee in March 2023 and continued to be implemented during 
Q3. 60 events took place in parks during Q3, with estimated 
attendance of over 58,000 people. The review of the process for all 
types of events across the council, (with the aim of making holding 

an event in Barnet easier while upholding the required safety 
standards) continued in Q3 to fully consider all recommendations.   

7.6 Good progress on the outcome of achieving London’s Borough of 
Culture status – with residents experiencing a fun borough - has 
been made in Q3. The Borough of Culture bid for 2027 was 
submitted to the GLA at the end of November 2023 and an 
interview with the GLA to assess the bid is taking place on 7 
February 2024. The draft Culture Strategy has been finalised and is 
due to be published and launched by June 2024. Barnet Legends 
public art and cultural trail which commemorates cultural figures in 
the borough has been initiated and will be launched in June 2024 
and planning work has begun for the London Festival of 
Architecture which will celebrate 20 years this year. Work with the 
Parks and Open Spaces team on a built project in Copthall will take 
place as well as a community grants and libraries programme. 

7.7 The council has made a commitment to create and provide new and 
enhanced opportunities for all residents to have an opportunity to 
get involved in the many great sports and physical activities across 
the borough. Key activities in Q3 to achieve this included a series of 
consultation activities throughout November and December 2023 
on the proposed development of West Hendon Playing Fields. The 
consultation closed on 17 December 2023, and the results are being 
collated, with a summary of feedback available on the dedicated 
engagement platform (CommonPlace).  

7.8 Work commenced during Q3 on the council's first fully inclusive and 
accessible play area designed to support the needs of all users and 
ages, located in Victoria Recreation Ground (New Barnet) called Fair 
Play Barnet. The new play area, considered to the first of the kind in 
the country, opened in February 2024.  

813



14 

 

7.9 A new playground was completed in Barnet Playing Fields. The 
playground is funded from Section 106 monies from nearby 
developments and was designed through a public consultation 
exercise.  

7.10 In addition, a report which detailed the Outline Business Case to 
redevelop Finchley Lido Leisure Centre was approved by Cabinet in 
November 2023.  

Performance 

7.11 Good performance for this theme, with indicators showing an 
improvement on Q2.  

Performing well * 

• 60 events in parks organised by charities or community groups – 
better than 10 in Q2 

• 518 events and activities delivered at libraries – better than 320 in 
Q2  

• In Q3, there were no planned events in parks organised by the 
council, jointly with the Mayor or Leader, by a commercial 
organisation or privately 

* Note that the number of events fluctuates depending on the time of year 

Risks 

7.12 There are currently no strategic or service risks for this theme. 

  

814



15 

 

8. Journey to net zero  

8.1 The outcomes for this theme are that Barnet council operations is 
net zero by 2030; Barnet borough becomes net zero by 2042, with 
a reduction in carbon emissions in the short term; residents and 
businesses benefit from green opportunities, skills and 
employment; and there is an increase in greener travel.  

8.2 In Q3, the work to update the council’s carbon baseline for 2022-23 
was completed and confirmed an overall reduction in carbon 
emissions. Since the initial baseline in 2018-19, the council has 
reduced Scope 1-3 emissions (excluding Supply Chain) by around 
29%, with two thirds of this originating from electricity emissions. 
An annual sustainability report is being drafted which will provide a 
breakdown of this reduction and is expected to be completed in Q1 
2024/25. Work is also ongoing to further analyse emissions to 
identify areas where biggest impact on reductions can be made 
going forward. 

8.3 Progress in delivering the actions from the Sustainability Action Plan 
continued through the individual themes to reach net zero as an 
organisation. Notably, in the Built Environment theme, retrofit 
programmes have continued to progress for both residential and 
non-residential buildings.  

8.4 The Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme has continued in Q3: 
following installation, heat pumps are live at four sites for PSDS1, 
with the expected handover of the scheme due in Q4. PSDS3a has a 
planned project completion date for all sites in March 2024, with a 
programme of works provided by the contractor, outlining works 
completion for each site. An application for PSDS3c has been 
submitted for the next phase of the programme, comprising of 10 
schools, with the outcome expected in March 2024. 

8.5 In working towards becoming a vocal climate leader, the launch of 
the next phase of activities in response to the Citizens’ Assembly 
recommendations took place on 29 November 2023 with 
attendance from participants, Councillors and community 
representatives. The next phase of delivering recommendations is a 
community response through Action Groups: working with 
community groups and residents a training session for all those 
involved is planned for 17 January 2024, with Citizens’ UK 
confirmed as being involved and supporting with capacity building 
across the Action Groups.  

8.6 The BarNET ZERO Challenge launched in December 2023 in 
partnership with Middlesex University with sponsorship from 
Natwest, Microsoft UK and Hammerson. This is an innovation 
challenge for anyone who works, lives or studies in Barnet to win up 
to £5,000 seed funding for an idea that supports the delivery of 
recommendations from the Citizens' Assembly. The challenge 
received over 100 initial ideas and the next phase will see 
participants develop these into deliverable proposals before 
panellists review and shortlist finalists, before opening up for public 
voting.  

8.7 The Net Zero Decision Making Tool continued to be rolled-out 
across the organisation, further embedding sustainability within the 
council’s decision-making process. Additionally, the tool has been 
promoted through the Microsoft Innovation and Collaboration 
Forum with 58 other councils expressing interest and signing up to 
discuss the shareability of the LBBs Power App and its distribution 
wider. 

8.8 As part of becoming a net zero borough, the council wants to 
minimise the production of waste across the borough and enable all 
residents to have access to sustainable waste disposal choices. A 

 This pillar of Our Plan for Barnet consists of three themes: Journey to net zero, Enhancing the local 
environment and Enhancing green spaces. 

 

Caring for the Planet 

815



16 

 

Reuse Behaviour Change project in collaboration with the North 
London Waste Authority (NLWA) launched in January 2024.  

8.9 Following the approval of the council’s Reduction and Recycling 
Plan 2023-25xix by Cabinet on 5 September 2023, the plan was 
submitted to the GLA in Q2, and in Q3, a range of actions to support 
waste reduction, recycling, reuse and repair have begun to be 
implemented. A Flats Behaviour Change Trial launched on 27 
November 2023 to improve recycling and implement food waste 
collections at four flats sites and will run for 16 weeks. Also, work 
has commenced on the development of an online map to display 
locations across the borough for reuse, repair, furniture recycling 
and water refills.  

8.10 In working towards the outcome of residents and businesses 
benefitting from green opportunities, skills and employment, in Q3, 
work continued on the BarNET ZERO Business Pledge, which is to be 
launched in Q4. This is a way for businesses, charities and 
community organisations to make a public commitment to do their 
part in tackling climate change and becoming more sustainable. A 
Sustainability Business Support Programme pilot in North Finchley 
was approved and will run from April 2024 to March 2025. It has a 
target of supporting up to 50 small and medium sized enterprises/ 
businesses (SMEs) with one-to-one visits from experts who will 
provide audits/carbon reduction action plans focused on individual 
business operations. 

8.11 In supporting the decarbonisation of the transport network, in 
October 2023, a Transport Decarbonisation Study was completed in 
partnership with City Science to set a decarbonisation pathway for 
the borough and support the identification of priorities within the 
forthcoming Transport Strategy to enable us to deliver net zero 
ambitions. To encourage greener travel choices, a programme of 

work to increase electric vehicle charge points across Barnet 
continues.  

8.12 In Q3, the Air Quality Action Plan 2023-28xx has been finalised and 
was published at the end of January 2024 (to coincide with Clean 
Air Night). The plan outlines the actions that the council will deliver 
between 2023 and 2028 to reduce concentrations of pollution, and 
exposure to pollution; thereby positively impacting on the health 
and quality of life of residents and visitors to the borough.  

Performance 

8.13 Good performance for this theme, with both indicators achieving 
the quarterly target.   

Performing well  

• 473,902 kilowatt hours of charging undertaken across the 
network – better than 205,841 kilowatt hours in Q3 2022/23  

• Barnet’s placed based emissions for 2021 were published by the 
Greater London Authority in Q3 2023/24 and were 1,127 kilo 
tonnes of carbon dioxide emissions – better than 1,215 kilo tonnes 
in 2019 

Risks 

8.14 Risks for this theme covering sustainability and net zero (e.g. 
sustainability strategy, public sector decarbonisation scheme) are 
being managed effectively. However, one risk is scored at a high-
level (15+) – environmental sustainability. This risk can be found in 
Appendix E. 

  

816



17 

 

9. Enhancing the local environment 

9.1 There is one overarching outcome for this theme which is to make 
neighbourhoods clean and green. To deliver this, the key activities 
are to deliver a range of flood risk improvements such as the 
annual programme of gulley cleanses, and to move to shift to a 
circular economy – where people reuse, recycle and repair as 
many things as possible.  

9.2 In Q3, the Highways Gulley Programme continued to progress to 
schedule, with an average completion rate of 99%, well above the 
annual target of 90% for scheduled gulley cleaning. As at the end of 
Q3, out of the 22,348 gulley cleans planned for the year, 16,948 
have been successfully completed, representing 72% of the gulley 
cleans year to date. The Highways team is working closely in 
partnership with the third-party contractor TKJV to proactively 
manage any potential dips in performance, thereby ensuring that 
monthly targets are consistently met and any challenges are 
effectively addressed. 

9.3 Following the approval of the Local Flood Risk Management 
Strategy (2023-29)xxi by Cabinet on 5 September 2023, a range of 
flood risk preventions have been delivered during Q3, such as the 
preparation of reports for Cabinet on the Sustainable Drainage 
Systems Strategy and Land Drainage Bylaws Proposals, which were 
approved at Cabinet on 16 January 2024 and are now being 
implemented; topographical, traffic and utility surveys were carried 
out at The Greenway and under the Environment Agency's Flood 
and Coastal Erosion Risk Management (FCERM) Programme, at the 
first scheme, Muswell Hill Critical Drainage Area, construction 
progressed and completion is now expected to take place in March 
2024 due to delays caused by difficult weather conditions during 
the winter months.  

9.4 To work towards the shift to a circular economy, in Q3, work has 
continued to design a Reuse Behaviour Change project in 
collaboration with the North London Waste Authority (NLWA) 
which launched in January 2024.  

9.5 The service is also reviewing current policy on the size of waste bins 
provided to households, to assess potential benefits for waste 
reduction and increased recycling participation. 

Performance 

9.6 Performance was mostly good, with two indicators showing an 
improvement on the 2022/23 baseline and one indicator narrowly 
missing its target.   

Performing well  

• 1,135 trees planted up to end of Q3 2023/24 – better than 635 in 
Q3 2022/23 

• 100% of task orders for gulley, catchpit and soakaway cleaning 
completed on time – better than 90% in 2022/23 

Performing less well 

• 99% compliance with managing performance for the annual gully 
cleansing programme – slightly below the 100% target but better 
than 90% in 2022/23 

Risks 

9.7 Risks for this theme covering local environment (e.g. flooding) are 
being managed effectively – none are scored at a high-level (15+).  

  

817



18 

 

10. Enhancing green spaces 

10.1 This theme focuses on the outcomes of having improved quality 
and provision of parks and open spaces, playing fields, woodlands 
and small green spaces; Barnet being an increasingly biodiverse 
borough, with diverse fauna and species; and the council planting 
1000 trees a year, with more trees in areas with lower canopy 
cover.  

10.2 Key to delivering these outcomes is the development of a new 
Parks and Open Spaces Strategy and a Nature Recovery Strategy. In 
Q3, a stakeholder engagement plan was drafted with Land Use 
Consultants (LUC), who were appointed in Q1 to develop these 
strategies, with engagement activities anticipated to commence 
from January 2024. 

10.3 LUC have also begun to undertake assessments of the borough’s 
Sites of Importance to Nature Conservation (SINC). Further site 
assessments will be conducted in Spring 2024. Progress has 
commenced with the completion of 12 surveys completed so far. 

10.4 There is also an ambition to create an award-winning strategic tree 
planting programme that aims to tackle inequalities and supports 
climate resilience. Implementation of the new Tree Policyxxii 
continued in Q3, and a total of £624k external funding awarded via 
the Forestry Commission and DEFRA (Department for Environment 
Food and Rural Affairs) to support delivery of the council’s Tree 
Planting Programme. In Q3, a total of 1135 trees were planted 
against the annual target of 1000. Additional trees were planted at 
the regeneration sites in Ballards Lane and Mill Hill Broadway, 
Cherry Tree Woods and on behalf of the Friends of Halliwick Park. 
In addition, 82 residents took up the opportunity to have a tree 
planted at individual residential sites as part of the Trees for Streets 

sponsorship, where residents can request and sponsor a tree in the 
local area. 

 
Performance 

10.5 No indicators were due to report in Q3 for this theme. 

Risks 

10.6 There are currently no strategic or service risks for this theme. 

  

818



19 

 

11. Community participation  

11.1 There are two outcomes for the Community participation theme – 
that residents feel informed about what the council does; and the 
council acts on the concerns of local residents and involves them 
in decision-making.  

11.2 To help residents feel informed about what the council does, 
improving transparency is a key objective. In Q3, the health check 
against the Transparency Code and a review of published data were 
completed. The findings were that all statutory data sets were 
published, but there were some gaps identified in a small number 
of non-statutory data sets. These are being updated by relevant 
services. Processes have been implemented to ensure ongoing 
compliance with the council’s commitment to transparency, 
including proactive monitoring of published data using a dedicated 
dashboard. This work has enabled 29% of Freedom of Information 
(FOI) requests to be answered with published data in Q2, as well as 
enabling residents to self-serve and access required data directly, 
by-passing the need to submit an FOI request.  

11.3 Listening to residents is also an area of focus and following the 
Leader Listens events which have taken place, an annual report has 
been completed which sets out an overview of the successes and 
learnings from the previous year of Leader Listens, as well as 
recommendations to improve the programme. This was discussed 
with the Leader in January 2024 and a new programme of sessions 
will be scheduled which are likely to have a stronger synergy with 
community engagement and community cohesion work. 

11.4 To help achieve the outcome of acting on residents’ concerns and 
involving residents in decision-making, the council has adopted new 
governance arrangements, with additional ways that residents can 
become involved in meetings, at Annual Council on 23 May 2023. 

Following the enablement of the hybrid meeting functionality at 
Hendon Town Hall in Q2, 50 participants (council staff and partners) 
joined meetings remotely in Q3; subject to proof of concept and 
stability of hybrid meeting system, the intention is to roll out 
remote participation to residents in Q4.   

Performance 

11.5 There was one indicator reporting in Q3 for this theme.   

• 29.0% of FOI requests answered with published data – consistent 
with performance for Q1 and Q2 2023/24 (28.0% and 29.0% 
respectively) 

Risks 

11.6 Risks for this theme covering community participation (e.g. council 
meetings) are being managed effectively – none are scored at a 
high-level (15+).  

  

 This pillar of Our Plan for Barnet consists of six themes: Community participation, Working in partnership, 
Neighbourhood working, Improving access to services, Financially responsible and A great place to work 

 

Engaged and Effective Council 

819



20 

 

12. Working in partnership 

12.1 The aim of this theme is to further develop as an organisation that 
builds relationships, empowers our partnerships and acts as an 
enabler of discussion and change achieving the outcomes of 
partners telling us they feel like valued equals in their relationship 
with the council; and the voluntary and community sector 
flourishing and being seen as a beacon for London/the UK.  

12.2 The Barnet Together Alliance, established in 2018, is a long-term, 
cross-sector partnership with the council, which increases 
development and capacity building support for Barnet’s vital 
Voluntary, Community, Faith and Social Enterprise (VCFSE) sector, 
enabling the borough to strengthen, innovate and thrive. The aim 
of the partnership is to help create and deliver more borough-wide 
services and opportunities, based on real partnership and active 
collaboration. Work continued in Q3 to engage with partners and 
support their work.  

12.3   In Q3, the council worked in partnership with New Citizens 
Gateway to provide online training for partners from across the 
sector on issues related to asylum seekers and refugees. This 
training enabled partners to understand the unique challenges 
faced by asylum seekers, refugees and services and to identify how 
we can work together to support them. Colleagues are looking at 
how we can further this training to other partners and across the 
council to ensure a borough-wide partnership based response to 
responding to challenges faced by those seeking sanctuary in 
Barnet. 

12.4 The Barnet Partnership Board is a strategic partnership that brings 

together public, private and voluntary organisations in the borough. 

It acts as a steering committee to review public services, monitor 

the delivery of the council’s corporate plan and to share resources, 

knowledge, best practice, challenges, and opportunities. In Q3, a 

review of the Barnet Partnership Board commenced to ensure it 

can facilitate effective partnership working and collaboration. An 

options paper has been produced assessing the benefits of moving 

to a Local Strategic Partnership. Proposals include producing a 

refreshed terms of reference, updating the format of the meeting 

to take place in-person and quarterly, expand to additional 

members and co-produce an updated forward plan with partners 

on themes that are best suited to collaborative working. An 

assessment is currently underway and a decision will be approved 

by the next Partnership Board meeting scheduled for the 7 March 

2024. 

Performance 

12.5 No indicators were due to report in Q3 for this theme. 

Risks 

12.6 Risks for this theme covering partnership working are being 
managed effectively – none are scored at a high-level (15+).  

  

820



21 

 

13. Neighbourhood working 

13.1 This theme focuses on the outcome of residents and community 
groups telling us they are being listened to and encouraged to 
participate in shaping their communities.  

13.2 To work towards this, activities have included the Grahame Park 
pathfinder project (part of the transformation programme and 
Community Participation Strategy) which is being used as a concept 
piece to create an established Neighbourhood Working model that 
can be deployed throughout the borough. Following on from 
activity in Q1 and Q2, the Reimagine the Concourse engagement 
project continued in Q3, with two vacant commercial units 
identified to be used as a cafe and a service hub to provide a base 
from which the council and its partners can provide face-to-face 
access to services, including housing, the police and benefits advice. 
Work is underway to progress the design and conversion of the 
units.  

13.3 The Estate has also been an early site for the Met’s adoption of the 
"Clear Hold Build" initiative, which is designed to Clear an area of 
criminal activity through intensive policing, Hold the position by 
working with partners to prevent other criminals from filling the 
void, and Build community resilience to reduce the risk of future 
criminal activity. The Clear phase, called Operation Dakota, ran to 
the end of December 2023 and resulted in over 300 arrests, relating 
to over 500 individual offences, as well as the seizure of Class A 
drugs and numerous offensive weapons.  

13.4 The Grahame Park Co-ordinating Group (GPCG) has also been 
involved in work to review and revise the Social Life framework and 
develop a youth strategy in conjunction with Common Vision – both 
commissioned though the council’s regeneration partner, Notting 
Hill Genesis (NHG). These will help to ensure that the council and 

other partners, are all working towards the same goals and needs 
of the community, and can collectively evidence what has 
happened and the outcomes that are being delivered.   

13.5 The GPCG is a key stakeholder for the revised framework being 
developed by Social Life, and the youth strategy being developed by 
Common Vision – both commenced though the council’s partner 
Notting Hill Genesis (NHG). These will help to ensure that the 
council and other various partners, are all working towards the 
same goals and needs of the community, and be able to collectively 
evidence what has happened and if possible, the outputs delivered.  

13.6 Neighbourly Lab provided a final report of the East Barnet project. 
It provided some valuable insight into the range of diversity of 
community assets that are used and valued by residents. It also 
made some clear recommendations, and the team are considering 
how to take these forward. The community mapping undertaken 
for this project provided a comprehensive picture of the assets in 
the ward. It would be useful to replicate this exercise in other wards 
to help develop the council’s understanding and insight.  

Performance 

13.7 No indicators were due to report in Q3 for this theme. 

Risks 

13.8 Risks for this theme covering neighbourhood working are being 
managed effectively – none are scored at a high-level (15+).  

  

821



22 

 

14. Improving access to services 

14.1 This theme focuses on the outcome of residents finding it easy to 
access council services.  

14.2 To deliver this, good progress has continued in Q3 on delivering the 
Resident Experience programme with a wide range of 
improvements and enhancements to technology and processes.  

14.3 The second phase of improvements to the contact centre platform 
went live in Q3. This allows for routing of repeat callers to 
proactively manage where issues are not resolved first time. 
Functionality has also been added to proactively route residents 
requiring extra support and the ability for customer service advisors 
to proactively identify signposting for digital inclusion and other 
initiatives. The impact of this is evident in the customer satisfaction 
scores: satisfaction with the telephony experience remaining high 
at 93.1% (just below the Q2 result of 93.4%).  

14.4 A continuous improvement board has been established with the 
council's strategic contractor Capita to manage Revenues and 
Benefits improvements to better monitor and track impact. 
Contacts for Revenues and Benefits services are among the highest 
received, hence the focus on improvement in these areas. 

14.5 In Q3, development started on new designs for the council’s 
website. These were designed in consultation with residents and 
services to provide more flexibility and visual layouts. It is currently 
planned these will be live by end of March 2024. This includes an 
upgrade to website infrastructure. Work continues with individual 
service areas to review content to ensure it is accessible to all 
residents and written in plain English. Additional capacity is being 
added to the council’s web team to accelerate this work. This has 

been evidenced by a 10.6 percentage point increase in web-
satisfaction between October (68.0%) and December (78.6%) 2023.  

14.6 The re-design of the web has been tested and signed off and will be 
rolling out over the coming months. This will enable more visual, 
commercial and flexible content to be added to improve the 
resident experience and begin to rationalise the number of 
different websites that residents engage with. Work continued to 
support Planning with the roll out of Digital Planning service, with 
the design phase completed and implementation of changes 
beginning over Q4. Barnet also held a successful get online week in 
October 2023 running 25 events to support residents get online and 
raise awareness of the support available.  

14.7 Co-location of teams has begun as a pilot covering BOOST, 
Customer Services and the Financial Support team. Initially they will 
co-locate at Burnt Oak and Chipping Barnet to complement the 
existing outreach. The teams are now capturing demand data in a 
more consistent way so they can signpost residents to the right 
support, where residents need more in-depth support across 
services. There has been an initial focus on reducing failure 
demand. In addition, a review of the space in Colindale, working 
with Housing Options is underway to improve the resident 
experience when visiting the Colindale offices. 

Performance 

14.8 Mostly good performance for this theme, with one indicator 
performing less well in Q3. 

Performing well  

• 93.1% of residents who contacted the council satisfied with 
telephony experience – better than 92.0% in 2022/23 and above 
89.0% target 

822



23 

 

• 72.5% of residents satisfied with service on the web – better than 
66.1% in 2022/23 and above 65.0% target 

• 76.9% of cases resolved by self-service – better than 69.0% in 
2022/23 and above 50.0% target 

Performing less well 
• The accessibility performance score on the web was 71.6% - a 

decrease from 88.2% in Q2. A website re-platform took place 
during Q3 which caused the software that measures this indicator 
to not recognise the parameters that had previously been put in 
place, reducing the score considerably. This was compounded by a 
code change in Google Translate which affected every page on the 
website. 

Risks 

14.9 Risks for this theme covering accessibility are being managed 
effectively. However, two cyber security risks are scored at a high-
level (15+). These risks can be found in Appendix E. 

  

823



24 

 

15. Financially responsible  

15.1 This theme focuses on the outcome of the council being able to 
balance our budget without cutting services, for which the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and budget monitoring 
are critical to delivery.  

15.2 The Q3 2023-24 Chief Finance Officer reportxxiii was presented to 
Cabinet on 6 February 2024 and the recommendations within it 
were approved or noted as required.  

15.3 The next updates from Finance on 2023-24 monitoring will be 
presented to Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 4 June 2024 
(2023-24 Financial Outturn Monitoring) and Cabinet on 18 June 
2024 (2023-24 Revenue and Capital Outturn). 

15.4 The proposed budget for 2024/25 and the council’s MTFS for 2024-
30 was presented to Cabinet on 6 February 2024. It showed a 
balanced position for 2024/25 with no use of reserves and was 
approved by Full Council on 27 February 2024. 

15.5  Work with peers and London Councils to lobby government for 
more support is ongoing. To highlight the serious financial 
challenges currently facing London local government, London 
Councils, on behalf of all 32 London Boroughs and the City of 
London, have written to the representations to the Government to 
set out our priorities for the forthcoming Spring Budget. 

Performance 

15.6 No indicators were due to report in Q3 for this theme. 

Risks 

15.7 Risks for this theme covering balanced budget and MTFS are being 
managed effectively. However, six risks are scored at a high-level 

(15+) – increased overspend to meet (ASC) statutory duties; audit 
actions not implemented; variations to budget for parking; 
affordability of capital programme; affordability of Brent Cross 
West; and revenue overspend. These risks can be found in 
Appendix E. 

  

824



25 

 

16. A great place to work  

16.1 This theme has three outcomes: that staff feel valued; staff tell us 
they feel proud to be part of Team Barnet; and the council is a 
truly inclusive employer (including in the way it recruits and 
develops staff). The ambition is for the council to be an employer 
of choice, that attracts the best staff and people feel proud to 
work for the council.  

16.2 In Q3, development and promotion of the employee brand 
continued. Work also continued on the Conditions for Success 
project in Children’s Services, which aims to improve the working 
environment and working practices for staff in the directorate. In 
Q3, engagement with key stakeholders across the organisation and 
different service areas has taken place to establish the day-to-day 
issues faced by staff which may be preventing them to easily enter 
the building and to sit down to do their job. A log of identified 
issues has been compiled which have been assigned to key areas of 
the business to work towards a solution.  

16.3 This process has also flagged some potential opportunities to make 
the building more compliant and user friendly for EDI (Equality, 
Diversity and Inclusion) requirements; the list of issues is being 
worked through with Facilities Management, who are planning to 
undertake a review of the building to flag up any other 
requirements. 

16.4 The EDI action plan, which was developed in 2022-23, continued to 
be implemented in Q3 and monthly monitoring is in place via the 
EDI Steering Group. The action plan was audited in Q3 and 
confirmed that the Steering Group was established and was being 
used as a positive mode of reviewing the actions and progress of 
the action plan.   

16.5 Finally, to support staff in maintaining a good work life balance and 

in looking after their physical wellbeing and mental health, the 

Workplace Wellbeing Strategy has been reviewed to ensure it 

remains relevant. The draft Workplace Wellbeing action plan has 

been sent to stakeholders and the Workplace Wellbeing Group 

(WWG) met in January 2024 to ratify the plan. As part of the 

feedback, it was agreed that the WWG be reset to a more strategic 

focused group and to include workplace safety, as well as wellbeing.  

Performance 

16.6 No indicators were due to report in Q3 for this theme. 

Risks 

16.7 Risks for this theme covering the workplace are being managed 
effectively. However, one risk is scored at a high-level (15+) – 
recruitment to and retention of roles in key sectors. This risk can be 
found in Appendix E. 

  

825



26 

 

References 

 
i Barnet Annual Equality Report and State of the Borough Report: 
Equality and diversity | Barnet Council 

ii Borough of Sanctuary Strategy:  
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s81193/Appendix%20A%20
Borough%20of%20Sanctuary%20Strategy.pdf 

iiiHealth and Wellbeing Strategy:   
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2021-
11/Barnet%20Joint%20Health%20and%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%20202
1%20to%202025%20-%20full%20document.pdf 

iv Barnet financial calculator:  
https://benefits.inbest.ai/barnet?multiLang=true&subpartner=barnetwe
bsite 

v Social Value Policy:  
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s80339/Appendix%201%20-
%20Social%20Value%20Policy%202023-2026.pdf 

vi Family Services Quarterly Update:  
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s81468/Quarterly%20FS%2
0Update%20Committee%20Report%20Final.pdf) 

vii Young Persons Perception Survey:  
https://engage.barnet.gov.uk/young-persons-perception-survey-2023 

viii Barnet Safeguarding Children Partnership Annual Report: 
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s81460/BSCP%20Final%20A
nnual%20Report%2022-23.pdf 

ix Serious Violence Strategic Needs Assessment: 
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s80934/SVD%20SNA%20No
vember%202023.pdf  
 
x Safer Communities Partnership Board Update: 
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=457&MId=11
407&Ver=4  
 
xi Serious Violence Strategy: 
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s81523/Appendix%20B%20-
%20Barnet%20SCP%20Serious%20Violence%20Strategy%202024%20-%2
02027.pdf 

xii Barnet Dementia Strategy:  
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-
08/Dementia%20Strategy%202023-2028.pdf 

xiii Engagement and Co-production Strategy: 
https://admin.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-
05/Engagement%20and%20Co-
production%20strategy%20and%20charter%20Nov22.pdf 

xivBarnet Safer Communities Partnership - Performance Update: 
 https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s80924/Jun-
Sep%20SCPB%20Dashboard.pdf 

xv Community Safety Strategy: 
 

826

https://www.barnet.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-performance/equality-and-diversity#title-3
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s81193/Appendix%20A%20Borough%20of%20Sanctuary%20Strategy.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s81193/Appendix%20A%20Borough%20of%20Sanctuary%20Strategy.pdf
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2021-11/Barnet%20Joint%20Health%20and%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%202021%20to%202025%20-%20full%20document.pdf
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2021-11/Barnet%20Joint%20Health%20and%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%202021%20to%202025%20-%20full%20document.pdf
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2021-11/Barnet%20Joint%20Health%20and%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%202021%20to%202025%20-%20full%20document.pdf
https://benefits.inbest.ai/barnet?multiLang=true&subpartner=barnetwebsite
https://benefits.inbest.ai/barnet?multiLang=true&subpartner=barnetwebsite
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s80339/Appendix%201%20-%20Social%20Value%20Policy%202023-2026.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s80339/Appendix%201%20-%20Social%20Value%20Policy%202023-2026.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s81468/Quarterly%20FS%20Update%20Committee%20Report%20Final.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s81468/Quarterly%20FS%20Update%20Committee%20Report%20Final.pdf
https://engage.barnet.gov.uk/young-persons-perception-survey-2023
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s81460/BSCP%20Final%20Annual%20Report%2022-23.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s81460/BSCP%20Final%20Annual%20Report%2022-23.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s80934/SVD%20SNA%20November%202023.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s80934/SVD%20SNA%20November%202023.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=457&MId=11407&Ver=4
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=457&MId=11407&Ver=4
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s81523/Appendix%20B%20-%20Barnet%20SCP%20Serious%20Violence%20Strategy%202024%20-%202027.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s81523/Appendix%20B%20-%20Barnet%20SCP%20Serious%20Violence%20Strategy%202024%20-%202027.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s81523/Appendix%20B%20-%20Barnet%20SCP%20Serious%20Violence%20Strategy%202024%20-%202027.pdf
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-08/Dementia%20Strategy%202023-2028.pdf
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-08/Dementia%20Strategy%202023-2028.pdf
https://admin.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-05/Engagement%20and%20Co-production%20strategy%20and%20charter%20Nov22.pdf
https://admin.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-05/Engagement%20and%20Co-production%20strategy%20and%20charter%20Nov22.pdf
https://admin.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-05/Engagement%20and%20Co-production%20strategy%20and%20charter%20Nov22.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s80924/Jun-Sep%20SCPB%20Dashboard.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s80924/Jun-Sep%20SCPB%20Dashboard.pdf


27 

 

 
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-10/Barnet-Safer-
Communities-Safety-Strategy-2022-2027.pdf 

xvi Homelessness and Rough Steeping Strategy:  
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s79127/Appendix%20B%20-
%20Draft%20Homelessness%20and%20Rough%20Sleeping%20Strategy%
202023-28.pdf 

xvii Civic and Community Events Policy: 
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s76270/Civic%20and%20co
mmunity%20events%20policy%20CLLC%20070223.pdf 

xviii Events in Parks Policy:  
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s76675/Appendix%20A%20-
%20Events%20in%20Parks%20Policy%20Final.pdf 

xix Reduction and Recycling Plan: 

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s79667/Appendix%20A%20
Barnet%20RRP%202023-2025.pdf 

xx Air quality action plan: 
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/barnet_zero_air_quality_a
ction_plan_0.pdf  
 
xxi Flood Risk management Strategy: 
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s79706/Appendix%20B%20-
%20Local%20Flood%20Risk%20Management%20Strategy.pdf 

xxii Tree Policy: 
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s76705/Appendix%20A%20
Barnet%20Tree%20Policy%20FINAL.pdf 

xxiii Chief Finance Officer report (Q3 2023-24): 
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s81924/CFO%20Financial%2
0Monitoring%20Report%20Q3%202023-24.pdf 

827

https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-10/Barnet-Safer-Communities-Safety-Strategy-2022-2027.pdf
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-10/Barnet-Safer-Communities-Safety-Strategy-2022-2027.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s79127/Appendix%20B%20-%20Draft%20Homelessness%20and%20Rough%20Sleeping%20Strategy%202023-28.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s79127/Appendix%20B%20-%20Draft%20Homelessness%20and%20Rough%20Sleeping%20Strategy%202023-28.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s79127/Appendix%20B%20-%20Draft%20Homelessness%20and%20Rough%20Sleeping%20Strategy%202023-28.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s76270/Civic%20and%20community%20events%20policy%20CLLC%20070223.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s76270/Civic%20and%20community%20events%20policy%20CLLC%20070223.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s76675/Appendix%20A%20-%20Events%20in%20Parks%20Policy%20Final.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s76675/Appendix%20A%20-%20Events%20in%20Parks%20Policy%20Final.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s79667/Appendix%20A%20Barnet%20RRP%202023-2025.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s79667/Appendix%20A%20Barnet%20RRP%202023-2025.pdf
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/barnet_zero_air_quality_action_plan_0.pdf
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/barnet_zero_air_quality_action_plan_0.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s79706/Appendix%20B%20-%20Local%20Flood%20Risk%20Management%20Strategy.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s79706/Appendix%20B%20-%20Local%20Flood%20Risk%20Management%20Strategy.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s76705/Appendix%20A%20Barnet%20Tree%20Policy%20FINAL.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s76705/Appendix%20A%20Barnet%20Tree%20Policy%20FINAL.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s81924/CFO%20Financial%20Monitoring%20Report%20Q3%202023-24.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s81924/CFO%20Financial%20Monitoring%20Report%20Q3%202023-24.pdf


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B - Q3 2023-24 Performance Detail

Key:

For 2022-23 this is the full financial year

Theme Indicator Title Frequency Polarity Unit

Cumulative Year 

to Date or 

Number for 

Period

Baseline As At * Baseline Actual
Latest Available 

Data
Q3 Target Q3 Actual

DoT (from 

Baseline)
Q2 Actual Q1 Actual Comments

Number of sites in Barnet that are classed by the Alzheimer's Society as 

being Dementia Friendly
Quarterly Bigger is better Number

Cumulative year to 

date
2022-23 12 Q3 2023-24 Monitor 21 Improved 15 14

This is a cumulative indicator: there were 12 sites 

at the end of 2022-23 and this has now increased 

to 21.

Social Prescribing - Number of people in contact with Social 

Prescribers/Prevention and Wellbeing Co-ordinators
Quarterly Bigger is better Number

Cumulative year to 

date
2022-23 7521 Q3 2023-24 Monitor 5969 Improved 2297 1872 Improved based on 75% of 2022-23 full year result

Number of Health Champions in the community who received specialist 

mental health training
Quarterly Bigger is better Number

Cumulative year to 

date
31/03/2023 0 31/12/2023 Monitor 6 Improved 6 0

Specialist mental health training is a new initiative 

for 2023-24.

Number of schools on the Resilient Schools Network Quarterly Bigger is better Number Number for period 2022-23 81 Q3 2023-24 Monitor 83 Improved 81 82 0

% of people quitting smoking after using a Local Authority funded or 

delivered service

Quarterly - in 

arrears
Bigger is better % Number for period 2022-23 54.3 Q2 2023-24 40 49 Worsened 51.8

As Baseline Data - 

reported quarterly 

in arrears

Performance naturally fluctuates between 

quarters depending on numbers of people 

accessing the service and how they respond to 

support offered. However the Q3 result continues 

to exceed target and remains within the 

acceptable thresholds as set by the NHS (35 - 

70%).

Cumulative % of the eligible population aged 40-74 offered an NHS 

Health Check who received one Quarterly Bigger is better %
Cumulative year to 

date
2022-23 26.9 Q3 2023-24 Monitor 27 Improved 29.5 28 0

Food Dashboard indicator - Food Bank usage and Healthy Start uptake Quarterly Smaller is better Number Number for period 2022-23 36289 Q3 2023-24 Monitor 43005 Worsened 37777

As Baseline Data - 

reported quarterly 

in arrears

Foodbank usage continued to increase, thought to 

be due to the cost of living crisis but also as a 

result of promotion of support services by council 

services and partners.

Number of businesses involved in the Healthier High Streets 

programme Quarterly Bigger is better Number Number for period 2022-23 52 Q3 2023-24 Monitor 107 Improved 107 106 0

Number of health and wellbeing events taking place in libraries Quarterly Bigger is better Number Number for period Not applicable New measure Q3 2023-24 Monitor 96 Not applicable 135 79

Financial support awarded to residents Quarterly Bigger is better £
Cumulative year to 

date
Not applicable New measure Q3 2023-24 Monitor £1.723m Not applicable £1.109m £700,657 0

% of residents completing the benefit calculator then going on to visit 

webpages to apply for national benefits such as Universal Credit and 

Pension Credit.

Quarterly Bigger is better %
Cumulative year to 

date
Not applicable New measure Q3 2023-24 Monitor 34 Not applicable 42 42.7 0

Number of job starts following Employment Projects Quarterly Bigger is better Number
Cumulative year to 

date
2022-23 509 Q3 2023-24 Monitor 317 Worsened 122 91

Number of jobs sustained for 3 months Quarterly Bigger is better Number Number for period 2022-23 293 Q3 2023-24 Monitor 64 Worsened 62 87

Number of locations offering employment support services Quarterly Bigger is better Number Number for period Not applicable New measure Q3 2023-24 Monitor 10 Not applicable 8 4 0

Number of job starts in Growth Sectors Quarterly Bigger is better Number Number for period Not applicable New measure Q3 2023-24 Monitor 56 Not applicable 36 8 0

Number of businesses and partners who pay the London Living Wage Quarterly Bigger is better Number
Cumulative year to 

date
31/03/2023 39 Q3 2023-24 Increase 43 Improved 41 41 0

Number of visits across Better leisure facilities
Quarterly Bigger is better Number Number for period 2022-23 1436109 Q3 2023-24                   394,625                   339,222 Worsened                   372,750                   401,669 

Target is evenly split across all four quarters and 

Q3 is the quietest in terms of footfall. Q4 is busy 

and the end of year target should be reached. Q3 

2023-24 has worsened compared to one quarter 

of annual baseline total for 2022-23.

Number of libraries accredited as Dementia Friendly Venues Quarterly Bigger is better Number Number for period Not applicable New measure Q3 2023-24 Monitor 0 Not applicable 0 2

No additional libraries accredited but Dementia 

Friendly signage included in Chipping Barnet 

refurbishment.  

Theme Indicator Title Frequency Polarity Unit

Year to Date or 

Snapshot for 

Period

Baseline As At * Baseline Actual
Latest Available 

Data
Q3 Target Q3 Actual

DoT (from 

Baseline)
Q2 Actual Q1 Actual Comments

Number of families in temporary accommodation Quarterly Smaller is better Number Number for period 31/03/2023 1108 Q3 2023-24 Monitor                        1,150 Worsened 1168 1126

The number of families in temporary 

accommodation (TA) has increased, as has the 

total households in TA, mainly due to the rising 

cost of rental properties and decline in the supply 

of private rented properties. However, the latest 

position reflects a slight decrease in the 

proportion of families in TA which was 53% at the 

end of 2022-23 and is now 51%. 

% Council Tax collected (in year) Quarterly Bigger is better %
Cumulative year to 

date
2022-23 95.01 Q3 2023-24 Monitor 78.93 Not applicable 53.59 28.51

Council Tax collection was previously reported 

based on collection over four years; for the 

purposes of this outcome it is more appropriate to 

measure in-year collection

% of Barnet residents employed Quarterly Bigger is better %
Cumulative year to 

date
31/03/2023 76.5 Q3 2023-24 Monitor 69 Worsened 71.4 70.9

There are external factors which influence this 

which are out of the council's control such as the 

economy, Brexit and the lasting impact of Covid-

19.

% of residents who find employment after undertaking BOOST 

programmes
Quarterly Bigger is better %

Cumulative year to 

date
2022-23 50 Q3 2023-24 Monitor 53 Improved 47 42 0

Family Friendly

% of schools rated Good and Outstanding Annual Bigger is better %
Snapshot for 

period
2021-22 98.4 2022-23 Monitor 95.3 Worsened

While the % of schools rated Good or Outstanding 

has dropped compared to 2021-22, Barnet 

remains above the national average of 89% and 

London average of 95.2%.

% of children having reached a Good Level of Development at the end 

of the Early Years Foundation Stage
Annual Bigger is better %

Snapshot for 

period
2021-22 64.7 2022-23 Monitor 70.4 Improved 0

Attainment 8 - pupils' performance in 8 GCSE-level qualifications Annual Bigger is better %
Snapshot for 

period
2021-22 58.1 2022-23 Monitor 57 Worsened

While the Attainment 8 score has dropped slightly 

compared to 2021-22, Barnet remained the 3rd 

best performing local authority in the country.

Progress 8 - pupils' progress made between primary school and the end 

of GCSEs
Annual Bigger is better %

Snapshot for 

period
2021-22 0.49 2022-23 Monitor 0.64 Improved 0

Theme Indicator Title Frequency Polarity Unit

Year to Date or 

Snapshot for 

Period

Baseline As At * Baseline Actual
Latest Available 

Data
Q3 Target Q3 Actual

DoT (from 

Baseline)
Q2 Actual Q1 Actual Comments

% of highways defects passed to the contractor for repair within 10 

days of being notified or identified through cyclical inspection, following 

attendance, inspection and assessment

Quarterly Bigger is better % Number for period 2022-23 100 Q3 2023-24 100 100 Same 100 100 0

% of highways defects repaired within the prescribed timescales 

(Category 2 - 7 working days; Category 3 - 28 working days)
Quarterly Bigger is better Number Number for period 2022-23 92 Q3 2023-24 90 97.6 Improved 100 90.16 0

% of residential roads visited once per quarter.  All visited roads to be 

deemed within cleanliness grade B or above immediately post 

inspection

Quarterly Bigger is better % Number for period Not applicable New measure Q3 2023-24 95 100 Not applicable 100 100 0

% of planned community skip locations with skip delivered per quarter Quarterly Bigger is better % Number for period Not applicable New measure Q3 2023-24 95 100 Not applicable 100 100 0

% of fly tips collected within Street Scene SLA times Quarterly Bigger is better % Number for period Not applicable New measure Q3 2023-24 Increase 96 Not applicable 98 80 0

% of tenanted council properties compliant with the Decent Homes 

Standard
Quarterly Bigger is better % Number for period 2022-23 99.6 Q3 2023-24 100 99.83 Improved 99.5 95

There were 16 non-decent homes as at end of Q3; 

all are in progress with appointments booked to 

rectify the issues.

% of tenanted council properties with a current Landlord Gas Safety 

Record
Quarterly Bigger is better % Number for period 2022-23 99.9 Q3 2023-24 100 100 Improved 100 100 0

% of tenanted council properties for which all required fire risk 

assessments have been carried out
Quarterly Bigger is better % Number for period 2022-23 99.6 Q3 2023-24 100 100 Improved 100 100 0

% of repeat homelessness applications Quarterly Smaller is better %
Cumulative year to 

date
Not applicable New measure Q3 2023-24 Monitor 5.3 Not applicable 7.5 5.1 0

Number of homelessness preventions Quarterly Bigger is better Number
Cumulative year to 

date
2022-23 1020 Q3 2023-24 712 1028 Improved 633 294 0

Number of events in parks - organised by a charity / community group Quarterly Bigger is better Number Number for period Not applicable New measure Q3 2023-24 Monitor 60 Not applicable 10 17 0

Reducing poverty

Tackling inequalities

These indicators are available annually 

in line with the academic year so the 

2022-23 data became available during 

Q3.

Comparisons to the London 

and national average are 

included within the 

benchmarking data in this 

report.

The tables below set out performance in detail for the key performance indicators and outcome performance indicators agreed for the Delivery and Outcomes Framework, by pillar and theme. 

For Q3, we have only included those indicators with new data for Q3 2023-24 in order to focus the detail of the report; trend data for Q1 and Q2 has also been included for context. 

For existing performance indicators, a baseline position has been provided; this is an annual figure for 2022-23 or the latest available year if reported in arrears. 

Caring for People - Key Performance Indicators

Baseline As At *

Performance has met or exceeded target

Performance was within 10% of the target

Performance has not met target by 10% or more

Target is Monitor so a RAG status cannot be determined

Last year included outcomes from the JETS project 

delivered by BOOST and Shaw Trust, which 

provided additional funding and resource.  The 

funding for this has now ended.

Living well

Caring for Our Places - Key Performance Indicators

Safe, attractive 

neighbourhoods and town 

centres

Quality, affordable homes

Borough of fun

Delivery and Outcomes Framework - Performance Detail by Pillar

Caring for People - Outcome Performance Indicators

Reducing poverty

829



Appendix B - Q3 2023-24 Performance Detail

Theme Indicator Title Frequency Polarity Unit

Cumulative Year 

to Date or 

Number for 

Period

Baseline As At * Baseline Actual
Latest Available 

Data
Q3 Target Q3 Actual

DoT (from 

Baseline)
Q2 Actual Q1 Actual Comments

Number of events in parks - organised by LBB or jointly with The 

Mayor/Leader
Quarterly Bigger is better Number Number for period Not applicable New measure Q3 2023-24 Monitor 0 Not applicable 1 1

Number of events in parks - organised by a commercial organisation Quarterly Bigger is better Number Number for period Not applicable New measure Q3 2023-24 Monitor 0 Not applicable 7 5

Number of events in parks - private Quarterly Bigger is better Number Number for period Not applicable New measure Q3 2023-24 Monitor 0 Not applicable 0 0

Number of attendees (estimate, based on max. number allowed) Quarterly Bigger is better Number Number for period Not applicable New measure Q3 2023-24 Monitor                      58,260 Not applicable 53638 44184 0

Number of events and activities delivered at libraries Quarterly Bigger is better Number Number for period 2022-23                        1,065 Q3 2023-24 Monitor                           518 Improved 320 517

These are events delivered specifically by or in 

partnership with the library service and do not 

include any events delivered by third parties 

booking library rooms

Number of attendees at cultural events at libraries Quarterly Bigger is better Number Number for period 2022-23                      20,788 Q3 2023-24 Monitor                      10,909 Not applicable 7317 10791

The number of attendees are directly linked to the 

number of events delivered. Year to date, over 

29,000 residents have attended events at 

libraries, compared to just under 21,000 for the 

whole of 2022-23.

Theme Indicator Title Frequency Polarity Unit

Year to Date or 

Snapshot for 

Period

Baseline As At * Baseline Actual
Latest Available 

Data
Q3 Target Q3 Actual

DoT (from 

Baseline)
Q2 Actual Q1 Actual Comments

% of upheld complaints for the Street Scene service Quarterly Smaller is better % Number for period Not applicable New measure Q3 2023-24 Monitor 53 Not applicable 61 43.3 0

% of council tenants who report that they are satisfied that their home 

is well-maintained 
Quarterly Bigger is better % Number for period Not applicable New measure Q3 2023-24 Monitor

No survey 

completed
Not applicable 57.1 60 No surveys completed in Q3

% of council tenants who report that they are satisfied that their home 

is safe to live in 
Quarterly Bigger is better % Number for period Not applicable New measure Q3 2023-24 Monitor

No survey 

completed
Not applicable 65.7 69 No surveys completed in Q3

% of rough sleepers returning to the streets Quarterly Smaller is better % Number for period Not applicable New measure Q3 2023-24 Monitor 8.7 Not applicable 4 11.5

Theme Indicator Title Frequency Polarity Unit

Year to Date or 

Snapshot for 

Period

Baseline As At * Baseline Actual
Latest Available 

Data
Q3 Target Q3 Actual

DoT (from 

Baseline)
Q2 Actual Q1 Actual Comments

% of household waste recycled, composted or reused
Quarterly - in 

arrears
Bigger is better % Number for period 2022-23 27.3 Q2 2023-24 Monitor 31.9 Improved 27

As Baseline Data - 

reported quarterly 

in arrears

Latest data is Q2 2023-24 as reported quarterly in 

arrears

Number of Electric Vehicle Charging Points installed Quarterly Bigger is better number Number for period 2022-23 463 Q3 2023-24 Monitor 6 Not applicable 0 0

The majority of charging points are installed in Q4 

each year, due to the timescales for procurement 

which needs to take place before installations can 

be carried out

Barnet's organisation-based carbon emissions (measured ktCo2e)

Annual Smaller is better Number Number for period 2021-22 182.8 2022-23 Reduce 173.9 Improved As Baseline Data As Baseline Data
The 2022-23 position was confirmed in Q3 2023-

24

Number of sustainability engagement events held Quarterly Bigger is better Number
Cumulative year to 

date
Not applicable New measure Q3 2023-24 4 4 Not applicable 0 2 0

Number of new programmes/courses launched to support career 

development in green industries Quarterly Bigger is better Number
Cumulative year to 

date
Not applicable New measure Q3 2023-24 Monitor 3 Not applicable 2 1

Highways' compliance with managing the performance of the 

contractor delivering the annual gulley cleansing programme
Quarterly Bigger is better %

Cumulative year to 

date
2022-23 90 Q3 2023-24 100 99.32 Improved 100 100 0

% of task orders for Gulley, Catchpit and Soakaway Cleaning completed 

on time
Quarterly Bigger is better %

Cumulative year to 

date
2022-23 90 Q3 2023-24 90 100 Improved 100 94 0

Number of trees planted
Quarterly Bigger is better Number

Cumulative year to 

date
2022-23 847 Q3 2023-24 1000 1135 Improved 0 0

Theme Indicator Title Frequency Polarity Unit

Year to Date or 

Snapshot for 

Period

Baseline As At * Baseline Actual
Latest Available 

Data
Q3 Target Q3 Actual

DoT (from 

Baseline)
Q2 Actual Q1 Actual Comments

Number of Kw hours of charging undertaken Quarterly

Bigger is better

kW/hr Number for period 2022-23 1813512 Q3 2023-24 Increase                   473,902 Improved                   343,586                   331,895 

Performance in Q3 2022-23 was 205,841; 

performance for Q3 2023-24 shows an 

improvement compared to Q3 last year

Barnet's place-based carbon emissions (measured ktCo2e)

Annual

Smaller is better

Number Number for period 2019 1215 2021 Reduce                        1,127 Improved As Baseline Data As Baseline Data
The latest place-based position was published by 

the GLA in Q3 2023-24; this is for 2021

Theme Indicator Title Frequency Polarity Unit

Year to Date or 

Snapshot for 

Period

Baseline As At * Baseline Actual
Latest Available 

Data
Q3 Target Q3 Actual

DoT (from 

Baseline)
Q2 Actual Q1 Actual Comments

% of customers who are satisfied with the telephony experience Quarterly Bigger is better % Number for period 2022-23 92 Q3 2023-24 89 93.1 Improved 93.4 92.7 0

% of customers who are satisfied with the service on the web Quarterly Bigger is better % Number for period 2022-23 66.1 Q3 2023-24 65 72.5 Improved 69.5 64.9 0

% of cases resolved via self service using online forms and automated 

phone lines
Quarterly Bigger is better % Number for period 2022-23 69 Q3 2023-24 50 76.9 Improved 73.9 71.6 0

% accessibility performance score on the web Quarterly Bigger is better % Number for period 2022-23 84.2 Q3 2023-24 Monitor 71.6 Worsened 88.2 70.2

A website re-platform took place during Q3 which 

caused the software that measures this indicator 

to not recognise the parameters that had 

previously been put in place, reducing the score 

considerably. This was compounded by a code 

change in Google Translate which affected every 

page on the website. 

Theme Indicator Title Frequency Polarity Unit

Year to Date or 

Snapshot for 

Period

Baseline As At * Baseline Actual
Latest Available 

Data
Q3 Target Q3 Actual

DoT (from 

Baseline)
Q2 Actual Q1 Actual Comments

% of FOI requests answered with published data Quarterly Bigger is better %
Cumulative year to 

date
Not applicable New measure Q3 2023-24 Monitor 29 Not applicable 28 29

Journey to net zero

Safe, attractive 

neighbourhoods and town 

centres

Quality, affordable homes

Journey to net zero

Enhancing the local 

environment

Caring for The Planet - Key Performance Indicators

Caring for The Planet - Outcome Performance Indicators

Improving access to 

services

Community participation

Engaged and Effective Council - Key Performance Indicators

Engaged and Effective Council - Outcome Performance Indicators

Caring for Our Places - Outcome Performance Indicators

Borough of fun

No planned events in Q3

830



Appendix C - Latest Available Benchmarking Data

Caring for People

Tackling inequalities

Indicator Title Frequency Polarity Unit
Period (Latest 

Available Data)
Barnet London England

Performance against 

Comparators

% of Year 6 pupils who are obese (including severe obesity) Annual
Smaller is 

better
% 2021-22 34.9 40.5 37.8 Better

% of adults (aged 18+) classed as overweight or obese Annual
Smaller is 

better
% 2021-22 7.1 10.5 9.7 Better

Prevalence of Diabetes in the adult population (measured by QOF 

prevalence (17+ years)) 
Annual

Smaller is 

better
% 2021-22 6.7 6.8 7.3 Better

Prevalence of Dementia (measured by QOF prevalence (all ages)) Annual
Smaller is 

better
% 2021-22 0.6 0.5 0.7 On a par

Under 75 mortality rate from Cardiovascular diseases Annual
Smaller is 

better

Rate per 

100,000
2021 8.9 9.6 7.5 On a par

Suicide rate per 100,000 Annual
Smaller is 

better

Rate per 

1,000
2019-2021 7 10.8 15.9 Better

Living well

https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiMGE5NDI0NTQtOTMwZS00OT

Barnet 2021-22 

Outturn

Period (Latest 

Comparable Data)
Peer group comparator 

Regional (London) 

comparator group

England 

Average

Performance against 

Comparators

Proportion of adults with a learning disability in paid employment Annual
Bigger is 

better
% 8.2 8.9 2022-23 5.5 5.2 5.3 Better

Proportion of adults in contact with secondary mental health services 

living independently, with or without support
Annual

Bigger is 

better
% 16.6 19 2021-22 Q4 27 21 26 Worse

Proportion of people using social care who receive self-directed 

support: (Adults, older people receiving self directed support in the 

year)

Annual
Bigger is 

better
% 100 100 2022-23 88.6 93 88 Better

Proportion of people using social care who receive direct payments as 

part of self directed support (Adults receiving direct payments) 
Annual

Bigger is 

better
% 28.3 29.6 2022-23 24.1 25.2 24.6 Better

Proportion of new clients (65+) who received reablement services 

following discharge from hospital
Annual

Bigger is 

better
% 88.3 77.4 2021-22 Q2 89.2 85.1 81.8 Better

Proportion of adults with a learning disability who live in their own 

home or with their family
Annual

Bigger is 

better
% 84.9 82.4 2022-23 78.4 79.6 79 Better

Outcome of short-term services: where sequel to service was either no 

ongoing support or support of a lower level
Annual

Bigger is 

better
% 76.4 54.5 2022-23 75.7 73.8 74.2 Better

Proportion of new clients (65+) who received reablement services 

following discharge from hospital
Annual

Bigger is 

better
% 4.9 6 2021-22 Q1 3.9 4.3 2.8 Better

Social care reported quality of life – Impact of Social Care Services Annual
Bigger is 

better
Number 0.421 0.400 2022-23 0.395 0.399 0.399 Better

Proportion of people who use services who say that those services have 

made them feel safe and secure
Annual

Bigger is 

better
% 60.3 65.2 2022-23 68.1 66.4 66.1 Worse

Family friendly

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-performance-

Barnet 2021-22 

Outturn

Regional (London) 

comparator group
England Average Barnet Ranking 2022-23 *

Barnet Ranking 

2021-22

Performance against 

Comparators

% of children having reached a Good Level of Development at the end 

of the Early Years Foundation Stage
Annual

Bigger is 

better
% 70.4 64.7 69.1 67.2 17th 55th Better

Attainment 8 - pupils' performance in 8 GCSE-level qualifications Annual
Bigger is 

better
% 57 58.1 51 44.6 3rd 4th Better

Progress 8 - pupils' progress made between primary school and the end 

of GCSEs
Annual

Bigger is 

better
% 0.64 0.49 0.3 -0.06 2nd 8th Better

* - Ranking based on 1st being the best

Source: Keep Britain Tidy

Indicator Title Frequency Polarity Unit Barnet April 2019-20
Barnet April 2023-

24

London Benchmark 

2022-23

Performance against 

Comparators

Levels of litter at sample sites across the borough Annual
Smaller is 

better
% 12.66 4.3 9.37 Better

Levels of detritus at sample sites across the borough Annual
Smaller is 

better
% 28.25 7.57 12.57 Better

Levels of graffiti at sample sites across the borough Annual
Smaller is 

better
% 7.5 6.45 7.44 Better

Levels of fly-posting at sample sites across the borough Annual
Smaller is 

better
% 5.16 3.13 3.09 On a par

Locally commissioned survey undertaken by the Keep Britain Tidy group; results are shared direct with the council rather than published online

Latest Available Benchmarking Data

2022-23 Actual 

(Barnet)

Safe, attractive neighbourhoods and town centres

Source: Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework (as reported in the Adult Social Care Quality Assurance Report, June 2023)

2022-23 Actual 

(Barnet)

Source: Department for Education annual performance statistics

Indicator Title Frequency Polarity Unit

The latest available data is presented below; however this is at least 12 months old. We have given an indication of whether we are on a par, better or worse than our comparators (both London and England average) at that time to 

give a sense of how we compare against our peers but this should be considered in conjunction with the additional data in Appendix B. 

Caring for Our Places

Benchmarking

Benchmarking

Source: Barnet's Public Health Dashboard (NHS data) 

https://barnetcouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/BWIandI/SitePages/Public-Health-Dashboard.aspx  

Indicator Title Frequency Polarity Unit

831

https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiMGE5NDI0NTQtOTMwZS00OTNjLWE4MGYtMjMyOWU5ZDQxNTNkIiwidCI6IjM3YzM1NGIyLTg1YjAtNDdmNS1iMjIyLTA3YjQ4ZDc3NGVlMyJ9
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-performance-tables


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix D - Oflog Metrics with Comparators

Adult Social Care

Indicator Polarity Financial year Barnet

Median of Barnet's 

CIPFA Nearest 

Neighbours

England median
Performance against 

Comparators

Quality of life of people who use services - adjusted to account only for the 

additional impact of local-authority funded social care on quality of life, 

removing non-service-related factors (underlying health and care needs, 

gender, and so on) (1B in the ASCOF).

Bigger is better 2021-22 0.400 0.408 0.409 On a par

Quality of life of carers (1C in the ASCOF). Bigger is better 2021-22 6.6 7 7.2 On a par

The proportion of people who received short-term services during the year 

– who previously were not receiving services – where no further request 

was made for ongoing support (2A in the ASCOF).

Bigger is better 2021-22 54.50% 77.40% 76.40% Better

The proportion of people who use services who find it easy to find 

information about services (3D (1) in the ASCOF) – to be combined with 5 

from 2024.

Bigger is better 2021-22 62.90% 65.80% 65.20% On a par

The proportion of carers who find it easy to find information about support 

(3D (2) in the ASCOF) – to be combined with 4 from 2024.
Bigger is better 2021-22 51.30% 54.90% 57.30% On a par

The proportion of requests for support to the LA which result in a service 

multiplied by the number of requests per 100,000 population.
Bigger is better 2021-22

1259 per 100,000 

population

1276 per 100,000 

population

1708 per 100,000 

population
Better

Staff turnover in the workforce (The proportion of directly employed staff 

in the formal care workforce leaving their role in the past 12 months)
Smaller is better 2021-22 26.70% 26.80% 29.00% On a par

Caring for Our Places

Waste Management

Indicator Polarity Financial year Barnet

Median of Barnet's 

CIPFA Nearest 

Neighbours

England median
Performance against 

Comparators

Proportion of household waste sent for recycling. Bigger is better 2021-22 29.80% 38.40% 41.90% Worse

Residual (i.e., non-recycled) waste per household (tonnes). Smaller is better 2021-22
653.9 kg per 

household

517.9 kg per 

household

501.1 kg per 

household
Worse

Contamination rate of recycling - calculated as estimated proportion that is 

rejected of total amount of household waste sent for recycling.
Smaller is better 2021-22 8.30% 5.10% 5.50% Worse

Planning

Indicator Polarity Financial year Barnet

Median of Barnet's 

CIPFA Nearest 

Neighbours

England median
Performance against 

Comparators

Percentage of major planning applications decided on time Bigger is better 2020-22 82.40% 92.30% 89.80% Worse

Percentage of non-major planning applications decided on time Bigger is better 2020-22 87.30% 88.10% 88.20% On a par

Percentage of major planning applications overturned on appeal Smaller is better 2020-22 1.90% 1.80% 1.40% On a par

Percentage of non-major planning applications overturned on appeal Smaller is better 2020-22 2.80% 1.60% 0.70% Worse

Oflog Metrics with Comparators

The Office for Local Government (Oflog) launched the Local Authority Data Explorer in 2023, a new online tool which brings together a selection of existing metrics across a subset of service areas for data that 

is available at different levels of local authority. Following consultation in the latter part of 2023, a number of new indicators and service areas have been added, and existing areas expanded. The Oflog data 

explorer also includes information on Adult Skills and Roads, however this is not available at local authority level for Barnet, so is not included below.

The tables below show the data relevant to Barnet for the selected metrics along with comparative data for the borough's Nearest Neighbours and the England median; new indicators for Q3 are shown in 

italics. 

We have given an indication of whether we are on a par, better or worse than our comparators (both London and England average) at that time to give a sense of how we compare against our peers but this 

should be considered in conjunction with the additional data in Appendix B. 

Further information is available at https://oflog.data.gov.uk/

Caring for People

833



Appendix D - Oflog Metrics with Comparators

Finance

Indicator Polarity Financial year Barnet

Median of Barnet's 

CIPFA Nearest 

Neighbours

England median
Performance against 

Comparators

Reserves as a percentage of Net Revenue Expenditure. Bigger is better 2021-22 71.20% 60.20% 54.90% Better

Reserves as a percentage of service spend. Bigger is better 2021-22 53.10% 45.90% 44.60% Better

Total Core Spending Power per dwelling. Not applicable 2021-22 £1,878.97 £1,921.97 £1,885.14 Not applicable

Level of Band D council tax rates. Smaller is better 2021-22 £1,337.33 £1,402.00 £1,554.02 Better

Council tax revenue per dwelling. Bigger is better 2021-22 £1,668.65 £1,542.68 £1,293.42 Better

Social care spend as % of Core Spending Power. Smaller is better 2021-22 72.30% 63.70% 66.40% Worse

Debt servicing as % of Core Spending Power. Not applicable 2021-22 7.70% 9.60% 9.00% Not applicable

Total debt as % of Core Spending Power. Smaller is better 2021-22 265.10% 267.90% 226.70% On a par

Number of upheld complaints Smaller is better 2021-22
5.4 per 100,000 

population

6.1 per 100,000 

population

4.6 per 100,000 

population
On a par

Council tax collection rates (in year) Bigger is better 2021-22 94.50% 96.40% 95.20% Worse

Non-domestic rates collection rates (in year) Bigger is better 2021-22 90.80% 95.10% 96.20% Worse

Engaged and Effective Council

834



Appendix E - Q3 2023-24 High Level (15+) Risks by Our Plan Theme

New Risk 

ID

 Risk Title Risk Description Risk Owner Job Title Our Plan for 

Barnet Theme

Residual 

Risk - 

Total

Response 

Option

Current Quarter Review Summary

ES025 School budget pressures 

(quality education)

Falling rolls could lead to schools facing 

additional budget pressures resulting in an 

impact on the quality of education.

Assistant Director - 

Education, Strategy 

and Partnerships/

BELS Chief Executive

Family friendly 16 Treat Presentation to Chairs/Vice Chairs of Governors and Head Teachers on projected rolls. Focusing 

further conversations in areas where we will have an excess capacity going forward.

ES033 Strain on SEN transport An increase in the number of borough ECHPs 

could lead to increased demand on SEN 

Transport resulting in additional resource 

requirements to meet additional demand.

Assistant Director - 

Education, Strategy 

and Partnerships/

BELS Chief Executive

Family friendly 16 Treat The Head of SEN / Head of Service (Transport Brokerage and Contract Management) consistently 

reviews transport arrangements and will change routes as required . There has been a recent open 

procurement process which means that although prices have gone up to reflect cost of living and 

wider increases they remain competitive. The Head of Service is also working closely with council 

services to identify  if there are any wider efficiencies  to be made, including bringing routes in 

house where appropriate.

AD017 Shortage of community 

equipment

Stock and capacity challenges with our 

community equipment provider, which supplies 

equipment to multiple London Boroughs as part 

of a pan-London Consortium, could cause delays 

in discharging people from hospital or people 

receiving prescribed equipment resulting in 

negative impacts to their health and wellbeing 

and financial implications to the council.

Head of Care Quality Living well 16 Treat Q3 has seen continued improvement to the community equipment service delivered by NRS with 

established weekly meetings between the council and the Greenford depot management team 

ensuring oversight and completion of improvement actions. The backlog inherited during service 

transition continues to reduce on a week by week basis due in part to the recruitment of 

additional drivers and technicians, but there is more to be done to reduce this further, with a 

particular focus on closing cases that no longer require fulfilment. NRS are now sharing a weekly 

out-of-stock list that includes close technical equivalents to ensure prescribers can order items 

without delay. The depot team plan ahead to ensure Barnet’s top 20 products are always in stock, 

chasing their suppliers and communicating when items are unavailable. Specials continue to be 

scrutinised by the council's Occupational Therapy (OT) Lead  to reduce the risk to the budget. 

Communication has been improved between NRS and the council's contract manager/OT Lead. At 

our request the depot team developed an information leaflet for Barnet residents that is provided 

upon delivery of each order. Overall service delivery has improved over the quarter and risks 

continue to be managed. 

AD027 Triage and allocation Demand exceeding capacity within social work 

and occupational teams could lead to increased 

time between initial triage (contact) and 

assessments, for reviews and Deprivation of 

Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) work resulting in 

poorer outcomes for residents and an increased 

need for urgent work.

Director - Adult Social 

Care

Living well 16 Treat The service is monitoring numbers of triaged residents and developing new approaches to 

decrease time between triage and allocation. This includes a plan to bring in an external agency to 

provide a block of additional capacity.

STR004 Response to emergency 

or incident

Insufficient resilience management (e.g. 

Business Continuity, Emergency (BC) Planning, 

Health & Safety) could lead to the council being 

unable to respond effectively to an emergency 

or incident resulting in disruption to services; 

harm to staff and/or the public; and legal 

challenge. 

Executive Director - 

Assurance

Safe, attractive 

neighbourhood

s and town 

centres

16 Treat Whilst our emergency planning and response to civil emergencies and business continuity 

incidents remains resilient, the Business Continuity Audit report dated November 2023 highlighted 

three high and two medium recommendations around documentation and procedures leading to 

an overall assessment of Limited Assurance. Accordingly, we have increased the likelihood of this 

risk from a 3 to a 4. The five recommendations have been converted into an action plan with 

timeframes and work is already being progressed. Monthly monitoring of progress has been 

introduced with the Executive Director of Assurance sponsoring the project. The risk score will be 

reviewed each quarter and reduced when there is sufficient movement in the project and greater 

assurance in our documentation. 

C&P086 Unsafe/ unhealthy living 

accommodation in 

private rented sector

A backlog of HMO licensing casework built up 

during the pandemic and work on the Homes for 

Ukraine project , plus staffing issues across the 

Private Sector Housing Team,  could lead 

response to service request, identification of 

issues being slower and all proactive activity to 

search for unlicensed properties being delayed 

resulting in residents being exposed to 

unsafe/unhealthy living conditions and 

elongated licensing processing timescales.

Director - Growth Quality, 

affordable 

homes

16 Treat Resources continue to be focused on highest risk cases.  Levelling up restructure completed and 

implemented. The permanent recruitment commencing in January 2024 is pending financial 

approval.

TBG002 Health, safety and 

compliance issues

Barnet Homes' failure to achieve regulatory 

requirements for the housing stock could lead to 

health, safety and compliance issues resulting in 

harm to residents, staff and public, legal 

challenges and financial costs. 

Head of Strategic 

Housing

Quality, 

affordable 

homes

15 Treat Following a resident engagement process on two estates with large panel system (LPS) blocks, a 

Cabinet decision has been taken to decant residents and redevelop the estates, replacing LPS 

blocks with inherent issues with high quality housing. Designs will now be developed and a 

business case brought forward. Fire safety related works continue and an approach to remediating 

council houses with timber frames and cladding is being developed to ensure a holistic approach 

with freehold houses affected. The approach towards dealing with damp and mould in the council 

continues with good progress made, and the actions in the action plan reported to Cabinet in June 

2023 are now all complete.

TBG001 Increased demand for 

temporary 

accommodation

Failure to prevent households becoming 

homeless and a lack of suitable affordable 

accommodation options could lead to an 

increased demand for expensive temporary 

accommodation resulting in increased budget 

pressures in the General Fund.

Head of Strategic 

Housing

Quality, 

affordable 

homes

16 Treat The Open Door Homes (ODH) acquisitions programme has made good progress throughout Q3 

2023/24, achieving KPI targets. The current programme will cease at 300 council houses, with a 

new programme of 300 developed as part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS)  

initiatives. Capital Strategy Board (CSB) approval has been obtained, and ODH Board and Cabinet 

approval is being sought in Q4 2023/24. The ODH tranche 3 programme was completed in Q3 

2023/24. With growing demand and financial pressure in this area, MTFS related initiatives are still 

being developed for implementation in 2024/25. Barnet Homes achieved 339 prevention 

outcomes in Q2 2023/24 - the highest quarterly performance since 341 outcomes in Q4 2021/22. 

STR008 Environmental 

sustainability

Climate change could lead to negative long-term 

consequences to the local environment (such as 

flooding) and public health resulting in statutory 

environmental duties and targets not being met, 

financial and health consequences and not 

protecting the environment for future 

generations.

Deputy Chief 

Executive

Journey to net 

zero

16 Treat At a regional level, Barnet is leading on the data framework action, under the London Council's 

Resilient and Green Workstream. As part of this work, a meeting was held with Public Health 

London and a workshop is being planned for early 2024 to agree data metrics between health and 

local government. Initial discussions have also taken place with Bloomberg who led on the London 

Climate risk maps with a view to developing them further at a local level. Formal response to 

Citizens' Assembly recommendations was delivered in November 2023, this includes a focus on 

establishing community action groups. The risk shows an increase due to a more in-depth review 

of the profiling of this risk (the inherent and residual scores have been adjusted). 

CSG003 Cyber security - technical 

infrastructure

A cyber attack could lead to the council being 

unable to operate resulting in widescale 

disruption and financial cost.

Assistant Director - 

Resident Experience 

and Digital

Improving 

access to 

services

15 Treat There is a constant battle with active rogue actors in the cyber space, and the IT service are vigilant 

and proactive in minimising and disrupting these attacks. A phishing attack simulation was 

performed in October 2023.

STR013 Cyber security - business 

continuity, staff training 

and governance

A cyber attack could lead to the council being 

unable to operate resulting in widescale 

disruption and financial cost.

Director - 

Transformation

Improving 

access to 

services

15 Treat A phishing simulation exercise took place in October 2023 for all staff and partners and showed 

improvement, with less staff clicking on links and more staff reporting the email as phishing. These 

exercises will continue to be run quarterly. The mandatory training is being enhanced to include 

cyber, and specific training for the Council Management Team (CMT) and councillors is being 

introduced early in Q4 2023/24. 

AD001 Increased overspend to 

meet (ASC) statutory 

duties 

Uncertainty about future demand for services, 

increasing complexity and cost of care packages, 

the availability of hospital discharge funding 

streams and support, and legislative changes 

could lead to a worsening budget overspend for 

the service resulting in insufficient resources to 

meet statutory obligations and a deterioration 

in the council's overall financial position.

Executive Director - 

Adults and Health

Financially 

responsible

20 Treat The service continues to do all it can to manage the budget whilst meeting statutory duties. There 

is an increasingly pressured health and social care system and social care market. The forecast is 

projecting greater pressures than were modelled for 2023/24. In-year financial recovery plans are 

being implemented and this alongside Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) plans for 24/25 - 

25/26 have identified just under £10m of savings. In-year recovery actions include benchmarking 

analysis on demand, spend and income, senior sign-off of all high-cost packages, quick reviews of 

people following discharge from hospital to ensure a proportionate level of care as people 

recover, the use of equipment and technology wherever suitable and maximising the benefits of 

enablement services and income opportunities. 

835



Appendix E - Q3 2023-24 High Level (15+) Risks by Our Plan Theme

New Risk 

ID

 Risk Title Risk Description Risk Owner Job Title Our Plan for 

Barnet Theme

Residual 

Risk - 

Total

Response 

Option

Current Quarter Review Summary

ASS018 Audit actions not 

implemented

Audit advice and/or agreed actions not being 

implemented could lead to a deterioration in 

the council's control environment resulting in 

the Head of Internal Audit providing a Limited 

Assurance Annual Opinion.

Head of Internal Audit Financially 

responsible

16 Treat Q3 outturn not yet known; once work is complete, the outturn will be reported to GARMS 

Committee on 18 January 2024. The internal audit team are following up with action owners on a 

monthly basis in the quarter that actions are due. Individual CMT Directors will be made aware as 

soon as it looks like an action in their area will be not be implemented within the agreed 

timeframe, or if the responsible officer is not providing a suitable update to internal audit. Until a 

higher % implementation rate is achieved and this is sustained over a period of time the risk rating 

will remain at 16.

C&P002 Affordability of BXC 

(Brent Cross West and 

associated Critical 

Infrastructure project)

Ineffective management of the Brent Cross 

budget, adverse macro-economic conditions or 

delays caused by third parties and external 

events could lead to pressure within the 

government grant funding budget resulting in 

increased costs to the council. 

Deputy Chief 

Executive

Financially 

responsible

15 Treat The station construction is complete. The station opened to the public on 10 December 2023. 

Financial risks remain and the council remain in dispute with Network Rail over a number of 

project related issues. With station opening now out of the way the team will focus on resolving 

these. A variation to the settlement agreement with North London Waste Authority (NLWA) has 

allowed the Geron Way option to be paused to give more time to review an alternative site. An 

updated assessment of Council Land Contribution (CLC) income is underway including a review of 

the retail park holding. This will inform the over project financial risk position.

C&P038 Variations to budget for 

parking

Changes in car usage or behaviour change as a 

result of external forces (e.g. new working 

arrangements following the pandemic, new 

policies/legislation, economic situation, etc) 

could lead to an unplanned reduction in income 

resulting in pressure on the general fund and 

the ability to fund other projects. 

Interim Senior Parking 

Lead

Financially 

responsible

16 Treat Continued monitoring of activity and volatility on income lines. New base income forecasting tools 

are being developed by Finance. Revised Controlled Parking Zones (CPZ) programme approved by 

Capital Strategy Board (CSB) funding approval and responsibility for implementation has been 

transferred to Highways. High level oversight of implementation to be established through 

Highways Board and day to day monitoring through recruitment of funded PMO resource. 

Resourcing pressures affecting service delivery and income collection arising from financial 

environment and spending controls to be monitored and countered by robust business case 

development.

STR028 Affordability of Capital 

Programme 

Economic outlook and supply chain issues (rising 

labour and material costs, labour and material 

availability issues, fuel price) could lead to 

project delays and/or increases in project cost 

resulting in projects not being delivered on time 

or no longer being viable.

Deputy Chief 

Executive

Financially 

responsible

20 Treat The capital programme is undergoing and will be reprofiled where appropriate including 

resources.  February update: The team has completed the review of high priority projects and 

identified opportunities to ease some of the financial pressure to ensure affordability of the 

capital programme. This includes, reprofiling projects to ease the immediate financial pressures; 

and removing borrowing where possible, leading to re-scoping of projects.

STR017 Revenue overspend Central government funding for the council 

being adversely affected by changes in 

government policy or budget pressures being 

higher than anticipated could lead to non-

achievement of budget targets and an 

overspend on the revenue budget resulting in an 

impact on service provision and / or quality and 

financial consequences for the council.

Executive Director - 

Resources

Financially 

responsible

20 Treat Rising demand for services continues to be a financial challenge for the authority, against a 

backdrop of rising costs faced by care sector providers. In November 2023, new financial controls 

were introduced across the council to add additional approvals for expenditure on recruitment, 

overtime, contracts and discretionary spend. The challenging financial position has been 

communicated across the council through weekly updates, a Breakfast Briefing and Department 

Roadshows. In addition, some departments have introduced an additional approval layer for 

certain expenditure.

STR023 Recruitment to and 

retention of roles in key 

sectors

National and local difficulties in recruiting to key 

roles could lead to local recruitment and 

retention issues resulting in a failure to meet 

statutory duties, council priorities and workforce 

and financial pressures. 

Chief Executive A great place to 

work

16 Treat Meetings between HR and trade unions are taking place and progress is being made on a number 

of issues surrounding Unified Reward. The labour market appears to have broadly stabilised, 

although the risk of recession and funding difficulties within local government do mean that 

employers could be refraining from creating additional roles.

836



 

 
 

 
 

Cabinet 

Title  The Barnet Group Business Plan 

Date of meeting 12 March 2024  

Report of Councillor Ross Houston, Deputy Leader and Cabinet 
Member for Homes and Regeneration   

Wards All 

Status Public with accompanying exempt appendix - Exempt from 
publication in accordance with paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A 
of the Local Government Act 1972 on account that it contains 
information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person including the authority holding the 
information. 

Key Key 
 

Urgent No 
 

Appendices Appendix A – (Exempt) 
 

Lead Officer Tim Mulvenna, Chief Executive Officer- The Barnet Group 
Tim.Mulvenna@thebarnetgroup.org 
0208 359 4142 

Officer Contact Details  Shaun McLean, The Barnet Group 
Shaun.Mclean@BarnetHomes.org 
0208 359 4681 

Summary 
In accordance with the Shareholder agreement between London Borough of Barnet and 
The Barnet Group (TBG), there is a requirement for TBG to prepare an annual 5-year 
business plan each year. Once this business plan has been approved by TBG Board it 

837

AGENDA ITEM 15

mailto:Tim.Mulvenna@thebarnetgroup.org
mailto:Shaun.Mclean@barnethomes.org


 

 

is shared with the Council and is presented to Cabinet for information as the Council is 
100% shareholder of the Group. 
The companies within TBG generally provide statutory services on behalf of the Council 
(housing and adult social care) and so as a Group do not make significant surpluses. 
Over 80% of TBG revenue is from the Council. Within TBG there is a registered social 
housing provider, TBG Open Door Limited, (Open Door) which is making significant 
accounting losses (though is generally cash neutral) as it is operating to a long-term 
business plan whereby it has significant assets and debt which is at a fixed interest rate 
and as rental increase, so the entity will be profitable and repay its debts over a 50-year 
timeframe.  

Recommendations 

1. That Cabinet approve The Barnet Group (and subsidiaries) 5-year business plan.  

1. Reasons for the Recommendations 

1.1 Introduction 
As per clause 2.6 of the Shareholder agreement dated 2nd February 2016, The Barnet 
Group will present a 5-year business plan for the Barnet Group and each entity within the 
specified in clause 2.6 (the Group) to the Council for approval each year.  
 

1.2 Budget overview 2024/25 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Entity 

Surplus/ 
(deficit) 
2024/25 

£’000 

Key points 

The Barnet Group (41) Continues to deliver a small loss from overheads 

Barnet Homes 182 Key risks – Difficulties operating within the core 
contract ‘envelope’ 

Your Choice 73  

Bumblebee 
281 

 

Key risks – more landlords exit the sector meaning 
lower lease and/or management deal volumes. 
and its’ impact on cash flow 

TBG Flex 11 
Key risks – Staff turnover reduces significantly or 
more agency staff utilised. Turnover would be net 
neutral for the Group 

Service 
Companies 506  

Open Door (3,819) 
Key risks – Increased arrears, increased 
operating costs (primarily repairs) and interest 
rates for acquisition program.  

Group result (3,313) (4,130) (4,581) (4,564) (4,250) 

838



 

 

1.3 Key Assumptions 
 

    2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 
CPI 6.7% 3.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 
Pay increases 5% 3% 2% 2% 2% 
Insurance 30% 10% 2% 2% 2% 
Utilities 10% 5% 2% 2% 2% 

Barnet 
Homes 

Management fee 
increase 6% 3% 2% 2% 2% 
LLW increase £1.20/hr £1/hr £1/hr £1hr £1/hr 
Non-LLW linked pay 
increases 5% 3% 2% 2% 2% 
Insurance 30% 10% 2% 2% 2% 

YCB 

Utilities 10% 5% 2% 2% 2% 
Unit Growth (Start 
786 units) 176 90 106 32 0 

ODH 

Other assumptions 
As per 

BH 
As per 

BH 
As per 

BH 
As per 

BH 
As per 

BH 
Unit Growth/sales 
(Start 403 units) 1 11 51 37 44 

Bumblebee 

Other assumptions 
As per 
BH 

As per 
BH 

As per 
BH 

As per 
BH 

As per 
BH 

 
1.3.1 The table above summarises the main assumptions per entity. Specific assumptions per 

entity are further below where relevant. 
 
1.4 Barnet Homes 
1.4.1 Key items that support the Barnet Homes budget and assumptions made are as follows: 
1.4.1.1 The key points (not included in 1.3 above) are: 

 
• The contract with LBB ends in Year 2 and is subject to renewal. Years 3- 5 assume the 

renewal is on the same terms as currently.  
• Conversion of approximately £1m of agency and sub-contractor spend to permanent 

employees within the repairs team. 
• A ‘recycling’ of between £400k and £650k of TBG Flex surplus is included each year. 

 
1.4.1.2  In applying the above assumptions, a surplus is achieved in year 1 & 2. Thereafter, 

as currently identified development fees finish and then the ODH acquisition program 
completes, speculative growth income is required to achieve breakeven (see 1.6.3 
below). 

 

839



 

 

1.4.1.3 The minimum reserves as agreed by Board is £1m. The reserves are forecast to remain 
well above this level. 

 
Year £k 2023/24 

Fcst 
2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 

Opening 
Reserves 

2,042 1,985 2,167 3,322 3,367 3,395 

Movement in 
year 

(57) 182 24 36 16 44 

Closing 
Reserves 

1,985 2,167 2,191 2,227 2,243 2,287 

 
1.4.2 5-year summary 

 
Year £k 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 
Proposed budget 182 24 36 16 44 

 
1.4.2.1 Barnet Homes financial performance continues to rely on development and 

acquisitions income to generate surpluses (Yr 1 & 2) and to achieve break-even in 
later years. External factors continue to create financial pressures on delivery of the 
management agreement, particularly within repairs. 

 
1.5 Core Services 
1.5.1 This reflects the financial performance of the original Management Agreement. The 

specified savings in the early years of the contract have meant that revenue reduced 
faster than costs; but BH protected service delivery by cross-subsiding the profits from 
growth to offset the core contract losses. 
 

1.5.2 The below summarises the core contract and the revenue has been validated against 
the costs within the HRA. The financial pressures on the HRA from lower than planned 
rents over the years, additional costs from new legislation (fire safety and Building safety 
in particular) has meant that the HRA has limited financial capacity in years 3-5 than has 
been the case historically. 

 

 
 

Core Services 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Income 51,771 52,067 53,171 53,855 56,060

Expenditure 52,725 52,950 54,229 54,648 57,186

Operating Contribution (954) (883) (1,058) (792) (1,126)

840



 

 

1.6 Non-Core Services 
 

1.6.1 The below reflects financial performance of the other services provided to LBB outside 
of the main contract (e.g. Housing Options and General Fund housing services) 

 

 
    
 
1.6.2 The below reflects financial performance of Growth & Development, which includes 

acquisition income. 
 

 
 
1.6.3 Growth in development and acquisition fees is as per the table below. 

Other Ad-hoc 
Services

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Income 10,174 10,431 10,639 10,852 11,069

Expenditure 9,436 9,697 9,891 10,089 10,291

Operating Contribution 738 733 748 763 778

Development & 
Acquisitions

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Income 2,593 2,435 2,652 2,397 2,791

Expenditure 2,195 2,261 2,306 2,352 2,399

Operating Contribution 398 174 346 45 392

841



 

 

      
Income £000 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 

Identified Development 
schemes 1,300 1,329 588 297 341 

Identified acquisition 
program- ODH 1,181 1,106 964 200 - 

Identified acquisition 
program - LBB 112 - - - - 

Speculative 
Development fee- 

Unidentified 
- - 1,100 1,900 2,450 

TOTAL G&D INCOME 2,593 2,435 2,652 2,397 2,791 
 

1.6.4 The identified development schemes are all known and approved, where the risk is 
slippage to the project as the BH fee is fixed. The ODH acquisition income is 
dependent on interest rates remaining within business case parameters. Significant 
speculative fees are required to continue the cross subsidy of the management 
agreement. Alternatively significant cost reductions in these teams would reduce the 
value required but could also mean reduced capacity in future years. The Development 
Team have a good record of securing additional work, but the ‘gap’ is significant 
especially with no acquisitions program to support generating revenue.   

 
1.7 Key Risks 
 
 Key risks within the budget are as follows: 
 
1.7.1 Downside 

• Uncertainty regarding growth and development income if targets for acquisitions 
and milestones for development fees are not met. Other efficiency savings will 
need to be found if the speculative schemes do not materialise.   

• Difficulty ‘containing’ repairs costs. 
• Increased demand and legislation on services, particularly repairs. 
• The HRA business plan (and thus the BH budget) assumes £1.2m reduction in 

repairs costs in year 2 from lower damp & mould and disrepair; this needs to be 
achieved. 

 
1.7.2 Upside 

• Additional development income from new opportunities  
• Additional management fees from higher growth in Open Door and/or 

Bumblebee 
• Greater contribution from TBG Flex surpluses 
• Less demand on repairs, particularly disrepair. 

     

842



 

 

 
1.8 Your Choice Barnet 

Due to the commercial sensitivity of the Your Choice (Barnet) budget, the detail of this 
company budget has been included under Appendix A  

 
1.9 Open Door 
 
1.9.1 5-year summary  

The following table shows the current draft budget. 
 

Year £k 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 
Proposed budget- 
2024/25 

(3,819) (4,479) (4,977) (4,990) (4,758) 

 
1.9.2 Assumptions 
 Assumptions in addition to 1.3 above: 
1.9.2.1 Rent 

For the affordable rents, increases of 7.7% then CPI+1%.  
Acquisition units which are used for temporary accommodation, is at Local Housing 
Allowance. An increase of 4.5% for year 1, Nil increase for years 2&3 and then 3% for 
years 4&5 have been assumed. 

 
1.9.2.2  Breakdown of units in management 
 

  
   
 The new build programmes have completed and there are no new schemes identified. 

The current acquisition program will stop at 300 units, but a new program of 300 units to 
be acquired and buying the Touchpoint portfolio of leases has been approved by the 
Board. No growth is forecast for 2028/29. 

 
 

843



 

 

 
1.9.2.3 Loan Interest Rate  
 The current acquisition program is fully funded. The new program has assumed interest 

rates of 5.75% for the acquisitions and 5.25% for the Touchpoint acquisition. 
 
1.9.2.4    Bad Debt Provision 
 3% bad debt provision has been assumed for both new build and acquisitions in line with 

the business plan.  
 
1.9.3 Risks 
  
1.9.3.1 Downside 
The budget is subject to uncertainties, as the assumptions are based on the business plan. 

• Additional rent changes vs the rent standard and/or additional LHA freezes beyond the 
assumptions in future years. 

• A worsening of debt collection, particularly with the additional acquisition units; similarly higher 
repairs volumes and costs than assumed.  

• Changes to legislation resulting in additional works and costs to buildings or governance. 
• Accounting treatment under IFRS16 for the Touchpoint lease may impact the financial 

performance (though not cashflow) 
 
1.9.3.2 Upside  

• Any future rent increase or LHA increase above assumptions will benefit the plan. 
• Interest rates being below the assumed 5.75% 

 
1.10.  TBG Flex 
1.10.1 5-year summary 
 
Year £k 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 
Proposed budget- 
2024/25 

11 13 11 16 14 

Surplus transfer 610 680 750 810 880 
 
 The overall position for TBG Flex is that it will be in surplus throughout the 5-year period, 

this is due to the 4% margin charged on all seconded staff. Tax advice has been received 
on the need for TBG Flex to make a margin and options to ‘recycle’ excess surplus to 
entities within the Group as the surpluses are internally generated. 

1.10.2 Risks 
 Both downside and upside risks relate to volume of staff employed via TBG Flex. If less 
staff, this would generate less surplus in Flex but potentially marginally improve BH or 
YCB surplus. 

844



 

 

 
1.11 Bumblebee 
 
1.11.1 Key Assumptions 
1.11.1.1 The business model has changed with the market and there is more lease 

management than leases, Bumblebee is now also selling properties. 
 
1.11.1.2 Income and cost increases 

All costs are budgeted to move in line with CPI unless long term leases. 
 
1.11.2 5-year summary 
 Based on the above assumptions the 5-year summary is as follows: 
 
Year £k 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 
Proposed budget- 
2024/25 

281 256 294 340 397 

  
1.11.3 Key risks 
 
1.11.3.1 Downside 

• Management and letting numbers may not be achieved if the economy changes 
• Sales targets may not be achieved. 
• In the current economic climate costs could be incurred on evictions. 
• Bad debts  

 
1.11.3.2 Upside  

• Client mix may lead to lower bad debts  
• With fewer leases repairs costs should be lower 
• Lease income could be higher if a higher than budgeted rent per tenant is 

achieved 
• Higher than budgeted management leases could be achieved resulting in higher 

revenue 
 
1.12. The Barnet Group Company 
1.12.1 5-year summary 
 
Year £k 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 
Proposed budget- 
2024/25 

(41) (44) (45) (46) (47) 

845



 

 

 
 The budget is for a loss each year, this is due to the entity only incurring costs, mainly 
director fees, insurance and audit fees relating to the entity, less some interest income. 

 
1.13 Recommendation 

It is recommended that Cabinet approve The Barnet Group 5-year business plan. 

2. Alternative Options Considered and Not Recommended 
2.1 No other options were considered as the annual income and rate of increase for Barnet 

Homes is defined within the 10-year Management agreement and equates to the costs 
included in the Council’s Housing Revenue Account and applicable sections of general 
fund budgets presented to Cabinet previously.  Increases within Your Choice (Barnet) 
are negotiated annually. 

3. Post Decision Implementation 

3.1 These budgets have already been included with the Councils overall budget (apart from 
final agreement on the Your Choice (Barnet) increase in rates). The Barnet Group is 
already delivering these services and plans to continue delivering quality, value for 
money services in the 2024/25 financial year are already being implemented. 

4. Corporate Priorities, Performance and Other Considerations 

4.1Corporate Plan 
Delivery of The Barnet Group budgets will support Council in delivering its Corporate 
Plan 2023 – 2026 priorities as follows: 

• Caring for people – Barnet Homes is responsible for the management of the 
properties and customer experience of residents of the Council’s social housing. 
Your Choice (Barnet) is providing adult social care services within the borough 
and Bumblebee lettings is a source of properties for those who may otherwise be 
homeless. 

• Caring for our places – Barnet Homes is managing the social housing homes and 
the communal areas around the homes. 

• Caring for our planet – Barnet Homes is maintaining properties and reviewing 
options to enhance energy efficiency ratings and reduce the impact on the 
environment. 

• An engaged and effective council – tenant and service user services are adapted 
based on the feedback and inputs of these groups. 

Corporate Performance / Outcome Measures 
4.1 The Barnet Group Board has two Councillors on its Board who monitor performance. 
4.2 The Barnet Homes Delivery Plan is agreed annually by Cabinet 

Sustainability  
4.3 The council has set ambitious targets to become net zero as an organisation by 2030 

and net zero as a borough by 2042. To achieve this, the council recognises the 
importance, and necessity, to embed sustainability considerations into all decision 
making and council activity. By accepting this report, the properties in the portfolio will 

846



 

 

have the required long-term investment to enhance their energy efficiency ratings and 
achieve a minimum C rating. 
 
Corporate Parenting  

4.4 The annual financial performance is reported back to officers as part of the financial 
year-end. 

4.5 Where possible Barnet Homes work closely with relevant Council departments to ensure 
that care leavers make a successful transition to independent living where. 
Risk Management 

4.6 The Barnet Group Board manages risks for the Group. Any specific risks relating to The 
Barnet Group performance is included within Councils risks register. 

 
Insight 

4.7   The performance of the Group is monitored by The Barnet Group Board and on a quarterly 
basis by Council Officers including the Deputy Chief Executive. 

Social Value 
4.7 The services provided with The Barnet Group all have a social value or any profits 

generated from commercial operations are utilised to deliver or subsidise the delivery of 
social value services. 

4.8 Procurement with The Barnet Group includes requirements of suppliers to contribute to 
social value activities within the borough. 

5. Resource Implications (Finance and Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT 
and Property)  

5.1 The financial performance of The Barnet Group will form part of the final annual financial 
statements of the Council. 

6. Legal Implications and Constitution References  
6.1 This report satisfies the requirements of clause 2.6 of the Shareholder agreement.  The 

shareholder agreement requires business plans in respect of each company within the 
group, to cover an annual operating revenue plan and capital expenditure requirements 
including funding source, balance sheet forecast, minimum 5-year term financial strategy 
plan, a plan for the use of any surpluses, an annual profit and loss account for each service 
delivered and further information if requested. TBG’s business plan is to include the 
business plans of all the companies in the same group. This includes the business plan of 
Barnet Homes, which is to be in accordance with the management agreement made 
between the Council and Barnet Homes and to be approved by the Strategic Housing Board 
required by the shareholder agreement. 

6.2 Under the Council’s Constitution, Part 2D, the terms of reference of Cabinet states that 
the Executive will exercise all of the local authority functions which are not the responsibility 
of any other part of the local authority, whether by law or under the Council’s Constitution 
and includes the following responsibilities: 
- Development of proposals for the budget (including the capital and revenue budgets, the 
fixing of the Council Tax Base, and the level of Council Tax) and the financial strategy for 
the Council;  
- Monitoring the implementation of the budget and financial strategy; 

847



 

 

- Recommending major new policies (and amendments to existing policies) to the Council 
for approval as part of the Council’s Policy Framework and implementing those approved by 
Council;  
- Approving policies that are not part of the policy framework;  
- Management of the Council’s Capital Programme; and all key decisions. 

7. Consultation  

7.1 Not applicable. 

8. Equalities and Diversity  

8.1 Under the Equality Act 2010, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due 
regard to the need to:  
a) Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation, and any other conduct that is 

prohibited by or under this Act. 
b) Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it; 
c) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 

and persons who do not share it. 
8.2 The ‘protected characteristics’ referred to are: age, disability, gender reassignment, 

pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual orientation. It also 
covers marriage and civil partnership with regards to eliminating discrimination. 

8.3 The Council is committed to improving the quality of life for all, and wider participation in 
the economic, educational, cultural, social, and community life in the Borough. 

8.4 It is not envisaged that there will not be any disproportionate impact on any individuals or 
groups as a result of the business plans mentioned in this report. 

 

9. Background Papers 
9.1 None. 

 

 

848



Document is Restricted

849

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	10 Fire safety in timber framed and timber/UPVC clad properties
	Appendix A - Net Zero Tool Report
	Appendix B - Exempt - Legally Privileged Advice FINAL

	11 Improving Barnet's Roads and Pavements Programme
	Appendix A - Cabinet Report Improving Barnet's Roads and Pavements
	Appendix B - Improving Barnet's Roads and Pavements
	Appendix C - Barnet - Highway Investment Strategy - Final

	12 Local Plan - Main Modifications
	Appendix A - Schedule of Main Modifications
	Appendix B - Schedule of Additional Modifications

	13 Our Plan for Adult Social Care 2024-2029
	Appendix A - Our Plan for Adult Social Care 23-28
	1.	About Barnet
	a.	What is adult social care?
	b.	The four pillars of adult social care in Barnet
	c.	What do people say about adult social care in Barnet?
	2.	Five priorities for adult social care
	1.	We will support people to live well and be part of communities.
	'I am an apprentice and work locally. I was referred to specialist employment advisors who helped me into my current role. I have a learning disability and I am a care leaver. I enjoyed volunteering in the local community when I was a teenager and in supported living. The advisors I spoke to and who helped me into work were considerate and took the time to get to know me. I feel lucky to have worked with them. I would like more enterprise-related events and opportunities to be available for young adults in the local area'.
	2.	We will be ambitious about what people can achieve and get the right support for each individual.
	3.	We will work with people to shape and develop care and support.
	4.	We will work towards more equal access and more inclusive services.
	5.	We will be realistic in how we use resources, keeping up with changes and ways of working, and being creative with finding solutions.
	3.	How we will know it’s working


	14 Our Plan for Barnet – Delivery and Outcomes Framework, Q3 2023-24
	Appendix A - Q3 2023-24 Activity Detail
	Appendix B - Q3 2023-24 Performance Detail
	Appendix C - Latest Available Benchmarking Data
	Appendix D - Oflog Metrics with Comparators
	Appendix E - Q3 2023-24 High Level Risks (15+) by Our Plan Theme

	15 The Barnet Group Business Plan
	Appendix A (Exempt)- Your Choice (Barnet) budget and business plan


